AUTOIMMUNO-ANTI-TUMOUR IMMUNITY (AATI) – UNDERSTANDING THE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST "SELF" & "ALTERED-SELF"

EDITED BY: Fang-Ping Huang PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2017 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-190-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-190-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

AUTOIMMUNO-ANTI-TUMOUR IMMUNITY (AATI) – UNDERSTANDING THE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST "SELF" & "ALTERED-SELF"

Topic Editor:

Fang-Ping Huang, State Key Laboratory of Liver Research (SKLLR), Department of Pathology, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, University of Hong Kong

The brief description of tumours being "wounds that do not heal" by Dr Harold F. Dworak nearly three decades ago (N Engl J Med 1986) has provided not only a vivid illustration of neoplastic diseases in general but also, in retrospect conceptually, a plausible immunological definition of cancers. Based on our current understanding in the field, it could have even a multi-dimensional meaning attached with. This relates to several important issues which need to be addressed further, i.e. in terms of a close link between chronic inflammation and tumourigenesis widely observed; clinical and experimental evidence of immunity against tumours versus the highly immunosuppressive tumour microenvironment being associated; and their underlying immunological mechanisms, oncogenic basis, as well as the true causal relationship in question.

Recent findings from studies into the pathogenesis of autoimmunity and, more importantly, the mechanisms which protect against it, have offered some new insights for our understanding in this direction. Chronic or persistent autoimmune-like inflammatory conditions are evidently associated with tumor development. The important question is about their true causal relationship. Chronic or persistent inflammation has been shown to contribute directly to tumour development by triggering neoplastic transformation and production of inflammatory mediators which could promote cancer cell survival, proliferation and invasion. On the other hand, tumours are mutated self-tissue cells to which the host immune system is largely tolerized otherwise. Although the mutations may give rise to the expression of tumourspecific antigens (TSA) or tumour-associated antigens (TAA), most of these TSAs/TAAs are found to be poor immunogens. The ongoing inflammatory conditions may therefore reflect a desperate attempt of the host immune system to mount anti-tumour responses, though ineffectively, being a consequence of the continuous yet largely futile triggering by those poorly immunogenic TSAs/TAAs. Furthermore, during autoimmune or overtly persistent immunological responses, many regulatory mechanisms are triggered in the host in attempts to limit the ongoing harmful inflammatory reactions. Such a negative feedback regulation is known to be crucial in preventing normal individuals from immune-mediated diseases. As a result of the negative feedback loop, however, an excessive production of anti-inflammatory or

immunosuppressive molecules followed by the exhaustion of the immune effector cells may instead lower the ability of the host immune system to mount specific anti-tumor responses, allowing the escape of tumour or mutated cells from immunosurveillance. This may also help to explain why the most effective way to enhance host immunity against cancer is by targeting the negative arm of immune regulation.

In this Frontiers Research Topic, we aim to gather current views from experts in these inherent overlapping fields of oncology, autoimmunity and tumour immunology, and to make them available to our potential readership who may be particularly interested in this cutting-edge area. By understanding how the immune system is normally regulated, why dysregulation of which may cause the immunological-oncological related diseases, we also encourage further discussions as to how the so-called "self-reactivity" (autoimmune responses) can be alternatively switched on and redirected, immunologically or molecularly, for effective cancer treatment.

Citation: Huang, F-P., ed. (2017). Autoimmuno-Anti-Tumour Immunity (AATI) – Understanding the Immune Responses against "Self" & "Altered-self". Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-190-6

Table of Contents

- 06 Autoimmuno-Anti-Tumor Immunity Understanding the Immune Responses against "self" and "Altered-Self" Fang-Ping Huang
- 08 Does the Immune System Naturally Protect Against Cancer? Alexandre Corthay
- 16 Evolving Strategies for Cancer and Autoimmunity: Back to the Future Peter J. L. Lane, Fiona M. McConnell, Graham Anderson, Maher G. Nawaf, Fabrina M. Gaspal and David R. Withers
- 25 Corrigendum: Evolving Strategies for Cancer and Autoimmunity: Back to the Future

Peter J. L. Lane, Fiona M. McConnell, Fabrina M. Gaspal, Maher G. Nawaf, David R. Withers and Graham Anderson

- *Autoimmunity as a Double Agent in Tumor Killing and Cancer Promotion* Kevin H. Toomer and Zhibin Chen
- 40 Significance of Interleukin-33 and Its Related Cytokines in Patients with Breast Cancers

Jing Liu, Jia-Xin Shen, Jia-Lin Hu, Wen-He Huang and Guo-Jun Zhang

47 Embryonic Stem Cells Promoting Macrophage Survival and Function Are Crucial for Teratoma Development

Tianxiang Chen, Xi Wang, Lei Guo, Mingmei Wu, Zhaoxia Duan, Jing Lv, Wenjiao Tai, Hemamalini Renganathan, Ruth Didier, Jinhua Li, Dongming Sun, Xiaoming Chen, Xijing He, Jianqing Fan, Wise Young and Yi Ren

63 Fallen Angels or Risen Apes? A Tale of the Intricate Complexities of Imbalanced Immune Responses in the Pathogenesis and Progression of Immune-Mediated and Viral Cancers

Beatrice Omusiro Ondondo

83 How Do CD4⁺ T Cells Detect and Eliminate Tumor Cells That Either Lack or Express MHC Class II Molecules?

Ole Audun Werner Haabeth, Anders Aune Tveita, Marte Fauskanger, Fredrik Schjesvold, Kristina Berg Lorvik, Peter O. Hofgaard, Hilde Omholt, Ludvig A. Munthe, Zlatko Dembic, Alexandre Corthay and Bjarne Bogen

96 Beneficial Autoimmunity at Body Surfaces – Immune Surveillance and Rapid Type 2 Immunity Regulate Tissue Homeostasis and Cancer

Tim Dalessandri and Jessica Strid

115 Opportunistic Autoimmune Disorders Potentiated by Immune-Checkpoint Inhibitors Anti-CTLA-4 and Anti-PD-1

Yi-chi M. Kong and Jeffrey C. Flynn

123 The Progression of Cell Death Affects the Rejection of Allogeneic Tumors in Immune-Competent Mice – Implications for Cancer Therapy

Ricardo A. Chaurio, Luis E. Muñoz, Christian Maueröder, Christina Janko, Thomas Harrer, Barbara G. Fürnrohr, Michael Niederweis, Rostyslav Bilyy, Georg Schett, Martin Herrmann and Christian Berens

- **135 Tumor Immunotherapy: Lessons from Autoimmunity** Christian Maueröder, Luis Enrique Munoz, Ricardo Alfredo Chaurio, Martin Herrmann, Georg Schett and Christian Berens
- 140 Modulation of Antigen-Specific T-Cells as Immune Therapy for Chronic Infectious Diseases and Cancer

Suling Li, Alistair L. J. Symonds, Tizong Miao, Ian Sanderson and Ping Wang

146 Immunotherapy for Prostate Cancer: Lessons from Responses to Tumor-Associated Antigens

Harm Westdorp, Annette E. Sköld, Berit A. Snijer, Sebastian Franik, Sasja F. Mulder, Pierre P. Major, Ronan Foley, Winald R. Gerritsen and I. Jolanda M. de Vries

- **161 Gut Microbiota and the Paradox of Cancer Immunotherapy** Theofilos Poutahidis, Markus Kleinewietfeld and Susan E. Erdman
- 166 Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells: Challenges and Opportunities for Cancer Immunotherapy

Patty Sachamitr, Simon Hackett and Paul Jonathan Fairchild

Autoimmuno-anti-tumor immunity – understanding the immune responses against "self" and "altered-self"

Fang-Ping Huang^{1,2}*[†]

¹ Imperial College London, London, UK

² University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

*Correspondence: fp.huang@imperial.ac.uk; fphuang@hku.hk

[†] Present address: State Key Laboratory of Liver Research (SKLLR), Department of Pathology, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

Edited by:

Wolf Hervé Fridman, INSERM, France; University Paris Descartes, France

Reviewed by:

Franck Pages, University Paris Descartes, France

Keywords: autoimmunity, cancer, inflammation, tumorigenesis, immune regulation, immunosuppression, anti-tumor immunity, tumor immunotherapy

The brief description of tumors being "wounds that do not heal" by Dr. Harold F. Dworak nearly three decades ago (*N Engl J Med*, 1986) (1) has provided not only a vivid illustration of neoplastic diseases in general but also, in retrospect conceptually, a plausible immunological definition of cancers. Based on our current understanding in the field, it could have even a multi-dimensional meaning attached with. This relates to several important issues, which need to be addressed further, i.e., in terms of a close link between chronic inflammation and tumorigenesis widely observed; clinical and experimental evidence of immunity against tumors versus the highly immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment being associated; and their underlying immunological mechanisms, oncogenic basis, as well as the true causal relationship in question (2-5).

Recent findings from studies into the pathogenesis of autoimmunity and, more importantly, the mechanisms, which protect against it, have offered some new insights for our understanding in this direction. Chronic or persistent autoimmune-like inflammatory conditions are evidently associated with tumor development. The important question is about their true causal relationship. Chronic or persistent inflammation has been shown to contribute directly to tumor development by triggering neoplastic transformation and production of inflammatory mediators, which could promote cancer cell survival, proliferation, and invasion (2, 3). On the other hand, tumors are mutated self-tissue cells to which the host immune system is largely tolerized otherwise. Although the mutations may give rise to the expression of tumor-specific antigens (TSA) or tumor-associated antigens (TAA), most of these TSAs/TAAs are found to be poor immunogens (6). The ongoing inflammatory conditions may therefore reflect a desperate attempt of the host immune system to mount anti-tumor responses, though ineffectively, being a consequence of the continuous yet largely futile triggering by those poorly immunogenic TSAs/TAAs. Furthermore, during autoimmune or overtly persistent immunological responses, many regulatory mechanisms are triggered in the host in attempts to limit the ongoing harmful inflammatory reactions. Such a negative feedback regulation is known to be crucial in preventing normal individuals from immune-mediated diseases (7). As a result of the negative feedback loop, however, an excessive production of anti-inflammatory or immunosuppressive

molecules followed by the exhaustion of the immune effector cells may instead lower the ability of the host immune system to mount specific anti-tumor responses, allowing the escape of tumor or mutated cells from immunosurveillance. This may also help to explain why the most effective way to enhance host immunity against cancer is by targeting the negative arm of immune regulation (8–10).

In this Frontiers Research Topic, we have gathered current views and cutting-edge findings from many experts in these inherent overlapping fields of oncology, autoimmunity, and tumor immunology. It compiles a total of 15 articles in different formats, of concise but informative Mini-review/Reviews, Original Research Articles with novel experimental findings, and some very thought-provoking new Hypothesis/Theory/Opinion/ Perspectives. These are now made freely available to our potential readership who may be particularly interested in this cutting-edge area, covering three key issues as outlined below:

- Cancers, Inflammation, and the causal relationship;
- Immune effector and regulatory mechanisms involved in autoimmuno-anti-tumor immunity (AATI);
- Guiding the misguided: AATI alternatively switched on for effective cancer treatment.

For the highly cross-disciplinary nature of this Research Topic, however, the above are reflected in different ways in these articles, crossing throughout the topic. It starts by outlining evidence of the host immune system that may naturally protect against cancers, while it could also cause autoimmunity - being an evolutionally acceptable "side effect" (Chapters 1-2); followed by explaining how autoimmunity could be a "Double-Agent" involved in both tumor-killing and cancer promotion linked to inflammation (Chapters 3-5). It addresses further by dissecting the detailed cellular and molecular mechanisms potentially involved in these processes (Chapters 6-10). These together may help to provide a good basis for the development of novel therapeutic approaches, including stem cell-based immunotherapy, for future cancer treatment (Chapters 11-15). By understanding how the immune system is normally regulated, why dysregulation of which may cause the immunological-oncological related diseases, we aim and hope that the contents of this Research Topic can also trigger further active discussions among scientists in the fields, as to how the so-called "self-reactivity" (autoimmune responses) can be alternatively switched on and redirected, immunologically or molecularly, for effective cancer treatment.

Finally, I would like to thank all the authors for their valuable contributions to this Research Topic, and to express my great appreciations to many members of the journal editorial team, especially Ms. Rosa Mancebo and Ms. Jessica Kandlbauer, for their professional dedication and kind help throughout the process.

REFERENCES

- Dvorak HF. Tumors: wounds that do not heal. Similarities between tumor stroma generation and wound healing. N Engl J Med (1986) 315(26):1650–9. doi:10.1056/NEJM198612253152606
- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancer-related inflammation. Nature (2008) 454(7203):436–44. doi:10.1038/nature07205
- Grivennikov SI, Greten FR, Karin M. Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. Cell (2010) 140(6):883–99. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.025
- Ben-Neriah Y, Karin M. Inflammation meets cancer, with NF-κB as the matchmaker. Nat Immunol (2011) 12(8):715–23. doi:10.1038/ni.2060
- Yang L, Karin M. Roles of tumor suppressors in regulating tumor-associated inflammation. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21(11):1677–86. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014. 131
- Pardoll D. Does the immune system see tumors as foreign or self? Annu Rev Immunol (2003) 21:807–39. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141135
- 7. Ling GS, Cook HT, Botto M, Lau YL, Huang FP. An essential protective role of IL-10 in the immunological mechanism underlying resistance vs. susceptibility

to lupus induction by dendritic cells and dying cells. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. (2011) **50**(10):1773–84. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ker198

- Chen YX, Man K, Ling GS, Chen Y, Sun BS, Cheng Q, et al. A crucial role for dendritic cell (DC) IL-10 in inhibiting successful DC-based immunotherapy: superior antitumor immunity against hepatocellular carcinoma evoked by DC devoid of IL-10. *J Immunol* (2007) **179**(9):6009–15. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179. 9.6009
- Huang FP, Chen YX, To CK. Guiding the "misguided" functional conditioning of dendritic cells for the DC-based immunotherapy against tumours. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(1):18–25. doi:10.1002/eji.201040543
- Couzin-Frankel J. Breakthrough of the year 2013. Cancer immunotherapy. Science (2013) 342(6165):1432–3. doi:10.1126/science.342.6165.1432

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 22 October 2014; accepted: 31 October 2014; published online: 14 November 2014.

Citation: Huang F-P (2014) Autoimmuno-anti-tumor immunity – understanding the immune responses against "self" and "altered-self". Front. Immunol. 5:582. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00582

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Does the immune system naturally protect against cancer?

Alexandre Corthay 1,2,3 *

¹ Tumor Immunology Group, Department of Pathology, Oslo University Hospital Rikshospitalet, Oslo, Norway

² Department of Biosciences, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

³ Centre for Immune Regulation, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Stephan Gasser, National University of Singapore, Singapore Susanna Mandruzzato, Università degli Studi di Padova, Italy

*Correspondence:

Alexandre Corthay, Tumor Immunology Group, Department of Pathology, Oslo University Hospital Rikshospitalet, PO Box 4950, Nydalen, Oslo NO-0424, Norway e-mail: alexandre.corthay@ibv.uio.no The importance of the immune system in conferring protection against pathogens like viruses, bacteria, and parasitic worms is well established. In contrast, there is a long-lasting debate on whether cancer prevention is a primary function of the immune system. The concept of immunological surveillance of cancer was developed by Lewis Thomas and Frank Macfarlane Burnet more than 50 years ago. We are still lacking convincing data illustrating immunological eradication of precancerous lesions in vivo. Here, I present eight types of evidence in support of the cancer immunosurveillance hypothesis. First, primary immunodeficiency in mice and humans is associated with increased cancer risk. Second, organ transplant recipients, who are treated with immunosuppressive drugs, are more prone to cancer development. Third, acquired immunodeficiency due to infection by human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1) leads to elevated risk of cancer. Fourth, the quantity and quality of the immune cell infiltrate found in human primary tumors represent an independent prognostic factor for patient survival. Fifth, cancer cells harbor mutations in protein-coding genes that are specifically recognized by the adaptive immune system. Sixth, cancer cells selectively accumulate mutations to evade immune destruction ("immunoediting"). Seventh, lymphocytes bearing the NKG2D receptor are able to recognize and eliminate stressed premalignant cells. Eighth, a promising strategy to treat cancer consists in potentiating the naturally occurring immune response of the patient, through blockade of the immune checkpoint molecules CTLA-4, PD-1, or PD-L1. Thus, there are compelling pieces of evidence that a primary function of the immune system is to confer protection against cancer.

Keywords: cancer immunosurveillance, primary immunodeficiency, cancer risk, organ transplantation, immunosuppressive drugs, HIV, NKG2D, checkpoint blockade

INTRODUCTION

Lewis Thomas and Frank Macfarlane Burnet proposed the concept of immunological surveillance of cancer more than five decades ago (1-4). It was defined by Burnet as follows: "In large long-lived animals, like most of the warm-blooded vertebrates, inheritable genetic changes must be common in somatic cells and a proportion of these changes will represent a step toward malignancy. It is an evolutionary necessity that there should be some mechanism for eliminating or inactivating such potentially dangerous mutant cells and it is postulated that this mechanism is of immunological character" (1). More than 50 years after Burnet proposed his theory, the immunological scientific community remains largely divided with both proponents [e.g., Ref. (5, 6)] and opponents [e.g., Ref. (7, 8)] of the cancer immunosurveillance hypothesis. In fact, an opposite and very influential concept was proposed in 2001 by Frances Balkwill and Alberto Mantovani, who suggested that inflammatory immune cells and cytokines found in tumors may promote rather than suppress tumor growth (9, 10). Although, we are currently lacking convincing data illustrating immunological eradication of precancerous lesions in vivo, there are strong indications that a primary function of the immune system is indeed to prevent cancer. Here, I present eight types of evidence in support of the cancer immunosurveillance hypothesis.

PRIMARY IMMUNODEFICIENCY IN HUMANS AND MICE IS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED CANCER RISK

As Burnet himself pointed out, an implication of the cancer immunosurveillance hypothesis is that immunodeficiency should be associated with increased likelihood of neoplasia (1). Immunodeficiencies can be divided in two main types: primary (inborn) immunodeficiencies, which are caused by genetic defects and whose incidence is approximately 1:10,000 births; and secondary immunodeficiencies, which are induced by immunosuppressive medication or viral infection and which are much more common. In accordance with Burnet's prediction, severe primary immunodeficiencies have been reported to be associated with increased risk of malignancy (11–14). For instance, patients with defective humoral immunity due to common variable immunodeficiency (CVID) had increased incidence of lymphoma and epithelial tumors of the stomach, breast, bladder, and cervix (12, 15). Selective immunoglobulin A (IgA) deficiency was associated with a high incidence of gastric carcinomas (15). Moreover, patients with X-linked immunodeficiency with hyper-IgM, caused by mutations in the CD40 ligand molecule, had a high incidence of tumors of the pancreas and liver (16). However, it remains unclear to what extent primary immunodeficiency in humans leads to increased cancer development, due to the relatively low number of patients investigated.

Gene-targeted mice, which selectively lack key components of the immune system have been extensively used to experimentally test the effect of well-defined primary immunodeficiencies on cancer development [reviewed in Ref. (17)]. Mice which lacked both T and B cells, due to a deficiency in the recombination-activating gene 2 (RAG2), were more susceptible to spontaneous and carcinogen-induced carcinomas (18). Mice lacking $\gamma\delta$ T cells were highly susceptible to multiple regimens of cutaneous carcinogenesis (19). The cytokines interferon- α/β (IFN- α/β) and IFN- γ were shown to protect mice against spontaneous and carcinogen-induced malignancy (18, 20-22). Moreover, the molecule perforin, which is used by cytotoxic lymphocytes to kill target cells, was reported to be important for surveillance of spontaneous lymphoma (23). Collectively, the human and mouse data reveal a consistent association between primary immunodeficiency and increased incidence of various types of cancer.

ORGAN TRANSPLANT RECIPIENTS ARE MORE PRONE TO CANCER DEVELOPMENT

A breakthrough in organ transplantation was the discovery of immunosuppressive drugs such as cyclosporine A, which prevent organ rejection by the adaptive immune system (24). Immunosuppressive medication is now standard treatment after organ transplantation. Life-long treatment of thousands of transplanted patients with immunosuppressive drugs was defined by Thomas as a "human experiment" to test the cancer immunosurveillance hypothesis (4). Already in 1973, an international registry-based study of renal-transplant recipients from 30 countries revealed that transplantation was associated with increased risk of developing cancer, in particular lymphoma (25). A large cohort investigation of cancer risk after organ transplantation was performed in the Nordic countries, in homogeneous populations with welldocumented cancer incidence, on nearly 6000 kidney recipients (26). A two to fivefold excess risk was reported for cancers of the colon, larynx, lung, bladder, prostate, and testis. Strikingly high risks, 10-fold to 30-fold above normally expected levels, were observed for cancers of the lip, skin (non-melanoma), kidney, endocrine glands, cervix, and for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (26). Another large study of kidney transplantation in 200,000 patients from 42 countries reported that the risk of developing lymphoma was 12-fold higher for transplant recipients than that in a matched non-transplanted population (27). Notably, the majority of posttransplant lymphomas were associated with infection with Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), which primarily infects B cells and is known to cause B cell transformation (28). Thus, most lymphomas arising in transplant patients were likely to be a secondary event resulting from reduced antiviral immunity, rather than a direct effect of reduced antitumor immunity. However, lymphomas not associated with EBV infection have also been reported after transplantation (29). An investigation of 175,000 solid organ transplants in the USA revealed that increased cancer risk occurred not only after kidney transplantation but also after liver, heart, and lung transplantation (30). Risk was increased for 32 different malignancies, some related to known infections (e.g.,

anal cancer and Kaposi sarcoma) and others unrelated to infections (e.g., lung cancer and melanoma). The most common malignancies with elevated risk were non-Hodgkin lymphoma and cancers of the lungs (30).

Very high rates of non-melanoma skin cancers have been reported for Swedish (20–40%) and Australian (70%) populations 20 years after transplantation (31–33). Cutaneous types of human papillomaviruses have been suggested to be the cause of non-melanoma skin cancers such as squamous cell carcinoma in immunosuppressed patients, but the epidemiological pieces of evidence remain inconsistent (34). Strikingly, non-melanoma skin tumors in the renal-transplant population of Queensland, Australia, were reported to arise predominantly on chronically sun-exposed skin (head, neck, and distal limbs), strongly suggesting a causative role of ultraviolet (UV) light rather than oncogenic viruses (33). Thus, life-long treatment of organ transplant recipients with immunosuppressive drugs leads to increased risk of developing many different types of cancer, some related to known infections and others unrelated.

IMMUNOSUPPRESSION INDUCED BY INFECTION BY HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE 1 LEADS TO ELEVATED RISK FOR CANCER

The HIV-1 virus causes acquired immunodeficiency by selectively infecting and killing CD4⁺ T cells. Accordingly, HIV-infected patients, receiving or not antiviral treatments, possess reduced levels of CD4⁺ T cells compared to non-infected individuals. HIV-infected individuals have elevated risk for cancer linked to oncogenic viruses such as Kaposi sarcoma (caused by human herpes virus 8), Hodgkin's and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (EBV), anal and cervical cancer (human papilloma virus), and liver cancer (hepatitis B and C viruses). Kaposi sarcoma, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and cervical cancer are particularly frequent and are considered as acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)-defining cancers (35). However, several cancers that are not linked to oncogenic viruses, like lung cancer and multiple myeloma, are also more frequent in patients with HIV (35, 36). Lung cancer is the most common non-AIDS-defining cancer and a leading cause of mortality among HIV-infected individuals (37). For the majority of patients with lung cancer, malignant transformation is known to be caused by carcinogens present in cigarette smoke. Higher smoking rates have been reported for HIV-infected populations. After controlling for potential confounders including smoking, a large cohort study of veterans (with 37,000 HIV-infected patients and 75,000 healthy controls) concluded that HIV was an independent risk factor for incident lung cancer (37). Importantly, cancer incidence in HIV-infected individuals was found to be inversely related to CD4⁺ T cell counts in blood, which supports the association between immunosuppression and increased cancer risk (38). For instance, the risk of lung cancer was doubled by CD4⁺ T counts in the range of 350-499 cells per microliter blood compared to normal counts \geq 500, and continued to increase as the CD4⁺ T cell count fell (38). Thus, acquired immunodeficiency by HIV infection, which selectively depletes CD4⁺ T cells, leads to increased risk of developing many different types of cancer, some related to known infections, and others unrelated.

QUANTITY AND QUALITY OF THE IMMUNE CELL INFILTRATE IN HUMAN PRIMARY TUMORS REPRESENT AN INDEPENDENT PROGNOSTIC FACTOR FOR PATIENT SURVIVAL

All solid tumors are infiltrated by a variety of immune cells. For many types of human cancers, an association has been reported between the type, density, and location of immune cells within the primary tumor and the clinical outcome [reviewed in Ref. (39)]. The number of intratumoral CD3⁺ T cells was shown to positively correlate with longer survival of patients with epithelial ovarian and colorectal cancers (40, 41). A high number of stromal CD4⁺ T cells were found to represent an independent positive prognostic factor in non-small cell lung cancer (42). Tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells were shown to predict clinical outcome in colon, lung, and breast cancers (42-45). Concurrent infiltration by both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells was reported to represent a favorable prognostic factor in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and non-small cell lung cancer, suggesting that both cell types cooperate to fight cancer (46, 47). Among all CD4⁺ T cell subsets, Th1 cells seem to be particularly advantageous, as reported for colorectal, liver, and breast cancers (39, 40, 48, 49). In patients with gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST), the intratumoral density of CD3⁺ T cells and NKp46⁺ natural killer (NK) cells were found to represent two independent prognostic factors for progressionfree survival (50). Notably, NK and T cells were detected in distinct areas of tumor sections, suggesting that both cell types contributed independently to GIST immunosurveillance (50). Furthermore, a high tumor infiltration by CD68⁺ macrophages was associated with prolonged survival in prostate, lung, and colon cancers (43, 51–54). Thus, for various types of human cancers, the quantity and the quality of the immune response within the primary tumor appear to represent an independent predictor for patient survival. This correlation between immunological data and clinical outcome strongly suggests that the immune system of the patient had naturally mounted an antitumor immune response before any treatment had started. The efficiency of this response presumably varies from patient to patient, thereby critically influencing survival.

CANCER CELLS HARBOR MUTATIONS IN PROTEIN-CODING GENES THAT ARE SPECIFICALLY RECOGNIZED BY THE ADAPTIVE IMMUNE SYSTEM

Cancer cells originate from normal cells that have accumulated "driver" mutations, which either activate oncogenes by dominant gain of function or inactivate tumor suppressor genes by recessive loss of function. A typical tumor contains two to eight of these driver mutations (55). Cancer cells also accumulate "passenger" mutations, which do not contribute to tumorigenesis. Genomewide sequencing studies have provided detailed information about somatic mutations in various types of cancers. For common solid tumors such as breast, colon, brain, and pancreas cancers, an average of 30–60 non-synonymous mutations in protein-coding genes was observed (56–59). Most of these mutations (95%) were single-nucleotide substitutions, whereas the remainder was deletions or insertions (55). Metastatic melanoma and non-small cell lung carcinoma, which represent two types of cancers caused by potent mutagens (UV light and cigarette smoke, respectively), had a higher mutation rate with ~150 mutations per tumor (60, 61). Pediatric tumors and leukemias had the fewest mutations with ~10 mutations per tumor on average (55). Thus, it is now established that tumor cells in most cancer types harbor numerous non-synonymous mutations in protein-coding genes.

Driver and passenger mutations, which alter the normal amino acid sequence of proteins, may potentially be recognized by the adaptive immune system. A number of studies have revealed that tumor-specific antigens created by mutations can be recognized either by the T cells or the B cells of the patient. For instance in melanoma, CD4⁺ T cells were found that recognized a tumorspecific antigen generated by a non-synonymous point mutation in the gene coding for triosephosphate isomerase (62). Another antigen recognized by CD4⁺ T cells in melanoma had been generated by a chromosomal rearrangement resulting in a fusion of a low density lipid receptor gene with a fucosyltransferase gene (63). In colorectal cancer with microsatellite instability phenotype, CD4⁺ T cells were identified that recognized a frameshift mutation in the transforming growth factor β receptor II (TGF β RII) (64). In a melanoma patient, the tumor suppressor p16^{INK4a} with a point mutation was specifically recognized by cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells (65). In non-small cell lung cancer, several $CD8^+$ T cell epitopes created by point mutations have been reported (66-68). Moreover, in chronic myeloid leukemia, cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells specific for a BCR-ABL fusion protein (resulting from the fusion of BCR and ABL genes) were found (69). Tumor-specific IgG antibodies are common in the serum of cancer patients, as revealed by serological identification of antigens by recombinant expression cloning (SEREX) technology (70). This powerful method has allowed the identification of over 2000 tumor antigens recognized by autologous IgG, including the p53 tumor suppressor modified by a point mutation (71). Collectively, these studies demonstrate that the adaptive immune system is able to detect cancer by specifically recognizing the mutated proteins of the malignant cells.

CANCER CELLS SELECTIVELY ACCUMULATE MUTATIONS TO EVADE IMMUNE DESTRUCTION

Recognition of cancer cells by tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells is achieved by the presentation of antigenic peptides from mutated proteins on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules on the surface of cancer cells. In order to avoid recognition and the resulting elimination by CD8⁺ T cells, cancer cells often mutate key genes of the MHC class I antigen presentation pathway. Downregulation of surface MHC class I molecules is a common feature of human cancer cells [reviewed in Ref. (72)]. Several mechanisms have been reported, including mutations in the β 2microglobulin gene, which is required for MHC class I molecule expression on the cell surface (73, 74). MHC haplotype loss in various human tumors was shown to be caused by complete or partial loss of chromosome 6, which harbor all MHC class I and class II genes (except for β 2-microglobulin) (75). On the basis of its mutation pattern in cancer cells, β2-microglobulin was recently included in a list of 74 tumor suppressor genes (55). A recent study analyzed somatic point mutations in exon sequences from 4742 human cancers across 21 cancer types (76). Based on mutation frequency and pattern, 254 "cancer genes" were identified, including four genes belonging to the MHC class I antigen presentation pathway (β 2-microglobulin, HLA-A, HLA-B, and TAP1), as well as the CD1D gene, which is involved in the presentation of lipid antigens to NK T cells (76). Hence, several mutations frequently observed in cancer cells are likely to result from selective pressure to evade the immune attack, in particular by cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells and NK T cells.

Another strategy used by cancer cells to avoid the immune response consists of secreting immunosuppressive cytokines such as transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) and interleukin 10 (IL-10). In contrast to normal cells, which produce very little, malignant cells often secrete large amounts of TGF-B and IL-10 [reviewed in Ref. (77)]. Both cytokines have various effects on non-transformed cells present in the tumor mass, most notably the inhibition of immune cell functions. For several types of cancers, elevated serum levels of TGF-B or IL-10 have been reported to be associated with worse prognosis [reviewed in Ref. (77)]. Surprisingly, TGF- β can function both as a tumor suppressor and a tumor promoter, this duality being known as the TGF-β paradox. In early stage tumors, TGF- β is a potent inducer of growth arrest. In advanced stage malignant cells, TGF-B signaling pathways are severely dysregulated, and TGF-B promotes tumor growth [reviewed in Ref. (78)]. Thus, cancer cells often produce abnormally high levels of immunosuppressive cytokines, which strongly suggests that dampening immunity is a prerequisite for tumor growth.

Experiments with immunodeficient mice have demonstrated that the immune system may exert a strong selective pressure on the cancer cells. By using the chemical carcinogen methylcholanthrene, sarcomas were induced either in wild-type mice or in RAG2-deficient mice, which lack both T and B cells (18). When transplanted into RAG2-deficient mice, all sarcomas grew progressively with equivalent kinetics. In contrast, when the tumor cells were injected into immunocompetent wild-type hosts, all sarcomas from wild-type mice grew progressively, while 8 of 20 (40%) sarcomas from RAG2-deficient mice were rejected (18). These data strongly suggest that in wild-type mice, there was selection of tumor cells that were more capable of surviving in an immunocompetent host. This provides an explanation for the apparent paradox of tumor formation in immunologically intact individuals. Based on these findings, Robert Schreiber and coworkers introduced the term "cancer immunoediting," which was further developed into a general theory, to describe the sculpting actions of the immune response on developing tumors in immunocompetent individuals (18, 79).

LYMPHOCYTES BEARING THE NKG2D RECEPTOR ARE ABLE TO RECOGNIZE AND ELIMINATE STRESSED PREMALIGNANT CELLS

NK cells are innate lymphocytes that can kill malignant or infected cells. All NK cells and some T cells express the NKG2D molecule on the cell surface. NKG2D is an activating receptor, which serves as a major recognition receptor for detection and elimination of transformed cells (80). The ligands for NKG2D are self proteins that are poorly expressed by normal resting cells but upregulated on the surface of stressed cells. NKG2D ligands in humans include MICA, MICB, and six different ULBP proteins (81). In mice, NKG2D ligands include MULT1, five isoforms of RAE-1, and three isoforms

of the H60 proteins (82). In humans, cells that express NKG2D ligands may be recognized and killed by either NK cells or $\gamma\delta$ T cells in a process called lymphoid stress surveillance (83).

NKG2D ligands were shown to be upregulated in normal cells after treatment with DNA-damaging agents like ionizing radiations and UV light (84). It was concluded that the DNA damage response, which was known to arrest the cell cycle and enhance DNA repair, may also participate in alerting the immune system to the presence of potentially dangerous cells (84). Several studies suggested that expression of NKG2D ligands on transformed cells may be directly induced by oncogenes. For example, the BCR-ABL fusion oncogene was reported to control the expression of MICA in chronic myelogenous leukemia cells at the posttranscriptional level (85). Activation of the Ras oncogene was shown to upregulate the expression of RAE-1 α/β in mouse cells, and ULBP1-3 and MICA/B in human cells (86). In a recent study, surface upregulation of NKG2D ligands by human epithelial cells in response to UV irradiation, osmotic shock, or oxidative stress, was shown to depend on the activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) (87). The EGFR pathway is frequently dysregulated in human cancer and it was proposed that activation of EGFR may regulate the immunological visibility of stressed premalignant cells (87). Surprisingly, several isoforms of RAE-1, like RAE-1ε, were found to be expressed not only by cancer cells, but also by some normal proliferating cells such as fibroblasts (88). The E2F transcription factor, which controls cell cycle entry, was shown to regulate RAE-1e expression. These data suggest that NKG2Dbearing lymphocytes may control the proliferation of both normal and malignant cells (88).

MICA and MICB were found to be expressed by many, but not all, freshly isolated carcinomas of the lung, breast, kidney, ovary, prostate, colon, and liver (89, 90). Moreover, in vitro studies revealed that MICA and MICB contributed to the lysis of hepatocellular carcinoma cells by NK cells (90). The importance of NKG2D for cancer immunosurveillance in vivo gained support from experiments showing that cancer cells transfected with NKG2D ligands and injected into mice were rapidly rejected by NK cells and by CD8⁺ T cells (91, 92). Moreover, neutralization of NKG2D with blocking monoclonal antibodies rendered mice more susceptible to carcinogen-induced fibrocarcinoma (93). Gene-targeted mice deficient for NKG2D were shown to be more susceptible to the in situ development of prostate adenocarcinoma and B cell lymphoma (94). In humans, an association has been reported between polymorphisms of the NKG2D gene and susceptibility of developing liver and cervix cancers, supporting a protective role of NKG2D against these malignancies (95, 96). Thus, the expression of stress-induced endogenous molecules associated with cell transformation is used by the immune system to recognize and eliminate premalignant cells in mice and humans.

PROMISING NOVEL STRATEGY TO TREAT CANCER CONSISTS IN POTENTIATING THE NATURALLY OCCURRING IMMUNE RESPONSE OF THE PATIENT THROUGH BLOCKADE OF IMMUNE CHECKPOINT MOLECULES

Activation of a naïve T cell requires at least two signals: T cell receptor-mediated recognition of a cognate antigen (signal 1) and engagement of the costimulatory receptor CD28 (signal 2).

Once activated, T cells upregulate on the cell surface two coinhibitory molecules, cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and programed death 1 (PD-1). The function of these co-inhibitory molecules is to tightly regulate the immune response by containing excessive T cell activation. For the purpose of cancer immunotherapy, monoclonal antibodies have been generated to potentiate the ongoing antitumor immune response of the patient, through "immune checkpoint blockade" of CTLA-4, PD-1, or PD-1 ligand (PD-L1). The outcome of the initial clinical trials with these new treatments is remarkable (97).

In a phase 3, randomized trial, the CTLA-4 blocking antibody ipilimumab was shown to prolong survival of patients with previously treated metastatic melanoma by ~4 months (98). This was a breakthrough in the treatment of metastatic melanoma because no other therapy had previously been shown to prolong survival in a phase 3 controlled trial. Another phase 3 trial with previously untreated metastatic melanoma patients showed that the overall survival was significantly longer in the group receiving ipilimumab combined with the chemotherapy drug dacarbazine than in the group receiving dacarbazine plus placebo (11 vs. 9 months) (99). Moreover, higher survival rates after 3 years were observed in the ipilimumab–dacarbazine group compared to controls (21 vs. 12%) (99).

Although no phase 3 trial has yet been published based on PD-1 or PD-L1 blockade, phase 1 studies showed promising results. PD-1 checkpoint blockade was tested in a phase 1 trial on patients with several types of advanced cancer. Cumulative response rates (complete or partial responses) were 18% among patients with non-small cell lung cancer (14 of 76 patients), 28% among patients with melanoma (26 of 94 patients), and 27% among patients with renal-cell cancer (9 of 33 patients). Responses were durable, 20 of 31 responses lasting 1 year or more in patients with 1 year or more of follow-up (100). In a phase 1 trial with anti-PD-L1 blocking antibodies, an objective response (complete or partial response) was observed in 9 of 52 patients with melanoma, 2 of 17 with renal-cell cancer, and 5 of 49 with non-small cell lung cancer. Responses lasted for 1 year or more in 8 of 16 patients with at least 1 year of follow-up (101). Finally, combined treatment of advanced melanoma was performed with both anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 blocking antibodies in a phase 1 trial. The objective response rate for all 53 treated patients in the concurrent-regimen group was as high as 40% (102). Thus, immune checkpoint blockade represents a promising new strategy to treat advanced cancer in humans. The success of this approach, which is based on potentiating the ongoing, naturally occurring antitumor immune response of the patient, provides another piece of evidence that fighting cancer is indeed a primary function of the immune system.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

As summarized in this review, the scientific literature over the past 50 years has provided strong support to the cancer immunosurveillance hypothesis. Thus, it appears that our immune system does not only naturally protect us against infectious non-self (pathogens) but also against malignant self (cancer). Many cell types belonging to both the innate (NK cells and macrophages) and the adaptive (T and B cells) immune systems seem to be involved in cancer control. Our current understanding on how

the immune system fights cancer remains very fragmentary. There are pieces of evidence for two main strategies used by the immune system to distinguish cancer cells from normal cells. On one hand, the adaptive immune system recognizes altered (mutated) self proteins in malignant cells. On the other hand, NK cells and v8 T cells recognize stress-induced self molecules (NKG2D ligands) on transformed cells. Yet, cancer cells originate from normal cells and a main challenge for successful antitumor immunity is to restrain the destruction of normal cells (autoimmunity). In fact, a recent study suggested that autoimmune disease may occur as a result of an inaccurate antitumor immune response (103). Scleroderma is an autoimmune connective tissue disease in which patients make antibodies to a limited number of autoantigens, including the RNA polymerase III subunit, encoded by the POLR3A gene. In several patients who had both scleroderma and cancer, genetic alterations of the POLR3A locus were found in the malignant cells, suggesting that POLR3A mutations triggered an adaptive antitumor immune response, which cross-reacted with normal tissue, causing autoimmune disease (103).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank Inger Øynebråten for critical reading of the manuscript. This work was supported by grants from the Research Council of Norway, the Southern and Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority, the Norwegian Cancer Society, Anders Jahre fund, and Henrik Homans Minde fund.

REFERENCES

- 1. Burnet FM. The concept of immunological surveillance. *Prog Exp Tumor Res* (1970) **13**:1–27.
- Burnet M. Cancer: a biological approach. III. Viruses associated with neoplastic conditions. IV. Practical applications. Br Med J (1957) 1:841–7. doi:10.1136/bmj.1.5023.841
- Thomas L. Discussion. In: Lawrence HS editor. Cellular and Humoral Aspects of the Hypersensitive States. New York: Hoeber-Harper (1959). p. 529–32.
- Thomas L. On immunosurveillance in human cancer. Yale J Biol Med (1982) 55:329–33.
- Senovilla L, Vitale I, Martins I, Tailler M, Pailleret C, Michaud M, et al. An immunosurveillance mechanism controls cancer cell ploidy. *Science* (2012) 337:1678–84. doi:10.1126/science.1224922
- Smyth MJ, Godfrey DI, Trapani JA. A fresh look at tumor immunosurveillance and immunotherapy. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2:293–9. doi:10.1038/86297
- Fuchs EJ, Matzinger P. Is cancer dangerous to the immune system? Semin Immunol (1996) 8:271–80. doi:10.1006/smim.1996.0035
- Willimsky G, Blankenstein T. Sporadic immunogenic tumours avoid destruction by inducing T-cell tolerance. *Nature* (2005) 437:141–6. doi:10.1038/ nature03954
- Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? *Lancet* (2001) 357:539–45. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04046-0
- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancer-related inflammation. Nature (2008) 454:436–44. doi:10.1038/nature07205
- Gatti RA, Good RA. Occurrence of malignancy in immunodeficiency diseases. A literature review. *Cancer* (1971) 28:89–98. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(197107) 28:1<89::AID-CNCR2820280117>3.0.CO;2-Q
- Kinlen LJ, Webster AD, Bird AG, Haile R, Peto J, Soothill JF, et al. Prospective study of cancer in patients with hypogammaglobulinemia. *Lancet* (1985) 1:263–6. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(85)91037-2
- Salavoura K, Kolialexi A, Tsangaris G, Mavrou A. Development of cancer in patients with primary immunodeficiencies. *Anticancer Res* (2008) 28:1263–9.
- van der Meer JW, Weening RS, Schellekens PT, van Munster IP, Nagengast FM. Colorectal cancer in patients with X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *Lancet* (1993) 341:1439–40. doi:10.1016/0140-6736(93)90883-I

- Mueller BU, Pizzo PA. Cancer in children with primary or secondary immunodeficiencies. J Pediatr (1995) 126:1–10. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(95)70491-4
- Hayward AR, Levy J, Facchetti F, Notarangelo L, Ochs HD, Etzioni A, et al. Cholangiopathy and tumors of the pancreas, liver, and biliary tree in boys with X-linked immunodeficiency with hyper-IgM. J Immunol (1997) 158:977–83.
- 17. Swann JB, Smyth MJ. Immune surveillance of tumors. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:1137–46. doi:10.1172/JCI31405
- Shankaran V, Ikeda H, Bruce AT, White JM, Swanson PE, Old LJ, et al. IFN gamma and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. *Nature* (2001) 410:1107–11. doi:10.1038/35074122
- Girardi M, Oppenheim DE, Steele CR, Lewis JM, Glusac E, Filler R, et al. Regulation of cutaneous malignancy by gammadelta T cells. *Science* (2001) 294:605–9. doi:10.1126/science.1063916
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Sheehan KC, Shankaran V, Uppaluri R, Bui JD, et al. A critical function for type I interferons in cancer immunoediting. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:722–9. doi:10.1038/ni1213
- 21. Kaplan DH, Shankaran V, Dighe AS, Stockert E, Aguet M, Old LJ, et al. Demonstration of an interferon gamma-dependent tumor surveillance system in immunocompetent mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) **95**:7556–61. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.13.7556
- Street SE, Trapani JA, MacGregor D, Smyth MJ. Suppression of lymphoma and epithelial malignancies effected by interferon gamma. *J Exp Med* (2002) 196:129–34. doi:10.1084/jem.20020063
- Smyth MJ, Thia KY, Street SE, MacGregor D, Godfrey DI, Trapani JA. Perforinmediated cytotoxicity is critical for surveillance of spontaneous lymphoma. J Exp Med (2000) 192:755–60. doi:10.1084/jem.192.5.755
- 24. Calne RY, White DJ, Thiru S, Evans DB, McMaster P, Dunn DC, et al. Cyclosporin A in patients receiving renal allografts from cadaver donors. *Lancet* (1978) **2**:1323–7. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(78)91970-0
- Hoover R, Fraumeni JF Jr. Risk of cancer in renal-transplant recipients. Lancet (1973) 2:55–7. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(73)93256-X
- Birkeland SA, Storm HH, Lamm LU, Barlow L, Blohme I, Forsberg B, et al. Cancer risk after renal transplantation in the Nordic countries, 1964-1986. *Int J Cancer* (1995) 60:183–9. doi:10.1002/ijc.2910600209
- 27. Opelz G, Dohler B. Lymphomas after solid organ transplantation: a collaborative transplant study report. *Am J Transplant* (2004) **4**:222–30. doi:10.1111/j. 1600-6143.2004.00451.x
- List AF, Greco FA, Vogler LB. Lymphoproliferative diseases in immunocompromised hosts: the role of Epstein-Barr virus. J Clin Oncol (1987) 5: 1673–89.
- 29. Leblond V, Davi F, Charlotte F, Dorent R, Bitker MO, Sutton L, et al. Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders not associated with Epstein-Barr virus: a distinct entity? *J Clin Oncol* (1998) **16**:2052–9.
- Engels EA, Pfeiffer RM, Fraumeni JF Jr, Kasiske BL, Israni AK, Snyder JJ, et al. Spectrum of cancer risk among US solid organ transplant recipients. JAMA (2011) 306:1891–901. doi:10.1001/jama.2011.1592
- Bouwes Bavinck JN, Hardie DR, Green A, Cutmore S, MacNaught A, O'Sullivan B, et al. The risk of skin cancer in renal transplant recipients in Queensland, Australia. A follow-up study. *Transplantation* (1996) 61:715–21. doi:10.1097/ 00007890-199603150-00008
- 32. Krynitz B, Edgren G, Lindelof B, Baecklund E, Brattstrom C, Wilczek H, et al. Risk of skin cancer and other malignancies in kidney, liver, heart and lung transplant recipients 1970 to 2008 – a Swedish population-based study. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 132:1429–38. doi:10.1002/ijc.27765
- Ramsay HM, Fryer AA, Hawley CM, Smith AG, Harden PN. Non-melanoma skin cancer risk in the Queensland renal transplant population. *Br J Dermatol* (2002) 147:950–6. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2133.2002.04976.x
- Schulz TF. Cancer and viral infections in immunocompromised individuals. Int J Cancer (2009) 125:1755–63. doi:10.1002/ijc.24741
- Clifford GM, Polesel J, Rickenbach M, Dal Maso L, Keiser O, Kofler A, et al. Cancer risk in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study: associations with immunodeficiency, smoking, and highly active antiretroviral therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst (2005) 97:425–32. doi:10.1093/jnci/dji072
- Shiels MS, Cole SR, Kirk GD, Poole C. A meta-analysis of the incidence of non-AIDS cancers in HIV-infected individuals. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr (2009) 52:611–22. doi:10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181b327ca
- Sigel K, Wisnivesky J, Gordon K, Dubrow R, Justice A, Brown ST, et al. HIV as an independent risk factor for incident lung cancer. *AIDS* (2012) 26:1017–25. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e328352d1ad

- 38. Guiguet M, Boue F, Cadranel J, Lang JM, Rosenthal E, Costagliola D. Effect of immunodeficiency, HIV viral load, and antiretroviral therapy on the risk of individual malignancies (FHDH-ANRS CO4): a Prospective Cohort Study. *Lancet Oncol* (2009) 10:1152–9. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70282-7
- Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:298–306. doi:10.1038/nrc3245
- Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pages C, et al. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. *Science* (2006) **313**:1960–4. doi:10.1126/ science.1129139
- Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, Gimotty PA, Massobrio M, Regnani G, et al. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2003) 348:203–13. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa020177
- Al-Shibli KI, Donnem T, Al-Saad S, Persson M, Bremnes RM, Busund LT. Prognostic effect of epithelial and stromal lymphocyte infiltration in non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:5220–7. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0133
- Kawai O, Ishii G, Kubota K, Murata Y, Naito Y, Mizuno T, et al. Predominant infiltration of macrophages and CD8(+) T Cells in cancer nests is a significant predictor of survival in stage IV nonsmall cell lung cancer. *Cancer* (2008) 113:1387–95. doi:10.1002/cncr.23712
- Mahmoud SM, Paish EC, Powe DG, Macmillan RD, Grainge MJ, Lee AH, et al. Tumor-infiltrating CD8+ lymphocytes predict clinical outcome in breast cancer. J Clin Oncol (2011) 29:1949–55. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.30.5037
- 45. Naito Y, Saito K, Shiiba K, Ohuchi A, Saigenji K, Nagura H, et al. CD8+ T cells infiltrated within cancer cell nests as a prognostic factor in human colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res* (1998) **58**:3491–4.
- 46. Cho Y, Miyamoto M, Kato K, Fukunaga A, Shichinohe T, Kawarada Y, et al. CD4+ and CD8+ T cells cooperate to improve prognosis of patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63:1555–9.
- Hiraoka K, Miyamoto M, Cho Y, Suzuoki M, Oshikiri T, Nakakubo Y, et al. Concurrent infiltration by CD8+ T cells and CD4+ T cells is a favourable prognostic factor in non-small-cell lung carcinoma. *Br J Cancer* (2006) **94**:275–80. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6602934
- Budhu A, Forgues M, Ye QH, Jia HL, He P, Zanetti KA, et al. Prediction of venous metastases, recurrence, and prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma based on a unique immune response signature of the liver microenvironment. *Cancer Cell* (2006) 10:99–111. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2006.06.016
- 49. Kristensen VN, Vaske CJ, Ursini-Siegel J, Van Loo P, Nordgard SH, Sachidanandam R, et al. Integrated molecular profiles of invasive breast tumors and ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) reveal differential vascular and interleukin signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109:2802–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1108781108
- Rusakiewicz S, Semeraro M, Sarabi M, Desbois M, Locher C, Mendez R, et al. Immune infiltrates are prognostic factors in localized gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:3499–510. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0371
- Forssell J, Oberg A, Henriksson ML, Stenling R, Jung A, Palmqvist R. High macrophage infiltration along the tumor front correlates with improved survival in colon cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13:1472–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2073
- 52. Kim DW, Min HS, Lee KH, Kim YJ, Oh DY, Jeon YK, et al. High tumour islet macrophage infiltration correlates with improved patient survival but not with EGFR mutations, gene copy number or protein expression in resected non-small cell lung cancer. *Br J Cancer* (2008) **98**:1118–24. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc. 6604256
- 53. Shimura S, Yang G, Ebara S, Wheeler TM, Frolov A, Thompson TC. Reduced infiltration of tumor-associated macrophages in human prostate cancer: association with cancer progression. *Cancer Res* (2000) **60**:5857–61.
- Welsh TJ, Green RH, Richardson D, Waller DA, O'Byrne KJ, Bradding P. Macrophage and mast-cell invasion of tumor cell islets confers a marked survival advantage in non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol (2005) 23:8959–67. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.01.4910
- Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA Jr, Kinzler KW. Cancer genome landscapes. *Science* (2013) 339:1546–58. doi:10.1126/science. 1235122
- Jones S, Zhang X, Parsons DW, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, et al. Core signaling pathways in human pancreatic cancers revealed by global genomic analyses. *Science* (2008) **321**:1801–6. doi:10.1126/science.1164368

- Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, et al. An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. *Science* (2008) 321:1807–12. doi:10.1126/science.1164382
- Sjoblom T, Jones S, Wood LD, Parsons DW, Lin J, Barber TD, et al. The consensus coding sequences of human breast and colorectal cancers. *Science* (2006) 314:268–74. doi:10.1126/science.1133427
- Wood LD, Parsons DW, Jones S, Lin J, Sjoblom T, Leary RJ, et al. The genomic landscapes of human breast and colorectal cancers. *Science* (2007) 318:1108–13. doi:10.1126/science.1145720
- Govindan R, Ding L, Griffith M, Subramanian J, Dees ND, Kanchi KL, et al. Genomic landscape of non-small cell lung cancer in smokers and neversmokers. *Cell* (2012) 150:1121–34. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.08.024
- Wei X, Walia V, Lin JC, Teer JK, Prickett TD, Gartner J, et al. Exome sequencing identifies GRIN2A as frequently mutated in melanoma. *Nat Genet* (2011) 43:442–6. doi:10.1038/ng.810
- Wang RF, Wang X, Atwood AC, Topalian SL, Rosenberg SA. Cloning genes encoding MHC class II-restricted antigens: mutated CDC27 as a tumor antigen. *Science* (1999) 284:1351–4. doi:10.1126/science.284.5418.1351
- Wang RF, Wang X, Rosenberg SA. Identification of a novel major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted tumor antigen resulting from a chromosomal rearrangement recognized by CD4(+) T cells. *J Exp Med* (1999) 189:1659–68. doi:10.1084/jem.189.10.1659
- 64. Saeterdal I, Bjorheim J, Lislerud K, Gjertsen MK, Bukholm IK, Olsen OC, et al. Frameshift-mutation-derived peptides as tumor-specific antigens in inherited and spontaneous colorectal cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98:13255–60. doi:10.1073/pnas.231326898
- Wolfel T, Hauer M, Schneider J, Serrano M, Wolfel C, Klehmann-Hieb E, et al. A p16INK4a-insensitive CDK4 mutant targeted by cytolytic T lymphocytes in a human melanoma. *Science* (1995) 269:1281–4. doi:10.1126/science.7652577
- 66. Echchakir H, Mami-Chouaib F, Vergnon I, Baurain JF, Karanikas V, Chouaib S, et al. A point mutation in the alpha-actinin-4 gene generates an antigenic peptide recognized by autologous cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human lung carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2001) **61**:4078–83.
- 67. Hogan KT, Eisinger DP, Cupp SB III, Lekstrom KJ, Deacon DD, Shabanowitz J, et al. The peptide recognized by HLA-A68.2-restricted, squamous cell carcinoma of the lung-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes is derived from a mutated elongation factor 2 gene. *Cancer Res* (1998) 58:5144–50.
- 68. Karanikas V, Colau D, Baurain JF, Chiari R, Thonnard J, Gutierrez-Roelens I, et al. High frequency of cytolytic T lymphocytes directed against a tumor-specific mutated antigen detectable with HLA tetramers in the blood of a lung carcinoma patient with long survival. *Cancer Res* (2001) **61**: 3718–24.
- Clark RE, Dodi IA, Hill SC, Lill JR, Aubert G, Macintyre AR, et al. Direct evidence that leukemic cells present HLA-associated immunogenic peptides derived from the BCR-ABL b3a2 fusion protein. *Blood* (2001) 98:2887–93. doi:10.1182/blood.V98.10.2887
- Sahin U, Tureci O, Schmitt H, Cochlovius B, Johannes T, Schmits R, et al. Human neoplasms elicit multiple specific immune responses in the autologous host. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1995) **92**:11810–3. doi:10.1073/pnas.92. 25.11810
- Scanlan MJ, Chen YT, Williamson B, Gure AO, Stockert E, Gordan JD, et al. Characterization of human colon cancer antigens recognized by autologous antibodies. *Int J Cancer* (1998) **76**:652–8. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19980529)76:5<652::AID-IJC7>3.3.CO;2-9
- Garrido F, Ruiz-Cabello F, Cabrera T, Perez-Villar JJ, Lopez-Botet M, Duggan-Keen M, et al. Implications for immunosurveillance of altered HLA class I phenotypes in human tumours. *Immunol Today* (1997) 18:89–95. doi:10.1016/ S0167-5699(96)10075-X
- 73. D'Urso CM, Wang ZG, Cao Y, Tatake R, Zeff RA, Ferrone S. Lack of HLA class I antigen expression by cultured melanoma cells FO-1 due to a defect in B2m gene expression. J Clin Invest (1991) 87:284–92. doi:10.1172/JCI114984
- 74. Perez B, Benitez R, Fernandez MA, Oliva MR, Soto JL, Serrano S, et al. A new beta 2 microglobulin mutation found in a melanoma tumor cell line. *Tissue Antigens* (1999) 53:569–72. doi:10.1034/j.1399-0039.1999.530607.x
- 75. Jimenez P, Canton J, Collado A, Cabrera T, Serrano A, Real LM, et al. Chromosome loss is the most frequent mechanism contributing to HLA haplotype loss in human tumors. *Int J Cancer* (1999) 83:91–7. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19990924)83:1<91::AID-IJC17>3.0.CO;2-4

- 76. Lawrence MS, Stojanov P, Mermel CH, Robinson JT, Garraway LA, Golub TR, et al. Discovery and saturation analysis of cancer genes across 21 tumour types. *Nature* (2014) 505:495–501. doi:10.1038/nature12912
- 77. Lippitz BE. Cytokine patterns in patients with cancer: a systematic review. *Lancet Oncol* (2013) 14:e218–28. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70582-X
- Principe DR, Doll JA, Bauer J, Jung B, Munshi HG, Bartholin L, et al. TGFbeta: duality of function between tumor prevention and carcinogenesis. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2014) 106:djt369. doi:10.1093/jnci/djt369
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:991–8. doi:10.1038/ni1102-991
- Bauer S, Groh V, Wu J, Steinle A, Phillips JH, Lanier LL, et al. Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stress-inducible MICA. *Science* (1999) 285:727–9. doi:10.1126/science.285.5428.727
- Groh V, Bahram S, Bauer S, Herman A, Beauchamp M, Spies T. Cell stressregulated human major histocompatibility complex class I gene expressed in gastrointestinal epithelium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1996) **93**:12445–50. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.22.12445
- Raulet DH, Gasser S, Gowen BG, Deng W, Jung H. Regulation of ligands for the NKG2D activating receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2013) 31:413–41. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095951
- Shafi S, Vantourout P, Wallace G, Antoun A, Vaughan R, Stanford M, et al. An NKG2D-mediated human lymphoid stress surveillance response with high interindividual variation. *Sci Transl Med* (2011) 3:113ra124. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3002922
- Gasser S, Orsulic S, Brown EJ, Raulet DH. The DNA damage pathway regulates innate immune system ligands of the NKG2D receptor. *Nature* (2005) 436:1186–90. doi:10.1038/nature03884
- Boissel N, Rea D, Tieng V, Dulphy N, Brun M, Cayuela JM, et al. BCR/ABL oncogene directly controls MHC class I chain-related molecule A expression in chronic myelogenous leukemia. J Immunol (2006) 176:5108–16. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.8.5108
- Liu XV, Ho SS, Tan JJ, Kamran N, Gasser S. Ras activation induces expression of Raet1 family NK receptor ligands. J Immunol (2012) 189:1826–34. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200965
- Vantourout P, Willcox C, Turner A, Swanson CM, Haque Y, Sobolev O, et al. Immunological visibility: posttranscriptional regulation of human NKG2D ligands by the EGF receptor pathway. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:231ra249. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3007579
- Jung H, Hsiung B, Pestal K, Procyk E, Raulet DH. RAE-1 ligands for the NKG2D receptor are regulated by E2F transcription factors, which control cell cycle entry. J Exp Med (2012) 209:2409–22. doi:10.1084/jem.20120565
- 89. Groh V, Rhinehart R, Secrist H, Bauer S, Grabstein KH, Spies T. Broad tumor-associated expression and recognition by tumor-derived gamma delta T cells of MICA and MICB. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96:6879–84. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.12.6879
- Jinushi M, Takehara T, Tatsumi T, Kanto T, Groh V, Spies T, et al. Expression and role of MICA and MICB in human hepatocellular carcinomas and their regulation by retinoic acid. Int J Cancer (2003) 104:354–61. doi:10.1002/ijc.10966
- Cerwenka A, Baron JL, Lanier LL. Ectopic expression of retinoic acid early inducible-1 gene (RAE-1) permits natural killer cell-mediated rejection of a MHC class I-bearing tumor in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2001) 98:11521–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.201238598
- Diefenbach A, Jensen ER, Jamieson AM, Raulet DH. RAE1 and H60 ligands of the NKG2D receptor stimulate tumour immunity. *Nature* (2001) 413:165–71. doi:10.1038/35093109
- Smyth MJ, Swann J, Cretney E, Zerafa N, Yokoyama WM, Hayakawa Y. NKG2D function protects the host from tumor initiation. J Exp Med (2005) 202:583–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20050994
- 94. Guerra N, Tan YX, Joncker NT, Choy A, Gallardo F, Xiong N, et al. NKG2D-deficient mice are defective in tumor surveillance in models of spontaneous malignancy. *Immunity* (2008) 28:571–80. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008. 02.016
- Chen D, Juko-Pecirep I, Hammer J, Ivansson E, Enroth S, Gustavsson I, et al. Genome-wide association study of susceptibility loci for cervical cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst (2013) 105:624–33. doi:10.1093/jnci/djt051
- 96. Melum E, Karlsen TH, Schrumpf E, Bergquist A, Thorsby E, Boberg KM, et al. Cholangiocarcinoma in primary sclerosing cholangitis

is associated with NKG2D polymorphisms. *Hepatology* (2008) **47**:90–6. doi:10.1002/hep.21964

- 97. Couzin-Frankel J. Breakthrough of the year 2013. Cancer immunotherapy. *Science* (2013) **342**:1432–3. doi:10.1126/science.342.6165.1432
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 363:711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, Weber J, Garbe C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2011) 364:2517–26. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1104621
- 100. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366:2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- 101. Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366:2455–65. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- 102. Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369:122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369

103. Joseph CG, Darrah E, Shah AA, Skora AD, Casciola-Rosen LA, Wigley FM, et al. Association of the autoimmune disease scleroderma with an immunologic response to cancer. *Science* (2014) 343:152–7. doi:10.1126/science.1246886

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 13 February 2014; accepted: 22 April 2014; published online: 12 May 2014. Citation: Corthay A (2014) Does the immune system naturally protect against cancer? Front. Immunol. 5:197. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00197

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Corthay. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Evolving strategies for cancer and autoimmunity: back to the future

Peter J. L. Lane*, Fiona M. McConnell, Graham Anderson, Maher G. Nawaf, Fabrina M. Gaspal and David R. Withers

MRC Centre for immune Regulation, Birmingham Medical School, Birmingham, UK

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Julian Dyson, Imperial College London, UK Mohey Eldin El Shikh, Queen Mary University of London, UK

*Correspondence:

Peter J. L. Lane, MRC Centre for immune Regulation, Birmingham Medical School, Vincent Drive, Birmingham B15 2T, UK e-mail: p.j.l.lane@bham.ac.uk Although current thinking has focused on genetic variation between individuals and environmental influences as underpinning susceptibility to both autoimmunity and cancer, an alternative view is that human susceptibility to these diseases is a consequence of the way the immune system evolved. It is important to remember that the immunological genes that we inherit and the systems that they control were shaped by the drive for reproductive success rather than for individual survival. It is our view that human susceptibility to autoimmunity and cancer is the evolutionarily acceptable side effect of the immune adaptations that evolved in early placental mammals to accommodate a fundamental change in reproductive strategy. Studies of immune function in mammals show that high affinity antibodies and CD4 memory, along with its regulation, co-evolved with placentation. By dissection of the immunologically active genes and proteins that evolved to regulate this step change in the mammalian immune system, clues have emerged that may reveal ways of de-tuning both effector and regulatory arms of the immune system to abrogate autoimmune responses whilst preserving protection against infection. Paradoxically, it appears that such a detuned and deregulated immune system is much better equipped to mount anti-tumor immune responses against cancers.

Keywords: CD4T cell, autoimmunity, tolerance mechanisms, cancer, regulation, memory, keyword

INTRODUCTION

In our society today, cancer and autoimmunity are major causes of suffering and death, and a huge financial burden on health services worldwide. The strongest genetic link with autoimmunity is to major histocompatibility (MHC) class II genes, implicating CD4 T cells in autoimmune pathogenesis. Less obviously, CD4 T cells are also implicated in defective immunity to tumors, as CD4 regulatory T cells (Tregs) limit effector responses to tumor antigens.

Our studies have centered on CD4 immunity and its regulation, and have been informed by the striking observation that the key features of the CD4 immune system - high affinity antibody responses, memory, and CD4 regulation - co-evolved with placentation in mammals (1-3). A simple comparison of the numbers of species in different mammalian groups - monotremes, 2; marsupials, ~400; placentals, ~5000 - illustrates the reproductive advantage conferred by placentation. The contribution of the immune system to this advantage is threefold: the bringing of unborn young to immunocompetence at birth; protection after birth by maternal transfer of high affinity IgG; and reduction in exposure of offspring to disease epidemics due to memory responses in the community, the latter two being CD4 T cell dependent functions. Note that the pressure on the immune defenses due to the physical frailty of the placental newborn is enormous, as demonstrated by the fact that even with the immune protections described, mortality is exponentially higher in infants than in adults (4). The high potency of effector immune responses demanded by placentation carries high risk of pathological autoimmunity, which has been substantially addressed by the co-evolution of T regulatory mechanisms. But

because Darwinian selection favors reproductive success rather than individual survival, the protection of the developing fetus takes precedence over the risk of personal suffering and even death in post-reproductive adults. And we believe that the less than complete limitation of autoimmunity by T regulation already carries its own risk, also consequent on the stringent necessity of reproductive success. Before placentation, protection of the self from effector responses required tolerance to tissue specific self-antigens; the evolution of placentation required this tolerance to extend to placenta- and fetus-specific antigens as well. Additionally, we think that the intermittent nature of pregnancy fosters the selection of dominant forms of tolerance (see Evolution of the Placenta - A New Organ). Our view is supported by two lines of evidence: the wide expression of fetus- and placenta-specific antigens by human cancers in both males and females (5), reflecting selection of cancer cells that can gain advantage from the immune regulation protecting the developing embryo and fetally derived placenta; - recent identification of memory Tregs induced specifically by fetally derived antigens (6). Although deletional tolerance no doubt also operates to maintain tolerance to fetally derived antigens, the particular advantage of dominant tolerance to fetal antigens expressed in the placental trophoblast is that it could also confer bystander tolerance to fetal alloantigens at the fetomaternal interface, to which there is no opportunity for maternal thymic tolerance, particularly during first time pregnancies before there is priming to induce Tregs specific for alloantigens (6).

In this article, we start by reviewing the fundamental changes that occurred in mammals over the last 200 million years [see **Figure 1** Ref. (7)] and that form the context of the sequential genetic changes that enabled new immunological structures and functions to evolve. We then review the evidence that the resulting "modern" mammalian immune system can be detuned to give a minimal essential immune system for health: a system that, without compromising immunity to infection, can both abrogate pathogenic CD4 driven autoimmune responses and augment anti-tumor immunity.

BRIEF HISTORY OF MAMMALS FROM AN IMMUNOLOGICAL PERSPECTIVE

Comparative genomics and the fossil record have been used as a timeline for the evolution of mammals from the common reptilian ancestor [**Figure 1** Ref. (7)]. This timeline highlights the major physiological changes that emerged: the evolution of homeothermy, of hair (insulation), and of lactation (an effective strategy to nourish homeothermic offspring). All mammals, including the egg laying monotremes, have these characteristics, which distinguish them from the cold-blooded common ancestor they share with reptiles and birds.

ORIGINS OF LYMPH NODES

The development of these characteristic mammalian attributes was accompanied by changes in the immune system, both anatomically and functionally. The most striking gross anatomical change is the emergence of intra-lymphatic lymphoid aggregates (the ancestors of lymph nodes) in the common mammalian ancestor. All jawed vertebrates have a spleen and lymphoid aggregates in the mucosal associated lymphoid tissues, but only mammals have lymphoid structures that are intra-lymphatic as opposed to lymphatic-associated. In chickens, lymphoid aggregates are found in the wall but not the lumen of lymphatics (8), which is a similar arrangement to the so called isolated lymphoid follicles (ILFs) found at mucosal sites in all vertebrates, and associated with



lizards, and relatives) are in green.

and developed a unique suit of character (dark-red text). Therian

but not inside lymphatics (e.g., the lacteals in the gut). In contrast, vascularized intra-lymphatic ILF-like structures are found in both of the extant monotremes (9, 10). Why did these intralymphatic structures, which are the precursors of mammalian lymph nodes, evolve? Possible explanations in our view are linked to the evolution of homeothermy in mammals, with the consequent increased demand for nutrients. The mucosal system of mammals has a much more extensive surface area for absorption of food than reptiles, and consequently has increased exposure to bacteria, both commensal and non-commensal, in the gut. One view therefore, is that these intra-lymphatic lymphoid structures evolved in the mesentery of the gut as a "firewall" to block the entry of gut bacteria into the systemic circulation (11). In any case, comparative genomics supports the view that intralymphatic lymphoid structures evolved in the common mammalian ancestor, as the L-selectin gene (SELL) first appears in monotremes (www.ensembl.org). This molecule occurs on lymphocytes and directs their exit from blood vessels into lymphatics (as lymph nodes are essentially intra-lymphatic structures), and is not present in reptiles or birds, which however do have genes for the inflammatory selectins present on endothelium, E-(SELE), and P-selectin (SELP). SELE and SELP are chromosomally co-located in mammals with L-selectin, indicating that SELL is likely to have arisen by gene duplication in the common mammalian ancestor.

Microscopically, the ILFs found inside the lymphatics of monotremes contain B cell germinal center (GC)-like structures with follicular CD4 T cells (10), but they do not contribute to affinity maturation of the B cell response or to memory; secondary antibody responses in monotremes are very similar to primary ones (2). In the absence of a link to affinity maturation, it seems probable that these GC-like inclusions mediated the diversification of the B cell repertoire, after the fashion of the GC-like structures seen to develop in the Bursa of Fabricius in chickens, where the B cell repertoire is diversified by activation induced cytosine deaminase (AID)-dependent gene conversion of immunoglobulin variable region genes (12). In placental animals like sheep, primary diversification of the B cell repertoire through gene conversion and somatic hypermutation also occurs in the gut associated lymphoid tissues (13), so it is quite plausible that this is the function first appearing inside intra-lymphatic nodules in monotremes. Orthologs of IgE and IgG also evolved in the common mammalian ancestor; in monotremes (14), unlike placental animals, switched immunoglobulin isotypes are produced in primary immune responses, and it is possible that the sites of AID-dependent class switching, to not only IgE and IgG, but also IgA, are the intra-lymphatic ILFs.

IgA CONTROL OF ANTI-INFLAMMATORY AND RESPONSES TO GUT MICROBIOTA

IgA is the most abundant immunoglobulin, and secreted IgA is the main immunoglobulin at mucosal surfaces. Orthologs of IgA are present in reptiles, birds, and mammals but not amphibians and fish, indicating that this immunoglobulin class evolved in the common amniotic ancestor of land animals. The evolution of the amniotic egg was critical to the capacity of vertebrates to colonize non-aquatic habitats, as it freed their reproduction from the dependency on access to water retained by amphibian species. However, terrestrial habitats brought new challenges in the form of different food sources and different microbiota colonizing the gut. In this context, the anti-inflammatory properties of IgA are likely to have been crucial. Tsuji et al. (15) present several pieces of evidence pointing to the importance of IgA in maintaining a normal gut flora. AID-deficient mice developed abnormal gut flora, which was associated with impaired switching to IgA in ILFs in the mucosa. This IgA-dependent class switching was shown to be T cell independent, but dependent on AID expression in ILF GC-like structures.

ORIGIN OF CD4 IMMUNITY

Modern mammals share a 450-Myr-old common ancestor with cartilaginous fish, and indeed all jawed vertebrates have RAG-dependent adaptive immune systems. However, recent sequencing of the elephant shark genome has revealed no evidence for the CD4 gene, and indeed no evidence of either FoxP3, the gene linked to evolution of CD4 regulation (16), or ROR-gamma (RORc), the transcription factor required for the development of Th17 CD4 T cells (17). This suggests that CD4 T cells were not part of the ancestral RAG-dependent adaptive immune system, but evolved later. Recent data have implicated both CD4 Th17 cells and Tregs in IgA immunity.

${\rm FoxP3^+}$ and th17 CD4 T Cells are involved in IgA production in the GUT

The FoxP3 gene is highly conserved in all placental mammals (www.ensembl.org). Given that members of the FoxP gene family are consistently highly conserved across all animal groups, this would not be surprising, except that by comparison, FoxP3 orthologs in marsupials, marsupials, reptiles, monotremes, fish, and amphibians show much reduced conservation. The step gain in conservation of FoxP3 in placental mammals is consistent with a gain of function specific to placentation (18). Similarly, IL17a, the principle IL17 cytokine secreted by Th17 T cells, is exclusive to mammalian genomes, and therefore evolved in the common mammalian ancestor.

The conventional view of FoxP3⁺ Tregs is that their primary role is to suppress or modulate CD4 dependent immune responses (19), but there is evidence that they also function in the T cell dependent switching to IgA in the gut: Foxp3 expressing Tregs were potent inducers of IgA after transfer in T cell deficient mice (20); Tregs were found to be important mediators of induction of IgA to flagellin, a molecule common to commensal and pathogenic bacteria (21). The latter result raised the very interesting idea that a key function of Tregs is to promote the generation of IgA antibodies to commensal bacteria in the gut, so maintaining homeostasis of gut microbiota and preventing inappropriate inflammatory immune responses. A possible role for the ancestral FoxP3-dependent Tregs could therefore be to moderate immune responses to commensal bacteria by effectively providing help for B cells.

This suggestion is somewhat controversial, as recent studies have implicated Th17 cells rather than Tregs in the induction of IgA in the gut (22, 23). Cao et al. implicated the mammalian specific cytokine IL17a in the production of IgA to flagellin. The available data are however not necessarily contradictory, as in humans at least a significant fraction of Tregs isolated from mucosal surfaces co-express FoxP3 and ROR γ t, the key Th17 transcription factor (24), in addition to producing IL17a. A scenario compatible with the evidence is that there was co-evolution of Th17 and FoxP3⁺ T cells in the common mammalian ancestor, at least in part to promote IgA antibody production in the gut, and in any case to act synergistically to promote integrity at mucosal surfaces.

EVOLUTION OF HIGH AFFINITY ANTIBODIES AND MEMORY IN THE COMMON PLACENTAL ANCESTOR

As discussed earlier (see "Origins of Lymph Nodes" above), despite having intra-lymphatic lymphoid follicles containing GCs, monotremes do not make high affinity antibody responses or demonstrate CD4 memory (2, 9, 10). They do not have true lymph nodes with segregated B and T cell areas, but these structures evolved in the common placental ancestor; all marsupials and placental mammals have lymph nodes, and demonstrate the capacity to make high affinity antibodies and memory (1, 3, 25, 26). These advances are linked to the evolution of new genes, notably the lymphotoxin β receptor (LT β R) and its ligands, which are not only essential for lymph node development but also for making high affinity antibodies and memory.

LYMPHOID TISSUE INDUCER CELLS: Rory DEPENDENT, AND LINKED WITH BOTH LYMPH NODE AND CD4 MEMORY DEVELOPMENT

Reina Mebius was the first to characterize murine lymphoid tissue inducer cells (LTi) (27). Their function in the development of lymphoid tissues was revealed when it was found that mice deficient in the orphan retinoic acid receptor gamma (ROR γ) lacked both this CD4⁺CD3⁻ LTi population and lymph nodes (28, 29). These studies link LTi unequivocally with the development of lymph nodes, cryptopatches, and ILFs through their expression of the tumor necrosis superfamily members (TNFSF) for the lymphotoxin beta receptor (LT β R), LT $\alpha_1\beta_2$ (30), and TRANCE (31); more recent studies have also shown that LTi are rich sources of the cytokine, interleukin 22 (IL22) (32), which is associated with the promotion of defenses at epithelial sites (33–35). This would permit the LTi a function in the promotion of innate immunity that is distinct from the induction of lymphoid tissues.

Additionally, our work has shown that LTi persist in adult lymphoid tissues in both mouse (36) and man (37), but are distinguished from the neonatal population by their expression of high levels of OX40-ligand (OX40L)(TNFSF4) (36, 37) and in mouse, CD30L(TNFSF8) (36). Our studies have found that CD4 T cell memory function is highly dependent on signaling through both OX40 and CD30 (38), suggesting additional roles for LTi in the mediation of adaptive CD4 dependent immune responses.

IMPORTANCE OF THE IMMUNE CONTRIBUTION TO PLACENTATION

It is difficult to refute the significance of the co-evolution of high affinity antibodies and lymph nodes with placentation. Zinkernagel (39) takes the view that memory and high affinity antibodies are chiefly relevant because they protect offspring via maternal transfer of high affinity antibodies, and the way in which immunological functions have evolved during placentation broadly supports his perception. We know that orthologs of IgG first appeared in the common mammalian ancestor because monotremes have them (14). The neonatal Fc receptor (FCGRT), however, which is the gene that enables the crucial transfer of IgG from mother to offspring as well prolonging the beneficial effects of IgG by increasing its half-life (40), is only present in marsupial and placental genomes. Studies of human infant mortality to most common infections show an exponential decline with the age (4) with exception of the first year of life where transfer of maternal IgG plays a crucial role in infant survival through protective immunity. Indeed in many placental animals failure to transfer maternal IgG is fatal. Comparative genomics therefore supports the idea that the development of the capacity to make high affinity antibodies and transfer them to offspring is an integral component of the evolution of a fundamental change in reproductive strategy.

CO-EVOLUTION OF HIGH AFFINITY ANTIBODIES WITH FoxP3-DEPENDENT REGULATION

In placentals, GCs in B follicles are the locations where T cell dependent B cell selection drives the generation of high affinity antibodies (41), but there must exist mechanisms to edit self-reactive GC B cells that acquire self-reactivity. This can occur because self-proteins can be inadvertently conjugated to foreign proteins (e.g., apoptotic virally infected cells), and therefore GC B cells that acquire self-reactivity by chance have the capacity to get help from GC follicular T helper cells. Indeed, it is very common in viral infections in humans to get transient low affinity autoantibody production, but this does not usually go on to generate high affinity class switched autoantibodies.

Recent studies have shown that Tregs are also present in normal GC (42, 43) and the fact that high affinity IgG autoantibodies to a wide variety of tissue-restricted antigens are found in FoxP3deficient mice indicates that Tregs must be pivotal in preventing the generation of these autoantibodies. Although it is by no means clear how Tregs in GC prevent autoantibodies being generated, there is better evidence for how self-specific Tregs are selected. Recent work has shown the critical role of the thymic medulla in the selection of thymic derived regulatory but not conventional T cells (44). The gene AIRE, expressed in the thymic medulla, controls the expression of many tissue-restricted antigens (45, 46). Intrathymic deletion of self-specific T cells is substantially AIRE-dependent (47), but the process of selection against tissuerestricted antigens is also a plausible mechanism by which Tregs specific for self-antigen could be selected in thymus and go on to exert their effects in the periphery.

When considering the origin of the requirement for regulation of immune effectors, it is clear that, in the absence of memory and high affinity IgG, the consequences for monotremes of inadvertently making anti-self antibody responses are mild; all their antibodies are low-titer, low affinity, and transiently produced, so one would surmise that the requirement for regulation is limited. Substantial changes in the FoxP3 gene occurred during the evolution of placentation (18), and the relevance of this is further demonstrated by the failure of regulation in placental animals having mutant forms of FoxP3 lacking critical domains (18).

EVOLUTION OF THE PLACENTA – A NEW ORGAN

The major advantage of placentation over oviparous forms of reproduction is that it greatly increases the chances of reproductive

success by prolonging the parental protection of the developing offspring, including increasing the chance of surviving infection courtesy of a more mature immune system, initially supported by high affinity maternal IgG antibodies. A recent detailed study of placental fossils combined with comparative genomic data concluded that all modern placentals (Eutherians) are derived from a common placental ancestor that survived the mass extinction 65 Myr ago that eliminated terrestrial dinosaurs (48). Inferences from this study are that this common Eutherian ancestor had a hemochorial placenta with the fetal and maternal blood circulations in intimate contact. Marsupials represent an intermediate step toward this state; they are born very immature and before their immune system develops, but nevertheless get the benefit of protection from predation by ex utero occupation of the maternal pouch, where lactation provides the added advantage of maternally transferred antibodies. Marsupials have a volk sac (Metatherian) placenta, which is simple and relatively impervious to feto-maternal exchange, thus dodging the issue of maternal recognition of fetal and placental antigens. In Eutherian mammals, however, the placenta is fully adapted to cope with a fetus that develops to maturity. There are many new genes that arose during the evolution of placentation to program the development of the placenta (a fetally derived organ) (49), and in addition there are genes essential for survival of the fetus itself in utero. The common ancestor of marsupials and placentals, in which these new genes were evolving, had the capacity to make high affinity antibodies; for the hemochorial placenta with its proximity of maternal and fetal circulations, the selective drive for immune regulation capable of protecting the fetus from rejection by its own mother was clearly decisive.

Two facts need to be remembered concerning the placenta:

- Morphologically it is very diverse in different classes of mammal, reflecting the strong evolutionary pressure for mammals with different lifestyles to adapt reproductively to different external conditions. This is reflected in the evolution of new genes and new gene families in different mammalian classes and is particularly evident on the X chromosome, where many of the placental genes are concentrated and which also evolved from an autosomal chromosome in placentals (5).
- Placentation is an intermittent phenomenon, so maintaining T cell tolerance to the rapidly evolving new proteins that are not present in mammalian females post birth, but to which T cell tolerance will be essential if they are to be reproductively successful is a real challenge. From an evolutionary perspective, it is therefore not difficult to understand why the adaptation to placentation might select for mechanisms of dominant tolerance mediated by Tregs, i.e., where Tregs specific for some of the newly evolving placental and fetal-restricted antigens could suppress maternal effector responses against them, whereas other, maybe less abundant or otherwise less conspicuous, neo-antigens would escape without significant Treg reaction. A further point is that this dominant regulation against thymic expressed placental antigens expressed at the feto-maternal interface could also suppress allorecognition of paternal MHC.

EVOLVING MATERNAL TOLERANCE TO FETUS AND PLACENTA

Because it seems very likely that the problem of maternal tolerance to fetal and placental proteins had already been solved in the common eutherian placental ancestor, we looked for genetic differences between marsupials and eutherian placental mammals in the genes linked to induction and selection of Tregs in mTECs in thymus. The T cell costimulatory molecule CD28 is vital for Treg selection (50), and CD28 ligands, particularly CD80, are expressed on AIRE⁺ mTECs. In all eutherian placental genomes examined, AIRE, the gene associated with selection of antigen-specific Tregs is chromosomally co-located with the CD28 paralog, ICOS-ligand. The ICOS signaling pathway is crucial for the generation of high affinity antibodies in GCs (51); particularly pertinent to the genetic association between ICOSL and AIRE, it is also required for the effective Treg suppressive function (52). Thus the ICOS gene is a pivot between high affinity antibody production and effective Treg function against immune responses to self, raising the very interesting possibility that the expression of this gene facilitated the selection of self-antigen-specific Tregs found in GCs (43), which then edit self-reactive B cells in GCs driven by ICOS signaling interactions.

The comparative genomics of these interactions is instructive. In all marsupial genomes examined, AIRE and ICOSL are not colocated, but are on separate chromosomes, as is also the case in reptiles and birds. Maybe the genetic translocation that brought AIRE and ICOSL together in the common placental ancestor also mediated the co-expression of AIRE with ICOSL on mTECs. We think that this co-expression was likely to have facilitated development of the process of selecting antigen-specific Tregs, and see it as an illustration of how mutually beneficial processes could serve as selective advantages for one another: here the genetic mechanism for improving antibody affinity (ICOS signaling) coevolved with the genetic mechanism maintaining tolerance to self (selection of antigen-specific Tregs via AIRE) to modify the generation of high affinity antibodies to tissue-restricted antigens - in this case those expressed in the placenta and fetus. This allows antibodies to pathogens to be transferred to offspring, protecting them from infection without causing autoimmunity, which is a genuine risk, as there are many examples of passive maternal transfer of IgG autoantibodies causing disease in the neonate. In FoxP3^{KO}OX40CD30^{KO} mice where not only affinity maturation, but also autoantibody production is impaired, the requirement for Tregs is obviated.

Other studies have linked Tregs specifically with the maintenance of allotolerance at the feto-maternal interface (53– 55). However, our data from the FoxP3^{KO}OX40CD30^{KO} mice do not support this interpretation. Our data show that FoxP3^{KO}OX40CD30^{KO} mice are fully able to reject allografts (data not shown) but we found no evidence that female FoxP3^{KO}OX40CD30^{KO} mice rejected allogeneic fetuses. Recent data suggest that immunosuppression in the fetal circulation need not be cell-mediated and implicates the expression of arginase by fetal blood cells (56). Because the fetus is normally sterile, such a global suppression of immune responses in the fetal circulation, and therefore by definition also at the fetal/maternal interface in the placenta, is in our view, a potential mechanism to prevent maternal lymphocytes that enter the fetal circulation inducing rejection. The selective expression of immunosuppressive arginase in the fetal red blood cells in the fetal circulation also helps to explain why lymphocytes in the maternal compartment are still able to respond. For example, although in pregnancy there is susceptibility to some infections, notably influenza, pregnant women make good antibody responses after vaccination (57). We think, therefore that the requirement for regulation in the form of Tregs is more relevant in the context of the mother, to allow antibody responses in particular to foreign proteins derived from infectious pathogens (maternal IgG then passively protects offspring after birth) to go ahead, but to head off responses to fetal or placental antigens that enter the maternal circulation.

MINIMAL IMMUNE SYSTEM FOR MAMMALIAN HEALTH

Our studies had shown that the TNF-family members, OX40 and CD30-ligand were crucial for the development of high affinity antibodies and memory (38). Although CD30 and its ligand were present in the common amniotic ancestor, true orthologs of OX40-ligand, which plays the dominant role in both affinity maturation and memory, are only present in the mammalian lineage (www.ensembl.org). To ask the question of whether CD4 regulation and memory could have co-evolved in the common placental ancestor we reasoned that mice deficient in FoxP3 (no Tregs) and also deficient in OX40 and CD30 (no high affinity antibodies and memory) would mimic at least to some extent the immune system of the common mammalian ancestral immune system seen in monotremes, and would not exhibit autoimmunity. This was the case (58).

Our mice are interesting in several respects. First, the generation of autoantibodies is abrogated in these mice and they fail to develop the widespread autoimmunity seen in mice and men. The development of FoxP3^{KO} disease is CD4 dependent (19) but the FoxP3^{KO}CD300X40^{KO} mice do not behave as CD4-deficient as they do generate GCs and switched antibody not dissimilar to that observed in monotreme responses. Furthermore, they control many herpes viruses (CD8 immunity is preserved) as well as bacteria. The behavior of the immune responses in the CD300X40^{KO} mice is mirrored in a single reported case of OX40-deficiency in humans (59). Although the individual did suffer from Kaposi's sarcoma, she controlled common Herpes virus infections, and was not unduly susceptible to bacterial infections, despite the absence of recall CD4 memory responses.

If one accepts Zinkernagel's view that the development of memory and high affinity antibodies is a strategy optimized for reproductive success rather than individual survival, then the Foxp3^{KO}OX40CD30^{KO} immune system in our view represents the "minimal immune system for health," the necessary and sufficient platform that had evolved in the common mammalian ancestor before the evolution of high affinity antibodies and memory induced a compromise in the form of susceptibility to autoimmunity.

HUMAN AUTOIMMUNITY AND BLOCKADE OF 0X40 AND CD30 SIGNALING PATHWAYS

In human genome wide association studies (GWAS) class II polymorphisms are the strongest genetic link, highlighting the role of CD4 T cells in immunopathology, either due to failure to select antigen-specific Tregs in thymus that subsequently protect, or because CD4 effector T cells drive pathology. The significance of the Foxp3^{KO}OX40CD30^{KO} mice with a global defect in Tregs is that it suggests that blocking OX40 alone, or in combination with CD30, would be very effective treatment for wide number of CD4 driven autoimmune diseases without rendering patients susceptible to infection. This is further supported by evidence that shows that FoxP3^{KO} disease can also be blocked by co-injection of antibodies that block OX40 and CD30 signaling pathways (58).

CANCERS MIMIC THE IMMUNE EVASION STRATEGY OF PREGNANCY

The link between placentation and cancer is hardly new (60). From our perspective, a substantial role for dominant FoxP3dependent regulation was to facilitate the growth of the fetus and placenta, both expressing many neo-antigens, while at the same time being permissive particularly for the generation of antibodies to pathogens. Recent whole exome sequencing of human cancers has also revealed their enormous heterogeneity (61). Although in theory this should render tumors immunogenic to the CD8 immune system in particular, it is clear that dominant Treg tolerance is a major stumbling block to the development of effective anti-tumor immune responses if Tregs specific for self-antigens can suppress immune responses to tumor-specific antigens.

Two gene examples illustrate the point. The first is the gene alpha-fetoprotein (AFP), the fetal albumin adapted to in utero survival, an autosomal gene. The second is the gene PLAC1 expressed in the trophoblast of the placenta of all placental animals, and exclusive to placental animals. Both of these genes are part of the genetic adaption to placental reproduction, but they are also widely expressed in human cancers. This fact suggests that the suppressive effect of fetal and placental antigens on immune responses might have led to the success of cancers that express them. As stated earlier, medullary epithelium in thymus (mTEC) is crucial for the selection of Tregs but not conventional T cells (44). Both PLAC1 and AFP are over-expressed in mTECs [compared to cortical epithelium (cTECs)] (our own data and also www.immgen.org), so it is quite plausible that Tregs specific for these proteins could be selected in thymus. Support for this type of dominant tolerance preventing immune responses to cancer is also provided by the following study (62).

In this study, T cell receptors (TCRs) from tumor infiltrating Tregs found in a murine model of prostate cancer were cloned. TCR transgenic mice positively selected Tregs in thymus in both male and female mice, indicating that they were not tumor-specific Tregs, and as they were found in female mice, were not selected in prostate! Their mTEC thymic derivation was further supported by the observation that selection was dependent on AIRE, the gene that controls expression of many tissue-restricted antigens in the thymus (45).

DE-TUNING THE IMMUNE SYSTEM TO UNBLOCK CD8 ANTI-CANCER IMMUNE RESPONSES

Strategies that suppress Treg function [CTLA4 blockade (63, 64) and PD-1 (65)] have been effective in releasing CD8 anti-tumor

immune responses, particularly when used in combination (66). Because Tregs suppress CD4 driven autoimmunity, autoimmunity is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in these treatments. Like Foxp3^{KO} mice, CTLA4^{KO} mice die of CD4 driven autoimmunity (67) so in reality CTLA4 blockade can only be partial in human patients.

However, our studies in FoxP3^{KO}OX40CD30^{KO} mice suggest that that CD4 mediated immunity can be obviated in FoxP3^{KO} without seriously compromising autoimmunity. To test whether these mice were capable of mounting anti-tumor immune responses we used the well established murine melanoma line B16 (68). This tumor grows rapidly in syngeneic B16 mice but tumor growth is virtually abrogated in FoxP3^{KO}OX40CD30^{KO} mice (our unpublished observations). To us this observation has potential important implications for the treatment of human cancers as it offers the option of permitting effective CD8 anti-tumor responses while preventing the unpleasant CD4 driven autoimmune side effects.

SUMMARY

In this perspective we outline a strategy for attenuating CD4 driven immunopathology by blockade of the TNF super family members, OX40L (in particular), and CD30L (synergistic with OX40L). Studies of immune function in mice deficient in OX40 and CD30 reveal that although CD4 immunity is reduced, deficient mice are able to deal with the common viral and bacterial infections that can be associated with conventional immunosuppressive strategies. We suggest that antibodies that block these pathways may have therapeutic benefit in human autoimmune diseases mediated by CD4 T cells without compromising resistance to infection.

Recent work has shown that blockade of regulatory T cell function with CTLA4-blocking antibodies has revealed impressive "repressed" CD8 immune responses to neo-antigens expressed by human cancers, particular melanoma, but also some other solid tumors. However, this has been at the expense of CD4 driven autoimmunity that can have considerable morbidity and even mortality. Our work indicates that in the absence of OX40 and CD30, FoxP3-dependent Tregs are dispensable, and mice deficient in OX40, CD30, and FoxP3 mount excellent CD8-dependent anti-tumor immune responses.

As stated above, it is our view that human susceptibility to autoimmunity and cancer are the evolutionarily acceptable side effects of the immune adaptations that evolved in early placental mammals to accommodate a fundamental change in reproductive strategy, and by reversing this process, a detuned and deregulated immune system is much better equipped to mount anti-tumor immune responses against cancers but is also resistant to chronic CD4 driven autoimmune disease.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was funded by Program Grant support for the Medical Research Council, UK to Graham Anderson and Peter J. L. Lane.

REFERENCES

1. Shearer MH, Robinson ES, Vandeberg JL, Kennedy RC. Humoral immune response in a marsupial *Monodelphis domestica*: anti-isotypic and anti-idiotypic

responses detected by species-specific monoclonal anti-immunoglobulin reagents. *Dev Comp Immunol* (1995) **19:**237–46. doi:10.1016/0145-305X(95) 00001-A

- Wronski EV, Woods GM, Munday BL. Antibody response to sheep red blood cells in platypus and echidna. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2003) 136:957–63. doi:10.1016/S1095-6433(03)00325-8
- Kreiss A, Wells B, Woods GM. The humoral immune response of the Tasmanian devil (*Sarcophilus harrisii*) against horse red blood cells. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol* (2009) 130:135–7. doi:10.1016/j.vetimm.2009.02.003
- Martin WJ. Mortality in childhood during 1920-38. Br Med J (1945) 1:363–5. doi:10.1136/bmj.1.4393.363
- Simpson AJ, Caballero OL, Jungbluth A, Chen YT, Old LJ. Cancer/testis antigens, gametogenesis and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer (2005) 5:615–25. doi:10.1038/ nrc1669
- Rowe JH, Ertelt JM, Xin L, Way SS. Pregnancy imprints regulatory memory that sustains anergy to fetal antigen. *Nature* (2012) 490:102–6. doi:10.1038/ nature11462
- Warren WC, Hillier LW, Marshall Graves JA, Birney E, Ponting CP, Grutzner F, et al. Genome analysis of the platypus reveals unique signatures of evolution. *Nature* (2008) 453:175–83. doi:10.1038/nature06936
- Biggs PM. The association of lymphoid tissue with the lymph vessels in the domestic chicken (*Gallus domesticus*). Acta Anat (Basel) (1957) 29:36–47. doi:10.1159/000141159
- Diener E, Ealey EH. Immune system in a monotreme: studies on the Australian echidna (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*). *Nature* (1965) 208:950–3. doi:10.1038/208950a0
- Connolly JH, Canfield PJ, McClure SJ, Whittington RJ. Histological and immunohistological investigation of lymphoid tissue in the platypus (*Ornithorhynchus anatinus*). J Anat (1999) 195(Pt 2):161–71. doi:10.1046/j. 1469-7580.1999.19520161.x
- Macpherson AJ, Smith K. Mesenteric lymph nodes at the center of immune anatomy. J Exp Med (2006) 203:497–500. doi:10.1084/jem.20060227
- Reynaud CA, Dahan A, Anquez V, Weill JC. Somatic hyperconversion diversifies the single Vh gene of the chicken with a high incidence in the D region. *Cell* (1989) 59:171–83. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(89)90879-9
- Reynaud CA, Garcia C, Hein WR, Weill JC. Hypermutation generating the sheep immunoglobulin repertoire is an antigen-independent process. *Cell* (1995) 80:115–25. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90456-5
- Zhao Y, Cui H, Whittington CM, Wei Z, Zhang X, Zhang Z, et al. Ornithorhynchus anatinus (platypus) links the evolution of immunoglobulin genes in eutherian mammals and nonmammalian tetrapods. J Immunol (2009) 183:3285–93. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900469
- Tsuji M, Suzuki K, Kitamura H, Maruya M, Kinoshita K, Ivanov II, et al. Requirement for lymphoid tissue-inducer cells in isolated follicle formation and T cell-independent immunoglobulin A generation in the gut. *Immunity* (2008) 29:261–71. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.05.014
- Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:330–6. doi:10.1038/ni904
- Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, et al. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* (2006) 126:1121–33. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.035
- Andersen KG, Nissen JK, Betz AG. Comparative genomics reveals key gain-offunction events in Foxp3 during regulatory T cell evolution. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:113. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00113
- Blair PJ, Bultman SJ, Haas JC, Rouse BT, Wilkinson JE, Godfrey VL. CD4+CD8-T cells are the effector cells in disease pathogenesis in the scurfy (sf) mouse. *J Immunol* (1994) 153:3764–74.
- Tsuji M, Komatsu N, Kawamoto S, Suzuki K, Kanagawa O, Honjo T, et al. Preferential generation of follicular B helper T cells from Foxp3+ T cells in gut Peyer's patches. *Science* (2009) 323:1488–92. doi:10.1126/science.1169152
- Cong Y, Feng T, Fujihashi K, Schoeb TR, Elson CO. A dominant, coordinated T regulatory cell-IgA response to the intestinal microbiota. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2009) 106:19256–61. doi:10.1073/pnas.0812681106
- Cao AT, Yao S, Gong B, Elson CO, Cong Y. Th17 cells upregulate polymeric Ig receptor and intestinal IgA and contribute to intestinal homeostasis. *J Immunol* (2012) 189:4666–73. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200955

- Hirota K, Turner JE, Villa M, Duarte JH, Demengeot J, Steinmetz OM, et al. Plasticity of Th17 cells in Peyer's patches is responsible for the induction of T cell-dependent IgA responses. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:372–9. doi:10.1038/ni. 2552
- 24. Voo KS, Wang YH, Santori FR, Boggiano C, Wang YH, Arima K, et al. Identification of IL-17-producing FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) **106**:4793–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0900408106
- Canfield PJ, Hemsley S. The roles of histology and immunohistology in the investigation of marsupial disease and normal lymphoid tissue. *Dev Comp Immunol* (2000) 24:455–71. doi:10.1016/S0145-305X(00)00009-4
- Kreiss A, Obendorf DL, Hemsley S, Canfield PJ, Woods GM. A histological and immunohistochemical analysis of lymphoid tissues of the Tasmanian devil. *Anat Rec (Hoboken)* (2009) 292:611–20. doi:10.1002/ar.20896
- Mebius RE, Rennert P, Weissman IL. Developing lymph nodes collect CD4+CD3- LTbeta+ cells that can differentiate to APC, NK cells, and follicular cells but not T or B cells. *Immunity* (1997) 7:493–504. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80371-4
- 28. Kurebayashi S, Ueda E, Sakaue M, Patel DD, Medvedev A, Zhang F, et al. Retinoid-related orphan receptor gamma (RORgamma) is essential for lymphoid organogenesis and controls apoptosis during thymopoiesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97:10132–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.18.10132
- Sun Z, Unutmaz D, Zou YR, Sunshine MJ, Pierani A, Brenner-Morton S, et al. Requirement for RORgamma in thymocyte survival and lymphoid organ development. *Science* (2000) 288:2369–73. doi:10.1126/science.288.5475. 2369
- Futterer A, Mink K, Luz A, Kosco-Vilbois MH, Pfeffer K. The lymphotoxin beta receptor controls organogenesis and affinity maturation in peripheral lymphoid tissues. *Immunity* (1998) 9:59–70. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80588-9
- Kong YY, Yoshida H, Sarosi I, Tan HL, Timms E, Capparelli C, et al. OPGL is a key regulator of osteoclastogenesis, lymphocyte development and lymph-node organogenesis. *Nature* (1999) 397:315–23. doi:10.1038/16852
- Takatori H, Kanno Y, Watford WT, Tato CM, Weiss G, Ivanov II, et al. Lymphoid tissue inducer-like cells are an innate source of IL-17 and IL-22. J Exp Med (2009) 206:35–41. doi:10.1084/jem.20072713
- Wolk K, Kunz S, Witte E, Friedrich M, Asadullah K, Sabat R. IL-22 increases the innate immunity of tissues. *Immunity* (2004) 21:241–54. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2004.07.007
- Aujla SJ, Chan YR, Zheng M, Fei M, Askew DJ, Pociask DA, et al. IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against Gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. *Nat Med* (2008) 14:275–81. doi:10.1038/nm1710
- 35. Satoh-Takayama N, Vosshenrich CA, Lesjean-Pottier S, Sawa S, Lochner M, Rattis F, et al. Microbial flora drives interleukin 22 production in intestinal NKp46+ cells that provide innate mucosal immune defense. *Immunity* (2008) **29**:958–70. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.11.001
- 36. Kim MY, Gaspal FM, Wiggett HE, McConnell FM, Gulbranson-Judge A, Raykundalia C, et al. CD4(+)CD3(-) accessory cells costimulate primed CD4 T cells through OX40 and CD30 at sites where T cells collaborate with B cells. *Immunity* (2003) 18:643–54. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00110-9
- 37. Kim S, Han S, Withers DR, Gaspal F, Bae J, Baik S, et al. CD117(+) CD3(-) CD56(-) OX40L(high) cells express IL-22 and display an LTi phenotype in human secondary lymphoid tissues. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:1563–72. doi:10.1002/eji.201040915
- Gaspal FM, Kim MY, McConnell FM, Raykundalia C, Bekiaris V, Lane PJ. Mice deficient in OX40 and CD30 signals lack memory antibody responses because of deficient CD4 T cell memory. *J Immunol* (2005) 174:3891–6.
- 39. Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. Protective 'immunity' by pre-existent neutralizing antibody titers and preactivated T cells but not by so-called 'immunological memory'. *Immunol Rev* (2006) 211:310–9. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00402.x
- Raghavan M, Bjorkman PJ. Fc receptors and their interactions with immunoglobulins. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol (1996) 12:181–220. doi:10.1146/ annurev.cellbio.12.1.181
- MacLennan ICM. Germinal centers. Annu Rev Immunol (1994) 12:117–39. doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.001001
- Chung Y, Tanaka S, Chu F, Nurieva RI, Martinez GJ, Rawal S, et al. Follicular regulatory T cells expressing Foxp3 and Bcl-6 suppress germinal center reactions. *Nat Med* (2011) 17:983–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2426

- Linterman MA, Pierson W, Lee SK, Kallies A, Kawamoto S, Rayner TF, et al. Foxp3+ follicular regulatory T cells control the germinal center response. *Nat Med* (2011) 17:975–82. doi:10.1038/nm.2425
- 44. Cowan JE, Parnell SM, Nakamura K, Caamano JH, Lane PJ, Jenkinson EJ, et al. The thymic medulla is required for Foxp3+ regulatory but not conventional CD4+ thymocyte development. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210:675–81. doi:10.1084/jem. 20122070
- Derbinski J, Schulte A, Kyewski B, Klein L. Promiscuous gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells mirrors the peripheral self. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2:1032–9. doi:10.1038/ni723
- 46. Gotter J, Brors B, Hergenhahn M, Kyewski B. Medullary epithelial cells of the human thymus express a highly diverse selection of tissue-specific genes colocalized in chromosomal clusters. J Exp Med (2004) 199:155–66. doi:10.1084/ jem.20031677
- Mathis D, Benoist C. A decade of AIRE. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:645–50. doi:10.1038/nri2136
- O'Leary MA, Bloch JI, Flynn JJ, Gaudin TJ, Giallombardo A, Giannini NP, et al. The placental mammal ancestor and the post-K-Pg radiation of placentals. *Science* (2013) 339:662–7. doi:10.1126/science.1229237
- Rawn SM, Cross JC. The evolution, regulation, and function of placenta-specific genes. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* (2008) 24:159–81. doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio. 24.110707.175418
- Tai X, Cowan M, Feigenbaum L, Singer A. CD28 costimulation of developing thymocytes induces Foxp3 expression and regulatory T cell differentiation independently of interleukin 2. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:152–62. doi:10.1038/ni1160
- McAdam AJ, Greenwald RJ, Levin MA, Chernova T, Malenkovich N, Ling V, et al. ICOS is critical for CD40-mediated antibody class switching. *Nature* (2001) 409:102–5. doi:10.1038/35051107
- Herman AE, Freeman GJ, Mathis D, Benoist C. CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells dependent on ICOS promote regulation of effector cells in the prediabetic lesion. *J Exp Med* (2004) 199:1479–89. doi:10.1084/jem.20040179
- Aluvihare VR, Kallikourdis M, Betz AG. Regulatory T cells mediate maternal tolerance to the fetus. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5:266–71. doi:10.1038/ni1037
- Rowe JH, Ertelt JM, Aguilera MN, Farrar MA, Way SS. Foxp3(+) regulatory T cell expansion required for sustaining pregnancy compromises host defense against prenatal bacterial pathogens. *Cell Host Microbe* (2011) 10:54–64. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2011.06.005
- Samstein RM, Josefowicz SZ, Arvey A, Treuting PM, Rudensky AY. Extrathymic generation of regulatory T cells in placental mammals mitigates maternal-fetal conflict. *Cell* (2012) 150:29–38. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.031
- Elahi S, Ertelt JM, Kinder JM, Jiang TT, Zhang X, Xin L, et al. Immunosuppressive CD71+ erythroid cells compromise neonatal host defence against infection. *Nature* (2013) 504:158–62. doi:10.1038/nature12675
- 57. Steinhoff MC, Omer SB, Roy E, Arifeen SE, Raqib R, Altaye M, et al. Influenza immunization in pregnancy – antibody responses in mothers and infants. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 362:1644–6. doi:10.1056/NEJMc0912599
- Gaspal F, Withers D, Saini M, Bekiaris V, McConnell FM, White A, et al. Abrogation of CD30 and OX40 signals prevents autoimmune disease in FoxP3-deficient mice. J Exp Med (2011) 208:1579–84. doi:10.1084/jem.20101484
- Byun M, Ma CS, Akcay A, Pedergnana V, Palendira U, Myoung J, et al. Inherited human OX40 deficiency underlying classic Kaposi sarcoma of childhood. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(9):1743–59. doi:10.1084/jem.20130592
- Beard J. Embryological aspects and etiology of carcinoma. *Lancet* (1902) 159:1758–61. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(01)89936-0
- Watson IR, Takahashi K, Futreal PA, Chin L. Emerging patterns of somatic mutations in cancer. Nat Rev Genet (2013) 14:703–18. doi:10.1038/nrg3539
- Malchow S, Leventhal DS, Nishi S, Fischer BI, Shen L, Paner GP, et al. Airedependent thymic development of tumor-associated regulatory T cells. *Science* (2013) 339:1219–24. doi:10.1126/science.1233913
- 63. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 363:711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- 64. Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, Jw MD, Garbe C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2011) **364**:2517–26. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1104621
- 65. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366:2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690

- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369:122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369
- 67. Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. *Immunity* (1995) 3:541–7. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(95)90125-6
- Overwijk WW, Restifo NP. B16 as a mouse model for human melanoma. Curr Protoc Immunol (2001) Chapter 20(Unit 20):21. doi:10.1002/0471142735. im2001s39

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. Received: 10 February 2014; paper pending published: 03 March 2014; accepted: 24 March 2014; published online: 14 April 2014.

Citation: Lane PJL, McConnell FM, Anderson G, Nawaf MG, Gaspal FM and Withers DR (2014) Evolving strategies for cancer and autoimmunity: back to the future. Front. Immunol. **5**:154. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00154

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Lane, McConnell, Anderson, Nawaf, Gaspal and Withers. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Corrigendum: Evolving strategies for cancer and autoimmunity: back to the future

Peter J. L. Lane*, Fiona M. McConnell, Fabrina M. Gaspal, Maher G. Nawaf, David R. Withers and Graham Anderson

MRC Centre for immune Regulation, Birmingham Medical School, Birmingham, UK *Correspondence: p.j.l.lane@bham.ac.uk

Edited and reviewed by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Keywords: CD4T cell, autoimmunity, tolerance mechanisms, cancer, regulation, memory

A corrigendum on

Evolving strategies for cancer and autoimmunity: back to the future

by Lane PJL, McConnell FM, Anderson G, Nawaf MG, Gaspal FM and Withers DR (2014). Front. Immunol. **5**:154. *doi:10. 3389/fimmu.2014.00154*

The order of the authors for the article "Evolving strategies for cancer and autoimmunity: back to the future" should be as follows: "Peter J. L. Lane, Fiona M. McConnell, Fabrina M. Gaspal, Maher G. Nawaf, David R. Withers, Graham Anderson."

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 May 2014; accepted: 02 June 2014; published online: 13 June 2014.

Citation: Lane PJL, McConnell FM, Gaspal FM, Nawaf MG, Withers DR and Anderson G (2014) Corrigendum: Evolving strategies for cancer and autoimmunity: back to the future. Front. Immunol. 5:286. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00286

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Lane, McConnell, Gaspal, Nawaf, Withers and Anderson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Kevin H. Toomer¹ and Zhibin Chen^{1,2}*

¹ Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL, USA

² Sylvester Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL, USA

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Amedeo Amedei, University of Florence, Italy Carlos Alfaro, Clínica Universidad de Navarra, Spain

*Correspondence:

Zhibin Chen, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, RMSB 3035, 1600 NW 10th Avenue, Miami, FL 33136, USA e-mail: zchen@med.miami.edu

Cancer immunotherapy through manipulation of the immune system holds great potential for the treatment of human cancers. However, recent trials targeting the negative immune regulators cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4, programed death 1 (PD-1), and PD-1 receptor ligand (PD-L1) demonstrated that clinically significant antitumor responses were often associated with the induction of autoimmune toxicity. This finding suggests that the same immune mechanisms that elicit autoimmunity may also contribute to the destruction of tumors. Given the fact that the immunological identity of tumors might be largely an immunoprivileged self, autoimmunity may not represent a wholly undesirable outcome in the context of cancer immunotherapy. Rather, targeted killing of cancer cells and autoimmune damage to healthy tissues may be intricately linked through molecular mechanisms, in particular inflammatory cytokine signaling. On the other hand, since chronic inflammation is a well-recognized condition that promotes tumor development, it appears that autoimmunity can be a "double agent" in mediating either pro-tumor or antitumor effects. This review surveys the tumor-promoting and tumoricidal activities of several prominent cytokines: IFNγ, TNF-α, TGF-β, IL-17, IL-23, IL-4, and IL-13, produced by three major subsets of T helper cells that interact with innate immune cells. Many of these cytokines exert divergent and seemingly contradictory effects on cancer development in different human and animal models, suggesting a high degree of context dependence in their functions. We hypothesize that these inflammatory cytokines could mediate a feedback loop of autoimmunity, antitumor immunity, and tumorigenesis. Understanding the diverse and paradoxical roles of cytokines from autoimmune responses in the setting of cancer will advance the long-term goal of improving cancer immunotherapy, while minimizing the hazards of immune-mediated tissue damage and the possibility of *de novo* tumorigenesis, through proper monitoring and preventive measures.

Keywords: autoimmunity, antitumor, tumorigenesis, inflammation, cytokine

INTRODUCTION: PARADOXICAL RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN AUTOIMMUNITY AND TUMOR

The process of inducing the immune system to selectively destroy tumor tissues in vivo faces numerous conceptual as well as practical hurdles. Foremost among these is the self-derived immunological identity of tumors (1, 2). The prevalence of self-antigen expression on cancer cells implies that many tumors will be protected from cytotoxic immune responses via intrinsic host mechanisms of selftolerance. It is therefore evident that any biologic therapy capable of provoking a therapeutically useful antitumor immune response will carry some risk of off-target autoimmune toxicity. The resulting destruction of normal host tissues, besides contributing to morbidity and mortality in its own right, can potentially lead to de novo tumorigenesis by initiating chronic inflammation, which is a feature of premalignant states in numerous organs including breast, bladder, prostate, cervix, ovary, stomach, and lungs (3). The molecular sequence that links chronic inflammation to cancer development involves intricate and contextdependent interactions among differentiated tissue cells, immune cells, organ-specific stem cells, and other cell types present at the incipient tumor site (4). In light of these disparate outcomes, autoimmunity may be regarded as a "double agent" implicated in both immune-mediated tumor elimination and the cellular, genetic, and epigenetic changes that underlie carcinogenesis. Given the complexity and interconnections of the associated signaling networks, navigating this new therapeutic realm demands a formidable balancing act: any cancer treatment that seeks to modify immune system function must induce a degree of self-reactivity that leads to immune-mediated tumor killing while containing the destructive and cancer-promoting aspects of that self-reactivity within tolerable limits.

After decades of hard struggle in cancer immunotherapy, exciting opportunities have emerged, especially in monoclonalantibody-based therapies designed to elicit antitumor immunity either through inhibition of negative immune system regulators or activation of costimulatory receptors (5). Remarkable benefits in patient survival have been demonstrated in clinical trials of novel monoclonal antibodies blocking immune checkpoints,

Table 1 | Anti- and pro-tumor activities of selected cytokines.

Cytokine	Antitumor activities	Pro-tumor activities
IFN-γ	Required for Th1 differentiation, effective cytotoxic antitumor immune responses, and transplanted tumor rejection induced by bacterial endotoxin (10); mediates immune surveillance against spontaneous tumor development (11); enhances tumor antigenicity by upregulating expression of antigen presentation machinery (12); has immunosuppressive functions that can restrain chronic inflammation in certain contexts (13, 14)	Mediates chronic inflammation in gastric epithelium (15, 16); protects tumor cells from CTL lysis by altering their surface MHC expression (17, 18)
TNF-α	Mediates transplanted tumor rejection induced by bacterial endotoxin (19); local administration damages tumor vasculature, and has been used in isolated limb perfusion to treat melanomas and soft tissue sarcomas (20)	Mediates chronic inflammation, oxidative stress, and genomic damage, promoting malignant transformation in various organs (21–23); activates growth and survival-promoting pathways that drive angiogenesis, proliferation, invasion, and metastasis in established tumors (24, 25)
TGF-β	Regulates the cell cycle and inhibits proliferation in stromal and epithelial tissues (26, 27); restrains chronic inflammation by opposing Th1 differentiation and downregulating IFN-γ production by NK cells and DCs (28–30)	Induces tolerant, cancer-promoting phenotypes in tumor-associated macrophages (M2) and neutrophils (31); promotes differentiation and recruitment of immunosuppressive Treg cells in the tumor microenvironment (32, 33); promotes angiogenesis, invasion, and metastasis of cancer cells (34); may suppress antitumor immunity by inhibiting Th1 signaling (35)
IL-17/IL-23	May promote IFN-γ secretion and Th1 differentiation (36, 37); possible mediator of innate and adaptive antitumor immunity through interactions with the Th1 signaling axis (38–41), or direct cytotoxicity of Th17 cells (42)	Mediates chronic inflammation in the liver (43–46); drives differentiation and expansion of Th17 cells in the tumor microenvironment, which has been shown to favor disease progression and suppress antitumor immunity (47, 48); activates proliferative and survival-promoting pathways in cancer cells (49–51)
IL-4/IL-13	Poorly characterized	Drives differentiation of tolerogenic CD4+ Th2 cells in the tumor microenvironment (52); induces cancer-promoting phenotypes in tumor-associated macrophages (M2) and DCs (31, 53); IL-4 mediates survival and proliferation of cancer stem cells (54–56); IL-13R α 2 signaling promotes tumor invasion and metastasis (57–59)

including cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA4) (6), programed death 1 (PD-1) (7), and PD-1 receptor ligand (PD-L1) (8). In practice, however, many biologic therapies have fallen short of expectations in clinical trials, failing to deliver enhancements in disease-free or overall patient survival (9). A partial explanation for this disappointment is the context-dependent nature of immune signaling pathways themselves. In many cases, a given signal can exert diverse, and often opposing, effects on the progression of cancer depending on a variety of factors including the tissues involved, expression level of the signal molecule(s), tumor stage and antigenic profile, and host genetic background. Thus, there is a remarkable degree of overlap between the signaling mechanisms that mediate the desired outcome of tumor destruction, and those which fuel the detrimental processes of cancer development, tumor progression, and autoimmunity. Many cytokines with therapeutic potential have demonstrated these paradoxical effects, revealing both tumoricidal and tumor-promoting activities under different experimental conditions. The task of eliciting potent cytotoxic immune responses, while managing the concomitant dangers of autoimmunity, therefore requires detailed mechanistic knowledge of immune system signaling. This review will summarize the current understanding of the pro- and antitumor

activities of several major cytokines (**Table 1**): interferon-gamma (IFN- γ); tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α); transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β); the Th17 cytokines IL-17 and IL-23; and the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13. Concluding remarks will address a hypothetical loop of autoimmunity-mediated antitumor immunity, leading to further induction of autoimmune responses, inflammatory cytokine signaling, and tumor promotion, including potential *de novo* tumorigenesis in solid organs such as the gastrointestinal tract with demonstrated susceptibility to inflammatory carcinogenesis.

ANTI- AND PRO-TUMOR ROLES OF AUTOIMMUNITY COULD BE MEDIATED THROUGH INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINES OF Th CELLS

The pathological correlation between inflammation and cancer has been known to clinical science for 150 years (60). However, it is only in recent times that our understanding of the immune system has become sophisticated enough to yield practical applications in the realm of cancer biology. For example, ample evidence has been gathered for the roles of inflammatory signals derived from innate immune response in promoting tumor growth and progression [for recent reviews, please see Ref. (4, 61, 62)]. There is emerging evidence for a tumor-promoting role by inflammatory effectors from the adaptive immune system, for example, in the TRAMP model of prostate cancer initiated with transgenic expression of an oncogene (the SV40 large T antigen) (63, 64), or implanted model of melanoma (65). Given the long-lasting nature of memory responses that is characteristic of adaptive immunity and the potency of autoimmune memory T cells [for review see Ref. (66)], one might speculate that inflammatory signals originated from the adaptive immune system, compared to their innate-derived counterparts, might sustain a longer effect, regardless of their proor antitumor nature. However, we should also emphasize that in a complex in vivo setting of immune responses, it is likely that the intimate interaction between innate and adaptive immune cells determines an immunological outcome (67-69). Nevertheless, definitive evidence remains to be gathered to show whether an inflammatory signal(s), at a physiologically relevant setting, can initiate de novo tumorigenesis.

Numerous parameters of immune system function have been correlated with clinical outcomes in cancer patients, including the cellular composition of tumor inflammatory infiltrate (70), expression of pro- and anti-apoptotic genes in circulating PBMCs (71), and cytokine profiles measured in peripheral blood (72). It has long been recognized that the same inflammatory cytokine may play a prominent role in either tumor killing or cancer promotion. Although the original stimuli of inflammatory cytokine production are unknown in most cancer settings, given the largely "self" constituents of tumors, we reasoned that autoimmune T cells, especially the three main T helper subsets, Th1, Th2, and Th17, could be a major source of these cytokines, or play a major role in driving other immune cells to produce them.

Early experimental models offered hope that the induction of selective antitumor immune responses, even those mediated by CTL recognition of self-antigens, was possible without clinically significant autoimmunity. One study reported the eradication of established p53-overexpressing tumor cells in mice, achieved through adoptive transfer of a clone of cytotoxic T cells, which recognized wild-type p53. No autoimmune damage was observed in normal tissues, despite the p53+/+ genotype of the treated mice (73). In vitro assays also suggested that epitope-specific CTL clones had the capacity to initiate cytotoxic immune responses against non-mutated, tumor-associated p53, while simultaneously avoiding reactivity with the same antigen when endogenously expressed (74). Other experiments used transgenic models to search for evidence of autoimmune pathology in an organ-specific fashion. In one study, transgenic mice were engineered to express low levels of Friend murine leukemia virus envelope protein (FMuLV) from an immunoglobulin promoter; adoptive transfer of FMuLV-specific T cells mediated complete destruction of leukemia tumor cells, without concurrent autoimmunity. Lymphoid tissues in the treated mice were unharmed, despite the fact that they expressed the targeted cancer-associated antigen in a "self" context (75). Another study employed transgenic mice with tissue-specific expression of influenza virus hemagglutinin (HA) in pancreatic islet β cells. Administration of an anti-HA vaccine to these animals produced CTL-mediated rejection of renal carcinoma cells, which had also been genetically engineered to express HA. Prior to vaccination, the immune systems of the transgenic mice exhibited

HA self-tolerance, and supported growth of implanted tumors expressing this antigen. Remarkably, in addition to tumor rejection, immunohistologic analysis of treated mice showed intact structure and function in the pancreatic islets (76).

Despite these favorable preclinical results, most types of cancer immunotherapy tested in human patients have revealed serious and persistent risks of treatment-associated autoimmunity. Reported manifestations include vitiligo, uveitis, psoriasis, and colitis, with potential consequences ranging from cosmetic complaints to permanent disability and death (77). However, it has been suggested that autoimmunity, in addition to mediating these adverse events, makes an essential contribution to antitumor immunity. Indeed, it may be the case that effective cancer immunotherapy requires a significant degree of self-reactivity, since antitumor immune responses must surmount both the preexisting tolerance to self-derived tumor antigens and immunosuppressive signals from the tumor microenvironment (1, 77). For some cancer immunotherapies, such as blockade of the inhibitory T cell signaling molecule CTLA4, autoimmune toxicity shows a positive correlation with therapeutic response (78). Meanwhile, antitumor vaccines, probably the category of cancer immunotherapy least associated with severe autoimmunity in human studies (77), have generally failed to show therapeutic efficacy in large-scale Phase 3 trials (79). Thus, it appears that the future of cancer immunotherapy will not feature the elimination of autoimmunity, which is unlikely to be feasible or wholly desirable. Rather, the cytokines that mediate autoinflammation can be harnessed as effective agents in tumor destruction, if their toxic and tumor-promoting potentials are understood and judiciously managed.

IFN-y

Interferons (IFNs) are a family of cytokines that bind to cellsurface receptors and mediate numerous functions related to pathogen defenses, immune function, cell survival and differentiation, and angiogenesis (12, 80). Type I interferons are broadly expressed (80), while IFN-y, the sole member of the Type II interferon family, is produced mainly by T lymphocytes, NKT cells, and natural killer (NK) cells as a crucial component of the inflammatory response (10). IFN- γ is integral to the development of Th1 adaptive immunity, by maintaining IL-12 signaling in CD4⁺ T lymphocytes while simultaneously suppressing Th2 differentiation (10). Murine models support a range of anti-carcinogenic properties for IFN- γ (11). Antibody-mediated suppression of IFN-y signaling has revealed that this cytokine is required for LPS-stimulated rejection of transplantable tumors in mice. IFN- γ receptor knockout mice (IFN- γ R1^{-/-}) exhibit susceptibility to both spontaneous and chemically induced tumors, in addition to poor resistance to a variety of pathogens (10, 11). IFN- γ is a powerful inducer of Class I and Class II antigen presentation machinery, suggesting its primary importance in the production of specific antitumor immune responses (12). In vitro assays have also revealed pro-apoptotic, antiangiogenic, and antiproliferative effects (10–12, 81). Indeed, reduced IFN- γ production has been observed in a variety of human malignancies, including melanoma, gastric cancer, lung cancer, glioblastoma, nasopharyngeal carcinoma, colorectal cancer, and head and neck cancer (72). Certain human cancers, notably melanoma, are known to develop resistance to IFN- γ through various mutations in downstream molecules in the IFN signal transduction pathway, such as JAK and STAT1 (12, 81).

Despite this promising body of experimental evidence, anticancer therapy with exogenous IFN-y has generated mixed results. A 2003 clinical trial in malignant melanoma patients showed no positive responses to intratumoral injections of IFN-y (82). A Phase 3 trial for ovarian cancer and peritoneal carcinoma was prematurely ended in 2006, due to decreased survival and more frequent adverse events in patients treated with subcutaneous IFN- γ , as compared to conventional platinum-based chemotherapy (82). To understand why this cytokine has not demonstrated the broad therapeutic efficacy that prior data would suggest, it is necessary to examine the dual nature of the inflammatory process. While inflammation can promote the cell-mediated destruction of tumor cells, its chronic forms may lead to pathological changes that promote cancer development in a variety of tissues. These changes include accumulation of reactive oxygen species, epithelial hyperplasia, extracellular matrix generation, and angiogenesis (3, 83, 84). Besides mediating anticancer immunity, IFN- γ is a major player in chronic inflammation, as illustrated by its contributions to Th1-driven autoimmune disease. In clinical trials, anti-IFN-v antibodies have been useful in treating a variety of inflammatory disorders, including rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease, corneal transplant rejection, and skin diseases such as vitiligo and alopecia areata (82, 85, 86).

The interplay between IFN-y signaling, aberrant chronic inflammation, and neoplastic disease has been explored in the pathogenesis of gastric cancer, one of the classic models of human malignancy precipitated by chronic inflammation (87-90). With regard to gastric carcinogenesis, the role of Th subsets would also perhaps be best surveyed while keeping in mind the robust evidence of innate immunity in gastric cancer development (91-93). In the natural course of this disease, infection with the bacterium Helicobacter pylori during childhood precipitates a chronic inflammatory response which, in a small portion of patients (<5%), progresses to malignancy decades in the future (84, 94). Studies of mice infected with the related pathogen Helicobacter felis showed that a Th1-biased inflammatory response is involved in gastric cancer development (94). Knockout of the transcription factor T-bet, which controls commitment to the Th1 lineage (95), curtailed gastric tumorigenesis induced in mice infected with H. felis (15). A recent experiment employed a murine model that directly implicates IFN-y in this course of preneoplastic change. The transgenic mice, which were engineered to overexpress IFN-y from a stomach-specific, H/K ATPase β promoter, exhibited a prominent inflammatory infiltrate along with accelerated histological changes characteristic of a premalignant phenotype: metaplasia, loss of parietal and chief cells, gastric gland atrophy, and dysplasia beginning as early as $3 \mod 6 \pmod{16}$.

IFN- γ can thus be seen as an essential mediator of both immune-mediated tumor rejection and the destructive chronic inflammation that precedes malignant transformation. There is, however, another vital dimension to this cytokine's effects, that of a master regulator which restrains inflammation in a variety of contexts. In two key murine model systems of Th1-driven autoimmunity, collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) and experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE), it has been established that abrogation of IFN-y signaling through monoclonal antibody therapy or genetic knockout produces a seemingly paradoxical increase in disease susceptibility and severity (13, 14). The mechanisms for this apparent downregulation of the inflammatory response are not yet clear, but suppression of pro-inflammatory Th17 cytokines, induction of T cell apoptosis, and enhanced Treg cell differentiation appear to play prominent roles (13, 14, 96). Another mechanism of IFN-y mediated immunosuppression is suggested by its ability to alter tumor cell MHC presentation in a manner that decreases tumor antigenicity and protects tumor cells from CTL killing. One in vitro experiment demonstrated that IFN-y could protect ovarian carcinoma cell lines from CTL-mediated lysis by upregulating HLA-E on cancer cells, which engaged the inhibitory CD94/NKG2A receptor on CD8⁺ effector T cells (18). A similar cancer-promoting role for IFN-y was revealed in a mouse model of melanoma, where tumor protection from CTL killing was associated with IFN-y-stimulated upregulation of non-cognate MHC-I molecules (17).

Given the evidence above, IFN-y-mediated downregulation of the inflammatory response can be regarded as an obstacle to effective cancer immunotherapy. However, it remains an important physiological mechanism for preserving tolerance to self-antigens and protecting tissues from the damaging effects of autoimmunity (80, 97). In keeping with this fact, experimental data also suggest that IFN-y mediated suppression of inflammation may be protective in certain contexts. One recent experiment employed a transgenic mouse line engineered to overexpress IFN-y in a stomach-specific manner, using the same H/K ATPase β promoter as Syu et al. (16). In this case, however, no spontaneous gastritis or metaplasia occurred (98). Moreover, IFN-y was reported to be protective against gastric dysplasia produced by either H. felis infection or stomach-specific overexpression of the cytokine IL-1β (a well-established mediator of gastric carcinogenesis). IFN- γ was also shown to inhibit proliferation of gastric epithelial cells, enhance autophagy in a manner recognized as protective against tumor development (99), and diminish expression of proinflammatory Th1 and Th17 cytokines (98). As noted by Syu et al. (16), the seemingly contradictory results of these two studies can most likely be explained by differing degrees of overexpression. These findings underscore the challenges of discerning which aspect of IFN-y will prevail in a particular patient, tumor type, and stage of malignancy. Attempts to broaden the therapeutic use of this cytokine must take into account these intricate and context-dependent multidirectional effects.

TNF-α

Activated macrophages and T lymphocytes produce TNF- α in response to pro-inflammatory stimuli. This cytokine stimulates inflammation through multiple mechanisms, including recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes and induction of cell adhesion molecule expression on the endothelial surface (72, 100). TNF- α is involved in the classical pathway of macrophage activation (M1), which plays a central role in immune defenses against tumors and intracellular parasites (31). Although usually undetectable in the tissues and circulation of healthy people, TNF- α exerts important effects on immune homeostasis during states of disease. It is known, for instance, that systemic TNF- α mediates the wasting observed in humans and animals afflicted with chronic illness (24, 100, 101). As with IFN- γ , aberrant TNF- α signaling is associated with a variety of autoimmune disorders. Five TNF inhibitors have been approved for clinical use in the United States for the treatment of inflammatory illnesses such as Crohn's disease, ankylosing spondylitis, and rheumatoid arthritis (100, 102).

The observation that the human body's response to infection is capable of producing regression of tumors has been recorded by clinicians since at least the eighteenth century (103). It was not until 1975, however, that TNF-α was identified as one of the principal mediators of this anticancer immune response. The name "tumor necrosis factor" reflects early experiments, which demonstrated this cytokine's capacity to induce hemorrhagic necrosis of subcutaneously transplanted sarcomas, leukemias, and mastocytomas in mice whose immune systems were primed by exposure to bacterial endotoxin (19). However, 38 years of data subsequent to this discovery have not fulfilled the early promise of TNF- α as a safe, potent, or selective tumoricidal agent. Unlike mice with abrogated IFN- γ signaling, TNF- α -knockout animals do not develop spontaneous tumors, and peritoneal tumors transplanted into them do not show accelerated growth (104). These knockout animals have also shown an unexpected resistance to chemically induced skin tumors (105). Indeed, there seem to be numerous contexts in which TNF-α signaling helps to initiate carcinogenesis and sustain tumor growth. In obese patients, TNF- α is suggested to be a key mediator of cancer-promoting inflammation in various organs, including the pancreas (22), colon (21), and liver (23). Picogram amounts of TNF-α are constitutively secreted by many tumor types, and appear to stimulate cancer growth, although the underlying signaling mechanisms are not completely understood (24, 106). The pro-carcinogenic functions of TNF- α appear to be mediated predominantly through downstream activation of the proliferative and survival-promoting pathways NF-KB and AP-1 (20, 21, 100, 104). Elevated serum concentrations of TNF- α have been described as a clinical feature of eight independent cancer types (72). A direct link between the pro-inflammatory effects of TNF- α and carcinogenesis can be seen by returning to the example of gastric cancer. The presence of a specific, inflammationassociated single nucleotide polymorphism in the TNF-A gene has been found to increase the odds ratio of non-cardia gastric cancer (83). The importance of this association has been further established by examining the genome of the initiating pathogen: H. pylori harbors the Tipa gene family, whose members are known to induce high levels of TNF- α expression in the gastric epithelium (24, 106). Experimental transfection of a transformed BALB/3T3 cell line with H. pylori genes revealed that tumor progression was dependent on Tip α -induced production of TNF- α (106).

TNF- α has also been implicated as a disease promoter in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), from chronic inflammation to tumor progression including invasion, metastasis, and angiogenesis in established HCC tumors (107). *In vitro* studies of numerous cell types, including murine hepatocytes, have demonstrated that TNF- α -mediated inflammation leads to an increase in markers of oxidative stress, which in turn can lead to genomic damage (108–111). Moreover, the development of obesity-induced hepatosteatosis and steatohepatitis in mice is dependent on signaling by TNF- α , along with IL-6 (21). In the Mdr2-knockout mouse, an experimental model of inflammation-induced HCC, the spontaneous development of hepatic malignancy is dependent on TNF signaling, and can be attenuated through downstream inhibition of NF- κ B (23). Overall, experiments on HCC and many other tumor types have established that TNF- α is intimately involved in all aspects of cancer development, including transformation, proliferation, angiogenesis, invasion, and metastasis (25).

Owing to a high frequency of inflammation-related adverse events, the therapeutic applications of exogenous TNF-a in cancer have been quite limited (24). Localized TNF- α infusion has demonstrated antitumor efficacy against melanomas and soft tissue sarcomas in human patients. In this context, high concentrations of TNF-a were shown to induce hyperpermeability and structural disruption in tumor vasculature, thus promoting tumor necrosis and enhancing the efficacy of traditional cytostatic drugs. However, this intervention was aimed at limb sparing and had no impact on patient survival (20). Given the broad range of cancerpromoting activities of TNF- α , blockade of its signaling remains a tempting therapeutic approach. Unfortunately, the fundamental role of TNF-a in pathogen defense represents a formidable obstacle to implementation (24). The feasibility of modifying TNF- α signaling without triggering destructive autoimmunity on one hand, or vulnerability to opportunistic infections on the other, remains to be seen.

TGF-β

Transforming growth factor-beta mediates a vast array of functions related to wound healing, immune responses, cell proliferation and differentiation, and carcinogenesis, via receptors expressed on nearly all human cells. It plays a crucial role in T cell tolerance (112). Its classical signal transducers are transcription factors known as Smads, which combine with each other as well as additional cofactors to form a variety of DNA-binding complexes. These intricate assemblies of transcriptional regulators allow TGF-β to implement a versatile, yet precisely controlled, range of downstream effects. Additional "Smad-independent" signaling pathways are known to further augment this functional repertoire (27, 29, 34, 35). This cytokine has been extensively characterized as a negative regulator of immune responses, with antiinflammatory, antiproliferative, and immunosuppressive activities (27, 29, 34, 35). Thus, TGF- β helps restrain the destructive effects of uncontrolled inflammation and proliferation that might otherwise occur in the context of infection or tissue damage. Mouse models reveal that knockout of TGF-B or its receptor produces a phenotype characterized by lethal autoimmune disease (113, 114). One recent study featured a murine model with the TGF- β receptor gene deleted in stromal fibroblasts. The transgenic animals experienced an excessive, aberrant inflammatory response in adjacent epithelial tissue, characterized by molecular markers of DNA damage, oxidative stress, cell cycle dysregulation, and death from invasive squamous cell carcinoma by the age of 7 weeks (26). Other models have examined the specific effects of TGF- β silencing in the innate immune and T cell compartments. One experiment blockaded TGF-β signaling in mouse NK cells through transgenic expression of a dominant negative receptor. NK cells

were more numerous in lymphatic tissues of the transgenic mice, and showed enhanced secretion of IFN-y. Consistent with the Th1-promoting effects of IFN-y signaling, transgenic mice also demonstrated an enhanced Th1 inflammatory response, which protected against infection with cutaneous Leishmaniasis (28). These effects suggest the importance of TGF- β in maintaining NK cell homeostasis, as well as downregulating Th1 differentiation. Another study reported a dendritic cell-specific deletion of the TGF-B receptor gene, which resulted in multiorgan autoimmunity, a pro-inflammatory DC phenotype characterized by IFN-y overproduction, and reduced Foxp3 expression in Treg cells (30). Accumulating evidence suggests that TGF- β is directly involved in many aspects of T cell homeostasis, including differentiation of Treg cells and CD8⁺ effectors, maintenance of peripheral tolerance, and preservation of naïve T cell populations (112). The precise molecular mechanisms behind these effects are largely unresolved, and represent an area of active investigation.

In the early stages of carcinogenesis, TGF-β is known to suppress tumor growth through induction of cell cycle inhibitors and promotion of apoptosis. However, in many advanced cancers, paracrine and autocrine TGF-ß signaling drives tumor progression and metastasis. TGF- β is produced in large quantities by a variety of human cancers, to the extent that it is arguably the most ubiquitous immunosuppressive mediator in cancer progression (34). Elevated systemic levels of TGF- β have been reported in breast cancer, lung cancer, pancreatic cancer, glioblastoma multiforme, colorectal carcinoma, HCC, renal cell carcinoma, and gastric carcinoma (72). TGF- β is a crucial inducer of pro-tumor phenotypes in both tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) and tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs), leading to cancer cell proliferation and the curtailing of antitumor immune responses (31). The capacity of TGF-β to promote the differentiation of Treg cells appears to be highly deleterious in this context, since Treg cells are key inducers of immune tolerance in the tumor microenvironment. The association between TGF-β signaling and Treg cell recruitment has been experimentally demonstrated in a lung cancer cell line (115), as well as in animal models of pancreatic cancer (32) and HCC (33). One key observation from these studies is that a tolerogenic immune microenvironment is not exclusively the result of tumor-secreted cytokines. Rather, it requires elaboration of TGF-β and other anti-inflammatory signals from immune cell populations such as dendritic cells and TAMs.

Several other mechanisms are believed to underlie the procarcinogenic role of TGF- β , including enhanced extracellular matrix formation, cytoskeletal rearrangements to facilitate epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), angiogenesis, and cell cycle dysregulation (27, 29, 34, 35). In a clinical context, TGF- β serves as a marker of metastasis and poor prognosis for many malignancies (35, 72). The transition of TGF- β from a protective role early in tumor development to a tumor-promoting one in more advanced disease appears to be a watershed moment in many cancers, reflecting global derangement of signal transduction through genetic and epigenetic mechanisms. Indeed, *in vitro* experiments have linked specific forms of oncogenic transformation to alterations in TGF- β responsiveness. One study found that engineered overexpression of HER2 in mesenchymal human breast cancer cells caused a loss of sensitivity to the antiproliferative effects of TGF- β (116). Another reported that loss of TGF- β growth inhibition correlated with the loss of c-myc downregulation in ovarian carcinoma cells (117).

The prevalence of TGF- β overexpression across a broad range of human malignancies has made this cytokine a tantalizing therapeutic target. Four classes of TGF- β inhibiting molecules have already been tested in clinical trials, with responses that generally fell short of hopes (118). At least one class of TGF- β inhibitor has also shown the capacity to elicit biochemical resistance in mouse models (119). This observation, coupled with the integral roles of TGF- β in wound healing and tissue homeostasis, suggests that long-term inhibition of TGF- β signaling may be a dangerous prospect. Rather, it has been suggested that TGF- β inhibition will find its first clinical applications as part of a combined drug regimen, administered to cancer patients over relatively brief spans of time to minimize resistance and adverse events (118).

IL-17 AND IL-23

The Th17 subset of CD4⁺ T cells has added a new dimension of complexity to the Th1/Th2 paradigm since its initial discovery in 2005. Extensive studies in murine models have implicated this T cell population in a number of pro-inflammatory functions, including the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases of the brain (EAE) and joints (CIA), mediated by the characteristic cytokine IL-17 (36, 120-122). Knockout mice have also revealed an important role for IL-17 signaling in the defense of mucosal surfaces against a variety of bacterial and fungal pathogens, including Staphylococcus aureus, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Citrobacter rodentium, and Candida albicans (36, 120). Th17 cells also engage in physiologically important interactions with key cytokines of the Th1 immune system. One attribute, noted in the initial characterization of this helper T cell subset, is the inhibitory effect of IFN-y on Th17 differentiation and production of IL-17 (123, 124). Meanwhile, IL-23, a cytokine that is essential to sustain the survival and proliferation of Th17 populations, appears to participate in divergent regulatory pathways with the Th1-associated cytokine IL-12, whose release is promoted by IFN- γ (125–127). The dichotomous signaling of IL-12/IL-23 is especially intriguing, as these two cytokines share a common subunit: IL-12 is formed through the covalent linkage of p40 and p35 subunits, whereas IL-23 is a combination of p40 and p19 (128). TGF- β signaling also appears to make a major contribution to Th17 differentiation, although the precise nature and mechanism of this association remains a subject of intense controversy (122, 129).

Th17 signaling through the canonical IL-23/IL-17 pathway has been shown to contribute to cancer development in a variety of experimental contexts. During the preneoplastic stage, excessive Th17-mediated signaling is a probable contributor to the chronic inflammation that can precipitate cancer in a variety of tissues. In the case of Hepatitis B-induced inflammation, evidence from human and animal experiments suggests that Th17, not Th1, signaling is the primary mechanism underlying liver immunopathology and eventual malignant transformation to HCC (43–46). Th17 cells have been discovered in human tumors in many different organs, and a growing body of evidence suggests that their presence, like that of immunosuppressive Treg cells, may be a general feature of the tumor microenvironment (37, 121). One comprehensive examination of gene expression profiles in human cancers revealed overexpression of IL-23 in the vast majority of human carcinomas, when compared to expression profiles of adjacent, non-cancerous tissue (130). A recent quantitative PCR analysis revealed statistically significant IL-23 upregulation across a panel of non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) patient samples, in comparison to matched normal tissue controls (49). In mouse models, knockout of IL-23 conferred resistance to both chemically induced and transplanted epithelial tumors, whereas knockout of IL-12 produced the opposite effects (130). Moreover, there is mounting evidence that tumor cells produce chemokines in order to selectively recruit Th17 lymphocytes (121). In the 4T1 mouse model of breast cancer, Qian et al. reported that signaling via mammary tumor-derived prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) caused overexpression of IL-23 (but not IL-12) in the tumor microenvironment (48). This overexpression, in turn, was associated with expansion of Th17 cell populations in the tumor tissue, spleens, and peripheral blood of experimental animals (48). This discovery is likely to have significant implications in a variety of human cancers, since PGE₂ is the most abundant prostanoid in epithelial cell tumors (127). In the same study, exposure of murine dendritic cells to tumor-conditioned medium enhanced their expression of the IL-23 subunit p19, and also reduced expression of p40 and the IL-12 subunit p35, in a dose-dependent manner (48). These changes collectively indicate a shift from Th1 to Th17 immune phenotype, which seems to be favorable for cancer persistence. As in the case of experimental models of TGF-β signaling, cells of the innate immune system were key participants in the generation of an immune microenvironment promoting carcinogenesis.

The pathways through which Th17 signaling exerts its tumorpromoting effects are not yet clear, but a variety of relevant observations have emerged. One probable mechanism is the stimulation of angiogenesis and cell proliferation: the p19 subunit of IL-23 is transcriptionally upregulated by growth-promoting signals from NF-KB and AP-1 (48). Administration of recombinant IL-23 has been shown to enhance proliferation in an IL-23 receptor-positive lung adenocarcinoma cell line (49, 51). One study reported IL-23-mediated enhancement of cancer growth and proliferation in cultures of human oral squamous cell carcinoma; in this case, IL-23 exposure was accompanied by enhanced nuclear translocation of NF-kB (50). Mouse models have also furnished valuable mechanistic clues. In one experiment, IL-17 knockout mice showed reduced growth of transplanted B16 melanoma and MB49 bladder carcinoma, whereas acceleration of tumor growth occurred with knockout of IFN-y. In mice with both knockouts, tumor growth was reduced relative to WT controls (65). In the IFN- γ knockout mice, elevated concentrations of IL-17 were measured in tumor tissue compared to tumors in wild-type controls. Moreover, IL-17 was found to enhance signaling by the pro-survival, proangiogenic transcription factor Stat3 in both tumor and stromal cells (65). Another study reported similar results using receptor knockouts: IL-17 receptor-deficient mice showed diminished tumor growth of transplanted melanoma and lymphoma cell lines, while IFN-y receptor knockout led to growth enhancement. The double-knockout genotype was also protective in comparison to WT controls (47). In addition, IL-17 receptor deficiency was correlated with increased tumor infiltration of CD8⁺ effector T

cells, and decreased numbers of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), both favorable indications for the generation of antitumor immunity (47). Interestingly, these pro- and antitumor effects were successfully reproduced in wild-type mice through administration of either recombinant IL-17 (which accelerated tumor growth) or antibody-mediated IL-17 blockade (which suppressed it), hinting at the viability of anticancer therapies targeting this pathway (47). It is also notable that elimination of IL-17 signaling in both studies produced an antitumor effect that was potent enough to compensate for the concurrent loss of IFN- γ signaling, despite the role of IFN- γ as a potent mediator of Th1-driven antitumor immunity.

The complex and heterogeneous functions of the Th17 signaling axis, and their relationships to cancer progression, are only beginning to be elucidated. Despite the results mentioned above, numerous studies support the existence of antitumor Th17 effects, including those which may be mediated through signals other than IL-17 and IL-23 (121). For instance, subsets of Th17 cells are capable of producing IFN-y, indicating possible cross-talk with the Th1 pathway of differentiation, as well as the ability to stimulate cytotoxic and tumoricidal immune responses (36, 37). In human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinomas, one recent study found correlation of protective benefit with activity of Th17 cells specific to α -enolase, a pancreatic tumor-associated antigen (42). Another recent study reported that a mouse model deficient in RORyt (a transcription factor required for Th17 differentiation) exhibited accelerated growth of transplanted melanoma tumors, along with a diminished percentage of Th1 CD4⁺ cells at the tumor site; this phenotype was rescued by adoptive transfer of Th17 cells, a portion of which began to produce measurable quantities of IFN- γ (41). One study of IL-17 knockout mice demonstrated increased susceptibility to lung melanoma. Subsequent treatment by Th17 adoptive transfer served to prevent tumor development by inducing a specific CD8⁺ antitumor response (40). It has also been found that systemic administration of high-dose IL-23 led to reduced tumor growth and prolonged survival in a mouse fibrosarcoma, due to Th1-mediated activation of cytotoxic T cells, helper T cells, and NK cells (38). Increased growth and lung metastasis of murine colon carcinoma has also been reported in IL-17 deficient animals, with corresponding reductions in IFN- γ^+ NK cells and IFN- γ^+ tumor-specific T cells (39).

Although characterized less than a decade ago, the Th17 lymphocyte population has already become the focus of a vast and diverse body of scientific literature. However, this expanded knowledge contains apparent contradictions, which will challenge the field of cancer immunology for years to come. As with the pathways and cytokines previously discussed, the tumor-related effects of IL-17 and IL-23 exhibit a high degree of context dependence. Some of these discordant results may therefore be attributable to the source of tumor cells, the tissue involved, the stage of cancer growth, the genetic background of the organism, and other features of the experimental model employed in a particular study. Meanwhile, our understanding of Th17 interactions with other elements of the immune system, including NK cells, antigenpresenting cells and other helper T cell subsets, remains incomplete. Experiments designed to address the cross-talk between Th17 cytokines and other branches of the immune system should

help resolve some of the inconsistencies in their reported effects. While a variety of IL-17/IL-23 antagonists are currently being developed for the treatment of autoimmune diseases (131), safe and effective modification of Th17 signaling in cancer therapy will require a more thorough understanding of the forces which underlie Th17 differentiation, recruitment, and interaction with malignant cells.

IL-4 AND IL-13

The Th2 subset of CD4⁺ T cells plays an important physiological role in implementing immune defenses against helminths and other extracellular parasites. Th2-mediated responses include generation of high-affinity IgE antibodies, mucus overproduction, and heightened smooth muscle contractility, all of which function in the clearance of invasive multicellular organisms. However, aberrant and excessive Th2 activation also provides the foundations for allergic disease (132). The major cytokine responsible for differentiation of naïve CD4⁺ T cells into the Th2 phenotype is IL-4, while Th2 effector functions are mediated through a combination of IL-4, IL-13, and IL-5 (133). All three of these cytokines exert varied effects on cancer development, which remain an area of ongoing investigation. Th2 cytokines appear to be involved in shifting the immune response to forms favorable to tumor growth, particularly in the context of innate immunity. IL-4, IL-13, and IL-5 promote the differentiation of macrophages into an "M2" or alternatively activated form, which displays poor antigenpresenting capacity and local anti-inflammatory effects (31, 83, 134). M2 macrophages play a variety of physiological roles in tissue homeostasis, including wound healing, extracellular matrix remodeling, and scavenging of debris (132, 134). This M2 phenotype contrasts with the classically activated (M1) macrophage, which is specialized for the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IFN- γ), cytotoxic immune responses, and efficient destruction of phagocytosed microbes (132, 134). In the context of cancer, M2 polarization of TAMs is associated with suppression of antitumor immune responses, disease progression, and poor prognosis (31, 83). Moreover, it has been established that tumors are capable of producing Th2 cytokines in order to bias innate and adaptive immune responses toward this more favorable phenotype (134). A study of pancreatic cancer patients demonstrated that tumor-produced cytokines (TNF and IL-1β) triggered activation of a Th2 phenotype in cancer-associated fibroblasts, dendritic cells, and naïve CD4⁺ T cells. Moreover, the ratio of Th2:Th1 CD4⁺ T lymphocytes present at the tumor site was negatively correlated with patient survival (52). In a humanized mouse model implanted with human breast carcinoma, Th2 cytokine expression was detected in both cancer cells and tumor-promoting CD4⁺ T cells within the tumor microenvironment. Dendritic cells isolated from these tumors also potently induced Th2 cytokine secretion from naïve CD4⁺ T cells in vitro, suggesting that tumor growth is facilitated by a complex network of Th2 paracrine signals (53).

The Th2 cytokine IL-4 is capable of signaling through two distinct cell-surface receptor complexes. The Type I receptor, found on cells of hematopoietic stem cell origin, is composed of IL-4R α and the common gamma chain γ c. The Type II receptor, expressed on cells of non-hematopoietic origin, contains IL-4R α and IL-13R α 1, and also binds the cytokine IL-13 (135). IL-13R α 2 is a second type of IL-13 binding receptor, whose physiological role remains uncertain. The receptor bears structural similarities to IL-13R α 1, but is expressed in two forms: as soluble IL-13R α 2, and as a transmembrane protein, which interacts with a number of signal transduction pathways (54). IL-4 and IL-13 exert both overlapping and distinct physiological effects by binding these receptors, whose structure and function have been extensively studied as potential therapeutic targets in asthma and other allergic diseases (135, 136). Emerging evidence indicates that these receptors can influence cancer development through pathways other than macrophage polarization, although the molecular details of this process are only starting to become clear.

The Type II IL-4/IL-13 receptor has been found to be overexpressed in a variety of epithelial tumors, and treatment of cancer cell lines with IL-4 is associated with pro-proliferative and antiapoptotic effects (54, 137). The effects of IL-4 signaling have been studied extensively in the development of colon cancer: one study found pro-proliferative effects of IL-4Ra signaling in mouse colon tumors, as well as human and mouse colon adenocarcinoma cell lines examined in vitro (55). Of particular interest is the relationship between intestinal malignancies and multipotent stem cells, which have been identified in recent experiments as an integral driving force in the growth of both premalignant adenomas and established tumors (138, 139). It now appears that IL-4 signaling is vital to the functioning of at least some of these tumorigenic stem cells. Research on colon cancer has identified a subset of tumor cells with a CD133⁺ stem-like phenotype, which was found to be necessary and sufficient for the establishment of transplanted human colon tumors in immunodeficient mice (56). In keeping with the cancer stem cell (CSC) hypothesis (4), these cells possess self-renewing capacity, an especially high resistance to death-promoting signals, and the ability to effect regeneration of the overall tumor mass (56, 140). One study revealed that resistance to drug-induced apoptosis in CD133⁺ colon cancer cells was mediated through increased production of IL-4 (56). Preliminary experiments suggest that this IL-4-mediated, pro-survival pathway may be a promising therapeutic target. In the same study, blockade with either IL-4 neutralizing antibody or a mutant, inhibitory form of IL-4 (IL-4DM) reduced the viability of CD133⁺ and CD133⁻ tumor cell cultures, while increasing the efficacy of cytotoxic treatment with standard chemotherapeutic agents: oxaliplatin, 5-fluorouracil, and the death receptor ligand TRAIL. IL-4 antagonism also enhanced the effectiveness and duration of chemotherapy response in mice bearing transplanted tumors, suggesting a role for combined therapy in the treatment of human disease (56). Both the in vitro and in vivo effects of IL-4 blockade were mediated by decreases in the anti-apoptotic molecules cFlip, Bcl-xL, and Ped (56, 140).

Another remarkable finding has been the role of IL-13R α 2 in models of cancer development, indicating signaling functions far beyond the previously suggested role of a decoy receptor (141). This receptor is known to be overexpressed in several human cancers. An immunohistochemical analysis of human tissues found IL-13R α 2 overexpression in 71% of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma samples in comparison to normal pancreas controls (142). Indeed, experiments in an orthotopic mouse model of pancreatic cancer suggest that IL-13R α 2 is an important mediator

of the pro-tumor effects of IL-13, including activation of AP-1 growth signals, production of immunomodulatory cytokines such as TGF-B, and promotion of metastasis (58, 142). Similar IL-13Ra2-dependent effects have been demonstrated in other cancer models, including ovarian carcinoma (59), colorectal cancer (57), head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (143), and malignant glioma (144). As with IL-4, IL-13 signaling has been suggested as a possible target of anticancer therapy. To this end, recombinant cytotoxic proteins have been developed, which consisted of IL-4 or IL-13 joined to a mutant form of Pseudomonas exotoxin. These agents have been found to restrain tumor growth in numerous animal models (142–144). However, in a Phase 3 clinical trial, IL-13 Pseudomonas exotoxin failed to improve median survival time in patients with glioblastoma multiforme when compared to conventional chemotherapy (145). While this agent may still find use as an adjuvant therapy (146), the outcome suggests that the development of Th2-targeted treatments with robust antitumor efficacy will require further exploration.

Despite considerable progress in the field, many Th2-mediated influences on tumor development remain poorly characterized. For instance, populations of eosinophils and mast cells, crucial mediators of Th2-driven allergic responses, also contribute to the inflammatory infiltrate in numerous human tumors. However, experimental data exploring their effects are lacking, and conflicting results have been published regarding their impact on clinical prognosis (83). This ambiguity underscores the fearsomely complex, and incompletely understood, nature of signaling among discrete immune system components in the context of cancer development. Owing to these knowledge gaps, the possibility that an anti-Th2 intervention could impede antitumor immune responses in vivo cannot be prematurely dismissed. Systemic therapies to antagonize Type I or Type II receptors will also confront a high risk of adverse events, owing to the global effects of Th2 cytokines on immune homeostasis and other physiological functions. Nevertheless, a fascinating body of experimental and clinical data suggests that the pro-carcinogenic effects of IL-4 and IL-13 will remain a source of therapeutic interest for years to come.

POTENTIAL FEEDBACK BETWEEN AUTOINFLAMMATION AND TUMOR: IMPLICATIONS FOR CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

Virtually all of the immune signaling pathways relevant to tumor biology play major physiological roles in the maintenance of self-tolerance and tissue homeostasis. Moreover, most well-characterized tumor-associated antigens are self-antigens, meaning that they are also expressed by normal cells in the course of growth and differentiation. Conversely, antigenic proteins expressed exclusively in cancerous tissue, such as viral products or mutated oncogenes, have been characterized in only a small number of tumor types. Overall, it seems that tumors, despite their aberrant characteristics, may remain antigenically "self" entities first and foremost (1, 2). In the clinical context, this suggests that useful antitumor immune responses elicited in patients may be functionally inseparable from those directed against healthy tissues. The seemingly inextricable association between off-target autoimmune damage to healthy tissues and antitumor immunity induced by effective cancer immunotherapy

during recent clinical trials can be seen as supporting this hypothesis. Evidence from molecular studies in this regard and a large body of research on inflammation and cancer suggest a feedback loop of autoimmunity, antitumor immunity, inflammation, and *de novo* tumorigenesis that reinforces the remarkable entanglement between autoimmunity and cancer (**Figure 1**). In particular, the persistence of antigens in most autoimmune conditions likely leads to the formation of a type of autoimmune memory cells called effector memory T (T_{EM}) cells [for review see Ref. (66)], which could further perpetuate this feedback loop. Advances in not only experimental and clinical research, but also in computational biology tools for large datasets, will be needed to understand the complexity of molecular and cellular interactions in such chronic human disease settings (66, 147).

Along this line, one may argue that a combination of immunomodulation with conventional cancer therapies such as chemotherapy could be used to augment tumor-specific immune responses. Despite the severe immunosuppression produced by many standard chemotherapeutic agents, current data suggest that patients with chemotherapy-induced leukopenia retain a functional T cell compartment that is capable of mediating clinically significant antitumor immunity (148). Within solid tumors, it has been demonstrated that chemotherapy can deplete immune suppressor cells (MDSCs and Treg cells) in the tumor microenvironment, increase tumor antigenicity, and upregulate the expression of costimulatory molecules for CTL activation (79). All of these mechanisms point toward possible synergistic effects that could enhance the clinical efficacy of existing cancer immunotherapies, including agents that have shown meager benefits when administered alone. Indeed, synergy between cancer vaccines and chemotherapy has already been demonstrated in studies of advanced small-cell lung cancer and follicular B-cell lymphoma (149).

Immunological research continues to produce crucial mechanistic insights into the tumor-related effects of major cytokines. For instance, a recent murine experimental model has demonstrated that IFN-y and TNF-a produced by Th1 cells are capable of inducing prolonged senescence in pancreatic tumors, by inducing expression of the transcription factors JUNB and INK4A (150). The identification of specific signaling pathways for tumor cell growth inhibition and apoptosis heralds a new and improved generation of cytokine-based therapies. More broadly, this knowledge may eventually enable a combinatorial approach to cancer immunotherapy, in which multiple treatments can be jointly administered to yield superior therapeutic outcomes. The current field of cancer immunotherapy is divided between treatments that encourage global activation of cytotoxic immune responses, such as exogenous cytokines and antibodies targeting T cell-inhibitory signals (e.g., anti-PD-1, anti-PD-L1, anti-CTLA4), and treatments based on tumor antigens, which aim to stimulate destruction of cancerous tissues by engaging a specific population of tumorreactive CTLs (e.g., cancer vaccines and autologous T cell transfers). With further advancement in the clinical and investigative realms, it may become possible for these two approaches to complement each other within the same patient. A cancer vaccine that produces a meager antitumor response in vivo could have enhanced efficacy when administered alongside a treatment that



elicits global T cell activation, such as CTLA4 blockade. Moreover, the systemic autoimmune toxicity produced by these broad-acting treatments might be mitigated if a lower dose was combined with a cancer vaccine or other antigen-focused immune stimulus. Adding to the possibilities, multiple immunomodulatory agents from either treatment category could theoretically be combined (e.g., anti-PD-1 in combination with one or more exogenous cytokines) to provide unprecedented control over the targeting, intensity, and duration of the induced immune response. The potential advantages of a combined regimen are already supported by data from numerous preclinical models (5). The true capabilities of cancer immunotherapy may only be realized once multiple treatments can be synthesized into a therapeutic strategy tailored to the pathological and molecular characteristics of every patient's disease. Although the harmful clinical sequelae of autoimmunity may never be banished entirely, this integrative approach has the potential to harness its tumoricidal functions better than any single agent administered in isolation.

In summary, clinical data suggest that both the anticipated benefits of cancer immunotherapy and its associated adverse events share autoimmunity as a common originating process. Thus autoimmunity, regarded until recently as a "side effect" of cancer immunotherapy, may be more properly considered a correlate of antitumor immunity, or even more appropriately as an antitumor effector in its own right. Despite the lopsided benefit versus risk ratio in cancer immunotherapies that succeed in providing
substantial survival benefit, it should be noted that autoimmune damage to healthy tissues is a justifiably dreaded cause of morbidity and mortality in patients receiving these treatments. This hazard may be even more dire if one considers that an immunosuppressive microenvironment effectively designates tumors as an immunoprivileged self, which is more resistant to immune targeting than its healthy counterpart (1, 2). Furthermore, the calculation of benefit versus risk must account for the possibility that inflammatory signals arising from therapeutically induced autoimmunity may ultimately contribute to *de novo* tumorigenesis in the clinical setting. Therefore, achieving optimal benefit of cancer immunotherapies awaits advances in tumor-specific targeting, either by site or by unique antigens, coupled with proper monitoring and prevention of potentially catastrophic autoimmune damage or long-term risks of *de novo* tumorigenesis.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported in part by grants from the National Institute of Cancer (1R21CA178675-01 to Zhibin Chen) and the Bankhead-Coley Research Program of Florida Department of Health (09BN-05 to Zhibin Chen). We sincerely apologize to all colleagues whose studies have contributed importantly to the understanding of the topics surveyed in this article, but not cited due to the limit of the length of the article as well as the scope of our knowledge.

REFERENCES

- Miska J, Bas E, Devarajan P, Chen Z. Autoimmunity-mediated antitumor immunity: tumor as an immunoprivileged self. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42:2584–2596. doi:10.1002/eji.201242590
- Miska J, Devarajan P, Chen Z. The immunological identity of tumor: self implications. Oncoimmunology (2013) 2:e23794. doi:10.4161/onci.23794
- Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? *Lancet* (2001) 357:539–45. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04046-0
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell (2011) 144:646–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Melero I, Hervas-Stubbs S, Glennie M, Pardoll DM, Chen L. Immunostimulatory monoclonal antibodies for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2007) 7:95–106. doi:10.1038/nrc2051
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 363:711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366:2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. *N Engl* J Med (2012) 366:2455–65. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- Whiteside TL. Inhibiting the inhibitors: evaluating agents targeting cancer immunosuppression. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2010) 10:1019–35. doi:10.1517/ 14712598.2010.482207
- Schroder K, Hertzog PJ, Ravasi T, Hume DA. Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. J Leukoc Biol (2004) 75:163–89. doi:10.1189/jlb.0603252
- Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The roles of IFN gamma in protection against tumor development and cancer immunoediting. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2002) 13:95–109. doi:10.1016/S1359-6101(01)00038-7
- Seliger B, Ruiz-Cabello F, Garrido F. IFN inducibility of major histocompatibility antigens in tumors. *Adv Cancer Res* (2008) 101:249–76. doi:10.1016/S0065-230X(08)00407-7
- Kelchtermans H, Billiau A, Matthys P. How interferon-gamma keeps autoimmune diseases in check. *Trends Immunol* (2008) 29:479–86. doi:10.1016/j.it. 2008.07.002

- Zhang J. Yin and yang interplay of IFN-gamma in inflammation and autoimmune disease. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:871–3. doi:10.1172/JCI31860
- Stoicov C, Fan X, Liu JH, Bowen G, Whary M, Kurt-Jones E, et al. T-bet knockout prevents *Helicobacter felis*-induced gastric cancer. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:642–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900511
- Syu LJ, El-Zaatari M, Eaton KA, Liu Z, Tetarbe M, Keeley TM, et al. Transgenic expression of interferon-gamma in mouse stomach leads to inflammation, metaplasia, and dysplasia. *Am J Pathol* (2012) 181:2114–25. doi:10.1016/ j.ajpath.2012.08.017
- Cho HI, Lee YR, Celis E. Interferon gamma limits the effectiveness of melanoma peptide vaccines. *Blood* (2011) 117:135–44. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-08-298117
- Malmberg KJ, Levitsky V, Norell H, de Matos CT, Carlsten M, Schedvins K, et al. IFN-gamma protects short-term ovarian carcinoma cell lines from CTL lysis via a CD94/NKG2A-dependent mechanism. *J Clin Invest* (2002) 110:1515–23. doi:10.1172/JCI200215564
- Carswell EA, Old LJ, Kassel RL, Green S, Fiore N, Williamson B. An endotoxininduced serum factor that causes necrosis of tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1975) 72:3666–70. doi:10.1073/pnas.72.9.3666
- van Horssen R, Ten Hagen TL, Eggermont AM. TNF-alpha in cancer treatment: molecular insights, antitumor effects, and clinical utility. *Oncologist* (2006) 11:397–408. doi:10.1634/theoncologist.11-4-397
- Grivennikov SI, Karin M. Inflammatory cytokines in cancer: tumour necrosis factor and interleukin 6 take the stage. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2011) **70**(Suppl 1):i104–8. doi:10.1136/ard.2010.140145
- Gukovsky I, Li N, Todoric J, Gukovskaya A, Karin M. Inflammation, autophagy, and obesity: common features in the pathogenesis of pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer. *Gastroenterology* (2013) 144:1199.e–209.e. doi:10.1053/j.gastro. 2013.02.007
- Park EJ, Lee JH, Yu GY, He G, Ali SR, Holzer RG, et al. Dietary and genetic obesity promote liver inflammation and tumorigenesis by enhancing IL-6 and TNF expression. *Cell* (2010) 140:197–208. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.12.052
- 24. Balkwill F. Tumour necrosis factor and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2009) **9**:361–71. doi:10.1038/nrc2628
- Wu Y, Zhou BP. TNF-alpha/NF-kappaB/Snail pathway in cancer cell migration and invasion. Br J Cancer (2010) 102:639–44. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6605530
- 26. Achyut BR, Bader DA, Robles AI, Wangsa D, Harris CC, Ried T, et al. Inflammation-mediated genetic and epigenetic alterations drive cancer development in the neighboring epithelium upon stromal abrogation of TGF-beta signaling. *PLoS Genet* (2013) **9**:e1003251. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen. 1003251
- Chaudhury A, Howe PH. The tale of transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) signaling: a soigne enigma. *IUBMB Life* (2009) 61:929–39. doi:10.1002/iub.239
- Laouar Y, Sutterwala FS, Gorelik L, Flavell RA. Transforming growth factor-beta controls T helper type 1 cell development through regulation of natural killer cell interferon-gamma. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:600–7. doi:10.1038/ni1197
- Prud'homme GJ. Pathobiology of transforming growth factor beta in cancer, fibrosis and immunologic disease, and therapeutic considerations. *Lab Invest* (2007) 87:1077–91. doi:10.1038/labinvest.3700669
- Ramalingam R, Larmonier CB, Thurston RD, Midura-Kiela MT, Zheng SG, Ghishan FK, et al. Dendritic cell-specific disruption of TGF-beta receptor II leads to altered regulatory T cell phenotype and spontaneous multiorgan autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2012) 189:3878–93. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1201029
- Galdiero MR, Garlanda C, Jaillon S, Marone G, Mantovani A. Tumor associated macrophages and neutrophils in tumor progression. J Cell Physiol (2013) 228:1404–12. doi:10.1002/jcp.24260
- 32. Moo-Young TA, Larson JW, Belt BA, Tan MC, Hawkins WG, Eberlein TJ, et al. Tumor-derived TGF-beta mediates conversion of CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in a murine model of pancreas cancer. J Immunother (2009) 32:12–21. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e318189f13c
- 33. Yang P, Li QJ, Feng Y, Zhang Y, Markowitz GJ, Ning S, et al. TGF-beta-miR-34a-CCL22 signaling-induced Treg cell recruitment promotes venous metastases of HBV-positive hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Cell* (2012) 22:291–303. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2012.07.023
- 34. Yang L. TGFbeta and cancer metastasis: an inflammation link. *Cancer Metas*tasis Rev (2010) **29**:263–71. doi:10.1007/s10555-010-9226-3

- 35. Massague J. TGFbeta in cancer. Cell (2008) **134**:215–30. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008. 07.001
- Kurebayashi Y, Nagai S, Ikejiri A, Koyasu S. Recent advances in understanding the molecular mechanisms of the development and function of Th17 cells. *Genes Cells* (2013) 18:247–65. doi:10.1111/gtc.12039
- Zou W, Restifo NP. T(H)17 cells in tumour immunity and immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:248–56. doi:10.1038/nri2742
- Kaiga T, Sato M, Kaneda H, Iwakura Y, Takayama T, Tahara H. Systemic administration of IL-23 induces potent antitumor immunity primarily mediated through Th1-type response in association with the endogenously expressed IL-12. J Immunol (2007) 178:7571–80.
- Kryczek I, Wei S, Szeliga W, Vatan L, Zou W. Endogenous IL-17 contributes to reduced tumor growth and metastasis. *Blood* (2009) 114:357–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-09-177360
- Martin-Orozco N, Muranski P, Chung Y, Yang XO, Yamazaki T, Lu S, et al. T helper 17 cells promote cytotoxic T cell activation in tumor immunity. *Immunity* (2009) 31:787–98. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.09.014
- Nuñez S, Saez JJ, Fernandez D, Flores-Santibanez F, Alvarez K, Tejon G, et al. T helper type 17 cells contribute to anti-tumour immunity and promote the recruitment of T helper type 1 cells to the tumour. *Immunology* (2013) 139:61–71. doi:10.1111/imm.12055
- 42. Amedei A, Niccolai E, Benagiano M, Della Bella C, Cianchi F, Bechi P, et al. Ex vivo analysis of pancreatic cancer-infiltrating T lymphocytes reveals that ENO-specific Tregs accumulate in tumor tissue and inhibit Th1/Th17 effector cell functions. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) **62**:1249–60. doi:10.1007/s00262-013-1429-3
- Huang Z, van Velkinburgh JC, Ni B, Wu Y. Pivotal roles of the interleukin-23/T helper 17 cell axis in hepatitis B. *Liver Int* (2012) 32:894–901. doi:10.1111/j. 1478-3231.2012.02764.x
- 44. Wu W, Li J, Chen F, Zhu H, Peng G, Chen Z. Circulating Th17 cells frequency is associated with the disease progression in HBV infected patients. J Gastroenterol Hepatol (2010) 25:750–7. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1746.2009.06154.x
- 45. Yang W, Ding X, Deng J, Lu Y, Matsuda Z, Thiel A, et al. Interferon-gamma negatively regulates Th17-mediated immunopathology during mouse hepatitis virus infection. J Mol Med (Berl) (2011) 89:399–409. doi:10.1007/s00109-010-0711-5
- 46. Ye Y, Xie X, Yu J, Zhou L, Xie H, Jiang G, et al. Involvement of Th17 and Th1 effector responses in patients with Hepatitis B. J Clin Immunol (2010) 30:546–55. doi:10.1007/s10875-010-9416-3
- He D, Li H, Yusuf N, Elmets CA, Li J, Mountz JD, et al. IL-17 promotes tumor development through the induction of tumor promoting microenvironments at tumor sites and myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:2281–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902574
- Qian X, Gu L, Ning H, Zhang Y, Hsueh EC, Fu M, et al. Increased Th17 cells in the tumor microenvironment is mediated by IL-23 via tumor-secreted prostaglandin E2. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:5894–902. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1203141
- 49. Baird AM, Leonard J, Naicker KM, Kilmartin L, O'Byrne KJ, Gray SG. IL-23 is pro-proliferative, epigenetically regulated and modulated by chemotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer* (2013) **79**:83–90. doi:10.1016/j. lungcan.2012.10.003
- Fukuda M, Ehara M, Suzuki S, Ohmori Y, Sakashita H. IL-23 promotes growth and proliferation in human squamous cell carcinoma of the oral cavity. *Int J Oncol* (2010) 36:1355–65. doi:10.3892/ijo_0000620
- 51. Li J, Zhang L, Zhang J, Wei Y, Li K, Huang L, et al. Interleukin 23 regulates proliferation of lung cancer cells in a concentration-dependent way in association with the interleukin-23 receptor. *Carcinogenesis* (2013) 34:658–66. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgs384
- 52. De Monte L, Reni M, Tassi E, Clavenna D, Papa I, Recalde H, et al. Intratumor T helper type 2 cell infiltrate correlates with cancer-associated fibroblast thymic stromal lymphopoietin production and reduced survival in pancreatic cancer. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208:469–78. doi:10.1084/jem.20101876
- Aspord C, Pedroza-Gonzalez A, Gallegos M, Tindle S, Burton EC, Su D, et al. Breast cancer instructs dendritic cells to prime interleukin 13-secreting CD4+ T cells that facilitate tumor development. J Exp Med (2007) 204:1037–47. doi:10.1084/jem.20061120
- Hallett MA, Venmar KT, Fingleton B. Cytokine stimulation of epithelial cancer cells: the similar and divergent functions of IL-4 and IL-13. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:6338–43. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3544

- Koller FL, Hwang DG, Dozier EA, Fingleton B. Epithelial interleukin-4 receptor expression promotes colon tumor growth. *Carcinogenesis* (2010) **31**:1010–7. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgq044
- Todaro M, Alea MP, Di Stefano AB, Cammareri P, Vermeulen L, Iovino F, et al. Colon cancer stem cells dictate tumor growth and resist cell death by production of interleukin-4. *Cell Stem Cell* (2007) 1:389–402. doi:10.1016/j.stem. 2007.08.001
- 57. Barderas R, Bartolome RA, Fernandez-Acenero MJ, Torres S, Casal JI. High expression of IL-13 receptor alpha2 in colorectal cancer is associated with invasion, liver metastasis, and poor prognosis. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:2780–90. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-4090
- Fujisawa T, Joshi B, Nakajima A, Puri RK. A novel role of interleukin-13 receptor alpha2 in pancreatic cancer invasion and metastasis. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:8678–85. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2100
- Fujisawa T, Joshi BH, Puri RK. IL-13 regulates cancer invasion and metastasis through IL-13Ralpha2 via ERK/AP-1 pathway in mouse model of human ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2012) 131:344–56. doi:10.1002/ijc.26366
- Virchow RLK. Cellular Pathology as based upon Physiological and Pathological Histology. Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott (1863).
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:162–74. doi:10.1038/nri2506
- 62. Qian BZ, Pollard JW. Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. *Cell* (2010) **141**:39–51. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.014
- Ammirante M, Luo JL, Grivennikov S, Nedospasov S, Karin M. B-cell-derived lymphotoxin promotes castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Nature* (2010) 464:302–5. doi:10.1038/nature08782
- 64. He Y, Zha J, Wang Y, Liu W, Yang X, Yu P. Tissue damage-associated "danger signals" influence T-cell responses that promote the progression of preneoplasia to cancer. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:629–39. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2704
- Wang L, Yi T, Kortylewski M, Pardoll DM, Zeng D, Yu H. IL-17 can promote tumor growth through an IL-6-Stat3 signaling pathway. J Exp Med (2009) 206:1457–64. doi:10.1084/jem.20090207
- 66. Devarajan P, Chen Z. Autoimmune effector memory T cells: the bad and the good. *Immunol Res* (2013) **57**:12–22. doi:10.1007/s12026-013-8448-1
- 67. Germain RN, Robey EA, Cahalan MD. A decade of imaging cellular motility and interaction dynamics in the immune system. *Science* (2012) **336**:1676–81. doi:10.1126/science.1221063
- Miska J, Abdulreda MH, Devarajan P, Lui JB, Suzuki J, Pileggi A, et al. Real-time immune cell interactions in target tissue during autoimmune-induced damage and graft tolerance. J Exp Med (2014) 211:441–56. doi:10.1084/jem.20130785
- Suzuki J, Ricordi C, Chen Z. Immune tolerance induction by integrating innate and adaptive immune regulators. *Cell Transplant* (2010) 19:253–68. doi:10.3727/096368909X480314
- Tomsova M, Melichar B, Sedlakova I, Steiner I. Prognostic significance of CD3+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in ovarian carcinoma. *Gynecol Oncol* (2008) 108:415–20. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2007.10.016
- Tano T, Okamoto M, Kan S, Nakashiro K, Shimodaira S, Koido S, et al. Prognostic impact of expression of Bcl-2 and Bax genes in circulating immune cells derived from patients with head and neck carcinoma. *Neoplasia* (2013) 15:305–14. doi:10.1593/neo.121528
- 72. Lippitz BE. Cytokine patterns in patients with cancer: a systematic review. *Lancet Oncol* (2013) 14:e218–28. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70582-X
- 73. Vierboom MP, Nijman HW, Offringa R, van der Voort EI, van Hall T, van den Broek L, et al. Tumor eradication by wild-type p53-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Exp Med (1997) 186:695–704. doi:10.1084/jem.186.5.695
- Hilburger Ryan M, Abrams SI. Characterization of CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocyte/tumor cell interactions reflecting recognition of an endogenously expressed murine wild-type p53 determinant. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2001) 49:603–12. doi:10.1007/s002620000156
- 75. Hu J, Kindsvogel W, Busby S, Bailey MC, Shi YY, Greenberg PD. An evaluation of the potential to use tumor-associated antigens as targets for antitumor T cell therapy using transgenic mice expressing a retroviral tumor antigen in normal lymphoid tissues. J Exp Med (1993) 177:1681–90. doi:10.1084/jem. 177.6.1681
- Morgan DJ, Kreuwel HT, Fleck S, Levitsky HI, Pardoll DM, Sherman LA. Activation of low avidity CTL specific for a self epitope results in tumor rejection but not autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (1998) 160:643–51.
- Caspi RR. Immunotherapy of autoimmunity and cancer: the penalty for success. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8:970–6. doi:10.1038/nri2438

- Attia P, Phan GQ, Maker AV, Robinson MR, Quezado MM, Yang JC, et al. Autoimmunity correlates with tumor regression in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with anti-cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4. *J Clin Oncol* (2005) 23:6043–53. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.06.205
- Andersen MH, Junker N, Ellebaek E, Svane IM, Thor Straten P. Therapeutic cancer vaccines in combination with conventional therapy. *J Biomed Biotechnol* (2010) 2010:237623. doi:10.1155/2010/237623
- Zaidi MR, Merlino G. The two faces of interferon-gamma in cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:6118–24. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0482
- 81. Fojtova M, Boudny V, Kovarik A, Lauerova L, Adamkova L, Souckova K, et al. Development of IFN-gamma resistance is associated with attenuation of SOCS genes induction and constitutive expression of SOCS 3 in melanoma cells. *Br J Cancer* (2007) 97:231–7. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6603849
- Miller CH, Maher SG, Young HA. Clinical use of interferon-gamma. Ann NY Acad Sci (2009) 1182:69–79. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05069.x
- Demaria S, Pikarsky E, Karin M, Coussens LM, Chen YC, El-Omar EM, et al. Cancer and inflammation: promise for biologic therapy. *J Immunother* (2010) 33:335–51. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181d32e74
- Moss SF, Blaser MJ. Mechanisms of disease: Inflammation and the origins of cancer. *Nat Clin Pract Oncol* (2005) 2:90–7. doi:10.1038/ncponc0081 quiz 91 p following 113,
- 85. Skurkovich B, Skurkovich S. Anti-interferon-gamma antibodies in the treatment of autoimmune diseases. *Curr Opin Mol Ther* (2003) **5**:52–7.
- Skurkovich S, Skurkovich B, Kelly J. Anticytokine therapy, particularly anti-IFN-gamma, in Th1-mediated autoimmune diseases. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2005) 1:11–25. doi:10.1586/1744666X.1.1.11
- Fox JG, Wang TC. Inflammation, atrophy, and gastric cancer. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:60–9. doi:10.1172/JCI30111
- Merchant JL. What lurks beneath: IL-11, via Stat3, promotes inflammationassociated gastric tumorigenesis. J Clin Invest (2008) 118:1628–31. doi:10. 1172/JCI35344
- Polk DB, Peek RM Jr. Helicobacter pylori: gastric cancer and beyond. Nat Rev Cancer (2010) 10:403–14. doi:10.1038/nrc2857
- Toh BH, van Driel IR, Gleeson PA. Pernicious anemia. N Engl J Med (1997) 337:1441–8. doi:10.1056/NEJM199711133372007
- El-Omar EM, Rabkin CS, Gammon MD, Vaughan TL, Risch HA, Schoenberg JB, et al. Increased risk of noncardia gastric cancer associated with proinflammatory cytokine gene polymorphisms. *Gastroenterology* (2003) 124:1193–201. doi:10.1016/S0016-5085(03)00157-4
- Judd LM, Alderman BM, Howlett M, Shulkes A, Dow C, Moverley J, et al. Gastric cancer development in mice lacking the SHP2 binding site on the IL-6 family co-receptor gp130. *Gastroenterology* (2004) 126:196–207. doi:10.1053/ j.gastro.2003.10.066
- 93. Tu S, Bhagat G, Cui G, Takaishi S, Kurt-Jones EA, Rickman B, et al. Overexpression of interleukin-1beta induces gastric inflammation and cancer and mobilizes myeloid-derived suppressor cells in mice. *Cancer Cell* (2008) 14:408–19. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2008.10.011
- Weis VG, Goldenring JR. Current understanding of SPEM and its standing in the preneoplastic process. *Gastric Cancer* (2009) 12:189–97. doi:10.1007/ s10120-009-0527-6
- 95. Szabo SJ, Kim ST, Costa GL, Zhang X, Fathman CG, Glimcher LH. A novel transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. *Cell* (2000) 100:655–69. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80702-3
- 96. Li X, McKinstry KK, Swain SL, Dalton DK. IFN-gamma acts directly on activated CD4+ T cells during mycobacterial infection to promote apoptosis by inducing components of the intracellular apoptosis machinery and by inducing extracellular proapoptotic signals. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:939–49.
- Mellor AL, Munn DH. Creating immune privilege: active local suppression that benefits friends, but protects foes. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8:74–80. doi:10.1038/nri2233
- 98. Tu SP, Quante M, Bhagat G, Takaishi S, Cui G, Yang XD, et al. IFN-gamma inhibits gastric carcinogenesis by inducing epithelial cell autophagy and Tcell apoptosis. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:4247–59. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4009
- White E, DiPaola RS. The double-edged sword of autophagy modulation in cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:5308–16. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-5023

- Bradley JR. TNF-mediated inflammatory disease. J Pathol (2008) 214:149–60. doi:10.1002/path.2287
- 101. Palladino MA, Bahjat FR, Theodorakis EA, Moldawer LL. Anti-TNF-alpha therapies: the next generation. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2003) 2:736–46. doi:10.1038/ nrd1175
- 102. Murdaca G, Colombo BM, Cagnati P, Gulli R, Spano F, Puppo F. Update upon efficacy and safety of TNF-alpha inhibitors. *Expert Opin Drug Saf* (2012) 11:1–5. doi:10.1517/14740338.2012.630388
- 103. Hobohm U. Fever and cancer in perspective. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2001) **50**:391–6.
- 104. Kruglov AA, Kuchmiy A, Grivennikov SI, Tumanov AV, Kuprash DV, Nedospasov SA. Physiological functions of tumor necrosis factor and the consequences of its pathologic overexpression or blockade: mouse models. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2008) 19:231–44. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2008.04.010
- 105. Moore RJ, Owens DM, Stamp G, Arnott C, Burke F, East N, et al. Mice deficient in tumor necrosis factor-alpha are resistant to skin carcinogenesis. *Nat Med* (1999) 5:828–31. doi:10.1038/10552
- 106. Fujiki H, Sueoka E, Suganuma M. Tumor promoters: from chemicals to inflammatory proteins. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol (2013) 139:1603–14. doi:10.1007/ s00432-013-1455-8
- 107. Capece D, Fischietti M, Verzella D, Gaggiano A, Cicciarelli G, Tessitore A, et al. The inflammatory microenvironment in hepatocellular carcinoma: a pivotal role for tumor-associated macrophages. *Biomed Res Int* (2013) 2013:187204. doi:10.1155/2013/187204
- 108. Natarajan M, Gibbons CF, Mohan S, Moore S, Kadhim MA. Oxidative stress signalling: a potential mediator of tumour necrosis factor alpha-induced genomic instability in primary vascular endothelial cells. *Br J Radiol* (2007) 80(1):S13–22. doi:10.1259/bjr/15316848
- 109. Pierce RH, Campbell JS, Stephenson AB, Franklin CC, Chaisson M, Poot M, et al. Disruption of redox homeostasis in tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis in a murine hepatocyte cell line. *Am J Pathol* (2000) 157:221–36. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64533-6
- 110. Suematsu N, Tsutsui H, Wen J, Kang D, Ikeuchi M, Ide T, et al. Oxidative stress mediates tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced mitochondrial DNA damage and dysfunction in cardiac myocytes. *Circulation* (2003) 107:1418–23. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000055318.09997.1F
- 111. Wheelhouse NM, Chan YS, Gillies SE, Caldwell H, Ross JA, Harrison DJ, et al. TNF-alpha induced DNA damage in primary murine hepatocytes. *Int J Mol Med* (2003) 12:889–94. doi:10.3892/ijmm.12.6.889
- 112. Li MO, Flavell RA. TGF-beta: a master of all T cell trades. *Cell* (2008) **134**:392–404. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.07.025
- 113. Kulkarni AB, Huh CG, Becker D, Geiser A, Lyght M, Flanders KC, et al. Transforming growth factor beta 1 null mutation in mice causes excessive inflammatory response and early death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1993) **90**:770–4. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.2.770
- 114. Leveen P, Larsson J, Ehinger M, Cilio CM, Sundler M, Sjostrand LJ, et al. Induced disruption of the transforming growth factor beta type II receptor gene in mice causes a lethal inflammatory disorder that is transplantable. *Blood* (2002) 100:560–8. doi:10.1182/blood.V100.2.560
- 115. Ni XY, Sui HX, Liu Y, Ke SZ, Wang YN, Gao FG. TGF-beta of lung cancer microenvironment upregulates B7H1 and GITRL expression in dendritic cells and is associated with regulatory T cell generation. *Oncol Rep* (2012) 28:615–21. doi:10.3892/or.2012.1822
- 116. Wilson CA, Cajulis EE, Green JL, Olsen TM, Chung YA, Damore MA, et al. HER-2 overexpression differentially alters transforming growth factor-beta responses in luminal versus mesenchymal human breast cancer cells. *Breast Cancer Res* (2005) 7:R1058–79. doi:10.1186/bcr1343
- 117. Baldwin RL, Tran H, Karlan BY. Loss of c-myc repression coincides with ovarian cancer resistance to transforming growth factor beta growth arrest independent of transforming growth factor beta/Smad signaling. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63:1413–9.
- Connolly EC, Freimuth J, Akhurst RJ. Complexities of TGF-beta targeted cancer therapy. Int J Biol Sci (2012) 8:964–78. doi:10.7150/ijbs.4564
- 119. Connolly EC, Saunier EF, Quigley D, Luu MT, De Sapio A, Hann B, et al. Outgrowth of drug-resistant carcinomas expressing markers of tumor aggression after long-term TbetaRI/II kinase inhibition with LY2109761. *Cancer Res* (2011) **71**:2339–49. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2941

- 120. Ishigame H, Kakuta S, Nagai T, Kadoki M, Nambu A, Komiyama Y, et al. Differential roles of interleukin-17A and -17F in host defense against mucoepithelial bacterial infection and allergic responses. *Immunity* (2009) **30**:108–19. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.11.009
- 121. Ye J, Livergood RS, Peng G. The role and regulation of human Th17 cells in tumor immunity. *Am J Pathol* (2013) 182:10–20. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.08. 041
- 122. Yosef N, Shalek AK, Gaublomme JT, Jin H, Lee Y, Awasthi A, et al. Dynamic regulatory network controlling TH17 cell differentiation. *Nature* (2013) 496:461–8. doi:10.1038/nature11981
- 123. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, et al. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:1123–32. doi:10.1038/ni1254
- 124. Park H, Li Z, Yang XO, Chang SH, Nurieva R, Wang YH, et al. A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:1133–41. doi:10.1038/ni1261
- Langowski JL, Kastelein RA, Oft M. Swords into plowshares: IL-23 repurposes tumor immune surveillance. *Trends Immunol* (2007) 28:207–12. doi:10.1016/ j.it.2007.03.006
- 126. McKenzie BS, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ. Understanding the IL-23-IL-17 immune pathway. *Trends Immunol* (2006) 27:17–23. doi:10.1016/j.it.2005.10.003
- Murugaiyan G, Saha B. Protumor vs antitumor functions of IL-17. J Immunol (2009) 183:4169–75. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901017
- 128. Oppmann B, Lesley R, Blom B, Timans JC, Xu Y, Hunte B, et al. Novel p19 protein engages IL-12p40 to form a cytokine, IL-23, with biological activities similar as well as distinct from IL-12. *Immunity* (2000) 13:715–25. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00070-4
- 129. Hatton RD. TGF-beta in Th17 cell development: the truth is out there. *Immunity* (2011) 34:288–90. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.009
- Langowski JL, Zhang X, Wu L, Mattson JD, Chen T, Smith K, et al. IL-23 promotes tumour incidence and growth. *Nature* (2006) 442:461–5. doi:10.1038/ nature04808
- Toussirot E. The IL23/Th17 pathway as a therapeutic target in chronic inflammatory diseases. *Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets* (2012) 11:159–68. doi:10.2174/ 187152812800392805
- 132. Van Dyken SJ, Locksley RM. Interleukin-4- and interleukin-13-mediated alternatively activated macrophages: roles in homeostasis and disease. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:317–43. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095906
- 133. Chapoval S, Dasgupta P, Dorsey NJ, Keegan AD. Regulation of the T helper cell type 2 (Th2)/T regulatory cell (Treg) balance by IL-4 and STAT6. J Leukoc Biol (2010) 87:1011–8. doi:10.1189/jlb.1209772
- Quatromoni JG, Eruslanov E. Tumor-associated macrophages: function, phenotype, and link to prognosis in human lung cancer. *Am J Transl Res* (2012) 4:376–89.
- 135. LaPorte SL, Juo ZS, Vaclavikova J, Colf LA, Qi X, Heller NM, et al. Molecular and structural basis of cytokine receptor pleiotropy in the interleukin-4/13 system. *Cell* (2008) 132:259–72. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.12.030
- 136. Oh CK, Geba GP, Molfino N. Investigational therapeutics targeting the IL-4/IL-13/STAT-6 pathway for the treatment of asthma. *Eur Respir Rev* (2010) 19:46–54. doi:10.1183/09059180.00007609
- 137. Li Z, Jiang J, Wang Z, Zhang J, Xiao M, Wang C, et al. Endogenous interleukin-4 promotes tumor development by increasing tumor cell resistance to apoptosis. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68:8687–94. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0449
- 138. Humphries A, Cereser B, Gay LJ, Miller DS, Das B, Gutteridge A, et al. Lineage tracing reveals multipotent stem cells maintain human adenomas and the

pattern of clonal expansion in tumor evolution. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2013) **110**:E2490–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1220353110

- 139. Schepers AG, Snippert HJ, Stange DE, van den Born M, van Es JH, van de Wetering M, et al. Lineage tracing reveals Lgr5+ stem cell activity in mouse intestinal adenomas. *Science* (2012) 337:730–5. doi:10.1126/science.1224676
- 140. Todaro M, Perez Alea M, Scopelliti A, Medema JP, Stassi G. IL-4-mediated drug resistance in colon cancer stem cells. *Cell Cycle* (2008) 7:309–13. doi:10.4161/cc.7.3.5389
- 141. Hershey GK. IL-13 receptors and signaling pathways: an evolving web. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2003) **111**:677–90. doi:10.1067/mai.2003.1333 quiz 691,
- 142. Shimamura T, Fujisawa T, Husain SR, Joshi B, Puri RK. Interleukin 13 mediates signal transduction through interleukin 13 receptor alpha2 in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: role of IL-13 pseudomonas exotoxin in pancreatic cancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16:577–86. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-2015
- 143. Hall B, Nakashima H, Sun ZJ, Sato Y, Bian Y, Husain SR, et al. Targeting of interleukin-13 receptor alpha2 for treatment of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma induced by conditional deletion of TGF-beta and PTEN signaling. *J Transl Med* (2013) 11:45. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-11-45
- 144. Shimamura T, Husain SR, Puri RK. The IL-4 and IL-13 pseudomonas exotoxins: new hope for brain tumor therapy. *Neurosurg Focus* (2006) 20:E11. doi:10.3171/foc.2006.20.4.6
- 145. Mut M, Sherman JH, Shaffrey ME, Schiff D. Cintredekin besudotox in treatment of malignant glioma. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2008) 8:805–12. doi:10.1517/14712598.8.6.805
- 146. Ohka F, Natsume A, Wakabayashi T. Current trends in targeted therapies for glioblastoma multiforme. *Neurol Res Int* (2012) 2012:878425. doi:10.1155/ 2012/878425
- 147. Han D, Cai X, Wen J, Kenyon NS, Chen Z. From biomarkers to a clue of biology: a computation-aided perspective of immune gene expression profiles in human type 1 diabetes. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:320. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00320
- 148. Liseth K, Ersvaer E, Hervig T, Bruserud O. Combination of intensive chemotherapy and anticancer vaccines in the treatment of human malignancies: the hematological experience. *J Biomed Biotechnol* (2010) 2010:692097. doi:10.1155/2010/692097
- 149. Finn OJ. Cancer immunology. N Engl J Med (2008) 358:2704–15. doi:10.1056/ NEJMra072739
- 150. Braumüller H, Wieder T, Brenner E, Assmann S, Hahn M, Alkhaled M, et al. Thelper-1-cell cytokines drive cancer into senescence. *Nature* (2013) **494**:361–5. doi:10.1038/nature11824

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 December 2013; paper pending published: 22 January 2014; accepted: 05 March 2014; published online: 18 March 2014.

Citation: Toomer KH and Chen Z (2014) Autoimmunity as a double agent in tumor killing and cancer promotion. Front. Immunol. 5:116. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00116 This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Toomer and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Significance of interleukin-33 and its related cytokines in patients with breast cancers

Jing Liu^{1†}, Jia-Xin Shen^{1,2†}, Jia-Lin Hu^{1,2†}, Wen-He Huang² and Guo-Jun Zhang²*

¹ Cancer Research Center, Shantou University Medical College, Shantou, China

² Breast Center, Cancer Hospital of Shantou University Medical College, Shantou, China

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Federica Cavallo, University of Turin, Italy Carlos Alfaro, Clínica Universidad de Navarra, Spain

*Correspondence:

Guo-Jun Zhang, Breast Center, Cancer Hospital of Shantou University Medical College, 7 Raoping Road, Shantou 515031, China e-mail: guoj_zhang@yahoo.com

[†] Jing Liu, Jia-Xin Shen and Jia-Lin Hu have contributed equally to this work. Interleukin-33 (IL-33) is a recently identified cytokine, an important member of the interleukin-1 family. IL-33 binds to its receptor ST2 to induce type 2 cytokines and exert both pro-inflammatory and protective functions in host defense and disease. Murine breast carcinoma models suggest disruption of ST2 signaling may enhance the anti-tumor immune response, suggesting IL-33 impedes anti-tumor immunity. However, the role of IL-33 in patients with breast cancers (BC) is not elucidated. We detected the expression of IL-33 in tumor tissue, and IL-33 and its related cytokines in serum from BC patients. Using Luminex and immunohistochemistry methods, we found that serum levels of IL-33 were nearly twofold higher in patients with BC, compared to patients with benign breast diseases. In cancer tissues, expression of IL-33 was higher than matched normal breast tissues from the same patients, and was also associated with a well-differentiated phenotype, HER2 overexpression, more lymph nodes involvement, and a family history of malignant carcinoma. These results suggest that IL-33 may play an important role in the progress of BC and may be a useful biomarker for predicting the progress and metastasis of BC.

Keywords: interleukin-33, ST2/ST2L, breast cancer, cytokines, immunosuppression

INTRODUCTION

Breast cancer (BC) is the second leading cause of cancer-related deaths amongst women in the United States, and morbidity and mortality of this disease increases each year (1). Although standard multi-modality treatment has improved the overall outcome and quality of life for patients with BC, identification of new prognostic markers, therapeutic targets, and new therapeutic approaches are needed. Recent insights into the cancer development mechanisms have revealed that immune system functionally regulates development and progression of epithelial malignancies and tumor-infiltrating leukocytes may be causal players in cancer development (2).

The interleukin-1 (IL-1) family is a growing group of cytokines, consisting of at least 11 members, and the balance between proand anti-inflammatory cytokines is crucial in the pathogenesis of many human diseases (3). Interleukin-33 (IL-33) is an important member of the IL-1 family, and in humans is expressed predominantly in skin, lung, adipocytes, and synovial fibroblasts (4). IL-33 is an endogenous ligand for the ST2/T1 receptor, and depending on the cellular and cytokine context, participates in many immune diseases with dual, pro-inflammatory, or protective roles. IL-33 induces T cells to produce IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, and potently induces pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines through a Th2-dependent pathway, and also promotes Th1-type responses (5). IL-33 is involved in the pathogenesis of immune diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis and atopic dermatitis, and may reflect the degree of inflammation in patients with immune diseases (6, 7). Deletion of IL-33/ST2 function enhances cytotoxicity of NK cells and increases levels of TNF- α , IFN- γ , and IL-17, and

systemic pro-inflammatory cytokines, leading to attenuated tumor growth (8).

Recent studies demonstrated that high serum levels of soluble ST2 (sST2) are a worse prognostic factor in hepatocellular carcinoma (9), and that serum IL-33 is a diagnostic and prognostic marker in non-small cell lung cancer, independent of the therapeutic intervention (10). In studies on mouse mammary carcinoma, the IL-33/ST2 pathway promotes BC progression and metastasis through increased intratumoral accumulation of immunosuppressive cells and by diminishing innate anti-tumor immunity (11). Conversely, Gao et al. reported that transgenic expression of IL-33 may activate CD8(+) T cells and NK cells, and inhibit tumor growth and metastasis in B16 melanoma and Lewis lung carcinoma metastatic models (12). Thus, the data on the role of IL-33 in cancer progression was limited, and in particular, the function mediated by IL-33 in human BC is under-investigated. In this study, we aim to determine the serum level and to detect the expression of IL-33 in human tissues in patients with breast carcinoma, using Luminex-based measurements and immunohistochemistry, to further explore the role of IL-33 in anti-tumor immunity in BC.

MATERIALS AND METHODS PATIENTS

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Shantou University Medical College and conducted according to the principles in the Declaration of Helsinki (13).

Blood samples were drawn from 64 patients with BC and 10 patients with benign breast diseases (BBD) as controls, who

visited the Shantou University Medical College Cancer Hospital Breast Center between April 2013 and July 2013. The mean age was 52 ± 11 years (25–80 years old) for patients with BC, and 41 ± 11 years (28–68 years old) for patients with BBD. All patients were pathologically diagnosed using specimens obtained either by core-needle biopsy or by surgery. The clinicopathological characters of the BC patients are summarized in **Table 1**.

The central regions of tumors were collected from 29 BC patients, as well as microscopic normal tissues from either tumoradjacent normal tissue (<1 cm) or normal tissue \geq 5 cm away from the tumor margins, for which paraffin-embedded samples were available. The mean age was 53 ± 13 years (25–80 years old) for all enrolled patient. The clinicopathological characteristics of the 29 BC patients are summarized in **Table 3**.

ASSESSMENT OF SERUM CYTOKINES

The levels of IL-33, IL-12, IL-13, IL-17, IFN- γ , and TNF- α in serum were measured based on a Luminex assay, using MilliplexTM MAP (Millipore, MA, USA) multiplex magnetic bead-based antibody detection kits according to the manufacturer's protocols (14).

Blood from patients was collected and centrifuged for 10 min at room temperature. Serum was removed carefully and stored at -80° C until use. Twenty-five microliters of neat samples were added into each well of 96-well plate, and then 25 µl mixed beads were added to the samples. The plate was incubated with agitation on a plate shaker overnight at 4°C. Twenty-five microliters of anticytokine antibody was then added and incubated for 1 h at room temperature. Lastly, 25 µl streptavidin–phycoerythrin was added into each well containing the detection antibodies for 30 min at room temperature. Cytokines were quantified using a BioPlex 200 platform (BioRad, CA, USA).

IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY

Surgical specimens of cancer tissues, adjacent tissues to tumors, and normal tissues collected from patients with BC were formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded, and cut into four-micronthick sections. Sections were deparaffinized by immersion in xylene, and rehydrated in a series of graded alcohols. Epitope retrieval and inactivation of endogenous peroxidase activity was achieved as described (15). Samples were incubated overnight at 4°C with anti-IL-33 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA), then visualized using 3,3'-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (DAB). Sections without primary antibody were used as negative controls. Counterstaining was carried out with hematoxylin, and sections were visualized and photographed under a bright-field microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan). Immunohistochemical staining was mainly cytoplasmic, and the percentage of positive cells for IL-33 was calculated for analysis by counting at least 200 cells in five or more high power fields.

Estrogen receptor (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR) were interpreted as negative or positive, if equal to and less than 1% or more than 1% of tumor showed nuclear positivity, respectively. HER2 was interpreted as negative or over-expressed, if there was 0-1+ or 3+ membranous staining, respectively. If there was 2+membranous staining, FISH was conducted to determine whether HER2 was over-expressed (16). A Ki-67 cut-off point of 15% was
 Table 1 | Relationship of serum IL-33 levels with clinicopathological parameters of breast cancer patients.

Variables	IL-33 level (pg/ml)				
	N	Mean	SD	P value	
Age					
\leq 50 years	30	35.87	11.00	0.481	
>50 years	34	38.21	14.78		
Menopausal state	JS ^a				
No	33	36.19	11.33	0.992	
Yes	30	36.52	12.26		
Size					
≤2 cm	26	36.50	11.52	0.760	
>2 cm	38	37.53	14.21		
AJCC stage					
l + II	44	37.93	12.11	0.465	
Ш	20	35.32	15.23		
Histological grade	ep				
1+2	30	36.51	13.58	0.915	
3	23	36.14	10.64		
ER expression ^c					
Negative	26	32.79	10.84	0.033	
Positive	37	39.92	13.97		
PR expression ^c					
Negative	32	36.76	16.28	0.896	
Positive	31	37.20	9.17		
HER2 expression	с				
No	46	37.82	14.28	0.409	
Yes	17	34.71	9.48		
Ki-67 expression					
Low	15	43.74	19.40	0.021	
High	48	34.86	9.86		
Lymph node met	astasis				
<3	56	37.59	13.52	0.445	
>3	8	33.78	9.67		
Family history	-				
No	58	36.00	11.69	0.034	
Yes	6	47.81	21.29	0.001	

^aOne case missing this information because the patient was male.

^bTwo cases with invasive lobular carcinomas, one case with an intraductal papillary carcinoma, and in eight cases, only biopsy samples were available without information on histological grade.

^cOne case was discharged after biopsy, without information on ER, PR, HER2, and Ki-67 expression.

defined according to the experience of different pathologists as well as national and international recommendations at present (17).

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Serum levels and tissue expression are expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Differences between groups were analyzed using the Student t-test or the non-parametric Mann–Whitney test. All statistical differences were considered significant at the level of p < 0.05. All data were analyzed with SPSS 19.0 software for Windows.

RESULTS

SERUM LEVELS OF IL-33 AND RELATED CYTOKINES IN BBD AND BC

Among six cytokines, the concentrations of IL-33 were nearly twofold higher in the BC group $(34.49 \pm 1.65 \text{ pg/ml})$ compared with BBD group $(17.71 \pm 2.60 \text{ pg/ml})$ (p = 0.0008), with a nonnormal distribution (**Figure 1A**). Conversely, serum levels of IL-13, a Th2-associated cytokine, in the BC group (14.79 ± 0.45) were 40% lower than in the BBD group $(24.92 \pm 8.68 \text{ pg/ml})$ with borderline difference (*p* = 0.0608) (**Figure 1B**), and the concentrations of IL-12, a Th1-type cytokine, were 35% lower in the BC group $(6.143 \pm 0.25 \text{ pg/ml})$ than in the BBD group $(9.39 \pm 2.11 \text{ pg/ml})$ with statistical significance (p = 0.0178) (**Figure 1C**). The concentrations of other cytokines, IL-17, TNF- α , and IFN- γ , did not show any significant difference between the BBD and BC groups (p > 0.05, **Figures 1D–F**).

CLINICOPATHOLOGICAL ANALYSIS OF SERUM LEVELS OF IL-33 IN BREAST CARCINOMA PATIENTS

In patients with ER-positive breast tumors, the serum levels of IL-33 were 39.92 ± 13.97 pg/ml, and were significantly

higher than in patients with ER-negative tumors, which were 32.79 ± 10.84 pg/ml, p = 0.033 (**Table 1**). In patients who showed lower Ki-67 expression, the serum levels of IL-33 were higher than the high Ki-67-expressing group (43.74 ± 19.40 pg/ml vs. 34.86 ± 9.86 pg/ml, p = 0.021). The serum concentrations of IL-33 were significantly associated with family history of malignant tumors (p = 0.034). No correlation was observed between serum IL-33 levels and patient age, menopausal status, tumor size, AJCC stage, histological grade, lymph node status, PR, and HER2 expression.

We also analyzed the association of clinicopathological parameters with IL-33-related cytokines. The serum levels of INF- γ were associated with tumor size (p=0.039), with INF- γ being higher in patients with tumors <2 cm in size (22.57 ± 2.63 pg/ml) than patients with tumors >2 cm (15.22 ± 5.13 pg/ml). In premenopausal patients, the serum levels of IL-17 were significantly higher (p=0.048) than that in post-menopausal group (15.51 ± 6.29 vs. 13.13 ± 2.16 pg/ml), and serum levels of IL-17 were also significantly associated with AJCC stage (p=0.049) and HER2 expression (p=0.012). No statistical significance was



diseases (BBD) and breast cancers (BC). (A) Serum IL-33 expression in BC was significant higher than that in BBD (p = 0.0008); (B) no significant difference between serum IL-13 expression in BC and BBD (p = 0.0608); (C) serum IL-12 expression in BBD was significant higher than that in BC

(p = 0.0178); **(D)** no significant difference between serum IL-17 expression in BC and BBD (p = 0.0526); **(E)** no significant difference between serum TNF- α expression in BC and BBD (p = 0.9748); **(F)** no significant difference between serum IFN- γ expression in BC and BBD (p = 0.7693); *p < 0.05 by unpaired two tailed Student's t-test.

found between the serum levels of TNF- α , IL-12, or IL-13 with clinicopathological parameters of BC patients (specific data not shown).

IL-33 IS HIGHER IN CANCER TISSUES, COMPARED WITH ADJACENT AND NORMAL TISSUES

Figure 2 shows a representative immunohistochemical staining of IL-33 in tissues from patients with BC. In 29 patients with BC, mean expression of IL-33 in carcinoma was 72.6% of cells in the tumor, which was significantly higher than in normal breast tissues from the same patients (p < 0.0001) as shown in **Table 2**. Interestingly, the mean expression of IL-33 in adjacent tissues to tumor was 64.1%, which was also significantly higher than in normal breast tissues from the same patients (p = 0.0002). However, the mean expression level of IL-33 was not statistically different between in cancer and adjacent tissues (p = 0.3561).

CLINICOPATHOLOGICAL ANALYSIS OF CYTOPLASMIC IL-33 EXPRESSION IN BREAST CANCER TISSUES

Interleukin-33 was mainly detected in cytoplasm of BC cells as shown in **Figure 2**. With quantitative analysis, mean expressions of IL-33 were not significantly associated with the age at diagnosis, menopausal status, tumor size, AJCC stage, ER, PR, and Ki-67 expression (**Table 3**). In comparison with high grade tumors, low grade tumors showed significant higher IL-33 expression (p = 0.027). Interestingly, high IL-33 expression was more frequently observed in tumors with HER2 overexpression (p = 0.017). In patients with more than three lymph nodes involved, the expression of IL-33 was significantly higher than the patients with \leq 3 metastases (p = 0.002). High IL-33 expression was also associated with family history of malignant tumor (p = 0.002).

DISCUSSION

Interleukin-33, the newest member of IL-1 family, is a recently identified cytokine with diverse and context-dependent functions, and has been shown to bind to ST2. IL-33 has also been characterized as a potent inducer of T helper (Th) 2 immune responses, and is an important mediator for mucosal healing and epithelial

Table 2 |The percentage of IL-33-positive tissue in breast tumors, tumor-adjacent tissues, and normal tissues from breast cancer patients.

Samples	IL-33 (%)			
	N	Mean	SD	P value ^a
Breast carcinoma tissue		72.6	34.5	< 0.0001
Adjacent tissues to tumors		64.1	34.7	0.0002
Normal breast tissues from BC patients		26.8	33.0	

BC, breast cancer.

^aStatistically significantly different was found between cancer tissues vs. normal breast tissues, and between adjacent tissues vs. normal breast tissues from BC patients, using unpaired Student's t-test. No statistical significance was found between cancer tissues and adjacent tissues.

^bIn four cases, no normal breast tissues were available.



FIGURE 2 | Immunohistochemical staining of IL-33 in patients with breast cancers. Representative images of immunohistochemical staining for IL-33 in breast carcinoma, adjacent tissue to tumor, and normal tissue.

(A) High IL-33 expression in carcinoma tissues. (B) IL-33 expression in tissue adjacent to tumors. (C) Low IL-33 expression in carcinoma tissue. (D) IL-33 expression in normal breast tissue from BC patients (magnification: ×400).

Variables	IL-33 (%)				
	N	Mean	SD	P value	
Age					
\leq 50 years	13	83.85	27.25	0.103	
>50 years	16	63.44	37.71		
Menopausal statu	JS				
No	13	83.85	27.25	0.114	
Yes	16	63.44	37.72		
Size					
≤2 cm	13	68.85	32.28	0.607	
>2 cm	16	75.63	36.87		
AJCC stage					
I + II	22	69.09	34.21	0.342	
111	7	83.57	35.44		
Histological grade	e ^a				
1+2	15	87.33	18.70	0.027	
3	11	58.64	41.96		
ER expression					
Negative	14	76.8	34.8	0.536	
Positive	15	68.7	34.82		
PR expression					
Negative	16	73.44	34.09	0.887	
Positive	13	71.54	36.25		
HER2 expression					
No	18	62.50	38.90	0.017	
Yes	11	89.09	16.40		
Ki-67 expression					
Low	6	75.00	24.29	0.851	
High	23	71.96	37.07		
Lymph node met	astasis				
≤3	24	67.71	35.87	0.002	
_ >3	5	96.00	8.94		
Family history					
No	26	69.81	35.34	0.002	
Yes	3	96.67	5.77		

Table 3 | Clinicopathological analysis of cytoplasmic IL-33 expression in breast carcinoma.

^aTwo cases with invasive lobular carcinomas and one case with an intraductal papillary carcinoma.

restoration/repair (18). IL-33/ST2 axis can also promote Th1-type responses depending on the presence or absence of IL-12 (5). The influence of the IL-33/ST2 axis may be protective or pathogenic in various disease conditions, as it has a dual role in inflammatory disorders (8, 19). IL-33 plays a crucial role in inflammation and is associated with many diseases, such as giant cell arteritis (20), biliary atresia (21), and chronic obstructive lung disease (22). However, few data have been reported about the role of IL-33/ST2 axis in cancer, and little is known about the function of IL-33 in patients with BC.

In this study, we investigated the serum level and tissue expression of IL-33 in patients with BC. We found significantly higher serum levels of IL-33 in patients with BC, compared with patients with BBD, and higher expression of IL-33 in carcinomas and adjacent tissues to tumors, compared with normal breast tissue from the same patients.

The serum concentration of sST2, the soluble form of the receptor for both IL-33 and IL-1, has been shown to be elevated in patients with metastatic BC, and knockdown of the sST2 decreases ErbB2-induced cell motility in two different cell lines (23). However, there are no previous reports about IL-33 expression in serum or tissues of BC patients. In this study, serum levels of IL-33 are higher in patients with ER-positive tumors, predicting that the IL-33/ST2 axis may be involved in hormone receptor signaling. Moreover, in carcinoma tissues, IL-33 expression is significantly higher in HER2-overexpressing tissues, consistent with the report that its receptor sST2 is over-expressed to promote BC metastases upon ErbB2 activation in BC cell lines (23). In ST knock out mice models, lack of ST2 can suppress BC progression and metastasis, through enhanced cytotoxic activity of NK cells and increased systemic Th1/Th17 cytokines (24). Although we found no association between serum levels of IL-33 and in patients with more than three involved lymph nodes, the higher expression of IL-33 consistent with the IL-33/ST2 axis being involved in progression and metastasis of BC.

Of interest is that serum levels and carcinoma tissue expression of IL-33 are higher in patients with a family history of malignant breast carcinoma. As IL-33 may play an important role in immunosuppression of cancer for subsequent tumor progression and metastasis, and auto-immune diseases are usually hereditary, patients with a family history may be more likely to trigger or promote the process of immunosuppression (11). Whether and how IL-33 expression is linked auto-immune disease and familial cancers needs to be clarified.

Ki-67 is a cancer cell proliferation biomarker (25). IL-33 was higher in the low Ki-67 expression group, suggesting serum levels of IL-33 are negatively associated with BC proliferation. After analyzing cytokines associated with IL-33, only a decrease in IL-12 is observed in patients with BC, suggesting systemic IL-33 may not play an important role in BC immunity. In a murine model, the IL-33/ST2 axis has been demonstrated to facilitate intratumoral accumulation of immunosuppressive and innate lymphoid cells, and then promote BC growth and metastases (11). Similarly, in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas, administration of IL-33 promotes cancer cell migration and invasion through induction of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Moreover, IL-33 has been shown to be a potential prognostic biomarker and target for new therapeutic strategies (26). Recent research suggests that in the breast tumor environment, tumor-infiltrating T lymphocytes (TILs) secrete IL-17A, to activate the MAPK pathway, promoting proliferation and resistance to conventional chemotherapeutic agents (27). The elevations of both IL-33 serum levels and immunohistochemical expression might promote BC progression and metastases through regulation of IL-12 pathway.

The local expression of IL-33 may be an important marker for differentiating malignant from normal/benign tissues. IL-33 expression in adjacent tissues also tends to be higher compared to normal tissues, suggesting that adjacent non-cancerous tissues may be similarly relevant to cancers in terms of anti-tumor immunity. Local IL-33 expression may also increase intratumoral accumulation of immunosuppressive lymphoid cells in patients with BC. However, in high grade tumor tissue, the expression of IL-33 is decreased compared to low grade tumor tissues, indicating that IL-33 may be more important in HER2-over-expressing tumors, and other cytokines may be involved in this crosstalk of regulation. Interestingly, IL-33 expression in serum and cancer tissues was contrary when comparing with ER and HER2 expression, although with statistical significance (**Tables 1** and **3**). Up to now, there were no reports about the relationship between IL-33 and ER or HER2. So we supposed that IL-33 may play different roles in system and in local tissues under different hormone conditions. The IL-33 may be involved in the resistence to endocrine therapy and Herceptin therapy of ER/HER2 positive patients with BC.

It is confirmed that IL-33 could activate, Th1, NK, NKT, and CD8⁺ T cells under certain pathophysiological conditions (11). On the other hand, IL-33 has a dual role in inflammatory disorders, anti- and pro-inflammatory. The tissue expression of IL-33 is significantly different, indicated that in carcinomas, immune cells may be recruited to anti-inflammatory and subsequent immuno-suppression in HER2 overexpression tumors. In summary, this study indicated that serum IL-33 is higher in cancer patients compare to patients with BBD. Immunohistochemical staining demonstrated that IL-33 is higher in both cancerous and adjacent tissues compared to normal tissues, suggesting its role in BC progression and metastases. Thus, IL-33 may be a useful biomarker for prediction of malignant potential and immunosuppression of breast carcinomas.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Jing Liu and Guo-Jun Zhang conceived and designed the experiments; Jing Liu, Jia-Xin Shen, and Jia-Lin Hu performed the experiments; Jing Liu, Wen-He Huang, and Guo-Jun Zhang analyzed the data; Jing Liu, Jia-Xin Shen, Jia-Lin Hu, Wen-He Huang, and Guo-Jun Zhang contributed reagents and materials; Jing Liu, Jia-Xin Shen, and Guo-Jun Zhang wrote the paper.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by State Key Development Program for Basic Research of China (No. 2011CB707705), National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 31271068 and 81320108015), and Seed funding of Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory for Diagnosis and Treatment of Breast Cancer. We would like to thank Dr. Stanley Lin for his critical and careful reading of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- 1. Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2013. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2013) **63**(1):11–30. doi:10.3322/caac.21166
- Jiang X, Shapiro DJ. The immune system and inflammation in breast cancer. Mol Cell endocrinol (2014) 382(1):673–82. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2013.06.003
- Mattii M, Ayala F, Balato N, Filotico R, Lembo S, Schiattarella M, et al. The balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines is crucial in human allergic contact dermatitis pathogenesis: the role of IL-1 family members. *Exp Dermatol* (2013) 22(12):813–9. doi:10.1111/exd.12272
- Wood IS, Wang B, Trayhurn P. IL-33, a recently identified interleukin-1 gene family member, is expressed in human adipocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2009) 384(1):105–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.04.081
- Liew FY, Pitman NI, McInnes IB. Disease-associated functions of IL-33: the new kid in the IL-1 family. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2010) 10(2):103–10. doi:10.1038/ nri2692

- Hong YS, Moon SJ, Joo YB, Jeon CH, Cho ML, Ju JH, et al. Measurement of interleukin-33 (IL-33) and IL-33 receptors (sST2 and ST2L) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *J Korean Med Sci* (2011) 26(9):1132–9. doi:10.3346/jkms. 2011.26.9.1132
- Salimi M, Barlow JL, Saunders SP, Xue L, Gutowska-Owsiak D, Wang X, et al. A role for IL-25 and IL-33-driven type-2 innate lymphoid cells in atopic dermatitis. J Exp Med (2013) 210(13):2939–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20130351
- Volarevic V, Mitrovic M, Milovanovic M, Zelen I, Nikolic I, Mitrovic S, et al. Protective role of IL-33/ST2 axis in Con A-induced hepatitis. *J Hepatol* (2012) 56(1):26–33. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2011.03.022
- Bergis D, Kassis V, Ranglack A, Koeberle V, Piiper A, Kronenberger B, et al. High serum levels of the interleukin-33 receptor soluble ST2 as a negative prognostic factor in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Transl Oncol* (2013) 6(3):311–8.
- Hu LA, Fu Y, Zhang DN, Zhang J. Serum IL-33 as a diagnostic and prognostic marker in non-small cell lung cancer. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev (2013) 14(4):2563–6. doi:10.7314/APJCP.2013.14.4.2563
- Jovanovic IP, Pejnovic NN, Radosavljevic GD, Pantic JM, Milovanovic MZ, Arsenijevic NN, et al. Interleukin-33/ST2 axis promotes breast cancer growth and metastases by facilitating intratumoral accumulation of immunosuppressive and innate lymphoid cells. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 134(7):1669–82. doi:10.1002/ ijc.28481
- Gao K, Li X, Zhang L, Bai L, Dong W, Shi G, et al. Transgenic expression of IL-33 activates CD8(+) T cells and NK cells and inhibits tumor growth and metastasis in mice. *Cancer Lett* (2013) 335(2):463–71. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2013.03.002
- Deutsch E. Medical experimentation: international rules and practice. *Law Rev* (1989) 19:1–10.
- Bernhard OK, Mathias RA, Barnes TW, Simpson RJ. A fluorescent microspherebased method for assay of multiple analytes in plasma. *Methods Mol Biol* (2011) 728:195–206. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-068-3_12
- Liu J, Wei XL, Huang WH, Chen CF, Bai JW, Zhang GJ. Cytoplasmic Skp2 expression is associated with p-Akt1 and predicts poor prognosis in human breast carcinomas. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(12):e52675. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0052675
- Jorns JM, Healy P, Zhao L. Review of estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor, and HER-2/neu immunohistochemistry impacts on treatment for a small subset of breast cancer patients transferring care to another institution. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* (2013) 137(11):1660–3. doi:10.5858/arpa.2012-0670-OA
- Inwald EC, Klinkhammer-Schalke M, Hofstädter F, Zeman F, Koller M, Gerstenhauer M, et al. Ki-67 is a prognostic parameter in breast cancer patients: results of a large population-based cohort of a cancerregistry. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2013) 139(2):539–52. doi:10.1007/s10549-013-2560-8
- Lopetuso LR, Scaldaferri F, Pizarro TT. Emerging role of the interleukin (IL)-33/ST2 axis in gut mucosal wound healing and fibrosis. *Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair* (2012) 5(1):18. doi:10.1186/1755-1536-5-18
- Kamijo S, Takeda H, Tokura T, Suzuki M, Inui K, Hara M. IL-33-mediated innate response and adaptive immune cells contribute to maximum responses of protease allergen-induced allergic airway inflammation. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(9):4489–99. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201212
- Ciccia F, Alessandro R, Rizzo A, Raimondo S, Giardina A, Raiata F, et al. IL-33 is overexpressed in the inflamed arteries of patients with giant cell arteritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2013) **72**(2):258–64. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-201309
- Dong R, Dong K, Wang X, Chen G, Shen C, Zheng S. Interleukin-33 overexpression is associated with gamma-glutamyl transferase in biliary atresia. *Cytokine* (2013) 61(2):433–7. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2012.10.035
- Byers DE, Alexander-Brett J, Patel AC, Agapov E, Dang-Vu G, Jin X, et al. Longterm IL-33-producing epithelial progenitor cells in chronic obstructive lung disease. J Clin Invest (2013) 123(12):5410. doi:10.1172/JCI65570
- Gillibert-Duplantier J, Duthey B, Sisirak V, Salaun D, Gargi T, Tredan O, et al. Gene expression profiling identifies sST2 as an effector of ErbB2-driven breast carcinoma cell motility, associated with metastasis. *Oncogene* (2012) 31(30):3516–24. doi:10.1038/onc.2011.525
- Jovanovic I, Radosavljevic G, Mitrovic M, Juranic VL, McKenzie AN, Arsenijevic N, et al. ST2 deletion enhances innate and acquired immunity to murine mammary carcinoma. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(7):1902–12. doi:10.1002/eji. 201141417
- 25. Brown JR, Digiovanna MP, Killelea B, Lannin DR, Rimm DL. Quantitative assessment Ki-67 score for prediction of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer. *Lab Invest* (2014) **94**(1):98–106. doi:10.1038/ labinvest.2013.128

 Chen SF, Nieh S, Jao SW, Wu MZ, Liu CL, Chang YC, et al. The paracrine effect of cancer-associated fibroblast-induced interleukin-33 regulates the invasiveness of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *J Pathol* (2013) 231(2):180–9. doi:10.1002/path.4226

 Cochaud S, Giustiniani J, Thomas C, Laprevotte E, Garbar C, Savoye AM, et al. IL-17A is produced by breast cancer TILs and promotes chemoresistance and proliferation through ERK1/2. *Sci Rep* (2013) 3:3456. doi:10.1038/ srep03456

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. Received: 03 February 2014; accepted: 19 March 2014; published online: 07 April 2014. Citation: Liu J, Shen J-X, Hu J-L, Huang W-H and Zhang G-J (2014) Significance of interleukin-33 and its related cytokines in patients with breast cancers. Front. Immunol. 5:141. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00141

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Liu, Shen, Hu, Huang and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Embryonic stem cells promoting macrophage survival and function are crucial for teratoma development

Tianxiang Chen^{1,2†}, Xi Wang^{1,3†}, Lei Guo^{4,5†}, Mingmei Wu¹, Zhaoxia Duan¹, Jing Lv⁴, Wenjiao Tai⁴, Hemamalini Renganathan¹, Ruth Didier⁴, Jinhua Li⁶, Dongming Sun¹, Xiaoming Chen⁷, Xijing He⁵, Jianqing Fan⁸, Wise Young¹ and Yi Ren⁴*

¹ W. M. Keck Center for Collaborative Neuroscience, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, New Jersey, NJ, USA

² Department of Thoracic Surgery, First Affiliated Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China

- ⁵ Department of Orthopedic Surgery, The Second Hospital of Xian Jiaotong University, Xian, China
- ⁶ Department of Anatomy and Developmental Biology, Monash University, Clayton, VIC, Australia

⁷ Institute of Translational Medicine, First Affiliated Hospital, Wenzhou Medical University, Wenzhou, China

⁸ Statistics Laboratory, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ, USA

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Ralf Dressel, University Medical Center Göttingen, Germany Laura Eugenia Velazquez, Université Paris 13, France Armel Hervé Nwabo Kamdje, University of Ngaoundéré, Cameroon

*Correspondence:

Yi Ren, Department of Biomedical Sciences, College of Medicine, Florida State University, 1115 West Call Street, Tallahassee, FL 32306, USA e-mail: yi.ren@med.fsu.edu

[†]Tianxiang Chen, Xi Wang and Lei Guo have contributed equally to this work.

Stem cell therapies have had tremendous potential application for many diseases in recent years. However, the tumorigenic properties of stem cells restrict their potential clinical application; therefore, strategies for reducing the tumorigenic potential of stem cells must be established prior to transplantation. We have demonstrated that syngeneic transplantation of embryonic stem cells (ESCs) provokes an inflammatory response that involves the rapid recruitment of bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs). ESCs are able to prevent mature macrophages from macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) withdrawal-induced apoptosis, and thus prolong macrophage lifespan significantly by blocking various apoptotic pathways in an M-CSF-independent manner. ESCs express and secrete IL-34, which may be responsible for ESC-promoted macrophage survival. This antiapoptotic effect of ESCs involves activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)1/2 and PI3K/Akt pathways and thus, inhibition of ERK1/2 and PI3K/AKT activation decreases ESC-induced macrophage survival. Functionally, ESC-treated macrophages also showed a higher level of phagocytic activity. ESCs further serve to polarize BMDMs into M2-like macrophages that exhibit most tumor-associated macrophage phenotypic and functional features. ESC-educated macrophages produce high levels of arginase-1, Tie-2, and TNF- α , which participate in angiogenesis and contribute to teratoma progression. Our study suggests that induction of M2-like macrophage activation is an important mechanism for teratoma development. Strategies targeting macrophages to inhibit teratoma development would increase the safety of ESC-based therapies, inasmuch as the depletion of macrophages completely inhibits ESC-induced angiogenesis and teratoma development.

Keywords: angiogenesis, apoptosis, embryonic stem cells, macrophages, teratoma

INTRODUCTION

Stem cell-based therapies possess promising outcomes for many conditions, including spinal cord injury and other neurological degenerative disorders. However, this powerful therapeutic strategy is problematic because the pluripotency of stem cells is accompanied by a large risk of tumor formation after transplantation. Theoretically, three classes of tumors can be envisaged to arise from pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) including embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs); viz. teratomas, teratocarcinomas, and secondary tumors (1). Teratoma is constituted by cells from endodermal, mesodermal, and ectodermal lineages (2–4). Not only ESCs but also ESC-derived neuronal progenitors can induce teratomas in animal models (5). The tumorigenicity of stem cells is the major obstacle to the successful application of stem cell-based therapies (6). The safety issue of stem cells must be evaluated properly and the adverse consequences of

teratoma formation from these stem cells must be overcome before stem cell therapy can be used for clinical application.

Various strategies developed to reduce this risk of teratoma formation include prolonged pre-differentiation of ESCs *in vitro*, blocking signaling pathways that promote proliferation, induction of apoptosis of proliferative ESCs, sorting cells expressing precursor markers, and deleting undifferentiated ESCs immunologically, genetically, and chemically (7–18). However, it is difficult to obtain a yield of 100% pure differentiated stem cells for transplantation: the contamination of grafts with undifferentiated cells can give rise to teratoma formation (19–21). Furthermore, teratoma could potentially develop into highly malignant teratocarcinoma, which constitutes of persistent and undifferentiated stem cells (22). Therefore, efforts must be made to ensure safe transplantation of a PSC-based cell treatment. We used undifferentiated ESCs as a worst-case model for teratoma formation by stem cells

³ Institute of Neurosciences, The Fourth Military Medical University, Xian, China

⁴ Department of Biomedical Sciences, Florida State University College of Medicine, Tallahassee, FL, USA

and studied the role of macrophages and niche microenvironment **Table 1 | Antibodies included in the study**. of stem cell growth in the progression of teratomas.

The interplay of immune cells, especially macrophages and ESCs, causes alterations in the microenvironment and potential for tumorigenicity, which regulate the initiation, progression, angiogenesis, and metastasis of tumor. Thus, targeting this immune response can significantly inhibit the evolution of tumors (23, 24). Our previous data also demonstrated that interaction between transplanted ESCs and macrophages creates a microenvironment that facilitates the initiation and progression of teratomas (24). Infiltrated macrophages deliver macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) and other angiogenic factors to stimulate endothelial cell proliferation and pericyte differentiation (24). There is growing evidence to suggest that macrophages promote tumorigenesis and that the tumor microenvironment polarizes macrophages toward an M2 (pro-tumor) phenotype, with properties that differ from the M1 phenotype (25-28). However, the role of macrophages in ESC growth and teratoma development is not clear. In this study, we demonstrate that ESCs promote macrophage survival and M2-like activation are critically important for teratoma angiogenesis and development. Significantly, we show that depletion of macrophages inhibits teratoma growth tremendously. Therefore, ESC-educated macrophages are considered attractive targets for an anti-teratoma strategy after ESC transplantation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

REAGENTS AND ANTIBODIES

All the chemicals were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) and cell culture media were purchased from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA) unless specifically noted. The F4/80 hybridoma cell line was from American Tissue Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA, USA). Recombinant mouse IL-34 was from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA). The primary antibodies used in the study are listed in Table 1. All Alexa Fluor- or HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies were from Invitrogen.

MICE

C57BL/6 mice and transgenic CX3CR1GFP mice from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA) were maintained in the pathogenfree animal facility in Rutgers, the State University of New Jersey. All animal experimental protocols were authorized by the Animal Care and Facilities Committee of Rutgers, the State University of New Jersey and Florida State University.

PREPARATION OF MOUSE BONE MARROW-DERIVED MACROPHAGES

Mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) from C57BL/6 mice were prepared as described (24). Briefly, BM cells from mice 6-8 weeks of age were collected from femoral shafts by flushing the marrow cavity of femurs with Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM) supplemented with 1% fetal bovine serum (FBS). The cell suspensions were passed through an 18gage needle to disperse cell clumps. Cells were cultured for 7 days at a cell density of 1×10^6 /ml in 100 mm polystyrene tissue culture dishes (BD Biosciences) containing DMEM supplemented with 15% conditioned medium from L929 cells [a source of macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF)] and 10% FBS.

Protein name	Antibody ID	Manufacturer	
AKT	4685	Cell Signaling	
Arginase-1	sc-18354	Santa Cruz	
Caspase-9	9504	Cell Signaling	
CD31	553708	BD Biosciences	
CD45	103108	BioLegend	
Cytochrome c	4272	Cell Signaling	
ERK1/2	4695	Cell Signaling	
GAPDH	2118	Cell Signaling	
IBA-1	019-19741	Wako	
IL-34	PAB13397	Abnova	
M-CSF	3155	Cell Signaling	
PI3K p85	4257	Cell Signaling	
lκbα (Ser32)	2859	Cell Signaling	
Phospho-Akt	9271	Cell Signaling	
Phospho-ERK1/2	4370	Cell Signaling	
Phospho-PI3K p85	4228	Cell Signaling	
Tie-2	sc-9026	Santa Cruz	
YM1	01404	Stem Cell Technologies	

Cell morphology was analyzed by image capture (Carl Zeiss, Germany) and using LSM 510 software (Nikon, Japan). The long axis, defined as the longest length of the cells, was manually traced and measured.

ESC CULTURE AND PREPARATION OF ESC-CONDITIONED MEDIUM

The mouse green fluorescent protein (GFP)-expressing -ESC line (F12) derived from C57BL/6 mouse was a kind gift from Professor Melitta Schachner (Rutgers University). Freshly thawed ESCs (P0) were seeded into a 10-cm tissue culture dish in the presence of mitomycin-treated murine embryo fibroblast (MEF) feeder layer, in ESC media [10³ U/ml LIF (Millipore, CA, USA), 15% FBS, 1% non-essential amino acids solution (MEM), 200 mM L-glutamine, 1% nucleoside solution, 1% 100 nM Na-Pyruvate, and 0.2% 2-Mercaptoethanol in DMEM]. LIF was added every day into the culture medium. After 3-4 passages, ESCs were maintained only on a 0.1% gelatin-coated tissue culture dish without a feeder layer. ESC colonies were sub-cultured for every 2-3 days and their supernatant was collected as conditioned medium. ESC-conditioned medium (ESC-CM) was prepared by spinning the ESCs at 1,000 rpm for 5 min to pellet the cells, while the supernatant was again spun at 2,500 rpm for 10 min to remove any debris. Supernatant was then filtered through a 0.4-µ filter (Corning, USA). Supernatant collected from multiple passages was pooled together and stored at -80°C. Regular culture medium without ESCs was incubated in the same way and used as control medium (Con-M).

HISTOLOGY AND IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE

Mice were transcardially perfused with 0.9% saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde. A segment of tissue encompassing the transplantation site was removed and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 3 h and then cryoprotected in 20% sucrose overnight at 4°C. For histologic examination, the sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E). For immunofluorescence staining,

the sections were incubated with primary antibodies overnight at room temperature (RT) followed by secondary antibodies at RT for 2 h. Non-specific binding was excluded by using secondary antibody only. Samples were examined and microphotographs were taken using a Zeiss AxioCam microscope and an AxioPhot image collection system (Carl Zeiss, Germany), and Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy (Nikon, Japan). Tumor volume was determined as follows: short diameter² × long diameter × 1/2.

TRANSPLANTATION AND ESCs IN SPINAL CORD AND LIVER

Laminectomy was performed on WT and chimerical mice at the T9–T10 level to expose the spinal cord. GFP–ESCs (50,000 in 1 μ l DMEM) were injected slowly at this segment of each mouse's spinal cord using a microliter syringe (Hamilton Company, NV, USA) fixed in a stereotaxic frame. ESCs (100,000 in 5.0 μ l DMEM) were also injected slowly via microliter syringe into the left lobe of mouse liver. Mice were sacrificed and perfused at different time points after cell transplantation.

MTT ASSAY

To determine cell viability the colorimetric MTT metabolic activity assay was used. BMDMs were seeded in a 96-well plate at a density of 8,000 cell per well and cells were treated with Con-M and ESC-M for 48 h. MTT [3-(4,5-dimethylthiazolyl-2)-2,5diphenyltetrazolium bromide] was added to each well and plate was incubated for 4 h. Finally, the absorbance was measured at 540 nm by using a microplate reader. The relative MTT uptake (% cell viability) was expressed as a percentage relative to the control cells.

PHAGOCYTIC FUNCTION TEST

Mature BMDMs were seeded in a 96-well culture plate at a density of 1×10^4 cells/well and incubated with Con-M and ESC-M for 24 h. BMDMs were incubated with carboxylate-modified fluorescent red Latex beads and apoptotic cells for 1 h, respectively. Non-ingested particles were washed away and phagocytosis was imaged by a Zeiss Axiovert 200 M Microscope (Carl Zeiss) and software AxioVision 4.6 (Carl Zeiss).

ARGINASE ACTIVITY ASSAY

To prepare the cell lysate for assay of arginase activity, BMDMs were rinsed with PBS after each specific treatment and 1×10^5 BMDMs from each group were lysed in 100 µl of lysis buffer containing 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), proteinase inhibitor cocktail, and 0.4% Triton-X 100 for 10 min. Arginase activity of various cell lysate was measured by quantitative colorimetric assay of arginase activity (Bioassay Systems, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. One unit of arginase activity is defined as 1 µmol of L-arginine converted to ornithine and urea per minute at pH 9.5 and 37°C. Urea concentration, as the degree of arginase activity, was measured at 520 nm at RT by spectrometer.

ANNEXIN V AND PROPIDIUM IODIDE STAINING

Bone marrow-derived macrophages were rinsed with PBS after each specific treatment and the apoptosis of BMDMs was measured by PE Annexin V Apoptosis Detection Kit I (BD Biosciences, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Binding of Annexin V and PI was measured by a flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, CA, USA) and analyzed using FlowJo software (FlowJo, NJ, USA).

RNA ISOLATION AND QUANTITATIVE REAL-TIME-PCR

Bone marrow-derived macrophages were incubated with Con-M and ESC-M for 6 and 12 h, respectively. Total RNA was isolated by TRIZOL and reverse-transcribed into cDNA by using oligo-dT primers and SuperScript II Reverse Transcriptase. The TNF- α primer pair (5'-ATGCTGGGACAGTGACCTGG-3' and 5'-CCTTGATGGTGGTGCATGAG-3') was specifically designed for mRNA. The ABI7900HT detection system (Applied Biosystems, UK) was used for quantitative real-time (qRT)-PCR. SYBR Green dye (Applied Biosystems) was used to monitor the replication of PCR products. Quantification of products were obtained by standard curve and then normalized to GAPDH amount. The gene expression level was represented by the ratio of gene TNF- α /GAPDH.

WESTERN BLOT

Western blot assay was performed following the standard procedure. Briefly, after washing with ice-cold PBS, cells were lysed with RIPA buffer containing phosphatase inhibitor and proteinase inhibitor cocktail. Total cellular proteins were loaded onto SDSpolyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and then transferred to PVDF membranes (GE Healthcare, UK). After blocking in 5% milk or BSA (according to antibody manufacturer's instructions) in Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween 20 (TBST) for 1 h at RT, membranes were incubated with appropriate primary antibody solution overnight at 4°C. Membranes were placed in appropriate secondary antibody for 1 h after rinsing in TBST. Subsequently, proteins were visualized by ECL plus western blot detection system (GE Healthcare, UK).

EX VIVO MOUSE AORTIC RING ASSAY

Mouse aortic ring assay was carried out as described (29) using C57BL/6 mice (8–12 weeks). Briefly, thoracic aortic segments were cut into 1-mm rings and carefully placed with the lumen of the rings opened up on Matrigel (BD Biosciences) with Con-M or ESC-M and then overlaid with an additional Matrigel. Aortic rings were examined daily and digital images were taken at day 6 for quantitative analysis of the area of vessel outgrowth by the SPOT Advanced program (Media Cybernetics, Sterling Heights, MI, USA). Microvessel outgrowth was calculated by circling the extent of microvessel outgrowth at 6 days and subtracting the area of the aortic ring (29).

DEPLETION OF MACROPHAGES IN VIVO

Liposomes containing either dichloromethylene diphosphonate (clodronate, a gift from Roche Diagnostics, Germany) or PBS were prepared as described (30). Mice were injected with clodronate liposomes (CL-Lip) or PBS liposomes (PBS-Lip) at 100 mg/kg body weight by intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection twice a week for up to 4 weeks.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Results showed in figures were presented as mean \pm SEM with *n* representing the frequency of experiments. Student's unpaired

t-test was used to evaluate statistical significance with a p value <0.05 considered significant.

RESULTS

TERATOMA DEVELOPMENT AFTER ESC INJECTION INTO SPINAL CORD Undifferentiated enhanced gene fluorescent protein (EGFP)-ESCs were stereotaxically injected into the spinal cord of mice exposed by a T9-T10 laminectomy. During the first week after ESC injection, hindlimb function, as reflected by the Basso Mouse Scale (BMS), was normal. However, the BMS score decreased rapidly at 10 days after ESC injection and all mice were paralyzed at day 17 after cell transplantation (Figure 1A) because of rapid tumor growth (Figure 1B). The mice survived for only 3 weeks after ESC transplantation (data not shown). Histological examination revealed that these tumors were teratomas since they consisted of structures derived from all three embryonic germ lineages (Figure 1C). While most teratomas are benign, malignant teratomas do occur. Prognosis is inversely related to stage and histological grade, which is based on the amount of neurepithelium and immature neural tubes present according to the World Health Organization (WHO) classification (31). Teratomas of grade 0-1 are classified as benign or low grade, while grade 3 is malignant. We found that the median teratoma grade in mice was 3.0 (Figure 1D), indicating that these teratomas in mice were teratocarcinomas.

ESCs STIMULATE MACROPHAGE INFILTRATION

We observed the early infiltration of a large population of Mac-2⁺/IBA-1⁺ macrophages within the teratomas (**Figure 1E**). Macrophages can be detected as early as 1 day after ESC injection, with peak macrophage infiltration occurring after 1 week (**Figures 1E,F**). **Figure 1F** shows the mean density of macrophages (IBA-1⁺) recruited at the ESC implantation site at different time points after ESC injection. Interestingly, there was a significant reduction in macrophage distribution after 2 weeks. The numbers of macrophages at 2 and 3 weeks were significantly less than those at any earlier time points and the difference between 2 and 3 weeks was no longer significant (**Figure 1F**). This suggests that macrophages may play an important role in teratoma initiation. By contrast, injection of PBS alone in the spinal cord did not induce macrophage infiltration (data not shown).

TERATOMA DEVELOPMENT IN THE TISSUE OUTSIDE OF SPINAL CORD

To better exclude the effect of neural and glial cells in spinal cord on teratoma growth and differentiation, an examination of teratomas induced by ESC transplantation in non-neural sites could support the role of signals produced by macrophages vs. other tissue types. ESCs were injected into liver and representative teratoma at week 4 is shown in **Figure 1G**. A large teratoma had formed in the liver and an enormous number of macrophages was detected (**Figure 1G**).

ESC-SECRETED FACTORS ACT AS MACROPHAGE SURVIVAL FACTORS

The ESC-induced macrophage distribution could result from either increased recruitment of these cells into the teratoma or cell survival. We first examined the function of ESCs in macrophage growth. It has been well-documented that M-CSF is a hematopoietic growth factor necessary for monocyte survival, proliferation, and differentiation (32, 33). L929 conditioned medium is the source for M-CSF. Mouse ESC-CM (without direct cell-cell contact) and control medium (Con-M, medium to culture ESCs) were used in the study. Day 7 BMDMs were cultured with DMEM alone, Con-M and ESC-M and DMEM with M-CSF for 48 h and cell viability was measured by monitoring metabolic activity of the cells using MTT assay. Incubation of BMDMs in the presence of M-CSF and ESC-M caused a significant increase in cell viability compared to medium without M-CSF (DMEM alone) and Con-M treatment (**Figure 2A**). These data suggest that ESC-M can partially prevent the loss of macrophage viability after M-CSF withdrawal, although to a lesser extent than did M-CSF. Furthermore, heat-inactivated ESC-M by boiling for 10 min failed to increase macrophage viability (data not shown).

ESCs PROTECT MACROPHAGES FROM M-CSF WITHDRAWAL-INDUCED APOPTOSIS *IN VITRO*

To further evaluate whether the survival effect of ESCs was due to the inhibition of apoptosis, apoptosis of macrophages was assessed by surface Annexin V staining using FACS and caspase-9 activation. When mature BMDMs were cultured with M-CSF, <10% of cells were Annexin V-positive (Figures 2B,C). However, when cells were subjected to medium without M-CSF or Con-M, more than 25% of the cells underwent apoptosis (Figures 2B,C). Propidium iodide (PI) staining revealed that M-CSF withdrawal or Con-M treatment for 24 h did not increase PI-positive macrophages significantly compared to M-CSF or ESC-M treatment (Figure 2C). Furthermore, Con-M treatment induced activation of caspase-9, assessed by the appearance of the cleaved caspase-9 (Figure 2D). Treatment of cells with ESC-M significantly protected M-CSF withdrawal-induced caspase-9 activation and apoptosis (Figures 2B-D). These results suggest that the anti-apoptotic effect of ESCs on macrophages resulted in enhanced cell survival. In order to identify whether ESC-mediated cell survival is induced directly by mediators in ESC-M or indirectly by stimulating the release of secondary mediators acting in an autocrine manner, we detected M-CSF and IL-34, the two most well-documented cytokines that regulate macrophage survival and differentiation (34). ESCs did not produce M-CSF (data not shown) but expressed a high level of IL-34 (Figure 2E) and secreted into the ESC-M ($16.034 \pm 4.56 \text{ ng/ml}, n=3$). BMDM treated with ESCs did not further increase M-CSF and IL-34 expression (data not shown), suggesting that ESC-induced BMDM survival is M-CSF-independent and that IL-34 from ESCs may promote macrophage survival.

ACTIVATION OF PI3K/Akt AND ERK IS NECESSARY FOR ESC-INDUCED MACROPHAGE SURVIVAL

The PI3K pathway is one of the most potent intracellular mechanisms for promoting cell survival, and PI3K/Akt and extracellular regulated kinase1/2 (ERK1/2) regulate macrophage survival in response to M-CSF and IL-34 (35–37). We therefore examined whether activation of PI3K and ERK1/2 was required for ESCmediated macrophage survival. As shown in **Figures 3A,B**, ESC-M stimulated phosphorylation of p85 regulatory subunit of PI3K and ERK1/2 as early as 3 min, and a persistent phosphorylation level was maintained up to 30 min. ESCs also induced activation of



ESC injection showing structures derived from three embryonic germ lineages. (D) Median of teratoma grade in mice (n = 6). (E) Representative

mobility. (B) Tumor formation in spinal cord at 3 weeks after GFP-ESC

injection. (C) Histological staining of spinal cord sections at 2 weeks after



BMDMs were incubated with DMEM alone in absence of M-CSF, Con-M, ESC-M, and DMEM in the presence of M-CSF for 48 h. The metabolic activity of the cells was analyzed by the MTT assay and is presented relative to the activity of cells treated with DMEM alone (n = 3). (**B,C**) Flow cytometric analysis of annexin V/propidium iodide (PI) staining of BMDMs treated with

ESC-IVI, CON-IVI, DIVIEIVI With M-CSF, and DIVIEIVI alone for 24 h, respectively (n = 3). (D) Effect of ESCs on caspase-9 activation. BMDMs were treated with Con-M and ESC-M for 12 and 24 h, respectively and whole cell lysates were analyzed by Western blotting for caspase-9 activation. (E) IL-34 in BMDMs and ESCs was detected by Western blot analysis. *p < 0.05, two-sided Wilcoxon test. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM.

the major downstream kinase Akt of PI3K by phosphorylating residue Ser473 (**Figure 3C**). It is interesting to note that ESC-M also induced NF- κ B activation by enhancing I κ B α phosphorylation (**Figure 3C**). We further determined whether LY-294002 and PD98059, specific inhibitors of PI3K and ERK1/2, can reverse the protective role of ESC-M on macrophage survival. Both LY-294002 and PD98059 significantly reduced ESC-mediated macrophage survival (**Figure 3D**), suggesting that PI3K and ERK1/2 activation are required for ESC-mediated macrophage survival. Moreover,

the activation of PI3K and ERK1/2 was inhibited by LY-294002 and PD98059, respectively, which parallels their effect on macrophage survival (**Figure 3E**).

We showed that ESCs produce IL-34 (**Figure 2E**) and the concentration of IL-34 in ESC-M was 16.034 ± 4.56 ng/ml. We therefore examined the ability of mouse recombinant IL-34 to promote macrophage survival on BMDMs. IL-34 simulated macrophage survival in a dose-dependent manner (**Figure 3F**). IL-34 at low as 10 ng/ml increased macrophage survival. Furthermore, IL-34



FIGURE 3 | Effect of ESCs on activation of PI3K/Akt, ERK1/2, and NF-κB pathways. Phosphorylation of p85 (**A**), p-ERK1/2 (**B**), and pAkt and NF-κB (**C**) in BMDMs treated with Con-M and ESC-M for the indicated time. (**D**) Effect of inactivation of PI3K and ERK1/2 in ESC-induced cell survival. BMDMs were pretreated with PI3K inhibitor LY-294002 (20 μM) and ERK inhibitor PD98059 (10 μM) for 30 min and then treated with Con-M and ESC-M for 48 h. The metabolic activity of the cells was analyzed by the MTT assay and is presented relative to the activity of cells treated with Con-M (n=3, *p < 0.05, two-sided Wilcoxon test. Data are represented as mean ± SEM). (**E**) BMDMs were pretreated with PI3K inhibitor LY-294002 (20 μ M) and ERK inhibitor PD98059 (10 μ M) for 30 min and then treated with Con-M and ESC-M for 30 min. Phosphorylation of p85 and p-ERK1/2 was detected by Western Blot assay. **(F)** Effect of IL-34 on macrophage survival. BMDMs were incubated with mouse recombinant IL-34 at the indicated concentration for 48 h. The metabolic activity of the cells was analyzed by the MTT assay and is presented relative to the activity of cells treated with Con-M (n = 3, *p < 0.05; **p < 0.001, ANOVA, data are represented as mean ± SEM). **(G)** Phosphorylation of p85 and p-ERK1/2 in BMDMs treated with IL-34 (50 ng/ml) for the indicated time. stimulated phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and PI3K in macrophages to a similar degree, with similar kinetics, compared to ESC-M treatment (**Figure 3G**).

ESCs INDUCES TYPICAL SHAPE CHANGE

We next examined how ESCs modulate macrophage function. We exposed mature BMDMs to interferon γ (IFN- γ), IL-4, ESC-M, Con-M, and IL-34 for 72 h, respectively. BMDMs present a unique morphology, depending on the stimulation used. Cells treated with IL-4, which stimulates M2 activation, adopted a spindle-shape

morphology (**Figure 4A**). M1 macrophages induced by IFN- γ had a relatively round shape with large filopodia. Con-M treatment exhibited the typical bipolar, spindle-shaped morphology of BMDMs. In contrast, ESC-M led to a majority of elongated fibroblast-like-shaped cells and some of the macrophages showed a long, single process or bipolar processes (**Figure 4A**). IL-34 treated cells demonstrated a wider range of cell length whereas the ESC-M treated cells displayed a relatively shorter range because the cells were all approximately the same length (**Figure 4A**). Quantitative analysis showed that ESC-M-treated macrophages exhibited a



significantly higher degree of elongation compared either to Con-M treated or untreated macrophages (**Figure 4B**). The average length of cells treated with IL-34 was longer than that of Con-M treated cells but shorter than that of ESC-M, suggesting that other factors produced by ESC-M may have contributed to cell elongation. To further demonstrate that the ESC-induced phenotypic characteristic was not restricted to BMDMs, we isolated primary microglial cells from brain. ESC-M also resulted in remarkable elongation in microglial cells (**Figure 4C**).

ESCs MAINTAIN MACROPHAGE PHENOTYPE AND FUNCTION

In order to know whether ESC treatment would maintain macrophage phenotype and function, we analyzed the expression of macrophage markers such as F4/80 and Mac-2 on cells treated with ESC-M. BMDMs were treated with Con-M and ESC-M for 3 days and expression of macrophage markers was confirmed by flow cytometry and Western Blot analysis, respectively. Both Con-M and ESC-M treatment maintained macrophages expressing a high level of F4/80 (**Figure 5A**). Mac-2 expression was enhanced by ESC-M treatment and the expression level was higher compared with Con-M treatment (**Figure 5B**). To further study, whether ESC-M-treated macrophages were biologically functional, we incubated BMDMs with apoptotic neutrophils (PMNs) and latex beads for 30 min. The results showed that ESC-M-treated BMDMs displayed active functional phagocytosis of apoptotic cells and latex beads (**Figure 5C,D**).

ESCs POLARIZE MACROPHAGES INTO UNIQUE M2-LIKE CELLS

In addition to the role of ESCs promoting macrophage infiltration and survival, ESCs are able to activate BMDMs and stew them toward the M2 phenotype (Arginase-1^{high}YM1^{high}) via activation of STAT3 and STAT6 pathways (24). A recent study showed that macrophage elongation enhanced the effect of M2-inducing cytokines and inhibited the effect of M1inducing cytokines, suggesting that cell shape has an important role in modulating macrophage activation (38). We demonstrated in the present study that the phenotypic characterizations of ESC-treated macrophages were distinct from classic M2 macrophages induced by IL-4 (Figure 4A). We thus further evaluated whether ESC-treated macrophages are different from "alternatively activated" M2 macrophages. Treatment with ESC-M significantly enhanced arginase-1 (Arg-1) activity in BMDMs in a time-dependent manner, compared to treatment with Con-M using a colorimetric assay that detects production of urea (Figure 5E). The distributions of angiopoietin (Ang) receptor (Tie)-2⁺ (Tie-2) cells and F4/80⁺/arginase-1⁺ macrophages were detected in the teratoma in vivo (Figure 5F). It has been shown that M2 express a very low level of TNF- α (39, 40). However, we showed that macrophages expressed only minimal TNF- α mRNA in the absence of ESC-M (Figure 5G). Upon coculture with ESC-M, TNF- α expression increased significantly in macrophages (Figure 5G). Furthermore, the amount of TNF- α secreted into the culture medium was significantly increased in BMDMs treated with ESC-M compared to the amount present in supernatants of Con-M-treated macrophages (Figure 5H). In summary, ESC-macrophages exhibited an Arg-1^{high}Tie- $2^{high}TNF-\alpha^{high}$ phenotype, which differs from conventional M2 phenotypes.

ESCs EXERTS ANGIOGENIC ACTIVITY EX VIVO AND IN VIVO

It is widely accepted that tumor growth requires angiogenesis. Therefore, fast teratoma growth is supposedly induced by increased angiogenesis. ESCs were injected into the spinal cord and images were taken at 3 weeks after cell transplantation. Spinal cords with teratoma appeared reddish or brownish, suggesting an increased permeability (**Figure 6A**). Immunohistochemical analysis of teratoma tissue with anti-CD31 antibody showed a massively branched intratumoral vascular network at 3 weeks after cell injection (**Figure 6A**). This high density of "plexus-like" vascularity in teratoma may be important for teratoma growth. By contrast, injection of PBS alone in the spinal cord did not produce neovascularization (data not shown).

To better understand the contribution of macrophages to vascular development during teratoma progression, we performed a ring sprouting ex vivo assay. A 3D-culture of aortic rings in Matrigel was used to evaluate the outgrowth of linear endothelial structures from the preexisting vessel (41). The aorta ring assay is thought to more closely mimic multiple stages of in vivo angiogenesis, including endothelial cell proliferation, migration, and tube formation. Mouse thoracic aorta was sectioned into 1mm rings, and incubated in growth factor-reduced matrigel with Con-M or ESC-M for 6 days. Sprouting from the rings was photographed and outgrowth area was quantitated. ESC-M treatment significantly increased the areas of sprouting $(1.81 \pm 0.03 \text{ mm}^2)$ at 6 days, whereas Con-M-treated ring segments showed little sprouting (Figures 6B,C). Qualitatively, the arborization of endothelial networks emanating from aortic rings was also more complex in the rings treated with ESC-M. Together, these data demonstrated an important role for ESC-mediated angiogenesis in aortic rings ex vivo.

We showed that ESC-educated macrophages (SEM) exhibited an Arg-1^{high}Tie-2^{high}TNF- α^{high} phenotype (**Figures 5E–H**). In order to know whether TNF- α is responsible for ESCenhanced angiogenesis, aortic rings were cultured with TNF- α at 10 ng/ml for 6 days. A significant increase in angiogenic spouting was observed in aortic rings in response to TNF- α treatment (**Figures 6B,C**). Therefore, we consider that TNF- α contributed, at least partially, to ESC-induced angiogenesis.

It has been shown that macrophages are found around sprouting neovessels and are particularly abundant at the root of the vascular outgrowth (42). Pharmacologic ablation of macrophages from aortic explants blocked formation of neovessels in vitro and reduced aortic ring-induced angiogenesis in vivo (42). We further determined how crucial macrophages are to the enhanced angiogenic ability of ESCs. We applied a well-documented approach to deleted macrophages by treating mice with liposome-encapsulated clodronate (Cl-Lip) or control liposomes (PBS-Lip) (43). We used CX3CR1 GFP/- mice, in which one (CX3CR1GFP/+) copy of the CX3CR1 gene was interrupted by EGFP (44). CX3CR1 is highly expressed by human and mouse macrophages (45). Intraperitoneal injection of mice with Cl-Lip but not control liposomes (PBS-Lip) resulted in complete depletion of macrophages in the aortic ring tissue (Figure 6D). Depletion of macrophages by Cl-Lip led to a markedly reduced angiogenic response to ESC-M (Figure 6E). However, we cannot rule out the direct effect of ESC-M on aortic ring sprouting, because Cl-Lip treatment did not completely inhibit the vascularization (Figure 6E).



incubated with Con-M or ESC-M for 72 h and F4/80 (macrophage marker), CD45 (hematopoietic marker), and Mac-2 (macrophage marker) were assessed by flow cytometry (**A**) and Western Blot (**B**), respectively. (**C**) BMDMs were pretreated with Con-M and ESC-M for 48 h and then incubated with apoptotic neutrophils for 30 min. The number of macrophages ingesting apoptotic cells was counted (n = 4, data are represented as mean \pm SEM). (**D**) BMDMs pretreated with Con-M and ESC-M ingestion of latex beads (red, original magnification, ×400). (**E**) BMDMs were treated with Con-M and ESC-M for 1 and 2 days and arginase-1 activity was detected by

TARGETING MACROPHAGES INHIBITS ESC-INDUCED ANGIOGENESIS AND TERATOMA DEVELOPMENT

A large amount of macrophage infiltration and phenotype of M2like macrophages in the teratoma suggested that macrophages may create a microenvironment for teratoma development. We depleted macrophage populations from mice to verify the contribution of macrophages to teratoma growth. We colorine the assay (*n*=3, **p* < 0.05, two-sided Wilcoxon test. Data are represented as mean ± SEM). **(F)** Representative confocal images of immunostaining of sections from mice at 2 weeks after ESC injection showing positive staining for Tie-2 (red, left) and F4/80 (red, right) Arginase-1 (purple), respectively. **(G)** TNF α mRNA in BMDMs treated with Con-M and ESC-M for 6 and 12 h was detected by real time RT-PCR (*n*=4, **p* < 0.05, two-sided Wilcoxon test. Data are represented as mean ± SEM). **(H)** TNF α in the supernatants of BMDMs treated with Con-M and ESC-M for 48 h was detected by ELISA (*n*=3, **p* < 0.05, two-sided Wilcoxon test. Data are represented as mean ± SEM).

demonstrated that i.p. injection of Cl-Lip twice a week after ESC transplantation into liver resulted in near-complete depletion of macrophages in liver and teratoma when assayed at 4 weeks (Figures 7A,B). We also quantified the blood vessel density by counting the percentage of the area occupied by cross-section of all blood vessels in an image. We observed that blood vessel density in teratoma from mice treated with



Cl-Lip was significantly lower than that of control treatment (**Figure 7C**). Blood vessels were significantly smaller in Cl-Liptreated teratoma compared to control treatment (**Figure 7C**). Depletion of macrophages did not affect the pluripotency of ESCs, as all three germ layers can be observed in macrophage-deleted teratoma (**Figure 7D**). Teratomas from mice treated with PBS-Lip appeared much darker and were filled with blood, indicating that functional vasculature had formed via angiogenesis (**Figure 7E**). In contrast, tumor tissue from mice treated with Cl-Lip was transparent (**Figure 7E**). Subsequently, ablation of macrophages significantly inhibited teratoma growth, with a mean tumor size of $83.13 \pm 60.81 \text{ mm}^3$ in Cl-Lip group vs. $2502.75 \pm 1410.02 \text{ mm}^3$ in mice treated with PBS-Lip (n = 5, p < 0.05, **Figure 7F**).



teratoma growth. (A) CI-Lip was administrated i.p. at the day for ESC injection and twice a week for 4 weeks. PBS-Lip was used as control. Liver tissues were stained with F4/80. Note that CI-Lip treatment completely depleted F4/80⁺ macrophages in liver harvested from the CI-Lip-treated group (left) and control group (treated with PBS-Lip) at 4 weeks after ESC transplantation. Quantification of F4/80⁺

macrophages (**B**), density of blood vessels stained for CD31 [(**C**), left], size of blood vessels [(**C**), right], HE staining (**D**), and representative images of teratomas (**E**) in teratomas from CI-Lip- or PBS-Lip-treated mice at 4 weeks after ESC transplantation. (**F**) Average teratoma size at 4 weeks after ESC transplantation in the CI-Lip and PBS-Lip treated groups. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.001, n = 5, two-sided Wilcoxon test. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we demonstrated for the first time that BMDMs can be guided by ESCs to migrate to the site of ESC implantation while soluble factor(s) produced by ESCs polarize macrophages

into a novel Arg-1^{high}Tie-2^{high}TNF- α^{high} phenotype. Furthermore, ESCs can prevent BMDM apoptosis induced by M-CSFwithdrawal through PI3K/Akt and ERK1/2 activation. We demonstrated that these ESC-educated macrophages (SEM) exhibit an

Beside mediation of macrophage survival, ESCs are able to

regulate macrophage activation. It is well-documented that M1

elongated morphology and produce high level of TNF- α , which participates in angiogenesis and contributes to teratoma progression. Depletion of macrophages completely inhibits ESC-induced angiogenesis and teratoma development. These studies provide a novel rationale for the control of teratoma development by targeting macrophage growth or activation.

Macrophage colony-stimulating factor is known to regulate monocyte/macrophage survival (32, 33). PI3K/Akt and ERK or MARK are the major signaling pathways triggered by M-CSF stimulation (35, 46, 47). We showed that ESCs promote the survival of cultured BMDMs after M-CSF withdrawal, and that activation of both PI3K/Akt and ERK1/2 MAP kinase are required for the survival effect of ESCs, which is similar to that activated by M-CSF. ESC-maintained macrophage survival and function was independent of M-CSF, because M-CSF was detectable neither in ESC-M nor in ESC-M-treated macrophages (24). In the present study, we studied whether other factors are involved as autocrine or paracrine effectors to induce macrophage survival. For example, GM-CSF and IL-4 are known to regulate monocyte/macrophage survival (48). Our results ruled out the requirement for GM-CSF and IL-4, as these cytokines were undetectable in ESC-M (24). Recent studies reported that IL-34 is an alternative ligand for M-CSF receptor (CSF-1R) (34, 49). IL-34 binds specifically to human and mouse myeloid cells, induces ERK1/2 activation, and supports macrophage proliferation and differentiation (34). We showed that IL-34 is highly expressed by ESCs. IL-34 promotes macrophage survival and activates ERK and PI3K pathways. Although IL-34 also results in cell elongation, its effect is not as strong as that of ESC-M. It is possible that other soluble factors produced by ESCs play a role in cell shape change. It has been reported recently that IL-34-activated macrophages exhibit an IL-10^{high} IL-12^{low} M2 profile in response to LPS stimulation (50). Therefore, it is likely that IL-34 produced by ESCs play a pivotal role in ESCinduced macrophage survival and M2 polarization. More studies are needed to investigate whether IL-34 secretion and M2-like polarization of macrophages are general features of ESCs.

It is interesting to note that a large number of macrophages exist in the early stage of teratoma development and the number of macrophages rapidly declines at 2 weeks after ESC injection. We reasoned that ESCs have ability to regulate macrophage survival and activation. The inhibition of macrophage apoptosis by ESCs at an early stage may favor teratoma initiation and development. However, the effect of ESCs on macrophage may be reduced once ESCs are differentiated into its three germ laver structures. It will be important to determine whether fully differentiated tissues lose the ability to maintain macrophage function or have the capacity to inhibit macrophage survival. Beside IL-34, the factors produced by ESCs that promote macrophage growth and program M2-like phenotype remain unknown. It is possible that the function/phenotypes of macrophages are regulated by coordinated action of different classes of molecules secreted by ESCs. However, more detailed studies will be necessary to determine whether additional molecules either alone or in combination contribute to macrophage survival. The identification of these factors appears crucial in the development of strategies to prevent and/or reverse macrophage phenotype and thereby increase the safety of stem cell applications in clinical settings.

macrophages express high levels of nitric oxide (NO), reactive oxygen species (ROS), and TNF- α , contributing to tissue inflammation and damage. In contrast, M2 macrophages produce antiinflammatory factors and have a reduced capacity to produce pro-inflammatory molecules, thereby contributing to wound healing and tissue remodeling, as well as tumor progression (51-53). Tumor microenvironment educates macrophages to perform supportive roles that initiate and promote tumor progression (28). Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) have many properties of M2 phenotype such as impaired expression of IL-12 and TNF- α , and up-regulated levels of M2 markers including Arg-1 and YM1 (54-58). However, TAMs from several tumor models also exhibit typical M1 cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-1 β (59). We previously showed that ESC-treated macrophages express higher levels of M2 markers such as PPAR-y, Arg-1, YM1, as well as M2 cytokines including VEGF, MMP9, and MCP-1 (24), suggesting that ESCs induced the M2-like phenotype. In the present study, we demonstrated that ESCs not only increased Arg-1 and Tie-2⁺ expression but also triggered TNF- α expression, implying that ESC-educated macrophages are different from classic M2 macrophages and resemble more TAMs. ESCs-macrophages not only exhibited M2 characteristics (expression of M2 markers and STAT3/6 activation) but also acquired properties of M1 macrophages (activation of NF-kB) and TAMs (high levels of Tie-2 and TNF- α), exhibiting enhanced neovasculation in an *in vitro* and ex vivo angiogenesis assay. Another point of interest is that ESCs also activate the NF-κB pathway. Defective NF-κB activation within macrophages leads to the development of an M2 activation. Although ESCs are not oncogenically transformed, they have potent ability to regulate macrophage function and induce the unique Arg-1^{high}Tie-2^{high}TNF-α^{high} phenotype. Tie-2-expressing monocytes/macrophages (TEM) share some characteristics with M2 macrophages and are highly pro-angiogenic cells critical for tumor vascularization (59, 60). Tie-2 expression can be upregulated by TNF- α (61). Specific depletion of TEM or conditional Tie2 knockdown inhibits tumor angiogenesis. (62-64). Within the ESC implantation site, the presence of Tie-2⁺ macrophages and TNF-α secreted by ESC-macrophages stimulates angiogenesis and supports teratoma growth. Several angiogenic molecules may be linked to ESC-induced angiogenesis. We previously showed that ESCs increased macrophage MIF, MMP9, VEGF, and MCP-1. MIF secretion is tightly regulated by TNF- α (65, 66) and MIF can also increase TNF- α expression (67, 68). Therefore, TNF- α may be the key factor in ESC-induced angiogenesis. Anti-TNF- α agents such as infliximab (IFX), etanercept (ETA), adalimumab (ADA), golimumab (GLM), and certolizumab pegol (CZP) have been widely used for the treatment of a variety of chronic inflammatory diseases. Thus targeting TNF- α by administration of TNF- α antagonists may be a promising option to suppress teratoma angiogenesis. However, side effects such as increasing frequency of infection and promoting tumor growth by induction of T cell apoptosis make anti-TNF-a treatment a difficult balance. Administration of CZP can minimize this side effect since it does not induce T cell apoptosis but remains an efficacious treatment for inflammatory diseases because of the lack of an Fc region (69).

Embryonic stem cells can attract macrophages, induce M2 activation, and promote macrophage survival, and consequently, inhibition of any of these three functions could potentially offer a therapeutic solution to prevent teratoma development. A few strategies are developed to target macrophages: inhibiting macrophage migration, suppressing macrophage survival, promoting M1 activation, and blocking M2 polarization (70). Our data suggested that IL-34 maybe important to maintain macrophage survival via activation of PI3K and ERK1/2. Therefore, targeting IL-34 and the PI3K/ERK pathways could decrease macrophage number effectively and alter the microenvironment involved in teratoma angiogenesis and development. Because IL-34 was recently discovered (34), no antagonists are currently available to inhibit IL-34 activity. Thus, in turn, the antagonists of IL-34 receptor (CSF-1R) can be applied to block IL-34 binding to its receptor. Anti-CSF-1R treatment to inhibit tumor growth in vitro and in vivo has been well-documented (71, 72). Similar strategies can be applied to target macrophages in teratoma models. In addition, combined targeting of the ERK1/2 and PI3K pathways in teratoma may be a potential therapeutic strategy. Numerous small molecule inhibitors of specific PI3K and ERK1/2 pathways have been developed to exhibit promising anti-tumor activity in vitro and in vivo (73). For example, therapy with a dual PI3K (ZSTK474) and MEK inhibitor (CI-1040) combination is more effective than either inhibitor alone in cancer treatment (74). Combination of the PI3K inhibitor GDC-094 and the MEK inhibitor PD 0325901 induced marked tumor growth inhibition in vivo (75). Further study is required to demonstrate whether the dual PI3K and ERK inhibition have anti-teratoma activity in vivo, either through direct inhibition of macrophage survival, or ESC growth because PI3K is implicated in regulation of ESC proliferation (76).

Specifically, targeting M2 or TAM-like cells remains challenging. It has been shown that pharmacological skewing of TAM polarization from an M2 macrophage phenotype to a full M1 macrophage phenotype sustains anti-tumor immunity (57). It is possible to re-polarize TAMs. The recent report showed that M2pep, a peptide, can preferentially binds to M2 macrophages with low affinity for other leukocytes. Systemical administration of an M2pep fusion peptide with a proapoptotic peptide specifically reduced M2-like macrophages (77). A combination of CpG oligodeoxynucleotides and an IL-10 receptor-specific antibody switched TAMs from an M2 to an M1 type and triggered an innate response that was able to cure the majority of mice bearing large tumors (78).

One therapeutic option is to target STAT3. Numerous studies demonstrated that constitutive activation of STAT3 promotes initiation and development of tumors by inducing cell proliferation, angiogenesis, and metastasis in a wide variety of tumors (79). Furthermore, STAT3 is a critical mediator of LIF-induced signaling pathways that regulate ES cell self-renewal and proliferation (80). STAT3 also contributes to M2 macrophage activation. Therefore, STAT3 could be an attractive target to control teratoma development by direct effects on ESC growth and macrophage M2like activation. Numerous strategies to suppress STAT3 activation have been developed such as anti-sense oligonucleotide targeting STAT3, synthetic drugs, small molecules, and gene therapy techniques (79). In conclusion, our present findings show an important link between ESC-induced macrophage infiltration, growth and activation, initiation of angiogenesis, and teratoma development. ESCs induce BMDM accumulation and stew novel pro-angiogenic phenotype and thus accelerate teratoma development. A better understanding of the regulation and function of macrophages in the tumorigenicity of ESCs may yield useful therapies for the safe transplantation of ESCs. Targeting of the host microenvironment of the transplantation site such as modulating macrophage phenotype and function rather than ESCs directly could be a more efficient approach for suppressing angiogenesis and teratoma progression without affecting the pluripotency of ESCs.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author(s) have made the following declarations about their contributions: conceived and designed the experiments: Yi Ren. Performed the experiments: Tianxiang Chen, Xi Wang, Lei Guo, Mingmei Wu, Zhaoxia Duan, Jing Lv, Wenjiao Tai, Hemamalini Renganathan, and Ruth Didier. Analyzed the data: Tianxiang Chen, Xi Wang, Jianqing Fan, and Yi Ren. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: Jinhua Li, Xiaoming Chen, Dongming Sun, Xijing He, Jianqing Fan, and Wise Young. Wrote the first draft of the paper: Yi Ren. Contributed to the writing of the paper: Yi Ren.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge Dr. M. Schachner for providing mouse EGFP–ESCs and help from Dr. N. Goldsmith. The authors also thank Dr. B. Watson for proofreading the manuscript. Financial disclosure: this work was supported by the National Science Foundation (DMS-0714589 to Yi Ren), National Institutes of Health (R01GM100474-01 to Jianqing Fan and Yi Ren), a Joyce and Les Goodman scholarship (to Yi Ren), National Natural Science Foundation of China (81301996 to Tianxiang Chen; 81171156 to Xi Wang), and Zhejiang Provincial Natural Science Foundation of China (LQ13H160012 to Tianxiang Chen). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Sharpe ME, Morton D, Rossi A. Nonclinical safety strategies for stem cell therapies. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (2012) 262(3):223–31. doi:10.1016/j.taap. 2012.05.007
- Nussbaum J, Minami E, Laflamme MA, Virag JA, Ware CB, Masino A, et al. Transplantation of undifferentiated murine embryonic stem cells in the heart: teratoma formation and immune response. *FASEB J* (2007) 21(7):1345–57. doi:10.1096/fj.06-6769com
- Swijnenburg RJ, Tanaka M, Vogel H, Baker J, Kofidis T, Gunawan F, et al. Embryonic stem cell immunogenicity increases upon differentiation after transplantation into ischemic myocardium. *Circulation* (2005) 112(9 Suppl):166–72. doi:10.1161/circulationaha.104.525824
- Reubinoff BE, Pera MF, Fong CY, Trounson A, Bongso A. Embryonic stem cell lines from human blastocysts: somatic differentiation in vitro. *Nat Biotechnol* (2000) 18(4):399–404. doi:10.1038/74447
- Chaudhry GR, Fecek C, Lai MM, Wu WC, Chang M, Vasquez A, et al. Fate of embryonic stem cell derivatives implanted into the vitreous of a slow retinal degenerative mouse model. *Stem Cells Dev* (2009) 18(2):247–58. doi:10.1089/ scd.2008.0057
- Lee AS, Tang C, Rao MS, Weissman IL, Wu JC. Tumorigenicity as a clinical hurdle for pluripotent stem cell therapies. *Nat Med* (2013) 19(8):998–1004. doi:10.1038/nm.3267

- Kim JH, Auerbach JM, Rodriguez-Gomez JA, Velasco I, Gavin D, Lumelsky N, et al. Dopamine neurons derived from embryonic stem cells function in an animal model of Parkinson's disease. *Nature* (2002) 418(6893):50–6. doi:10.1038/nature00900
- Chung S, Shin BS, Hedlund E, Pruszak J, Ferree A, Kang UJ, et al. Genetic selection of sox1GFP-expressing neural precursors removes residual tumorigenic pluripotent stem cells and attenuates tumor formation after transplantation. *J Neurochem* (2006) 97(5):1467–80. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.03841.x
- Fukuda H, Takahashi J, Watanabe K, Hayashi H, Morizane A, Koyanagi M, et al. Fluorescence-activated cell sorting-based purification of embryonic stem cellderived neural precursors averts tumor formation after transplantation. *Stem Cells* (2006) 24(3):763–71. doi:10.1634/stemcells.2005-0137
- Ben-David U, Benvenisty N. Chemical ablation of tumor-initiating human pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Protoc* (2014) 9(3):729–40. doi:10.1038/ nprot.2014.050
- 11. Bieberich E, Silva J, Wang G, Krishnamurthy K, Condie BG. Selective apoptosis of pluripotent mouse and human stem cells by novel ceramide analogues prevents teratoma formation and enriches for neural precursors in ES cellderived neural transplants. *J Cell Biol* (2004) 167(4):723–34. doi:10.1083/jcb. 200405144
- Choo AB, Tan HL, Ang SN, Fong WJ, Chin A, Lo J, et al. Selection against undifferentiated human embryonic stem cells by a cytotoxic antibody recognizing podocalyxin-like protein-1. *Stem Cells* (2008) 26(6):1454–63. doi:10.1634/ stemcells.2007-0576
- Schuldiner M, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Benvenisty N. Selective ablation of human embryonic stem cells expressing a "suicide" gene. *Stem Cells* (2003) 21(3):257–65. doi:10.1634/stemcells.21-3-257
- Tang C, Lee AS, Volkmer JP, Sahoo D, Nag D, Mosley AR, et al. An antibody against SSEA-5 glycan on human pluripotent stem cells enables removal of teratoma-forming cells. *Nat Biotechnol* (2011) 29(9):829–34. doi:10.1038/nbt. 1947
- Ben-David U, Gan QF, Golan-Lev T, Arora P, Yanuka O, Oren YS, et al. Selective elimination of human pluripotent stem cells by an oleate synthesis inhibitor discovered in a high-throughput screen. *Cell Stem Cell* (2013) 12(2):167–79. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2012.11.015
- Ben-David U, Nudel N, Benvenisty N. Immunologic and chemical targeting of the tight-junction protein claudin-6 eliminates tumorigenic human pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:1992. doi:10.1038/ncomms2992
- Lee MO, Moon SH, Jeong HC, Yi JY, Lee TH, Shim SH, et al. Inhibition of pluripotent stem cell-derived teratoma formation by small molecules. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(35):E3281–90. doi:10.1073/pnas.1303669110
- Suzuki DE, Nakahata AM, Okamoto OK. Knockdown of E2F2 inhibits tumorigenicity, but preserves stemness of human embryonic stem cells. *Stem Cells Dev* (2014) 23(11):1266–74. doi:10.1089/scd.2013.0592
- Lee AS, Tang C, Cao F, Xie X, van der Bogt K, Hwang A, et al. Effects of cell number on teratoma formation by human embryonic stem cells. *Cell Cycle* (2009) 8(16):2608–12. doi:10.4161/cc.8.16.9353
- Hentze H, Soong PL, Wang ST, Phillips BW, Putti TC, Dunn NR. Teratoma formation by human embryonic stem cells: evaluation of essential parameters for future safety studies. *Stem Cell Res* (2009) 2(3):198–210. doi:10.1016/j.scr.2009. 02.002
- Rong Z, Fu X, Wang M, Xu Y. A scalable approach to prevent teratoma formation of human embryonic stem cells. J Biol Chem (2012) 287(39):32338–45. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.383810
- 22. Goldring CE, Duffy PA, Benvenisty N, Andrews PW, Ben-David U, Eakins R, et al. Assessing the safety of stem cell therapeutics. *Cell Stem Cell* (2011) **8**(6):618–28. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2011.05.012
- Dressel R, Schindehutte J, Kuhlmann T, Elsner L, Novota P, Baier PC, et al. The tumorigenicity of mouse embryonic stem cells and in vitro differentiated neuronal cells is controlled by the recipients' immune response. *PLoS One* (2008) 3(7):e2622. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002622
- 24. Wang X, Chen T, Leng L, Fan J, Cao K, Duan Z, et al. MIF produced by bone marrow-derived macrophages contributes to teratoma progression after embryonic stem cell transplantation. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**(11):2867–78. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-11-3247
- Biswas SK, Sica A, Lewis CE. Plasticity of macrophage function during tumor progression: regulation by distinct molecular mechanisms. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(4):2011–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.4.2011

- Allavena P, Sica A, Garlanda C, Mantovani A. The Yin-Yang of tumor-associated macrophages in neoplastic progression and immune surveillance. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 222:155–61. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00607.x
- Lewis CE, Pollard JW. Distinct role of macrophages in different tumor microenvironments. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(2):605–12. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-05-4005
- Pollard JW. Tumour-educated macrophages promote tumour progression and metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer (2004) 4(1):71–8. doi:10.1038/nrc1256
- Tian Y, Jain S, Kelemen SE, Autieri MV. AIF-1 expression regulates endothelial cell activation, signal transduction, and vasculogenesis. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* (2009) 296(2):C256–66. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00325.2008
- Van Rooijen N, Sanders A. Liposome mediated depletion of macrophages: mechanism of action, preparation of liposomes and applications. *J Immunol Methods* (1994) 174(1–2):83–93. doi:10.1016/0022-1759(94)90012-4
- Mostofi FK, Sesterhenn I. Histological classification of testis tumours. *Histological Typing of Testis Tumours*. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag (1998). p. 3–5.
- 32. Jaworowski A, Wilson NJ, Christy E, Byrne R, Hamilton JA. Roles of the mitogenactivated protein kinase family in macrophage responses to colony stimulating factor-1 addition and withdrawal. J Biol Chem (1999) 274(21):15127–33. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.21.15127
- 33. Hundal RS, Gomez-Munoz A, Kong JY, Salh BS, Marotta A, Duronio V, et al. Oxidized low density lipoprotein inhibits macrophage apoptosis by blocking ceramide generation, thereby maintaining protein kinase B activation and Bcl-XL levels. J Biol Chem (2003) 278(27):24399–408. doi:10.1074/jbc. M209179200
- 34. Lin H, Lee E, Hestir K, Leo C, Huang M, Bosch E, et al. Discovery of a cytokine and its receptor by functional screening of the extracellular proteome. *Science* (2008) **320**(5877):807–11. doi:10.1126/science.1154370
- Kelley TW, Graham MM, Doseff AI, Pomerantz RW, Lau SM, Ostrowski MC, et al. Macrophage colony-stimulating factor promotes cell survival through Akt/protein kinase B. *J Biol Chem* (1999) 274(37):26393–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.274. 37.26393
- 36. Bhatt NY, Kelley TW, Khramtsov VV, Wang Y, Lam GK, Clanton TL, et al. Macrophage-colony-stimulating factor-induced activation of extracellularregulated kinase involves phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and reactive oxygen species in human monocytes. *J Immunol* (2002) 169(11):6427–34. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.169.11.6427
- 37. Wang Y, Zeigler MM, Lam GK, Hunter MG, Eubank TD, Khramtsov VV, et al. The role of the NADPH oxidase complex, p38 MAPK, and Akt in regulating human monocyte/macrophage survival. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol (2007) 36(1):68–77. doi:10.1165/rcmb.2006-0165OC
- McWhorter FY, Wang T, Nguyen P, Chung T, Liu WF. Modulation of macrophage phenotype by cell shape. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(43):17253–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1308887110
- Sica A, Schioppa T, Mantovani A, Allavena P. Tumour-associated macrophages are a distinct M2 polarised population promoting tumour progression: potential targets of anti-cancer therapy. *Eur J Cancer* (2006) 42(6):717–27. doi:10.1016/j. ejca.2006.01.003
- Mantovani A, Schioppa T, Porta C, Allavena P, Sica A. Role of tumor-associated macrophages in tumor progression and invasion. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* (2006) 25(3):315–22. doi:10.1007/s10555-006-9001-7
- Masson VV, Devy L, Grignet-Debrus C, Bernt S, Bajou K, Blacher S, et al. Mouse aortic ring assay: a new approach of the molecular genetics of angiogenesis. *Biol Proced Online* (2002) 4:24–31. doi:10.1251/bpo30
- Gelati M, Aplin AC, Fogel E, Smith KD, Nicosia RF. The angiogenic response of the aorta to injury and inflammatory cytokines requires macrophages. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(8):5711–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.8.5711
- 43. Qian B, Deng Y, Im JH, Muschel RJ, Zou Y, Li J, et al. A distinct macrophage population mediates metastatic breast cancer cell extravasation, establishment and growth. *PLoS One* (2009) 4(8):e6562. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006562
- 44. Jung S, Aliberti J, Graemmel P, Sunshine MJ, Kreutzberg GW, Sher A, et al. Analysis of fractalkine receptor CX(3)CR1 function by targeted deletion and green fluorescent protein reporter gene insertion. *Mol Cell Biol* (2000) 20(11):4106–14. doi:10.1128/MCB.20.11.4106-4114.2000
- Geissmann F, Manz MG, Jung S, Sieweke MH, Merad M, Ley K. Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. *Science* (2010) 327(5966):656–61. doi:10.1126/science.1178331

- 46. Sengupta A, Liu WK, Yeung YG, Yeung DC, Frackelton AR Jr, Stanley ER. Identification and subcellular localization of proteins that are rapidly phosphorylated in tyrosine in response to colony-stimulating factor 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1988) 85(21):8062–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.85.21.8062
- 47. Hamilton JA. CSF-1 signal transduction. J Leukoc Biol (1997) 62(2):145-55.
- Sieweke MH, Allen JE. Beyond stem cells: self-renewal of differentiated macrophages. Science (2013) 342(6161):1242974. doi:10.1126/science.1242974
- Wei S, Nandi S, Chitu V, Yeung YG, Yu W, Huang M, et al. Functional overlap but differential expression of CSF-1 and IL-34 in their CSF-1 receptormediated regulation of myeloid cells. *J Leukoc Biol* (2010) 88(3):495–505. doi:10.1189/jlb.1209822
- 50. Foucher ED, Blanchard S, Preisser L, Garo E, Ifrah N, Guardiola P, et al. IL-34 induces the differentiation of human monocytes into immunosuppressive macrophages. Antagonistic effects of GM-CSF and IFNgamma. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(2):e56045. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0056045
- Mantovani A, Sica A, Sozzani S, Allavena P, Vecchi A, Locati M. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends Immunol* (2004) 25(12):677–86. doi:10.1016/j.it.2004.09.015
- Martinez FO, Sica A, Mantovani A, Locati M. Macrophage activation and polarization. *Front Biosci* (2008) 13:453–61. doi:10.2741/2692
- Gordon S. Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3(1):23–35. doi:10.1038/nri978
- Gordon S, Martinez FO. Alternative activation of macrophages: mechanism and functions. *Immunity* (2010) 32(5):593–604. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.05.007
- 55. Biswas SK, Gangi L, Paul S, Schioppa T, Saccani A, Sironi M, et al. A distinct and unique transcriptional program expressed by tumor-associated macrophages (defective NF-kappaB and enhanced IRF-3/STAT1 activation). *Blood* (2006) 107(5):2112–22. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-01-0428
- Sica A, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(3):787–95. doi:10.1172/jci59643
- Sica A, Bronte V. Altered macrophage differentiation and immune dysfunction in tumor development. J Clin Invest (2007) 117(5):1155–66. doi:10.1172/ jci31422
- Martinez FO, Helming L, Gordon S. Alternative activation of macrophages: an immunologic functional perspective. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2009) 27:451–83. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132532
- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(10):889–96. doi:10.1038/ni.1937
- Lewis CE, De Palma M, Naldini L. Tie2-expressing monocytes and tumor angiogenesis: regulation by hypoxia and angiopoietin-2. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(18):8429–32. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-07-1684
- Chen JX, Chen Y, DeBusk L, Lin W, Lin PC. Dual functional roles of Tie-2/angiopoietin in TNF-alpha-mediated angiogenesis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2004) 287(1):H187–95. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.01058.2003
- 62. Capobianco A, Monno A, Cottone L, Venneri MA, Biziato D, Di Puppo F, et al. Proangiogenic Tie2(+) macrophages infiltrate human and murine endometriotic lesions and dictate their growth in a mouse model of the disease. *Am J Pathol* (2011) **179**(5):2651–9. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.07.029
- 63. De Palma M, Venneri MA, Galli R, Sergi Sergi L, Politi LS, Sampaolesi M, et al. Tie2 identifies a hematopoietic lineage of proangiogenic monocytes required for tumor vessel formation and a mesenchymal population of pericyte progenitors. *Cancer Cell* (2005) 8(3):211–26. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2005.08.002
- 64. Mazzieri R, Pucci F, Moi D, Zonari E, Ranghetti A, Berti A, et al. Targeting the ANG2/TIE2 axis inhibits tumor growth and metastasis by impairing angiogenesis and disabling rebounds of proangiogenic myeloid cells. *Cancer Cell* (2011) 19(4):512–26. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.02.005
- Bernhagen J, Calandra T, Bucala R. Regulation of the immune response by macrophage migration inhibitory factor: biological and structural features. *J Mol Med* (*Berl*) (1998) 76(3–4):151–61. doi:10.1007/s001090050204
- Calandra T, Bernhagen J, Metz CN, Spiegel LA, Bacher M, Donnelly T, et al. MIF as a glucocorticoid-induced modulator of cytokine production. *Nature* (1995) 377(6544):68–71. doi:10.1038/377068a0
- Donnelly SC, Haslett C, Reid PT, Grant IS, Wallace WA, Metz CN, et al. Regulatory role for macrophage migration inhibitory factor in acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Nat Med* (1997) 3(3):320–3. doi:10.1038/nm0397-320

- 68. Mitchell RA, Liao H, Chesney J, Fingerle-Rowson G, Baugh J, David J, et al. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) sustains macrophage proinflammatory function by inhibiting p53: regulatory role in the innate immune response. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) **99**(1):345–50. doi:10.1073/pnas. 012511599
- Nesbitt A, Fossati G, Bergin M, Stephens P, Stephens S, Foulkes R, et al. Mechanism of action of certolizumab pegol (CDP870): in vitro comparison with other anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha agents. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2007) 13(11):1323–32. doi:10.1002/ibd.20225
- Tang X, Mo C, Wang Y, Wei D, Xiao H. Anti-tumour strategies aiming to target tumour-associated macrophages. *Immunology* (2013) 138(2):93–104. doi:10.1111/imm.12023
- Hume DA, MacDonald KP. Therapeutic applications of macrophage colonystimulating factor-1 (CSF-1) and antagonists of CSF-1 receptor (CSF-1R) signaling. *Blood* (2012) 119(8):1810–20. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-09-379214
- Pyonteck SM, Akkari L, Schuhmacher AJ, Bowman RL, Sevenich L, Quail DF, et al. CSF-1R inhibition alters macrophage polarization and blocks glioma progression. *Nat Med* (2013) 19(10):1264–72. doi:10.1038/nm.3337
- Britten CD. PI3K and MEK inhibitor combinations: examining the evidence in selected tumor types. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2013) 71(6):1395–409. doi:10.1007/s00280-013-2121-1
- 74. Jokinen E, Laurila N, Koivunen JP. Alternative dosing of dual PI3K and MEK inhibition in cancer therapy. BMC Cancer (2012) 12:612. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-12-612
- 75. Haagensen EJ, Thomas HD, Wilson I, Harnor SJ, Payne SL, Rennison T, et al. The enhanced in vivo activity of the combination of a MEK and a PI3K inhibitor correlates with [18F]-FLT PET in human colorectal cancer xenograft tumour-bearing mice. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(12):e81763. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0081763
- Welham MJ, Kingham E, Sanchez-Ripoll Y, Kumpfmueller B, Storm M, Bone H. Controlling embryonic stem cell proliferation and pluripotency: the role of PI3K- and GSK-3-dependent signalling. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2011) **39**(2):674–8. doi:10.1042/bst0390674
- 77. Cieslewicz M, Tang J, Yu JL, Cao H, Zavaljevski M, Motoyama K, et al. Targeted delivery of proapoptotic peptides to tumor-associated macrophages improves survival. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) **110**(40):15919–24. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1312197110
- Guiducci C, Vicari AP, Sangaletti S, Trinchieri G, Colombo MP. Redirecting in vivo elicited tumor infiltrating macrophages and dendritic cells towards tumor rejection. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(8):3437–46. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-04-4262
- 79. Siveen KS, Sikka S, Surana R, Dai X, Zhang J, Kumar AP, et al. Targeting the STAT3 signaling pathway in cancer: role of synthetic and natural inhibitors. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1845(2):136–54. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2013.12.005
- Yang J, van Oosten AL, Theunissen TW, Guo G, Silva JC, Smith A. Stat3 activation is limiting for reprogramming to ground state pluripotency. *Cell Stem Cell* (2010) 7(3):319–28. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2010.06.022

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 02 April 2014; accepted: 27 May 2014; published online: 04 July 2014. Citation: Chen T, Wang X, Guo L, Wu M, Duan Z, Lv J, Tai W, Renganathan H, Didier R, Li J, Sun D, Chen X, He X, Fan J, Young W and Ren Y (2014) Embryonic stem cells promoting macrophage survival and function are crucial for teratoma development. Front. Immunol. **5**:275. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00275

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Chen, Wang, Guo, Wu, Duan, Lv, Tai, Renganathan, Didier, Li, Sun, Chen, He, Fan, Young and Ren. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Fallen angels or risen apes? A tale of the intricate complexities of imbalanced immune responses in the pathogenesis and progression of immune-mediated and viral cancers

Beatrice Omusiro Ondondo*

The Jenner Institute, Nuffield Department of Medicine, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Hua-Chen Chang, Indiana University-Purdue University Indianapolis, USA Dennis O. Adeegbe, Immunology Frontier Research Center, Japan

*Correspondence:

Beatrice Omusiro Ondondo, The Jenner Institute, Nuffield Department of Medicine, University of Oxford, ORCRB, Roosevelt Drive, Oxford OX3 7DQ, UK e-mail: beatrice.ondondo@ ndm.ox.ac.uk

Excessive immune responses directed against foreign pathogens, self-antigens, or commensal microflora can cause cancer establishment and progression if the execution of tight immuno-regulatory mechanisms fails. On the other hand, induction of potent tumor antigen-specific immune responses together with stimulation of the innate immune system is a pre-requisite for effective anti-tumor immunity, and if suppressed by the strong immuno-regulatory mechanisms can lead to cancer progression. Therefore, it is crucial that the inevitable co-existence of these fundamental, yet conflicting roles of immuneregulatory cells is carefully streamlined as imbalances can be detrimental to the host. Infection with chronic persistent viruses is characterized by severe immune dysfunction resulting in T cell exhaustion and sometimes deletion of antigen-specific T cells. More often, this is due to increased immuno-regulatory processes, which are triggered to downregulate immune responses and limit immunopathology. However, such heightened levels of immune disruption cause a concomitant loss of tumor immune-surveillance and create a permissive microenvironment for cancer establishment and progression, as demonstrated by increased incidences of cancer in immunosuppressed hosts. Paradoxically, while some cancers arise as a consequence of increased immuno-regulatory mechanisms that inhibit protective immune responses and impinge on tumor surveillance, other cancers arise due to impaired immuno-regulatory mechanisms and failure to limit pathogenic inflammatory responses. This intricate complexity, where immuno-regulatory cells can be beneficial in certain immune settings but detrimental in other settings underscores the need for carefully formulated interventions to equilibrate the balance between immuno-stimulatory and immuno-regulatory processes.

Keywords: regulatory T cells, immune dysfunction, immune-regulation, inflammation, cancer, HIV-1

INTRODUCTION

The observation that a sustained and potent immune response to a foreign pathogen, self-antigen, or normal microflora can be the root cause of uncontrolled cancer outgrowth and progression underscores the need for tight immuno-regulatory interventions that could be harnessed for the development of cancer vaccines and cell-based immunotherapies. On the other hand, inflammatory responses characterized by infiltration of tumor-associated antigen (TAA)-specific T cells and other components of the innate immune system are a pre-requisite for effective anti-tumor immunity. Therefore, it is crucial that the inevitable co-existence of these opposing forces is carefully streamlined as imbalances can be detrimental to the host.

Oncogenic viruses such as Epstein–Barr virus (EBV), human papilloma virus (HPV), and Kaposi sarcoma herpes virus (KSHV) express viral oncogenes, which can directly induce tumorigenic cell transformations and initiate the carcinogenesis process. In the case of non-oncogenic viruses such as hepatitis B (HBV) and hepatitis C (HCV), chronic infection and inflammation can lead

to carcinogenic mutations in host cells (1), which are manifested by the increased incidences of liver cancer in chronic HBV and HCV patients. In both of these scenarios, the arising transformed tumor cells are genetically altered in a manner that distinguishes them from ordinary healthy self-cells thus conferring the ability to trigger effector immune responses, which in some cases are capable of controlling tumor growth (2, 3). In other instances, however, such modifications may lead to altered antigenicity and escape from immune-surveillance whereby the newly transformed cells are no longer recognized by their original cognate antigen-specific immune cells, thus leading to uncontrolled cancer progression. On a different platform, continuous antigenic stimulation that occurs during chronic virus infections causes severe immune dysfunction characterized by T cell exhaustion, anergy and in some cases deletion of antigen-specific B and T cells (4-6), and a concomitant induction of immuno-regulatory processes, which all result in the loss of tumor immune-surveillance and lead to cancer establishment. This is indeed supported by epidemiological data showing increased incidences of malignancies such as Kaposi sarcoma (KS)

and cervical cancer, as well as EBV-associated malignancies such as non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) and Burkitt lymphoma in immunosuppressed HIV/AIDS (7) and transplant patients.

Cancer can also arise due to dysfunctional immuno-regulatory mechanisms that result in uncontrolled excessive inflammatory immune responses. For example, pathogenic immune responses directed at commensal intestinal microflora during inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) are known to increase the risk of colon cancer (8, 9). Indeed prolonged periods of ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD) are associated with impaired immuno-regulatory mechanisms, which are in turn linked to colitis-associated colon carcinogenesis (10-12). Under normal circumstances both intrinsic and extrinsic regulatory pathways come into force to limit excessive immune activation and inflammation thus preventing tissue pathology and subsequent risk of cancer. However, as in many cases, failures of these control measures, including reduced frequencies or altered phenotype and function of regulatory T cells (Treg) means that this inflammation progresses in leaps and bounds. These paradoxical scenarios highlight a disruption in the natural homeostatic immuno-regulatory mechanisms that can be switched on to prevent excessive immune activation or turned off to allow execution of effector immune responses and tumor immune-surveillance. However, the exact timing of when a "good" immune response aimed at pathogen or

tumor clearance can become a very "bad" response that creates an environment conducive for cancer growth and dissemination remains elusive. Understanding the intricate complexities and the timings of these events will be crucial in designing interventions for immune-mediated and viral cancers.

EXTRINSIC AND INTRINSIC IMMUNO-REGULATORY PATHWAYS

A complex network of finely tuned immune-regulation pathways exists to actively inhibit excessive immune responses during chronic viral infections and inflammation. This is essential for preventing the hyper-proliferation of antigen-specific T cells that could cause immunopathology due to increased release of inflammatory cytokines and targeted killing of infected or antigenexpressing tumor cells by CD8+ T cells. Immuno-regulatory pathways can broadly be divided into extrinsic or intrinsic pathways as depicted in Figure 1. Intrinsic mechanisms derive from within the effector cell and usually involve down-regulation of activating receptors and up-regulation of inhibitory receptors as well as activation of antagonist mechanisms, as discussed in the next section. Extrinsic pathways on the other hand usually involve other cells, which exert regulatory functions by cell-to-cell contact or via release of suppressive cytokines and biochemical compounds that inhibit cellular functions.



extrinsic mechanisms. Intrinsic pathways (inner circle) derive from within the effector cell and usually involve up-regulation of inhibitory receptors, down-regulation of cytokine and T cell activation receptors, down-regulation of MHC molecules, as well as the degradation of downstream signaling elements. Although the intrinsic pathways derive mainly from within the effector or antigen presenting cells, interactions with external elements do

play a significant role, for instance the down-regulation of MHC class I, which is directly mediated by the HIV-1 Nef protein (13, 14). Extrinsic pathways (outer circle) involve several other cell types that exert immune suppression via cell-to-cell contact or through the release of suppressive cytokines and other biochemical compounds with suppressive activity. These include the various types of regulatory T cells in addition to the Foxp3+ Treg, CD8+ regulatory T cells, MDSCs as well as M2 macrophages and suppressive NK cells.

Of the extrinsic immuno-regulatory pathways, CD4+CD25^{high} Foxp3+ Treg are the most extensively studied and their suppressive mechanisms have been elucidated in greater detail. Existence of other types of immune cells with regulatory functions has been documented, for example CD4+Foxp3- Treg with suppressor functions such as the IL-10 producing Tr1 cells (15) and TGF- β producing Th3 cells (16) have been found in inflammatory environments. Tr1 cells secrete high levels of IL-10 and moderate amounts of TGF-β, and mainly suppress vial IL-10 release, as IL-10 neutralization abrogates their suppressive function (17, 18). On the converse, Th3 cells secrete high levels of TGF-β and low levels of IL-10 and can suppress both Th1 and Th2 responses (16, 17). Other cells with regulatory properties include myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), which can be induced by cytokines such as IL-6 and growth factors including G-CSF and GM-CSF (19), CD8+Foxp3+ Treg producing both IL-10 and TGF-β, or IL-10-producing CD8+ T cells (20-22), as well as NK cells that possess suppressor functions (23, 24). Activated MDSC can suppress via several mechanisms including IL-10 production as well as via compounds such as arginase 1, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and nitric oxide (NO) among others (19). Moreover, MDSC can indirectly contribute to immuno-regulatory functions by inducing Treg differentiation and expansion.

IMMUNE DYSREGULATION DURING PERSISTENT VIRUS INFECTIONS AND CHRONIC INFLAMMATION

T cells are the key players in many infectious diseases and in eradication of malignant cells. This is well-demonstrated in acute infections where T cells become activated and acquire effector functions, with subsequent clearance of infection and formation of stable memory populations. Moreover, tumors heavily infiltrated with fully functional effector T cells progress less rapidly and in some cases regression can be achieved. However, in the case of persistent antigen stimulation in a chronic setting, memory T cell formation and effector functions are altered, resulting in exhausted, functionally impaired defective T cells incapable of conferring protection. The characteristic properties of these defective cells include diminished cytokine production, decreased cytotoxicity, and reduced proliferative and self-renewal potential. In some cases, mutational escape and/or physical deletion of antigen-specific T cells occurs resulting in inadequate immune control, hence chronic persistence of the viruses. Furthermore, some chronic pathogens directly infect the immune cells, e.g., HIV-1 (CD4+ T cells) and EBV (B cells) leading to loss of immune functions. This state of immunological dysfunction is consistently found in chronic virus infections including HIV, HBV, and HCV (25-27) and is also prevalent in cancer patients. Immune dysregulation can be manifested in several forms, some of which are summarized in Figure 2 and described below.

T CELL EXHAUSTION

T cell exhaustion refers to a state of progressive loss of immune function, which in some cases, can result in physical deletion of responding cells due to imbalances in the expression of proapoptotic and anti-apoptotic factors and the inability to respond to IL-7 and IL-15 (26–28). The dominant mechanism of T cell exhaustion is the up-regulation of several inhibitory receptors, although down-regulation of cytokine receptors such as IL-7Ra and IL-15Ra by exhausted memory T cells is frequently observed. Lower levels of IL-7Ra and IL-15Ra can lead to defective cytokine signaling and consequently impaired homeostatic self-renewal and suboptimal numbers of functional memory T cells (27, 28). Up-regulation of inhibitory receptors such as programed-death 1 (PD-1), T cell immunoglobulin mucin 3 (TIM-3), lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG-3), and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein-4 (CTLA-4) is a characteristic feature of exhausted T cells. PD-1, an inhibitory receptor of the CD28 superfamily is highly expressed on exhausted CD8+ T cells during progressive chronic viral infections and uncontrolled cancer, making it a major factor in T cell exhaustion. Under normal circumstances, PD-1 is induced following T cell activation to inhibit the TCR signaling cascade and prevent excessive T cell activation, but is then down-regulated following pathogen clearance. In peripheral tolerance, PD-1 is important in inhibiting potentially pathogenic self-reactive T cells as well as promoting Treg development (29, 30) and mice lacking PD-1 succumb to autoimmune diseases (31, 32). However, in chronic infection, the PD-1 pathway mediates pathogen-specific CD8+ T cell dysfunction as demonstrated in HIV (33-35), HCV (36, 37), and HBV (38, 39) infections. For example, the frequency of PD-1+CD8+ T cells is highly elevated in HIV-1 patients where it correlates significantly with viral load and declining CD4+ T cell numbers (33, 40). PD-1 is also upregulated on HIV-specific CD4+ T cells (40, 41) and inhibits CD4+T cell responses including proliferation. Interestingly, PD-1 levels are significantly reduced in HIV-1 progressors who initiate highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) or in long-term non-progressors (LTNPs), suggesting that antigen persistence drives T cells to exhaustion (33, 34). In chronic HCV infection, increased PD-1 expression on HCV-specific CD8+ T cells is associated with impaired proliferation and cytokine production (37). A part from inhibition of T cell function, PD-1 expression can also lead to spontaneous or FAS-mediated apoptosis of virus-specific T cells (42).

Besides PD-1, other inhibitory receptors such as TIM-3, 2B4 (natural killer cell receptor), and LAG-3 are also up-regulated on virus-specific T cells, and the expression of multiple inhibitory receptors correlates with a severely dysfunctional state (43-45). For example, co-expression of PD-1 and TIM-3 is associated with severely exhausted HIV-specific CD8+ T cells (45) and majority of these also co-express PD-1 and 2B4 (46). CTLA-4 is another inhibitory receptor expressed by activated CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. It has a higher affinity for the B7 ligands (CD80 and CD86) allowing it to out-compete CD28, hence it is a powerful negative regulator of CD28-dependent T cell responses. It is significantly up-regulated on CD4+ T cells during HIV-1 and HCV infections where it correlates positively with disease progression and negatively with antigen-specific IL-2 production (41, 47). CTLA-4 is abundantly expressed on Treg as it is required for optimum suppressive function.

IMPAIRED APC FUNCTION

The fact that fully functional pathogen-specific T cells are rarely found in chronic infections suggests impaired antigen presentation, which could be attributed to either inadequate priming by



forms, which can occur in isolation or in combination. Persistent antigenic stimulation, especially in settings with high antigen loads can lead to T cell exhaustion (characterized by the up-regulation of several inhibitory receptors and down-regulation of specific T cell activation receptors), anergy (generalized unresponsiveness), impaired memory formation, impaired proliferation, and self-renewal capacity. Besides these, chronic viruses trigger various biochemical pathways that lead to increased frequencies of MDSCs and Treg, which actively suppress effector immune responses via a variety of mechanisms. Immune dysregulation occurring at the T cell priming stage is linked to dysfunctional APCs (for example inadequately activated or tolerogenic DCs), which are likely to skew the immune response toward tolerance. Conceivably, such regulatory mechanisms serve to prevent tissue damage and aberrant immune activation, but they inevitably contribute to the chronic persistence state as a result of inhibiting effector immune responses.

non-professional APCs or possibly altered function of professional APCs during the chronic stages of disease. Indeed, functional impairment of DCs has been associated with T cell exhaustion and progression of disease during HIV, HBV, HCV, and LCMV infection (48-51). Decreased expression of co-stimulatory molecules and lower production of immuno-stimulatory cytokines by APCs can result in functionally tolerant or anergic T cells. Furthermore, chronic infections are associated with loss of DCs, possibly due to direct infection by viruses such as HIV and LCMV. Moreover, DCs can induce T cell exhaustion or tolerance by signaling through inhibitory receptors such as PD-1 and CTLA-4, and also acting via indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO)-dependent mechanisms to induce Treg, which further suppress immune responses (52). However, other factors such as virus-induced modulation of the expression of MHC or co-stimulatory molecules have been described and may also significantly affect the generation of fully functional T cells (13, 14).

INCREASED FREQUENCY OF TREG AND MDSC

Increased frequencies of Treg and MDSC are a common feature of persistent chronic viral infections, which is well-documented in infections with HBV (53–55), HCV (56–58), and HIV (52, 59–61). These chronic persistent viruses trigger the production of IL-10 and TGF- β , which in turn increase the frequency and suppressive function of Treg, such as observed in HCV-infected hepatocytes (62). Alternatively, these cytokines may promote the induction of adaptive Treg further reinforcing the immune barrier at sites of infection. HIV and HCV infections also induce plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) known to induce IL-10-producing Treg via IDO-dependent mechanisms (52, 58). Additionally, the chronic micro-environments created by virus persistence contribute to enhanced Treg proliferation and suppressive function by secreting cytokines and other factors on which Treg thrive. The high frequencies of Treg and MDSC serve an important role of preventing excessive antigen stimulation, persistent inflammatory responses, and viral mediated immunopathology in the chronic stages of viral disease (56, 63). However, the elevated frequencies and enhanced suppressive capacity of Treg and MDSC also contribute to suppression of effector T cells in an antigen-specific or bystander mechanism (64) thus promoting prolonged viral persistence (65, 66) characterized by secondary T cell impairment and exhaustion (67). Thus, counterintuitively, increased expansion and survival of regulatory cells serve to establish, propagate, and maintain the chronic infection state.

INCREASED SUPPRESSIVE CYTOKINES

Apart from Treg and MDSC, increased IL-10 production is another powerful immuno-regulatory mechanism that negatively impacts on the quantity and quality of antigen-specific immune responses. IL-10 is an immuno-regulatory cytokine produced by many cell types and has multiple functions including inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine production, dampening T cell responses, blocking APC functions, and also causing B cell dysregulation. Increased IL-10 production is seen in several chronic viruses including HIV, EBV, HCV, HBV, and LCMV (68-75), and IL-10R blockade can induce rapid virus control indicating that excessive levels of IL-10 have a negative influence on the quality of immune responses and disease course (68, 69). TGF- β is yet another immunosuppressive cytokine whose role in limiting immune responses is documented in a number of disease settings (76). Both IL-10 and TGF- β are known to establish highly suppressive micro-environments that are suitable for cancer progression.

DISRUPTION OF IMMUNE-REGULATORY T CELLS IN INFLAMMATORY ENVIRONMENTS

Resolution of inflammation requires swift execution of functional regulatory mechanisms such as the expansion of Treg, a lineage of lymphocytes committed to suppressive functions that maintain self-tolerance and immune homeostasis. Dysregulation of Treg function or induction is linked to a number of chronic inflammatory disorders such as IBD and also fatal autoimmune diseases. Thus, interventions which can restore functional regulation without inducing effector immune responses would be beneficial in such settings. Dysfunctional regulation can manifest as reduced Treg numbers (either due to defective Treg induction or loss of Treg), defective suppressive function (due to loss of Foxp3 expression or reduced production of suppressive cytokines), and impaired migration (due to altered expression of adhesion molecules and chemokine receptors). This section gives a brief description of these mechanisms and the various inflammatory conditions that drive phenotypic and functional modification of Treg.

TREG INSTABILITY: PHENOTYPIC ALTERATION AND FUNCTIONAL IMPAIRMENT

Despite the widely held view of thymic imprinting of Treg cell functions, recent studies indicate developmental plasticity and instability, whereby Treg lose Foxp3 expression and convert to Foxp3-helper T cells (exFoxp3) (77, 78) in certain inflammatory or lymphopenic environments (Figure 3). Although exFoxp3 Treg may largely arise from a few promiscuous uncommitted Treg (79), their comparatively higher potential to expand, coupled with the fact that a majority of them are skewed toward self-reactivity suggests potential pathogenicity as a result of altered regulatory functions such as secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines directed against self-antigens (77). Adoptive transfer studies showed that a large fraction of Treg transferred to lymphopenic recipients lost Foxp3 expression alongside other Treg cell surface markers, and that this was accompanied by acquisition of effector functions including IFN-y, IL-2, and IL-17-production and a concomitant loss of suppressive function (80-82). Other reports indicated that Foxp3+ Treg effectively lost Foxp3 expression and converted to T helper-type 2 phenotype cells expressing IL-13 and IL-5 (78, 83) or differentiated into follicular helper T cells (Foxp3-T_{FH}-like cells) under the influence of IL-6 and IL-21 (84). Acquisition of T helper features without the simultaneous loss of Foxp3 expression has also been observed. This results in hybrid Treg, which display an activated-memory T cell phenotype and pro-inflammatory properties, such as the IL-17-producing Foxp3+ROR-yt+ IL-17+ (85-90) and IFN-yproducing Foxp3+T-bet+ IFN- γ + (91, 92) Treg. Although this hybrid Treg phenotype can exert dual inflammatory and regulatory functions, it has been shown that the phenotypic and transcriptional modifications can reduce their overall suppressive function (81, 93). In other instances however, Treg have been shown to lose their suppressive function without necessarily converting to exFoxp3 or dual function (hybrid) inflammatory Treg (94-100). Such functionally impaired Treg show decreased expression of Foxp3, CTLA-4, and GITR, together with production of very low levels of IL-10 and TGF-β.



FIGURE 3 | Impaired or altered function of regulatory cells during inflammation. The cytokine and chemokine milieu of inflammatory micro-environments can induce phenotypic and functional modification in Treg, leading to generation of pathogenic exFoxp3 T cells, which express lower levels of Foxp3, CTLA-4, and GITR and produce a combination of Th1, Th2, or Th17 cytokines. Conversion of Foxp3+ Treg into pathogenic IFN-y-producing Th1 cells or IL-17-producing Th17 exFoxp3 Treg cells is documented in various immunological settings (77, 80, 101). Conversion to a Th2 phenotype expressing IL-13 (Foxp3+IL-13+) and IL-5 (78, 83) as well as differentiation into follicular helper T cells (84) have also been reported. In most cases, the suppressive function of these altered phenotypes is significantly reduced due to decreased Foxp3 expression (81, 82). Certain inflammatory conditions can support the generation of hybrid phenotype Treg, which exhibit dual suppressive and pro-inflammatory functions such as the IL-17-producing Foxp3+IL-17+ (85-90), IFN-γ-producing Foxp3+ IFN-γ+ (91, 92), Foxp3+IL-17+ IFN-γ+, or Foxp3+IL-17+ TNF-α+ (102, 103) Treg. Generally, environments enriched with Th1 cytokines such as IFN-y, IL-2, and IL-12 favor generation of exFoxp3 Treg producing IFN-y, those enriched with Th2 cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-13 favor generation of Th2 Treg, while IL-6 favors conversion into the IL-17+Foxp3+ and IL-17+Foxp3phenotypes

Several lines of evidence indicate that functional and phenotypic plasticity of Foxp3+ Treg is largely governed by extrinsic signals provided by the inflammatory milieu of their surrounding environments. Increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-12 or IFN-y correlate with the frequency of functionally impaired Th1-like Treg (104). In this setting, the Treg suppressive functions were effectively restored by IL-12 withdrawal or IFN-y blockade suggesting that a pro-inflammatory cytokine milieu not only promotes the Th1-like phenotype, but also inhibits Treg suppressor functions. Overall, inflammatory environments enriched with cytokines such as IL-1B, IL-4, IL-6, IL-21, and IL-23 drive conversion of Foxp3+ Treg into T helper phenotypes (80, 105, 106). As an example, stimulation of peripheral Treg in the presence of IL-6 was shown to result in loss of Foxp3 expression and production of IL-17 (105, 106). Inflammatory environments with IL-1β, IL-2, IL-6, IL-21, IL-23, and TGF-β have been shown to drive conversion of Foxp3+ Treg into IL-17 producing Treg (87, 107), whereas TGF-β, IL-10, and IL-2 help to maintain continued Foxp3 expression, Treg stability, and suppressive function (80, 81, 92, 108–110). Therefore, stable Foxp3 expression and maintenance of optimal Treg suppressive function require the continuous presence of specific signals within the inflammatory environment, without which conversion of Treg into functionally impaired exFoxp3 T cells or hybrid phenotype Treg occurs (102, 103).

Although the various Treg phenomena described above are well-documented in autoimmune settings, it remains possible that the chronic inflammatory environments created by persistent viral infections can also support phenotypic and functional modifications that would render Treg dysfunctional. In favor of this speculation, a recent study has demonstrated that Treg infected with HIV display increased CpG methylation of the Foxp3 locus and a deregulated functional profile, which was characterized by down-regulation of Foxp3 expression, reduced suppressive capacity, and altered cytokine secretion pattern (111). These Treg showed decreased production of TGF-β and increased IL-4 secretion, a characteristic which is thought to orchestrate severe systemic immune hyper-activation that is observed during progressive HIV disease. In chronic infection with HCV, PD-L1 was found to negatively regulate both the function and proliferation of Treg by controlling STAT-5 phosphorylation (112). Although PD-1 was expressed on both Treg and effector T cells, Treg showed significantly higher up-regulation of PD-1, which was correlated with disease progression. These studies highlight the potential of viruses to subvert the induction and function of Treg, but clearly further research is needed to unravel the mechanisms underlying defective regulation during chronic virus infections.

IMPAIRED OR ALTERED MIGRATION OF TREG

Another crucial aspect contributing to Treg dysfunction is their ability to migrate to peripheral sites of chronic inflammation such as the skin, urogenital mucosa, gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT), transplanted organs, or tumors for appropriate localization, in close proximity with effector immune cells as suppression is mostly contact-dependent. To do this effectively, activated Treg up-regulate distinct site-specific inflammatory chemokine receptors and adhesion ligands, which facilitate their migration into the inflamed tissues, usually in response to a variety of inflammatory chemokines that serve as migrational cues (113-117). Therefore, altered chemokine receptor and adhesion molecule expression can affect the migrational properties of Treg and impact on their ability to access sites of chronic inflammation. Such attenuated Treg migration can in turn lead to sustained inflammation and increased risk of inflammation-driven cancer in the Treg inaccessible areas, owing to reduced frequency and suppressive activities.

The crucial role of chemokine-receptor-dependent migration in functional regulation is demonstrated in several experiments including a mouse model of colitis and IBD, where CCR4deficient Treg had impaired migration to the mesenteric lymph nodes and therefore failed to prevent colitis (118). In other settings, a number of chemokine receptors including CCR2, CCR4, CCR5, CCR6, CCR7, and CXCR3 have been implicated in the selective and preferential recruitment of Treg to sites of chronic inflammation and/or tumors (115, 119, 120), thus indicating that alteration in chemokine receptor patterns or blockade of chemokine receptor signaling would have a significant impact on their migration and immuno-regulatory activities. Tumors and their associated stroma are known to express elevated levels of specific inflammatory chemokines, which serve to chemoattract various leukocytes including Treg (121, 122). Although the overall recruitment is also significantly influenced by the type of chemokine receptors expressed by the leukocytes, Treg, especially the "inflammation-seeking" phenotype usually up-regulate multiple chemokine receptors (116), which allow them access to a variety of tumors, where they preferentially accumulate (119). Some studies demonstrate that disruption of key chemokine receptor signaling axes such as CCR4 or CCR5, or the depletion of chemokine receptor-specific Treg can significantly inhibit their migration and prevent accumulation in tumors (123, 124), thus influencing the overall prognosis. Conceivably, while impaired migration and reduced Treg access to tumors would be an awesome advantage in the majority of cancer settings where they impinge on anti-tumor immune responses, it may however be a major setback in certain other settings, which require Treg to limit excessive immune responses, such as in IBD and chronic virus infections.

LOSS OF TREG (IMPAIRED TREG INDUCTION OR TREG DELETION)

In certain disease settings, physical deletion of Treg can result in reduced frequencies. For instance, it is postulated that by virtue of their activated nature, Treg express higher levels of CCR5 and CXCR4, the co-receptors for HIV-1 thus making them preferential targets for HIV-1 infection (125, 126). Since Foxp3+ Treg represent a high proportion of CD4+ T cells (up to 50%) found in mucosal lymphoid organs of HIV-infected individuals (60), it is plausible that HIV infection can subsequently lead to significant depletion of these cells and impaired immuno-regulatory functions (127-129). Furthermore, Treg also express both Fas and Fas ligand and can be targeted and killed by effector T cells without necessarily being infected. Several studies indicate that myeloid dendritic cells (mDCs) can contribute to Treg induction by promoting conversion of conventional CD4+ T cells into Treg (130, 131). However, it has been shown that in vitro HIV infection of mDCs not only impairs their capacity to induce Treg but can also trigger preferential targeting and killing of Treg via a caspasedependent pathway (132), thus contributing to numerical loss of Treg. Changes in the levels of chemokines expressed within certain tissues, together with diminished levels of TGF- β and IL-2 can also result in the loss of Treg in that particular organ. For example, altered expression of ligands for CXCR3, CCR4, and CCR7 was associated with a loss of Treg in lymph nodes during simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection (133). Other mechanisms for reduced Treg frequencies may include increased apoptosis, reduced proliferation and survival, as well as impaired peripheral Treg induction. As discussed earlier, Treg may also be lost by conversion to exFoxp3 T cells under certain inflammatory cytokine milieu.

IMBALANCES IN IMMUNO-REGULATORY AND IMMUNO-STIMULATORY PROCESSES CAN CAUSE CANCER

Increased risk of cancer is often associated with poorly regulated immune responses (**Figure 4**) constituting unresolved inflammation as a result of perturbations in the balance of tumoricidal and tumorigenic activities (134, 135). Treg play a crucial role in maintaining optimum balance between these two arms of the immune response and persistent viruses are known to trigger production of IL-10 and TGF- β (136) to ensure induction and maintenance



comprising both the innate and adaptive components leads to effective virus clearance and stable memory cell formation, which is effective at rapidly countering subsequent infections. Under this scenario, regulatory mechanisms kick in to prevent tissue damage after virus clearance. However, in the case of persistent antigenic stimulation (**B**) such as caused by HIV, HCV, and HBV, there is continuous generation of effector immune cells that are

of adequate numbers of Treg in circulation. In some cases, viruses express homologs of immunosuppressive cytokines or cytokine receptors, such as the well-described human cytomegalovirus (HCMV)-IL-10 and EBV-IL-10 homologs (137, 138), which allow them to directly influence Treg induction or modulate the immune system via other mechanisms including impaired production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, as well as MHC class II down-regulation (136). As mentioned earlier, viruses can also promote Treg induction by disrupting the normal activation cascade of dendritic cells and other antigen presenting cells. Furthermore, inflammatory micro-environments are enriched with type 2 macrophages (M2) and MDSC, which also enhance recruitment of Treg, besides directly suppressing antigen-specific effector T cells (19, 139, 140). Additionally, antigen-specific CD8+ Treg are frequently detected in chronic HIV (141, 142), HCV (57, 143), and herpes virus infections (144, 145). The increased numbers of Treg and other immunosuppressive mechanisms serve to actively prevent excessive immune activation and the associated immunopathology, but by so doing, they block antigenspecific effector immune responses that are essential for clearing the pathogen and for tumor immune-surveillance. The resulting immune impairment allows chronic pathogen persistence and an overwhelming state of recurrent inflammation, thus favoring cancer establishment.

Incapable of clearing the pathogen. This leads to a state of chronic inflammation that in turn triggers regulatory pathways such as increased production of suppressive cytokines and recruitment of Treg and MDSC to dampen excessive immune responses and prevent tissue damage (136). But as fate would have it, such potent regulatory responses also inhibit anti-tumor effector responses leading to loss of tumor immune-surveillance and subsequently cancer initiation and progression. In certain contrasting scenarios such as IBD, impaired regulatory mechanisms **(C)** can result in chronic inflammation, which initiates carcinogenesis. Furthermore, uncontrolled B cell activation during HIV and EBV infections is associated with increased risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (147). NO, nitric oxide; iNOS, nitric oxide synthase.

Besides the direct disruption of tumor immune-surveillance, establishment of chronic inflammation creates a suppressive tumor-promoting microenvironment, which is enriched with IL-10, TGF-β, and other pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-17, known to be angiogenic and to contribute to tumor cell survival and growth (148, 149). In the presence of IL-6, TGF- β can further up-regulate ROR-yt expression leading to enhanced Th17 differentiation (150-152) and increased risk of cancer progression (148, 153–155). Moreover, as discussed earlier, Foxp3+ Treg in certain inflammatory environments can express IL-17, which together with hypoxic conditions could play a role in generation of cancer initiating cells (156). As highlighted in earlier sections, inflammatory environments can also induce phenotypic and functional impairments in immuno-regulatory cells thus leading to dysfunctional immune-regulation and increased risk of cancer. However, whether increased incidence of cancer in individuals with chronic virus infection and inflammation is due to increased suppression of tumor immunity as a result of increased frequency and suppressive activity of immuno-regulatory cells, due to failure of regulatory cells to prevent excessive immune activation and inflammation, or due to enhanced oncogenic potential of the carcinogen remains a subject of intense debate. In this review, I will focus on the contradictory roles of immunoregulatory cells where they can cause cancer by either exerting potent suppression of effector immune responses that inhibit tumor immune-surveillance (e.g., during chronic virus infections) or through their functional impairment and inability to execute effective suppression of pathogenic effector immune responses (e.g., during IBD).

THE DELICATE BALANCE BETWEEN IMMUNITY AND REGULATION IN HIV INFECTION AND DISEASE

Although HIV can exist in latent reservoirs for many years, it is a chronic persistent virus characterized by the continuous presence of infectious virus and thus chronic immune activation, persistent inflammation, and concurrent CD4+ T cell loss are all observed (157–159). Thus, increased numbers of fully functional regulatory mechanisms become necessary to counteract the ongoing inflammatory processes. However, Treg, which are instrumental in counteracting immune activation and inflammation by actively suppressing effector immune responses can also be detrimental by inhibiting T cell responses that control HIV replication. An appropriate immune response must therefore not disturb this delicate balance, by aiming to maximize the "good" immune responses, which control the virus while minimizing the "bad" immune responses that cause pathology.

Although still a subject of intense debate, a number of studies have demonstrated increased frequencies of Treg during HIV-1 infection and more especially in the chronic stages that mark progression to AIDS (128, 160-163). Studies looking at tissue distribution revealed accumulation of Treg at sites of HIV infection and replication such as the gastrointestinal mucosa and lymph nodes (59, 60, 128, 164). With such increased frequencies and especially given the suppressive role of Treg, it follows that progression of HIV-1 infection to chronic disease could in fact be a consequence of suppressed T cell function. Indeed, robust CD8+ and CD4+ T cell responses (characterized by high proliferation, IFN- γ production, and cytotoxicity), which correlate with HIV control in a minority of infected people usually diminish during chronic infection, coinciding with increased Treg numbers. Depleting Treg was shown to restore the in vitro effector immune functions of these cells (59, 165). Lower levels of Treg and a corresponding higher level of HIV-specific T cell responses have been observed in individuals who naturally control HIV-1 in the absence of HAART, i.e., the LTNPs and Elite controllers (160). Furthermore, depletion of Treg in cord blood samples of HIV-exposed uninfected neonates (166) was shown to augment both CD4+ and CD8+ HIV-specific T cell responses. These findings, together with the observation that Treg frequencies are reduced in HIV-infected patients on HAART (160, 164, 167, 168) provide compelling evidence that Treg impinge on immune control of HIV and strongly support immunotherapeutic interventions that reduce their numbers or impair their functions.

Whereas depleting Treg or interfering with their suppressive function might seem plausible in the context of immune function restoration, in fact several studies indicate that reduced Treg frequencies correlate with increased immune activation, which is in turn significantly associated with higher plasma viral loads (169, 170). Treg can therefore prevent collateral damage during chronic HIV infection by limiting immune activation, while at the same time reducing the pool of activated CD4+ T cell targets that would become susceptible to HIV infection. Accordingly, it is thought that the high frequencies of Treg found in highly exposed persistently sero-negative (HESN) individuals (171) and in the in utero HIV-exposed uninfected neonates (166) contribute to resistance to HIV infection by significantly reducing the numbers of activated target CD4+ T cells. These studies suggest that Treg may be beneficial at least to some extent, not only in HIV-infected individuals where they could limit immune activation, but also in highly exposed individuals with a greater risk of HIV infection. However, given that LTNPs and elite controllers exhibit both lower levels of immune activation and lower Treg frequencies (172), while at the same time mounting robust HIV-specific immune responses that inhibit virus replication, it is plausible to suggest that Treg are dispensable in HIV immunity, although caution must be exercised as LTNPs and elite controllers represent a very small proportion of HIV-infected individuals, in whom protective HLA alleles are over-represented.

Contrary to these findings, many studies document persistence of immune activation in the presence of elevated Treg frequencies, suggesting that perhaps the suppressive activities of the Treg found in chronic HIV infection are not sufficient to completely reverse the state of chronic immune activation. Indeed, it has been demonstrated that higher frequencies of Treg exist in HIVinfected individuals with progressive disease (173), but their ability to suppress HIV-specific T cells is significantly reduced, which in turn leads to inability to control HIV-associated aberrant immune activation (111, 161, 174). This is in fact discredited by studies demonstrating the existence of functionally suppressive Treg in progressive HIV-1 disease (59, 165, 175), hence suggesting that failure to reduce immune activation may be due to overwhelming levels of persistent stimulation rather than functional impairment of Treg. Thus, it is possible that high Treg frequencies found in chronic HIV infection are a result of failed attempts to reduce the state of chronic persistent antigenic stimulation (176, 177).

Faced with this paradox, timings of when to initiate interventions remain critical to achieving desirable outcomes. Whereas, immune-based therapies aimed at increasing the frequencies of Treg such as IL-2 therapy may only serve to suppress anti-HIV immunity and provide more targets for HIV, and thus not offer clinical benefit earlier in HIV infection (178, 179), they might indeed become useful during the chronic stages in order to limit immune activation (169, 170). Conversely, depleting Treg during the early stages of infection will allow for generation of robust immune responses capable of controlling virus replication and preventing establishment of latent reservoirs (126).

HIV-ASSOCIATED IMMUNE DYSFUNCTION PREDISPOSES TO MALIGNANCIES

The existence of a few HIV-infected individuals with robust HIVspecific immune responses who maintain very low virus loads for many years without treatment and only progress to AIDS following viral immune escape demonstrates constant immune-surveillance that keeps the virus in check. In these individuals, a normal balance between the effector and regulatory immune responses exists, whereby effective immune responses occur without excessive immune hyper-activation that causes T cell exhaustion and functional impairment. However, in a majority of HIV-infected people, the immune system does not control virus replication, leading to continuous immune stimulation with high antigen loads and generates a large pool of immune-effector cells that are by far inadequate in controlling the virus. This can be either due to anergy, functional exhaustion, or immune escape (157), as described earlier. Furthermore, HIV directly infects CD4+ T cells and this leads to the progressive diminution of T helper functions and immune incapacitation that marks progression to AIDS.

Besides these, a number of immuno-regulatory mechanisms triggered to prevent immune activation and inflammation also suppress immune-effector functions and sustain chronic virus persistence. For example, during chronic HIV infection, the expansion of Treg (180) with potent suppressive activity within mucosal tissues not only contributes to persistence of HIV, but also reduces immune vigilance and predisposes to HPV and cervical cancer. Moreover, HIV-1 gp120 has recently been shown to induce IL-6 and a concomitant expansion of MDSC (181), which contribute to immune suppression by modulating cytokine and cellular responses as well as inducing the differentiation and expansion of Treg (182). Large amounts of B cell activation-associated cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-10 are produced during chronic HIV infection and can also increase the numbers and suppressive capacity of MDSC leading to further suppression of effective immune responses. Indeed, higher levels of MDSC are associated with chronic progressive HIV disease (183). The decline of both IL-6 levels and Treg numbers following HAART-mediated immune restoration strongly supports their role in immune modulation during HIV-1 progression. A highly immunosuppressive environment with increased numbers of Treg, MDSC, and suppressive cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF-B is strongly associated with increased risk of cancer (19, 182, 184, 185). Thus, HIV-1 can be classified as indirect carcinogen that perturbs immune balance through immune suppression and a concomitant loss of tumor immune-surveillance to set the stage for oncogenic tumor viruses (186).

Another consequence of HIV-driven impairment of the immune system is the hyper-activation and uncontrolled proliferation of B cells, which not only favors secondary infection by oncogenic viruses (187) such as KSHV and EBV but also increases significantly the potential of chromosomal translocations and oncogenic mutations. A few studies have linked HIV infection with chronic B cell hyper-activation (147, 188) and lymphomagenesis, for example, increased incidence of Burkitt lymphoma in HIVinfected individuals or those persistently exposed to Plasmodium falciparum in malaria endemic regions where their B cells are in constant stimulation by these antigens (189). HIV-1 can also act directly via gp120 to induce B cell activation and subsequent development of lymphomas (190). Moreover, incorporation of CD40L into HIV virions stimulates B cell activation via interactions with CD40, resulting in production of B cell activating cytokines such as IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, and GM-CSF (191, 192). Indeed, HIV-associated lymphomas are often the aggressive B cell lymphomas, directly supporting a role for HIV in altering the B cell phenotypic and proliferative characteristics.

Therefore, the profound T cell dysfunction, progressive depletion of CD4+ T cells, B cell hyper-activation, together with the increased immuno-regulatory mechanisms all collude to actively impede tumor immune-surveillance and create a permissive environment for cancer initiation and progression. This is a classic example of a "vicious cycle of immune responses" where an effector immune response to a pathogen (in this case HIV) is induced during the initial stages of infection, but somehow fails to eliminate the pathogen, and regulatory mechanisms are triggered in order to restore immune balance and limit excessive inflammation and pathology, yet such regulatory mechanisms actively suppress the anti-tumor immune-surveillance processes and predispose to increased risk of cancer.

HIV-ASSOCIATED MALIGNANCIES

Cancer is a complex multistep process involving many molecular events, which together with the carcinogen or oncogenic virus infection work in concert to generate a transformed cellular phenotype. However, immune response is an important extrinsic factor that determines whether or not cancer occurs following exposure to potential carcinogens. While the immune system of healthy individuals limits proliferation of pre-malignant cells by recognizing and deleting cells that express potentially oncogenic viral proteins, these pre-transformed cells go unchecked and become malignant in immuno-compromised individuals, hence the increased incidence of cancer in transplant patients and those with congenital or secondary immunodeficiency disorders. HIV is not directly oncogenic but it is significantly associated with several lymphoid malignancies known to arise in immuno-compromised individuals who become infected with oncogenic viruses such as HPV, EBV, or KSHV (7). Surveillance data estimates the risk of developing NHL at 60- to 200-fold in people with progressive HIV disease compared to the uninfected population, while that of Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) is 8- to 10-fold, thus supporting the active role of the immune system in controlling cancer. Plausibly, HIV-mediated immune dysregulation contributes to immune escape of these viruses thus allowing for proliferation and emergence of stable populations of virally transformed cells that are not efficiently recognized and eliminated by the host's immune system (187, 193, 194). A wide body of literature documents several AIDSdefining malignancies in the pre-HAART era, but for the purposes of illustrating how immune dysregulation sets a microenvironment conducive for cancer development, this section will draw examples from HIV-associated predisposition to cervical cancer and KS.

HIV-1, KSHV, AND KAPOSI SARCOMA

The non-redundant role of host immunity in the control of viral cancers is well-illustrated by KS, which is more prevalent in untreated HIV/AIDS patients, mainly due to immunosuppression (195). KSHV was discovered as the causative agent of KS in 1994 (196), however, infection with this virus alone is not sufficient to cause KS in healthy immuno-competent individuals. Indeed, the incidence of KS in the general population remains very low (around 1/100,000), but increases dramatically to around 1/20 amongst HIV-infected people (197) and almost 1/3 HIV-infected homosexual men in the pre-HAART era (198). Furthermore, countries in which KS was endemic before the AIDS epidemic have seen a sharp increase in the incidence, with almost half of HIV-infected individuals who acquire KSHV infection going on
to develop KS (199). However, within the endemic areas or in the high risk groups, most HIV-negative KSHV-infected individuals do not develop KS, indicating that HIV-associated immune impairment predisposes to KS development.

HIV-1, HPV, AND CERVICAL CANCER

Human papilloma viruses are the main etiological factor for cervical cancer (200). Of these, HPV-16 and HPV-18 are linked with cervical and anogenital cancers hence are classified as high risk genotypes. As with other cancers, the immune system is central in the pathogenesis of HPV and cervical cancer. In immunocompetent individuals, robust HPV-specific immune responses comprising B and T cells are generated and these correlate with spontaneous resolution of HPV (201, 202), demonstrating that host immunity can be sufficient to clear HPV infection. In particular, a Th1 cytokine profile is instrumental in HPV clearance and prevention of viral persistence. Thus, detection of both humoral and cellular responses including T helper cells induces regression of cervical lesions (203, 204), whereas T helper cell impairment leads to cancer development (205). Natural killer cells also play a protective role by directly lysing HPV-infected cells and initiating regression of squamous intraepithelial lesions (SIL) (206, 207).

Despite the existence of strong HPV-specific immune responses in HPV-infected individuals, progression to HPV-associated malignancies does occur in some individuals due to escape from immune-surveillance caused by immune dysfunction as discussed earlier. Central to this is the systemic enrichment of Treg, which correlates with HPV persistence and is frequently detected in patients who develop high grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (208, 209). Furthermore, mucosal enrichment of Treg, which is often associated with diminished cellular immunity in the cervical mucosa has been observed and is linked with the severe forms of cervical carcinoma (210, 211). Higher frequencies of HPV-specific Treg are found in the stroma, intraepithelial tissues and tumor draining lymph nodes of cervical cancer patients where they suppress alloreactive CD4+ responder T cells (212, 213). Depletion of Treg in the *in vitro* experiments resulted in increased production of IFN-y. Besides enhanced Treg-mediated immunosuppression, the profound immune dysfunction resulting from HIV-1 infection and the concomitant loss of CD4+ T cells collude to create an environment permissive for HPV persistence and cervical cancer. This can be directly deduced from the increased incidence of cervical cancer and prolonged persistence of SIL in immunosuppressed women with progressive HIV disease (214-216). In fact, cervical cancer was designated as an AIDS-defining illness in 1993 (217), strongly implicating HIV-driven immune impairment as a major factor favoring the progression from HPV infection to cancer development.

IMMUNE RESTORATION OR HIV SUPPRESSION REDUCES HIV-ASSOCIATED MALIGNANCIES

There is consensus that HIV-associated malignancies arise mainly due to loss of immune-surveillance caused by a dysfunctional immune system. Indeed, the severity of these malignancies correlates positively with the degree of immune impairment as measured by the extent of CD4+T cell depletion and HIV viral burden. Moreover, the incidence of AIDS-defining malignancies has significantly reduced since the wide-scale implementation of HAART, strongly suggesting better immune control following reconstitution by HAART or perhaps a direct impact of HAART on the replication of EBV, HPV, and KSHV. Therefore, it seems that interventions which limit virus production and prevent chronic antigenic stimulation can effectively reduce immune activation and inflammation, restore effector immune functions through homeostatic equilibration of immuno-stimulatory and regulatory mechanisms, and lead to reduced incidences of HIVassociated malignancies. Recent studies indicate that the increased frequency and suppressive function of Treg observed during chronic HIV infection decreases significantly following HAART initiation (167). This is accompanied by reduced levels of immune activation and enhanced immune-effector functions, which are in turn associated with decreased prevalence and increased regression of cervical lesions in HAART-treated HPV-infected patients (218–220), thus supporting a role for immune reconstitution in the control of HPV and associated cancers. These observations provide evidence for a strong causative link between HIV-mediated immune dysregulation and the onset of HIV-associated cancers (NHL, KS, and cervical cancer) whose incidence has reduced significantly since the introduction of HAART.

HCV/HBV-DRIVEN IMMUNE DYSREGULATION PREDISPOSES TO HEPATOCELLULAR CARCINOMA

Unlike HIV, which directly targets the immune cells (CD4+ T cells) causing their deletion and loss of T helper functions, HBV and HCV target the liver and replicate in hepatocytes. These viruses have also evolved multiple mechanisms to escape immune elimination and can establish chronic persistence and replicate in infected hosts for many years. Epidemiological studies indicate a strong link between chronic HBV/HCV persistence with the development of liver disease, initially manifesting as chronic hepatitis, and leading on to nodular fibrosis that can progress to cirrhosis and eventually hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). These processes are characterized by inflammation and oxidative stress owing to the influx of several cell types including NK, NKT, and PMN leukocytes, which accumulate in inflammatory lesions in the liver and contribute to inflammation and liver damage. In a majority of infected individuals, robust and poly functional T cell responses are generated causing clearance of acute infection, while in a minority of those infected, both low frequencies and narrowly focused virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses in the liver correlate with persistent chronic infection and increased risk of HCC (221). Furthermore, defects in HBV-specific CD8+ T cells characterized by exhaustion and increased expression of pro-apoptotic mediators have been reported (222). Thus, although virus-specific lymphocytes can be readily detected in inflammatory lesions in the liver, they are often defective and not sufficient to clear virus infection (223). Moreover, weaker CD4+ T cell proliferative responses have been reported (224).

Infection with HBV and HCV is known to induce IL-10 and TGF- β (72, 73), which in turn induce the expansion of Treg to maintain a tolerogenic environment in the liver. HCV-specific impairment of dendritic cell function can also lead to increased numbers of Treg, and these have been found in both the blood and liver of patients with chronic HBV and HCV infection and HCC

(185), where they correlate with in vitro suppression of antigenspecific effector responses (225). These effector responses were enhanced by depleting Treg (54, 226). Overall, immune function restoration and inhibition of viral replication following treatment with anti-HBV drugs is associated with diminished Treg expression (227). Thus, persistence of weak, defective, and narrowly directed T cell responses coupled with high numbers of immuneregulatory cells and increased levels of suppressive cytokines act to promote chronic liver disease and progression to HCC. Indeed, patients with HCC often have increased Treg numbers in blood and within tumors, and the tumor-infiltrating CD8+ and CD4+ T cells have been found to be dysfunctional (228), suggesting a possible link between immune disruption and the pathogenesis of HCC. Other factors such as chronic unresolved inflammation can further support tumor growth via induction of angiogenic and tumor survival signals (229).

IMMUNE DYSREGULATION IN INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE AND COLORECTAL CANCER

Inflammatory bowel disease is characterized by an uncontrolled, microbe-induced chronic inflammatory state that increases the risk of colorectal cancer (CRC) by twofold (8, 9). These chronic inflammatory responses also drive carcinogenesis of colitisassociated cancer (230). Various cell types infiltrate the inflamed mucosa including MDSC, M2 macrophages, and Th17 cells, which promote tumor growth, and NK and CD8+ T cells, which either target and destroy or inhibit proliferation of CRC cells. These effects are mediated by cytokines such as IL-17A, IL-21, IL-6, and TNF- α that create a tumor-permissive environment versus IFN- γ , which exerts tumor-suppressive functions (231). IFN- γ protects from carcinogenesis by activating cytotoxic T cells as well as increasing the susceptibility of pre-malignant cells to cellmediated cytotoxicity, thus IFN-y-producing Th1 cells correlate with increased immune-surveillance and better prognosis in CRC patients (232).

Although IL-4- and IL-13-producing Th2 cells have been associated with increased tumor growth in humans (233) and in animal models using IFN- γ -/- and IL-4-/- deficient mice (234, 235), Th17 cells seem to be the most aggressive orchestrators of chronic inflammation during IBD and have a significant role in the initiation of CRC. This has been linked to IL-23, a cytokine known to induce high numbers of Th17 cells and a concomitant accumulation of pathogenic IL-17A+ IFN- γ + effector T cells, which cause intestinal pathology and correlate with poor prognosis in CRC (153, 236–238). Indeed, high frequencies of activated Th17 cells together with their signature cytokines are found in the intestinal and serum samples of patients with IBD, and also within the colon and blood samples from patients with CD. Furthermore, IL-23-mediated accumulation of IL-17+IL-22+ innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) in inflamed colons is associated with development of invasive colon cancer (239-241), while increased frequencies of IL-17+ILCs are often found in the intestines of patients with CD (242). The tumor-promoting feature of Th17 cells largely arises from secretion of large amounts of IL-17, which in turn induces expression of pro-inflammatory factors such as TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1, and iNOS, known to play a role in CRC pathogenesis (243). Mice that are deficient in ROR-yt, the transcription factor of Th17 cells

were shown to be resistant to chronic inflammation in models of colitis (244). Thus, immuno-regulatory pathways capable of limiting the induction and function of pathogenic Th17 effectors cells are required.

TREG PLAY A CRITICAL ROLE IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF IBD AND CRC

The pro-tumoral role of Treg in cancer establishment and progression is well-documented, and in fact a number of interventions that deplete Treg lead to improved prognosis of cancer patients. Furthermore, Treg depletion increases vaccine-mediated anti-tumor immunity (245) and can lead to eradication of established experimental tumors (210, 246). However, Treg play such a critical role in the maintenance of normal gut mucosal immunity by preventing chronic inflammatory responses to food antigens and commensal microflora (247), that inhibition of their function is associated with development of IBD (11, 12). Most astoundingly, increased infiltration of Treg in CRC correlates with a favorable prognosis (10), with several studies in experimental animal models providing evidence that Treg can prevent establishment of CRC (248, 249). This is thought to be through initiation of potent immuno-regulatory functions that prevent chronic inflammation, which would otherwise predispose to cancer establishment and growth. Under normal homeostatic conditions, high frequencies of Treg are found in the gut as it is a preferential site for peripheral Treg induction due to the abundant commensal micro-biota and CD103-producing DCs, which are specialized in inducing the differentiation of Treg from naïve CD4+ T cells (250, 251). However, inadequate regulatory functions are a major characteristic defect during IBD, suggesting alterations in the induction, maintenance, or even suppressive function of Treg. This section highlights some of the mechanisms of immune dysregulation that exacerbate the inflammatory state of IBD to set a stage for CRC.

TREG INDUCTION AND FUNCTION ARE IMPAIRED IN IBD AND CRC

Impaired frequency and function of Treg is one of the mechanisms of immune dysregulation that plays a central role in the pathogenesis of IBD. This is strongly associated with IL-23, a cytokine whose expression is increased in several human cancers including CRC (252). IL-23R signaling suppresses both the differentiation of Treg and IL-10 production by T cells, hence leading to intestinal pathology (236). Such pathology could be prevented by transfer of Treg or administration of Treg-related cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF-β1 (253). TGF-β signaling in tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes is associated with reduced tumor growth in animal models of CRC (254). Crucially, the frequency of Foxp3+ Treg in the colon increases in the absence of IL-23R signaling, indicating a role for IL-23 in controlling the induction and expansion of Treg (255). Since Treg are a source of both IL-10 and TGF-B, the key cytokines in immuno-regulation, it is plausible that IL-23-driven loss of Treg contributes significantly to immune dysregulation by overriding the immunosuppressive pathways in the intestine and favoring IBD and CRC development via generation of pathogenic Th17 effectors cells. Besides reduced numbers, Treg in IBD show altered phenotype and function, attributed to the local cytokine milieu arising from chronic inflammation of the intestinal mucosa. Perhaps, normal Treg in circulation migrate to the lamina propria during active inflammation in order to maintain homeostasis, but on encountering various cytokines within the inflamed mucosa, they undergo phenotypic and functional modifications turning into dual inflammatory and regulatory Foxp3+IL-17+ Treg, which produce large amounts of IFN- γ and IL-17, and moderate amounts of TNF- α and IL-2 (102, 103).

IL-10 PROTECTS AGAINST IBD AND CRC

IL-10 deficiency increases susceptibility to IBD-associated CRC, where it is associated with poor prognosis (256). Mice lacking IL-10 were shown to be highly susceptible to colitis-associated CRC following *Helicobacter hepaticus* infection, and this could be prevented by exogenous administration of IL-10 (257–259), further demonstrating a critical role for IL-10 in the pathogenesis of CRC. It is thought that IL-10 deficiency leads to elevated levels of TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-17, which in turn allow persistence of chronic inflammation (260) thus promoting tumor growth.

BI-FUNCTIONAL IMMUNE-EFFECTOR CELLS CAN PROMOTE IBD AND CRC

Intriguingly, a single cell type can exhibit bi-functional immune characteristics by co-producing effector and suppressor cytokines, thus may have the potential to exert both tumor-promoting and tumor-suppressive functions, depending on the microenvironment. For example, as mentioned above, CD8+ T cells express cytotoxic molecules, which kill CRC cells in addition to secreting IFN- γ , which augments the anti-tumor response (261, 262). However, in some cases of IBD, infiltration of CD8+ T cells does not correlate with improved prognosis (263) and this is linked to elevated perforin and granzyme levels, which sustain the tumor-promoting chronic inflammation (264). Accordingly, perforin deficient mice develop less severe colitis and much fewer tumors in experimental models of colitis-associated CRC (265). Similar bi-functional characteristics have been observed in NKT cells, which exert protective cytotoxic functions, but also secrete Th1, Th2, and Th17 cytokines that could act as enhancers or suppressors of tumor immunity. Increased infiltration of IFN- γ -secreting NKT cells correlates with tumor immunity, which is reflected in increased disease-free survival of CRC patients (266, 267). Conversely, Th2 NKT cells that secrete the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-13, may contribute to colitis-associated CRC (268, 269). These studies demonstrate that CD8+ T cells and NKT cells can simultaneously exert pro-tumoral and anti-tumoral responses, and that perhaps pro-tumoral responses predominate during progressive IBD and CRC. Arguably, intervention strategies targeted at these bi-functional effector cells may result in undesirable outcomes.

INTERVENTIONS

As discussed earlier, some settings such as inflammatory autoimmune diseases will require interventions that boost the immunoregulatory arm of the immune response. Such may include immunotherapeutic agents that expand Treg numbers and enhance suppressive function to effectively curtail chronic inflammation. Therapeutic vaccines to restore immune tolerance could benefit from adjuvants that induce adaptive Treg without generating functional effector cells (270). Other measures such as restoration of TGF- β and IL-10, together with IL-2 administration can help to maintain Treg numbers and Foxp3 expression, thus sustaining functional regulation. In other inflammatory settings such as IBD and colon cancer, measures that enhance Treg differentiation and expansion and restore suppressive function, for example, blockade of IL-23 signaling with the concurrent depletion of IFN-y and IL-2 to impede generation of pathogenic exFoxp3 Treg might be desirable. Additionally, induction of stable expression of site-specific homing and chemokine receptors in Treg can confer the ability to migrate to preferential sites of chronic inflammation, for example, CCR4 for migration to the lung airways during allergic inflammation, CXCR4 for migration to the bone marrow, and CCR4/CCR9/CD62L/ $\alpha_4\beta_7/\alpha_E$ (CD103) β_7 for migration to the intestinal mucosa of IBD patients. However, in cases where immuno-regulatory responses are detrimental then immune deregulation interventions are required. Such can include administration of cytokines and/or antibodies that inhibit Treg induction and expansion, suppressive function, and recruitment via blockade of chemokine receptors (124). Interventions such as concurrent CTLA-4 blockade and vaccination (271-273), combined CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 blockade (274), and Treg depletion (275-277) have been successfully used to ameliorate Tregmediated immune pathologies and cancer. Measures to reverse exhaustion and restore immune function in chronic infections include blockade of the PD-1:PD-L1/PD-L2 pathway and MDSC development. PD-1/PD-L1 blockade restores HIV-specific T cell function in vitro (33, 34, 278), and clinical benefit is also documented in cancer patients (279, 280). In some instances, combined blockade of PD-1 and LAG-3 or PD-1 and TIM-3 synergistically improves T cell responses leading to better virus control (43, 45). Very recently, a study utilizing a mouse model of retrovirus infection showed that combining the blockade of inhibitory receptors PD-1 and Tim-3, together with Treg ablation was more efficient in reducing chronic virus load compared with either strategy on its own (281). Functional blockade, developmental inhibition, or physical deletion of MDSC was shown to enhance the efficacy of cancer vaccines in animal models (282-284).

CONCLUSION

The role of the immune system in inflammation and carcinogenesis is highly influenced by the microenvironment, thus some disease settings can display unique characteristics where immunoregulatory processes are highly beneficial to the host but in other cases quite detrimental and predispose to pathogen persistence and increased risk of cancer. This calls for tailor-matched interventions, which are quite promising, however caution must be exercised since blocking an inhibitory pathway might re-invigorate the immune system to achieve disease control on one hand, but exacerbate immune activation and inflammation on the other. Overall, the timings of these interventions will be crucial in order to achieve favorable outcomes.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Beatrice Omusiro Ondondo is an immunologist employed on a research grant supported by MRC UK.

REFERENCES

 zur Hausen H. Oncogenic DNA viruses. Oncogene (2001) 20(54):7820–3. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1204958

- Pardoll D. Does the immune system see tumors as foreign or self? Annu Rev Immunol (2003) 21:807–39. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141135
- Shankaran V, Ikeda H, Bruce AT, White JM, Swanson PE, Old LJ, et al. IFNgamma and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. *Nature* (2001) 410(6832):1107–11. doi:10.1038/ 35074122
- Ramsdell F, Fowlkes BJ. Maintenance of in vivo tolerance by persistence of antigen. Science (1992) 257(5073):1130–4. doi:10.1126/science.257.5073.1130
- Utzschneider DT, Legat A, Fuertes Marraco SA, Carrie L, Luescher I, Speiser DE, et al. T cells maintain an exhausted phenotype after antigen withdrawal and population reexpansion. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(6):603–10. doi:10.1038/ ni.2606
- Virgin HW, Wherry EJ, Ahmed R. Redefining chronic viral infection. *Cell* (2009) 138(1):30–50. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.06.036
- 7. Wood C, Harrington W Jr. AIDS and associated malignancies. *Cell Res* (2005) **15**(11–12):947–52. doi:10.1038/sj.cr.7290372
- Eaden JA, Abrams KR, Mayberry JF. The risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: a meta-analysis. *Gut* (2001) 48(4):526–35. doi:10.1136/gut.48.4.526
- Bernstein CN, Blanchard JF, Kliewer E, Wajda A. Cancer risk in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based study. *Cancer* (2001) **91**(4):854–62. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(20010215)91:4<854::AID-CNCR1073>3.0.CO;2-Z
- Ladoire S, Martin F, Ghiringhelli F. Prognostic role of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells infiltrating human carcinomas: the paradox of colorectal cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2011) 60(7):909–18. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1046-y
- Wang Y, Liu XP, Zhao ZB, Chen JH, Yu CG. Expression of CD4+ forkhead box P3 (FOXP3)+ regulatory T cells in inflammatory bowel disease. *J Dig Dis* (2011) 12(4):286–94. doi:10.1111/j.1751-2980.2011.00505.x
- Chinen T, Volchkov PY, Chervonsky AV, Rudensky AY. A critical role for regulatory T cell-mediated control of inflammation in the absence of commensal microbiota. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(11):2323–30. doi:10.1084/jem.20101235
- Collins KL, Chen BK, Kalams SA, Walker BD, Baltimore D. HIV-1 Nef protein protects infected primary cells against killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Nature* (1998) **391**(6665):397–401. doi:10.1038/34929
- Schwartz O, Marechal V, Le Gall S, Lemonnier F, Heard JM. Endocytosis of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules is induced by the HIV-1 Nef protein. Nat Med (1996) 2(3):338–42. doi:10.1038/nm0396-338
- Groux H, O'Garra A, Bigler M, Rouleau M, Antonenko S, de Vries JE, et al. A CD4+ T-cell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis. *Nature* (1997) 389(6652):737–42. doi:10.1038/39614
- Weiner HL. Induction and mechanism of action of transforming growth factor-beta-secreting Th3 regulatory cells. *Immunol Rev* (2001) 182:207–14. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2001.1820117.x
- 17. Beissert S, Schwarz A, Schwarz T. Regulatory T cells. J Invest Dermatol (2006) 126(1):15–24. doi:10.1038/sj.jid.5700399
- Vieira PL, Christensen JR, Minaee S, O'Neill EJ, Barrat FJ, Boonstra A, et al. IL-10-secreting regulatory T cells do not express Foxp3 but have comparable regulatory function to naturally occurring CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2004) 172(10):5986–93.
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(3):162–74. doi:10.1038/nri2506
- 20. Tang XL, Smith TR, Kumar V. Specific control of immunity by regulatory CD8 T cells. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2005) **2**(1):11–9.
- Cosmi L, Liotta F, Lazzeri E, Francalanci M, Angeli R, Mazzinghi B, et al. Human CD8+CD25+ thymocytes share phenotypic and functional features with CD4+CD25+ regulatory thymocytes. *Blood* (2003) **102**(12):4107–14. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-04-1320
- Endharti AT, Rifa IM, Shi Z, Fukuoka Y, Nakahara Y, Kawamoto Y, et al. Cutting edge: CD8+CD122+ regulatory T cells produce IL-10 to suppress IFNgamma production and proliferation of CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(11):7093–7.
- Ehlers M, Papewalis C, Stenzel W, Jacobs B, Meyer KL, Deenen R, et al. Immunoregulatory natural killer cells suppress autoimmunity by downregulating antigen-specific CD8+ T cells in mice. *Endocrinology* (2012) 153(9):4367–79. doi:10.1210/en.2012-1247
- 24. Ebata K, Shimizu Y, Nakayama Y, Minemura M, Murakami J, Kato T, et al. Immature NK cells suppress dendritic cell functions during the development of leukemia in a mouse model. *J Immunol* (2006) **176**(7):4113–24.

- Klenerman P, Hill A. T cells and viral persistence: lessons from diverse infections. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(9):873–9. doi:10.1038/ni1241
- Wherry EJ, Blattman JN, Murali-Krishna K, van der Most R, Ahmed R. Viral persistence alters CD8 T-cell immunodominance and tissue distribution and results in distinct stages of functional impairment. *J Virol* (2003) 77(8):4911–27. doi:10.1128/JVI.77.8.4911-4927.2003
- Shin H, Wherry EJ. CD8 T cell dysfunction during chronic viral infection. Curr Opin Immunol (2007) 19(4):408–15. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2007.06.004
- Shin H, Blackburn SD, Blattman JN, Wherry EJ. Viral antigen and extensive division maintain virus-specific CD8 T cells during chronic infection. J Exp Med (2007) 204(4):941–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20061937
- Francisco LM, Sage PT, Sharpe AH. The PD-1 pathway in tolerance and autoimmunity. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 236:219–42. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X. 2010.00923.x
- Nishimura H, Honjo T. PD-1: an inhibitory immunoreceptor involved in peripheral tolerance. *Trends Immunol* (2001) 22(5):265–8. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(01)01888-9
- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupuslike autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. *Immunity* (1999) 11(2):141–51. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)80089-8
- Nishimura H, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Nakatani K, Hara M, Matsumori A, et al. Autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1 receptor-deficient mice. *Science* (2001) 291(5502):319–22. doi:10.1126/science.291.5502.319
- 33. Day CL, Kaufmann DE, Kiepiela P, Brown JA, Moodley ES, Reddy S, et al. PD-1 expression on HIV-specific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. *Nature* (2006) 443(7109):350–4. doi:10.1038/nature05115
- 34. Trautmann L, Janbazian L, Chomont N, Said EA, Gimmig S, Bessette B, et al. Upregulation of PD-1 expression on HIV-specific CD8+ T cells leads to reversible immune dysfunction. *Nat Med* (2006) 12(10):1198–202. doi:10. 1038/nm1106-1329b
- 35. Zhang JY, Zhang Z, Wang X, Fu JL, Yao J, Jiao Y, et al. PD-1 up-regulation is correlated with HIV-specific memory CD8+ T-cell exhaustion in typical progressors but not in long-term nonprogressors. *Blood* (2007) 109(11):4671–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-09-044826
- Maier H, Isogawa M, Freeman GJ, Chisari FV. PD-1:PD-L1 interactions contribute to the functional suppression of virus-specific CD8+ T lymphocytes in the liver. J Immunol (2007) 178(5):2714–20.
- 37. Golden-Mason L, Palmer B, Klarquist J, Mengshol JA, Castelblanco N, Rosen HR. Upregulation of PD-1 expression on circulating and intrahepatic hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells associated with reversible immune dysfunction. *J Virol* (2007) **81**(17):9249–58. doi:10.1128/JVI.00409-07
- 38. Zhang Z, Zhang JY, Wherry EJ, Jin B, Xu B, Zou ZS, et al. Dynamic programmed death 1 expression by virus-specific CD8 T cells correlates with the outcome of acute hepatitis B. *Gastroenterology* (2008) 134(7):1938–49. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008.03.037
- Fisicaro P, Valdatta C, Massari M, Loggi E, Biasini E, Sacchelli L, et al. Antiviral intrahepatic T-cell responses can be restored by blocking programmed death-1 pathway in chronic hepatitis B. *Gastroenterology* (2010) 138(2):e1–4. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2009.09.052
- 40. D'Souza M, Fontenot AP, Mack DG, Lozupone C, Dillon S, Meditz A, et al. Programmed death 1 expression on HIV-specific CD4+ T cells is driven by viral replication and associated with T cell dysfunction. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(3):1979–87.
- Kaufmann DE, Kavanagh DG, Pereyra F, Zaunders JJ, Mackey EW, Miura T, et al. Upregulation of CTLA-4 by HIV-specific CD4+ T cells correlates with disease progression and defines a reversible immune dysfunction. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(11):1246–54. doi:10.1038/ni1515
- Petrovas C, Casazza JP, Brenchley JM, Price DA, Gostick E, Adams WC, et al. PD-1 is a regulator of virus-specific CD8+ T cell survival in HIV infection. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(10):2281–92. doi:10.1084/jem.20061496
- Blackburn SD, Shin H, Haining WN, Zou T, Workman CJ, Polley A, et al. Coregulation of CD8+ T cell exhaustion by multiple inhibitory receptors during chronic viral infection. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(1):29–37. doi:10.1038/ni.1679
- 44. Jones RB, Ndhlovu LC, Barbour JD, Sheth PM, Jha AR, Long BR, et al. Tim-3 expression defines a novel population of dysfunctional T cells with highly elevated frequencies in progressive HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med (2008) 205(12):2763–79. doi:10.1084/jem.20081398

- 45. Jin HT, Anderson AC, Tan WG, West EE, Ha SJ, Araki K, et al. Cooperation of Tim-3 and PD-1 in CD8 T-cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**(33):14733–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009731107
- 46. Yamamoto T, Price DA, Casazza JP, Ferrari G, Nason M, Chattopadhyay PK, et al. Surface expression patterns of negative regulatory molecules identify determinants of virus-specific CD8+ T-cell exhaustion in HIV infection. *Blood* (2011) 117(18):4805–15. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-11-317297
- 47. Nakamoto N, Cho H, Shaked A, Olthoff K, Valiga ME, Kaminski M, et al. Synergistic reversal of intrahepatic HCV-specific CD8 T cell exhaustion by combined PD-1/CTLA-4 blockade. *PLoS Pathog* (2009) 5(2):e1000313. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000313
- Homann D, McGavern DB, Oldstone MB. Visualizing the viral burden: phenotypic and functional alterations of T cells and APCs during persistent infection. *J Immunol* (2004) 172(10):6239–50.
- Sevilla N, McGavern DB, Teng C, Kunz S, Oldstone MB. Viral targeting of hematopoietic progenitors and inhibition of DC maturation as a dual strategy for immune subversion. J Clin Invest (2004) 113(5):737–45. doi:10.1172/ JCI20243
- Rodrigue-Gervais IG, Rigsby H, Jouan L, Sauve D, Sekaly RP, Willems B, et al. Dendritic cell inhibition is connected to exhaustion of CD8+ T cell polyfunctionality during chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(6):3134–44. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902522
- Chen L, Zhang Z, Chen W, Zhang Z, Li Y, Shi M, et al. B7-H1 up-regulation on myeloid dendritic cells significantly suppresses T cell immune function in patients with chronic hepatitis B. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(10):6634–41.
- Manches O, Munn D, Fallahi A, Lifson J, Chaperot L, Plumas J, et al. HIVactivated human plasmacytoid DCs induce Tregs through an indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-dependent mechanism. J Clin Invest (2008) 118(10):3431–9. doi:10.1172/JCI34823
- 53. Franzese O, Kennedy PT, Gehring AJ, Gotto J, Williams R, Maini MK, et al. Modulation of the CD8+-T-cell response by CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with hepatitis B virus infection. J Virol (2005) 79(6):3322–8. doi:10.1128/JVI.79.6.3322-3328.2005
- 54. Xu D, Fu J, Jin L, Zhang H, Zhou C, Zou Z, et al. Circulating and liver resident CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells actively influence the antiviral immune response and disease progression in patients with hepatitis B. *J Immunol* (2006) 177(1):739–47.
- 55. Barboza L, Salmen S, Goncalves L, Colmenares M, Peterson D, Montes H, et al. Antigen-induced regulatory T cells in HBV chronically infected patients. *Virology* (2007) 368(1):41–9. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2007.06.030
- Ebinuma H, Nakamoto N, Li Y, Price DA, Gostick E, Levine BL, et al. Identification and in vitro expansion of functional antigen-specific CD25+ FoxP3+ regulatory T cells in hepatitis C virus infection. *J Virol* (2008) 82(10):5043–53. doi:10.1128/JVI.01548-07
- 57. Accapezzato D, Francavilla V, Paroli M, Casciaro M, Chircu LV, Cividini A, et al. Hepatic expansion of a virus-specific regulatory CD8(+) T cell population in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Clin Invest* (2004) **113**(7):963–72. doi:10.1172/JCI20515
- Dolganiuc A, Paek E, Kodys K, Thomas J, Szabo G. Myeloid dendritic cells of patients with chronic HCV infection induce proliferation of regulatory T lymphocytes. *Gastroenterology* (2008) 135(6):2119–27. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008. 07.082
- 59. Kinter A, McNally J, Riggin L, Jackson R, Roby G, Fauci AS. Suppression of HIV-specific T cell activity by lymph node CD25+ regulatory T cells from HIV-infected individuals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) **104**(9):3390–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0611423104
- Nilsson J, Boasso A, Velilla PA, Zhang R, Vaccari M, Franchini G, et al. HIV-1-driven regulatory T-cell accumulation in lymphoid tissues is associated with disease progression in HIV/AIDS. *Blood* (2006) 108(12):3808–17. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-05-021576
- Bi X, Suzuki Y, Gatanaga H, Oka S. High frequency and proliferation of CD4+ FOXP3+ Treg in HIV-1-infected patients with low CD4 counts. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) **39**(1):301–9. doi:10.1002/eji.200838667
- Hall CH, Kassel R, Tacke RS, Hahn YS. HCV+ hepatocytes induce human regulatory CD4+ T cells through the production of TGF-beta. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(8):e12154. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0012154
- 63. Ward SM, Fox BC, Brown PJ, Worthington J, Fox SB, Chapman RW, et al. Quantification and localisation of FOXP3+ T lymphocytes and relation to hepatic

inflammation during chronic HCV infection. J Hepatol (2007) **47**(3):316–24. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2007.03.023

- Thornton AM, Shevach EM. Suppressor effector function of CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells is antigen nonspecific. *J Immunol* (2000) 164(1):183–90.
- 65. Cao S, Li Y, Ye J, Yang X, Chen L, Liu X, et al. Japanese encephalitis virus wild strain infection suppresses dendritic cells maturation and function, and causes the expansion of regulatory T cells. *Virol J* (2011) **8**:39. doi:10.1186/1743-422X-8-39
- Robertson SJ, Hasenkrug KJ. The role of virus-induced regulatory T cells in immunopathology. Springer Semin Immunopathol (2006) 28(1):51–62. doi:10.1007/s00281-006-0019-2
- Dittmer U, He H, Messer RJ, Schimmer S, Olbrich AR, Ohlen C, et al. Functional impairment of CD8(+) T cells by regulatory T cells during persistent retroviral infection. *Immunity* (2004) 20(3):293–303. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(04) 00054-8
- Brooks DG, Trifilo MJ, Edelmann KH, Teyton L, McGavern DB, Oldstone MB. Interleukin-10 determines viral clearance or persistence in vivo. *Nat Med* (2006) 12(11):1301–9. doi:10.1038/nm1492
- 69. Ejrnaes M, Filippi CM, Martinic MM, Ling EM, Togher LM, Crotty S, et al. Resolution of a chronic viral infection after interleukin-10 receptor blockade. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(11):2461–72. doi:10.1084/jem.20061462
- 70. Brockman MA, Kwon DS, Tighe DP, Pavlik DF, Rosato PC, Sela J, et al. IL-10 is up-regulated in multiple cell types during viremic HIV infection and reversibly inhibits virus-specific T cells. *Blood* (2009) 114(2):346–56. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-12-191296
- Clerici M, Wynn TA, Berzofsky JA, Blatt SP, Hendrix CW, Sher A, et al. Role of interleukin-10 in T helper cell dysfunction in asymptomatic individuals infected with the human immunodeficiency virus. *J Clin Invest* (1994) 93(2):768–75. doi:10.1172/JCI117031
- 72. Hyodo N, Nakamura I, Imawari M. Hepatitis B core antigen stimulates interleukin-10 secretion by both T cells and monocytes from peripheral blood of patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2004) **135**(3):462–6.
- Kaplan DE, Ikeda F, Li Y, Nakamoto N, Ganesan S, Valiga ME, et al. Peripheral virus-specific T-cell interleukin-10 responses develop early in acute hepatitis C infection and become dominant in chronic hepatitis. *J Hepatol* (2008) 48(6):903–13. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2008.01.030
- Maris CH, Chappell CP, Jacob J. Interleukin-10 plays an early role in generating virus-specific T cell anergy. *BMC Immunol* (2007) 8:8. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-8-8
- 75. Ohga S, Nomura A, Takada H, Tanaka T, Furuno K, Takahata Y, et al. Dominant expression of interleukin-10 and transforming growth factor-beta genes in activated T-cells of chronic active Epstein-Barr virus infection. J Med Virol (2004) 74(3):449–58. doi:10.1002/jmv.20197
- Letterio JJ, Roberts AB. Regulation of immune responses by TGF-beta. Annu Rev Immunol (1998) 16:137–61. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.16.1.137
- 77. Zhou X, Bailey-Bucktrout SL, Jeker LT, Penaranda C, Martinez-Llordella M, Ashby M, et al. Instability of the transcription factor Foxp3 leads to the generation of pathogenic memory T cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(9):1000–7. doi:10.1038/ni.1774
- Wan YY, Flavell RA. Regulatory T-cell functions are subverted and converted owing to attenuated Foxp3 expression. *Nature* (2007) 445(7129):766–70. doi:10.1038/nature05479
- Miyao T, Floess S, Setoguchi R, Luche H, Fehling HJ, Waldmann H, et al. Plasticity of Foxp3(+) T cells reflects promiscuous Foxp3 expression in conventional T cells but not reprogramming of regulatory T cells. *Immunity* (2012) 36(2):262–75. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.12.012
- Komatsu N, Mariotti-Ferrandiz ME, Wang Y, Malissen B, Waldmann H, Hori S. Heterogeneity of natural Foxp3+ T cells: a committed regulatory T-cell lineage and an uncommitted minor population retaining plasticity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2009) 106(6):1903–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0811556106
- Duarte JH, Zelenay S, Bergman ML, Martins AC, Demengeot J. Natural Treg cells spontaneously differentiate into pathogenic helper cells in lymphopenic conditions. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) 39(4):948–55. doi:10.1002/eji.200839196
- Gavin MA, Rasmussen JP, Fontenot JD, Vasta V, Manganiello VC, Beavo JA, et al. Foxp3-dependent programme of regulatory T-cell differentiation. *Nature* (2007) 445(7129):771–5. doi:10.1038/nature05543

- 83. Krishnamoorthy N, Khare A, Oriss TB, Raundhal M, Morse C, Yarlagadda M, et al. Early infection with respiratory syncytial virus impairs regulatory T cell function and increases susceptibility to allergic asthma. *Nat Med* (2012) 18(10):1525–30. doi:10.1038/nm.2896
- Tsuji M, Komatsu N, Kawamoto S, Suzuki K, Kanagawa O, Honjo T, et al. Preferential generation of follicular B helper T cells from Foxp3+ T cells in gut Peyer's patches. *Science* (2009) **323**(5920):1488–92. doi:10.1126/science. 1169152
- Zhou L, Lopes JE, Chong MM, Ivanov II, Min R, Victora GD, et al. TGF-betainduced Foxp3 inhibits T(H)17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORgammat function. *Nature* (2008) 453(7192):236–40. doi:10.1038/nature06878
- Osorio F, LeibundGut-Landmann S, Lochner M, Lahl K, Sparwasser T, Eberl G, et al. DC activated via dectin-1 convert Treg into IL-17 producers. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38(12):3274–81. doi:10.1002/eji.200838950
- Voo KS, Wang YH, Santori FR, Boggiano C, Wang YH, Arima K, et al. Identification of IL-17-producing FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106(12):4793–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0900408106
- Beriou G, Costantino CM, Ashley CW, Yang L, Kuchroo VK, Baecher-Allan C, et al. IL-17-producing human peripheral regulatory T cells retain suppressive function. *Blood* (2009) 113(18):4240–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-10-183251
- 89. Ayyoub M, Deknuydt F, Raimbaud I, Dousset C, Leveque L, Bioley G, et al. Human memory FOXP3+ Tregs secrete IL-17 ex vivo and constitutively express the T(H)17 lineage-specific transcription factor RORgamma t. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) **106**(21):8635–40. doi:10.1073/pnas.0900621106
- 90. Lochner M, Peduto L, Cherrier M, Sawa S, Langa F, Varona R, et al. In vivo equilibrium of proinflammatory IL-17+ and regulatory IL-10+ Foxp3+ RORgamma t+ T cells. J Exp Med (2008) 205(6):1381–93. doi:10.1084/jem. 20080034
- Wei G, Wei L, Zhu J, Zang C, Hu-Li J, Yao Z, et al. Global mapping of H3K4me3 and H3K27me3 reveals specificity and plasticity in lineage fate determination of differentiating CD4+ T cells. *Immunity* (2009) **30**(1):155–67. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.12.009
- Oldenhove G, Bouladoux N, Wohlfert EA, Hall JA, Chou D, Dos Santos L, et al. Decrease of Foxp3+ Treg cell number and acquisition of effector cell phenotype during lethal infection. *Immunity* (2009) 31(5):772–86. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.10.001
- Lindley S, Dayan CM, Bishop A, Roep BO, Peakman M, Tree TI. Defective suppressor function in CD4(+)CD25(+) T-cells from patients with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes (2005) 54(1):92–9. doi:10.2337/diabetes.54.1.92
- 94. Haas J, Hug A, Viehover A, Fritzsching B, Falk CS, Filser A, et al. Reduced suppressive effect of CD4+CD25high regulatory T cells on the T cell immune response against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35(11):3343–52. doi:10.1002/eji. 200526065
- Huan J, Culbertson N, Spencer L, Bartholomew R, Burrows GG, Chou YK, et al. Decreased FOXP3 levels in multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neurosci Res* (2005) 81(1):45–52. doi:10.1002/jnr.20522
- Viglietta V, Baecher-Allan C, Weiner HL, Hafler DA. Loss of functional suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Exp Med* (2004) 199(7):971–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20031579
- 97. Fletcher JM, Lonergan R, Costelloe L, Kinsella K, Moran B, O'Farrelly C, et al. CD39+Foxp3+ regulatory T Cells suppress pathogenic Th17 cells and are impaired in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2009) **183**(11):7602–10. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901881
- Astier AL, Meiffren G, Freeman S, Hafler DA. Alterations in CD46-mediated Tr1 regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest (2006) 116(12):3252–7. doi:10.1172/JCI29251
- Glick AB, Wodzinski A, Fu P, Levine AD, Wald DN. Impairment of regulatory T-cell function in autoimmune thyroid disease. *Thyroid* (2013) 23(7):871–8. doi:10.1089/thy.2012.0514
- 100. Arandi N, Mirshafiey A, Jeddi-Tehrani M, Shaghaghi M, Sadeghi B, Abolhassani H, et al. Alteration in frequency and function of CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in patients with immune thrombocytopenic purpura. *Iran J Allergy Asthma Immunol* (2014) **13**(2):85–92.
- 101. Komatsu N, Okamoto K, Sawa S, Nakashima T, Oh-Hora M, Kodama T, et al. Pathogenic conversion of Foxp3(+) T cells into TH17 cells in autoimmune arthritis. *Nat Med* (2014) **20**(1):62–8. doi:10.1038/nm.3432

- 102. Hovhannisyan Z, Treatman J, Littman DR, Mayer L. Characterization of interleukin-17-producing regulatory T cells in inflamed intestinal mucosa from patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. *Gastroenterology* (2011) 140(3):957–65. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2010.12.002
- 103. Kryczek I, Wu K, Zhao E, Wei S, Vatan L, Szeliga W, et al. IL-17+ regulatory T cells in the microenvironments of chronic inflammation and cancer. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(7):4388–95. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003251
- 104. Dominguez-Villar M, Baecher-Allan CM, Hafler DA. Identification of T helper type 1-like, Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in human autoimmune disease. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(6):673–5. doi:10.1038/nm.2389
- 105. Xu L, Kitani A, Fuss I, Strober W. Cutting edge: regulatory T cells induce CD4+CD25-Foxp3- T cells or self-induced to become Th17 cells in the absence of exogenous TGF-beta. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**(11):6725–9.
- 106. Yang XO, Nurieva R, Martinez GJ, Kang HS, Chung Y, Pappu BP, et al. Molecular antagonism and plasticity of regulatory and inflammatory T cell programs. *Immunity* (2008) 29(1):44–56. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.05.007
- 107. Nyirenda MH, Sanvito L, Darlington PJ, O'Brien K, Zhang GX, Constantinescu CS, et al. TLR2 stimulation drives human naive and effector regulatory T cells into a Th17-like phenotype with reduced suppressive function. *J Immunol* (2011) **187**(5):2278–90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003715
- Marie JC, Letterio JJ, Gavin M, Rudensky AY. TGF-beta1 maintains suppressor function and Foxp3 expression in CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* (2005) 201(7):1061–7. doi:10.1084/jem.20042276
- 109. Murai M, Turovskaya O, Kim G, Madan R, Karp CL, Cheroutre H, et al. Interleukin 10 acts on regulatory T cells to maintain expression of the transcription factor Foxp3 and suppressive function in mice with colitis. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(11):1178–84. doi:10.1038/ni.1791
- 110. Li MO, Sanjabi S, Flavell RA. Transforming growth factor-beta controls development, homeostasis, and tolerance of T cells by regulatory T celldependent and -independent mechanisms. *Immunity* (2006) 25(3):455–71. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.07.011
- 111. Pion M, Jaramillo-Ruiz D, Martinez A, Munoz-Fernandez MA, Correa-Rocha R. HIV infection of human regulatory T cells downregulates Foxp3 expression by increasing DNMT3b levels and DNA methylation in the FOXP3 gene. *AIDS* (2013) **27**(13):2019–29. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e32836253fd
- 112. Franceschini D, Paroli M, Francavilla V, Videtta M, Morrone S, Labbadia G, et al. PD-L1 negatively regulates CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ Tregs by limiting STAT-5 phosphorylation in patients chronically infected with HCV. J Clin Invest (2009) 119(3):551–64. doi:10.1172/JCI36604
- 113. Iellem A, Colantonio L, D'Ambrosio D. Skin-versus gut-skewed homing receptor expression and intrinsic CCR4 expression on human peripheral blood CD4+CD25+ suppressor T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) **33**(6):1488–96. doi:10.1002/eji.200323658
- 114. Wysocki CA, Jiang Q, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Taylor PA, McKinnon KP, Su L, et al. Critical role for CCR5 in the function of donor CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells during acute graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* (2005) **106**(9):3300–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-04-1632
- 115. Yurchenko E, Tritt M, Hay V, Shevach EM, Belkaid Y, Piccirillo CA. CCR5dependent homing of naturally occurring CD4+ regulatory T cells to sites of *Leishmania major* infection favors pathogen persistence. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(11):2451–60. doi:10.1084/jem.20060956
- 116. Huehn J, Siegmund K, Lehmann JC, Siewert C, Haubold U, Feuerer M, et al. Developmental stage, phenotype, and migration distinguish naiveand effector/memory-like CD4+ regulatory T cells. J Exp Med (2004) 199(3):303–13. doi:10.1084/jem.20031562
- 117. Luster AD. The role of chemokines in linking innate and adaptive immunity. Curr Opin Immunol (2002) 14(1):129–35. doi:10.1016/S0952-7915(01)00308-9
- 118. Yuan Q, Bromley SK, Means TK, Jones KJ, Hayashi F, Bhan AK, et al. CCR4dependent regulatory T cell function in inflammatory bowel disease. *J Exp Med* (2007) **204**(6):1327–34. doi:10.1084/jem.20062076
- Ondondo B, Jones E, Godkin A, Gallimore A. Home sweet home: the tumor microenvironment as a haven for regulatory T cells. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:197. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00197
- 120. Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. *Nat Med* (2004) **10**(9):942–9. doi:10.1038/ nm1093

- 121. Shields JD, Kourtis IC, Tomei AA, Roberts JM, Swartz MA. Induction of lymphoid like stroma and immune escape by tumors that express the chemokine CCL21. *Science* (2010) **328**(5979):749–52. doi:10.1126/science.1185837
- 122. Mizukami Y, Kono K, Kawaguchi Y, Akaike H, Kamimura K, Sugai H, et al. CCL17 and CCL22 chemokines within tumor microenvironment are related to accumulation of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in gastric cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2008) **122**(10):2286–93. doi:10.1002/ijc.23392
- 123. Tan MC, Goedegebuure PS, Belt BA, Flaherty B, Sankpal N, Gillanders WE, et al. Disruption of CCR5-dependent homing of regulatory T cells inhibits tumor growth in a murine model of pancreatic cancer. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(3):1746–55.
- 124. Sugiyama D, Nishikawa H, Maeda Y, Nishioka M, Tanemura A, Katayama I, et al. Anti-CCR4 mAb selectively depletes effector-type FoxP3+CD4+ regulatory T cells, evoking antitumor immune responses in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) **110**(44):17945–50. doi:10.1073/pnas.1316796110
- 125. Moreno-Fernandez ME, Zapata W, Blackard JT, Franchini G, Chougnet CA. Human regulatory T cells are targets for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, and their susceptibility differs depending on the HIV type 1 strain. *J Virol* (2009) 83(24):12925–33. doi:10.1128/JVI.01352-09
- 126. Jiang Q, Zhang L, Wang R, Jeffrey J, Washburn ML, Brouwer D, et al. FoxP3+CD4+ regulatory T cells play an important role in acute HIV-1 infection in humanized Rag2-/-gammaC-/- mice in vivo. *Blood* (2008) **112**(7):2858–68. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-03-145946
- 127. Kinter AL, Hennessey M, Bell A, Kern S, Lin Y, Daucher M, et al. CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells from the peripheral blood of asymptomatic HIV-infected individuals regulate CD4(+) and CD8(+) HIV-specific T cell immune responses in vitro and are associated with favorable clinical markers of disease status. *J Exp Med* (2004) **200**(3):331–43. doi:10.1084/jem.20032069
- 128. Andersson J, Boasso A, Nilsson J, Zhang R, Shire NJ, Lindback S, et al. The prevalence of regulatory T cells in lymphoid tissue is correlated with viral load in HIV-infected patients. *J Immunol* (2005) **174**(6):3143–7.
- 129. Chase AJ, Sedaghat AR, German JR, Gama L, Zink MC, Clements JE, et al. Severe depletion of CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells from the intestinal lamina propria but not peripheral blood or lymph nodes during acute simian immunodeficiency virus infection. J Virol (2007) 81(23):12748–57. doi:10.1128/JVI.00841-07
- Presicce P, Shaw JM, Miller CJ, Shacklett BL, Chougnet CA. Myeloid dendritic cells isolated from tissues of SIV-infected Rhesus macaques promote the induction of regulatory T cells. *AIDS* (2012) 26(3):263–73. doi:10.1097/QAD. 0b013e32834ed8df
- 131. Banerjee DK, Dhodapkar MV, Matayeva E, Steinman RM, Dhodapkar KM. Expansion of FOXP3high regulatory T cells by human dendritic cells (DCs) in vitro and after injection of cytokine-matured DCs in myeloma patients. *Blood* (2006) 108(8):2655–61. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-03-011353
- 132. Presicce P, Moreno-Fernandez ME, Rusie LK, Fichtenbaum C, Chougnet CA. In vitro HIV infection impairs the capacity of myeloid dendritic cells to induce regulatory T cells. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(8):e42802. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0042802
- 133. Qin S, Sui Y, Soloff AC, Junecko BA, Kirschner DE, Murphey-Corb MA, et al. Chemokine and cytokine mediated loss of regulatory T cells in lymph nodes during pathogenic simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(8):5530–6.
- 134. Khatami M. Inflammation, aging, and cancer: tumoricidal versus tumorigenesis of immunity: a common denominator mapping chronic diseases. *Cell Biochem Biophys* (2009) 55(2):55–79. doi:10.1007/s12013-009-9059-2
- 135. Khatami M. 'Yin and Yang' in inflammation: duality in innate immune cell function and tumorigenesis. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2008) 8(10):1461–72. doi:10.1517/14712598.8.10.1461
- 136. Rouse BT, Sehrawat S. Immunity and immunopathology to viruses: what decides the outcome? *Nat Rev Immunol* (2010) 10(7):514–26. doi:10.1038/ nri2802
- 137. Moore KW, Vieira P, Fiorentino DF, Trounstine ML, Khan TA, Mosmann TR. Homology of cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor (IL-10) to the Epstein-Barr virus gene BCRFI. *Science* (1990) 248(4960):1230–4. doi:10.1126/science. 2161559
- Slobedman B, Barry PA, Spencer JV, Avdic S, Abendroth A. Virus-encoded homologs of cellular interleukin-10 and their control of host immune function. J Virol (2009) 83(19):9618–29. doi:10.1128/JVI.01098-09

- 139. Liu J, Zhang N, Li Q, Zhang W, Ke F, Leng Q, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages recruit CCR6+ regulatory T cells and promote the development of colorectal cancer via enhancing CCL20 production in mice. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(4):e19495. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019495
- 140. Doedens AL, Stockmann C, Rubinstein MP, Liao D, Zhang N, DeNardo DG, et al. Macrophage expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha suppresses T-cell function and promotes tumor progression. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70(19):7465–75. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1439
- 141. Elrefaei M, Barugahare B, Ssali F, Mugyenyi P, Cao H. HIV-specific IL-10positive CD8+ T cells are increased in advanced disease and are associated with decreased HIV-specific cytolysis. *J Immunol* (2006) **176**(2):1274–80.
- 142. Elrefaei M, Ventura FL, Baker CA, Clark R, Bangsberg DR, Cao H. HIV-specific IL-10-positive CD8+ T cells suppress cytolysis and IL-2 production by CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**(5):3265–71.
- 143. Dolganiuc A, Szabo G. T cells with regulatory activity in hepatitis C virus infection: what we know and what we don't. J Leukoc Biol (2008) 84(3):614–22. doi:10.1189/jlb.1107770
- 144. Nordstrom I, Nurkkala M, Collins LV, Eriksson K. CD8+ T-cells suppress antigen-specific and allogeneic CD4+ T-cell responses to herpes simplex virus type 2-infected human dendritic cells. *Viral Immunol* (2005) 18(4):616–26. doi:10.1089/vim.2005.18.616
- 145. Popescu I, Macedo C, Abu-Elmagd K, Shapiro R, Hua Y, Thomson AW, et al. EBV-specific CD8+ T cell reactivation in transplant patients results in expansion of CD8+ type-1 regulatory T cells. *Am J Transplant* (2007) 7(5):1215–23. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.01740.x
- 146. Kundu JK, Surh YJ. Inflammation: gearing the journey to cancer. Mutat Res (2008) 659(1–2):15–30. doi:10.1016/j.mrrev.2008.03.002
- 147. Grulich AE, Wan X, Law MG, Milliken ST, Lewis CR, Garsia RJ, et al. Bcell stimulation and prolonged immune deficiency are risk factors for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in people with AIDS. *AIDS* (2000) 14(2):133–40. doi:10.1097/00002030-200001280-00008
- 148. Wang L, Yi T, Kortylewski M, Pardoll DM, Zeng D, Yu H. IL-17 can promote tumor growth through an IL-6-Stat3 signaling pathway. J Exp Med (2009) 206(7):1457–64. doi:10.1084/jem.20090207
- 149. Numasaki M, Watanabe M, Suzuki T, Takahashi H, Nakamura A, McAllister F, et al. IL-17 enhances the net angiogenic activity and in vivo growth of human non-small cell lung cancer in SCID mice through promoting CXCR-2dependent angiogenesis. *J Immunol* (2005) **175**(9):6177–89.
- 150. Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity* (2006) 24(2):179–89. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.01.001
- 151. Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, et al. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* (2006) 441(7090):235–8. doi:10.1038/nature04753
- 152. Mangan PR, Harrington LE, O'Quinn DB, Helms WS, Bullard DC, Elson CO, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the T(H)17 lineage. *Nature* (2006) 441(7090):231–4. doi:10.1038/nature04754
- 153. Liu J, Duan Y, Cheng X, Chen X, Xie W, Long H, et al. IL-17 is associated with poor prognosis and promotes angiogenesis via stimulating VEGF production of cancer cells in colorectal carcinoma. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2011) 407(2):348–54. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.03.021
- 154. Iida T, Iwahashi M, Katsuda M, Ishida K, Nakamori M, Nakamura M, et al. Tumor-infiltrating CD4+ Th17 cells produce IL-17 in tumor microenvironment and promote tumor progression in human gastric cancer. Oncol Rep (2011) 25(5):1271–7. doi:10.3892/or.2011.1201
- 155. Su Z, Sun Y, Zhu H, Liu Y, Lin X, Shen H, et al. Th17 cell expansion in gastric cancer may contribute to cancer development and metastasis. *Immunol Res* (2014) 58(1):118–24. doi:10.1007/s12026-013-8483-y
- 156. Yang S, Wang B, Guan C, Wu B, Cai C, Wang M, et al. Foxp3+IL-17+ T cells promote development of cancer-initiating cells in colorectal cancer. *J Leukoc Biol* (2011) 89(1):85–91. doi:10.1189/jlb.0910506
- 157. Bentwich Z, Kalinkovich A, Weisman Z, Grossman Z. Immune activation in the context of HIV infection. *Clin Exp Immunol* (1998) 111(1):1–2. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.1998.00483.x
- 158. Hazenberg MD, Hamann D, Schuitemaker H, Miedema F. T cell depletion in HIV-1 infection: how CD4+ T cells go out of stock. *Nat Immunol* (2000) 1(4):285–9. doi:10.1038/79724

- 159. Hazenberg MD, Otto SA, van Benthem BH, Roos MT, Coutinho RA, Lange JM, et al. Persistent immune activation in HIV-1 infection is associated with progression to AIDS. *AIDS* (2003) **17**(13):1881–8. doi:10.1097/00002030-200309050-00006
- 160. Hunt PW, Landay AL, Sinclair E, Martinson JA, Hatano H, Emu B, et al. A low T regulatory cell response may contribute to both viral control and generalized immune activation in HIV controllers. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(1):e15924. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015924
- 161. Lim A, Tan D, Price P, Kamarulzaman A, Tan HY, James I, et al. Proportions of circulating T cells with a regulatory cell phenotype increase with HIVassociated immune activation and remain high on antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS* (2007) **21**(12):1525–34. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e32825eab8b
- 162. Suchard MS, Mayne E, Green VA, Shalekoff S, Donninger SL, Stevens WS, et al. FOXP3 expression is upregulated in CD4T cells in progressive HIV-1 infection and is a marker of disease severity. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(7):e11762. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011762
- 163. Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Thomssen A, Hartjen P, Toth I, Lehmann C, Meyer-Olson D, et al. Comprehensive analysis of frequency and phenotype of T regulatory cells in HIV infection: CD39 expression of FoxP3+ T regulatory cells correlates with progressive disease. J Virol (2011) 85(3):1287–97. doi:10.1128/JVI.01758-10
- 164. Epple HJ, Loddenkemper C, Kunkel D, Troger H, Maul J, Moos V, et al. Mucosal but not peripheral FOXP3+ regulatory T cells are highly increased in untreated HIV infection and normalize after suppressive HAART. *Blood* (2006) **108**(9):3072–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-04-016923
- 165. Aandahl EM, Michaelsson J, Moretto WJ, Hecht FM, Nixon DF. Human CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells control T-cell responses to human immunodeficiency virus and cytomegalovirus antigens. J Virol (2004) 78(5):2454–9. doi:10.1128/JVI.78.5.2454-2459.2004
- 166. Legrand FA, Nixon DF, Loo CP, Ono E, Chapman JM, Miyamoto M, et al. Strong HIV-1-specific T cell responses in HIV-1-exposed uninfected infants and neonates revealed after regulatory T cell removal. *PLoS One* (2006) 1:e102. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000102
- 167. Presicce P, Orsborn K, King E, Pratt J, Fichtenbaum CJ, Chougnet CA. Frequency of circulating regulatory T cells increases during chronic HIV infection and is largely controlled by highly active antiretroviral therapy. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(12):e28118. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028118
- 168. Montes M, Sanchez C, Lewis DE, Graviss EA, Seas C, Gotuzzo E, et al. Normalization of FoxP3(+) regulatory T cells in response to effective antiretroviral therapy. *J Infect Dis* (2011) 203(4):496–9. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiq073
- 169. Eggena MP, Barugahare B, Jones N, Okello M, Mutalya S, Kityo C, et al. Depletion of regulatory T cells in HIV infection is associated with immune activation. *J Immunol* (2005) **174**(7):4407–14.
- 170. Jiao Y, Fu J, Xing S, Fu B, Zhang Z, Shi M, et al. The decrease of regulatory T cells correlates with excessive activation and apoptosis of CD8+ T cells in HIV-1infected typical progressors, but not in long-term non-progressors. *Immunol*ogy (2009) **128**(1 Suppl):e366–75. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02978.x
- 171. Card CM, McLaren PJ, Wachihi C, Kimani J, Plummer FA, Fowke KR. Decreased immune activation in resistance to HIV-1 infection is associated with an elevated frequency of CD4(+)CD25(+)FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells. *J Infect Dis* (2009) **199**(9):1318–22. doi:10.1086/597801
- 172. Hunt PW, Brenchley J, Sinclair E, McCune JM, Roland M, Page-Shafer K, et al. Relationship between T cell activation and CD4+ T cell count in HIVseropositive individuals with undetectable plasma HIV RNA levels in the absence of therapy. J Infect Dis (2008) 197(1):126–33. doi:10.1086/524143
- 173. Cao W, Jamieson BD, Hultin LE, Hultin PM, Detels R. Regulatory T cell expansion and immune activation during untreated HIV type 1 infection are associated with disease progression. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2009) 25(2):183–91. doi:10.1089/aid.2008.0140
- 174. Mendez-Lagares G, Pozo-Balado MM, Genebat M, Garcia Perganeda A, Leal M, Pacheco YM. Severe immune dysregulation affects CD4(+)CD25(hi)FoxP3(+) regulatory T cells in HIV-infected patients with low-level CD4 T-cell repopulation despite suppressive highly active antiretroviral therapy. *J Infect Dis* (2012) 205(10):1501–9. doi:10.1093/infdis/jis230
- 175. Kwon DS, Angin M, Hongo T, Law KM, Johnson J, Porichis F, et al. CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells impair HIV-1-specific CD4 T cell responses by upregulating interleukin-10 production in monocytes. *J Virol* (2012) 86(12):6586–94. doi:10.1128/JVI.06251-11

- 176. Shaw JM, Hunt PW, Critchfield JW, McConnell DH, Garcia JC, Pollard RB, et al. Increased frequency of regulatory T cells accompanies increased immune activation in rectal mucosae of HIV-positive noncontrollers. *J Virol* (2011) 85(21):11422–34. doi:10.1128/JVI.05608-11
- 177. Fazekas de St Groth B, Landay AL. Regulatory T cells in HIV infection: pathogenic or protective participants in the immune response? *AIDS* (2008) 22(6):671–83. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3282f466da
- 178. Weiss L, Letimier FA, Carriere M, Maiella S, Donkova-Petrini V, Targat B, et al. In vivo expansion of naive and activated CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ regulatory T cell populations in interleukin-2-treated HIV patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2010) **107**(23):10632–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1000027107
- 179. Group I-ES, Committee SS, Abrams D, Levy Y, Losso MH, Babiker A, et al. Interleukin-2 therapy in patients with HIV infection. N Engl J Med (2009) 361(16):1548–59. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0903175
- 180. Weiss L, Donkova-Petrini V, Caccavelli L, Balbo M, Carbonneil C, Levy Y. Human immunodeficiency virus-driven expansion of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells, which suppress HIV-specific CD4 T-cell responses in HIVinfected patients. *Blood* (2004) 104(10):3249–56. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-01-0365
- 181. Garg A, Spector SA. HIV type 1 gp120-induced expansion of myeloid derived suppressor cells is dependent on interleukin 6 and suppresses immunity. *J Infect Dis* (2013) 209(3):441–51. doi:10.1093/infdis/jit469
- 182. Hoechst B, Ormandy LA, Ballmaier M, Lehner F, Kruger C, Manns MP, et al. A new population of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in hepatocellular carcinoma patients induces CD4(+)CD25(+)Foxp3(+) T cells. *Gastroenterology* (2008) 135(1):234–43. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008.03.020
- 183. Vollbrecht T, Stirner R, Tufman A, Roider J, Huber RM, Bogner JR, et al. Chronic progressive HIV-1 infection is associated with elevated levels of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *AIDS* (2012) 26(12):F31–7. doi:10.1097/ QAD.0b013e328354b43f
- 184. Breen EC, Boscardin WJ, Detels R, Jacobson LP, Smith MW, O'Brien SJ, et al. Non-Hodgkin's B cell lymphoma in persons with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome is associated with increased serum levels of IL10, or the IL10 promoter -592 C/C genotype. *Clin Immunol* (2003) 109(2):119–29. doi:10.1016/S1521-6616(03)00214-6
- 185. Fu J, Xu D, Liu Z, Shi M, Zhao P, Fu B, et al. Increased regulatory T cells correlate with CD8 T-cell impairment and poor survival in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. *Gastroenterology* (2007) 132(7):2328–39. doi:10.1053/j.gastro. 2007.03.102
- 186. Bouvard V, Baan R, Straif K, Grosse Y, Secretan B, El Ghissassi F, et al. A review of human carcinogens – part B: biological agents. *Lancet Oncol* (2009) 10(4):321–2. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70096-8
- 187. van Baarle D, Nanlohy NM, Otto S, Plunkett FJ, Fletcher JM, Akbar AN. Progressive telomere shortening of Epstein-Barr virus-specific memory T cells during HIV infection: contributor to exhaustion? J Infect Dis (2008) 198(9):1353–7. doi:10.1086/592170
- 188. Martinez-Maza O, Breen EC. B-cell activation and lymphoma in patients with HIV. Curr Opin Oncol (2002) 14(5):528–32. doi:10.1097/00001622-200209000-00009
- 189. Molyneux EM, Rochford R, Griffin B, Newton R, Jackson G, Menon G, et al. Burkitt's lymphoma. *Lancet* (2012) **379**(9822):1234–44. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61177-X
- 190. He B, Qiao X, Klasse PJ, Chiu A, Chadburn A, Knowles DM, et al. HIV-1 envelope triggers polyclonal Ig class switch recombination through a CD40-independent mechanism involving BAFF and C-type lectin receptors. *J Immunol* (2006) **176**(7):3931–41.
- 191. Martin G, Roy J, Barat C, Ouellet M, Gilbert C, Tremblay MJ. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1-associated CD40 ligand transactivates B lymphocytes and promotes infection of CD4+ T cells. J Virol (2007) 81(11):5872–81. doi:10.1128/JVI.02542-06
- 192. Epeldegui M, Thapa DR, De la Cruz J, Kitchen S, Zack JA, Martinez-Maza O. CD40 ligand (CD154) incorporated into HIV virions induces activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) expression in human B lymphocytes. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(7):e11448. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011448
- 193. Killebrew D, Shiramizu B. Pathogenesis of HIV-associated non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Curr HIV Res (2004) 2(3):215–21. doi:10.2174/1570162043351237
- 194. van Baarle D, Hovenkamp E, Callan MF, Wolthers KC, Kostense S, Tan LC, et al. Dysfunctional Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-specific CD8(+) T lymphocytes and

increased EBV load in HIV-1 infected individuals progressing to AIDS-related non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2001) **98**(1):146–55. doi:10.1182/blood.V98. 1.146

- 195. Engels EA, Pfeiffer RM, Goedert JJ, Virgo P, McNeel TS, Scoppa SM, et al. Trends in cancer risk among people with AIDS in the United States 1980-2002. *AIDS* (2006) 20(12):1645–54. doi:10.1097/01.aids.0000238411.75324.59
- 196. Chang Y, Cesarman E, Pessin MS, Lee F, Culpepper J, Knowles DM, et al. Identification of herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma. *Science* (1994) 266(5192):1865–9. doi:10.1126/science.7997879
- 197. Gallo RC. The enigmas of Kaposi's sarcoma. Science (1998) 282(5395):1837–9. doi:10.1126/science.282.5395.1837
- 198. Beral V, Peterman TA, Berkelman RL, Jaffe HW. Kaposi's sarcoma among persons with AIDS: a sexually transmitted infection? *Lancet* (1990) 335(8682):123–8. doi:10.1016/0140-6736(90)90001-L
- 199. Martin JN, Ganem DE, Osmond DH, Page-Shafer KA, Macrae D, Kedes DH. Sexual transmission and the natural history of human herpesvirus 8 infection. *N Engl J Med* (1998) **338**(14):948–54. doi:10.1056/NEJM199804023381403
- 200. Walboomers JM, Jacobs MV, Manos MM, Bosch FX, Kummer JA, Shah KV, et al. Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide. *J Pathol* (1999) 189(1):12–9. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9896(199909)189: 1<12::AID-PATH431>3.0.CO;2-F
- 201. Ho GY, Bierman R, Beardsley L, Chang CJ, Burk RD. Natural history of cervicovaginal papillomavirus infection in young women. N Engl J Med (1998) 338(7):423–8. doi:10.1056/NEJM199802123380703
- 202. Molano M, van den Brule A, Plummer M, Weiderpass E, Posso H, Arslan A, et al. Determinants of clearance of human papillomavirus infections in Colombian women with normal cytology: a population-based, 5-year follow-up study. Am J Epidemiol (2003) 158(5):486–94. doi:10.1093/aje/kwg171
- 203. Jenson AB, Kurman RJ, Lancaster WD. Tissue effects of and host response to human papillomavirus infection. *Dermatol Clin* (1991) **9**(2):203–9.
- Hopfl R, Heim K, Christensen N, Zumbach K, Wieland U, Volgger B, et al. Spontaneous regression of CIN and delayed-type hypersensitivity to HPV-16 oncoprotein E7. *Lancet* (2000) **356**(9246):1985–6. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(00) 03315-8
- 205. de Jong A, van Poelgeest MI, van der Hulst JM, Drijfhout JW, Fleuren GJ, Melief CJ, et al. Human papillomavirus type 16-positive cervical cancer is associated with impaired CD4+ T-cell immunity against early antigens E2 and E6. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(15):5449–55. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0831
- 206. Frazer IH, Thomas R, Zhou J, Leggatt GR, Dunn L, McMillan N, et al. Potential strategies utilised by papillomavirus to evade host immunity. *Immunol Rev* (1999) 168:131–42.
- 207. Garzetti GG, Ciavattini A, Goteri G, De Nictolis M, Menso S, Muzzioli M, et al. HPV DNA positivity and natural killer cell activity in the clinical outcome of mild cervical dysplasia: integration between virus and immune system. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* (1995) **39**(2):130–5. doi:10.1159/000292394
- 208. Molling JW, de Gruijl TD, Glim J, Moreno M, Rozendaal L, Meijer CJ, et al. CD4(+)CD25hi regulatory T-cell frequency correlates with persistence of human papillomavirus type 16 and T helper cell responses in patients with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *Int J Cancer* (2007) **121**(8):1749–55. doi:10.1002/ijc.22894
- 209. Visser J, Nijman HW, Hoogenboom BN, Jager P, van Baarle D, Schuuring E, et al. Frequencies and role of regulatory T cells in patients with (pre)malignant cervical neoplasia. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2007) **150**(2):199–209. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03468.x
- 210. Loddenkemper C, Hoffmann C, Stanke J, Nagorsen D, Baron U, Olek S, et al. Regulatory (FOXP3+) T cells as target for immune therapy of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and cervical cancer. *Cancer Sci* (2009) **100**(6):1112–7. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01153.x
- 211. Scott ME, Ma Y, Kuzmich L, Moscicki AB. Diminished IFN-gamma and IL-10 and elevated Foxp3 mRNA expression in the cervix are associated with CIN 2 or 3. *Int J Cancer* (2009) **124**(6):1379–83. doi:10.1002/ijc.24117
- 212. Piersma SJ, Jordanova ES, van Poelgeest MI, Kwappenberg KM, van der Hulst JM, Drijfhout JW, et al. High number of intraepithelial CD8+ tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes is associated with the absence of lymph node metastases in patients with large early-stage cervical cancer. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(1):354–61. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3388
- 213. van der Burg SH, Piersma SJ, de Jong A, van der Hulst JM, Kwappenberg KM, van den Hende M, et al. Association of cervical cancer with the presence of

CD4+ regulatory T cells specific for human papillomavirus antigens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) **104**(29):12087–92. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704672104

- 214. Chaturvedi AK, Madeleine MM, Biggar RJ, Engels EA. Risk of human papillomavirus-associated cancers among persons with AIDS. J Natl Cancer Inst (2009) 101(16):1120–30. doi:10.1093/jnci/djp205
- 215. Grulich AE, van Leeuwen MT, Falster MO, Vajdic CM. Incidence of cancers in people with HIV/AIDS compared with immunosuppressed transplant recipients: a meta-analysis. *Lancet* (2007) **370**(9581):59–67. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61050-2
- 216. Petry KU, Scheffel D, Bode U, Gabrysiak T, Kochel H, Kupsch E, et al. Cellular immunodeficiency enhances the progression of human papillomavirusassociated cervical lesions. *Int J Cancer* (1994) 57(6):836–40. doi:10.1002/ijc. 2910570612
- 217. From the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 1993 revised classification system for HIV infection and expanded surveillance case definition for AIDS among adolescents and adults. *JAMA* (1993) 269(6):729–30. doi:10.1001/jama.1993.03500060023008
- Adler DH, Kakinami L, Modisenyane T, Tshabangu N, Mohapi L, De Bruyn G, et al. Increased regression and decreased incidence of human papillomavirusrelated cervical lesions among HIV-infected women on HAART. *AIDS* (2012) 26(13):1645–52. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e32835536a3
- 219. Ahdieh-Grant L, Li R, Levine AM, Massad LS, Strickler HD, Minkoff H, et al. Highly active antiretroviral therapy and cervical squamous intraepithelial lesions in human immunodeficiency virus-positive women. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2004) **96**(14):1070–6. doi:10.1093/jnci/djh192
- Heard I, Schmitz V, Costagliola D, Orth G, Kazatchkine MD. Early regression of cervical lesions in HIV-seropositive women receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS* (1998) 12(12):1459–64. doi:10.1097/00002030-199812000-00007
- 221. Freeman AJ, Pan Y, Harvey CE, Post JJ, Law MG, White PA, et al. The presence of an intrahepatic cytotoxic T lymphocyte response is associated with low viral load in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Hepatol* (2003) 38(3):349–56. doi:10.1016/S0168-8278(02)00424-5
- 222. Lopes AR, Kellam P, Das A, Dunn C, Kwan A, Turner J, et al. Bim-mediated deletion of antigen-specific CD8 T cells in patients unable to control HBV infection. J Clin Invest (2008) 118(5):1835–45. doi:10.1172/JCI33402
- 223. Guidotti LG, Ishikawa T, Hobbs MV, Matzke B, Schreiber R, Chisari FV. Intracellular inactivation of the hepatitis B virus by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Immunity* (1996) 4(1):25–36. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80295-2
- 224. Thimme R, Oldach D, Chang KM, Steiger C, Ray SC, Chisari FV. Determinants of viral clearance and persistence during acute hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med* (2001) **194**(10):1395–406. doi:10.1084/jem.194.10.1395
- 225. Boettler T, Spangenberg HC, Neumann-Haefelin C, Panther E, Urbani S, Ferrari C, et al. T cells with a CD4+CD25+ regulatory phenotype suppress in vitro proliferation of virus-specific CD8+ T cells during chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Virol* (2005) **79**(12):7860–7. doi:10.1128/JVI.79.12.7860-7867.2005
- 226. Cabrera R, Tu Z, Xu Y, Firpi RJ, Rosen HR, Liu C, et al. An immunomodulatory role for CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T lymphocytes in hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* (2004) **40**(5):1062–71. doi:10.1002/hep.20454
- 227. Nan XP, Zhang Y, Yu HT, Sun RL, Peng MJ, Li Y, et al. Inhibition of viral replication downregulates CD4(+)CD25(high) regulatory T cells and programmed death-ligand 1 in chronic hepatitis B. *Viral Immunol* (2012) **25**(1):21–8. doi:10.1089/vim.2011.0049
- 228. Unitt E, Rushbrook SM, Marshall A, Davies S, Gibbs P, Morris LS, et al. Compromised lymphocytes infiltrate hepatocellular carcinoma: the role of Tregulatory cells. *Hepatology* (2005) **41**(4):722–30. doi:10.1002/hep.20644
- 229. Grivennikov SI, Greten FR, Karin M. Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. *Cell* (2010) **140**(6):883–99. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.025
- Trinchieri G. Cancer and inflammation: an old intuition with rapidly evolving new concepts. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2012) 30:677–706. doi:10.1146/annurevimmunol-020711-075008
- Terzic J, Grivennikov S, Karin E, Karin M. Inflammation and colon cancer. Gastroenterology (2010) 138(6):2101–14e5. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2010.01.058
- 232. Pages F, Berger A, Camus M, Sanchez-Cabo F, Costes A, Molidor R, et al. Effector memory T cells, early metastasis, and survival in colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med (2005) 353(25):2654–66. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa051424
- 233. Shibata M, Nezu T, Kanou H, Abe H, Takekawa M, Fukuzawa M. Decreased production of interleukin-12 and type 2 immune responses are marked in

cachectic patients with colorectal and gastric cancer. *J Clin Gastroenterol* (2002) **34**(4):416–20. doi:10.1097/00004836-200204000-00006

- 234. Osawa E, Nakajima A, Fujisawa T, Kawamura YI, Toyama-Sorimachi N, Nakagama H, et al. Predominant T helper type 2-inflammatory responses promote murine colon cancers. *Int J Cancer* (2006) **118**(9):2232–6. doi:10.1002/ ijc.21639
- 235. Kettunen HL, Kettunen AS, Rautonen NE. Intestinal immune responses in wild-type and Apcmin/+ mouse, a model for colon cancer. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(16):5136–42.
- 236. Ahern PP, Schiering C, Buonocore S, McGeachy MJ, Cua DJ, Maloy KJ, et al. Interleukin-23 drives intestinal inflammation through direct activity on T cells. *Immunity* (2010) 33(2):279–88. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.08.010
- 237. McGeachy MJ, Chen Y, Tato CM, Laurence A, Joyce-Shaikh B, Blumenschein WM, et al. The interleukin 23 receptor is essential for the terminal differentiation of interleukin 17-producing effector T helper cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(3):314–24. doi:10.1038/ni.1698
- 238. Duerr RH, Taylor KD, Brant SR, Rioux JD, Silverberg MS, Daly MJ, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies IL23R as an inflammatory bowel disease gene. *Science* (2006) **314**(5804):1461–3. doi:10.1126/science.1135245
- 239. Liang SC, Tan XY, Luxenberg DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, et al. Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(10):2271–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20061308
- 240. Kirchberger S, Royston DJ, Boulard O, Thornton E, Franchini F, Szabady RL, et al. Innate lymphoid cells sustain colon cancer through production of interleukin-22 in a mouse model. *J Exp Med* (2013) **210**(5):917–31. doi:10.1084/jem.20122308
- 241. Buonocore S, Ahern PP, Uhlig HH, Ivanov II, Littman DR, Maloy KJ, et al. Innate lymphoid cells drive interleukin-23-dependent innate intestinal pathology. *Nature* (2010) 464(7293):1371–5. doi:10.1038/nature08949
- 242. Geremia A, Arancibia-Carcamo CV, Fleming MP, Rust N, Singh B, Mortensen NJ, et al. IL-23-responsive innate lymphoid cells are increased in inflammatory bowel disease. J Exp Med (2011) 208(6):1127–33. doi:10.1084/jem.20101712
- 243. Fouser LA, Wright JF, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M. Th17 cytokines and their emerging roles in inflammation and autoimmunity. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 226:87–102. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00712.x
- 244. Leppkes M, Becker C, Ivanov II, Hirth S, Wirtz S, Neufert C, et al. RORgamma-expressing Th17 cells induce murine chronic intestinal inflammation via redundant effects of IL-17A and IL-17F. *Gastroenterology* (2009) 136(1):257–67. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008.10.018
- 245. Dannull J, Su Z, Rizzieri D, Yang BK, Coleman D, Yancey D, et al. Enhancement of vaccine-mediated antitumor immunity in cancer patients after depletion of regulatory T cells. J Clin Invest (2005) 115(12):3623–33. doi:10.1172/JCI25947
- 246. Litzinger MT, Fernando R, Curiel TJ, Grosenbach DW, Schlom J, Palena C. IL-2 immunotoxin denileukin diftitox reduces regulatory T cells and enhances vaccine-mediated T-cell immunity. *Blood* (2007) **110**(9):3192–201. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-06-094615
- 247. Littman DR, Rudensky AY. Th17 and regulatory T cells in mediating and restraining inflammation. *Cell* (2010) **140**(6):845–58. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010. 02.021
- 248. Erdman SE, Sohn JJ, Rao VP, Nambiar PR, Ge Z, Fox JG, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory lymphocytes induce regression of intestinal tumors in ApcMin/+ mice. *Cancer Res* (2005) **65**(10):3998–4004. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3104
- Sugai M, Aoki K, Osato M, Nambu Y, Ito K, Taketo MM, et al. Runx3 is required for full activation of regulatory T cells to prevent colitis-associated tumor formation. J Immunol (2011) 186(11):6515–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001671
- 250. Coombes JL, Siddiqui KR, Arancibia-Carcamo CV, Hall J, Sun CM, Belkaid Y, et al. A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103+ DCs induces Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via a TGF-beta and retinoic acid-dependent mechanism. J Exp Med (2007) 204(8):1757–64. doi:10.1084/jem.20070590
- 251. Sun CM, Hall JA, Blank RB, Bouladoux N, Oukka M, Mora JR, et al. Small intestine lamina propria dendritic cells promote de novo generation of Foxp3 T reg cells via retinoic acid. J Exp Med (2007) 204(8):1775–85. doi:10.1084/jem.20070602
- 252. Langowski JL, Zhang X, Wu L, Mattson JD, Chen T, Smith K, et al. IL-23 promotes tumour incidence and growth. *Nature* (2006) 442(7101):461–5. doi:10.1038/nature04808

- Li MO, Flavell RA. Contextual regulation of inflammation: a duet by transforming growth factor-beta and interleukin-10. *Immunity* (2008) 28(4):468–76. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.03.003
- 254. Becker C, Fantini MC, Schramm C, Lehr HA, Wirtz S, Nikolaev A, et al. TGFbeta suppresses tumor progression in colon cancer by inhibition of IL-6 transsignaling. *Immunity* (2004) 21(4):491–501. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.07.020
- 255. Izcue A, Hue S, Buonocore S, Arancibia-Carcamo CV, Ahern PP, Iwakura Y, et al. Interleukin-23 restrains regulatory T cell activity to drive T cell-dependent colitis. *Immunity* (2008) 28(4):559–70. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.02.019
- Boivin GP, Washington K, Yang K, Ward JM, Pretlow TP, Russell R, et al. Pathology of mouse models of intestinal cancer: consensus report and recommendations. *Gastroenterology* (2003) 124(3):762–77. doi:10.1053/gast.2003.50094
- 257. Erdman SE, Rao VP, Poutahidis T, Ihrig MM, Ge Z, Feng Y, et al. CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory lymphocytes require interleukin 10 to interrupt colon carcinogenesis in mice. *Cancer Res* (2003) **63**(18):6042–50.
- 258. Berg DJ, Davidson N, Kuhn R, Muller W, Menon S, Holland G, et al. Enterocolitis and colon cancer in interleukin-10-deficient mice are associated with aberrant cytokine production and CD4(+) TH1-like responses. J Clin Invest (1996) 98(4):1010–20. doi:10.1172/JCI118861
- 259. Kuhn R, Lohler J, Rennick D, Rajewsky K, Muller W. Interleukin-10-deficient mice develop chronic enterocolitis. *Cell* (1993) **75**(2):263–74.
- 260. Kullberg MC, Jankovic D, Feng CG, Hue S, Gorelick PL, McKenzie BS, et al. IL-23 plays a key role in *Helicobacter hepaticus*-induced T cell-dependent colitis. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(11):2485–94. doi:10.1084/jem.20061082
- 261. Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The immunobiology of cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting. *Immunity* (2004) 21(2):137–48. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2004.07.017
- 262. Tannenbaum CS, Hamilton TA. Immune-inflammatory mechanisms in IFNgamma-mediated anti-tumor activity. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2000) 10(2): 113–23. doi:10.1006/scbi.2000.0314
- 263. Michael-Robinson JM, Pandeya N, Walsh MD, Biemer-Huttmann AE, Eri RD, Buttenshaw RL, et al. Characterization of tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes and apoptosis in colitis-associated neoplasia: comparison with sporadic colorectal cancer. J Pathol (2006) 208(3):381–7. doi:10.1002/path.1895
- 264. Muller S, Lory J, Corazza N, Griffiths GM, Z'Graggen K, Mazzucchelli L, et al. Activated CD4+ and CD8+ cytotoxic cells are present in increased numbers in the intestinal mucosa from patients with active inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Pathol* (1998) **152**(1):261–8.
- 265. Waldner MJ, Wirtz S, Becker C, Seidel D, Tubbe I, Cappel K, et al. Perforin deficiency attenuates inflammation and tumor growth in colitis-associated cancer. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2010) 16(4):559–67. doi:10.1002/ibd.21107
- 266. Berzofsky JA, Terabe M. The contrasting roles of NKT cells in tumor immunity. *Curr Mol Med* (2009) **9**(6):667–72. doi:10.2174/156652409788970706
- 267. Kitamura H, Iwakabe K, Yahata T, Nishimura S, Ohta A, Ohmi Y, et al. The natural killer T (NKT) cell ligand alpha-galactosylceramide demonstrates its immunopotentiating effect by inducing interleukin (IL)-12 production by dendritic cells and IL-12 receptor expression on NKT cells. *J Exp Med* (1999) 189(7):1121–8. doi:10.1084/jem.189.7.1121
- 268. Fuss IJ, Heller F, Boirivant M, Leon F, Yoshida M, Fichtner-Feigl S, et al. Nonclassical CD1d-restricted NK T cells that produce IL-13 characterize an atypical Th2 response in ulcerative colitis. J Clin Invest (2004) 113(10):1490–7. doi:10.1172/JCI19836
- Mandal D, Levine AD. Elevated IL-13Ralpha2 in intestinal epithelial cells from ulcerative colitis or colorectal cancer initiates MAPK pathway. *Inflamm Bowel* Dis (2010) 16(5):753–64. doi:10.1002/ibd.21133
- 270. Keijzer C, van der Zee R, van Eden W, Broere F. Treg inducing adjuvants for therapeutic vaccination against chronic inflammatory diseases. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:245. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00245
- 271. Hurwitz AA, Foster BA, Kwon ED, Truong T, Choi EM, Greenberg NM, et al. Combination immunotherapy of primary prostate cancer in a transgenic mouse model using CTLA-4 blockade. *Cancer Res* (2000) **60**(9):2444–8.
- 272. Hurwitz AA, Yu TF, Leach DR, Allison JP. CTLA-4 blockade synergizes with tumor-derived granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor for treatment of an experimental mammary carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95(17):10067–71. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.17.10067
- 273. Bajor DL, Vonderheide RH. Cracking the stone: combination vaccination and CTLA-4 blockade in pancreatic cancer. J Immunother (2013) 36(7):362–4. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e31829fb7c8

- 274. Ott PA, Hodi FS, Robert C. CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 blockade: new immunotherapeutic modalities with durable clinical benefit in melanoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) **19**(19):5300–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0143
- 275. Kadin ME, Vonderheid EC. Targeted therapies: denileukin diftitox a step towards a 'magic bullet' for CTCL. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2010) 7(8):430–2. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2010.105
- 276. Dao H Jr, Barr PM, Honda K. Regression of CD30+ cutaneous anaplastic large-cell lymphoma with denileukin diftitox. J Am Acad Dermatol (2011) 64(6):e123–5. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2010.11.001
- 277. Gritzapis AD, Voutsas IF, Baxevanis CN. Ontak reduces the immunosuppressive tumor environment and enhances successful therapeutic vaccination in HER-2/neu-tolerant mice. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) **61**(3):397–407. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1113-4
- Porichis F, Kwon DS, Zupkosky J, Tighe DP, McMullen A, Brockman MA, et al. Responsiveness of HIV-specific CD4 T cells to PD-1 blockade. *Blood* (2011) 118(4):965–74. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-12-328070
- 279. Brahmer JR, Drake CG, Wollner I, Powderly JD, Picus J, Sharfman WH, et al. Phase I study of single-agent anti-programmed death-1 (MDX-1106) in refractory solid tumors: safety, clinical activity, pharmacodynamics, and immunologic correlates. *J Clin Oncol* (2010) 28(19):3167–75. doi:10.1200/JCO.2009. 26.7609
- 280. Berger R, Rotem-Yehudar R, Slama G, Landes S, Kneller A, Leiba M, et al. Phase I safety and pharmacokinetic study of CT-011, a humanized antibody interacting with PD-1, in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(10):3044–51. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4079
- 281. Dietze KK, Zelinskyy G, Liu J, Kretzmer F, Schimmer S, Dittmer U. Combining regulatory T cell depletion and inhibitory receptor blockade improves reactivation of exhausted virus-specific CD8+ T cells and efficiently reduces chronic retroviral loads. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) 9(12):e1003798. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat. 1003798

- 282. Bose A, Taylor JL, Alber S, Watkins SC, Garcia JA, Rini BI, et al. Sunitinib facilitates the activation and recruitment of therapeutic anti-tumor immunity in concert with specific vaccination. *Int J Cancer* (2011) **129**(9):2158–70. doi:10.1002/ijc.25863
- Nakashima H, Terabe M, Berzofsky JA, Husain SR, Puri RK. A novel combination immunotherapy for cancer by IL-13Ralpha2-targeted DNA vaccine and immunotoxin in murine tumor models. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(10):4935–46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102095
- 284. Ishizaki H, Manuel ER, Song GY, Srivastava T, Sun S, Diamond DJ, et al. Modified vaccinia Ankara expressing survivin combined with gemcitabine generates specific antitumor effects in a murine pancreatic carcinoma model. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2011) **60**(1):99–109. doi:10.1007/s00262-010-0923-0

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 26 December 2013; accepted: 20 February 2014; published online: 06 March 2014.

Citation: Ondondo BO (2014) Fallen angels or risen apes? A tale of the intricate complexities of imbalanced immune responses in the pathogenesis and progression of immune-mediated and viral cancers. Front. Immunol. 5:90. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00090

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Ondondo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

How do CD4⁺T cells detect and eliminate tumor cells that either lack or express MHC class II molecules?

Ole Audun Werner Haabeth^{1†}, Anders Aune Tveita^{1†}, Marte Fauskanger¹, Fredrik Schjesvold¹, Kristina Berg Lorvik¹, Peter O. Hofgaard², Hilde Omholt¹, Ludvig A. Munthe¹, Zlatko Dembic³, Alexandre Corthay^{1,4,5} and Bjarne Bogen^{1,2}*

¹ Department of Immunology, Centre for Immune Regulation, Oslo University Hospital, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

² KG Jebsen Centre for Research on Influenza Vaccines, Institute of Immunology, Oslo University Hospital, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

³ Faculty of Dentistry, Molecular Genetics Laboratory, Department of Oral Biology, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

⁴ Department of Biosciences, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

⁵ Tumor Immunology Group, Department of Pathology, Oslo University Hospital, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Luca Gattinoni, National Cancer Institute, USA Junko Matsuzaki, Roswell Park Cancer Institute, USA William J. Magner, Roswell Park Cancer Institute, USA

*Correspondence:

Bjarne Bogen, Institute of Immunology, University of Oslo, OUS Rikshospitalet HF, A2/A3, Sognsvannsveien 20, Oslo N-0027, Norway

e-mail: bjarne.bogen@medisin.uio.no

[†] Ole Audun Werner Haabeth and Anders Aune Tveita have contributed equally to this work.

CD4⁺T cells contribute to tumor eradication, even in the absence of CD8⁺T cells. Cytotoxic CD4⁺ T cells can directly kill MHC class II positive tumor cells. More surprisingly, CD4⁺ T cells can indirectly eliminate tumor cells that lack MHC class II expression. Here, we review the mechanisms of direct and indirect CD4⁺ T cell-mediated elimination of tumor cells. An emphasis is put on T cell receptor (TCR) transgenic models, where anti-tumor responses of naïve CD4⁺ T cells of defined specificity can be tracked. Some generalizations can tentatively be made. For both MHCII^{POS} and MHCII^{NEG} tumors, presentation of tumor-specific antigen by host antigen-presenting cells (APCs) appears to be required for CD4⁺ T cell priming. This has been extensively studied in a myeloma model (MOPC315), where host APCs in tumor-draining lymph nodes are primed with secreted tumor antigen. Upon antigen recognition, naïve CD4⁺ T cells differentiate into Th1 cells and migrate to the tumor. At the tumor site, the mechanisms for elimination of MHCII^{POS} and MHCII^{NEG} tumor cells differ. In a TCR-transgenic B16 melanoma model, MHCII^{POS} melanoma cells are directly killed by cytotoxic CD4⁺ T cells in a perforin/granzyme B-dependent manner. By contrast, MHCII^{NEG} myeloma cells are killed by IFN-y stimulated M1-like macrophages. In summary, while the priming phase of CD4⁺ T cells appears similar for MHCII^{POS} and MHCII^{NEG} tumors, the killing mechanisms are different. Unresolved issues and directions for future research are addressed.

Keywords: tumor immunology, CD4⁺ T cells, MHC class II, T cell receptor transgenic, transgenic mouse models, tumor antigen, T helper 1, multiple myeloma

RECENT ADVANCES IN TUMOR IMMUNOLOGY

The field of tumor immunology has come a long way since the formulation of the tumor immunosurveillance hypothesis by Thomas and Burnet (1–4). Although still debated, increasing evidence suggests that the immune system can detect and reject incipient tumors, and that $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells play an important role as mediators of immunosurveillance (5). Furthermore, there is accumulating evidence that the immune system is not completely tolerant even to established tumors, based on the observation that tumor-infiltrating T cells, when expanded *in vitro* and injected back to lymphopenic patients, have a clinical effect in some patients (6). Further supporting the notion of ongoing immune responses to tumors, antibodies that block inhibitory molecules on T cells induce long-term remission in a subset of cancer patients (7). Finally, parameters that indicate immune activation in tumors are associated with improved prognosis (8).

CD4⁺ VERSUS CD8⁺ T CELLS IN TUMOR IMMUNOLOGY

Traditionally, $CD8^+$ T cells have been thought to be the major mediators of effective anti-tumor T cell responses. Such a view is supported by the pronounced cytotoxic activity of $CD8^+$ T cells *in vitro*, and the observation that tumors that escape $CD8^+$ T cells onslaught may have altered or downregulated MHC class I antigen expression (9–11). Moreover, studies done in an MHC class I-restricted T cell receptor (TCR) transgenic mouse showed that $CD8^+$ T cells, in the absence of $CD4^+$ T cells, maintained their anti-tumor effect (12). Despite these observations, several studies indicate limited anti-tumor effects of $CD8^+$ T cells alone (6, 13–16).

The helper function of tumor-reactive $CD4^+$ T cells improves the efficacy of tumor-reactive $CD8^+$ T cells (17–20). Similarly, treatment of a patient with metastatic melanoma with autologous $CD4^+$ T cells specific for the tumor-associated antigen NY-ESO-1 resulted in sustained clinical remissions with evidence

Abbreviations: APC, antigen-presenting cell; CIITA, class II trans-activator; FasL, Fas ligand; HA, hemagglutinin; Id, idiotype; IFN- γ , interferon gamma; Ig, immunoglobulin; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; MM, multiple myeloma; MOPC, mineral oil-induced plasmacytoma; OVA, ovalbumin; s.c., subcutaneous; TCR-Tg, T cell receptor transgenic; TIL, tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte; Trp1, tyrosinase-related protein 1; SCID, severe combined immunodeficiency.

of endogenous immune responses against other tumor-derived antigens (21). In support of these findings, transfection of tumor cells with MHC class II genes resulted in increased protective immune responses against tumors (22, 23). Collectively, these results indicate an augmenting effect of CD4⁺ T cells on CD8⁺ T cell responses against tumors.

On the other hand, $CD4^+$ T cells alone, in the absence of $CD8^+$ T cells, have also been demonstrated to eliminate tumor cells. Thus, adoptive transfer experiments using primed $CD4^+$ T cells generated by immunization with tumor cells conferred protection against a subsequent tumor challenge (24, 25). Moreover, naïve $CD4^+$ T cells in TCR-transgenic mice conferred protection against tumor development upon subcutaneous (s.c.) injection of tumor cells (26, 27). Finally, using MHC class I-molecule and MHC class II-molecule restricted TCR-transgenic mice specific for the Dby H–Y antigen, $CD4^+$ T cells were found to be more efficient at eradicating cancer cells than $CD8^+$ T cells in a side-by-side comparison (28). Here, we will focus on the anti-tumor properties of $CD4^+$ T cells in the absence of $CD8^+$ T cells.

PIONEERING EXPERIMENTS ON THE ROLE OF CD4⁺ T CELLS IN ERADICATION OF TUMORS

The role of CD4⁺ T cells was initially investigated in experiments where tumor-bearing mice were treated by adoptive transfer of T cells obtained from syngeneic mice immunized with irradiated tumor cells (25, 29), or with living tumor cells followed by surgical resection (24). It was shown that when T cells from tumor-immunized donors were purified prior to adoptive transfer, Lyt1⁺ 2⁻ (CD4⁺) T cells had a superior ability to cure FBL-3 erythroleukemic tumors compared to Lyt1⁻ 2⁺ (CD8⁺) T cells (29). Treatment with cyclophosphamide was required for the curative effect of CD4⁺ T cells to be observed. However, in the first reported experiments (29), a role of endogenous CD8⁺ T cells in the tumor-bearing host was not ruled out.

In follow-up experiments, this possibility was formally excluded by the use of T cell deficient tumor-bearing recipients (25). Similar results were obtained using the X5563 plasmacytoma model (24), where transfer of purified Lyt1⁺ 2⁻ (CD4⁺) T cells had superior therapeutic potential. In the following decades, experimental evidence supporting the anti-tumor properties of tumor-specific CD4⁺ T cells alone has accumulated (27, 28, 30–39).

TCR-TRANSGENIC MODELS FOR CD4⁺ T CELL-MEDIATED REJECTION OF TUMORS

The experiments referred to in the preceding section had features that prohibited detailed studies of the mechanisms of $CD4^+$ T cell-mediated tumor protection. First, the $CD4^+$ T cells were polyclonal. Second, $CD4^+$ T cells were pre-primed cells obtained after immunization, making it impossible to study naïve $CD4^+$ T cells in primary anti-tumor responses. Third, the relevant tumor-specific antigens were often not known.

The generation of TCR-transgenic mice that recognize tumor antigens presented on MHC class II molecules (Table 1) offered a novel approach to bypass these difficulties. In two models, these antigens are bona fide cancer antigens; the tumorspecific myeloma protein V region idiotype (Id) (26, 27) and the melanoma-associated tyrosinase-related protein 1 (Trp1) (35). In other TCR-transgenic models, the antigens are either minor histocompatibility antigen Dby (H-Y) (28), viral antigens such as the hemagglutinin (HA) (40-42), or xenogeneic proteins such as ovalbumin (OVA) (17, 43, 44). While the transgenic TCR specific for the mutated myeloma antigen was obtained after immunization of mice syngeneic to the tumor (45, 46), the transgenic TCR specific for the non-mutated antigen was obtained after immunization of Trp1-deficient mice. Thus, in the latter model, Trp1 represents a foreign antigen to which high-affinity TCRs are induced (due to a lack of T cell tolerance) (35).

TCR-Tg model	Antigen	Classification of antigen	Antigen location	MHC II restriction	Peptide	Reference
4B2A1 (λ2 ³¹⁵)	Light chain idiotype (Id) of mouse M315 myeloma protein	Mutated tumor-specific antigen	Secreted, plasma membrane (52, 53)	I–E ^d	aa91–101	(46)
7A6 (Trp1)	Mouse tyrosinase-related protein 1	Melanocyte-specific differentiation antigen	Secreted, melanosome membrane (54)	I–A ^b	aa113–125	(35)
Marilyn (H–Y)	Minor histocompatibility antigen (Dby)	Tissue antigen	Secreted, cell membrane (55, 56)	I–A ^b	aa608–622	(47)
T2.5-5 (HA)	Influenza PR8 hemagglutinin	Viral antigen	Varying (construct dependent) ¹	I–A ^d	aa126–138	(48)
14.3.d (HA)	Influenza PR8 hemagglutinin	Viral antigen	Varying (construct dependent) ¹	I–E ^d	aa110–120	(49)
DO11.10 (OVA)	Chicken ovalbumin	Xenogeneic model antigen	Varying (construct dependent) ²	I–A ^d	aa323–339	(50)
OT-II (OVA)	Chicken ovalbumin	Xenogeneic model antigen	Varying (construct dependent) ²	I–A ^b	aa323–339	(51)

Table 1 |TCR-transgenic models employed in studies of anti-tumor CD4 $^+$ T cell responses.

¹Varyingly expressed by fusion to other proteins, which control cellular distribution. The viral protein, as such, localizes to the cell surface (57).

²Varyingly expressed as full-length cDNA [containing signal sequence for secretion (58)] or fused to other proteins, which control cellular distribution.

MHC CLASS II STATUS OF TUMOR CELLS USED IN TUMOR IMMUNOLOGY STUDIES FOCUSED ON THE ROLE OF CD4+ T CELLS

CD4⁺ T cells recognize peptides (about 13–17aa long) bound to the groove of MHC class II molecules (59) on professional antigenpresenting cells (APCs) (B cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, in addition to thymic epithelial cells) (60–62). However, in certain cells, MHC class II molecules may be induced by interferon gamma (IFN- γ) stimulation (63, 64). Thus, in CD4⁺ T cell immune responses to tumors, the MHC class II status of the tumor cells is of importance. The MHC II expression status of tumor cells used in studies with CD4⁺ TCR-transgenic mice is summarized in **Table 2**.

DIRECT AND INDIRECT KILLING OF TUMOR CELLS BY CD4⁺ T CELLS

The antigen-specific interaction between CD4⁺ T cells and MHC II^{POS} tumor cells is conceptually easy to grasp. On the other hand, the basis for antigen presentation and anti-tumor effector mechanisms are less obvious in the context of MHC II^{NEG} tumors (25, 26, 31, 70) – simply because such cancer cells cannot directly stimulate MHC class II-restricted CD4⁺ T cells (**Figure 1**). In the following sections, we discuss mechanism of CD4⁺ T cell-mediated direct killing of MHC II^{POS} tumor cells and indirect killing of MHC II^{NEG} tumor cells. Emphasis is put on observations from TCR-transgenic models, where the T cell specificity is known and both naïve and primed CD4⁺ T cells are readily available.

TCR-Tg model (antigen)	Tumor cell line	Ectopic antigen expr. ^a	MHC II expr.	Antigen secreted?	T cell source	Reference
4B2A1 (λ2 ³¹⁵)	MOPC315 (plasmacytoma)	No	_	Yes	Naïve (endogenous) ^b	(26, 27, 34, 65)
	MOPC315.37 ^c	No	-	No	Naive (endogenous)	(36)
	A20 (B lymphoma)	Yes	+	Yes	Naive (endogenous)	(26, 33, 66)
					Adoptive transfer, naive	
	A20 (B lymphoma) ^d	Yes	+	No	Naive (endogenous)	(26)
7A6 (Trp1)	B16/CIITA (melanoma)	No	+0	N/D	Naive (endogenous)	(35)
					Adoptive transfer, activated	
	B16 (melanoma)	No	+f	N/D	Adoptive transfer, naïve	(37, 38)
					Adoptive transfer, activated	
Marilyn (H–Y)	MB49 (bladder)	No	+f	N/D	Adoptive transfer, naive	(28)
	TRAMP-C2 (prostate)	No	-	N/D	Adoptive transfer, activated	
	βΤC-ΤΕΤ	No	-	N/D		
	WR21 (salivary gland)	No	-	N/D		
T2.5-5 (HA)	AB1 (mesothelioma)	Yes	_	N/D ^g	Naive (endogenous)	(40)
					Adoptive transfer, naive	
14.3d (HA)	CT26 (colon)	Yes	N/D ^h	N/D ⁱ	Naive (endogenous)	(41, 42)
					Adoptive transfer, naive	
DO 11. 10 (OVA)	A20 (B lymphoma)	Yes	+	N/D ^j	Adoptive transfer, activated	(17)
	A20 (B lymphoma)	Yes	+	No ^k	Naive (endogenous)	(44)
					Adoptive transfer, activated	
ot-II (ova)	EG-7 (thymoma)	Yes	_	Yes ^l	Adoptive transfer, activated	(43)

Table 2 | Use of TCR-Tg models for studies of anti-tumor CD4⁺ T cell immune responses.

N/D, not determined.

^a Ectopic antigen expression signifies that the tumor cell line was transfected for expression of the relevant antigen.

^bThe designation naive (endogenous) is used to describe tumor challenge experiments in TCR-Tg mice in which no prior priming of antigen-specific T cells was performed.

°MOPC315.37 contains a Gly15 \rightarrow Arg15 mutation within the λ 2 gene that causes intracellular retention (67).

 d Cells were transfected with a mutated $\lambda 2^{315}$ variant that causes retention within the endoplasmic reticulum, precluding secretion (67).

e Cells were transfected to overexpress MHC class II trans-activator (CIITA) to ensure high levels of expression of MHC II (35).

^fInducible expression by interferon gamma stimulation.

^gOnly cell surface expression was tested (40).

^hA previous publication reports constitutive MHC II expression in vitro (68).

ⁱCells were transfected with HA fused to EGFP. Only surface expression was tested (41).

¹Secretion expected; cells were transduced with constructs containing the full-length OVA cDNA sequence, which contains signal element for secretion (58).

^kCells were transfected with OVA fused to the trans-membrane domain of transferrin receptor, causing membrane expression (44).

¹Earlier report demonstrates secretion from the same cell line (69).



DIRECT KILLING OF MHC CLASS II^{POS} TUMOR CELLS

The existence of CD4⁺ T cells with cytotoxic properties has been increasingly recognized throughout the last three decades. Such cells are thought to function in a fashion analogous to cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells, with antigen recognition triggering the release of cytotoxic mediators. CD4⁺ T cells displaying direct cytotoxicity *in vitro* toward MHC II^{POS} targets, including tumor cells, have been described by several authors (37, 45, 70, 71). Correspondingly, efficient elimination of MHC II^{POS} tumors by T cells with such properties is also observed *in vivo* (26, 28, 33, 35, 37, 38, 72).

class I molecules, they often lack expression of MHC class II. How do CD4⁺ T

cells recognize and eliminate MHCIINEG tumor cells? (D) CD4+ T cells may kill

Several effector mechanisms have been implicated for tumorspecific cytotoxic CD4⁺ T cells. In a model of Id-specific CD4⁺ T cell responses against an MHC IIPOS B lymphoma, in vitro cytotoxicity was shown to be dependent on signaling mediated by binding of Fas ligand (FasL) on CD4⁺ T cells to the death receptor Fas on tumor cells (66). Naïve T cells showed little killing activity, whereas Th1 differentiation greatly enhanced cytotoxicity. However, in vivo elimination of tumor cells was not affected in FasL-deficient $(gld^{-/-})$ Id-specific TCR-Tg mice, suggesting that signaling through the Fas pathway is dispensable for tumor killing and that additional mechanisms are operational in vivo (66). Indeed, if the tumor antigen is secreted as is the case in the studies of Lundin et al. (33, 66), the indirect mechanism via Th1/M1 macrophages described below could also be active, and might play a prominent role in tumor rejection. In the Trp1-specific TCR-transgenic model, it was demonstrated that the rejection of B16 melanoma cells was abrogated in mice deficient for either granzyme B or perforin, indicating that these molecules are important for CD4⁺ T cell-mediated killing of MHC II^{POS} tumor cells (37). In summary, different MHC IIPOS tumors may vary in susceptibility to various effector mechanisms of CD4⁺ T cells, as indicated by the observations addressed above.

INDIRECT KILLING OF MHC CLASS II^{NEG} TUMOR CELLS

In general, antibody-secreting plasma cells are MHC class II negative due to silencing of the MHC Class II trans-activator (CIITA) occurring during plasma cell differentiation (73, 74). Multiple myeloma (MM) is the malignant counterpart of plasma cells and usually express little if any MHC class II molecules. MHC class II negativity due to loss of CIITA expression appears to be a stable phenotype, although some studies have reported MHC II upregulation in MM cells exposed to retinoic acid (75) or IFN- γ

turn kill the tumor cells (In addition, activated CD4⁺ T cells themselves could

possibly directly kill tumor cell in a TCR/MHC II-independent manner.).

(76, 77). The work of our research group is based on experiments using the mineral oil-induced BALB/c plasmacytoma (MOPC)315 (52, 70). MOPC315 cells secrete a highly mutated and unique monoclonal IgA (myeloma protein). The $\lambda 2$ light chain of the myeloma protein contains somatic mutations in positions 38, 50, 94, 95, and 96 that are unique to MOPC315 (78). Thus, the myeloma protein light chain is referred to as $\lambda 2^{315}$ (Figure 2A).

By immunization of BALB/c mice with free $\lambda 2^{315}$ L chain, known from previous studies to stimulate T cells (81), I-E^d-restricted, Id-specific CD4⁺ T cell clones were generated (**Figure 2A**) (45). These clones recognize a unique Id-epitope, which depends on the somatic mutations in codons 94, 95, and 96 within the CDR3 loop of the $\lambda 2^{315}$ light chain (79). As would be expected, MOPC315 derived $\lambda 2^{315}$ -immunoglobulin has to be endocytosed and processed by APCs prior to MHC class II presentation of the Id-peptide (80).

MOPC315 is found to be MHC class II negative by a number of criteria: (i) Negative staining with anti-MHC class II antibodies both *in vitro*, *ex vivo* (70), and *in vivo* (65). Lack of expression of MHC II molecules on MOPC315 was independently reported by others (82). (ii) Exposure to high amounts (500 ng/ml) of IFN- γ IL-4, or supernatant from activated Th1 cells, all failed to induce any detectable expression of MHC class II *in vitro* (70). (iii) Both *in vitro*-cultured (70) and *ex vivo* (65) MOPC315 cells failed to stimulate Id-specific MHC class II-restricted T cells in proliferation and cytokine secretion assays.

IDIOTYPE-SPECIFIC CD4⁺ T CELL CLONES INDUCE KILLING OF MHC CLASS II NEGATIVE MYELOMA CELLS *IN VITRO* – BUT ONLY IN THE PRESENCE OF MHC-COMPATIBLE APCs

A weak cytotoxicity that was greatly augmented by addition of high amounts of myeloma protein was observed when Id-specific CD4⁺



tracked by a clonotype-specific mAb [Nomenclature: antigenic

T cells were co-cultured with MHC-compatible spleen cells from BALB/c (H-2^d) MHC II^{NEG} MOPC315. Importantly, MHC II incompatible spleen cells from C57BL/6 failed to support cytotoxicity (70). Moreover, the cytotoxic effect could not be transferred by supernatants of activated T cells. It was suggested that some of the spleen cells, e.g., macrophages (M ϕ) stimulated by activated T cells, were important as cytotoxic effector cells in the *in vitro* cultures (70).

NAÏVE Id-SPECIFIC CD4⁺ T CELLS IN T CELL RECEPTOR TRANSGENIC MICE PROTECT AGAINST Id⁺ MYELOMA CELLS IN THE ABSENCE OF CD8⁺ T CELLS AND B CELLS

To facilitate studies of the role of Id-specific $CD4^+$ T cells in tumor protection against MHC II negative MOPC315, an Id-specific TCR-transgenic mouse on syngeneic BALB/c background was established (46).

In initial experiments, naïve Id-specific T cells from TCRtransgenic mice did not respond to MOPC315 *in vitro*. Despite this, Id-specific TCR-transgenic mice were specifically protected against s.c. challenge with MOPC315 cells (26) (**Figure 2B**). Eradication of MOPC315 cells resulted in a change of T cell phenotype, since T cells of surviving TCR-transgenic mice had increased cyto-toxicity against Id⁺ MHC II^{POS} B lymphomas, and since they upon stimulation produced much IFNγ and some IL-4.

with purified Id-specific CD4+ T cells to SCID mice (27).

By breeding the TCR-Tg mice onto a SCID background, it was demonstrated that rejection of MOPC315 was independent of CD8⁺ T cells and B cells/antibodies (27, 34) (**Figure 2C**). Additionally, tumor protection could be transferred to SCID mice with adoptive transfer of purified Id-specific CD4⁺ T cells (27).

Id-PRIMED APC CAN BE DETECTED IN TUMOR TISSUE OF LARGE ESTABLISHED MYELOMAS

The finding that naïve $CD4^+$ T cells could initiate rejection of a MHC II negative tumor indicated that host cells expressing MHC class II molecules were responsible for the presentation of Id to $CD4^+$ T cells. In a subsequent study, it was demonstrated that s.c.

MOPC315 tumors contained APCs that were able to stimulate Idspecific CD4⁺ T cells *in vitro* in an MHC-restricted manner (65). The great majority of MHC II^{POS} tumor-infiltrating APCs were CD11b⁺CD11c^{LOW}CD80⁺CD86⁺. These studies demonstrated that MHC class II negative MOPC315 tumors were infiltrated with Id-primed APCs with macrophage-like characteristics.

Id-SPECIFIC CD4⁺ T CELLS ARE PRESENT AND ACTIVATED IN TUMOR TISSUE

Given that Id-primed APC could be demonstrated in MOPC315 tumors, it was investigated if Id-specific CD4⁺ T cells were also present, and whether they were activated. In these experiments, a high amount of MOPC315 cells were injected in order to overcome the resistance of TCR-transgenic mice. A number of observations indicated that Id-specific CD4⁺ T cells were specifically activated in small s.c. MOPC315 tumors established in Id-specific TCR-transgenic mice: (i) The CD4⁺/CD8⁺ ratio was skewed toward CD4⁺ in tumor tissue. (ii) CD4⁺ blasts within the tumor were selectively enriched for cells expressing the Id-specific TCR. (iii) Id-specific CD4⁺ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) were activated (CD69⁺ CD25⁺), and proliferated (BrdU⁺) in clusters associated with MHC II^{POS} tumor-infiltrating APC (65).

SECRETION OF TUMOR-SPECIFIC ANTIGEN IS REQUIRED FOR CD4⁺ T CELL-MEDIATED REJECTION OF MHC II^{NEG} TUMORS

While it was clear that tumor-infiltrating APCs and lymph node cells take up the $\lambda 2^{315}$ antigen and display the Id-peptide on MHC class II molecules (34, 65), the precise source of the priming Id antigen was not established. To address this question, we used two secretory variants of MOPC315: one that secretes the complete M315 myeloma protein composed of α H chain and $\lambda 2^{315}$ L chain (MOPC315), and another that only secrets the free $\lambda 2^{315}$ L chain (MOPC315.26). In addition, we used two non-secretory variants: one where the free $\lambda 2^{315}$ L chain is retained intracellularly due to a point mutation (MOPC315.37) and another where no Ig is produced (MOPC315.36) (67, 83).

When Id-specific TCR-transgenic SCID mice were challenged with the four variants, protection was observed for the $\lambda 2^{315}$ -secreting variants MOPC315 and MOPC315.26, while there was

no protection against the antigen-negative MOPC315.36. Tumor take was significantly delayed, but still complete, in mice challenged with the MOPC315.37, which retains $\lambda 2^{315}$ intracellularly. This result was surprising since in MOPC315.37-containing Matrigels, macrophages were MHC II^{HI}, and Id-specific T cells were activated (CD69⁺). The only striking deficiency observed with MOPC315.37 *in vivo* was deficient T cell activation in draining lymph nodes, presumably due to poor local availability of the intracellularly retained tumor antigen. These results indicate that the extracellular concentration of secreted tumor-specific antigen is important for protection against an MHC II^{NEG} tumor, most likely due to enhanced priming of APCs in draining lymph nodes as well as macrophages in tumors (36, 84).

DETECTION OF TUMOR-SPECIFIC CD4⁺ T CELLS AND MACROPHAGES IN EARLY STAGES AFTER TUMOR CELL CHALLENGE: THE MATRIGEL METHOD

To study local events at the injection site at the early stages of the anti-tumor immune response, we injected the tumor cells suspended in a Matrigel solution (**Figures 3** and **4**). Matrigel is a liquid basement membrane preparation that jellifies rapidly at body temperature. Thus, a tumor bed of a defined size was generated that could be isolated and assayed to characterize infiltrating cells at any time point following tumor cell injection (**Figure 3**). Moreover, the defined volume of the gel plug allows quantitative assays of secreted factors within the tumor microenvironment (39). Initial experiments demonstrated that tumor cells embedded in Matrigel were rejected by TCR-transgenic SCID mice, although less efficiently than in the absence of Matrigel (34). Thus, events in the tumor cell-containing Matrigel most likely reflected those taking place during successful immunosurveillance of MHC II negative tumor cells by CD4⁺ T cells.

Using this system, a longitudinal characterization of the immune response within the tumor microenvironment and draining lymph nodes was undertaken (34, 36, 39, 85). The findings are summarized in **Figure 4**. Briefly, secreted myeloma protein is presented by APC in tumor-draining lymph nodes to Idspecific CD4⁺ T cells. Upon recognition, T cells are activated, polarize into Th1 cells, and migrate to the Matrigel/tumor. In





Id-specific CD4+ T cells. The following events are based on experiments where Id-secreting MOPC315 suspended in liquid Matrigel was injected subcutaneously in TCR-transgenic mice. (i-viii). (i) At the incipient tumor site, macrophages [CD11b⁺, CD11c⁻, CD80/CD86⁺ MHC II^{L0}, F4/80⁺] start to infiltrate the tumor/Matrigel from day +1. Tumor-infiltrating macrophages become Id-primed by extracellular myeloma protein by the conventional MHC II presentation pathway (65). (ii) Extracellular Id+ myeloma protein (or possibly Id-primed tumor APCs) drain to lymph nodes where Id-primed APCs stimulate Id-specific CD4⁺ T cells. Uncertainties as to the mechanism of Id+ Ag draining and the identity of Id-primed APCs are indicated by a question mark (?). (iii) Id-specific CD4+ T cells become activated by day +3, are substantially expanded by day +6 (34), and polarize into Th1 cells by day +8 (39, 85). Upon activation in the tumor-draining lymph node, a number of molecules are significantly upregulated on the surface of the Id-specific CD4+ T cells, while some are consistently downregulated (85). (iv) Activated CD4⁺ T cells (CD62L^{LOW}) leave the lymph node and accumulate at the tumor site from day +6 (34, 86). (v) At the incipient tumor site, infiltrating Id-specific CD4⁺ T cells are re-activated by Id-primed macrophages (34).

the Matrigel/tumor, Th1 cells become re-activated by tumorinfiltrating macrophages that has endocytosed and processed myeloma protein. Th1 derived IFN- γ activates macrophages into tumoricidal M1 macrophages (34, 36, 39, 65).

UNRESOLVED ISSUES AND DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

USE OF MHC CLASS II NEGATIVE TUMOR CELL LINES IN TUMOR IMMUNOLOGY

While MHC class II positivity in tumor cells is generally to be trusted, MHC class II negativity should, for obvious reasons, be

tumor-infiltrating CD4⁺ T cells dramatically change expression of a number of surface molecules (85). Several molecules are upregulated on both activated CD4+ T cells in the tumor-draining lymph node, and on tumor-infiltrating CD4⁺ T cells, although at higher levels in the latter population. (vii) IFN-y produced by tumor-infiltrating Th1 cells activates macrophages that up-regulate MHC class II on the cell surface and show increased expression of M1-associated surface molecules (34, 39). IFN-y-activated macrophages acquire a tumoricidal phenotype with the upregulation of cytotoxicity-associated markers including granzyme A/B, and NKG2D (39). In addition, purified activated macrophages can directly inhibit myeloma growth in vitro (34, 36, 39). The mechanisms underlying M1 macrophage-mediated growth inhibition is unknown, but once the macrophages are activated the growth inhibition is antigen independent (36). (viii) Analysis by gene expression profiling and Luminex multiplex cytokine analyses has revealed that the Id-specific CD4⁺ Th1-mediated anti-tumor immune response has a striking resemblance to the characteristics of acute inflammatory responses (39). Thus, we propose that Th1-mediated inflammatory responses may protect against cancer (87).

viewed with a healthy skepticism. In the case of MOPC315, many attempts by others and us have consistently failed to detect expression of MHC class II molecules *in vitro* as well as *in vivo*, even when MOPC315 cells were exposed to IFN- γ (34, 70, 82, 88). In several other models, such as the use of the erythroleukemia cell line FBL-3 (25), the UV-induced fibrosarcoma 6132A-PRO (31), and the methylcholanthrene-induced Mc51.9 (32); no MHC class II was detected on tumor cells even after IFN- γ exposure, similar to MOPC315. In the B16 melanoma model, Quezada et al. showed that the cell line used in their experiments expressed MHC class II, but only when the tumor-bearing hosts were subjected to a

combination of irradiation and adoptive transfer of Trp1-specific CD4⁺ T cells together with anti-CTLA mAb (37). Xie et al. also reported that B16 cells express MHC class II by immunofluorescence staining of tumor biopsies, but the identity of the MHC class II^{POS} cells within the sections was not further characterized, complicating interpretation (38). In contrast, Hung et al. reports the use of B16 tumor cells that were described to be MHC II^{NEG} (30).

Peres-Diez et al. (28) reported that expression of MHC class II molecules on tumor cells was not required for rejection mediated by CD4⁺ cells. In note, they found that: $H-2^{k} H-Y^{+}$ tumor cells were rejected by I–A^b-restricted, H–Y-specific CD4⁺ T cells in an immunodeficient H-2^b mouse. An alternative approach to ensure the absence of the relevant MHC class II molecule in a tumor cell line would be to delete the corresponding MHC class II molecule genes from the tumor cells.

IS SECRETION OF TUMOR-SPECIFIC ANTIGEN BY MHC II^{NEG} TUMORS REQUIRED?

The tumor-specific antigen used in our own studies, the MOPC315 myeloma protein, is a highly secreted antigen, with serum levels reaching milligrams per milliliter levels. Concentrations of myeloma protein in tumor tissues would be expected to be even higher. Surprisingly, a non-secreting myeloma variant that only expresses an intracellularly retained mutated Id⁺ L chain, but in high amounts, was not rejected (36). In the absence of sufficient tumor antigen secretion, it might be expected that either spontaneous necrosis or apoptosis of tumor cells containing such high amounts of intracellular tumor antigen could prime tumor-infiltrating APC with tumor-specific antigen. This is apparently not the case for the non-secreting variant of MOPC315. It remains to be seen whether cytotoxic drug treatment of mice with tumors caused by this particular MOPC315 variant could enhance Id priming of APCs via uptake of necrotic or apoptotic cells.

In other MHC II^{NEG} models where tumor cells is reported to be rejected by CD4⁺ T cells (28, 31, 32), there is scarce information as to whether tumor-specific antigen is secreted or not (Table 2). In the case of H-Y antigen, which clearly must be transferred from the tumor cells to host APC for MHC II presentation (28), there is little information about the extent of secretion of the antigen. In yet other cases, the tumor-specific antigen is simply not known (25), precluding any analysis of secretion status. It should further be noted that in some experiments [e.g., Ref. (24, 25, 37)] it has not been rigorously excluded that non-malignant normal cells could also produce the "tumor-specific" antigen. This possibility is virtually excluded in the MOPC315 model since CD4⁺ T cells recognize a somatically mutated tumor-specific antigen unique to MOPC315 myeloma cells. By and large, it appears that secretion of tumor-specific antigen facilitates priming of host APC and stimulation of CD4⁺ T cells. However, it is possible that the requirement of secretion could vary for distinct tumors and tumor-specific antigens, perhaps related to differences in susceptibility for crosspresentation of antigen associated with either necrotic or apoptotic tumor cells, or secreted vesicles such as exosomes.

What about MHC II^{POS} tumors – do they also require secretion of tumor-specific antigen? For MHC II^{POS} B lymphoma, a transfectant that secretes $\lambda 2^{315}$ was rejected, while another transfectant

expressing a mutated intracellularly retained $\lambda 2^{315}$ was not (26). Similarly, A20 cells expressing HA, which apparently was negligibly secreted since HA was not found in serum, was not rejected (89). The Dby minor histocompatibility antigen (H–Y) (28) and Trp1 (35, 37, 38) have both been reported to be secreted by tumor cells. A strategy to test the hypothesis that secretion of tumor-specific antigen is required for rejection of MHC II^{POS} tumors would be to transfect MOPC315.37 with CIIITA so that the tumor cells become MHC II^{POS}. If this transfectant is rejected in Id-specific TCR-transgenic mice, this would weaken the hypothesis.

BY WHICH PATHWAY IS TUMOR ANTIGEN PRESENTED BY APC IN DRAINING LYMPH NODES?

In the tumor models where it has been tested, be they MHC $\mathrm{II}^{\mathrm{NEG}}$ (28, 34, 65) or MHC II^{POS} (37, 38), there was an apparent need for tumor-specific antigen to be presented by host APC to stimulate naïve (but not memory) CD4⁺ T cells. Thus, in the case of the B16 MHC II^{POS} model, no rejection by naïve Trp1-specific CD4⁺ T cells was obtained in hosts that lacked MHC class II molecules. By contrast, transfer of CD4⁺ T cells that first had been primed in vitro could readily reject B16 tumors (37, 38). These findings indicate that MHC IIPOS tumor cells themselves are incapable of stimulating naïve Trp1-specific CD4⁺ T cells, and that priming by professional host APC is required. In addition, experiments reported by Xie et al. (38) using Trp1-deficient mice indicate that Trp1 derived from host tissue is redundant for priming APC and that Trp1 derived from B16 tumor cells suffice, at least for stimulation of memory CD4⁺ T cells. It is still, however, unclear how the Trp1 antigen is transferred from tumors to host APC, and in which anatomical compartment priming of CD4⁺ T cells take place.

The conclusions of the above experiments are supported by previous observations in the MOPC315 model, which directly demonstrate activation of Id-specific $CD4^+$ T cells in draining lymph nodes (34, 36, 85). Moreover, treatment with the sphingosine phosphate receptor modulator fingolimod that abrogates egress of T cells from lymph nodes led to a decreased number of Id-specific $CD4^+$ T cells within the tumor, resulting in failure of tumor rejection (86). Consistent with these findings, the non-secreting MOPC315.37 variant caused little activation of $CD4^+$ T cells in draining lymph nodes, and tumor rejection did not occur.

Idiotype-primed APCs are readily found in lymph nodes that drain MOPC315 tumors (Dembic and Bogen, unpublished experiments). It should therefore be possible by cell purifications and characterizations to reveal the identity of these Id-primed APCs in lymph nodes. Information from such experiments could help to define the mechanisms by which APC get primed by secreted tumor antigen. For example, if the predominant features of Idprimed APCs are that of a residential dendritic cell, this may signify priming by soluble antigen arriving to the lymph node via afferent lymphatic vessels.

ELIMINATION OF MHC II^{NEG} TUMOR CELLS

It is well documented that Th1/IFN- γ -activated M1 macrophages isolated from tumors under conditions of tumor rejection can directly inhibit the growth of MHC II^{NEG} myeloma cells *in vitro* (34, 36, 39). However, the molecular mechanisms mediating the inhibition of tumor cell growth remain to be established. Possibly,

reactive oxygen species could be of importance, since resistance against B16 cells [although in later work reported to be MHC class II^{POS} under conditions of rejection (37)] was reduced in iNOS^{-/-} and NOX2^{-/-} mice (30). Results of Perez-Diez et al. indicate that under some circumstances, NK cells activated by CD4⁺ T cells are important, but the effector mechanisms employed by such NK cells have not been addressed (28).

It is also possible that CD4⁺ T cells could themselves directly kill tumor cells, e.g., through FasL/Fas interactions, similar to what has been described for killing of MHC II^{POS} B lymphoma cells (33), or a perforin/granzyme B-dependent mechanism as described for killing of the MHC II^{POS} B16 cells (37). The efficacy of killing mechanisms of CD4⁺ T cells could also differ for different tumors. Thus, even though Th1 cells efficiently killed transfected A20 cells *in vitro* by a FasL-dependent mechanism, the same cells could not kill MOPC315 (26, 66). Finally, it has been reported that IFN- γ produced by tumor-specific Th1 cells mediate tumor rejection by means of angiostatic effects, thus causing starvation of the tumor (32).

DO CD4⁺ T CELL-MEDIATED IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST MHC II^{NEG} TUMOR CELLS CONVEY BYSTANDER KILLING OF TUMOR CELLS THAT HAVE LOST EXPRESSION OF ANTIGEN?

In theory, macrophage-mediated killing of MHC II^{NEG} tumors could be expected to indiscriminately kill surrounding cells, including tumor cells that have lost expression of antigen ("bystander killing"). If true, this would be a clinically important asset of Th1/M1 macrophage-mediated killing of tumor cells (34, 36, 39). The previously described angiostatic properties of Th1 derived IFN γ (32) would also be expected to cause bystander killing. On the other hand, direct killing of MHC II^{POS} tumor cells by cytotoxic CD4⁺ T cells was demonstrated not to induce bystander killing (37).

WHAT CD4+ T CELL PHENOTYPES SUPPORT ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNITY?

Naïve CD4⁺ T cells in Id-specific TCR-transgenic mice, which eradicate injected MHC IINEG tumor cells, develop into IFNysecreting Th1 TILs that induce macrophage polarization into tumoricidal M1 macrophages (33, 34, 39). Transfer of naïve Idspecific CD4⁺ T cells could cure established MHC II^{POS} tumors (33). In the Trp1-specific TCR-transgenic model, naïve (37, 38), Th1 (35), and Th17 (35) cells have been demonstrated to eradicate MHC II^{POS} tumors. Collectively, these results indicate that the primary anti-tumor response of naïve CD4⁺ T cells is followed by T cell differentiation into Th1 (or possibly Th17) cells that confer anti-tumor immunity irrespective of MHC class II expression on tumor cells. While Th1 cells are clearly associated with anti-tumor immunity, variable effects have been observed with other CD4⁺ T cell subsets, reviewed in Ref. (90). Moreover, recent studies suggest that effector CD4⁺ T cells retain some degree of functional plasticity (91, 92). The plasticity of effector Th populations may explain the differential effects of the various Th cell populations in tumor immunity. In addition, exploiting the plasticity of Th cell subsets may be utilized in immune therapy.

TOLERANCE INDUCTION OF TUMOR-SPECIFIC CD4+ T CELLS

Use of TCR-transgenic mice offers the possibility of studying tolerance development by following the fate and function of

tumor-reactive CD4⁺ T cells. When Id-specific TCR-transgenic mice failed to reject high amounts of injected MHC II^{NEG} MOPC315 cells, CD4⁺ T cells in peripheral lymphoid organs and in the tumor became deleted (93). The extent of deletion became more profound as tumor size increased. The deletion of peripheral tumor-specific CD4⁺ T cells seen in this model for a highly secreted tumor antigen resembles that of exhaustion observed in chronic viral diseases. In addition to peripheral deletion of Id-specific CD4⁺ T cells, progressive MOPC315 tumors also caused thymocyte deletion. It was demonstrated that circulatory myeloma protein gained access to the thymus and was presented in an MHC class II context by thymic APCs, thus causing negative selection of thymocytes (94).

In a recent paper, T cell characteristics in Trp1-specific TCRtransgenic mice developing B16 tumor recurrence following adoptive therapy were studied. Recurrence was associated with increased FoxP3⁺ T_{reg} cell numbers, and increased expression of inhibitory ligands, including PD-1 and CTLA-4 inhibitory receptors on both T_{reg} and effector CD4⁺ cells (95). Tumor recurrence could be prevented by concomitant depletion of T_{regs} and administration of checkpoint blockade antibodies. Collectively, these results indicate that CD4⁺ T cells must eliminate tumor antigensecreting tumor cells efficiently within a short timeframe. If the elimination is incomplete, T cell tolerance is induced by multiple mechanisms.

It has been shown that MHC IIPOS A20 cells, are not rejected after i.v. injection in HA-specific TCR-transgenic mice, but induce anergy in CD4⁺ T cells via priming of bone marrow derived APCs (89, 96). Interestingly, when presentation by bone marrow derived APCs was prevented by the use of bone marrow chimeras, anergy did not occur, and tumor cells were rejected (72). Thus, it might seem that tumor cells that poorly secrete tumor antigen could favor anergy development by induction tolerogenic APCs. The above results are consistent with previous observations that A20 cells expressing a non-secreted $\lambda 2^{315}$ were not rejected in Id-specific TCR-transgenic mice (26) (although it was not tested if anergy was induced). These results, obtained with non-secreting MHC II^{POS} A20 transfectants in two different TCR-transgenic models, are in support of the notion that tumor-specific antigen, perhaps via presentation of apoptotic or necrotic tumor cells by a special type of APC, favor induction of T cell anergy. In contrast, secretion of tumor-specific antigen and presentation (perhaps by another type of host APCs) in lymph nodes, may favor induction of potent primary anti-tumor CD4⁺ T cell responses.

DICHOTOMOUS ROLE OF Th CELLS IN B CELL CANCERS

This review paper has focused on $CD4^+$ T cell-mediated eradication of tumor cells. However, $CD4^+$ T cells may also induce tumors. This dichotomy may especially apply to B cell tumors since B cells are known to proliferate in response to help from $CD4^+$ T cells. Extensive and prolonged B cell proliferation could indeed predispose to genetic instability and malignant transformation. In fact, B lymphoma development has been associated with continuous antigenic exposure in chronic infectious diseases caused by *Helicobacter pylori*, EBV, and hepatitis C. Moreover, chronic immune responses to self antigens in autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus, Sjögren's syndrome and rheumatoid arthritis have also been linked to development of B cell lymphomas, reviewed in Ref. (97, 98). Further supporting a role for chronic antigen stimulation, diffuse large B cell lymphomas (98, 99) and follicular B cell lymphomas (98, 100, 101) are frequently infiltrated with T cells. In Ig- and TCR-transgenic mice, chronic stimulation of Id⁺ B cells by Id-specific CD4⁺ Th2 cells results in the induction of Id⁺ B lymphomas (102). Moreover, two separate studies have shown that proliferation of B lymphomas (103) and MM (104) was augmented by the presence of CD4⁺ T cells.

The MOPC315 model, reviewed herein, was used in the experiments were Id⁺ lymphomas were induced. Interestingly, when such induced lymphoma cells were injected s.c into naïve Idspecific TCR-transgenic mice, the lymphoma cells were promptly rejected (102). Thus, Id⁺ B lymphoma cells were eliminated by mice having naïve CD4⁺ T cells with an identical Id-specific TCR to that of the B lymphoma-inducing Th2 cells. If naïve T cells in the protected mice differentiated into tumor-eliminating Th1 cells was not investigated. However, analogous experiments indicate that Th1 is the primary response to subcutaneously inoculated Blymphomas (34, 39). These results suggest that Blymphoma cells induced by Th2 cells are rejected by Th1 cells expressing an identical TCR. The finding has obvious implications for T cell therapy: if a B cell tumor is initiated by Th2 cells, it may be treated by Th1 cells of the same specificity (and possibly vice versa). The same may apply to other combinations of Th cells such as Th17/Th1 etc. Thus, re-education of T cell phenotype may become part of the tumor immunotherapy armamentarium. Given the plasticity of CD4⁺ subsets (91, 92), such re-education may become a real possibility.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

HOW DISPARATE ARE THE MECHANISMS FOR REJECTION OF MHC II^{POS} AND MHC II^{NEG} TUMORS?

The data reviewed herein suggest that the difference between direct and indirect killing of tumors relates predominantly to the effector stage of tumor cell killing. Thus, $CD4^+$ T cells can kill MHC II^{POS} cells directly, while killing of MHC II^{NEG} occurs indirectly via macrophages or possibly NK cells, angiostatic effects, or all of these. In contrast, the primary activation of naïve tumor-specific CD4⁺ T cells appears to be similar for the direct and indirect mechanisms, in that presentation of tumor-specific antigen by host APC seems to be required. However, the evidence for this in the context of MHC II^{POS} tumors is largely circumstantial. In an MHC II^{NEG} myeloma model, secretion of tumor-specific myeloma protein clearly facilitates priming of APC in lymph nodes and stimulation of naive CD4⁺ T cells that subsequently infiltrate the tumor site. Thus, the nature of the antigen, by virtue of its cellular localization and accessibility to APCs, might determine the ability of the antigen to serve as an efficient tumor-specific antigen in CD4⁺ T cell responses. A more in-depth analysis of such factors might be of value in reconciling observations made in the various TCR-transgenic models.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank everyone in Bogen lab who, over the years, have contributed to the work described in this review. The work has been generously supported by the Norwegian Cancer Society, The Multiple Myeloma Research Foundation, The Research Council of Norway, The South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority, and numerous funds and legacies mentioned in the original research reports. The authors apologize for any omissions of publications that could not be included due to space constraints.

REFERENCES

- Burnet M. Cancer; a biological approach. I. The processes of control. Br Med J (1957) 1:779–86. doi:10.1136/bmj.1.5022.779
- 2. Thomas L. Discussion in Cellular and Humoral Aspects of the Hypersensitive State. New York: Hoebner-Harper (1959). p. 529–32.
- 3. Burnet FM. The evolution of bodily defence. Med J Aust (1963) 2:817-21.
- Burnet FM. The concept of immunological surveillance. Prog Exp Tumor Res (1970) 13:1–27.
- Koebel CM, Vermi W, Swann JB, Zerafa N, Rodig SJ, Old LJ, et al. Adaptive immunity maintains occult cancer in an equilibrium state. *Nature* (2007) 450:903–7. doi:10.1038/nature06309
- Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Robbins PF, Yang JC, Hwu P, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity in patients after clonal repopulation with antitumor lymphocytes. *Science* (2002) 298:850–4. doi:10.1126/ science.1076514
- Page DB, Postow MA, Callahan MK, Allison JP, Wolchok JD. Immune modulation in cancer with antibodies. *Annu Rev Med* (2013). doi:10.1146/annurevmed-092012-112807
- Galon J, Angell HK, Bedognetti D, Marincola FM. The continuum of cancer immunosurveillance: prognostic, predictive, and mechanistic signatures. *Immunity* (2013) 39:11–26. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.008
- Khong HT, Restifo NP. Natural selection of tumor variants in the generation of "tumor escape" phenotypes. Nat Immunol (2002) 3:999–1005. doi:10.1038/ni1102-999
- Garrido F, Cabrera T, Aptsiauri N. "Hard" and "soft" lesions underlying the HLA class I alterations in cancer cells: implications for immunotherapy. *Int* J Cancer (2010) 127:249–56. doi:10.1002/ijc.25270
- Matsushita H, Vesely MD, Koboldt DC, Rickert CG, Uppaluri R, Magrini VJ, et al. Cancer exome analysis reveals a T-cell-dependent mechanism of cancer immunoediting. *Nature* (2012) 482:400–4. doi:10.1038/nature10755
- Hanson HL, Donermeyer DL, Ikeda H, White JM, Shankaran V, Old LJ, et al. Eradication of established tumors by CD8+ T cell adoptive immunotherapy. *Immunity* (2000) 13:265–76. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00026-1
- Lee KH, Wang E, Nielsen MB, Wunderlich J, Migueles S, Connors M, et al. Increased vaccine-specific T cell frequency after peptide-based vaccination correlates with increased susceptibility to in vitro stimulation but does not lead to tumor regression. *J Immunol* (1999) 163:6292–300.
- Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Yang JC, Hwu P, Schwartzentruber DJ, Topalian SL, et al. A phase I study of nonmyeloablative chemotherapy and adoptive transfer of autologous tumor antigen-specific T lymphocytes in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Immunother (2002) 25:243–51. doi:10.1097/ 00002371-200205000-00007
- Peterson AC, Harlin H, Gajewski TF. Immunization with melan-A peptidepulsed peripheral blood mononuclear cells plus recombinant human interleukin-12 induces clinical activity and T-cell responses in advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol (2003) 21:2342–8. doi:10.1200/JCO.2003.12.144
- Boon T, Coulie PG, Van Den Eynde BJ, Van Der Bruggen P. Human T cell responses against melanoma. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2006) 24:175–208. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090733
- Nishimura T, Iwakabe K, Sekimoto M, Ohmi Y, Yahata T, Nakui M, et al. Distinct role of antigen-specific T helper type 1 (Th1) and Th2 cells in tumor eradication in vivo. J Exp Med (1999) 190:617–27. doi:10.1084/jem. 190.5.617
- Gao FG, Khammanivong V, Liu WJ, Leggatt GR, Frazer IH, Fernando GJ. Antigen-specific CD4+ T-cell help is required to activate a memory CD8+ T cell to a fully functional tumor killer cell. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62:6438–41.
- Janssen EM, Lemmens EE, Wolfe T, Christen U, Von Herrath MG, Schoenberger SP. CD4+ T cells are required for secondary expansion and memory in CD8+ T lymphocytes. *Nature* (2003) 421:852–6. doi:10.1038/nature01441

- 20. Antony PA, Piccirillo CA, Akpinarli A, Finkelstein SE, Speiss PJ, Surman DR, et al. CD8+ T cell immunity against a tumor/self-antigen is augmented by CD4+ T helper cells and hindered by naturally occurring T regulatory cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 174:2591–601.
- 21. Hunder NN, Wallen H, Cao J, Hendricks DW, Reilly JZ, Rodmyre R, et al. Treatment of metastatic melanoma with autologous CD4+ T cells against NY-ESO-1. *N Engl J Med* (2008) **358**:2698–703. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0800251
- 22. Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Thakur A, Clements V. Rejection of mouse sarcoma cells after transfection of MHC class II genes. *J Immunol* (1990) 144: 4068–71.
- 23. Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Roby CA, Clements VK. Abrogation of tumorigenicity by MHC class II antigen expression requires the cytoplasmic domain of the class II molecule. *J Immunol* (1991) **147**:2419–22.
- 24. Fujiwara H, Fukuzawa M, Yoshioka T, Nakajima H, Hamaoka T. The role of tumor-specific Lyt-1+2– T cells in eradicating tumor cells in vivo. I. Lyt-1+2– T cells do not necessarily require recruitment of host's cytotoxic T cell precursors for implementation of in vivo immunity. *J Immunol* (1984) 133: 1671–6.
- Greenberg PD, Kern DE, Cheever MA. Therapy of disseminated murine leukemia with cyclophosphamide and immune Lyt-1+,2– T cells. Tumor eradication does not require participation of cytotoxic T cells. J Exp Med (1985) 161:1122–34. doi:10.1084/jem.161.5.1122
- Lauritzsen GF, Weiss S, Dembic Z, Bogen B. Naive idiotype-specific CD4+ T cells and immunosurveillance of B-cell tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1994) 91:5700–4. doi:10.1073/pnas.91.12.5700
- Bogen B, Munthe L, Sollien A, Hofgaard P, Omholt H, Dagnaes F, et al. Naive CD4+ T cells confer idiotype-specific tumor resistance in the absence of antibodies. *Eur J Immunol* (1995) 25:3079–86. doi:10.1002/eji.1830251114
- Perez-Diez A, Joncker NT, Choi K, Chan WFN, Anderson CC, Lantz O, et al. CD4 cells can be more efficient at tumor rejection than CD8 cells. *Blood* (2007) 109:5346–54. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-10-051318
- Greenberg PD, Cheever MA, Fefer A. Eradication of disseminated murine leukemia by chemoimmunotherapy with cyclophosphamide and adoptively transferred immune syngeneic Lyt-1+2– lymphocytes. J Exp Med (1981) 154:952–63. doi:10.1084/jem.154.3.952
- Hung K, Hayashi R, Lafond-Walker A, Lowenstein C, Pardoll D, Levitsky H. The central role of CD4(+) T cells in the antitumor immune response. J Exp Med (1998) 188:2357–68. doi:10.1084/jem.188.12.2357
- 31. Mumberg D, Monach PA, Wanderling S, Philip M, Toledano AY, Schreiber RD, et al. CD4(+) T cells eliminate MHC class II-negative cancer cells in vivo by indirect effects of IFN-gamma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) **96**:8633–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.15.8633
- Qin Z, Blankenstein T. CD4+ T cell mediated tumor rejection involves inhibition of angiogenesis that is dependent on IFN gamma receptor expression by nonhematopoietic cells. *Immunity* (2000) 12:677–86. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80218-6
- 33. Lundin KU, Hofgaard PO, Omholt H, Munthe LA, Corthay A, Bogen B. Therapeutic effect of idiotype-specific CD4+ T cells against B-cell lymphoma in the absence of anti-idiotypic antibodies. *Blood* (2003) 102:605. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-11-3381
- Corthay A, Skovseth DK, Lundin KU, Rosjo E, Omholt H, Hofgaard PO, et al. Primary antitumor immune response mediated by CD4+ T cells. *Immunity* (2005) 22:371–83. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.02.003
- Muranski P, Boni A, Antony PA, Cassard L, Irvine KR, Kaiser A, et al. Tumorspecific Th17-polarized cells eradicate large established melanoma. *Blood* (2008) 112:362–73. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-11-120998
- Corthay A, Lundin KU, Lorvik KB, Hofgaard PO, Bogen B. Secretion of tumorspecific antigen by myeloma cells is required for cancer immunosurveillance by CD4+ T cells. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:5901–7. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4816
- Quezada SA, Simpson TR, Peggs KS, Merghoub T, Vider J, Fan X, et al. Tumorreactive CD4(+) T cells develop cytotoxic activity and eradicate large established melanoma after transfer into lymphopenic hosts. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:637–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20091918
- Xie Y, Akpinarli A, Maris C, Hipkiss EL, Lane M, Kwon EKM, et al. Naive tumorspecific CD4+ T cells differentiated in vivo eradicate established melanoma. (2010) 207:651–67. doi:10.1084/jem.20091921

- Haabeth OA, Lorvik KB, Hammarstrom C, Donaldson IM, Haraldsen G, Bogen B, et al. Inflammation driven by tumour-specific Th1 cells protects against Bcell cancer. *Nat Commun* (2011) 2:240. doi:10.1038/ncomms1239
- 40. Marzo AL, Lake RA, Robinson BW, Scott B. T-cell receptor transgenic analysis of tumor-specific CD8 and CD4 responses in the eradication of solid tumors. *Cancer Res* (1999) **59**:1071–9.
- Klein L, Trautman L, Psarras S, Schnell S, Siermann A, Liblau R, et al. Visualizing the course of antigen-specific CD8 and CD4 T cell responses to a growing tumor. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 33:806–14. doi:10.1002/eji.200323800
- Zhou G, Drake CG, Levitsky HI. Amplification of tumor-specific regulatory T cells following therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Blood* (2006) 107:628–36. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-07-2737
- 43. Chamoto K, Wakita D, Narita Y, Zhang Y, Noguchi D, Ohnishi H, et al. An essential role of antigen-presenting cell/T-helper type 1 cell-cell interactions in draining lymph node during complete eradication of class II-negative tumor tissue by T-helper type 1 cell therapy. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:1809–17. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2246
- Marabelle A, Kohrt H, Sagiv-Barfi I, Ajami B, Axtell RC, Zhou G, et al. Depleting tumor-specific Tregs at a single site eradicates disseminated tumors. *J Clin Invest* (2013) 123:2447–63. doi:10.1172/JCI64859
- Bogen B, Malissen B, Haas W. Idiotope-specific T cell clones that recognize syngeneic immunoglobulin fragments in the context of class II molecules. *Eur J Immunol* (1986) 16:1373–8. doi:10.1002/eji.1830161110
- 46. Bogen B, Gleditsch L, Weiss S, Dembic Z. Weak positive selection of transgenic T cell receptor-bearing thymocytes: importance of major histocompatibility complex class II, T cell receptor and CD4 surface molecule densities. *Eur J Immunol* (1992) 22:703–9. doi:10.1002/eji.1830220313
- Lantz O, Grandjean I, Matzinger P, Di Santo JP. Gamma chain required for naive CD4+ T cell survival but not for antigen proliferation. *Nat Immunol* (2000) 1(1):54–8. doi:10.1038/76917
- Scott B, Liblau R, Degermann S, Marconi LA, Ogata L, Caton AJ, et al. A role for non-MHC genetic polymorphism in susceptibility to spontaneous autoimmunity. *Immunity* (1994) 1(1):73–83. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(94) 90011-6
- 49. Kirberg J, Baron A, Jakob S, Rolink A, Karjalainen K, von Boehmer H. Thymic selection of CD8+ single positive cells with a class II major histocompatibility complex-restricted receptor. J Exp Med (1994) 180(1):25–34. doi:10.1084/jem.180.1.25
- Murphy KM, Heimberger AB, Loh DY. Induction by antigen of intrathymic apoptosis of CD4+CD8+TCRlo thymocytes in vivo. *Science* (1990) 250(4988):1720–23.
- 51. Barnden MJ, Allison J, Heath WR, Carbone FR. Defective TCR expression in transgenic mice constructed using cDNA-based alpha- and beta-chain genes under the control of heterologous regulatory elements. *Immunol Cell Biol* (1998) **76**(1):34–40. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1711.1998.00709.x
- Eisen HN, Simms ES, Potter M. Mouse myeloma proteins with antihapten antibody activity. The protein produced by plasma cell tumor MOPC-315. *Biochemistry* (1968) 7:4126–34. doi:10.1021/bi00851a048
- Hannestad K, Kao MS, Eisen HN. Cell-bound myeloma proteins on the surface of myeloma cells: potential targets for the immune system. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (1972) 69(8):2295–9.
- 54. Xu Y, Setaluri V, Takechi Y, Houghton AN. Sorting and secretion of a melanosome membrane protein, gp75/TRP1. J Invest Dermatol (1997) 109(6):788–95. doi:10.1111/1523-1747.ep12340971
- 55. Zenzes MT, Müller U, Aschmoneit I, Wolf U. Studies on H-Y antigen in different cell fractions of the testis during pubescence: immature germ cells are H-Y antigen negative. *Hum Genet* (1978) 45(3):297–303. doi:10.1007/BF00278727
- 56. Müller U. H-Y antigens. Hum Genet (1996) 97(6):701-4. doi:10.1007/ BF02346175
- Copeland CS, Doms RW, Bolzau EM, Webster RG, Helenius A. Assembly of influenza hemagglutinin trimers and its role in intracellular transport. J Cell Biol (1986) 103(4):1179–91. doi:10.1083/jcb.103.4.1179
- Meek RL, Walsh KA, Palmiter RD. The signal sequence of ovalbumin is located near the NH2 terminus. J Biol Chem (1982) 257(20):12245–51.
- Rudensky A, Preston-Hurlburt P, Hong SC, Barlow A, Janeway CA Jr. Sequence analysis of peptides bound to MHC class II molecules. *Nature* (1991) 353:622–7. doi:10.1038/353622a0

- Benoist C, Mathis D. Regulation of major histocompatibility complex class-II genes: X, Y and other letters of the alphabet. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1990) 8:681–715. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.8.1.681
- Glimcher LH, Kara CJ. Sequences and factors: a guide to MHC class-II transcription. Annu Rev Immunol (1992) 10:13–49. doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.10. 040192.000305
- 62. Ting JP, Baldwin AS. Regulation of MHC gene expression. *Curr Opin Immunol* (1993) **5**:8–16. doi:10.1016/0952-7915(93)90074-3
- Steimle V, Siegrist CA, Mottet A, Lisowska-Grospierre B, Mach B. Regulation of MHC class II expression by interferon-gamma mediated by the transactivator gene CIITA. *Science* (1994) 265:106–9. doi:10.1126/science.8016643
- Mach B, Steimle V, Martinez-Soria E, Reith W. Regulation of MHC class II genes: lessons from a disease. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1996) 14:301–31. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.14.1.301
- 65. Dembic Z, Schenck K, Bogen B. Dendritic cells purified from myeloma are primed with tumor-specific antigen (idiotype) and activate CD4+ T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97:2697–702. doi:10.1073/pnas.050579897
- Lundin KU, Screpanti V, Omholt H, Hofgaard PO, Yagita H, Grandien A, et al. CD4+ T cells kill Id+ B-lymphoma cells: FasLigand-Fas interaction is dominant in vitro but is redundant in vivo. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2004) 53:1135–45. doi:10.1007/s00262-004-0538-4
- 67. Wu GE, Hozumi N, Murialdo H. Secretion of a lambda 2 immunoglobulin chain is prevented by a single amino acid substitution in its variable region. *Cell* (1983) **33**:77–83. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(83)90336-7
- Esumi N, Hunt B, Itaya T, Frost P. Reduced tumorigenicity of murine tumor cells secreting gamma-interferon is due to nonspecific host responses and is unrelated to class I major histocompatibility complex expression. *Cancer Res* (1991) 51(4):1185–9.
- Moore MW, Carbone FR, Bevan MJ. Introduction of soluble protein into the class I pathway of antigen processing and presentation. *Cell* (1988) 54(6):777–85.
- Lauritzsen GF, Bogen B. The role of idiotype-specific, CD4+ T cells in tumor resistance against major histocompatibility complex class II molecule negative plasmacytoma cells. *Cell Immunol* (1993) 148:177–88. doi:10.1006/cimm. 1993.1100
- Tite JP, Janeway CA Jr. Cloned helper T cells can kill B lymphoma cells in the presence of specific antigen: Ia restriction and cognate vs. noncognate interactions in cytolysis. *Eur J Immunol* (1984) 14:878–86. doi:10.1002/eji.1830141004
- 72. Horna P, Cuenca A, Cheng F, Brayer J, Wang HW, Borrello I, et al. In vivo disruption of tolerogenic cross-presentation mechanisms uncovers an effective T-cell activation by B-cell lymphomas leading to antitumor immunity. *Blood* (2006) **107**:2871–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-07-3014
- Silacci P, Mottet A, Steimle V, Reith W, Mach B. Developmental extinction of major histocompatibility complex class II gene expression in plasmocytes is mediated by silencing of the transactivator gene CIITA. *J Exp Med* (1994) 180:1329–36. doi:10.1084/jem.180.4.1329
- 74. Reith W, Mach B. The bare lymphocyte syndrome and the regulation of MHC expression. Annu Rev Immunol (2001) 19:331–73. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.19.1.331
- Sanda T, Iida S, Kayukawa S, Ueda R. Induction of class II major histocompatibility complex expression in human multiple myeloma cells by retinoid. *Haematologica* (2007) 92:115–20. doi:10.3324/haematol.10300
- Yi Q, Dabadghao S, Osterborg A, Bergenbrant S, Holm G. Myeloma bone marrow plasma cells: evidence for their capacity as antigen-presenting cells. *Blood* (1997) **90**:1960–7.
- Zhao M, Flynt FL, Hong M, Chen H, Gilbert CA, Briley NT, et al. MHC class II transactivator (CIITA) expression is upregulated in multiple myeloma cells by IFN-gamma. *Mol Immunol* (2007) 44:2923–32. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2007. 01.009
- Bothwell AL, Paskind M, Reth M, Imanishi-Kari T, Rajewsky K, Baltimore D. Somatic variants of murine immunoglobulin lambda light chains. *Nature* (1982) 298:380–2. doi:10.1038/298380a0
- Bogen B, Lambris JD. Minimum length of an idiotypic peptide and a model for its binding to a major histocompatibility complex class II molecule. *EMBO J* (1989) 8:1947–52.
- Weiss S, Bogen B. B-lymphoma cells process and present their endogenous immunoglobulin to major histocompatibility complex-restricted T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1989) 86:282–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.86.1.282

- Jorgensen T, Hannestad K. Helper T cell recognition of the variable domains of a mouse myeloma protein (315). Effect of the major histocompatibility complex and domain conformation. *J Exp Med* (1982) 155:1587–96. doi:10.1084/jem.155.6.1587
- Foy TM, Lynch RG, Waldschmidt TJ. Ontogeny and distribution of the murine B cell Fc gamma RII. J Immunol (1992) 149:1516–23.
- Winberry L, Marks A, Baumal R. Immunoglobulin production and secretion by variant clones of the MOPC 315 mouse myeloma cell line. *J Immunol* (1980) 124:1174–82.
- Corthay A, Lorvik KB, Bogen B. Is secretion of tumour-specific antigen important for cancer eradication by CD4(+) T cells? – Implications for cancer immunotherapy by adoptive T cell transfer. *Scand J Immunol* (2011) 73:527–30. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.2011.02558.x
- Lorvik KB, Haabeth OA, Clancy T, Bogen B, Corthay A. Molecular profiling of tumor-specific T1 cells activated in vivo. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e24383. doi:10.4161/onci.24383
- Lorvik KB, Bogen B, Corthay A. Fingolimod blocks immunosurveillance of myeloma and B-cell lymphoma resulting in cancer development in mice. *Blood* (2012) 119:2176–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-10-388892
- Haabeth OA, Bogen B, Corthay A. A model for cancer-suppressive inflammation. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:1146–55. doi:10.4161/onci.21542
- Bogen B, Schenck K, Munthe LA, Dembic Z. Deletion of idiotype (Id)specific T cells in multiple myeloma. *Acta Oncol* (2000) 39:783–8. doi:10.1080/ 028418600750063505
- Staveley-O'Carroll K, Sotomayor E, Montgomery J, Borrello I, Hwang L, Fein S, et al. Induction of antigen-specific T cell anergy: an early event in the course of tumor progression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) **95**:1178–83. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.3.1178
- Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:298–306. doi:10.1038/nrc3245
- Murphy KM, Stockinger B. Effector T cell plasticity: flexibility in the face of changing circumstances. Nat Immunol (2010) 11:674–80. doi:10.1038/ni.1899
- O'Shea JJ, Paul WE. Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity of helper CD4+ T cells. *Science* (2010) **327**:1098–102. doi:10.1126/science. 1178334
- 93. Bogen B. Peripheral T cell tolerance as a tumor escape mechanism: deletion of CD4+ T cells specific for a monoclonal immunoglobulin idiotype secreted by a plasmacytoma. *Eur J Immunol* (1996) 26:2671–9. doi:10.1002/eji. 1830261119
- Lauritzsen GF, Hofgaard PO, Schenck K, Bogen B. Clonal deletion of thymocytes as a tumor escape mechanism. *Int J Cancer* (1998) 78:216–22. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19981005)78:2<216::AID-IJC16>3.0.
- Goding SR, Wilson KA, Xie Y, Harris KM, Baxi A, Akpinarli A, et al. Restoring immune function of tumor-specific CD4+ T cells during recurrence of melanoma. J Immunol (2013) 190:4899–909. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1300271
- 96. Sotomayor EM, Borrello I, Rattis FM, Cuenca AG, Abrams J, Staveley-O'carroll K, et al. Cross-presentation of tumor antigens by bone marrow-derived antigen-presenting cells is the dominant mechanism in the induction of T-cell tolerance during B-cell lymphoma progression. *Blood* (2001) **98**:1070–7. doi:10.1182/blood.V98.4.1070
- Morse HC III, Kearney JF, Isaacson PG, Carroll M, Fredrickson TN, Jaffe ES. Cells of the marginal zone – origins, function and neoplasia. *Leuk Res* (2001) 25:169–78. doi:10.1016/S0145-2126(00)00107-7
- Kuppers R. Mechanisms of B-cell lymphoma pathogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer (2005) 5:251–62. doi:10.1038/nrc1589
- Monti S, Savage KJ, Kutok JL, Feuerhake F, Kurtin P, Mihm M, et al. Molecular profiling of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma identifies robust subtypes including one characterized by host inflammatory response. *Blood* (2005) 105:1851–61. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-07-2947
- Ansell SM, Stenson M, Habermann TM, Jelinek DF, Witzig TE. CD4+ T-cell immune response to large B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma predicts patient outcome. J Clin Oncol (2001) 19:720–6.
- 101. Dave SS, Wright G, Tan B, Rosenwald A, Gascoyne RD, Chan WC, et al. Prediction of survival in follicular lymphoma based on molecular features of tumor-infiltrating immune cells. N Engl J Med (2004) 351:2159–69. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa041869

- 102. Zangani MM, Froyland M, Qiu GY, Meza-Zepeda LA, Kutok JL, Thompson KM, et al. Lymphomas can develop from B cells chronically helped by idiotype-specific T cells. J Exp Med (2007) 204:1181–91. doi:10.1084/jem. 20061220
- 103. Os A, Burgler S, Ribes AP, Funderud A, Wang D, Thompson KM, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells are activated and proliferate in response to specific T helper cells. *Cell Rep* (2013) 4:566–77. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.07.011
- 104. Ostad M, Andersson M, Gruber A, Sundblad A. Expansion of immunoglobulin autoreactive T-helper cells in multiple myeloma. *Blood* (2008) 111:2725–32. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-11-056242

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 17 February 2014; paper pending published: 07 March 2014; accepted: 02 April 2014; published online: 15 April 2014.

Citation: Haabeth OAW, Tveita AA, Fauskanger M, Schjesvold F, Lorvik KB, Hofgaard PO, Omholt H, Munthe LA, Dembic Z, Corthay A and Bogen B (2014) How do CD4⁺ T cells detect and eliminate tumor cells that either lack or express MHC class II molecules? Front. Immunol. 5:174. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00174

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Haabeth, Tveita, Fauskanger, Schjesvold, Lorvik, Hofgaard, Omholt, Munthe, Dembic, Corthay and Bogen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Beneficial autoimmunity at body surfaces – immune surveillance and rapid type 2 immunity regulate tissue homeostasis and cancer

Tim Dalessandri and Jessica Strid *

Division of Immunology and Inflammation, Department of Medicine, Imperial College London, London, UK

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Masaaki Murakami, Hokkaido University, Japan Yasmina Laouar, University of Michigan, USA

*Correspondence:

Jessica Strid, Division of Immunology and Inflammation, Department of Medicine, Imperial College London, London W12 ONN, UK e-mail: j.strid@imperial.ac.uk Epithelial cells (ECs) line body surface tissues and provide a physicochemical barrier to the external environment. Frequent microbial and non-microbial challenges such as those imposed by mechanical disruption, injury or exposure to noxious environmental substances including chemicals, carcinogens, ultraviolet-irradiation, or toxins cause activation of ECs with release of cytokines and chemokines as well as alterations in the expression of cell-surface ligands. Such display of epithelial stress is rapidly sensed by tissue-resident immunocytes, which can directly interact with self-moieties on ECs and initiate both local and systemic immune responses. ECs are thus key drivers of immune surveillance at body surface tissues. However, ECs have a propensity to drive type 2 immunity (rather than type 1) upon non-invasive challenge or stress – a type of immunity whose regulation and function still remain enigmatic. Here, we review the induction and possible role of type 2 immunity in epithelial tissues and propose that rapid immune surveillance and type 2 immunity are key regulators of tissue homeostasis and carcinogenesis.

Keywords: immune surveillance, Type 2 immunity, epithelial cells, tissue homeostasis, carcinogenesis, IgE, intraepithelial lymphocytes, sterile stress

Epithelial cells (ECs) are the main constituent of tissues lining body surfaces like the skin, intestine, lungs, and genitourinary tract. They regulate crucial life processes such as micronutrient absorption, gaseous exchange, and thermo- and hydro-control whilst also providing a physiochemical barrier to the external environment against microbes and a plethora of non-microbial stressors. ECs are extremely dynamic and versatile cells and it is becoming increasingly clear that they are also intimately involved in the induction and regulation of local tissue- and systemic immune responses. Disruption of epithelial surfaces may therefore result in dysregulated body processes and penetrance to deeper tissues by microbes or noxious moieties. In addition, the direct response of ECs to tissue disruption strongly affects resident immunocytes and their subsequent regulation of both local and systemic innate and adaptive immunity. A growing body of evidence both from mouse models and human genetics suggest that EC dysregulation can be a primary cause of pathology in different tissues. Given the multifaceted biological actions of ECs and the multitude of challenges imposed on epithelial tissues, it is reasonable to think that ECs in conjunction with tissueresident immunocytes possess mechanisms, both immunological and non-immunological, to maintain healthy barrier homeostasis and to minimize inflammation and cellular dysregulation. Indeed, ECs are now known to be highly immunomodulatory by virtue of the cytokines, chemokines, damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMP) molecules, and major histocompatibility (MHC) gene products they express; a repertoire that has collectively been termed the "epimmunome" (1). ECs express pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) including toll-like receptors (TLRs), NOD-like receptors (NLRs), RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), and a variety of "NK" receptor ligands, enabling them to respond to a wide variety of microbial and non-microbial (including self) moieties and disseminate the response to immunocytes. The NLR-inflammasome complex allows ECs to respond to non-microbial sterile stress elicited by toxins, irritants, and (for skin keratinocytes) ultraviolet (UV) light (2); the most pervasive environmental DNA-damaging agent (3). Thus, ECs express a suite of sensors for detecting differing insults and challenges at the body surfaces, and an armory of soluble and cell-surface molecules to direct an appropriate, restorative response. These epithelial-driven responses in health sculpt and modulate tissue homeostasis and local tissue immunity, in a manner that aids morphological tissue homeostasis, restoration of the epithelial barrier following injury, and elimination or expulsion of microbial and non-microbial insults. Here, we review how ECs drive immunity at body surfaces and how this is involved in regulating immune surveillance, tissue immune homeostasis, and cancer.

EPITHELIAL CELLS AND THEIR RESPONSE TO CHALLENGE

The vast majority of environmental challenges occur at epithelial surfaces. The repertoire of responses available to ECs to combat these daily challenges is immense. For example, EC-derived cytokines include IL-1, IL-6, IL-10, IL-18, IL-25, IL-33, TNF α , and thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP). Pro-IL-1 α and pro-IL-1 β are constitutively produced by ECs, particularly skin keratinocytes, and are secreted following exposure to noxious stimuli or tissue damage. Corneocytes (non-nucleated skin ECs) release IL-1 α in the skin in response to disruption of the outermost surface, the stratum corneum (4), while UV-irradiation induces IL-1 α induces

growth-factor expression from tissue fibroblasts, prompting a replicative burst in neighboring ECs to repair damage (5). The pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and TNFα are produced in large quantities by damaged ECs; the former of which can also be used as a STAT-3-dependant autocrine growth factor, in healthy and cancerous epithelium (6). The most robustly expressed cytokines upon any EC insult however are IL-25, IL-33, and TSLP. In common, these three cytokines can drive type 2 immune responses, which thus impart a particular propensity of epithelial tissues to induce type 2 immunity. Such predisposition of stressed ECs may underlie the high frequency of allergic and atopic disease at the skin and mucosal surfaces. However, despite the intense interest in this area, the cellular and molecular linkage of type 2 immunity to barrier- and EC disruption is not clearly understood - nor is the functional role of this type of immunity to EC homeostasis or immune surveillance yet fully elucidated.

IL-25, also know as IL-17E, is a member of the IL-17 cytokine family. Despite bearing some amino acid sequence homology to the best-characterized IL-17 cytokines, IL-17A and IL-17F, IL-25 has divergent biological functions and promotes Th2 rather than Th17 responses in vivo. IL-25 directly amplifies expression of the Th-2 mediators IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, and supports production of Th2 serum immunoglobulins (7). IL-25 was first reported with high steady-state mRNA expression in the kidney, and moderate to low expression in other organs and the peripheral tissue (8). Subsequently, it was found by multiple groups to be important in type 2-mediated immunity to enteric parasites, such as Trichuris muris (9), and is upregulated in the gut upon EC-sensing of commensal bacteria (10). The mouse gut parasite Heligmosomoides polygyrus bakeri elicits the EC-derived cytokine, IL-1β, which suppresses IL-25 and IL-33 and promotes pathogen chronicity by attenuating expulsive type 2 responses (11), suggesting that IL-25 is particularly important in maintaining immunity to gut pathogens. Similarly, mice and humans subjected to parenteral nutrition have impaired mucosal immunity, due to reduced gut luminal levels of antimicrobial effectors, but administration of exogenous IL-25 to parenteral nutrition-fed mice was found to be protective against enteric bacterial invasion (12). In allergic models, IL-25 expression is upregulated upon exposure to allergens both in murine or human lung EC lines and in primary murine lung ECs (13). Elevated protein levels have also been found in tissues of patients with allergic disease in the lung and skin (14). IL-25 has been found to drive tissue (airway) remodeling, and expression of the other major EC cytokines IL-33 and TSLP in a house dust mite model of allergy (15), and drive pulmonary fibrosis by inducing IL-13 expression from lung innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) in mice challenged with lung Schistosoma mansoni eggs (16). In addition to production by ECs, dermal dendritic cells (DCs) have been reported to be a major source of IL-25 in atopic dermatitis (AD) patients (17), while IL-25 and IL-33-activated ILC2s in mouse skin promote AD-like inflammation (18). These reports and others highlight an interesting crosstalk and autocrine regulation of EC-derived effectors, as well as a role for IL-25 in augmenting epithelial barrier immunity, or conversely promoting pathological Th2 tissue inflammation, in differing settings.

IL-33 is a multi-functional protein. The full length protein is localized in the nucleus but following cleavage the c-terminal

fragment acts as a cytokine which binds the receptor ST2. IL-33 was recently discovered as an IL-1 family member with type 2-promoting functions similar to IL-25. It is expressed by ECs, macrophages, DCs, and mast cells in vivo and its cytokine function drives IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 expression and differentiation of Th2 CD4⁺ T cells (19). IL-33-induced IL-4 production appears to be mainly from innate cells and together these two cytokines will induce proliferation of B cells and amplify IgE synthesis (20). Similar to IL-25, IL-33 acts in an autocrine fashion to promote TSLP expression by ECs, particularly in response to gut nematodes, where IL-33 mRNA can be detected rapidly following colonization (21). Interestingly, the efficacy of IL-33 in this infection model (and others) seems to be highly time-dependent, with administration of exogenous IL-33 at late time points post-infection being ineffective in promoting type 2 responses that would otherwise resolve infection. IL-33 is highly expressed by intestinal ECs and inflammatory infiltrates in ulcerative colitis, with IL-33 cleavage products being detected in the serum (22). IL-33 is also rapidly released and detectable in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid following lung allergen exposure in humans, suggesting it is a rapid type 2 mediator in sites additional to the gut (23). Protective as well as immunopathological roles of EC-derived IL-33 have been described in the skin. Transgenic over-expression of IL-33 in mouse skin, driven by a keratinocyte-specific promoter, induces a spontaneous dermatitislike disease and activates ILC2s in the dermis (24). It has also been shown in a phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate model of skin inflammation that mice deficient for the IL-33 receptor, ST2, do not exhibit IL-33-dependant skin inflammation (25). Similarly in human inflammatory conditions, IL-33 has been reported to be upregulated in clinical psoriatic lesions and the serum of skin sclerosis patients (26). Conversely, mice treated with exogenous IL-33, following full-thickness skin wounding, demonstrate dramatically improved wound-healing, collagen deposition, and expression of extracellular matrix proteins indicative of tissue repair (27). These reports suggest a particularly rapid and acute role for IL-33 in cutaneous homeostasis and gut integrity whereas constitutive, late, or dysregulated expression may be involved in a variety of chronic inflammatory conditions. This temporally coordinated aspect fits well with current thinking of IL-33 as an "alarmin," whereby its immediate release from intranuclear stores by damaged, apoptotic, or necrotic cells rather than a classic Golgi-mediated secretion pathway (19) facilitates a rapid and restorative response to tissue damage.

TSLP is produced almost exclusively by ECs of the lung, tonsils, intestine, and skin (13), and is upregulated in response to tissue damage (28), various TLR ligands and infection, or exposure to type 2 cytokines such as IL-4, IL-13, IL25, and IL-33 (29). A protective role of TSLP in intestinal immunity to *T. muris* has been well described; mice which are knockouts for IKK β fail to produce TSLP in response to infection, and subsequently develop chronic intestinal inflammation (30). Mechanistically, EC-derived TSLP suppresses p40 and upregulates OX40L expression in DCs, a costimulatory molecule with a propensity to license Th2 responses in CD4⁺ T cells (31). TSLP also augments Th2 cytokine production by direct effects on CD4⁺ T cells and has indirect, agonist effects on a variety of granulocyte populations including mast cells and basophils. Similar to IL-25 and IL-33, inappropriate

expression or dysregulation of TSLP is implicated in a number of inflammatory diseases including the triad of atopic diseases; asthma, allergic rhinitis, and AD (31). TSLP is required for allergic lung inflammation in mice exposed to inhaled antigen, and TSLP receptor knockout animals do not develop lung inflammation in this model. Interestingly, these animals do develop strong Th1 responses with high IFN γ , IL-12, and IgG2a (32), highlighting how a single epithelial-derived molecule can skew adaptive immune responses in response to tissue-challenge. In humans, AD sufferers show high TSLP expression in lesional skin (33), and mice with induced expression of TSLP in the epidermis develop spontaneous AD-like pathology (34). Production of TSLP is however critically important for resistance to skin carcinogenesis in mouse models (35, 36).

Further to cytokines and chemokines, ECs can release other proteins upon cellular stress. Of note, they can produce hedgehog morphogens, which are a family of secreted proteins that regulate a wide variety of physiological processes including tissue development during embryogenesis and tissue homeostasis as well as being implicated in carcinogenesis (37). Sonic Hedgehog h (Hh) expression was recently found to be upregulated in lung ECs in models of allergic disease, and lung resident T cells were shown to respond locally to EC-derived Hh by upregulating IL-4 (38). This demonstrates that ECs also produce non-classical immune modulators, such as tissue morphogens, which appear to contribute to the robust induction of type 2 immunity in epithelial tissues.

In addition to the secreted and soluble molecules produced by ECs, they also express a variety of cell-surface molecules enabling them to directly interact with resident and infiltrating immunocytes. For example, ECs express E-cadherin that engage CD103, which is constitutively expressed on intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs) and tissue DCs such as the epidermal Langerhans cells (LCs). ECs also express T cell costimulatory ligands, although it remains unclear as to what extent ECs express the classical B7.1 and 2 molecules, they clearly express PD-L1 and PD-L2 (39). Some members of a novel family of B7-related molecules, the butyrophilins, appear to be preferentially expressed on ECs and have been implicated in EC-immune regulation (40) as have Skint family members which are exclusively expressed on ECs and have profound impact on IEL development and function (41, 42). Thus via appropriate receptor-ligand interactions ECs are capable of initiating and sculpting both local tissue immunity and further downstream systemic immunity. Under conditions of physiochemical tissue disruption or barrier perturbation (1), infection (43), genotoxic stress (44), sterile inflammation, or heavy proliferation (45), ECs respond by upregulating additional self-encoded and cell-surface markers, which are often termed as "stress antigens" as they are indicative of a dysregulated state of the epithelium. The EC stress antigens have an important role in initiating and directing tissue immune responses during perturbations and as such these will be discussed in more detail in the Section "Immune Surveillance" below.

EPITHELIAL CELLS AND THEIR NEIGHBORS

In close association with ECs, the epithelial tissues are home to several specialized subsets of immunocytes. IELs are found in all epithelial tissues, but have most notably been studied in the intestine and skin. IELs are adaptive T cells carrying RAGdependent rearranged T cell receptors (TCRs), nevertheless they are often MHC non-restricted cells and express many innate receptors allowing them to react to stress antigen with "innate-like" response kinetics. The IELs are a mixture of $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells, which are either CD4⁻CD8⁻ or coexpress a CD8aa coreceptor. The ratio of $\alpha\beta$ to $\gamma\delta$ T cells depends on the anatomical site as well as the species. IEL compartments are often much less diverse than systemic T cells (for example in the mouse skin and uterus they are essentially monoclonal), implying that these cells recognize predictable antigens encountered in specific tissues - these antigens could be either pathogen encoded or self-encoded molecules that reflect a dysregulated state of the tissue they inhabit. Not many IEL TCR-specificities have yet been defined, but it seems clear that both their recognition capabilities and mode of activation are distinct from systemic T cells (46). Particularly, it has been proposed that IELs are primarily autoreactive T cells that have been agonist-selected, recognize tissue stress antigens, and have regulatory properties (47). The murine skin for example contains a specialized subset of $\gamma\delta$ (TCR)⁺ IELs called dendritic epidermal T cells (DETC) that exclusively carry a Vy5Vo1 TCR a TCR arrangement only found on epidermal IELs (and on the progenitor fetal thymic population). The skin epithelia also contain a specialized subset of DCs, the epidermal LCs. Both LC and DETC infiltrate the epithelium very early during stratification of the skin ECs, and are long-lived and likely self-renewing immune compartments, which clearly integrate and physically interact with the ECs.

In addition to the "unconventional" T cells in the epithelium, more conventional CD8 $\alpha\beta^+\alpha\beta$ T cells have been shown to rapidly accumulate in tissues upon infection, where they can become resident memory T cells and provide protective antigen-specific responses. This was elegantly shown in the skin following local infection with herpes simplex virus (48) or vaccinia virus (49), which induced a rapid influx of antigen-specific CD8⁺ $\alpha\beta$ T cells both into the epithelial epidermal layer and the underlying dermis. Interestingly, these infiltrating $CD8^+ \alpha\beta$ T cells were shown to populate the entire skin and provide long-lasting protection against re-infection as a continuing tissue-resident memory T cell population. In steady state, the subepithelial layer of most tissues contains a diverse set of immunocytes that can all contribute to epithelial-immune surveillance. These include tissue-specific resident populations of myeloid cells, such as DC, macrophages and mast cells, lymphoid cells, such as CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ $\alpha\beta$ T cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and ILCs, as well as stromal fibroblasts. In fact, it is becoming increasingly apparent that different tissues constitutively harbor a variety of specialized immunocytes in the subepithelial space. For example, in human skin a population of IL-22 and growth factor producing T cells (Th22) can rapidly enter the epithelium upon challenge and be involved in epidermal remodeling (50). Similarly, the gut contains a resident IL-22 producing population of NK-like cells (51). In recent years, an array of different ILCs has been discovered that are resident in the subepithelial tissue layer. Different subsets of ILCs dominate in particular tissues and their specialized functions are starting to be elucidated; many of them contribute to both homeostatic and pathophysiological conditions in the tissue they inhabit (52). The subepithelial immunocytes can respond to

epithelial cues and be recruited into the epithelium upon damage – in addition systemic immune cells can be recruited both to the subepithelial and epithelial layer. In sum, the epithelium and body surface tissues are home to an intricate array of immunocytes, which can interact and integrate activities in numerous complex ways that likely differ substantially depending on the anatomical site and the challenge encountered. Additional research is required to understand the interaction between different resident immunocytes in the tissues and how their responses may be integrated to regulate local and systemic immunity.

TYPE 2 IMMUNITY AND ITS TRIGGERS

Epithelial cells and EC-associated leukocytes such as IELs can clearly drive local and systemic type 2 immunity (53). More conventionally, however, type 2 immunity is thought to be mediated primarily by Th2 cells, IgE and IgG1 antibodies, as well as a host of innate immune cells such as mast cells, basophils, eosinophils, alternatively activated macrophages, and ILCs. The type 2 immune response *in vivo* is accordingly extremely heterogeneous and it is surprisingly poorly understood how type 2 immunity is induced, regulated – and indeed what its primary physiological function is. Type 2 immune responses are classically induced by macroparasites and conventional thinking holds that type 2 immunity has evolved to protect against infection by parasites such as helminthes

and ticks. However, this is probably a too simple explanation, as it is not true that all parasites are fought by IgE and type 2 immunity. Although IgE levels are raised in people as well as mice with helminth infections, IgE is dispensable for immunity to many helminthes and much of the IgE raised is not specific to the parasite (54). Type 2 immunity is also notoriously activated in response to a broad range of different environmental challenges and antigens. Such non-infectious stimuli that trigger type 2 immunity are collectively termed allergens and form the basis of a host of allergic disorders like asthma, allergic rhinitis, food allergies, and AD. Type 2 immune responses have been explored largely in the context of helminth infections and allergic diseases. They have been thought to provide a host-beneficial role only as defense against macroparasites, whereas allergic reactions are most commonly explained as a detrimental consequence of a misdirected response mimicking parasite immunity. This paradigm is now changing and with more triggers of type 2 immunity being elucidated (Figure 1) it seems plausible that type 2 immunity can provide host-benefits in settings other than against parasites. In 1991, Profet published an inspired hypothesis suggesting that the physiological role of allergic responses was an immunological defense against toxins (55). This idea is resonating with recent data (56, 57) and the hypothesis has been recharged and expanded into a broader model of intentional allergic host defense not only against helminthes but also



non-infectious environmental factors such as venoms, chemical irritants, and xenobiotics (58). Accordingly, there may be multiple pathways that lead to type 2 immunity and IgE – some more classically "adaptive" and some more "innate" (59). The route to type 2 immunity and whether protection or allergic sensitization is the outcome may depend on tissue context, allergen, dose, genetics, and species. Common for all type 2 immune responses is that their effector functions converge at the epithelial surfaces (skin and mucosa), vasculature, and smooth muscles where they promote barrier defenses and expulsion. Conspicuously, allergic disorders, unlike other immune pathologies, exclusively affect epithelial tissues that interface with the environment.

Type 2 immunity can be triggered by a bewildering array of molecules from both infectious and non-infectious sources (Figure 1). Much work has been done to try and identify a unifying framework for what makes a substance "an allergen" (60), but common allergens such as peanut, shellfish, pollen, nickel, bee venom, latex, house dust mite, and penicillin appear to have little in common in terms of their chemical structure or origin. In addition, type 2 immunity can be triggered by certain vaccine adjuvants [alum most notably (61)], noxious toxins (56, 58), environmental irritants and chemicals (62, 63), as well as certain infections or bacterial products (64). One commonality between both infectious and non-infectious triggers of type 2 immunity that may have been less well appreciated is that many are insults inducing some level of physical trauma that breaches the protective barrier of the body. Tissue damage, at least in the absence of strong type 1-promoting pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP) signaling, appears to be a potent mechanism driving type 2 immunity. Tissue damage induces rapid release of several epithelium-derived cytokine alarmins, such as IL-33, TSLP, and IL-25 (reviewed above) – all of which can drive downstream type 2 immunity. In a macroparasite infection, the large size of the parasite and the consequent tissue damage it causes during invasion may be the most important factor in inducing type 2 immunity (65), although some parasite-derived products with direct type 2 polarizing capacity may also exist (66). The tissue-damage caused by macroparasites may be modeled by ingestion of large inert particle structures. Interestingly, it has been shown that inert silica and titanium particles induce innate type 2 immunity and can be used as adjuvants promoting Th2 responses by pathways independent of TLR4 and MyD88 (67, 68). These particles may induce cellular damage and consequently activate endogenous danger- or stresssignals. That "injury" or cellular stress alone can support induction of type 2 immunity is strongly supported by results showing that transgenic up-regulation of the NKG2D stress-ligand Rae-1 on ECs promote potent type 2 immunity and IgE to innocuous antigens (53). This rapid innate-like IgE response is also independent of MyD88 (53). Cellular damage may also explain the type 2inducing effect of the adjuvant alum as injection of alum causes the release of DAMPs, like uric acid and host cell DNA (61, 69). Uric acid has been shown to drive type 2 immunity and again this is via pathways independent of both MyD88 and the inflammasome (69). Host DNA signaling intriguingly appears to differentially regulate IgG1 and IgE production following alum-adjuvanted immunization, where host DNA induces primary B cell responses with IgG1 through interferon response factor 3 (Irf3)-independent mechanism but more canonical Th2 responses and IgE through an Irf3-dependent mechanism (70). Furthermore, extracellular ATP, presumably released from damaged cells, binds to P2 purinergic receptors and triggers IL-33 release and innate type 2 immune responses in the lung (71). Oxidative stress, which is widespread and entwined with pathological processes, has also been shown to be involved in orchestrating type 2 immunity. For example, induction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in ECs induces oxidation of lipids that in turn triggers TSLP release by ECs (72) and oxidative stress has been shown to induce reactive carbonyl adduction, which is reported to be a potent driver of type 2 immunity (73). DAMPs thus appear to be part of both the initiation and amplification of type 2 immunity and may as such also play an important role in allergic diseases.

Another feature that contributes to the induction of type 2 immunity by some allergens is their serine or cysteine protease activity. Allergens such as Der P1 (from house dust mite) and papain (from papaya fruit) appear to rely on their protolytic function as inactive forms of these proteins do not induce type 2 immunity (60). A cysteine protease from the parasite Leishmania Mexicana has also been shown to induce type 2 immunity and this could be blocked by protease inhibitors (66). The importance of controlling enzymatic activity at epithelial surfaces is dramatically demonstrated in patients with Netherton syndrome. Netherton syndrome, which is caused by hereditary mutations in the serine protease inhibitor, LEKTI, presents with severe disruption in barrier function and persistent atopy, allergic disease, and AD (74, 75). The mutation in LEKTI results in persistent activation of protease-activated receptor (PAR)-2 and induction of TSLP and type 2 immunity (76).

Other endogenous stress-signals, for example the NLR receptors, NOD-1, and NOD-2, can polarize antigen-specific immune responses toward Th2 and thus contribute to the onset of adaptive immunity (77, 78). Interestingly, NOD-1 and NOD-2 expression within the stromal compartment is necessary to prime effector CD4⁺ Th2 responses and full Th2 induction is dependent on stromal TSLP (79). The type 2-inducing innate immune sensing is in these cases recognition of bacterial-derived products (peptidoglycans) and not self- or environmental antigens. Although the role of PAMPs and PRRs such as TLRs are usually associated with type 1 immunity, there are other examples in which TLR stimuli can induce type 2 responses. For example, low doses of lipopolysaccharides (LPS) have been proposed to promote Th2 cell responses (whereas high doses promote Th1) (80) for which stromal expression of TLR4 is critical (81). Certain microbial stimuli that signal via DC-SIGN induce Th2 biased responses and many TLR2 agonists have also been shown to suppress Th1 and promote Th2 responses (82). Furthermore, in the case of allergens, there is evidence that some can be directly sensed by PRRs; house dust mite allergens (83) as well as nickel (84) can signal via TLR4 for instance.

Given the vast array of molecules that can trigger type 2 immunity and the many innate and adaptive immune cells involved in orchestrating the response it seems reasonable that there are several routes to inducing type 2 responses and that these may yield a qualitatively different kind of type 2 immunity. The conventional mode of inducing type 2 immunity and high affinity antigenspecific IgG1 and IgE antibody has since long been described and

substantiated. Activated CD4⁺ $\alpha\beta$ Th cells upregulate CD40L and secrete IL-4 and IL-13, whereby they promote germ-line transcription of the $\gamma 1$ and ε heavy chain to initialize class switching. This requires cognate interactions between B cell MHC II molecules and the TCR-CD3 complex. However, perhaps especially with regards to IgE, there appears to be additional non-conventional modes of inducing class switching and the requirement for T cell help may differ. In contrast to orthodox belief, mice that are deficient in $\alpha\beta$ T cells have highly elevated levels of IgE antibodies and class switch particularly efficient to IgG1 and IgE (85, 86). Mice lacking the linker for activation of T cells (LAT) adapter protein (87) or the Tec kinase ltk also have elevated levels of IgE (88, 89), which may be regulated non-conventionally by $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Evidence for a non-conventional route to IgE has also been demonstrated during the y8 T cell dependent "lymphoid stresssurveillance response" in the context of stressed skin epithelium (53). It has been established that the IgE produced in immunodeficient mice differ from conventional adaptive IgE not only by being MHC II-mediated T cell cognate independent but also by lacking dependence on germinal centers and thus producing IgE without significant somatic hypermutations (90). Moreover, this "natural" IgE also appears to be mainly self-reactive (85, 90). It may be that in a given circumstance a mixture of conventional adaptive routes and less-adaptive non-conventional routes to IgE are operating simultaneously. For example, infection with a helminth produces not only high affinity antigen-specific IgE but also a lot of "non-specific" IgE and similarly NKG2D-dependent induction of IgE from stressed skin produces not only antigen-specific IgE to an antigen encountered simultaneously but also "non-specific" IgE (53). Analysis of IgE repertoires and the particular requirements for development of IgE-secreting B cells is needed to further elucidate conventional (via Th2) and non-conventional routes to IgE. This may also provide invaluable information as to what actually constitutes a host-protective response (against tissue stress, toxins, parasites) versus allergic Th2 immunity.

IMMUNE SURVEILLANCE

To address the role of EC-driven type 2 immunity in tissue immune surveillance it is useful to first define "immune surveillance." Immune surveillance refers to the capacity of the immune system to sense cellular dysregulation and respond by activating a stress response to restore homeostasis. This continued "quality control" mechanism has most commonly been applied to and studied in relation to cancer. The cancer immuosurveillance hypothesis was first proposed by Ehrlich in 1909 when he predicted that the immune system could repress or destroy the outgrowth of tumors that arise spontaneously on a continued basis (91). This proposal initiated a century of debate over the immune systems role in controlling neoplasia. The idea of a natural immune response against neoplasms or pre-malignant and dysregulated cells was revisited and expanded by Burnet and Thomas in the 1950s (92, 93). They proposed that lymphocytes form the basis of a "cancer immunosurveillance" process that protects immunocompetent hosts against primary tumor development. Although the hypothesis grew in recognition with the expansion of knowledge about the immune system and tumor-antigen recognition, the architects themselves pointed to "the problem with the idea of immunosurveillance is that it cannot be shown to exist in experimental animals" (94) - and it is of course rarely appreciated in a clinical setting. By the early 1990s, little attention was paid to the idea that natural immunity could control tumor establishment de novo. However, by the mid-1990s and onward several observations were made that rekindled the interest in this early aspect of tumor immunity [reviewed in Ref. (95)]. In short, the physiological importance of immune surveillance was well revealed by the pathological consequences of its failure: the neutralization of IFNy with antibodies (96) and later the use of mice lacking IFNy responsiveness was shown to enhance tumor growth (97). Lymphocytes were unequivocally proven to play an essential role in immune surveillance by seminal observations in $rag2^{-/-}$ mice (98) and subsets of lymphocytes such as NK, NKT cells (99), and $\gamma\delta T$ cells (100) were shown to play prominent roles in the control of malignancy. These new data prompted a refinement of the cancer immunosurveillance concept (95) and an ongoing quest to understand the triggers and mechanistic action of this early and continuous immune response against altered self.

ELICITORS AND EFFECTORS OF IMMUNE SURVEILLANCE

Epithelial-derived cancers, called carcinomas, make up about 85% of all cancers. The epithelial barriers of our body surfaces are also where the majority of exogenous stresses and challenges occur. Both sterile and microbial insults are encountered daily at epithelial surfaces and prompt EC and immune activation. Cancer development is, however, a multifactorial and multistep process. Most solid cancers only emerge following a sequential accumulation of somatic mutations over many years, which eventually may overwhelm the barriers that normally restrain their growth and thus clonal expansion of transformed cells can occur. Cumulative mutational load, telomere dysfunction, and altered stromal milieu are all required before a solid tumor presents (101). Fortunately, numerous intrinsic and extrinsic tumor-supressor mechanisms exist to prevent the development and outgrowth of malignant cells and all cells continuously undergo these rigorous "health checks." The normal health control mechanisms can be triggered both by endogenous and exogenous stress and are executed by a cell-autonomous intrinsic surveillance system (such as delay in cell-cycle progression, repair of DNA-damage/genetic mutations, and induction of senescence or apoptosis) – and backed up by extrinsic immune surveillance mechanisms triggered by manifestations of EC dysregulation. The cell intrinsic responses to stress and the cell-extrinsic responses of the immune system are therefore intimately linked.

Damage-associated molecular patterns are mainly intracellular components of cells that are released or exposed upon physical or metabolic stress or cell death (102). For example ATP released from dying cells can act as a chemoattractant on macrophages drawing them to the stressed tissue (103). Extracellular ATP can bind to P2 purinergic receptors, which dependent on the cell engaged, can induce inflammatory (104) or anti-inflammatory (71) immune responses. Release of ROS or DNA from damaged cells can also powerfully initiate immune surveillance responses (105). Upon stress, ECs also rapidly and potently increase their synthesis of complement C3 (106), which due to its action on a multitude of innate and adaptive immune cells is likely to play a role in early immune surveillance, although its role in cancer as well as tissue homeostasis is as yet relatively unexplored.

In addition to the release of DAMPs, complement and cytokines/chemokines ECs can in response to numerous forms of cell-dysregulation dynamically alter cell-surface antigens to engage with receptors on innate and adaptive immune cells. Ligandreceptor interactions between ECs and tissue-resident immunocytes are thus important not only for homestatic interactions but are key regulators and elicitors of immune surveillance. One of the most important and best-characterized families of stress-induced EC ligands includes Rae-1, H60, and MULT1 (mouse), MICA, MICB and ULBPs (human). These are members of the larger family of MHC class Ib molecules and are reported upregulated on ECs by stresses such as heat-shock, UV-irradiation, DNA-damage, viral and bacterial infection, and autoimmunity. These unconventional MHC molecules engage the activating lectin-type receptor NKG2D, which is constitutively expressed by tissue-resident T cells and NK, NKT cells but is also expressed on CD8⁺ T cells and in some circumstances subsets of CD4⁺ T cells. The NKG2Dpathway has proven important in numerous settings of celldysregulation, such as cancer (107), infection (108), autoimmunity (109), and transplantation [reviewed in Ref. (110)], and its key role in immune surveillance is supported by the plethora of strategies tumors and viruses have adopted to evade it (111, 112). In relation to cancer, NKG2D-ligands are expressed by most epithelial tumors and the NKG2D-pathway is strongly associated with anti-tumor responses in both humans and mice (113). NKG2Dligands are often upregulated early upon cellular dysregulation or transformation, it has however been controversial whether immune cells could be activated by such self-moieties alone. By generating transgenic mice where an autologous NKG2D-ligand, Rae-1, could be upregulated on keratinocytes by administration of doxycycline it was shown that even in the absence of any overt microbial stress (or overt tissue/cellular dysregulation as in a tumor setting) engagement of NKG2D on the epidermal IELs (DETCs) activated these cells and caused profound changes in the local immune compartment (114). This demonstrates that resident immunocytes can recognize and act solely on alterations in autologous stress antigens and thus survey the "health-status" of a given EC, pre-malignancy. The data support the cancer immune surveillance theory as it was also shown that the tissue-resident IELs have a key role in host-protection against skin carcinogenesis (114). Afferent sensing is normally attributed to innate myeloid cells, perhaps particularly to DCs that are often viewed as the primary orchestrator of adaptive immunity. To highlight the capacity of tissue-resident T cells (as demonstrated by the epidermal $\gamma \delta T$ cells discussed above) to perform an equivalent function as sensors of dysregulation, this mode of afferent sensing has been termed "lymphoid stress-surveillance" (115, 116). Lymphoid stress-surveillance may particularly be engaged in recognition of "stressed-self" and as such confer "beneficial autoimmune" responses in our body surface tissues. It is intriguing that NKG2D is expressed primarily, perhaps exclusively, by lymphoid cells ($\gamma\delta T$, NKT, CD8⁺ $\alpha\beta T$, and NK cells), suggesting that engagement of NKG2D could elicit an acute lymphocyte stress response to EC damage perhaps engaging different cells in different tissues.

In addition to the NKG2D-pathway, many other ligandreceptor pathways modulating epithelial-immune cell interactions and contributing to immune surveillance and tissue homeostasis are emerging. One such emerging family of regulators is the nectin and nectin-like (necl) proteins. Nectins are immunoglobulin-like cell-cell adhesion molecules involved in the formation of adherens junctions in ECs and fibroblast. Both nectin and the necl molecules play important roles not only in adhesion but also in migration, proliferation, and wound healing (117, 118). The group of receptors that engage these nectin molecules are therefore now being intensely studied in relation to cancer and immune surveillance (119). The major receptors that bind nectin and necl family members are DNAM-1 (CD226, PTA-1, TLiSA1), class I-restricted T cell-associated molecule (CRTAM), CD96, and TIGIT (WUCAM, VSIG9, Vstm3). All of these receptors are expressed on NK cells, $\gamma\delta T$ cells and CD8⁺ $\alpha\beta T$ cells and can mediate effector functions in these cells upon engagement. DNAM-1 ligands are frequently upregulated on tumor cells and have been reported to be regulated through the DNA-damage response pathway (120). Activation of DNAM-1 can evoke potent cytotoxicity in both T cells and NK cells (121) and control tumor growth (122). CRTAM binds necl2, which have been shown to regulate wound healing in the skin (118) and be involved in metastasis of human tumors (123). Expression and activation of CRTAM on immunocytes is likely highly important in early control of tissue homeostasis and cancer immune surveillance. In vitro studies have shown CRTAM to induce IFNy from T cells and in vivo ncl2 expressing tumors have been shown to be controlled by NK and CD8⁺ T cells. Less is currently known about CD96 and TIGIT, but interestingly TIGIT appears to have an inhibitory function on NK and T cells (119).

Another example of an immune surveillance stimulator displayed by stressed ECs is the Coxsackie and adenovirus receptor (CAR). CAR is also a junctional adhesion molecule, it is upregulated on damaged ECs and potentially revealed when integrity of the tight junction is compromised. It binds junction adhesion molecule-like (JAML), which is expressed on neutrophils, tissue-resident $\gamma\delta T$ cells, and to a lesser extent on monocytes and some activated CD8⁺ $\alpha\beta$ T cells. Resident skin and intestinal $\gamma\delta T$ cells upregulate their expression of JAML upon tissue injury and binding of JAML to CAR lead to proliferation, cytokine, and growth factor production (124). Inhibiting costimulation of resident $\gamma \delta T$ cells by blocking JAML significantly delayed wound healing, akin to the total absence of these resident T cells, suggesting that CAR-JAML interactions are important for initiation of immune surveillance and tissue homeostasis. Interestingly, it has been shown that interaction of JAML with CAR recruits the central cell signal transducer PI3K, as is known for the aBT cell costimulator CD28, further emphasizing JAMLs role as a costimulator for tissue-resident T cells with implications for immune surveillance of dysregulated ECs (125).

Similar to the role of CAR-JAML interactions between ECs and resident T cells, it has recently been shown that plexin-B2-CD100 interactions are important for regulating the activity of IELs in both the skin and intestine (126, 127). CD100 (also know as Sema4D) is a member of the large family of semaphorin proteins. These proteins interact with plexins, which were first shown to play a fundamental role in the nervous system directing axon

guidance. Intriguingly though, semaphorin–plexin interactions are also extensively involved in regulating immune responses and analysis of CD100-deficient animals have revealed a crucial role for this semaphorin in both humoral and cellular immunity (128). In relation to EC-immunocyte interactions, plexin-B2 is expressed on ECs in the epidermis and in the colon and interaction with CD100 on resident $\gamma\delta$ IELs promotes wound repair in the skin (126) and protects against dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in the intestine (127). In both tissues, CD100^{-/-} mice failed to mount a proliferative EC response to tissue damage, which was attributable to the lack of activation and growth factor production by the $\gamma\delta$ IELs required to heal the epithelium.

Tissue-resident immunocytes are in a unique position to carry out a continued maintenance function such as tissue stresssurveillance. Innate immune cells have the capacity to recognize antigens that are displayed in tissues following a variety of stressors and can respond rapidly in large numbers without requiring clonal expansion. The early stages of an immune response - the afferent phase - are therefore conventionally ascribed to myeloid cells or NK cells. However, as highlighted above tissue-resident T cells can also be afferent sensors of cellular dysregulation. The importance of a tissue-specific resident population in cancer immune surveillance has nevertheless been difficult to verify. This was addressed experimentally by taking advantage of the unique tissue location of specific γδTCR-expressing IELs in the mouse, where the epidermal population of $V\gamma 5V\delta 1^+$ IELs can be specifically knocked out (leaving all other T cell populations intact). These $vg5vd1^{-/-}$ mice are significantly more susceptible to cutaneous carcinogenesis than wild-type mice, demonstrating a key role for resident tissue-specific IELs in cancer immune surveillance. Consistent with the cancer immune surveillance hypothesis the y8 IEL act early and significantly suppress the development of papillomas but cannot suppress the progression from papilloma to carcinoma (114). Thus, myeloid cells, NK cells, and IELs all act as afferent sensors of dysregulation and initiators of immune surveillance in epithelial tissues. These cells can then also contribute to the downstream effector and regulatory phases of immunity. Clearly, both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ $\alpha\beta$ T cells as well as B cells play important roles in cancer immune surveillance in the effector phase.

FUNCTIONS AND MECHANISMS OF IMMUNE SURVEILLANCE

The afferent phase of immune surveillance – the sensing of dysregulated self – applies to many other stresses than purely oncogenic stress. Thus the concept of immune surveillance not only pertains to cancer; accumulating evidence suggests that it can be more broadly applied to other non-malignant pathologies. For example, liver fibrosis, as a result of liver damage, is exacerbated when NK or NKT cells are depleted or the gene for perforin (required for cytotoxicity) is deleted as the stressed hepatic stellar cells cannot be controlled (129, 130). Stressed hepatic stellar cells express NKG2D-ligands upon damage, as described for ECs, facilitating their recognition by immune surveillance cells. Interestingly, natural activation of hepatic iNKT cells inhibits fibrosis whereas non-natural "over-stimulation" of iNKT cells appears to have the opposite effect and accelerate liver injury (129). Equally in the liver, tissue-resident macrophages have been shown to protect against ischemia reperfusion injury and be critical for tissue homeostasis (131).

Mice lacking normal resident IEL repertoires, such as Tcrd^{-/-} mice, develop spontaneous chronic dermatitis, which can only be downregulated when $Tcrd^{-/-}$ mice are reconstituted with the tissue-specific resident IEL (the Vy5V81 TCR-expressing epidermal DETC) (132). Interestingly, these $Tcrd^{-/-}$ mice also show a defect in the integrity of the epidermal barrier, as measured by hydration status and transepidermal water loss (TEWL). However, the epidermal barrier defect is obvious only upon environmental challenge, consistent with the notion that the IELs survey the health-status of the ECs and promote tissue homeostasis (133). Skin IELs were also the first T cells to be implicated in promoting EC growth. Closure of full-thickness skin wounds is significantly delayed in $Tcrd^{-/-}$ mice, and this is attributed to the skin IELs capacity to rapidly produce EC growth factors such as insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and keratinocyte growth factors (KGF) (134, 135). Intriguingly, it has also been shown in humans that T cells isolated from healthy or acutely wounded skin actively produce EC growth factors and participate in wound repair, whereas T cells from patients with chronic wound-healing problems are anergic and unable to produce EC growth factors (136). Similarly, $Tcrd^{-/-}$ mice lacking the $\gamma\delta$ IEL population, which represents a major intestinal T cell population, are more susceptible to DSSinduced mucosal injury of the gut and demonstrate delayed tissue repair due to the lack of localized delivery of EC growth factors from the missing $\gamma\delta$ IEL compartment (137).

The examples above clearly demonstrate that immune surveillance is not only a mechanism to control the development and outgrowth of tumors but is also a key regulator of tissue homeostasis more generally [reviewed in Ref. (138)]. The implication of immune surveillance mechanisms in the maintenance and reestablishment of tissue homeostasis thus broadens its scope and it is likely that similar cell-extrinsic immune surveillance mechanisms are important at disease-initiating (pre-disease) stages in many pathophysiological settings other than cancer.

Immune surveillance can function by many (non-exclusive) mechanisms (**Figure 2**): (1) recognize and remove damaged, stressed, senescent, and (pre)-malignant cells, (2) remove damaging substances, waste, and dead cells, (3) facilitate re-establishment of homeostasis by repair mechanisms, (4) neutralize potential harmful environmental substances, or (5) dampen detrimental inflammatory reactions.

In relation to cancer immune surveillance, the main focus has been on type 1 immunity and cytotoxic mechanisms, both of which have overwhelming experimental support for playing a role in extrinsic tumor suppression. In both genetic and carcinogeninduced tumor models, cytotoxic molecules such as perforin and TRAIL, as well as NKG2D engagement, have repeatedly been shown to be important in tumor control. Likewise mice lacking type 1 molecules such as IFN γ , IFNGR, IL-12, or type I IFN receptors are significantly more susceptible to carcinogenesis in several models. Mice lacking IFN γ , perforin, TRAIL, functioning FasL or IL-12 responsiveness can also develop spontaneous tumors of variable origin [extensively reviewed in Ref. (139)].

However, the repair functions of immune surveillance are clearly also very important in the early phases of immune



whereby tissue-resident IELs can provide rapid host-protective immune surveillance and re-establish tissue homeostasis at body surfaces. Tissue stress as imposed by mechanical disruption, injury, or exposure to noxious environmental substances such as chemicals, carcinogens, UV-irradiation or toxins prompts ECs to release IL25, IL33, and TSLP cytokines, and upregulate expression of stress-ligands such as Rae-1, CAR, and plexins. This activates the resident IELs and their responses include cytolytic effects, release of growth factors (for example IGF-1, KGF), dampening of $\alpha\beta$ T cell-mediated inflammation [for example by release of thymosin- β 4 lymphoid splice variant (LT β 4)], rapid and potent production of IL-13, as well as promoting humoral IgE responses. Stress surveillance by IELs can thus recognize and remove damaged and possibly (pre-)malignant cells, promote tissue repair, and induce type 2 immunity, which in turn controls inflammation, expels or inactivates noxious substances, and promotes morphological tissue homeostasis.

surveillance. This is illustrated by the link between wounding and tumor development. It has been observed that tumors can develop at the site of chronic skin wounds or untreated mouth ulcers (140) and there are several case reports of lung metastasis at sites of accidental trauma (141). A clear illustration of the link between a defective wound-healing response and the development of cancer comes from patients with epidermolysis bullosa. These patients have mutations in genes encoding skin extracellular matrix components and suffer from chronic skin blistering and sores - and as a result of the chronic tissue damage are at increased risk of developing squamous cell carcinoma (142, 143). A diminished capacity to repair a damaged barrier can thus predispose to the development of cancer. Such associations between chronic damage/wounds and cancer as well as the histological similarities of wounds and tumors led to the often-cited phrase that "tumors are wounds that do not heal" (144).

The association between chronic wounds and development of cancer may of course not only pertain to the lack of repair

per se but also to the onset of a detrimental chronic inflammation as a consequence. There is a close association between chronic inflammation and cancer, and once a malignant cell has escaped the early phase of immune surveillance, inflammation can exert prominent pro-carcinogenic effects (145). The tumorpromoting effects of inflammation are being intensively studied and are starting to have implications for the treatment of cancers (145, 146). An important feature of early tumor immune surveillance could thus be the release of anti-inflammatory products in the tissue. Stressed ECs promptly release many anti-inflammatory products such as IL-33, TSLP, and IL-25 - all with the propensity to drive anti-inflammatory type 2 immune responses. The role of such anti-inflammatory DAMPs and type 2 immunity in early cancer immune surveillance remains to be clarified but intriguingly when tumor-protective skin-resident IELs are activated by stressed ECs they promptly release high levels of IL-13 (53) (and Strid-J unpublished data). Interestingly, this IL-13 and a following production of IgE is dependent on engagement of NKG2D on the IELs (53), perhaps suggesting that the tumor-suppressive effect of NKG2D and skin-resident IELs may not solely be via cytotoxic/type 1-mediated immune surveillance mechanisms. The surprising association between NKG2D and anti-inflammatory type 2 immune responses (and IgE) was recently corroborated in a model of allergic pulmonary inflammation, where mice lacking NKG2D were resistant to the induction of allergic inflammation and showed reduced Th2 and IgE responses (147). The association between a stress-sensor such as NKG2D, which has been intimately linked to anti-tumor responses, and induction of type 2 immunity demands a closer look at the role of early type 2 immunity in cancer immune surveillance. The possible role of such early type 2 responses in tissue homeostasis and immune surveillance of cancer as well as its possible pro- and anti-tumor growth functions are discussed in more detail below.

ROLE OF TYPE 2 IMMUNITY IN TISSUE HOMEOSTASIS AND IMMUNE SURVEILLANCE

What is known so far of the physiological role of type 2 responses is that their host-protection properties converge in different forms of barrier defenses (58). This seems logical as epithelial surfaces have a propensity to drive type 2 immunity (rather than type 1) upon non-invasive/non-penetrating challenge or stress and type 2 immune mediators are thus well poised to play a role in early immune surveillance as well as homeostatic tissue regulation. IL-13 is the best-characterized inducer of mucus production and goblet cell hyperplasia in the respiratory and intestinal mucosa. In the skin, transgenic over-expression of IL-13 induces skin remodeling, which is primarily driven by TSLP (148). In both circumstances, hyperplasia results in improved resistance to damage and damaging substances at the body barrier either via production of mucus at the mucosal surfaces or thickening of the skin. IL-13 may also be involved in homeostatic EC differentiation/proliferation in the skin. Epidermal IELs, which are non-redundant for normal tissue homeostasis and wound-healing, are rapid and potent producers of IL-13 following skin challenge (UV-radiation, tape-stripping, NKG2D-ligand expression, and exposure to carcinogen) and mice deficient in IL-13 have delayed barrier repair following epidermal tape-stripping as measured by TEWL (Strid-J unpublished).

Removal or expulsion is another host defense strategy induced by type 2 immunity, which can directly protect against noxious toxins or parasites, as well as limiting their systemic dissemination. The removal/expulsive actions of allergic and type 2 immunity through sneezing/coughing/itching/vomiting/diarrhea are partly induced by EC-derived mediators including TSLP, which acts directly on sensory neurons in the skin triggering itching (149), and by the effect of mast cell-derived histamine on smooth muscles. Type 2 immune mediators can also confer host-protection by inactivation, neutralization, and destruction of noxious substances. This is most notably shown by the requirement for mast cells in the detoxification of snake and bee venom (150) and the evidence that mast cell proteases can specifically attack snake venom at the structures required for toxicity and thereby neutralizing it (151). Recent data strongly suggest that IgE mediates or at least contributes to protection against venoms as for example the protective responses against re-challenge with high doses of bee venom is abrogated in mice lacking B cells, FceRI, or IgE (56, 57). It is likely that this protection is partly via the very rapid IgE-mediated degranulation of mast cells. Encapsulation and restriction is another layer of barrier defense regulated by type 2 mediators, which can help prevent the spread of noxious substances if elimination or expulsion has been insufficient. Endothelial leakage and exudate formation can be induced by mast cell-derived products and such local tissue edema may impede parasite invasion. For example it has been shown that the edema caused by IgE-mediated mast cell degranulation is important in the defense against macroparasites such as ticks (152). Another restriction mechanism, which may restrict the spread of noxious substance as well as macroparasites, involves sequestration through granuloma formation. Type 2 immune responses protect the host during infection with schistosomiasis by inducing granulomas that sequester the tissue-damaging toxins from the parasite eggs (153).

Perhaps most importantly, much of type 2 immunity seems dedicated to tissue repair and promoting tolerance to damage. Indeed, it has been hypothesized that type 2 immunity has evolved to direct innate wound repair mechanisms (154). The rationale for the induction of tissue repair as a part of type 2 immune defense is obvious. It may also explain the extreme urgency of some type 2 responses (which is not easily explained if directed only toward a slow replicating macroparasite), as damage control may well be more important than pathogen control. In evolutionary terms, it makes sense to be able to quickly expel or neutralize noxious substances as well as rapidly repair the life-essential body barrier. EC-derived cytokine alarmins and cell-ligands can activate and direct the resident tissue cells to promote repair responses; IELs rapidly sense stress and can produce growth factors locally in the absence of further inflammation and tissue-resident ILCs can amplify the type 2 response and produce amphiregulin. Indeed, depletion of ILC2 compromises lung epithelial barrier integrity (155) just as depletion of γδ IEL compromises skin and gut epithelial integrity during homeostasis as well as delaying wound healing (127, 133, 134). Almost all of the cells associated with type 2 immunity are also associated with the wound-healing response. Alternatively activated macrophages produce vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), arginase 1, and IGF-1; Eosinophils

store preformed growth factors, matrix metalloproteinases, and lipid mediators, all of which can mediate wound healing (156). Amphiregulin is produced by mast cells following Fc ϵ RI signaling, potentially also linking IgE responses to wound repair (157). In sum, the effects of type 2 immunity at our body surface tissues play important roles in eliminating, restricting, and neutralizing noxious environmental substances as well as repairing the damage caused and minimizing inflammation – as such this type of immunity is critical for tissue homeostasis and responses to challenges that have breached the epithelial barrier.

In terms of early cancer immune surveillance, the role of type 2 immunity has been little explored. However, the effects of rapid type 2 immune responses as outlined above could indeed play a prominent role in cancer immune surveillance. It has been demonstrated that the same tissue-resident IELs act as key components of tumor resistance and potent inducers of type 2 immunity and IgE antibodies (53, 114). The humoral component of this lymphoid stress-surveillance response may limit tissue damage by targeting noxious foreign substances, such as toxins that may be the root cause of the tissue dysregulation. The IgE effector response may promote toxin expulsion and limit their systemic dissemination. Simultaneously, the cellular response can direct cytotoxicity toward dysregulated cells as well as promoting repair of the damaged tissue and dampening inflammation (Figures 2 and 3). To limit the likelihood of cancer, it is clearly important to repair a wound or breached barrier quickly and efficiently as is demonstrated by the close association between chronic tissue damage and cancer. Less efficient wound repair may lead to inefficient immune surveillance against (pre-)malignant cells with damaged cells being allowed to stay longer in the tissue before being replaced. Additionally, slow repair of tissue damage may lead to inflammation, which as discussed can have potent pro-carcinogenic effects.

Although one can imagine a role for type 2 immunity and its regenerative capacity in early cancer immune surveillance this may indeed be a double-edged sword in further development of cancer (**Figure 3**). Failure of the type 2 response to adequately contain or eliminate the initiating substance may lead to a chronic wound-healing response and exacerbation of inflammation. Such continued tissue damage, repair, and regeneration may ultimately result in fibrosis. Fibrotic tissue is a highly permissive environment for tumor formation and it is also well established that continuous wound-healing responses and tumorigenesis are two processes that rely on similar molecular mechanisms (158). As such it is perhaps not surprising that the literature on type 2/IgE responses and cancer is somewhat bewildering.

ROLE OF TYPE 2 IMMUNITY AND IgE IN CANCER

Both positive and negative effects of type 2 immunity on tumor growth and carcinogenesis have been reported in the literature (**Table 1**). Contrasting results are clearly in part due to the differing experimental approaches and models but most likely also reflects the divergent roles that type 2 immunity may play at different stages of carcinogenesis and in different tissues. CD4⁺ T cell-derived IL-4 has been reported to induce granulocyte infiltration, thereby promoting tumor clearance (an action enhanced by IL-13), and conversely increase tumor cells' resistance to apoptosis by up-regulation of anti-apoptotic proteins (159). Many



studies carried out in the 1990s and early 2000s demonstrated that tumors or tumor cell lines engineered to produce IL-4 would exhibit increased rejection and retarded growth in vivo; curiously a phenotype often dependent on CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells (160-163). IL-10 has been reported to be both "pro-tumorigenic" by inhibiting tumor cell lysis by cytotoxic T cells and "antitumorigenic" by promoting NK-cell-mediated tumor clearance and inhibiting angiogenesis (164). The EC-derived cytokines IL-33 and TSLP have been shown to enhance tumorigenesis by promoting epithelial-mesenchycmal transition (EMT) in organotypic culture of ex vivo carcinoma-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) and squamous cell carcinoma cells (165) and by enhancing Th2 inflammation (166). On the contrary TSLP has convincingly been shown in mouse in vivo models to be critically important for resistance to skin carcinogenesis (35, 36) establishing TSLP as a tumor suppressor in the skin. Many epithelial cancers express receptors for type 2 mediators such as IL-4 and IL-13, allowing for a direct effect on tumor growth, death, and proliferation that is independent of their effect on immunocytes (167). This perhaps also explains the likely divergent effects of type 2 immunity in early cancer immune surveillance versus in established tumors. Human breast and renal cancer cell lines treated with exogenous IL-13 in vitro demonstrate reduced proliferation (168-170) - although an ovarian cancer line demonstrated enhanced invasive and enzyme (protease) activity (171) suggesting IL-13 aids primary tumor invasion and metastasis in this model. No

doubt the heterogeneity of cancer cell lines and ex vivo tumors derived from patients and experimental animals clouds a consistent description of how potent type 2 cytokines may affect growth and immune surveillance of tumors in vivo. Cellular type 2 players, such as eosinophils, have an extensive description in the cancer literature, and have been shown to play a protective role against chemically induced tumors in vivo - and directly kill chemically induced fibrosarcomas in vitro (172), suggesting efficacious tissue immune surveillance. Mast cells frequently infiltrate the tumor microenvironment and are usually correlated with a poor prognosis in human cancers (173), although both tumor rejection and promotion has been attributed to them in the mouse. Interestingly, the ancient and highly conserved (174) immunoglobulin isotype IgE has been shown to play a significant role in immune surveillance of tumors. Since the 1990s IgE mAbs have been considered for cancer immunotherapy; particularly given IgE's extreme biological potency and presence of high and low affinity receptors on various effector cell types (175). Indeed, animals deficient in IgE show drastically altered susceptibility to cutaneous chemical carcinogenesis, and an altered tumor cytokine microenvironment (Dalessandri-T and Strid-J; unpublished). IgE-coated irradiated tumor cells has also been shown to generate protective, eosinophil, and T cell immunity to subsequently administered non-irradiated tumors (176). In addition, the type 2 immunoglobulin IgG1 has been reported to be potently tumoricidal when not "blocked" by competing IgG4 antibodies (177).

Table 1 | Examples of type 2 cytokines and immunoglobulins influencing tumor pathology.

Type 2 mediator	Experimental approach	Model	Tumor growth
IL-4	Tumors engineered to produce IL-4, IL-4 ↑	Primary murine renal cancer Injection of syngeneic tumor cell lines	 ↓ Enhanced CD8⁺ T cell-dependent rejection (160) ↓ Enhanced CD8⁺ T cell-dependent rejection (161) ↑ Delayed primary tumor clearance, increased secondary tumor development (178) ◆ Padward CD8⁺ T cell mediated clearance (178)
		Primary murine adenocarcinoma	 ↑ Reduced CD8⁺ T cell-mediated clearance (178) ↓ Enhanced CD8⁺ T cell-dependent and eosinophil-mediated rejection (162)
		Vaccination with irradiated tumor cells	↓ Enhanced CD8 ⁺ T cell-dependent clearance of lung metastases (163)
	Exogenous rIL-4 treatment, IL-4 †	Prostate, breast and bladder cancer cell lines	↑ Enhanced resistance to apoptosis and chemotherapeutic agents (159)
IL-13	Tumors engineered to produce IL-13, IL-13 ↑	Injection of P815 mastocytoma cell line	↓ Improved rejection and development of systemic anti-tumor immunity (179)
	Exogenous IL-13 treatment, IL-13 †	<i>Ex vivo</i> leukemic B blasts	↓ Reduced proliferation and cell-cycle progression assessed by DNA content (168)
		Human breast cancer cell line	↓ Inhibition of estrogen-induced cell proliferation, unchanged basal proliferation (169)
		Human renal carcinoma cell line Ovarian cancer cell line	 Reduced proliferation and colony formation (170) Increased MMP and AP-1-dependant invasion and protease activity in matrigel invasion assay (171)
	Antibody-mediated IL-13 neutralization, IL-13 ↓	Hodgkin lymphoma cell line	 Decreased proliferation and STAT6 phosphorylation (180)
IL-33	IL-33 receptor knockout (ST2 ^{-/−}), IL-33-signaling ↓	ST2 ^{-/-} mammary carcinoma-bearing mice	↓ Attenuated tumor growth and metastasis, increase number and cytotoxic activity of NK cells (181)
	Exogenous IL-33 treatment, IL-33 ↑	4T1 cell line tumor-bearing mice	↑ Reduced intra-tumoral tumoricidal NK cells, increased splenic MDSCs and M2 macrophages (182)
	IL-33 co-admin, with HPV DNA vaccine, IL-33 ↑	TC-1 cell line (HPV-16 E7-positive) tumor-bearing mice	↓ Improved HPV antigen-specific CD4 and CD8 T cells, increased TC-1 regression (183)
	Organotypic culture, IL-33 ↑	<i>Ex vivo</i> human carcinoma- associated fibroblasts (CAFs)	↑ CAFs promote carcinoma invasion via IL33 signaling and EMT induction (165)
TSLP	Antibody-mediated TSLP neutralization, TSLP ↓	Murine breast tumor xenograft	↓ Inhibition of tumor development (166)
	K14-TSLP ^{Tg} or calcipotriol induced TSLP, TSLP ↑	DMBA/TPA chemical skin carcinogenesis	↓ Delayed tumor onset and significantly reduced tumor number and growth (35)
	TSLP receptor knockout or TSLP neutralization, TSLP-signaling ↓	Notchl/Notch2 receptor knockout	↑ Loss of TSLP-signaling in Notch-deficient epidermis leads to tumor formation (36)
lgE	IgE-loaded tumor cell vaccine, IgE ↑	Post-vaccination challenge with RMA lymphoma or MC38 adenocarcinoma	↓ Improved protective eosinophil, CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cell responses to tumor challenge (176, 184)
lgGl	Engineered tumor-antigen-specific IgG4, IgGI↓	Human melanoma xenograft model	↑ IgG4 blocked potent IgGI-mediated anti-tumor effector functions (177)

EPIDEMIOLOGICAL AND CLINICAL ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN TYPE 2 IMMUNITY, IgE AND CANCER

Associations between allergy history and cancer risk have been investigated in numerous epidemiological studies and their association is being defined in the nascent field of "AllergoOncology" (**Table 2**). Recent overviews of the epidemiological literature demonstrate that both potent inverse and positive associations exist, which point to complex underlying interactions as well as reflecting the heterogeneity of these diseases. Accordingly, although the relationship between cancer and allergy has intrigued researchers for decades, the biological nature of this association remains unclear.
Hypothesis	Predicted allergy– cancer relationship	Predicted affected tissue site	Proposed mechanisms
Antigenic stimulation or chronic inflammation (185)	Positive, causal	All sites	 Allergic inflammation and oxidative damage promote pro-tumorigenic gene mutations Type 2-induced tissue remodeling and angiogenesis promotes tumor growth and invasion
Inappropriate Th2 skewing (186)	Positive, causal	All sites	
Immune surveillance (93)	Inverse, causal	All sites	 Potent effector cells, including γδT cells, mast cells and eosinophils eradicate tumors Tumor-specific IgE potently cytolytic via ADCC Type 2 immunity repairs tissue damage and dampens inflammation hereby restricting tumor formation
Prophylaxis (55)	Inverse, causal	external surfaces	 Tissue type 2 immunity removes or neutralizes noxious and potentially carcinogenic environmental moieties before they cause genotoxicity Type 2 immunity restricts systemic dissemination of noxious substances and enhances natural barrier defenses

Table 2 | Proposed hypotheses explaining associations between type 2 immunity/allergy and cancer.

Two hypotheses put forward to explain positive allergy-cancer associations are the "antigenic stimulation"/"chronic inflammation" hypothesis and the "inappropriate Th2 skewing" hypothesis (Table 2). The "antigenic stimulation" hypothesis was first proposed in the late 1980s (185) and has been reiterated numerous times, also termed the "chronic inflammation" hypothesis (186). This hypothesis proposes that inflammation associated with allergic disease establishes a tissue environment conducive to tumor growth. Indeed, more than 100 years ago a link between inflammation and cancer was first proposed by Virchow (146), who noted the presence of leukocytes in neoplastic tissues and suggested cancer originated at sites of chronic inflammation. Tissue damage with the release of DAMPs, chronic infection, and inflammation are all believed to contribute to the development of malignant disease. Mechanistically, cellular Th2-mediators such as macrophages promote oxidative damage through production of iNOS and hydrogen peroxide via the respiratory burst, increasing the likelihood of damage and mutation of tumor-suppressor genes or cell-cycle regulator genes. Tissue remodeling and pro-angiogenesis factors such as vasoactive mediators from tissue-resident mast cells and eosinophils, as well as VEGF, arginase and matrix metalloproteases released by macrophages, may promote local invasion of outgrowing tumors, and eventual metastasis with establishment of distal secondary loci worsening clinical outcome. Thus, the "antigenic stimulation/chronic inflammation" hypothesis predicts a positive relationship between allergic disease and cancer in any tissue site and this relationship is directly causal, i.e., inflammation secondary to or as a result of allergic disease directly promotes oncogenesis. The "inappropriate Th2 skewing" hypothesis (186) suggests that type 2 mediators - such as IL-4, IL-10, IL-13 may redirect tissue immunity away from a potently anti-tumor and cytolytic Th1 response, toward an ineffective Th2 response, where IgE is produced and directed toward allergens and not

tumor-specific or tumor-associated antigens. Additionally, with production of immunomodulatory IL-10, Th2-immunogloublin IgG4 class-switch recombination is favored over IgE, the former being far less potently tumoricidal, further attenuating anti-tumor responses. This hypothesis therefore also predicts a positive relationship between allergic disease and cancer, in any tissue site, and this relationship is directly causal – skewing to type 2 responses that are non-protective and aids oncogenesis.

Two hypotheses put forward to explain inverse allergy-cancer associations are the "immune surveillance" hypothesis, and the "prophylaxis" hypothesis (Table 2). Prophylaxis was first proposed by Profet (55), and suggests that the symptoms and mechanisms of allergic disease serve to repel and clear potentially mutagenic substances at the external body surfaces before mutagenesis can occur; a coopted function of type 2 immunity which also serves to expel parasites and helminths. Itch induced by type 2 mediators such as TSLP, goblet cell hypersecretion of mucus, sneezing, coughing, vomiting, and diarrhea all act as repulsive mechanisms and are particularly common allergy symptoms. In additional to physical expulsion, type 2 cellular players directly deactivate noxious xenobiotics. In mice at least, mast cells have been shown to degrade venom components through release of carboxypeptidases (150), and IgE raised to a conserved component (and allergen) of many venoms is protective against a repeat exposure (56, 57). The unpleasantness of allergy symptoms also conditions the animal to avoid potentially carcinogenic triggers. Thus, the "prophylaxis" hypothesis predicts an inverse, causal relationship between allergic disease and cancer, particularly at the exposed body barrier surfaces. This hypothesis requires that moieties encountered at the body surfaces are directly carcinogenic, or are pro-carcinogens, and predicts that individuals with allergy symptoms should present with (i) lower levels of carcinogens in their blood and (ii) restrictive or obstructive disease at mucosal surfaces - or that treatment to reduce allergic symptoms results in greater vulnerability to cancer at those sites (187). These corollaries of the "prophylaxis" hypothesis have been poorly investigated. The "immune surveillance" hypothesis, first proposed by Burnet (93), also predicts an inverse allergy-cancer relationship and inverse associations are predicted at any body site. It suggests that allergy and atopic symptoms are indicative of an immune system that is generally hyper-responsive to challenge, and has enhanced immune surveillance capability. Potently cytolytic type 2 responses raised against tumor-associated or -specific antigens can rapidly eradicate dysregulated and proto-neoplastic cells; hence allergy symptoms are a fortuitous, albeit unpleasant, result of an individual's potent immune system, which also controls dysregulated cells and results in an inverse allergy-cancer relationship. Although the inverse allergy-cancer relationship proposed by the "immune surveillance" hypothesis was originally thought to be purely correlational, as argued in this review, type 2 immunity is also likely to play an important role in early immune surveillance in a direct casual manner by virtue of its ability to remove noxious substances, repair tissue damage and dampen initial inflammation.

In spite of many speculations and associations there is little evidence for a strong association between allergy and overall cancer risk (188). However, given that allergic disease occurs primarily at outer epithelial surfaces it is logical to examine the incidence of cancer at specific tissue sites, particularly those at which allergic disease is prevalent; such as the skin, respiratory, and gastrointestinal tracts. A recent large meta-analysis of more than 400 studies of relationships between allergy and cancer reported a preponderance of inverse allergy-cancer associations, and interestingly this was particularly strong for cancers of tissues that interface with the external environment, such as skin, mouth, throat, colon, and cervix (187). These results support the "prophylaxis" as well as the "immune surveillance" hypotheses. Intriguingly, while most studies investigate the link between specifically Type I allergic disease and cancer, a significant inverse association between contact (Type IV) hypersensitivity and breast and non-melanoma skin cancer has been reported, and the authors suggested these data support the "immune surveillance" hypothesis (189).

The large number of published association studies nevertheless often paints a conflicting picture, some of which may be due to methodological constraints. Most retrospective studies on allergy-cancer associations have investigated self-reported or clinician-diagnosed allergy, methodologies particularly prone to recollection and reporting bias (former) and subject selection bias (latter). Researchers have attempted to alleviate these concerns at least in part by discriminating subjects on the basis of physiological indices of allergic disease, such as serum IgE titers (190, 191) and skin-prick testing. Of course, serum total or allergen-specific IgE suffers less from human biases, but these are not a definite metric of allergic status in all individuals, all of the time; in addition this methodology potentially precludes the possibility of examining significant non-Type I hypersensitivities in the analysis. Another concern is that if variation between individual's allergy symptoms is due more to differences in individual's exposure to antigens and/or carcinogens (the environment as a confounding variable), rather than individual differences in immunity ("immune surveillance" hypothesis), then positive correlations between allergic symptoms and cancer may occur – even if the "prophylaxis" or "immune surveillance" hypotheses are true. Particularly, given that exposure to carcinogenic allergens (such as cigarette smoke or vehicle exhaust) results in increased cancer and allergic disease (187). In addition, the genetic and phenotypic heterogeneity of tumors, and the complex inflammatory niche in which they reside, may also confound epidemiological association studies.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Epithelial cancers are products of a series of events starting with dysregulated and stressed ECs. It is now clear that challenges to ECs can trigger discrete pathways promoting the release of specific cytokines, chemokines, and expression of stress antigens on the EC surface. Together this can powerfully drive immune responses, initially from cells resident in the epithelial and subepithelial compartment. The initial response to EC challenge and damage is often a very rapid type 2 immune response. This may serve to remove or neutralize noxious challenging substances, clear waste, repair the tissue, dampen inflammation, and re-establish tissue homeostasis. It may also directly contribute to the elimination of damaged cells together with cytolytic mechanisms from resident IELs and other immunocytes. Rapid type 2 immune responses at body surfaces thus prominently contribute to immune surveillance of dysregulated ECs. Since epithelial dysregulation contributes notably to a multitude of inflammatory diseases, this may not only be important in control of (pre-)malignancy but could be important at disease-initiating stages in a variety of diseases.

Immune surveillance by its nature is mainly important in the initiation phase of tissue damage and tumor control - for maintenance of tissue homeostasis. The same effector molecules and mechanisms may play a very different role during the progression phase of tissue damage and tumor growth. Failure to eliminate the original damaging substance, damaged cells, or to repair the tissue may lead to a continual stress response with excessive release of DAMPs, persistent stress-ligand expression, inflammation, and a chronic wound-healing response and this may determine the transition point between beneficial and detrimental functions of type 2 immunity in the course of disease. Similarly, continual exposure to noxious environmental substances may eventually overwhelm the immune surveillance mechanisms keeping the damage in check and result in pathology or tumor growth. Further research is needed to study whether the balance between tumor cell growth and elimination may be tipped back upon immune manipulations aimed at enhancing naturally occurring immune surveillance.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank colleagues within our laboratory and beyond for insightful discussions and especially Dr. Olga Sobolev for critical review of the manuscript. Apologies to colleagues whose work has inadvertently been overlooked or that were a victim of space constraints. We thank the Wellcome Trust for funding and declare no competing financial interests.

REFERENCES

 Swamy M, Jamora C, Havran W, Hayday A. Epithelial decision makers: in search of the "epimmunome." *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(8):656–65. doi:10.1038/ ni.1905

- Nestle FO, Di Meglio P, Qin J-Z, Nickoloff BJ. Skin immune sentinels in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(10):679–91. doi:10.1038/nri2622
- 3. Jackson SP, Bartek J. The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease. Nature (2009) 461(7267):1071–8. doi:10.1038/nature08467
- Wood LC, Elias PM, Calhoun C, Tsai JC, Grunfeld C, Feingold KR. Barrier disruption stimulates interleukin-1 alpha expression and release from a preformed pool in murine epidermis. *J Invest Dermatol* (1996) 106(3):397–403. doi:10.1111/1523-1747.ep12343392
- Jerde TJ, Bushman W. IL-1 induces IGF-dependent epithelial proliferation in prostate development and reactive hyperplasia. *Sci Signal* (2009) 2(86):ra49. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2000338
- Culig Z, Puhr M. Interleukin-6: a multifunctional targetable cytokine in human prostate cancer. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2012) 360(1–2):52–8. doi:10.1016/j.mce. 2011.05.033
- Fort MM, Cheung J, Yen D, Li J, Zurawski SM, Lo S, et al. IL-25 induces IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 and Th2-associated pathologies in vivo. *Immunity* (2001) 15(6):985–95. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00243-6
- Lee J, Ho WH, Maruoka M, Corpuz RT, Baldwin DT, Foster JS, et al. IL-17E, a novel proinflammatory ligand for the IL-17 receptor homolog IL-17Rh1. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276(2):1660–4. doi:10.1074/jbc.M008289200
- Owyang AM, Zaph C, Wilson EH, Guild KJ, McClanahan T, Miller HRP, et al. Interleukin 25 regulates type 2 cytokine-dependent immunity and limits chronic inflammation in the gastrointestinal tract. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(4):843–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20051496
- Zaph C, Du Y, Saenz SA, Nair MG, Perrigoue JG, Taylor BC, et al. Commensaldependent expression of IL-25 regulates the IL-23-IL-17 axis in the intestine. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(10):2191–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20080720
- Zaiss MM, Maslowski KM, Mosconi I, Guenat N, Marsland BJ, Harris NL. IL-1β suppresses innate IL-25 and IL-33 production and maintains helminth chronicity. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) **9**(8):e1003531. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat. 1003531
- Heneghan AF, Pierre JF, Gosain A, Kudsk KA. IL-25 improves luminal innate immunity and barrier function during parenteral nutrition. *Ann Surg* (2014) 259(2):394–400. doi:10.1097/SLA.0b013e318284f510
- Angkasekwinai P, Park H, Wang Y-H, Wang Y-H, Chang SH, Corry DB, et al. Interleukin 25 promotes the initiation of proallergic type 2 responses. *J Exp Med* (2007) 204(7):1509–17. doi:10.1084/jem.20061675
- 14. Wang Y-H, Angkasekwinai P, Lu N, Voo KS, Arima K, Hanabuchi S, et al. IL-25 augments type 2 immune responses by enhancing the expansion and functions of TSLP-DC-activated Th2 memory cells. J Exp Med (2007) 204(8):1837–47. doi:10.1084/jem.20070406
- Gregory LG, Jones CP, Walker SA, Sawant D, Gowers KHC, Campbell GA, et al. IL-25 drives remodelling in allergic airways disease induced by house dust mite. *Thorax* (2013) 68(1):82–90. doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2012-202003
- 16. Hams E, Armstrong ME, Barlow JL, Saunders SP, Schwartz C, Cooke G, et al. IL-25 and type 2 innate lymphoid cells induce pulmonary fibrosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(1):367–72. doi:10.1073/pnas.1315854111
- Deleuran M, Hvid M, Kemp K, Christensen GB, Deleuran B, Vestergaard C. IL-25 induces both inflammation and skin barrier dysfunction in atopic dermatitis. *Chem Immunol Allergy* (2012) 96:45–9. doi:10.1159/000331871
- Salimi M, Barlow JL, Saunders SP, Xue L, Gutowska-Owsiak D, Wang X, et al. A role for IL-25 and IL-33-driven type-2 innate lymphoid cells in atopic dermatitis. J Exp Med (2013) 210(13):2939–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20130351
- Schmitz J, Owyang A, Oldham E, Song Y, Murphy E, McClanahan TK, et al. IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL-1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines. *Immunity* (2005) 23(5):479–90. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.09.015
- 20. Komai-Koma M, Brombacher F, Pushparaj PN, Arendse B, McSharry C, Alexander J, et al. Interleukin-33 amplifies IgE synthesis and triggers mast cell degranulation via interleukin-4 in naïve mice. *Allergy* (2012) **67**(9):1118–26. doi:10.1111/j.1398-9995.2012.02859.x
- Humphreys NE, Xu D, Hepworth MR, Liew FY, Grencis RK. IL-33, a potent inducer of adaptive immunity to intestinal nematodes. J Immunol (2008) 180(4):2443–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.4.2443
- 22. Pastorelli L, Garg RR, Hoang SB, Spina L, Mattioli B, Scarpa M, et al. Epithelialderived IL-33 and its receptor ST2 are dysregulated in ulcerative colitis and in experimental Th1/Th2 driven enteritis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(17):8017–22. doi:10.1073/pnas.0912678107

- 23. Fux M, Pecaric-Petkovic T, Odermatt A, Hausmann OV, Lorentz A, Bischoff SC, et al. IL-33 is a mediator rather than a trigger of the acute allergic response in humans. *Allergy* (2014) **69**(2):216–22. doi:10.1111/all.12309
- Imai Y, Yasuda K, Sakaguchi Y, Haneda T, Mizutani H, Yoshimoto T, et al. Skinspecific expression of IL-33 activates group 2 innate lymphoid cells and elicits atopic dermatitis-like inflammation in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(34):13921–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1307321110
- Hueber AJ, Alves-Filho JC, Asquith DL, Michels C, Millar NL, Reilly JH, et al. IL-33 induces skin inflammation with mast cell and neutrophil activation. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(8):2229–37. doi:10.1002/eji.201041360
- 26. Yanaba K, Yoshizaki A, Asano Y, Kadono T, Sato S. Serum IL-33 levels are raised in patients with systemic sclerosis: association with extent of skin sclerosis and severity of pulmonary fibrosis. *Clin Rheumatol* (2011) **30**(6):825–30. doi:10.1007/s10067-011-1686-5
- Yin H, Li X, Hu S, Liu T, Yuan B, Gu H, et al. IL-33 accelerates cutaneous wound healing involved in upregulation of alternatively activated macrophages. *Mol Immunol* (2013) 56(4):347–53. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2013.05.225
- Allakhverdi Z, Comeau MR, Jessup HK, Yoon B-RP, Brewer A, Chartier S, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin is released by human epithelial cells in response to microbes, trauma, or inflammation and potently activates mast cells. J Exp Med (2007) 204(2):253–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20062211
- Saenz SA, Taylor BC, Artis D. Welcome to the neighborhood: epithelial cellderived cytokines license innate and adaptive immune responses at mucosal sites. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 226:172–90. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00713.x
- Zaph C, Troy AE, Taylor BC, Berman-Booty LD, Guild KJ, Du Y, et al. Epithelialcell-intrinsic IKK-beta expression regulates intestinal immune homeostasis. *Nature* (2007) 446(7135):552–6. doi:10.1038/nature05590
- Ziegler SF, Artis D. Sensing the outside world: TSLP regulates barrier immunity. Nat Immunol (2010) 11(4):289–93. doi:10.1038/ni.1852
- Al-Shami A, Spolski R, Kelly J, Keane-Myers A, Leonard WJ. A role for TSLP in the development of inflammation in an asthma model. *J Exp Med* (2005) 202(6):829–39. doi:10.1084/jem.20050199
- Indra AK. Epidermal TSLP: a trigger factor for pathogenesis of atopic dermatitis. *Expert Rev Proteomics* (2013) 10(4):309–11. doi:10.1586/14789450.2013. 814881
- 34. Yoo J, Omori M, Gyarmati D, Zhou B, Aye T, Brewer A, et al. Spontaneous atopic dermatitis in mice expressing an inducible thymic stromal lymphopoietin transgene specifically in the skin. J Exp Med (2005) 202(4):541–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20041503
- Demehri S, Turkoz A, Manivasagam S, Yockey LJ, Turkoz M, Kopan R. Elevated epidermal thymic stromal lymphopoietin levels establish an antitumor environment in the skin. *Cancer Cell* (2012) 22(4):494–505. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2012. 08.017
- 36. Di Piazza M, Nowell CS, Koch U, Durham A-D, Radtke F. Loss of cutaneous TSLP-dependent immune responses skews the balance of inflammation from tumor protective to tumor promoting. *Cancer Cell* (2012) 22(4):479–93. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2012.08.016
- Jiang J, Hui C-C. Hedgehog signaling in development and cancer. Dev Cell (2008) 15(6):801–12. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2008.11.010
- Furmanski AL, Saldana JI, Ono M, Sahni H, Paschalidis N, D'Acquisto F, et al. Tissue-derived hedgehog proteins modulate Th differentiation and disease. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(6):2641–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202541
- Kim J, Myers AC, Chen L, Pardoll DM, Truong-Tran Q-A, Lane AP, et al. Constitutive and inducible expression of b7 family of ligands by human airway epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2005) 33(3):280–9. doi:10.1165/ rcmb.2004-0129OC
- 40. Bas A, Swamy M, Abeler-Dörner L, Williams G, Pang DJ, Barbee SD, et al. Butyrophilin-like 1 encodes an enterocyte protein that selectively regulates functional interactions with T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(11):4376–81. doi:10.1073/pnas.1010647108
- Boyden LM, Lewis JM, Barbee SD, Bas A, Girardi M, Hayday AC, et al. Skint1, the prototype of a newly identified immunoglobulin superfamily gene cluster, positively selects epidermal γδ T cells. *Nat Genet* (2008) 40(5):656–62. doi:10.1038/ng.108
- 42. Turchinovich G, Hayday AC. Skint-1 identifies a common molecular mechanism for the development of interferon- γ -secreting versus interleukin-17-secreting $\gamma\delta$ T cells. *Immunity* (2011) **35**(1):59–68. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011. 04.018

- 43. Rölle A, Mousavi-Jazi M, Eriksson M, Odeberg J, Söderberg-Nauclér C, Cosman D, et al. Effects of human cytomegalovirus infection on ligands for the activating NKG2D receptor of NK cells: up-regulation of UL16-binding protein (ULBP)1 and ULBP2 is counteracted by the viral UL16 protein. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(2):902–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.2.902
- 44. Raulet DH, Gasser S, Gowen BG, Deng W, Jung H. Regulation of ligands for the NKG2D activating receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2013) 31(1):413–41. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095951
- 45. Jung H, Hsiung B, Pestal K, Procyk E, Raulet DH. RAE-1 ligands for the NKG2D receptor are regulated by E2F transcription factors, which control cell cycle entry. *J Exp Med* (2012) **209**(13):2409–22. doi:10.1084/jem.20120565
- Vantourout P, Hayday A. Six-of-the-best: unique contributions of γδ T cells to immunology. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13(2):88–100. doi:10.1038/nri3384
- Cheroutre H, Lambolez F, Mucida D. The light and dark sides of intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) 11(7):445–56. doi:10. 1038/nri3007
- Gebhardt T, Wakim LM, Eidsmo L, Reading PC, Heath WR, Carbone FR. Memory T cells in nonlymphoid tissue that provide enhanced local immunity during infection with herpes simplex virus. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(5):524–30. doi:10.1038/ni.1718
- Jiang X, Clark RA, Liu L, Wagers AJ, Fuhlbrigge RC, Kupper TS. Skin infection generates non-migratory memory CD8+ T(RM) cells providing global skin immunity. *Nature* (2012) 483(7388):227–31. doi:10.1038/nature10851
- Eyerich S, Eyerich K, Pennino D, Carbone T, Nasorri F, Pallotta S, et al. Th22 cells represent a distinct human T cell subset involved in epidermal immunity and remodeling. J Clin Invest (2009) 119(12):3573–85. doi:10.1172/JCI40202
- Cella M, Fuchs A, Vermi W, Facchetti F, Otero K, Lennerz JKM, et al. A human natural killer cell subset provides an innate source of IL-22 for mucosal immunity. *Nature* (2008) 457(7230):722–5. doi:10.1038/nature07537
- Björkström NK, Kekäläinen E, Mjösberg J. Tissue-specific effector functions of innate lymphoid cells. *Immunology* (2013) 139(4):416–27. doi:10.1111/imm. 12098
- Strid J, Sobolev O, Zafirova B, Polic B, Hayday A. The intraepithelial T cell response to NKG2D-ligands links lymphoid stress surveillance to atopy. *Science* (2011) 334(6060):1293–7. doi:10.1126/science.1211250
- Harris N, Gause WC. To B or not to B: B cells and the Th2-type immune response to helminths. *Trends Immunol* (2011) 32(2):80–8. doi:10.1016/j.it. 2010.11.005
- Profet M. The function of allergy: immunological defense against toxins. Q Rev Biol (1991) 66(1):23–62. doi:10.1086/417049
- Marichal T, Starkl P, Reber LL, Kalesnikoff J, Oettgen HC, Tsai M, et al. A beneficial role for immunoglobulin in host defense against honeybee venom. *Immunity* (2013) 39(5):963–75. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.10.005
- Palm NW, Rosenstein RK, Yu S, Schenten DD, Florsheim E, Medzhitov R. Bee venom phospholipase A2 induces a primary type 2 response that is dependent on the receptor ST2 and confers protective immunity. *Immunity* (2013) 39(5):976–85. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.10.006
- Palm NW, Rosenstein RK, Medzhitov R. Allergic host defences. *Nature* (2012) 484(7395):465–72. doi:10.1038/nature11047
- Gutierrez DA, Rodewald H-R. A sting in the tale of Th2 immunity. *Immunity* (2013) 39(5):803–5. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.10.015
- Traidl-Hoffmann C, Jakob T, Behrendt H. Determinants of allergenicity. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2009) 123(3):558–66. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2008.12.003
- Kool M, Lambrecht BN. Alum adjuvant boosts adaptive immunity by inducing uric acid and activating inflammatory dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(4):869–82. doi:10.1084/jem.20071087
- Fukuyama T, Tajima Y, Ueda H, Hayashi K, Shutoh Y, Saito TR, et al. Investigation of the chemical-induced selective type II (TH2) allergic response in mice: effect of the length of the sensitizing phase. *J Immunotoxicol* (2009) 6(2):75–83. doi:10.1080/15476910902891319
- Dearman RJ, Basketter DA, Kimber I. Selective induction of type 2 cytokines following topical exposure of mice to platinum salts. *Food Chem Toxicol* (1998) 36(3):199–207. doi:10.1016/S0278-6915(97)00143-9
- 64. Jotwani R, Pulendran B, Agrawal S, Cutler CW. Human dendritic cells respond to *Porphyromonas gingivalis* LPS by promoting a Th2 effector response in vitro. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 33(11):2980–6. doi:10.1002/eji.200324392
- Salgame P, Yap GS, Gause WC. Effect of helminth-induced immunity on infections with microbial pathogens. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(11):1118–26. doi:10.1038/ni.2736

- Bryson K, Besteiro S, McGachy HA, Coombs GH, Mottram JC, Alexander J. Overexpression of the natural inhibitor of cysteine peptidases in *Leishmania mexicana* leads to reduced virulence and a Th1 response. *Infect Immun* (2009) 77(7):2971–8. doi:10.1128/IAI.00558-08
- 67. Kuroda E, Ishii KJ, Uematsu S, Ohata K, Coban C, Akira S, et al. Silica crystals and aluminum salts regulate the production of prostaglandin in macrophages via NALP3 inflammasome-independent mechanisms. *Immunity* (2011) **34**(4):514–26. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.019
- Mishra PK, Wu W, Rozo C, Hallab NJ, Benevenia J, Gause WC. Micrometersized titanium particles can induce potent Th2-type responses through TLR4-independent pathways. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(12):6491–8. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1101392
- Kool M, Willart MAM, van Nimwegen M, Bergen I, Pouliot P, Virchow JC, et al. An unexpected role for uric acid as an inducer of T helper 2 cell immunity to inhaled antigens and inflammatory mediator of allergic asthma. *Immunity* (2011) 34(4):527–40. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.015
- Marichal T, Ohata K, Bedoret D, Mesnil C, Sabatel C, Kobiyama K, et al. DNA released from dying host cells mediates aluminum adjuvant activity. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(8):996–1002. doi:10.1038/nm.2403
- Kouzaki H, Iijima K, Kobayashi T, O'Grady SM, Kita H. The danger signal, extracellular ATP, is a sensor for an airborne allergen and triggers IL-33 release and innate Th2-type responses. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(7):4375–87. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003020
- 72. Tang H, Cao W, Kasturi SP, Ravindran R, Nakaya HI, Kundu K, et al. The T helper type 2 response to cysteine proteases requires dendritic cell-basophil cooperation via ROS-mediated signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(7):608–17. doi:10.1038/ni.1883
- Moghaddam AE, Gartlan KH, Kong L, Sattentau QJ. Reactive carbonyls are a major Th2-inducing damage-associated molecular pattern generated by oxidative stress. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(4):1626–33. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1003906
- 74. Chavanas S, Bodemer C, Rochat A, Hamel-Teillac D, Ali M, Irvine AD, et al. Mutations in SPINK5, encoding a serine protease inhibitor, cause Netherton syndrome. *Nat Genet* (2000) 25(2):141–2. doi:10.1038/75977
- Walley AJ, Chavanas S, Moffatt MF, Esnouf RM, Ubhi B, Lawrence R, et al. Gene polymorphism in Netherton and common atopic disease. *Nat Genet* (2001) 29(2):175–8. doi:10.1038/ng728
- Briot A, Deraison C, Lacroix M, Bonnart C, Robin A, Besson C, et al. Kallikrein 5 induces atopic dermatitis-like lesions through PAR2-mediated thymic stromal lymphopoietin expression in Netherton syndrome. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(5):1135–47. doi:10.1084/jem.20082242
- 77. Fritz JH, Le Bourhis L, Sellge G, Magalhaes JG, Fsihi H, Kufer TA, et al. Nod1mediated innate immune recognition of peptidoglycan contributes to the onset of adaptive immunity. *Immunity* (2007) 26(4):445–59. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2007.03.009
- Magalhaes JG, Fritz JH, Le Bourhis L, Sellge G, Travassos LH, Selvanantham T, et al. Nod2-dependent Th2 polarization of antigen-specific immunity. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(11):7925–35. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.11.7925
- 79. Magalhaes JG, Rubino SJ, Travassos LH, Le Bourhis L, Duan W, Sellge G, et al. Nucleotide oligomerization domain-containing proteins instruct T cell helper type 2 immunity through stromal activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(36):14896–901. doi:10.1073/pnas.1015063108
- Eisenbarth SC, Piggott DA, Huleatt JW, Visintin I, Herrick CA, Bottomly K. Lipopolysaccharide-enhanced, Toll-like receptor 4-dependent T helper cell type 2 responses to inhaled antigen. *J Exp Med* (2002) **196**(12):1645–51. doi:10.1084/jem.20021340
- Tan AM, Chen HC, Pochard P, Eisenbarth SC, Herrick CA, Bottomly HK. TLR4 signaling in stromal cells is critical for the initiation of allergic Th2 responses to inhaled antigen. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(7):3535–44. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0900340
- 82. Agrawal S, Agrawal A, Doughty B, Gerwitz A, Blenis J, Van Dyke T, et al. Cutting edge: different toll-like receptor agonists instruct dendritic cells to induce distinct Th responses via differential modulation of extracellular signalregulated kinase-mitogen-activated protein kinase and c-Fos. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(10):4984–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.10.4984
- Hammad H, Chieppa M, Perros F, Willart MA, Germain RN, Lambrecht BN. House dust mite allergen induces asthma via Toll-like receptor 4 triggering of airway structural cells. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(4):410–6. doi:10.1038/ nm.1946

- Schmidt M, Raghavan B, Müller V, Vogl T, Fejer G, Tchaptchet S, et al. Crucial role for human Toll-like receptor 4 in the development of contact allergy to nickel. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(9):814–9. doi:10.1038/ni.1919
- Wen L, Roberts SJ, Viney JL, Wong FS, Mallick C, Findly RC, et al. Immunoglobulin synthesis and generalized autoimmunity in mice congenitally deficient in alpha beta(+) T cells. *Nature* (1994) 369(6482):654–8. doi:10.1038/369654a0
- 86. Wen L, Pao W, Wong FS, Peng Q, Craft J, Zheng B, et al. Germinal center formation, immunoglobulin class switching, and autoantibody production driven by "non alpha/beta" T cells. J Exp Med (1996) 183(5):2271–82. doi:10.1084/jem.183.5.2271
- Aguado E, Richelme S, Nuñez-Cruz S, Miazek A, Mura A-M, Richelme M, et al. Induction of T helper type 2 immunity by a point mutation in the LAT adaptor. *Science* (2002) 296(5575):2036–40. doi:10.1126/science.1069057
- Qi Q, Xia M, Hu J, Hicks E, Iyer A, Xiong N, et al. Enhanced development of CD4+ gammadelta T cells in the absence of Itk results in elevated IgE production. *Blood* (2009) 114(3):564–71. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-12-196345
- Felices M, Yin CC, Kosaka Y, Kang J, Berg LJ. Tec kinase Itk in gamma delta T cells is pivotal for controlling IgE production in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106(20):8308–13. doi:10.1073/pnas.0808459106
- McCoy KD, Harris NL, Diener P, Hatak S, Odermatt B, Hangartner L, et al. Natural IgE production in the absence of MHC class II cognate help. *Immunity* (2006) 24(3):329–39. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.01.013
- Ehrlich P. Über den jetzigen Stand der Karzinomforschung. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd (1909) 5:273–90.
- Burnet M. Cancer; a biological approach. I. The processes of control. *Br Med J* (1957) 1(5022):779–86. doi:10.1136/bmj.1.5022.779
- Burnet M. Cancer: a biological approach. III. Viruses associated with neoplastic conditions. IV. Practical applications. *Br Med J* (1957) 1(5023):841–7. doi:10.1136/bmj.1.5023.841
- 94. Thomas L. On immunosurveillance in human cancer. *Yale J Biol Med* (1982) 55(3–4):329–33.
- Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The three Es of cancer immunoediting. Annu Rev Immunol (2004) 22(1):329–60. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703. 104803
- 96. Dighe AS, Richards E, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Enhanced in vivo growth and resistance to rejection of tumor cells expressing dominant negative IFN gamma receptors. *Immunity* (1994) 1(6):447–56. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(94)90087-6
- 97. Kaplan DH, Shankaran V, Dighe AS, Stockert E, Aguet M, Old LJ, et al. Demonstration of an interferon gamma-dependent tumor surveillance system in immunocompetent mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) **95**(13):7556–61. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.13.7556
- Shankaran V, Ikeda H, Bruce AT, White JM. IFNγ and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. *Nature* (2001) 410(6832):1107–11. doi:10.1038/35074122
- Smyth MJ, Thia KY, Street SE, Cretney E, Trapani JA, Taniguchi M, et al. Differential tumor surveillance by natural killer (NK) and NKT cells. J Exp Med (2000) 191(4):661–8. doi:10.1084/jem.191.4.661
- 100. Girardi M, Oppenheim DE, Steele CR, Lewis JM, Glusac E, Filler R, et al. Regulation of cutaneous malignancy by gamma delta T cells. *Science* (2001) 294(5542):605–9. doi:10.1126/science.1063916
- 101. DePinho RA. The age of cancer. Nature (2000) 408(6809):248–54. doi:10.1038/ 35041694
- 102. Matzinger P. The danger model: a renewed sense of self. Science (2002) 296(5566):301–5. doi:10.1126/science.1071059
- 103. Chao MP, Majeti R, Weissman IL. Programmed cell removal: a new obstacle in the road to developing cancer. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(1):58–67. doi:10.1038/nrc3171
- 104. Ma Y, Galluzzi L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Autophagy and cellular immune responses. *Immunity* (2013) 39(2):211–27. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.017
- 105. Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G. Inflammasomes in carcinogenesis and anticancer immune responses. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(4):343–51. doi:10.1038/ni.2224
- 106. Schonthaler HB, Guinea-Viniegra J, Wculek SK, Ruppen I, Ximénez-Embún P, Guío-Carrión A, et al. S100A8-S100A9 protein complex mediates psoriasis by regulating the expression of complement factor C3. *Immunity* (2013) **39**(6):1171–81. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.11.011
- 107. Ullrich E, Koch J, Cerwenka A, Steinle A. New prospects on the NKG2D/NKG2DL system for oncology. Oncoimmunology (2013) 2(10):e26097. doi:10.4161/onci.26097

- Cerwenka A, Lanier LL. NKG2D ligands: unconventional MHC class I-like molecules exploited by viruses and cancer. *Tissue Antigens* (2003) 61(5):335–43. doi:10.1034/j.1399-0039.2003.00070.x
- 109. Van Belle TL, von Herrath MG. The role of the activating receptor NKG2D in autoimmunity. *Mol Immunol* (2009) 47(1):8–11. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2009. 02.023
- 110. Suárez-Alvarez B, López-Vázquez A, Baltar JM, Ortega F, López-Larrea C. Potential role of NKG2D and its ligands in organ transplantation: new target for immunointervention. *Am J Transplant* (2009) 9(2):251–7. doi:10.1111/ j.1600-6143.2008.02526.x
- 111. Groh V, Wu J, Yee C, Spies T. Tumour-derived soluble MIC ligands impair expression of NKG2D and T-cell activation. *Nature* (2002) **419**(6908):734–8. doi:10.1038/nature01112
- Lodoen MB, Lanier LL. Viral modulation of NK cell immunity. Nat Rev Microbiol (2005) 3(1):59–69. doi:10.1038/nrmicro1066
- 113. Champsaur M, Lanier LL. Effect of NKG2D ligand expression on host immune responses. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 235(1):267–85. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2010. 00893.x
- 114. Strid J, Roberts SJ, Filler RB, Lewis JM, Kwong BY, Schpero W, et al. Acute upregulation of an NKG2D ligand promotes rapid reorganization of a local immune compartment with pleiotropic effects on carcinogenesis. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9(2):146–54. doi:10.1038/ni1556
- Strid J, Tigelaar RE, Hayday AC. Skin immune surveillance by T cells a new order? Semin Immunol (2009) 21(3):110–20. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2009.03.002
- Hayday AC. Gammadelta T cells and the lymphoid stress-surveillance response. *Immunity* (2009) 31(2):184–96. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.006
- 117. Takai Y, Irie K, Shimizu K, Sakisaka T, Ikeda W. Nectins and nectin-like molecules: roles in cell adhesion, migration, and polarization. *Cancer Sci* (2003) 94(8):655–67. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.2003.tb01499.x
- 118. Giangreco A, Jensen KB, Takai Y, Miyoshi J, Watt FM. Necl2 regulates epidermal adhesion and wound repair. *Development* (2009) 136(20):3505–14. doi:10.1242/dev.038232
- 119. Chan CJ, Andrews DM, Smyth MJ. Receptors that interact with nectin and nectin-like proteins in the immunosurveillance and immunotherapy of cancer. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2012) 24(2):246–51. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2012.01.009
- 120. Soriani A, Zingoni A, Cerboni C, Iannitto ML, Ricciardi MR, Di Gialleonardo V, et al. ATM-ATR-dependent up-regulation of DNAM-1 and NKG2D ligands on multiple myeloma cells by therapeutic agents results in enhanced NK-cell susceptibility and is associated with a senescent phenotype. *Blood* (2009) 113(15):3503–11. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-08-173914
- 121. Shibuya A, Campbell D, Hannum C, Yssel H, Franz-Bacon K, McClanahan T, et al. DNAM-1, a novel adhesion molecule involved in the cytolytic function of T lymphocytes. *Immunity* (1996) 4(6):573–81. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00) 70060-4
- 122. Ramsbottom KM, Hawkins ED, Shimoni R, McGrath M, Chan CJ, Russell SM, et al. Cutting edge: DNAX accessory molecule 1-deficient CD8+ T cells display immunological synapse defects that impair antitumor immunity. *J Immunol* (2014) **192**(2):553–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302197
- 123. Takahashi Y, Iwai M, Kawai T, Arakawa A, Ito T, Sakurai-Yageta M, et al. Aberrant expression of tumor suppressors CADM1 and 4.1B in invasive lesions of primary breast cancer. *Breast Cancer* (2012) 19(3):242–52. doi:10.1007/ s12282-011-0272-7
- 124. Witherden DA, Verdino P, Rieder SE, Garijo O, Mills RE, Teyton L, et al. The junctional adhesion molecule JAML is a costimulatory receptor for epithelial gamma delta T cell activation. *Science* (2010) **329**(5996):1205–10. doi:10.1126/science.1192698
- Verdino P, Witherden DA, Havran WL, Wilson IA. The molecular interaction of CAR and JAML recruits the central cell signal transducer PI3K. *Science* (2010) 329(5996):1210–4. doi:10.1126/science.1187996
- 126. Witherden DA, Watanabe M, Garijo O, Rieder SE, Sarkisyan G, Cronin SJF, et al. The CD100 receptor interacts with its plexin B2 ligand to regulate epidermal γδ T cell function. *Immunity* (2012) **37**(2):314–25. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2012.05.026
- 127. Meehan TF, Witherden DA, Kim C-H, Sendaydiego K, Ye I, Garijo O, et al. Protection against colitis by CD100-dependent modulation of intraepithelial γδ T lymphocyte function. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 7(1):134–42. doi:10.1038/mi. 2013.32
- 128. Shi W, Kumanogoh A, Watanabe C, Uchida J, Wang X, Yasui T, et al. The class IV semaphorin CD100 plays nonredundant roles in the immune system:

defective B and T cell activation in CD100-deficient mice. Immunity (2000) $13(5){:}633{-}42.$ doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00063-7

- 129. Park O, Jeong W-I, Wang L, Wang H, Lian Z-X, Gershwin ME, et al. Diverse roles of invariant natural killer T cells in liver injury and fibrosis induced by carbon tetrachloride. *Hepatology* (2009) 49(5):1683–94. doi:10.1002/hep.22813
- Sagiv A, Biran A, Yon M, Simon J, Lowe SW, Krizhanovsky V. Granule exocytosis mediates immune surveillance of senescent cells. *Oncogene* (2013) 32(15):1971–7. doi:10.1038/onc.2012.206
- 131. Devey L, Ferenbach D, Mohr E, Sangster K, Bellamy CO, Hughes J, et al. Tissueresident macrophages protect the liver from ischemia reperfusion injury via a heme oxygenase-1-dependent mechanism. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17(1):65–72. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.237
- 132. Girardi M, Lewis J, Glusac E, Filler RB, Geng L, Hayday AC, et al. Resident skin-specific gamma delta T cells provide local, non-redundant regulation of cutaneous inflammation. J Exp Med (2002) 195(7):855–67. doi:10.1084/jem. 20012000
- 133. Girardi M, Lewis JM, Filler RB, Hayday AC, Tigelaar RE. Environmentally responsive and reversible regulation of epidermal barrier function by γδ T cells. J Invest Dermatol (2006) 126(4):808–14. doi:10.1038/sj.jid.5700120
- 134. Sharp LL, Jameson JM, Cauvi G, Havran WL. Dendritic epidermal T cells regulate skin homeostasis through local production of insulin-like growth factor 1. Nat Immunol (2005) 6(1):73–9. doi:10.1038/ni1152
- 135. Jameson J, Havran WL. Skin gammadelta T-cell functions in homeostasis and wound healing. *Immunol Rev* (2007) 215:114–22. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X. 2006.00483.x
- 136. Jameson J, Ugarte K, Chen N, Yachi P, Fuchs E, Boismenu R, et al. A role for skin gamma delta T cells in wound repair. *Science* (2002) **296**(5568):747–9. doi:10.1126/science.1069639
- 137. Chen Y, Chou K, Fuchs E, Havran WL, Boismenu R. Protection of the intestinal mucosa by intraepithelial gamma delta T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99(22):14338–43. doi:10.1073/pnas.212290499
- Senovilla L, Galluzzi L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunosurveillance as a regulator of tissue homeostasis. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34(10):471–81. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.06.005
- 139. Vesely MD, Kershaw MH, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. Natural innate and adaptive immunity to cancer. Annu Rev Immunol (2011) 29(1):235–71. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-031210-101324
- 140. Dunham LJ. Cancer in man at site of prior benign lesion of skin or mucous membrane: a review. *Cancer Res* (1972) 32(7):1359–74.
- 141. Walter ND, Rice PL, Redente EF, Kauvar EF, Lemond L, Aly T, et al. Wound healing after trauma may predispose to lung cancer metastasis: review of potential mechanisms. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2011) 44(5):591–6. doi:10.1165/rcmb. 2010-0187RT
- Ortiz-Urda S. Type VII collagen is required for ras-driven human epidermal tumorigenesis. *Science* (2005) 307(5716):1773–6. doi:10.1126/science.1106209
- 143. South AP, O'Toole EA. Understanding the pathogenesis of recessive dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa squamous cell carcinoma. *Dermatol Clin* (2010) 28(1):171–8. doi:10.1016/j.det.2009.10.023
- 144. Dvorak HF. Tumors: wounds that do not heal. Similarities between tumor stroma generation and wound healing. N Engl J Med (1986) 315(26):1650–9. doi:10.1056/NEJM198612253152606
- 145. Coussens LM, Zitvogel L, Palucka AK. Neutralizing tumor-promoting chronic inflammation: a magic bullet? *Science* (2013) **339**(6117):286–91. doi:10.1126/ science.1232227
- 146. Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? *Lancet* (2001) **357**(9255):539–45. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04046-0
- 147. Farhadi N, Lambert L, Triulzi C, Openshaw PJ, Guerra N. Natural killer cell NKG2D and granzyme B are critical for allergic pulmonary inflammation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2014) **133**(3):827–35. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.09.048
- 148. Oh M-H, Oh SY, Yu J, Myers AC, Leonard WJ, Liu YJ, et al. IL-13 induces skin fibrosis in atopic dermatitis by thymic stromal lymphopoietin. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(12):7232–42. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100504
- 149. Wilson SR, Thé L, Batia LM, Beattie K, Katibah GE, McClain SP, et al. The epithelial cell-derived atopic dermatitis cytokine TSLP activates neurons to induce itch. *Cell* (2013) 155(2):285–95. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.08.057
- 150. Metz M, Piliponsky AM, Chen CC, Lammel V, Abrink M, Pejler G, et al. Mast cells can enhance resistance to snake and honeybee venoms. *Science* (2006) 313(5786):526–30. doi:10.1126/science.1128877

- 151. Schneider LA, Schlenner SM, Feyerabend TB, Wunderlin M, Rodewald H-R. Molecular mechanism of mast cell mediated innate defense against endothelin and snake venom sarafotoxin. J Exp Med (2007) 204(11):2629–39. doi:10.1084/ jem.20071262
- 152. Matsuda H, Watanabe N, Kiso Y, Hirota S, Ushio H, Kannan Y, et al. Necessity of IgE antibodies and mast cells for manifestation of resistance against larval *Haemaphysalis longicornis* ticks in mice. *J Immunol* (1990) 144(1): 259–62.
- 153. Pearce EJ, Cheever A, Leonard S, Covalesky M, Fernandez-Botran R, Kohler G, et al. Schistosoma mansoni in IL-4-deficient mice. Int Immunol (1996) 8(4):435–44. doi:10.1093/intimm/8.4.435
- 154. Gause WC, Wynn TA, Allen JE. Type 2 immunity and wound healing: evolutionary refinement of adaptive immunity by helminths. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(8):607–14. doi:10.1038/nri3476
- 155. Monticelli LA, Sonnenberg GF, Abt MC, Alenghat T, Ziegler CGK, Doering TA, et al. Innate lymphoid cells promote lung-tissue homeostasis after infection with influenza virus. *Nat Immunol* (2011) **12**(11):1045–54. doi:10.1031/ ni.2131
- 156. Rosenberg HF, Dyer KD, Foster PS. Eosinophils: changing perspectives in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13(1):9–22. doi:10.1038/nri3341
- 157. Okumura S, Sagara H, Fukuda T, Saito H, Okayama Y. Fc€RI-mediated amphiregulin production by human mast cells increases mucin gene expression in epithelial cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2005) 115(2):272–9. doi:10. 1016/j.jaci.2004.12.835
- 158. Arwert EN, Hoste E, Watt FM. Epithelial stem cells, wound healing and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(3):170–80. doi:10.1038/nrc3217
- 159. Conticello C, Pedini F, Zeuner A, Patti M, Zerilli M, Stassi G, et al. IL-4 protects tumor cells from anti-CD95 and chemotherapeutic agents via up-regulation of antiapoptotic proteins. *J Immunol* (2004) **172**(9):5467–77. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.9.5467
- 160. Golumbek PT, Lazenby AJ, Levitsky HI, Jaffee LM, Karasuyama H, Baker M, et al. Treatment of established renal cancer by tumor cells engineered to secrete interleukin-4. *Science* (1991) **254**(5032):713–6. doi:10.1126/science. 1948050
- 161. Hock H, Dorsch M, Kunzendorf U, Qin Z, Diamantstein T, Blankenstein T. Mechanisms of rejection induced by tumor cell-targeted gene transfer of interleukin 2, interleukin 4, interleukin 7, tumor necrosis factor, or interferon gamma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1993) **90**(7):2774–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.7.2774
- 162. Pericle F, Giovarelli M, Colombo MP, Ferrari G, Musiani P, Modesti A, et al. An efficient Th2-type memory follows CD8+ lymphocyte-driven and eosinophilmediated rejection of a spontaneous mouse mammary adenocarcinoma engineered to release IL-4. *J Immunol* (1994) **153**(12):5659–73.
- 163. Rodolfo M, Zilocchi C, Accornero P, Cappetti B, Arioli I, Colombo MP. IL-4transduced tumor cell vaccine induces immunoregulatory type 2 CD8 T lymphocytes that cure lung metastases upon adoptive transfer. *J Immunol* (1999) 163(4):1923–8.
- 164. Ellyard JI, Simson L, Parish CR. Th2-mediated anti-tumour immunity: friend or foe? *Tissue Antigens* (2007) **70**(1):1–11. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0039.2007. 00869.x
- 165. Chen S-F, Nieh S, Jao S-W, Wu M-Z, Liu C-L, Chang Y-C, et al. The paracrine effect of cancer-associated fibroblast-induced interleukin-33 regulates the invasiveness of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *J Pathol* (2013) 231(2):180–9. doi:10.1002/path.4226
- 166. Pedroza-Gonzalez A, Xu K, Wu T-C, Aspord C, Tindle S, Marches F, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin fosters human breast tumor growth by promoting type 2 inflammation. J Exp Med (2011) 208(3):479–90. doi:10.1084/ jem.20102131
- 167. Hallett MA, Venmar KT, Fingleton B. Cytokine stimulation of epithelial cancer cells: the similar and divergent functions of IL-4 and IL-13. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(24):6338–43. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3544
- Renard N, Duvert V, Banchereau J, Saeland S. Interleukin-13 inhibits the proliferation of normal and leukemic human B-cell precursors. *Blood* (1994) 84(7):2253–60.
- 169. Blais Y, Gingras S, Haagensen DE, Labrie F, Simard J. Interleukin-4 and interleukin-13 inhibit estrogen-induced breast cancer cell proliferation and stimulate GCDFP-15 expression in human breast cancer cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (1996) 121(1):11–8. doi:10.1016/0303-7207(96)03843-9

- 170. Obiri NI, Husain SR, Debinski W, Puri RK. Interleukin 13 inhibits growth of human renal cell carcinoma cells independently of the p140 interleukin 4 receptor chain. *Clin Cancer Res* (1996) 2(10):1743–9.
- 171. Fujisawa T, Joshi BH, Puri RK. IL-13 regulates cancer invasion and metastasis through IL-13Rα2 via ERK/AP-1 pathway in mouse model of human ovarian cancer. Int J Cancer (2012) 131(2):344–56. doi:10.1002/ijc.26366
- 172. Simson L, Ellyard JI, Dent LA, Matthaei KI, Rothenberg ME, Foster PS, et al. Regulation of carcinogenesis by IL-5 and CCL11: a potential role for eosinophils in tumor immune surveillance. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**(7):4222–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4222
- 173. Dalton DK, Noelle RJ. The roles of mast cells in anticancer immunity. Cancer Immunol Immunother (2012) 61(9):1511–20. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1246-0
- 174. Vernersson M, Aveskogh M, Hellman L. Cloning of IgE from the echidna (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*) and a comparative analysis of epsilon chains from all three extant mammalian lineages. *Dev Comp Immunol* (2004) **28**(1):61–75. doi:10.1016/S0145-305X(03)00084-3
- 175. Jensen-Jarolim E, Achatz G, Turner MC, Karagiannis S, Legrand F, Capron M, et al. AllergoOncology: the role of IgE-mediated allergy in cancer. *Allergy* (2008) **63**(10):1255–66. doi:10.1111/j.1398-9995.2008.01768.x
- 176. Reali E, Greiner JW, Corti A, Gould HJ, Bottazzoli F, Paganelli G, et al. IgEs targeted on tumor cells: therapeutic activity and potential in the design of tumor vaccines. *Cancer Res* (2001) **61**(14):5517–22.
- 177. Karagiannis P, Gilbert AE, Josephs DH, Ali N, Dodev T, Saul L, et al. IgG4 subclass antibodies impair antitumor immunity in melanoma. *J Clin Invest* (2013) 123(4):1457–74. doi:10.1172/JCI65579
- 178. Olver S, Groves P, Buttigieg K, Morris ES, Janas ML, Kelso A, et al. Tumorderived interleukin-4 reduces tumor clearance and deviates the cytokine and granzyme profile of tumor-induced CD8+ T cells. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(1):571–80. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1362
- 179. Lebel-Binay S, Laguerre B, Quintin-Colonna F, Conjeaud H, Magazin M, Miloux B, et al. Experimental gene therapy of cancer using tumor cells engineered to secrete interleukin-13. *Eur J Immunol* (1995) 25(8):2340–8. doi:10.1002/eji.1830250833
- 180. Skinnider BF, Elia AJ, Gascoyne RD, Patterson B, Trumper L, Kapp U, et al. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 6 is frequently activated in Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg cells of Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2002) 99(2):618–26. doi:10.1182/blood.V99.2.618
- 181. Jovanovic I, Radosavljevic G, Mitrovic M, Juranic VL, McKenzie ANJ, Arsenijevic N, et al. ST2 deletion enhances innate and acquired immunity to murine mammary carcinoma. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) **41**(7):1902–12. doi:10.1002/eji. 201141417
- 182. Jovanovic IP, Pejnovic NN, Radosavljevic GD, Pantic JM, Milovanovic MZ, Arsenijevic NN, et al. Interleukin-33/ST2 axis promotes breast cancer growth and metastases by facilitating intratumoral accumulation of immunosuppressive and innate lymphoid cells. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 134(7):1669–82. doi:10.1002/ijc.28481

- 183. Villarreal D, Wise MC, Walters JN, Reuschel E, Choi MJ, Obeng-Adjei N, et al. Alarmin IL-33 acts as an immunoadjuvant to enhance antigen-specific tumor immunity. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74(6):1–12. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2729
- 184. Nigro EA, Brini AT, Soprana E, Ambrosi A, Dombrowicz D, Siccardi AG, et al. Antitumor IgE adjuvanticity: key role of Fc RI. J Immunol (2009) 183(7):4530–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900842
- 185. McWhorter WP. Allergy and risk of cancer. A prospective study using NHANESI follow up data. *Cancer* (1988) 62(2):451–5. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(19880715)62:2<451::AID-CNCR2820620234>3.0.CO;2-D
- 186. Josephs DH, Spicer JF, Corrigan CJ, Gould HJ, Karagiannis SN. Epidemiological associations of allergy, IgE and cancer. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2013) 43(10):1110–23. doi:10.1111/cea.12178
- 187. Sherman PW, Holland E, Sherman JS. Allergies: their role in cancer prevention. Q Rev Biol (2008) 83(4):339–62. doi:10.1086/592850
- Rittmeyer D, Lorentz A. Relationship between allergy and cancer: an overview. Int Arch Allergy Immunol (2012) 159(3):216–25. doi:10.1159/000338994
- 189. Engkilde K, Thyssen JP, Menné T, Johansen JD. Association between cancer and contact allergy: a linkage study. BMJ Open (2011) 1(1):e000084. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2011-000084
- 190. Van Hemelrijck M, Garmo H, Binda E, Hayday A, Karagiannis SN, Hammar N, et al. Immunoglobulin E and cancer: a meta-analysis and a large Swedish cohort study. *Cancer Causes Control* (2010) 21(10):1657–67. doi:10.1007/s10552-010-9594-6
- 191. Lindelof B, Granath F, Tengvall-Linder M, Ekbom A. Allergy and cancer. Allergy (2005) 60(9):1116–20. doi:10.1111/j.1398-9995.2005.00808.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The Guest Associate Editor Fang-Ping Huang declares that, despite being affiliated to the same institution as authors Tim Dalessandri and Jessica Strid, the review process was handled objectively and no conflict of interest exists. The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 10 March 2014; accepted: 08 July 2014; published online: 22 July 2014. Citation: Dalessandri T and Strid J (2014) Beneficial autoimmunity at body surfaces – immune surveillance and rapid type 2 immunity regulate tissue homeostasis and cancer. Front. Immunol. 5:347. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00347

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Dalessandri and Strid. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Opportunistic autoimmune disorders potentiated by immune-checkpoint inhibitors anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1

Yi-chi M. Kong¹* and Jeffrey C. Flynn²

¹ Department of Immunology and Microbiology, Wayne State University School of Medicine, Detroit, MI, USA

² Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Providence Hospital and Medical Centers, Southfield, MI, USA

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Christopher E. Rudd, University of Cambridge, UK José Mordoh, Fundación Instituto Leloir, Argentina Julian Pardo, Fundación Agencia Aragonesa para la Investigación y el Desarrollo, Spain

*Correspondence:

Yi-chi M. Kong, Department of Immunology and Microbiology, Wayne State University School of Medicine, 540 E. Canfield Avenue, Detroit, MI 48201, USA e-mail: ykong@med.wayne.edu To improve the efficacy of immunotherapy for cancer and autoimmune diseases, recent ongoing and completed clinical trials have focused on specific targets to redirect the immune network toward eradicating a variety of tumors and ameliorating the self-destructive process. In a previous review, both systemic immunomodulators and monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), anti-CTLA-4, and anti-CD52, were discussed regarding therapeutics and autoimmune sequelae, as well as predisposing factors known to exacerbate immune-related adverse events (irAEs). This review will focus on immune-checkpoint inhibitors, and the data from most clinical trials involve blockade with anti-CTLA-4 such as ipilimumab. However, despite the mild to severe irAEs observed with ipilimumab in ~60% of patients, overall survival (OS) averaged ~22–25% at 3–5 years. To boost OS, other mAbs targeting programed death-1 and its ligand are undergoing clinical trials as monotherapy or dual therapy with anti-CTLA-4. Therapeutic combinations may generate different spectrum of opportunistic autoimmune disorders. To simulate clinical scenarios, we have applied regulatory T cell perturbation to murine models combined to examine the balance between thyroid autoimmunity and tumor-specific immunity.

Keywords: anti-CTLA-4, anti-PD-1, autoimmune disease, tumor immunity, immune-checkpoint inhibitor

INTRODUCTION

In recent decades, cancer therapy has focused on amplifying the immune system to bolster the host's anti-tumor response. Utilizing systemic immunomodulators, monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), and stem cell transplantation, progress has been rapid in prolonging survival. However, targeted immunotherapy has come with a price; altered immunoregulation provoking immune dysfunction has opened the door to opportunistic autoimmune disorders. Previously, both systemic immunomodulators and mAbs, anti-CTLA-4 and anti-CD52, were discussed in terms of therapeutic usage, autoimmune sequelae, and important predisposing factors, e.g., HLA class II genes and gender predilection, known to influence immune-related adverse events (irAEs) (1). Similar and additional immunotherapeutic modalities associated with autoimmunity, particularly thyroid dysfunction, were likewise highlighted by others (2, 3). In addition to CTLA-4, a number of immune-checkpoints are also being targeted in cancer immunotherapy. Thus far, the most information has come from longer and larger clinical trials with anti-CTLA-4 (ipilimumab and tremelimumab), accompanied by mild to severe irAEs (4-6). In early trials, it was hoped that irAEs could serve as a predictor of improving anti-CTLA-4 immunotherapy (7, 8). However, analysis of 139 metastatic melanoma patients given ipilimumab revealed that the frequency of irAEs after a 2-4 year follow-up was 81% with a total response rate of 17% (23 of 139) (7); of the 86 patients with irAEs, 74% (64 of 86) showed no objective improvement (1).

Thus, targeting CTLA-4, a T cell regulatory molecule, impacts on its two primary functions in the immune network: (1) Its

upregulation during a T cell-mediated response serves as a negative regulator by engaging the B7 family costimulatory molecules on antigen-presenting cells with higher avidity than CD28 (9); and (2) Its constitutive expression on regulatory T cells (Tregs) is critical to the Foxp3 function in suppressing autoreactive T cell activation (10, 11). ctla4^{-/-} mice develop severe multiorgan autoimmunity, indicative of deficiency in both these functions (12, 13). When humanized CTLA-4 mAbs were first used to treat advanced melanoma a decade ago, the major goal was to interfere with the negative signaling of an ongoing anti-tumor response discernible in many patients (4, 6). However, since a key role of CTLA-4 is to enable Treg suppression of autoreactive T cell activation at the costimulatory level of DC (10, 11), it was no surprise that opportunistic autoimmune disorders surfaced as prominent irAEs from CTLA-4 blockade. The variety stems from the everpresent autoantigens and autoreactive T cells unleashed from self tolerance regulation (1). For example, in our tolerance induction study in murine experimental autoimmune thyroiditis (EAT), a model for the prevalent Hashimoto's thyroiditis (14), co-injection of anti-CTLA-4 with the autoantigen, thyroglobulin (Tg), interfered with activation of naturally existing CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ Tregs (nTregs); the mice developed thyroiditis, mimicking a major clinical autoimmune sequela (15).

Using revised assessment criteria including overall survival (OS) in phase II/III trials to take into account the longer survival kinetics for ipilimumab (16), recent compilation of ipilimumab phase I/II trial results showed a range of 12–36% OS at 3–5 years, with variables including the dose, patient number, prior, or adjunct treatment (4). Pooling phase II/III trials

showed irAEs approximating 60% with less severe grade 3-4 in the phase III trials, likely due to earlier recognition and management of autoimmune sequelae (4, 17). While the percentages of irAEs varied, most included skin rashes, colitis, thyroid dysfunction, hypophysitis, hepatitis, and pancreatitis (4, 17), as also reported in western Europe (5). Treatment-related deaths continued to occur and severe morbidity required stringent life-long treatment and hormonal supplementation (4, 5). The second mAb, tremelimumab, likewise underwent phase I/II trials [see Ref. (1)] and phase III trials with similar irAEs but less durable OS than with ipilimumab; in fact, survival was not much longer than after standard chemotherapy with temozolomide or dacarbazine (6). To boost OS, mAbs that blockade the function of another immune-checkpoint, programed death-1 (PD-1), or its ligand (PD-L1), have been undergoing clinical trials as monotherapy or dual therapy with anti-CTLA-4.

MODELS TO PROBE THE BALANCE BETWEEN AUTOIMMUNITY AND TUMOR IMMUNITY UPON Treg PERTURBATION

The high percentages of irAEs from anti-CTLA-4 therapy clearly show that maintenance of Treg function and self tolerance constitutes a premier CTLA-4 function. Autoimmune thyroid disease, including Hashimoto's thyroiditis and Graves' disease, represents the most prevalent autoimmune condition (18), and CTLA-4 blockade has joined other systemic immunomodulators [e.g., interferon- α , - β , interleukin (IL)-2] and leukocyte-target agents (e.g., anti-CD52) in triggering thyroid dysfunction (1, 3, 19, 20). As EAT has long served as a model to study Treg function in self tolerance to mouse Tg (14, 21, 22), we developed in recent years four murine models combining EAT and breast cancer vaccine protocols under Treg perturbation and MHC class II gene influence, using autoimmune thyroiditis as a sequela indicator (23).

The first three utilized well-established tumor models in wild type mice or mice transgenic for Her-2/neu breast cancer antigen, which harbor class II-linked, EAT-resistant haplotype ($H2^d$ or $H2^{b}$). In the first model, we induced EAT concurrently with anti-tumor immunity in wild type mice at the time of Treg depletion with mAb to CD25 (24). Treg depletion enhanced tumor regression and thyroiditis. Immune responses to neu and mouse Tg were greater than control groups given tumor or Tg alone, indicating that ongoing tumor regression and autoimmune response provided additional mutual stimuli. In the second model, we used rat neu-transgenic mice, which required both Treg depletion and neu DNA vaccination to develop resistance to tumor challenge and spontaneous tumorigenesis (25). Mutual stimulation during responses to neu and mouse Tg was again observed. In tumorregressing mice, there were significant increases in interferony-producing T cells and greater thyroid destruction even in the EAT-resistant strain. Lastly, in the third model, we introduced the HLA-DR3 transgene, an EAT-susceptible allele (26), and an Her-2 transgene into EAT-resistant H2A^b mice to determine if anti-tumor response was independent of EAT susceptibility. $(A^b$ -Her-2xDR3)F1 mice expressed both A^b and DR3 and were tolerant to both Tg and Her-2 (27). After Treg depletion followed by Her-2 DNA and mouse Tg injections, tumor rejection was similar in

Her-2 transgenic mice expressing either A^b or $A^b/DR3$, but thyroiditis was augmented only in $(A^b/DR3)F_1$ mice, showing that Her-2 immunity, unlike autoimmunity, was independent of DR3 expression.

In the fourth combined model, we used an EAT-susceptible CBA/J ($H2^k$) haplotype with demonstrated antigen-specific nTregmediated tolerance. Depleting pre-existing nTregs markedly enhanced thyroiditis development with soluble mouse Tg even without adjuvant (15). Control mice with nTregs, which had been activated/expanded after exposure to mouse Tg by either injection or physiologic release (via thyroid-stimulating hormone infusion in an osmotic pump), withstood EAT induction with mouse Tg plus adjuvant (22, 28). In contrast, nTreg-depleted mice were incapable of establishing this strong and long-lasting tolerance (14, 15, 22). For the cancer portion, CBA/J tumor was derived from a spontaneous mammary adenocarcinoma line, and resistance to lethal challenge was instilled by prior Treg depletion and vaccination with irradiated tumor cells (23). To simulate patients with MHC class II-associated predisposition to autoimmunity and subjected to immune targeting, mouse Tg was also given. Treg depletion not only augmented tumor immunity but also thyroidal infiltration (29). Furthermore, to simulate the scenario in some cancer patients with pre-existing autoimmunity and given immunotherapy, mice were pretreated with mouse Tg + low doses of IL-1 to establish a subclinical, mild thyroiditis condition. Treg depletion, tumor vaccination, and mouse Tg injections then followed. While anti-tumor immunity remained unchanged, thyroiditis was exacerbated (29). Thus, this recent model takes into account genetically predisposed patients who have no underlying thyroid dysfunction or have pre-existing, undiagnosed disease.

TARGETING CTLA-4 LED TO UNUSUAL SPECTRUM OF AUTOIMMUNE SEQUELAE

In murine EAT, tolerance induction with the known autoantigen, mouse Tg, and its blockade of nTreg activation by anti-CTLA-4 to allow thyroiditis development can be followed with timed co-administration (15). However, in cancer patients, there are multiple self antigens for which the maintenance mechanisms of self tolerance can be disrupted with anti-CTLA-4 therapy at varying doses and intervals, resulting in unpredictable manifestations of 20-60% of irAEs with grade 1-4 severity. In addition to advanced melanoma, both ipilimumab and tremelimumab have been used to treat other solid tumors and hematologic cancers and the frequent irAEs have included dermatitis, enterocolitis, hepatitis, thyroid dysfunction, and hypophysitis with widespread endocrinopathies, irrespective of cancer types (3-6, 19, 20). Although these autoimmune diseases are primarily organspecific, T cell-mediated, and with mononuclear cell infiltration of the specific organ, plasma cells may be seen with time. Moreover, when several organs are involved with attendant proinflammatory cytokines, irAEs may become exacerbated and more widespread. Thus, different irAEs often occur throughout the treatment period and beyond.

There is agreement that the extent of severe irAEs is dosedependent, but OS improvement generally does not correspond linearly with dosage (5), nor correlates with severity of irAEs (1, 19). Torino et al. (19) undertook an in-depth analysis of endocrine dysfunction for 21 phase I–III trials with ipilimumab treatment of melanoma and several other solid tumors. The primary emphasis was on hypophysitis of grades 3–4, but the involvement of other endocrine dysfunctions (hypothyroidism, adrenal insufficiency) and other common irAEs (e.g., diarrhea, colitis/enterocolitis, dermatitis, hepatitis, and arthritis) was also included. A more recent report by some of the same authors, Corsello et al. (20), extended the analysis to 28 trials, subcategorizing classifiable endocrine disorders and other common irAEs, which may or may not be autoimmune in origin. As mentioned above, since irAEs generally involved up to 60% of patients, at 2– $3 \times$ the OS, a direct correlation of OS with irAE would be difficult at this time (4).

As discussed earlier (1), while the increase in thyroid dysfunction could have been anticipated, given the high prevalence in the general population, the most unusual and distinct association with anti-CTLA-4 therapy is autoimmune hypophysitis, with an incidence of 3-9% in early trials far exceeding its rare occurrence (~1 in 0.5 million) (19, 30). Another early melanoma trial with ipilimumab reported 17% (8 of 46) (31). The analyses of clinical trials with ipilimumab and tremelimumab gave an average of ~4% hypophysitis, closely rivaling hypothyroidism (19, 20). While hypothyroidism is $5-6 \times$ more prevalent in females in Caucasians (18), thus far hypophysitis from anti-CTLA-4 therapy has occurred mostly in males, in part influenced by the ratio of female:male of ~1:2 in melanoma patients. Other genetic (HLA, CTLA-4 gene polymorphism, mutations) and environmental factors may also take part (1, 4, 32). The high incidence of hypophysitis, its need for early corticosteroid intervention and life-long hormonal replacement prompted the advocacy of early recognition and management, together with thyroid function tests (17, 19, 20). Searches for specific pituitary antigens for early antibody detection to replace immunofluorescence on pituitary sections are ongoing (33-35).

Although autoimmune sequelae (e.g., hypophysitis, thyroid dysfunction, and hormonal imbalance) are gaining recognition, the high incidences of colitis and dermatitis have not been investigated as to culprit antigens, which could be self, commensally microbial, or tumor-associated. A recent survey of anti-CTLA-4 therapy in 752 melanoma patients at 19 skin centers in western Europe excluded colitis and dermatitis from the usually observed 60% irAEs (4, 5), and concentrated on raising awareness to rare yet severe toxicities, some of which may be related to prior chemo- or radio-therapy. A total of 88 irAEs from 82 of 752 (11%) patients were tabulated, 12 with hypophysitis (5). With melanoma patients, the side effects of vitiligo and uveitis were often noted because of shared melanocyte antigens, often aggravated by vaccination (1, 5). The 15 rarer cases included gastric problems, ischemia and bowel perforations, fatal hepatitis, hypophysitis with brain edema, and inflammation of the central nervous system. There were also respiratory and cardiac problems. Thus, the untoward autoimmune disorders are opportunistic and unpredictable, as well as far-reaching.

SPECIFIC ANTIGENS TO BOOST TUMOR IMMUNITY AND MONITOR Treg ACTIVITY

As seen above, the weakly immunogenic, tumor-associated antigens, which can be overexpressed self, altered self, or neoantigens, are further interwoven with unexpected pathogenic autoantigens during CTLA-4 blockade. Examination of tumor infiltrates after tremelimumab therapy revealed an increase in activated CD8⁺ T cells in many melanoma patients; while not Tregs, this non-specific increase was observed in a greater proportion of patients than patients deriving any clinical benefit and showed no correlation with either tumor progression or regression (36). In phase II trials of melanoma patients with ipilimumab, a peripheral increase in the %CD4⁺ and %CD8⁺ activated T cells, but not those with a Treg phenotype, was noted (37). Of interest was the greater serologic reactivity to several melanoma antigens and a cancer-testis antigen NY-ESO-1. Because NY-ESO-1 is expressed in a number of solid tumors and 30-40% of advanced melanoma patients, it has been examined as a specific biomarker for increased T and B cell reactivity after CTLA-4 blockade, and if such reactivities could be associated with positive clinical outcome (37-40). While an increase in anti-NY-ESO-1 has often been detected, its association with positive benefit is still controversial (38-40). However, it appeared that clinical benefit could be associated with NY-ESO-1 reactivity if both antibody and CD8⁺ T cells were considered in concert (10 of 13 or 77%) (39). More such studies will be needed to determine if specific reactivity to NY-ESO-1 as well as other melanoma peptides has a predictive value. Meanwhile, to increase the efficacy of CTLA-4 blockade and detect changes in tumor-specific effector T cells, therapeutic vaccines are being incorporated. In a large phase III trial (41), a gp100 peptide vaccine was given with ipilimumab (403 patients), compared to ipilimumab (137) or gp100 (136) alone. However, there was no significant increase in OS provided by including gp100 vaccination, compared to ipilimumab alone.

Detecting antigen-specific effector T cells is complicated by the presence of Tregs. In the tumor microenvironment, induced Tregs (iTregs) represent a major component of suppressor cell subsets and, as opposed to nTregs, usually arise or are converted from naive T cells in response to antigenic stimulus plus local TGF- β and IL-10 production (42). Intratumoral iTregs often exist in greater percentages than in the periphery. Although in murine melanoma studies Fc-dependent ADCC-like depletion of Tregs was demonstrable upon anti-CTLA treatment (43), the frequent detection of intratumoral iTregs in the human suggests that this kind of depletion might be an adjunct to improved clinical benefit. But the challenge remains to identify whether the effect was on tumor-specific iTregs, so as to monitor and inhibit their suppressor role (44). Following therapeutic vaccination, multiple peptides have been used to monitor iTreg activity. In one phase II trial in renal cell cancer patients, cyclophosphamide, known to deplete Tregs (22), was given before the IMA901 vaccine, consisting of multiple tumor-associated peptides used to demonstrate heightened T cell responses (45). In another study, synthetic peptides were used to compare the repertoire of tumor-specific iTregs and effector T cells in colorectal carcinoma patients (46). While differences were noted between the two populations, the suppressor activity was shown to stem from iTregs that shared the same repertoire as effector T cells. Additional studies have made use of class II tetramers to monitor antigen specificity. After vaccination of melanoma patients with HLA-A2-restricted Melan-A peptide, monitoring with HLA-DQ6-restricted Melan-A peptide multimers revealed a downshift in specific Tregs with increased effector T cell responses (47). In breast cancer patients, tetramers from HLA-DR4-, DR7-restricted mammaglobin peptides were used to detect iTregs in the periphery (48). After their depletion *in vitro*, effector T cell responses to several mammaglobin peptides increased. Thus, antigenic specificity, if known, could aid assessment of immunotherapeutic efficacy.

PD-1 AND PD-L1 BLOCKADE TO AUGMENT TUMOR IMMUNITY

Recent reviews have discussed in depth the phenomenon of T cell exhaustion, where activated T cells highly expressing PD-1, as exemplified by virus-specific CD8⁺ cells, exhibited exhaustion phenotypes and failed to combat chronic infections (49–51). In the tumor microenvironment, PD-1 expression was found on impaired infiltrating lymphocytes (52) and Tregs (53). Its major ligand, PD-L1, has been found on multiple epithelial carcinomas, compared to PD-L2 on lymphoid tumors associated with its expression pattern (49-51). There is no clear consensus on whether PD-L1 expression by tumors is associated with greater objective response from PD-1 blockade; more specific staining reagents have led to reports of positive association (54, 55). PD-1 is also expressed on activated B, NK, and NKT cells and is involved in down-regulating autoimmunity. PD-1-deficient C57BL/6 mice exhibited lupus-like arthritis and glomerulonephritis (56), and PD-1-deficient BALB/c mice developed cardiomyopathy from an autoantibody to cardiac troponin 1 (57). Thus, these autoimmune syndromes have a strong pathogenic autoantibody component. While preclinical tumor models have shown clinical benefit with PD-1 blockade, it is uncertain if only activated CD8⁺ cells participated in the OS (50).

Two phase I, ongoing dose-escalation trials have been reported with two IgG4 mAbs to PD-1. Lambrolizumab (MK-3475), which has recently been designated by the FDA as a "breakthrough therapy" drug to treat advanced melanoma (58), was used to treat 135 melanoma patients, who were evaluated for up to 70 weeks (59). The confirmed response rate was 38% (44 of 117), irrespective of prior ipilimumab treatment, and appeared dose-dependent. Biopsies of regressing lesions revealed densely infiltrated CD8⁺ T cells. irAEs were 79% (107 of 135); 17 of the 107 had grade 3-4. Beside skin and gastrointestinal problems, hypothyroidism was 8%. The second phase I trial with nivolumab (BMS-936558) included 296 patients with melanoma, non-small cell lung cancer, prostate cancer, renal cell, or colorectal cancer. The first report in 2012 was after ~ 1 year and the objective response averaged $\sim 20-25\%$ (55). Grade 3-4 irAEs were observed in 14% (41 of 296), of which 11% were considered serious; 15 patients discontinued the study and 3 deaths (1%) were attributed to pneumonitis. The spectrum of irAEs was mostly similar to lambrolizumab therapy (59). But with twice the number of patients, the variety of irAEs resembled

those seen with ipilimumab, albeit at lower overall percentages. The spectrum was dose-dependent and included rash, pruritus, and diarrhea (all at ~27%), with hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism at 3-7% (55). An exception to the ipilimumab treatment was the prominent pulmonary toxicities seen in 2-4% of patients (55, 59). In addition to fatalities (55), the 2-4% in phase I trials were of grade 3-4 (55, 59). A recent report about ongoing phase II/III trials also listed pneumonitis as a notable side effect (60). Whether it is autoimmune in origin is undetermined. An updated analysis on 107 melanoma patients treated with nivolumab showed 40% OS at 3 years (61).

Another multicenter phase I trial enrolled 207 patients without prior experience with CTLA-4, PD-1, or PD-L1 mAb, who were given anti-PD-L1 (IgG4, BMS-936559) for a number of solid tumors for up to 2 years (62). The durable response rate was 6–17%. Treatment-related adverse events were noted in 61% (126 of 207), and 39% (81 of 207) were considered irAEs; these patients have a somewhat different spectrum and a lower percentage of irAEs compared to patients in the anti-PD-1 trials. Because these investigators were also conducting the phase I trial with nivolumab (55), their initial clinical impression was that anti-PD-L1 blockade was inferior to anti-PD-1 in achieving objective responses (62).

Interestingly, pneumonitis was not a noted side effect in the anti-PD-L1 phase I trials (60, 62), but the 39% irAEs showed a distinct autoimmune-related trend: rash, hypothyroidism, hepatitis, plus isolated cases of diabetes mellitus, and myasthenia gravis, all mostly of grade 1-2 (62). PD-1 binds to both PD-L1 (broad tissue distribution) and PD-L2 (limited primarily to DCs) (63, 64). Since lung tissues express PD-L1 and contain activated alveolar macrophages, it is possible that anti-PD-1 blockade removes the inhibitory signals that control tissue proliferation and cytokine production more so in the lung, resulting in pneumonitis, whereas anti-PD-L1 blockade does not block the immune-checkpoint between PD-1 and PD-L2. Another possibility is that, since self tolerance is maintained by the continuing interaction between PD-1 and PD-L1 to prevent TCRdriven signaling (65), upon anti-PD-L1 blockade, autoreactive T cells could become activated resulting in the autoimmune syndromes reported.

COMBINING IMMUNE-CHECKPOINT INHIBITORS COULD POTENTIATE AUTOIMMUNE SEQUELAE

There are multiple national clinical trials planned or ongoing with ipilimumab plus chemo- or radio-therapeutic agents, cytokines (e.g., GM-CSF, IL-2, IL-21), and other systemic immunomodulators, most with the goal of stimulating the effector T cell arm with some targeting dendritic and B cells also [see Ref. (51)]. Because anti-CTLA inhibited Treg function and potentiated irAEs, the use of low dose cyclophosphamide could further target nTregs (22, 45) and increase autoimmune sequelae, similar to Treg-depleting anti-CD52 (1). In murine models of B16 melanoma tumors (66) and CT26 colon and ID8-VEGF ovarian carcinomas (67), dual blockade of CTLA-4 and PD-1 enhanced greater tumor rejection than each alone. It should be noted that, unlike in clinical trials, these tumors were manipulated to express GM-CSF, as was

Functions	Consequences	Examples of anti-CTLA-4 and/or anti-PD-1 blockade on	
		Tumor immunity	Autoimmunity
CTLA-4 upregulation on APCs/peptide-stimulated Tregs downmodulates B7-1/B7-2 on APCs	Suppresses priming of naive/autoreactive T cells and maintains peripheral tolerance		Morris et al. (15): EAT Read et al. (70): colitis Ansari et al. (72): type I diabetes
CTLA-4 binding to B7-1 and B7-2 causes reverse signaling through B7-1/B7-2	Activation of the tryptophan- catabolizing enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase inhibits T cell priming and proliferation	Holmgaard et al. (68): melanoma	Kwidzinski et al. (73): EAE
CTLA-4 signaling stimulates production of cytokines TGF- β and/or IL-10 by Tregs	Inhibits function of APCs and T cells		Liu et al. (75): colitis
CTLA-4 upregulation on activated T cells binds to B7-1/B7-2 at high affinity	Negative feedback signaling inhibits continued T cell proliferation	Leach et al. (69): colon carcinoma Hurwitz et al. (71): prostate cancer	Oaks and Hallett (76): AITD Hurwitz et al. (71): prostatitis Choi et al. (77): CIA Hurwitz et al. (78): EAE Torino et al. (19): clinical hypophysitis
	Fc-dependent depletion of iTregs	Simpson et al. (43) melanoma	
CTLA-4 signaling alters motility and inhibits T cell receptor-mediated "stop" signal	Reduces efficiency of effector T cell killing and APC interaction	Ruocco et al. (74): breast cancer	
PD-1 signaling enhances Treg function	Inhibits T cell priming and maintains self tolerance		Ansari et al. (72): type l diabetes
PD-1 signaling inhibits motility and T cell receptor-mediated "stop" signal	Inhibits autoreactive T cell activation and reduces effector T cell function	Holmgaard et al. (68): melanoma	Fife et al. (65): type I diabetes
PD-1 upregulation on activated T cells	Inhibits effector T cell function (anergy or exhaustion)	Holmgaard et al. (68): melanoma Ahmadzadeh et al. (52): melanoma patients Wang et al. (53): melanoma patients	Ansari et al. (72) type l diabetes
Dual blockade		Duraiswamy et al. (67): colon and ovarian cancers Curran et al. (66): melanoma	

Table 1 | Function of CTLA-4 and PD-1 in the immune network and the impact of immune-checkpoint inhibitors anti-CTLA-4 and/or anti-PD-1 on examples of tumor immunity and autoimmunity.

AITD, human autoimmune thyroid disease; APC, antigen-presenting cell; CIA, collagen-induced arthritis; EAE, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis; EAT, experimental autoimmune thyroiditis; iTreg, induced regulatory T cell; Treg, regulatory T cell.

whole cell vaccination included in some experiments. The presence of GM-CSF could influence the expression pattern reported for tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (67). **Table 1** lists the important functions of CTLA-4 and PD-1 molecules in maintaining homeostasis of the immune network, and provides examples of the impact of anti-CTLA-4 and/or anti-PD-1 blockade on tumor immunity and autoimmunity.

Since CTLA-4 blockade interferes with peripheral tolerance induction/maintenance and affects primarily the early stages of the immune response, and PD-1 blockade acts toward the late stages at the tissue sites (79) and each can augment OS, dual therapy could further enhance OS, provided that the irAEs are not unreasonably additive. In melanoma patients, a phase I trial combining ipilimumab and nivolumab has begun (80). The need to test different regimens resulted in small patient sizes of 33–53. While the spectrum of irAEs was essentially similar to monotherapy, OS was higher at 24 weeks, based on previous experience.

Longer follow-ups and additional trials will be necessary to assess various parameters affecting irAEs: HLA genotype, environmental and gender influences, and antigen specificities for both Tregs and effector T cells. As seen in our EAT-anti-tumor models, subclinical autoimmune conditions (29), and mutual stimulation arising from anti-tumor and autoimmune inflammation also contribute to the overall response enhancing tumor immunity and autoimmunity (24, 25). Importantly, there appears to be different pathogenic pathways to autoimmune manifestations, with PD-1-deficiency favoring a pathogenic autoantibody profile and CTLA-4 blockade favoring T cell-mediated organ damage.

REFERENCES

- Kong YM, Wei W-Z, Tomer Y. Opportunistic autoimmune disorders: from immunotherapy to immune dysregulation. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2010) 1183:222–36. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05138.x
- Amos SM, Duong CP, Westwood JA, Ritchie DS, Junghans RP, Darcy PK, et al. Autoimmunity associated with immunotherapy of cancer. *Blood* (2011) 118:499–509. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-325266
- Hamnvik OP, Larsen PR, Marqusee E. Thyroid dysfunction from antineoplastic agents. J Natl Cancer Inst (2011) 103:1572–87. doi:10.1093/jnci/djr373
- Wolchok JD, Hodi FS, Weber JS, Allison JP, Urba WJ, Robert C, et al. Development of ipilimumab: a novel immunotherapeutic approach for the treatment of advanced melanoma. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2013) 1291:1–13. doi:10.1111/nyas. 12180
- Voskens CJ, Goldinger SM, Loquai C, Robert C, Kaehler KC, Berking C, et al. The price of tumor control: an analysis of rare side effects of anti-CTLA-4 therapy in metastatic melanoma from the ipilimumab network. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e53745. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0053745
- Ribas A, Kefford R, Marshall MA, Punt CJ, Haanen JB, Marmol M, et al. Phase III randomized clinical trial comparing tremelimumab with standard-ofcare chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31:616–22. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.44.6112
- Downey SG, Klapper JA, Smith FO, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Royal RE, et al. Prognostic factors related to clinical response in patients with metastatic melanoma treated by CTL-associated antigen-4 blockade. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13:6681–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-07-0187
- Beck KE, Blansfield JA, Tran KQ, Feldman AL, Hughes MS, Royal RE, et al. Enterocolitis in patients with cancer after antibody blockade of cytotoxic Tlymphocyte-associated antigen 4. *J Clin Oncol* (2006) 24:2283–9. doi:10.1200/ jco.2005.04.5716
- Krummel MF, Allison JP. CD28 and CTLA-4 have opposing effects on the response of T cells to stimulation. J Exp Med (1995) 182:459–65. doi:10.1084/ jem.182.2.459
- Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P, Yamaguchi T, Miyara M, Fehervari Z, et al. CTLA-4 control over Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cell function. *Science* (2008) 322:271–5. doi:10.1126/science.1160062
- Sakaguchi S, Miyara M, Constantino CM, Hafler DA. FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in the human immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2010) 10:490–500. doi:10.1038/nri2785
- Waterhouse P, Penninger JM, Timms E, Wakeham A, Shahinian A, Lee KP, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in *Ctla-4*. *Science* (1995) **270**:985–8. doi:10.1126/science.270.5238.985
- Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. *Immunity* (1995) 3:541–7. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(95)90125-6
- Kong YM, Morris GP, Brown NK, Yan Y, Flynn JC, David CS. Autoimmune thyroiditis: a model uniquely suited to probe regulatory T cell function. J Autoimmun (2009) 33:239–46. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2009.09.004
- Morris GP, Brown NK, Kong YM. Naturally-existing CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells are required for tolerance to experimental autoimmune thyroiditis induced by either exogenous or endogenous autoantigen. *J Autoimmun* (2009) 33:68–76. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2009.03.010
- Hoos A, Eggermont AM, Janetzki S, Hodi FS, Ibrahim R, Anderson A, et al. Improved endpoints for cancer immunotherapy trials. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2010) 102:1388–97. doi:10.1093/jnci/djq310
- Weber JS, Kahler KC, Hauschild A. Management of immune-related adverse events and kinetics of response with ipilimumab. *J Clin Oncol* (2012) **30**:2691–7. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.41.6750

- Jacobson DL, Gange SJ, Rose NR, Graham NMH. Epidemiology and estimated population burden of selected autoimmune diseases in the United States. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* (1997) 84:223–43. doi:10.1006/clin.1997. 4412
- Torino F, Barnabei A, De VL, Salvatori R, Corsello SM. Hypophysitis induced by monoclonal antibodies to cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4: challenges from a new cause of a rare disease. *Oncologist* (2012) 17:525–35. doi:10.1634/ theoncologist.2011-0404
- Corsello SM, Barnabei A, Marchetti P, De VL, Salvatori R, Torino F. Endocrine side effects induced by immune checkpoint inhibitors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98:1361–75. doi:10.1210/jc.2012-4075
- Kong YM, Okayasu I, Giraldo AA, Beisel KW, Sundick RS, Rose NR, et al. Tolerance to thyroglobulin by activating suppressor mechanisms. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (1982) 392:191–209. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1982.tb36108.x
- Kong YM, Giraldo AA, Waldmann H, Cobbold SP, Fuller BE. Resistance to experimental autoimmune thyroiditis: L3T4⁺ cells as mediators of both thyroglobulin-activated and TSH-induced suppression. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* (1989) 51:38–54. doi:10.1016/0090-1229(89)90204-3
- Kong YM, Jacob JB, Flynn JC, Elliott BE, Wei W-Z. Autoimmune thyroiditis as an indicator of autoimmune sequelae during cancer immunotherapy. *Autoimmun Rev* (2009) 9:28–33. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2009.02.034
- 24. Wei W-Z, Jacob JB, Zielinski JF, Flynn JC, Shim KD, Alsharabi G, et al. Concurrent induction of antitumor immunity and autoimmune thyroiditis in CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cell-depleted mice. *Cancer Res* (2005) **65**:8471–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0934
- Jacob JB, Kong YM, Nalbantoglu I, Snower DP, Wei W-Z. Tumor regression following DNA vaccination and regulatory T cell depletion in neu transgenic mice leads to an increased risk for autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:5873–81. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0804074
- 26. Kong YM, Lomo LC, Motte RW, Giraldo AA, Baisch J, Strauss G, et al. HLA-DRB1 polymorphism determines susceptibility to autoimmune thyroiditis in transgenic mice: definitive association with HLA-DRB1*0301 (DR3) gene. J Exp Med (1996) 184:1167–72. doi:10.1084/jem.184.3.1167
- Jacob JB, Kong YM, Meroueh C, Snower DP, David CS, Ho Y-S, et al. Control of Her-2 tumor immunity and thyroid autoimmunity by MHC and regulatory T cells. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:7020–7. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4755
- Lewis M, Giraldo AA, Kong YM. Resistance to experimental autoimmune thyroiditis induced by physiologic manipulation of thyroglobulin level. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* (1987) 45:92–104. doi:10.1016/0090-1229(87) 90115-2
- Kari S, Flynn JC, Zulfiqar M, Snower DP, Elliott BE, Kong YM. Enhanced autoimmunity associated with induction of tumor immunity in thyroiditis-susceptible mice. *Thyroid* (2013) 23:1590–9. doi:10.1089/thy.2013.0064
- Caturegli P, Lupi I, Landek-Salgado M, Kimura H, Rose NR. Pituitary autoimmunity: 30 years later. *Autoimmun Rev* (2008) 7:631–7. doi:10.1016/j.autrev. 2008.04.016
- Maker AV, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, Kammula US, Royal RE, et al. Intrapatient dose escalation of anti-CTLA-4 antibody in patients with metastatic melanoma. *J Immunother* (2006) 29:455–63. doi:10.1097/01.cji.0000208259. 73167.58
- 32. Eggermont AM, Spatz A, Robert C. Cutaneous melanoma. *Lancet* (2014) 383:816–27. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60802-8
- 33. Landek-Salgado MA, Leporati P, Lupi I, Geis A, Caturegli P. Growth hormone and proopiomelanocortin are targeted by autoantibodies in a patient with biopsy-proven IgG4-related hypophysitis. *Pituitary* (2012) 15:412–9. doi:10. 1007/s11102-011-0338-8
- 34. Smith CJ, Bensing S, Burns C, Robinson PJ, Kasperlik-Zaluska AA, Scott RJ, et al. Identification of TPIT and other novel autoantigens in lymphocytic hypophysitis: immunoscreening of a pituitary cDNA library and development of immunoprecipitation assays. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2012) 166:391–8. doi:10.1530/EJE-11-1015
- Lupi I, Raffaelli V, Di Cianni G, Caturegli P, Manetti L, Ciccarone AM, et al. Pituitary autoimmunity in patients with diabetes mellitus and other endocrine disorders. J Endocrinol Invest (2013) 36:127–31. doi:10.1007/BF03346747
- 36. Huang RR, Jalil J, Economou JS, Chmielowski B, Koya RC, Mok S, et al. CTLA4 blockade induces frequent tumor infiltration by activated lymphocytes regardless of clinical responses in humans. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:4101–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0407

- Weber JS, Hamid O, Chasalow SD, Wu DY, Parker SM, Galbraith S, et al. Ipilimumab increases activated T cells and enhances humoral immunity in patients with advanced melanoma. *J Immunother* (2012) 35:89–97. doi:10.1097/CJI. 0b013e31823aa41c
- Yuan J, Gnjatic S, Li H, Powel S, Gallardo HF, Ritter E, et al. CTLA-4 blockade enhances polyfunctional NY-ESO-1 specific T cell responses in metastatic melanoma patients with clinical benefit. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:20410–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0810114105
- 39. Yuan J, Adamow M, Ginsberg BA, Rasalan TS, Ritter E, Gallardo HF, et al. Integrated NY-ESO-1 antibody and CD8⁺ T-cell responses correlate with clinical benefit in advanced melanoma patients treated with ipilimumab. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108:16723–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1110814108
- Goff SL, Robbins PF, El-Gamil M, Rosenberg SA. No correlation between clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade and presence of NY-ESO-1 antibody in patients with metastatic melanoma. *J Immunother* (2009) 32:884–5. doi:10.1097/CJI. 0b013e3181affbf0
- 41. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363:711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Venuprasad K, Kong YM, Farrar MA. Control of Th2-mediated inflammation by regulatory T cells. *Am J Pathol* (2010) 177:525–31. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2010. 090936
- 43. Simpson TR, Li F, Montalvo-Ortiz W, Sepulveda MA, Bergerhoff K, Arce F, et al. Fc-dependent depletion of tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells co-defines the efficacy of anti-CTLA-4 therapy against melanoma. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210:1695–710. doi:10.1084/jem.20130579
- Zitvogel L, Tanchot C, Granier C, Tartour E. Following up tumor-specific regulatory T cells in cancer patients. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e25444. doi:10.4161/ onci.25444
- 45. Walter S, Weinschenk T, Stenzl A, Zdrojowy R, Pluzanska A, Szczylik C, et al. Multipeptide immune response to cancer vaccine IMA901 after single-dose cyclophosphamide associates with longer patient survival. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:1254–61. doi:10.1038/nm.2883
- 46. Bonertz A, Weitz J, Pietsch DH, Rahbari NN, Schlude C, Ge Y, et al. Antigenspecific Tregs control T cell responses against a limited repertoire of tumor antigens in patients with colorectal carcinoma. *J Clin Invest* (2009) 119:3311–21. doi:10.1172/JCI39608
- 47. Jandus C, Bioley G, Dojcinovic D, Derre L, Baitsch L, Wieckowski S, et al. Tumor antigen-specific FOXP3+ CD4 T cells identified in human metastatic melanoma: peptide vaccination results in selective expansion of Th1-like counterparts. *Cancer Res* (2009) **69**:8085–93. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2226
- 48. Schmidt HH, Ge Y, Hartmann FJ, Conrad H, Klug F, Nittel S, et al. HLA Class II tetramers reveal tissue-specific regulatory T cells that suppress Tcell responses in breast carcinoma patients. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e24962. doi:10.4161/onci.24962
- 49. Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. Nat Immunol (2011) 12:492–9. doi:10.1038/ni. 2035
- Intlekofer AM, Thompson CB. At the bench: preclinical rationale for CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade as cancer immunotherapy. *J Leukoc Biol* (2013) 94:25–39. doi:10.1189/jlb.1212621
- Callahan MK, Wolchok JD. At the bedside: CTLA-4- and PD-1-blocking antibodies in cancer immunotherapy. *J Leukoc Biol* (2013) **94**:41–53. doi:10.1189/ jlb.1212631
- 52. Ahmadzadeh M, Johnson LA, Heemskerk B, Wunderlich JR, Dudley ME, White DE, et al. Tumor antigen-specific CD8 T cells infiltrating the tumor express high levels of PD-1 and are functionally impaired. *Blood* (2009) 114:1537–44. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-12-195792
- Wang W, Lau R, Yu D, Zhu W, Korman A, Weber J. PD1 blockade reverses the suppression of melanoma antigen-specific CTL by CD4⁺CD25^{Hi} regulatory T cells. *Int Immunol* (2009) 21:1065–77. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxp072
- Velcheti V, Schalper KA, Carvajal DE, Anagnostou VK, Syrigos KN, Sznol M, et al. Programmed death ligand-1 expression in non-small cell lung cancer. *Lab Invest* (2014) 94:107–16. doi:10.1038/labinvest.2013.130
- 55. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366:2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690

- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motifcarrying immunoreceptor. *Immunity* (1999) 11:141–51. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80089-8
- 57. Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Nishio R, Mitsuiye T, Mizoguchi A, Wang J, et al. Autoantibodies against cardiac troponin I are responsible for dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1-deficient mice. *Nat Med* (2003) **9**:1477–83. doi:10.1038/nm955
- PD-1 inhibitor becomes "breakthrough therapy". Cancer Discov (2013) 3:OF14. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-NB2013-074
- Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Hodi FS, Hwu WJ, Kefford R, et al. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med (2013) 369:134–44. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1305133
- Kyi C, Postow MA. Checkpoint blocking antibodies in cancer immunotherapy. FEBS Lett (2014) 588:368–76. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2013.10.015
- Topalian SL, Sznol M, McDermott DF, Kluger HM, Carvajal RD, Sharfman WH, et al. Survival, durable tumor remission, and long-term safety in patients with advanced melanoma receiving nivolumab. *J Clin Oncol* (2014) **32**:1020–30. doi:10.1200/JCO.2013.53.0105
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366:2455–65. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- 63. Latchman Y, Wood CR, Chernova T, Chaudhary D, Borde M, Chernova I, et al. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. *Nat Immunol* (2001) **2**:261–8. doi:10.1038/85330
- 64. Tseng SY, Otsuji M, Gorski K, Huang X, Slansky JE, Pai SI, et al. B7-DC, a new dendritic cell molecule with potent costimulatory properties for T cells. J Exp Med (2001) 193:839–46. doi:10.1084/jem.193.7.839
- 65. Fife BT, Pauken KE, Eagar TN, Obu T, Wu J, Tang Q, et al. Interactions between PD-1 and PD-L1 promote tolerance by blocking the TCR-induced stop signal. *Nat Immunol* (2009) **10**:1185–92. doi:10.1038/ni.1790
- 66. Curran MA, Montalvo W, Yagita H, Allison JP. PD-1 and CTLA-4 combination blockade expands infiltrating T cells and reduces regulatory T and myeloid cells within B16 melanoma tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**:4275–80. doi:10.1073/pnas.0915174107
- Duraiswamy J, Kaluza KM, Freeman GJ, Coukos G. Dual blockade of PD-1 and CTLA-4 combined with tumor vaccine effectively restores T-cell rejection function in tumors. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:3591–603. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4100
- Holmgaard RB, Zamarin D, Munn DH, Wolchok JD, Allison JP. Indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase is a critical resistance mechanism in antitumor T cell immunotherapy targeting CTLA-4. J Exp Med (2013) 210:1389–402. doi:10.1084/jem. 20130066
- Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. *Science* (1996) 271:1734–6. doi:10.1126/science.271.5256. 1734
- 70. Read S, Malmström V, Powrie F. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 plays an essential role in the function of CD25⁺CD4⁺ regulatory cells that control intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med (2000) 192:295–302. doi:10.1084/jem.192.2.295
- Hurwitz AA, Foster BA, Kwon ED, Truong T, Choi EM, Greenberg NM, et al. Combination immunotherapy of primary prostate cancer in a transgenic mouse model using CTLA-4 blockade. *Cancer Res* (2000) 60:2444–8.
- 72. Ansari MJI, Salama AD, Chitnis T, Smith RN, Yagita H, Akiba H, et al. The programmed death-1 (PD-1) pathway regulates autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. J Exp Med (2003) 198:63–9. doi:10.1084/jem. 20022125
- 73. Kwidzinski E, Bunse J, Aktas O, Richter D, Mutlu L, Zipp F, et al. Indolamine 2,3dioxygenase is expressed in the CNS and down-regulates autoimmune inflammation. *FASEB J* (2005) 19:1347–9. doi:10.1096/fj.04-3228fje
- 74. Ruocco MG, Pilones KA, Kawashima N, Cammer M, Huang J, Babb JS, et al. Suppressing T cell motility induced by anti-CTLA-4 monotherapy improves antitumor effects. J Clin Invest (2012) 122:3718–30. doi:10.1172/ JCI61931
- 75. Liu H, Hu B, Xu D, Liew FY. CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells cure murine colitis: the role of IL-10, TGF-β, and CTLA4. J Immunol (2003) 171:5012–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.10.5012

- Oaks MK, Hallett KM. Cutting edge: a soluble form of CTLA-4 in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease. J Immunol (2000) 164:5015–8. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.164.10.5015
- 77. Choi JM, Kim SH, Shin JH, Gibson T, Yoon BS, Lee DH, et al. Transduction of the cytoplasmic domain of CTLA-4 inhibits TcR-specific activation signals and prevents collagen-induced arthritis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:19875–80. doi:10.1073/pnas.0805198105
- Hurwitz AA, Sullivan TJ, Krummel MF, Sobel RA, Allison JP. Specific blockade of CTLA-4/B7 interactions results in exacerbated clinical and histologic disease in an actively-induced model of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmunol* (1997) 73:57–62.
- 79. Fife BT, Bluestone JA. Control of peripheral T-cell tolerance and autoimmunity via the CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 224:166–82. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00662.x
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369:122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 11 February 2014; accepted: 25 April 2014; published online: 16 May 2014. Citation: Kong YM and Flynn JC (2014) Opportunistic autoimmune disorders potentiated by immune-checkpoint inhibitors anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1. Front. Immunol. 5:206. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00206

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Kong and Flynn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The progression of cell death affects the rejection of allogeneic tumors in immune-competent mice – implications for cancer therapy

Ricardo A. Chaurio¹, Luis E. Muñoz¹*, Christian Maueröder^{1,2}, Christina Janko³, Thomas Harrer¹, Barbara G. Fürnrohr^{4,5}, Michael Niederweis⁶, Rostyslav Bilyy⁷, Georg Schett¹, Martin Herrmann^{1†} and Christian Berens²*[†]

¹ Department of Internal Medicine 3, Friedrich-Alexander University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany

² Department of Biology, Friedrich-Alexander University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany

- ³ Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, Section for Experimental Oncology and Nanomedicine (SEON), University Hospital Erlangen, Erlangen, Germany
- ⁴ Division of Molecular Immunology, Department of Internal Medicine 3, Friedrich-Alexander University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany
- ⁵ Division of Biological Chemistry, Medical University Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria

⁶ Department of Microbiology and Biochemistry, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, USA

⁷ Institute of Cell Biology, National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, Lviv, Ukraine

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Julian Pardo, Fundación Agencia Aragonesa para la Investigación y el Desarrollo, Spain David Sancho, Centro Nacional de Investigaciones Cardiovasculares, Spain Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

*Correspondence:

Luis E. Muñoz, Department of Internal Medicine 3, Friedrich-Alexander-University Erlangen-Nuremberg, Ulmenweg 18, Erlangen 91054, Germany e-mail: luis.munoz@uk-erlangen.de; Christian Berens, Department of Biology, Friedrich-Alexander-University Erlangen-Nuremberg, Staudtstr. 5, Erlangen 91058 Germany e-mail: christian.berens@fau.de

[†]Martin Herrmann and Christian Berens contributed equally to this work.

Large amounts of dead and dying cells are produced during cancer therapy and allograft rejection. Depending on the death pathway and stimuli involved, dying cells exhibit diverse features, resulting in defined physiological consequences for the host. It is not fully understood how dying and dead cells modulate the immune response of the host. To address this problem, different death stimuli were studied in B16F10 melanoma cells by regulated inducible transgene expression of the pro-apoptotic active forms of caspase-3 (revCasp-3), Bid (tBid), and the Mycobacterium tuberculosis-necrosis inducing toxin (CpnT_{CTD}). The immune outcome elicited for each death stimulus was assessed by evaluating the allograft rejection of melanoma tumors implanted subcutaneously in BALB/c mice immunized with dying cells. Expression of all proteins efficiently killed cells in vitro (>90%) and displayed distinctive morphological and physiological features as assessed by multiparametric flow cytometry analysis. BALB/c mice immunized with allogeneic dying melanoma cells expressing revCasp-3 or CpnT_{CTD} showed strong rejection of the allogeneic challenge. In contrast, mice immunized with cells dying either after expression of tBid or irradiation with UVB did not, suggesting an immunologically silent cell death. Surprisingly, immunogenic cell death induced by expression of revCasp-3 or CpnT_{CTD} correlated with elevated intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels at the time point of immunization. Conversely, early mitochondrial dysfunction induced by tBid expression or UVB irradiation accounted for the absence of intracellular ROS accumulation at the time point of immunization. Although ROS inhibition in vitro was not sufficient to abrogate the immunogenicity in our alloimmunization model, we suggest that the point of ROS generation and its intracellular accumulation may be an important factor for its role as damage associated molecular pattern in the development of allogeneic responses.

Keywords: immunogenicity, apoptosis, cancer, ROS, caspase-3, tBid, necrosis, DAMPs

INTRODUCTION

The appearance of cell death during disease therapy is a twopronged sword. On one hand, cell death is desirable during cancer treatment in order to control malignant cell growth in the patient. On the other hand, excessive cell death should be avoided during transplantation to allow the grafted cells to survive in a foreign host. In the latter case, a considerable number of stresses are involved and several kinds of injuries may additionally compromise tissue viability, leading to progressive graft dysfunction and, eventually, also to graft loss (1, 2).

Furthermore, the mechanism and type of cell death might profoundly affect the reaction of the host toward surviving cells, making the situation more complex. Apoptosis, necrosis, autophagy, necroptosis, and other processes have been reported as common cell death mechanisms observed *in vivo* during therapies. However, how these types of cell death modulate interactions of the dying and dead cells with the immune system remains elusive. Depending on the immune response elicited, it is possible to distinguish between cases of cell death able to induce immunogenicity (immunogenic cell death) and those inducing immune tolerance or unresponsiveness (tolerogenic/silent cell death) (3, 4). Dying cells can exhibit completely different characteristics and immunological features. To understand these differences, an accurate

characterization of the features, types, and phases of cell death is required.

The latter has become especially important in the context of diseases like cancer where conventional treatments (e.g., radiation and chemotherapy) are based on the massive induction of tumor cell death. In such cases, the immune system is prone to be decisive for tumor fate. Because the guidelines for drug screening in antineoplastic therapies require evaluation of human tumors xenotransplanted into immune-compromised mice (5), the role of the immune system has been neglected (6), making studies focused on the interplay between immune system and dying cells necessary. Modern anti-cancer therapies aim at inducing immunogenic cancer cell death. However, there are a plethora of factors involved in this process that have to be revisited and reassessed carefully. These include intrinsic cell immunogenicity, the nature of the initial death stimulus, the type of damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) released, the clearance capacity of the affected tissue for dying and dead cells, and the respective death pathway. Considering the large number of cytotoxic drugs currently used in the treatment of neoplastic diseases, much information is missing to predict the anti-tumor response of the host reliably.

In this study, we showed how different mechanisms and types of cell death, induced by different stimuli, affect the outcome of allogeneic tumor transplants in BALB/c immune-competent mice. Additionally, a morpho-physiological characterization of dying and dead cells, based on a multiparametric flow cytometry analysis, was assessed. A murine allograft model allowed evaluation of the immune response *in vivo*. The results of this work may have important implications for both cancer therapy and procedures for experimental allotransplantation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

REAGENTS AND MOLECULAR PROBES

Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium (DMEM), fetal bovine serum (FBS), G418, penicillin–streptomycin, and glutamine were from Gibco-Invitrogen. Recombinant chicken annexin A5 (AxA5) was purchased from Responsif. The FluoroTag fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) conjugation kit was from Sigma-Aldrich, the 1,10,3,3,30,30-hexamethylindodicarbocyanine iodide dye [DiIC1(5)], Hoechst 33342, LipofectamineTM 2000, and puromycin dihydrochloride were from Invitrogen. Propidium iodide (PI) was obtained from Amersham Biosciences. Doxycycline hydrochloride and trypsin–EDTA solution were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Ringer's solution was from Delta Select. The caspase3 inhibitor z-DEVD-fmk, the caspase-9 inhibitor Ac-LEHD-cmk, and the general caspase inhibitor z-VAD-fmk were purchased from Bachem.

CELL LINES AND CULTURE CONDITIONS

The C57BL/6 mouse-derived melanoma cell line B16F10 bearing the haplotype H2b was purchased from ATCC (#CRL-6475) and propagated in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and penicillin–streptomycin (D10) at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere.

For the morpho-physiological characterization by flow cytometry, B16F10 cells were cultured in 24-well plates at 100,000 cells/2 ml D10 and harvested at the time points indicated. Harvesting was performed as follows: supernatants containing dead cells were harvested into polypropylene tubes. A

trypsin–EDTA solution was added to the wells for 10–15 min at room temperature to detach the remaining adherent cells. Thus, detached cells were collected by adding D10 and combined with their corresponding supernatant fraction. Finally, cells were centrifuged at 300 g for 5 min, resuspended in 500 μ l D10 medium.

GENERATION OF STABLE Tet-CONTROLLED SUICIDE CELL LINES

The cell lines B16F10-644, B16F10-tBid, and B16F10-revCasp-3 have been described (7). The parental cell line B16F10-644 was transfected with the *Ahd*I-linearized plasmid pWHE655TREtight-CpnT_{CTD}, carrying the C-terminal domain of the channel protein with necrosis inducing toxin (CpnT_{CTD}) characterized in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (8) (**Figures 1A–C**), and stable transfectants were selected by limited dilution in the presence of 1500 µg/ml G418. Individual subclones were cultured in 48-well plates and tested for cell death with AxA5/PI staining by FACS after 24 h of doxycycline (1 µg/ml) addition. One out of several positive clones was chosen for further experiments and named B16F10-CpnT_{CTD}.

MULTI-PARAMETER CLASSIFICATION OF CELL DEATH BY FLOW CYTOMETRY

The cell death characterization method analyzing size, granularity, PS exposure, plasma membrane integrity, mitochondrial membrane potential, and DNA content in a one-tube-measurement has been thoroughly described elsewhere (9). This method classifies eight different phases of cell death. Briefly, the harvested cells were incubated for 30 min at room temperature with 400 µl of freshly prepared 4-color staining solution [1.8 µg/ml AxA5-FITC, 100 ng/ml PI, 10 nM DiIC1(5), 1 ng/ml Hoechst 33342] in Ringer's solution and subsequently analyzed. Flow cytometry was performed with a Gallios cytofluorometer (Beckman Coulter, Fullerton, CA, USA). Excitation of FITC and PI was at 488 nm, the FITC fluorescence was detected with the FL1 sensor (525/38 nm BP), the PI fluorescence with the FL3 sensor (620/30 nm BP), the DiIC1(5) fluorescence was excited at 638 nm and detected with the FL6 sensor (675/20 nm BP), and the Hoechst 33342 fluorescence was excited at 405 nm and detected with the FL9 sensor (430/40 nm BP). Electronic compensation was applied to reduce bleed-through fluorescence. Data analysis was performed with Kaluza software version 2.0 (Beckman Coulter, Fullerton, CA, USA). Cells were classified according to their location in the forward scatter (FSc; size) vs. side scatter (SSc; granularity) dot plot and their staining patterns in the FL1 vs. FL3 and FL6 vs. FL9 dot plots (Figure 2A).

CELL DEATH INDUCTION

Cell death was induced by (1) doxycycline *in vitro* (5–10 μ g/ml) for expression of the cell death inducing proteins tBid, revCasp-3, and CpnT_{CTD}. (2) Irradiation with ultraviolet light type B (UVB) at 1.5 mJ/cm²/s. (3) By heat shock (56°C for 30 min).

MEASUREMENT OF INTRACELLULAR REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES

Intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels were assessed using the redox-sensitive dye 2,7-dichlorofluorescein diacetate (C-DCFH-DA). At the time points indicated, dying B16F10 cells were harvested, incubated for 30 min with C-DCFH-DA ($10 \,\mu$ M) at 37°C in protein-free medium (D0) in the dark. Cells were then



FIGURE 1 | Conditional expression of death inducing proteins.

(A) Schematic overview of the constructs used to establish the regulatory system. The vector pWHE644 represents the regulator construct. A human EF1 α promoter constitutively transcribes a tricistronic mRNA. This mRNA contains the reverse transactivator rtTA2^S-M2 (blue arrow), the transsilencer tTS^D-PP (yellow arrow), and a selection marker (puromycin resistance; gray arrow). Translation of the latter two genes is mediated by internal ribosome entry sites (IRES; open boxes) from polio-virus (PV) and encephalomyocarditis-virus (EMCV). The vector pWHE655 contains the response unit used for stable transfections. It features the target gene (red arrow) driven by the Tet-responsive promoter TRE_{tight} (open box, broken arrow) and flanked by two repeats each of a 250 bp sequence from the chicken HS4 insulator (blue triangles). A murine phosphoglycerate kinase 1 promoter (PGK; broken arrow) drives expression of a gene mediating G418-resistance. PolyA sites in all vectors are marked by a "⊥." **(B)** Schematic representation of the cytotoxic test proteins. The residues that border the active domains expressed in the

washed with D10 by centrifugation, co-stained with PI, and analyzed by flow cytometry. Only PI-negative cells were analyzed and ROS levels were presented as the mean fluorescence intensity in the FL1 channel (MFI-FL1). The anti-oxidants *N*-acetylcysteine (NAC) and 2-(2,2,6,6-Tetramethylpiperidin-1-oxyl-4-ylamino)-2-oxoethyl) triphenylphosphonium chloride (mitoTEMPO) were used at 100 μ M as indicated.

ALLOGENEIC TUMOR GROWTH MODEL AND IMMUNIZATIONS

The allogeneic tumor growth model consisted of the host mouse (BALB/c, MHC haplotype H2d) and B16F10 melanoma cells derived from C57BL/6 mice (MHC haplotype H2b). Specified amounts of viable cells or dead/dying cells were subcutaneously (s.c.) implanted in 500 μ l Ringer's solution in the right flank using a syringe with a 25 G needle. The growth of solid melanoma tumors was registered by direct measurement of width, height, and depth of the black subcutaneous protuberance with a caliper for up to a maximum of 40 days. In accordance with the guidelines for the welfare of animals in experimental neoplasia, the animal

experiment are indicated above their respective closed box. A methionine added to allow translation is represented by a star. (C) Schematic overview of the regulatory system. In the OFF-State, a transsilencer (white) binds to the minimal promoter (open boxes, broken arrow) and actively suppresses transcription (cross). In the ON-State, doxycycline (blue circles) binds to both transsilencer and reverse transactivator (black). The former dissociates from, the latter binds to the minimal promoter and activates transcription (grav arrow). (D) Response of the regulatory system to different doxycycline concentrations. The B16F10-tBid transfected cell line was incubated for 24 h with various concentrations of doxycycline and mortality was measured, shown for one representative experiment out of three performed. Concentrations between 5 and 10 µg/ml showed the highest extent of cell death. An additional control at 10 µg/ml Doxy with the parental stably transfected cell line B16F10-644 was included to discard doxycycline toxicity at higher concentrations as cause of cell death (dark green diamond). Cell viability at time point "0" is shown as light green diamond.

was sacrificed if the mouse tumor volume exceeded more than 10% of the host's body weight.

In order to evaluate the immune response against implanted cells, mice were challenged s.c. with 2 million viable cells in the opposite flank, after immunization as indicated. The use of the syngeneic host (C57BL/6) as recipient of B16F10 melanoma cell lines was ruled out because of the aggressiveness of the B16F10 cells, which may cause discomfort and premature death of the animal. Mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories International, Inc., and kept on a standard diet with drinking water available *ad libitum*. Experiments were conducted according to the European principles and local guidelines for care and use of laboratory animals at the Institute of Cell Biology, National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, Lviv (10–12).

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The software package GraphPad Prism 5.0 was used for graphics and statistical tests. For comparisons between control and experimental groups, Mann–Whitney *U* test or two way ANOVA tests



24h. In the presence of various caspase inhibitors [z-VAD-fmk, z-DEVD-fmk (caspase-3 inhibitor) and Ac-LEHD-cmk (caspase-9 inhibitor); all 50 µM], a significant increase in the stressed cell fraction displaying low-mitochondrial potential was observed **(B)**. Expression of revCasp-3 in

were employed as appropriate. Statistical significance was assumed if p < 0.05.

RESULTS

STABLE Tet-CONTROLLED MOUSE MELANOMA B16F10 SUICIDE CELL LINES

Subcloned transfected mouse melanoma B16F10 cell lines were tested for the response of the regulatory system to different doxy-cycline (doxy) concentrations after 24 h. Mortality rates were

calculated by annexin A5/PI staining and flow cytometry. Concentrations around $10 \mu g/ml$ doxy showed the highest degree of cell death (**Figure 1D**).

observed (E). Heat shock (56°C, 30 min) caused immediate necrosis in

values from three independent experiments of relative percentages of

each cell phenotype during 48 h of culture (B-F).

100% of cells independent of caspase activity (F). Displayed are the mean

CELL DEATH INDUCED BY EXPRESSION OF CYTOTOXIC PROTEINS IN B16F10 CELLS AND MORPHO-PHYSIOLOGICAL CLASSIFICATION OF DEAD AND DYING TUMOR CELLS BY FLOW CYTOMETRY

Since dying cells may exhibit various biological features that modulate the immune response, it is necessary to accurately

characterize the phenotypes and phases of cell death. Employing a six parameter protocol to characterize the morphological and physiological features of dying and dead cells, we identified eight different states of cell death in B16F10 melanoma cells: (1) viable; (2) stressed; (3) early apoptosis; (4) apoptosis; (5) late apoptosis; (6) secondary necrosis; (7) late secondary necrosis; and (8) primary necrosis or early secondary necrosis (**Figure 2A**) (9, 13). This method allows us to closely describe biological features of death in cell lines expressing cytotoxic proteins. In our test system, doxycycline relieves active repression of the promoter by the tetracycline-dependent transsilencer (tTS) and simultaneously induces binding of the reverse tetracycline-dependent transactivator (rtTA) leading to transgene expression of each death-inducingprotein (**Figure 1C**). Additionally, the classical death stimuli UVB irradiation and heat shock were also employed.

Activation of the suicide switch in B16F10-tBid cells with 5 µg/ml doxy was followed by very fast and efficient killing. After 6 h, up to 90% of the cells were dead. Approximately 30% of the cells displayed features typical for initial phases of apoptosis and the rest of the cells showed a necrotic phenotype, predominantly early secondary necrosis (Figure 2B). The role of caspases in the cell death induced by tBid in B16F10 cells was studied by adding the pan-caspase inhibitor z-VAD-fmk ($50 \mu M$). Considering the physiological stringency of this method, treatment with z-VADfmk did not change the fraction of viable cells treated with doxy. Interestingly, a significant increase in the fraction of stressed cells was observed for all times points. Stressed cells are defined as cells with conserved membrane asymmetry, membrane integrity, and cell morphology, but very low-mitochondrial membrane potential [DiIC1(5) low] (13). This fraction reached its maximum at 18 h post-induction with up to 80% of the cells displaying a stressed phenotype (Figure 2B). In this case, stressed cells can be considered to be in a "pre-mortal" state, induced by the expression of tBid and concomitant inhibition of caspases. Stressed cells are detected efficiently by the six parameter method described above. tBid death kinetics in the presence of the more specific caspase-3 and caspase-9 inhibitors were similar to those observed in the presence of z-VAD-fmk, and showed comparable amounts of dead cells (Figure 2B).

Expression of revCasp-3 in B16F10 cells induced cell death after 24 h, albeit more slowly than tBid, with more than 80% of the cells displaying dead phenotypes (**Figure 2C**). Early stages of apoptosis were observed at 12 and 18 h, while late apoptotic and secondary necrotic stages were more predominant at 24 and 48 h. As expected, cell death by expression of revCasp-3 was completely inhibited in the presence of z-VAD-fmk (**Figure 2C**).

Expression of the necrosis inducing protein $CpnT_{CTD}$ in B16F10 cells led to cell death after 18 h with more than 80% of the cells displaying features of primary necrosis (**Figure 2D**). Early stages of apoptosis were not detected by the expression of this protein. In contrast to pro-apoptotic proteins, z-VAD-fmk did not affect the death phenotype induced by $CpnT_{CTD}$, suggesting a caspase-independent type of cell death (**Figure 2D**).

It is important to note that cell death induced by doxycyclinecontrolled expression of the proteins tBid, revCasp-3, and $CpnT_{CTD}$ did not kill all cells – some cells may have failed to respond to doxy. In agreement with this assumption, long-term culture of doxy-treated cells resulted in confluent growth of the surviving non-responder cells.

The parental cell line B16F10-644 was lethally irradiated with UVB (240 mJ/cm²). After 6 h, some stressed and early apoptotic cells were observed. After 12 h, stressed, apoptotic, and some forms of necrotic cells were present. Secondary necrotic cells increasingly appeared from 24 to 48 h. The presence of z-VAD-fmk produced an important increase in the fraction of stressed cells preserving the fraction of viable cells, as was also observed for cells expressing tBid (**Figure 2E**). UVB irradiation caused much slower death in comparison to that induced by the expression of tBid, revCasp-3, or CpnT_{CTD}. Importantly, no surviving cells were observed even when the plates were cultured for 7 days after irradiation.

Cell death by heat shock was studied in the parental cell line B16F10-644. Cells were incubated at 56°C for 30 min in a water bath to induce abrupt membrane disruption. More than 98% of the cells became primary necrotic. No differences were observed by the addition of z-VAD-fmk (**Figure 2F**). In summary, the suicide switch system efficiently induced morpho-physiologically different forms of tumor cell death.

REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES PRODUCTION IN DYING TUMOR CELLS

In order to further characterize the aforementioned forms of cell death, we measured the ability of the dying cells to produce free radicals. After addition of doxy to B16F10-revCasp-3 and B16F10-CpnT_{CTD} cells, a significant, five to sixfold, increase in the production of ROS was observed after 6 h and reached its maximum at 9 h in both cell lines. Interestingly, dying B16F10-CpnT_{CTD} cells showed the highest accumulation of ROS (12-fold) before disruption of the plasma membranes occurred (**Figure 3**). This response was compromised by the addition of the anti-oxidants *N*-acetylcysteine (NAC) and 2-(2,2,6,6-Tetramethylpiperidin-1-oxyl-4-ylamino)-2-oxoethyl) triphenylphosphonium chloride (mitoTEMPO). In contrast, B16F10-tBid expressing and UVB-irradiated dying cells did not produce significant amounts of ROS up to 12 h after death induction.

GROWTH OF B16F10 CELLS IN THE ALLOGENEIC BALB/C HOST AND CONCOMITANT IMMUNITY

Tumor growth of the B16F10 cells was studied in BALB/c mice by implanting four million viable parental B16F10-644 cells s.c. into their right flanks (viability >90%). Five days later, black solid tumors were observed beneath the shaved skin. These tumors reached their maximum size between days 12 and 15 and spontaneously regressed thereafter (**Figure 4A**). In most cases, small tumors (5–10 mm³) persisted subcutaneously in the animal showing no further change in size. Tumor recurrence was verified by keeping mice under observation for more than 2 months; no further tumor growth was seen during this time period. Since the tumors are growing in allogeneic hosts, we regard this as allograft rejection. Metastases were never observed in any organ.

B16F10 is a poorly immunogenic cell line, not able to generate concomitant immunity in its syngeneic host. Accordingly, C57BL/6 mice bearing a progressive tumor are not able to elicit a protective immune response (14). In order to evaluate the immunity in this allogeneic model, mice were implanted s.c. as follows:



FIGURE 3 | Reactive oxygen species (ROS) production by dying B16F10 melanoma cells. Cells were induced to die by conditional expression of the death proteins tBid, revCasp-3, and CpnT_{CTD} or by UVB irradiation, stained with the ROS sensor DCFH and with PI and analyzed by flow cytometry (**A**). Inhibition of ROS production was performed by treatment with *N*-acetyl-cysteine (NAC) or mitoTEMPO, 100 μ M, respectively, and recorded at 9 h after death induction (**B**). Mean and SEM values of the mean fluorescence intensities of FL1 in viable cells (PI-negative) are displayed for different time points. At least three independent experiments were performed (Two and one stars indicate statistical significance at the p < 0.001 and p < 0.05 levels, respectively).



concomitant immunity. Four million viable B16F10 cells (VC) were implanted s.c. in the right flank of BALB/c mice. Mice developed tumors reaching their maximum size after 2–3 weeks, followed by rejection **[(A)**, black line]. Mice implanted with 4 million UVB-irradiated cells did not develop primary tumors **[(A)**, purple line]. After challenge with 2 million viable cells s.c. on the left flank, those mice bearing primary tumors did not develop secondary tumors

((B), black line], while mice primarily inoculated with irradiated cells developed tumors similar to those of the naïve group **((B)**, purple and green lines, respectively]. Mean values (n = 8) and the SEM are displayed. Time points showing statistical significance when compared to the group of mice implanted with VC are highlighted. Two stars and one star indicate statistical significance at the p < 0.01 and p < 0.05 levels, respectively. The two way ANOVA test corrected by Bonferroni was applied in this experiment.

one group was implanted with 4 million viable cells, the second group with lethally UVB-irradiated cells. A third group was injected with Ringer solution (naïve group). After 12 days, all groups were challenged s.c. with 2 million viable cells in the opposite flank. The black line in **Figure 4A** shows growth and rejection of primary tumors derived from 4 million viable cells. Mice implanted with UVB-irradiated cells showed no growth of primary tumors (**Figure 4A**, purple line p < 0.05 compared to the black line). After challenge, all mice carrying primary tumors rejected secondary tumors (**Figure 4B**, black line). In contrast, mice that had received UVB-irradiated cells supported the growth of secondary tumors, as the naïve group did (**Figure 4B**, purple p < 0.05and green p < 0.01 lines compared to the black line). This observation suggests the existence of tumor related immunity in the allogeneic model. We propose to use this system for the evaluation of host immunity after immunization with dead and dying cells.

ALLOGENEIC RESPONSE ELICITED BY DYING AND DEAD CELLS

The allogeneic implantation of dead and dying tumor cells in an immune-competent host allows us to evaluate whether the mechanism of cell death induces a silent, a tolerogenic, or an immunogenic cell death by recording the response after a standardized challenge. A silent type of cell death would not affect the growth of the allotumor, a tolerogenic type of cell death would overcome the expected allograft rejection, while an immunogenic cell death would favor the rejection of the allotumor. The host response against each previously characterized form of cell death was assessed in 9-11-week-old female BALB/c (WT) mice immunized with dying/dead B16F10 cells induced to die by the following stimuli: (1) UVB irradiation; (2) doxycyclinecontrolled expression of the death proteins tBid, revCasp-3, and CpnT_{CTD}; and (3) heat shock. Stably transfected B16F10 cells were induced to die by adding 10 µg/ml doxy to the tissue culture dishes (150 cm²) at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 5 h. Afterward, UVB irradiation (240 mJ/cm²) was performed in order to kill the remaining nonresponsive cells. Previous experiments had demonstrated that the additional UVB irradiation at this time point neither altered the expression level of the death-inducing proteins nor the kinetics of the specific death phenotype (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material). Sixteen million dying/dead cells were injected s.c. in the right flank as single immunization dose at day 0. After 10 days, mice were challenged in the left flank with 2 million viable cells of the parental cell line B16F10-644. Tumor growth was recorded at days 5, 8, 11, 14, 20, and 30 after challenge (Figure 5A). Viable cells implanted in naïve BALB/c mice generated tumors that reached their maximal size after 2 weeks followed by regression, as expected (Figure 5B, black lines). This group was used as reference cohort.

Mice immunized with UVB-irradiated cells and tBidexpressing cells developed tumors with sizes similar to that of the naïve group. This points to a state of unresponsiveness in these mice (**Figure 5B**). In contrast, and especially at the days 8, 11, and 14, mice immunized with cells dying because of the expression of revCasp-3 or CpnT_{CTD} displayed significantly smaller tumors than naïve mice (**Figure 5B**; p < 0.05).

In order to estimate the total tumor mass generated for each immunization cohort, an analysis based on the cumulative area under the curve (integral) was performed. Figure 5C shows the total amount of tumor mass developed in the allogeneic host for each cohort. Mice immunized with UVB-irradiated cells or with cells that express tBid developed similar tumor masses. Conversely, mice immunized with dying/dead cells because of revCasp-3 and CpnT_{CTD} expression developed significantly smaller tumor masses (Figure 5C). Based on these observations, we considered UVB irradiation and over-expression of tBid as silent or tolerogenic forms of cell death. Accordingly, over-expression of revCasp-3 and CpnT_{CTD} induced immunogenic cell death. At best, only a weak immunogenic response was elicited by cells treated with heat shock reflecting that the rapid induction of necrosis by heat shock has the inevitable disadvantage of diffusion of danger signals to the medium. One major advantage of doxy-controlled induction of cell death, in particular necrotic cell death, is the achievement of a necrotic phenotype without physical interaction with the cells.

Interestingly, those forms of death showing significant ROS production upon *in vitro* stimulation died in an immunogenic fashion (**Figure 5D**). To more closely address the role of ROS production in the development of allo-responses, we treated ROS-producing CpnT_{CTD}-expressing dead and dying cells with the anti-oxidant NAC before immunization. This treatment

resulted in the amelioration of the allo-response against the challenge; however, it was not statistically significant (Figure S2 in Supplementary Material).

DISCUSSION

Conventional studies characterizing cell death are based on PS exposure and ion selectivity of the plasma membrane (AxA5 and PI staining) (15–17). These methods have traditionally classified cells as viable, apoptotic, or necrotic. However, because of the important role of the mitochondria as modulator of cell death, a concomitant analysis that monitors changes in the mitochondrial membrane potential is required. On the one hand, mitochondria play a role during apoptosis through the release of several apoptogenic proteins located in the inter-membrane space and, consequently, in apoptosome formation (18). On the other hand, mitochondria determine the outcome of many ATP-dependent cell physiological processes and, thus, are important for necrotic cell death. In this work, we used a modified staining and cytofluorometry protocol for a more detailed analysis of tumor cell death induced by various stimuli. Its major advantage is the possibility to classify at least eight different stages of cell death (viable, stressed, early/medium/late apoptosis, early/late secondary necrosis, primary necrosis) in a fast and reliable one-tube assay. A similar method employing a four-color staining for evaluation of PS exposure (AxA5-FITC), plasma membrane integrity (PI), mitochondrial membrane potential (JC-1), and nuclear DNA content (Hoechst 33342) was reported (19). However, a clear classification and identification of different types and stages of cell death was missing in that report.

Usually, standard methods are employed to generate dead cells for immunization experiments, e.g., *in vitro* induction of apoptosis/necrosis in cells and their subsequent injection into the mouse. This approach allowed the dissection of important modulatory effects of apoptotic cells in living multicellular organisms, as well as the employment of adjuvants in cell-based immunization models (20–22). However, the manipulation of dying and dead cells *ex vivo* has the disadvantage of their rapid progression from apoptosis to secondary necrosis and the concomitant decay and dilution of labile and short-range active immunomodulatory signals, respectively. In order to avoid the aforementioned limitations, we have established a conditional doxycycline-dependent expression system able to trigger various types of tumor cell death. Vectors harboring cDNAs encoding for tBid, revCasp-3, and CpnT_{CTD} were stably transfected into B16F10 melanoma cells.

tBid is a major pro-apoptotic protein activated in both extrinsic and intrinsic pathways and is an important connector between these canonical apoptosis pathways. tBid translocates to the mitochondria promoting mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP), a process involving self-assembly of activated BAX and BAK into transmembrane pores, which can be inhibited by anti-apoptotic BCL2 family proteins (23–25). Moreover, tBid accumulation determines the timing of MOMP (26). In addition to cytochrome c, tBid induces the release of further mitochondrial death effectors that promote caspase-independent apoptosis and induce mitochondrial remodeling. All these processes result in loss of the mitochondrial membrane potential, blocking of ATP synthesis and, consequently, loss of function of ATP-dependent transporters.



cells. BALB/c mice (n = 5) were immunized in the right flank s.c. (single dose) with B16F10 dying/dead cells. After 10 days, mice were challenged s.c. in the left flank with 2 million viable cells of the parental cell line B16F10-644. Tumor growth was monitored for 30 further days (**A**). Cell death was induced by UVB

irradiation; heat shock; doxycycline-controlled expression of death proteins tBid, revCasp-3, and CpnT_{CTD}. Displayed are the mean values (n = 5) of relative tumor volumes and SEM [(**B**), *p < 0.05 after Mann–Whitney *U* test] and the integral of tumor size [(**C**), total tumor mass]. Inverse association between ROS production and total tumor mass developed in the allogeneic host (**D**).

Over-expression of tBid can be considered to represent a harsh stimulus that quickly drives cells toward advanced stages of the apoptotic process with metabolic collapse leading to an early loss of plasma membrane integrity and rupture. We have defined this particular state of early loss of plasma membrane integrity as early secondary necrosis. It clearly differs from primary necrosis because of its susceptibility to inhibition by caspase inhibitors. Similar stimuli have already been reported to induce necrosis (27-29). This new cell death state may have particular relevance under clinical conditions like treatment with chemotherapy in cancer. Our cell death classification method allowed the identification of a further new stage in the process of dying, which we propose to refer to as stressed cells. The latter were observed especially when the over-expression of tBid was induced in the presence of z-VADfmk. Stressed cells show low-mitochondrial potential, suggesting the presence of MOMP and severe damage to the mitochondrial membranes in the absence of any further signs of apoptosis. The pan-caspase inhibitor z-VAD-fmk efficiently blocks certain types

of apoptosis. In consequence, the common hallmarks of the execution phase of apoptosis, like PS exposure, cell shrinkage, and DNA fragmentation are inhibited. The cells appear viable although they are actually dead because of severe damage of the mitochondrial membranes after over-expression of tBid, which directly activates the mitochondrial pathway.

Compared to the expression of tBid, melanoma cells dying after the expression of revCasp-3 showed slower cell death kinetics. Twenty four hours of expression of revCasp-3 were required to reach a similar degree of cell death. Caspase-3 is the major caspase activated during the execution phase of apoptosis (30). However, expression of revCasp-3 does not directly act on the mitochondria to induce MOMP. Caspase-3 needs to cleave sufficient MOMPinducing substrates like Bid to tBid before MOMP and cell death can occur by a feed-forward amplification loop (31). Additionally, caspase-3 can then enter the mitochondria and cleave specific substrates of the electron transfer chain, which will ultimately result in mitochondrial uncoupling and loss of membrane potential. Addition of z-VAD-fmk to revCasp-3 expressing cells inhibited up to 95% of the cell death occurring (more than 90% viable cells). These results demonstrate that, after blocking caspases, damage to mitochondria and to cell morphology and physiology was effectively inhibited, as confirmed by the lack of appearance of large numbers of stressed cells in **Figure 2C**.

Induction of apoptosis by UVB irradiation has been recognized to be a complex process involving a variety of independent pathways. There are at least two major mechanisms involved in apoptosis induced by UVB: (1) DNA damage; UVB induces two types of lesions in chromosomal DNA, photoproducts, and cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers (CPD), the latter being the predominant ones (32). (2) Cell death receptor activation; UVB is able to directly activate cell surface receptors (i.e., CD95/Fas and TNF receptor-1) by inducing receptor trimerization and clustering without ligand interaction (33-35). In our study, B16F10 melanoma cells were lethally irradiated with 240 mJ/cm² UVB applied as a single dose. Lower doses failed to completely kill the cells (data not shown). In the 24 h period following irradiation, we observed slow cell death kinetics mainly characterized by the presence of stressed (mitochondrial damage) and early secondary necrotic cells (membrane disruption and DNA preservation). Substantial amounts of late apoptotic and late secondary necrotic cells were only observed after 48 h.

Cells dying by UVB irradiation in the presence of z-VAD-fmk also showed a significant increase in the fraction of stressed cells, indicating a blockade of the apoptotic execution phase, which may be responsible for the preservation of the cell's morphology. In the presence of z-VAD-fmk, the percentage of viable cells did not change significantly, showing that inhibition of caspases cannot rescue cells from death. This observation challenges previous own and foreign reports presenting effective inhibition of UVB-induced apoptosis by z-VAD-fmk (36–38). Employing our multiparametric analysis, we here put forward a more detailed characterization of cell death phenotypes induced by several stimuli. We conclude that UVB mainly acts in B16F10 cells by triggering the intrinsic mitochondrial death pathway.

Necrosis is a cellular state that follows acute injuries, sudden anoxia, or extreme stimuli (heat, irradiation, toxins, mechanical, or oxidative stress) and, according to that, it can be viewed as a violent kind of cell death. Conventional methods used to induce necrosis in immunological studies applied heat shock at 56°C or alternating cycles of freeze-thawing. In this work, we present an alternative approach expressing a necrosis inducing protein (CpnT_{CTD}) via a doxy-dependent inducible expression system. CpnT is a novel outer membrane protein of M. tuberculosis containing a C-terminal domain that is cytotoxic when expressed in eukaryotic cells (8). It has been suggested to be required for the escape of *M. tuberculosis* from macrophages allowing subsequent bacterial dissemination. However, how CpnT_{CTD} induces necrosis is still mechanistically elusive. Six hours after the addition of doxy, a significant fraction of stressed cells was observed. This suggests loss of the mitochondrial membrane potential and mitochondrial damage. Twelve and 18 h after the addition of doxy, more than 50 and 80% of the cells were primary necrotic, respectively. Only after 48 h post-doxy addition, was DNA degradation observed. The decreased DNA content of the latter mimics some features of secondary necrotic death. However, DNA degradation occurred in cells that had already lost their membrane integrity. The cells should, therefore, be referred to as post-necrotic and not as postapoptotic. The passive influx of DNA degrading enzymes and/or Ca^{2+} most likely causes the chromatin degradation observed in necrotic cells. Expression of the CpnT_{CTD} protein in the presence of z-VAD-fmk showed the same phenotype as those not treated with the inhibitor, arguing for a caspase-independent type of cell death. A classical method to induce necrosis is a heat shock at 56°C for 30 min. As expected, cells became necrotic immediately after heating. This process was also not affected by the presence of z-VAD-fmk, suggesting that caspases were not required for death induced by this kind of heat shock.

Most anti-cancer therapies, like chemotherapy and radiotherapy, aim to induce cancer cell death. However, a central problem is to understand how the immune system determines whether cell death elicits immunogenic, tolerogenic, or silent responses. It has been reported that type and/or phase of cell death affect the immune response (3, 39). For example, cells treated with antracyclines, oxaliplatin, or UVC light develop a kind of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress response that involves recruitment of several actors of the apoptotic pathway and contributes to the exposure of calreticulin, which represents an important determinant of immunogenic cell death (40–42).

In order to evaluate whether a certain type of cell death is immunogenic or tolerogenic/silent, an allogeneic murine graft rejection model was employed. The s.c. tumor progression in BALB/c mice was monitored after immunizing the host with various kinds of dying/dead cells. We hypothesized that immunization with tolerogenic or silent forms of cell death would overcome or not affect the natural host immunity allowing tumor development in BALB/c mice, respectively. In contrast, immunogenic cell death would result in faster and more efficient rejection and persistent immunity (3, 43–47). Syngeneic implantation of viable B16F10 cells in C57/Bl6 mice reportedly resulted in high mortality because of the potent carcinogenicity making it difficult to evaluate the immune response against various kinds of cell death (48, 49). The allogeneic model, instead, allows us to compare the immune modulatory effects of cell death forms without compromising the welfare of the host (10-12).

Immune responses elicited by dying/dead cells in BALB/c mice were dependent on the death stimulus applied to the vaccine. Mice implanted with viable melanoma cells transiently produced primary tumors, but never developed secondary tumors after rechallenge (100% rejection). In contrast, mice immunized with irradiated cells supported the growth of secondary tumors similar to the naïve cohort. In order to explore this effect thoroughly, mice were challenged after having been immunized with dying/dead cells killed by various mechanisms.

Expression of the necrosis inducing protein domain CpnT_{CTD} in a B16F10 cell-based vaccine resulted in the most immunogenic type of cell death. Unexpectedly, expression of the pro-apoptotic constitutively active form of caspase-3 (revCasp-3) also induced a strongly immunogenic type of cell death. Massive apoptosis induced by the regulated expression of revCasp-3 in already implanted syngeneic tumors has been reported to be immunogenic (50). Expression of caspase-3 induced a high percentage of necrotic

cell death (early and late secondary necrosis). Heat-necrotized cells, which display membrane disruption already before injection, exhibited poor immunogenicity. This points to short-lived necrotic cell-derived signaling molecules, which would not be active anymore in the vaccine that had been necrotized before injection. Summarizing, in our model the time of appearance of membrane disruption in B16F10 cells did not correlate with the type of immune response the cells elicited. Noteworthy, UVB-irradiated cells showed the lowest percentage of necrotic cells and failed to trigger immunity. tBid-expressing cells and UVB-irradiated cells used for immunization clearly behaved silently and allowed the growth of allogeneic tumors, despite the presence of high levels of necrotic cells, as in naïve animals.

The unresponsiveness observed in our system cannot be explained solely by the exposure of PS. Similarly, DAMPs released or expressed after disruption of the plasma membrane are also not sufficient to explain the immunogenicity observed in our model. Therefore, we looked for common features of the two "silent" types of cell death, over-expression of tBid and UVB irradiation, and of the two immunogenic types of cell death, over-expression of revCasp-3 and CpnT_{CTD}. The common denominator in both cases is the prominent role of the mitochondria in the execution of death (39).

In our system, activation of the intrinsic pathway either by the recombinant expression of cleaved active Bid or by UVB irradiation may have caused death without relevant ROS production during the time frame the cells were employed for immunization (3-9 h after doxy treatment). Although some caspase-3 activity is to be expected in both tBid- and UVB-induced death, this was not enough to secondarily generate ROS. In contrast, downstream expression of revCasp-3 and CpnT_{CTD} may have caused death by activation of terminal effector mechanisms excluding the involvement of mitochondria. Therefore, we assume that in the revCasp-3 and CpnT_{CTD} cases, execution of cell death starts before mitochondrial function is severely compromised. After over-expression of revCasp-3, MOMP formation is induced allowing access of caspase-3 to the mitochondrial inter-membrane space, cleaving specific substrates in the complex I of the electron transport chain (like p75 NDUSF1) (51, 52). As a consequence, the electron transport is disrupted, and ROS is generated. In contrast, tBid expression causes severe damage to the mitochondria measured as a fast loss of the mitochondrial potential, suggesting fast MOMP formation thereby destroying electron transport abruptly. We propose that ROS can be produced in cells overexpressing revCasp-3 and possibly CpnT_{CTD} because mitochondrial activity is not severely affected by an intrinsic death stimulus. Ongoing cell death in the presence of functioning mitochondria would be important for intracellular ROS accumulation. Free radicals generated in this context may induce considerable stress in the ER, which has been associated with immunogenicity of the dying cells (3).

We suggest that intracellular accumulation of ROS intermediates may play a critical role in the generation of DAMPs affecting the ongoing allogeneic immune response. For example, oxidative damage to DNA enhances its immune-stimulatory capabilities once processed by the immune system (53). Avoiding intracellular accumulation of ROS by a selective manipulation of mitochondrial functionality before killing cells is a possible option to down-regulate the subsequent immune response. Reversely, conserving mitochondrial function as long as possible during cancer cell killing may increase the immunogenicity, if this is wanted.

Although NAC significantly inhibited ROS production in CpnT_{CTD}-expressing cells in vitro (Figure 3), the employment of this anti-oxidant during cell death induced by the expression of CpnT_{CTD} was not sufficient to abrogate their immunogenicity in our allo-immunization model. Interestingly, the addition of the specific mitochondrial ROS scavenger mitoTEMPO induced significant inhibition of ROS production in B16F10-revCasp-3 and B16F10-CpnT_{CTD} dying cells in vitro arguing for an important role of the mitochondria in ROS production. Since inhibition in vitro by NAC or mitoTEMPO was partial, ROS may be additionally produced in other cellular compartments like the ER. Noteworthy, it was demonstrated in yeasts that mitochondrial dysfunction indirectly induces ROS production in the ER by a novel mechanism mediated by suppression of the endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation (ERAD) pathway (54, 55). In line with this, ER stress may result in increased cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ concentrations and immunogenic cell death (56). Further investigation addressing the source and localization of ROS in these cells is needed to elucidate the exact role of ROS production during cell death and its immunological consequences, especially in in vivo models.

We speculate that some of the mechanisms observed in this manuscript might also work in patients with tumors, during tumor therapy and in some syngeneic tumor models. However, the application of tumor vaccines in human beings has, so far, been less successful. The association between intracellular ROS accumulation in dying cells and allogeneic tumor rejection may have the potential to intentionally shape anti-tumor immunity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project was supported by the German Research Foundation (SPP1468-IMMUNOBONE, collaborative research center 643 TP-B5, GA 1507/1-1, and DFG-Graduiertenkolleg 1660: key signals of the adaptive immune response), by the Emerging Fields Initiative (EFI) of the FAU Erlangen-Nuremberg, by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF; m4 Cluster, 01EX1021R) and the K. und R. Wucherpfennig-Stiftung. The authors acknowledge support by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and the Friedrich-Alexander-Universität within the open access publishing funding program. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://journal.frontiersin.org/Journal/10.3389/fimmu. 2014.00560/abstract

Figure S1 | UVB irradiation of B16F10 cells after doxycycline treatment. In order to rule out that an additional irradiation step interferes with the type of cell death induced by specific expression of the respective cytotoxic protein in the cell lines B16F10-tBid, B16F10-revCasp-3, and B16F10-CpnT_{CTD}, cells were induced to die with doxycyline (5 μ g/ml) and irradiated with a single dose of 240 mJ/cm² UVB at different time points (t = 4 h, t = 5 h, t = 6 h, and t = 7 h). Eighteen hours after doxycycline addition (t_0), the cells were harvested by

trypsinization and analyzed by FACS for PI staining. Cells killed solely by UVB or doxycycline were used as controls. Blue bars show death induced by irradiation alone. Red bars show death by doxycycline-regulated expression of each cytotoxic protein alone. Green bars show the combined effect of cytotoxic protein expression plus irradiation at different time points. Note that cells irradiated 4, 5, 6, and 7 h after doxycycline addition (green bars) died to the same extent as cells killed by doxycycline alone (red bars). These results suggest that after 4 h of incubation with doxy, the additional irradiation step did not significantly affect the degree of doxycycline-induced cell death despite of the additional damage caused by the irradiation. We, therefore, assumed that after 4 h the cytotoxic protein expression is sufficient to induce cell death as it would happen without irradiation. Irradiation at earlier time points significantly impaired doxycycline-regulated cell death (data not shown). This procedure ensured killing of the doxycycline-resistant cells in primary grafts in order to consequently avoid complications caused by proliferative signals emitted from the dying cells acting on the surviving tumor cells.

Figure S2 | Immune response against allogeneic dead and dying cells in

the presence of the ROS inhibitor NAC. BALB/c mice were immunized in the right flank s.c. (single dose) with dying B16F10 cells expressing $CpnT_{CTD}$ (red lines/bars) or dying B16F10 cells expressing $CpnT_{CTD}$ in the presence of the ROS inhibitor *n*-Acetylcysteine (NAC, green lines/bars). Displayed are the mean values (n = 7) of the relative tumor volumes and their SEMs and the respective integral of tumor size (total tumor mass) that was obtained in mice challenged s.c. in the left flank with 2 million VC of the parental cell line B16F10-644 10 days after immunization. The Mann–Whitney *U* test was applied to compare groups.

REFERENCES

- 1. Matzinger P. The danger model: a renewed sense of self. *Science* (2002) **296**(5566):301–5. doi:10.1126/science.1071059
- Schroppel B, Legendre C. Delayed kidney graft function: from mechanism to translation. *Kidney Int* (2014) 86:251–8. doi:10.1038/ki.2014.18
- Green DR, Ferguson T, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic and tolerogenic cell death. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(5):353–63. doi:10.1038/nri2545
- Kepp O, Senovilla L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic cell death inducers as anticancer agents. Oncotarget (2014) 5(14):5190–1.
- Kelland LR. Of mice and men: values and liabilities of the athymic nude mouse model in anticancer drug development. *Eur J Cancer* (2004) 40(6):827–36. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2003.11.028
- Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Martins I, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Michaud M, et al. Molecular determinants of immunogenic cell death elicited by anticancer chemotherapy. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* (2011) 30(1):61–9. doi:10.1007/s10555-011-9273-4
- Maueroder C, Chaurio RA, Platzer S, Munoz LE, Berens C. Model systems for rapid and slow induction of apoptosis obtained by inducible expression of proapoptotic proteins. *Autoimmunity* (2013) 46(5):329–35. doi:10.3109/08916934. 2012.752463
- Danilchanka O, Sun J, Pavlenok M, Maueröder C, Speer A, Siroy A, et al. An outer membrane channel protein of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* with exotoxin activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111:6750–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1400136111
- Munoz LE, Maueroder C, Chaurio R, Berens C, Herrmann M, Janko C. Colourful death: six-parameter classification of cell death by flow cytometry – dead cells tell tales. *Autoimmunity* (2013) 46(5):336–41. doi:10.3109/08916934.2012.755960
- United Kingdom Co-ordinating Committee on Cancer Research (UKCCCR) guidelines for the welfare of animals in experimental neoplasia (second edition). Br J Cancer (1998) 77(1):1–10. doi:10.1038/bjc.1998.1
- Jones-Bolin S. Guidelines for the care and use of laboratory animals in biomedical research. *Curr Protoc Pharmacol* (2012) 59:4B:A.4B.1–9. doi:10.1002/ 0471141755.pha04bs59
- Vale C, Stewart L, Tierney J. Trends in UK cancer trials: results from the UK coordinating committee for cancer research national register of cancer trials. *Br J Cancer* (2005) **92**(5):811–4. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6602425
- Janko C, Munoz L, Chaurio R, Maueroder C, Berens C, Lauber K, et al. Navigation to the graveyard-induction of various pathways of necrosis and their classification by flow cytometry. *Methods Mol Biol* (2013) 1004:3–15. doi:10.1007/978-1-62703-383-1_1
- Turk MJ, Guevara-Patino JA, Rizzuto GA, Engelhorn ME, Sakaguchi S, Houghton AN. Concomitant tumor immunity to a poorly immunogenic melanoma is prevented by regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* (2004) **200**(6):771–82. doi:10.1084/jem.20041130

- Appelt U, Sheriff A, Gaipl US, Kalden JR, Voll RE, Herrmann M. Viable, apoptotic and necrotic monocytes expose phosphatidylserine: cooperative binding of the ligand annexin V to dying but not viable cells and implications for PS-dependent clearance. *Cell Death Differ* (2005) 12(2):194–6. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4401527
- Franz S, Frey B, Sheriff A, Gaipl US, Beer A, Voll RE, et al. Lectins detect changes of the glycosylation status of plasma membrane constituents during late apoptosis. *Cytometry A* (2006) **69**(4):230–9. doi:10.1002/cyto.a.20206
- Zhang G, Gurtu V, Kain SR, Yan G. Early detection of apoptosis using a fluorescent conjugate of annexin V. *Biotechniques* (1997) 23(3):525–31.
- Saelens X, Festjens N, Vande Walle L, van Gurp M, van Loo G, Vandenabeele P. Toxic proteins released from mitochondria in cell death. *Oncogene* (2004) 23(16):2861–74. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1207523
- Troiano L, Ferraresi R, Lugli E, Nemes E, Roat E, Nasi M, et al. Multiparametric analysis of cells with different mitochondrial membrane potential during apoptosis by polychromatic flow cytometry. *Nat Protoc* (2007) 2(11):2719–27. doi:10.1038/nprot.2007.405
- Frey B, Schildkopf P, Rodel F, Weiss EM, Munoz LE, Herrmann M, et al. AnnexinA5 renders dead tumor cells immunogenic – implications for multimodal cancer therapies. J Immunotoxicol (2009) 6(4):209–16. doi:10.3109/ 15476910903204058
- Gaipl US, Munoz LE, Rodel F, Pausch F, Frey B, Brachvogel B, et al. Modulation of the immune system by dying cells and the phosphatidylserine-ligand annexin A5. *Autoimmunity* (2007) 40(4):254–9. doi:10.1080/08916930701357331
- Munoz LE, Frey B, Pausch F, Baum W, Mueller RB, Brachvogel B, et al. The role of annexin A5 in the modulation of the immune response against dying and dead cells. *Curr Med Chem* (2007) 14(3):271–7. doi:10.2174/092986707779941131
- Li H, Zhu H, Xu CJ, Yuan J. Cleavage of BID by caspase 8 mediates the mitochondrial damage in the Fas pathway of apoptosis. *Cell* (1998) 94(4):491–501. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81590-1
- Luo X, Budihardjo I, Zou H, Slaughter C, Wang X. Bid, a Bcl2 interacting protein, mediates cytochrome c release from mitochondria in response to activation of cell surface death receptors. *Cell* (1998) 94(4):481–90. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81589-5
- Youle RJ, Strasser A. The BCL-2 protein family: opposing activities that mediate cell death. Nat Rev Mol cell Biol (2008) 9(1):47–59. doi:10.1038/nrm2308
- Spencer SL, Gaudet S, Albeck JG, Burke JM, Sorger PK. Non-genetic origins of cell-to-cell variability in TRAIL-induced apoptosis. *Nature* (2009) 459(7245):428–32. doi:10.1038/nature08012
- 27. Eastman A. Apoptosis: a product of programmed and unprogrammed cell death. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (1993) **121**(1):160–4. doi:10.1006/taap.1993.1141
- Lieberthal W, Triaca V, Levine J. Mechanisms of death induced by cisplatin in proximal tubular epithelial cells: apoptosis vs. necrosis. *Am J Physiol* (1996) 270(4 Pt 2):F700–8.
- 29. Martin SJ, Green DR. Protease activation during apoptosis: death by a thousand cuts? *Cell* (1995) **82**(3):349–52. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90422-0
- Elmore S. Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. *Toxicol Pathol* (2007) 35(4):495–516. doi:10.1080/01926230701320337
- Shelton SN, Shawgo ME, Robertson JD. Cleavage of Bid by executioner caspases mediates feed forward amplification of mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization during genotoxic stress-induced apoptosis in Jurkat cells. *J Biol Chem* (2009) 284(17):11247–55. doi:10.1074/jbc.M809392200
- Patrick MH. Studies on thymine-derived UV photoproducts in DNA I. Formation and biological role of pyrimidine adducts in DNA. *Photochem Photobiol* (1977) 25(4):357–72. doi:10.1111/j.1751-1097.1977.tb07355.x
- Aragane Y, Kulms D, Metze D, Wilkes G, Poppelmann B, Luger TA, et al. Ultraviolet light induces apoptosis via direct activation of CD95 (Fas/APO-1) independently of its ligand CD95L. J Cell Biol (1998) 140(1):171–82. doi:10.1083/jcb.140.1.171
- Rehemtulla A, Hamilton CA, Chinnaiyan AM, Dixit VM. Ultraviolet radiationinduced apoptosis is mediated by activation of CD-95 (Fas/APO-1). *J Biol Chem* (1997) 272(41):25783–6. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.41.25783
- Rosette C, Karin M. Ultraviolet light and osmotic stress: activation of the JNK cascade through multiple growth factor and cytokine receptors. *Science* (1996) 274(5290):1194–7. doi:10.1126/science.274.5290.1194
- Garcia-Calvo M, Peterson EP, Leiting B, Ruel R, Nicholson DW, Thornberry NA. Inhibition of human caspases by peptide-based and macromolecular inhibitors. *J Biol Chem* (1998) 273(49):32608–13. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.49.32608
- 37. Kulms D, Zeise E, Poppelmann B, Schwarz T. DNA damage, death receptor activation and reactive oxygen species contribute to ultraviolet

radiation-induced apoptosis in an essential and independent way. Oncogene (2002) 21(38):5844-51. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1205743

- Schiller M, Blank N, Heyder P, Herrmann M, Gaipl US, Kalden JR, et al. Induction of apoptosis by spermine-metabolites in primary human blood cells and various tumor cell lines. *Apoptosis* (2005) 10(5):1151–62. doi:10.1007/s10495-005-1188-5
- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Abrams JM, Alnemri ES, Baehrecke EH, Blagosklonny MV, et al. Molecular definitions of cell death subroutines: recommendations of the nomenclature committee on cell death 2012. *Cell Death Differ* (2012) 19(1):107–20. doi:10.1038/cdd.2011.96
- Casares N, Pequignot MO, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Roux S, Chaput N, et al. Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicin-induced tumor cell death. *J Exp Med* (2005) 202(12):1691–701. doi:10.1084/jem.20050915
- Panaretakis T, Kepp O, Brockmeier U, Tesniere A, Bjorklund AC, Chapman DC, et al. Mechanisms of pre-apoptotic calreticulin exposure in immunogenic cell death. *EMBO J* (2009) 28(5):578–90. doi:10.1038/emboj.2009.1
- Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Senovilla L, Menger L, Chaput N, Kroemer G. Immunogenic tumor cell death for optimal anticancer therapy: the calreticulin exposure pathway. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16(12):3100–4. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-2891
- Kepp O, Tesniere A, Schlemmer F, Michaud M, Senovilla L, Zitvogel L, et al. Immunogenic cell death modalities and their impact on cancer treatment. *Apoptosis* (2009) 14(4):364–75. doi:10.1007/s10495-008-0303-9
- 44. Kepp O, Tesniere A, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. The immunogenicity of tumor cell death. Curr Opin Oncol (2009) 21(1):71–6. doi:10.1097/CCO. 0b013e32831bc375
- Kono H, Rock KL. How dying cells alert the immune system to danger. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8(4):279–89. doi:10.1038/nri2215
- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12(12):860–75. doi:10.1038/nrc3380
- LaLadoire S, Hannani D, Vetizou M, Locher C, Aymeric L, Apetoh L, et al. Celldeath-associated molecular patterns as determinants of cancer immunogenicity. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2013) 20(7):1098–116. doi:10.1089/ars.2012.5133
- Briles EB, Kornfeld S. Isolation and metastatic properties of detachment variants of B16 melanoma cells. J Natl Cancer Inst (1978) 60(6):1217–22.
- Fidler IJ. Biological behavior of malignant melanoma cells correlated to their survival in vivo. *Cancer Res* (1975) 35(1):218–24.
- Melis MH, Simpson KL, Dovedi SJ, Welman A, MacFarlane M, Dive C, et al. Sustained tumour eradication after induced caspase-3 activation and synchronous tumour apoptosis requires an intact host immune response. *Cell Death Differ* (2013) 20(5):765–73. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.8

- Ricci JE, Gottlieb RA, Green DR. Caspase-mediated loss of mitochondrial function and generation of reactive oxygen species during apoptosis. J Cell Biol (2003) 160(1):65–75. doi:10.1083/jcb.200208089
- 52. Ricci JE, Munoz-Pinedo C, Fitzgerald P, Bailly-Maitre B, Perkins GA, Yadava N, et al. Disruption of mitochondrial function during apoptosis is mediated by caspase cleavage of the p75 subunit of complex I of the electron transport chain. *Cell* (2004) **117**(6):773–86. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.05.008
- Gehrke N, Mertens C, Zillinger T, Wenzel J, Bald T, Zahn S, et al. Oxidative damage of DNA confers resistance to cytosolic nuclease TREX1 degradation and potentiates STING-dependent immune sensing. *Immunity* (2013) 39(3):482–95. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.004
- 54. Leadsham JE, Sanders G, Giannaki S, Bastow EL, Hutton R, Naeimi WR, et al. Loss of cytochrome c oxidase promotes RAS-dependent ROS production from the ER resident NADPH oxidase, Yno1p, in yeast. *Cell Metab* (2013) 18(2):279–86. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2013.07.005
- Murphy MP. Mitochondrial dysfunction indirectly elevates ROS production by the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell Metab* (2013) 18(2):145–6. doi:10.1016/j.cmet. 2013.07.006
- Kepp O, Menger L, Vacchelli E, Locher C, Adjemian S, Yamazaki T, et al. Crosstalk between ER stress and immunogenic cell death. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2013) 24(4):311–8. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2013.05.001

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 10 February 2014; accepted: 21 October 2014; published online: 11 November 2014.

Citation: Chaurio RA, Muñoz LE, Maueröder C, Janko C, Harrer T, Fürnrohr BG, Niederweis M, Bilyy R, Schett G, Herrmann M and Berens C (2014) The progression of cell death affects the rejection of allogeneic tumors in immunecompetent mice – implications for cancer therapy. Front. Immunol. 5:560. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00560

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Chaurio, Muñoz, Maueröder, Janko, Harrer, Fürnrohr, Niederweis, Bilyy, Schett, Herrmann and Berens. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Tumor immunotherapy: lessons from autoimmunity

Christian Maueröder¹, Luis Enrique Munoz¹, Ricardo Alfredo Chaurio¹, Martin Herrmann¹, Georg Schett¹ and Christian Berens²*

¹ Institute of Clinical Immunology, Department of Internal Medicine 3, University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany

² Department of Biology, University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany

*Correspondence: christian.berens@fau.de

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Pedro Berraondo, Centro de Investigación Médica Aplicada, Spain Ainhoa Arina, The University of Chicago, USA

Keywords: immunotherapy, tumor vaccination, cell death, tumor microenvironment, autoimmunity, danger model

The sequel to the landmark article "The Hallmarks of Cancer" adds two emerging hallmarks and two enabling characteristics to the six original hallmarks (1). One emerging hallmark is the property of cancer cells to escape the immune system. Clinically apparent tumors arise as winners in a complex, hard-fought duel between cancer cell survival and eradication by the immune system.

Immunoediting, a term used for describing interactions between tumor and immune system, only occurs when, during the process of malignant transformation, cells develop features recognized by the immune system (2). The contribution of the immune system to recognition and elimination of malignant cells has been and still is being discussed controversially: some studies support the concept of immunosurveillance (3, 4), whereas others only observed small effects of the immune system in the prevention of cancer (5, 6). Recent studies suggest that, while there is evidence for immunosurveillance, not all aspects of the interaction between malignant cells and the immune system can be explained by immunoediting alone (7): some tumors never show properties making them targets of the immune system, whereas other tumors are recognized, but not eliminated due to immune suppression induced by the tumor.

However, if tumor cells are recognized as "altered cells," their perpetual confrontation with the immune system evokes strong selection conditions favoring tumor cells that (I) lose properties making them targets of the immune system and (II) gain properties making them appear non-dangerous (8). If the tumor succeeds in decreasing its immunogenicity, it will reach a stage when the immune system does not consider those cells to be "altered-self" anymore. The tumor is now perceived as "self" and non-dangerous, with all privileges of normal healthy tissues.

When we think about therapies that elicit anti-tumor responses at this stage, we actually have to think about re-creating and enforcing tumor recognition, because, malignant tissues, although having been infiltrated by T-effector lymphocytes and, thus, being recognized by the immune system, frequently do not show remission. This correlates with reports that recruitment of T-effector lymphocytes to the site of the tumor is not necessarily sufficient for its eradication and that tumor immunity heavily depends on breaking tumor tolerance, i.e., by depletion of T-regulatory lymphocytes or by shielding T-effector lymphocytes from immune-suppressive molecules like PD-L1 (9). We propose that the need for inducing immunity and breaking of tolerance might be akin to activating some kind of tumor-specific (auto)immunity.

The ideal tumor therapy results in local control of the primary tumor, systemic control of potential metastases and triggers an anti-tumor immune response ultimately leading to the elimination of all malignant cells. To achieve this, tumor therapy needs to deal with the problem that the immune system does not consider the tumor being dangerous anymore – it has been adopted as "self-organ." Consequently, tumor therapy should focus on making the immune system aware of this hidden danger.

This concept was first put into practice by William Coley, who injected a cocktail of dead bacteria into tumors in the late 1800s, achieving cures in \approx 30% of his patients with sarcoma and lymphoma (10, 11). The mechanism responsible for this seems to be LPS-induced IL-12 secretion triggering a robust bystander Th1-response against the tumor cells (12). Likewise, an attenuated Salmonella vaccine can induce a shift in the tumor milieu from an immunesuppressive to an immunogenic microenvironment (13). The most successful application derived from Coley's work is treatment of bladder cancer with the Bacillus Calmette-Guerin vaccine: it has become the standard therapy for superficial bladder cancer, eradicating existing tumors, reducing the frequency of tumor recurrence, delaying stage progression, and increasing survival (14). The advantage of such strategies is their lack of specificity. The immune response is not restricted to a single and, most likely, highly specific and selectable "tumor-antigen," but the presence of danger signals at the site of the tumor "uncloaks" the cancer cells, turning them into broad range immune targets. At this point, we can exploit a mechanism, which causes a break in self-tolerance in autoimmune diseases: transient autoimmunity accompanying any inflammatory process can, in the context of steady exposure to auto-antigens and danger signals, develop into stable autoimmunity. Following Polly Matzinger's ideas, the key to success of danger-based tumor vaccination strategies rests on repeated administration of the vaccine (15). Repeated immunization should help overcome transient tumor immunity and establish persistent protection.

One danger-based tumor vaccination approach conducts the immunization with dving tumor cells (16, 17). Certain kinds of dying or dead cells can trigger immune responses under the right conditions. The potential of dying/dead cells to induce autoimmunity can be seen in "systemic lupus erythematosus" (SLE), a chronic inflammatory disease, in which defective clearance of apoptotic cells leads to the accumulation of secondary necrotic cells, the release of danger signals, the presentation of auto-antigens and, finally, a chronic break in self-tolerance (18-20). Based on these observations, one can assume that, under the appropriate conditions, entities once considered to be nondangerous can become re-considered dangerous. We propose that one can learn from the processes which cause breaks of self-tolerance in patients with SLE and try to harness them to induce tumor (auto-) immunity.

In the context of tumor immunology, cell death is a double-edged sword. Tumor cells often modulate apoptotic pathways rendering them less responsive to death stimuli. Down-regulation of Fas expression or resistance to Fas-mediated apoptosis are common strategies of tumor cells to escape immunosurveillance (21) and are associated with resistance to therapy, metastatic capacity, and poor prognosis. For example, c-Jun and Stat-3 act as oncogenes by cooperatively repressing the transcription of Fas, rendering tumor cells insensitive to FasLinduced apoptosis (22). A complete loss of Fas expression is less common, possibly to low-level expression of Fas supporting tumor growth (23). Many other mechanisms to evade elimination by apoptosis, i.e., suppression of caspase-8 activity by CDK1/CYCLIN B1 dependent phosphorylation (24), bcl-2 amplification (25), and loss of pro-apoptotic proteins like BAX (26) and PUMA (27), have been reported for a large variety of cancer types (28).

These findings are hard to reconcile with the observation that a high rate of tumor cell apoptosis is accompanied by poor prognosis in some types of cancer (29–31). It is known that cancer cells show many different changes to the apoptotic machinery (28, 32); but does this mean they have lost all capability to execute apoptosis? Apoptosis is necessary for tissue homeostasis, contributes to the maintenance of peripheral tolerance and might even play a role in the induction of the latter (33, 34). The fact that most chemotherapeutics at least initially induce tumor apoptosis confirms that cancer cells frequently retain their ability to execute apoptosis (35, 36). It is reasonable to assume that those parts of the apoptotic machinery involved in the induction of extrinsic apoptosis by the immune system preferentially experience negative selection. If other parts of the apoptotic pathway would also be a potential source of harm, why do they, in defiance of the exceptional adaptability of cancer cells, still function properly? We suggest that, in contrast to the oversimplified illustration, cancer cells do not completely lose their capability to undergo apoptosis, but that their apoptotic machinery can instead be "hijacked" in a way that not only sustains their existence, but also accelerates tumor formation (37-39): an "altruistic" death of limited amounts of cancer cells is a possible way to support the survival of the tumor on the whole.

Over the years, the tumor-supportive effects of apoptotic tumor cells have received greater recognition, and it is now assumed that apoptotic tumor cells and the corresponding phagocytes participate in forming and shaping the tumor microenvironment (40). Apoptotic cells release a diverse spectrum of molecules, which act as "keep-out," "find-me," "eat-me," and "tolerate-me" signals and ensure that the clearance of apoptotic cells is facilitated by defined groups of phagocytes, in particular by macrophages (41).

Of particular interest are lipid mediators, which are released from cells undergoing apoptosis: (I) lysophosphatidylcholine is a potent chemoattractant for macrophages and is released from cells executing apoptosis (42). (II) Upon proteolytic activation of sphingosine kinase 2, sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) is released from apoptotic cells (43). In addition to its role as a chemoattractant (44), S1P polarizes macrophages toward a noninflammatory phenotype (M2), characterized by decreased secretion of TNF- α and IL-12-p70 and increased formation of IL-8 and Il-10 (45).

The engulfment of apoptotic cells by macrophages induces their polarization

toward the M2-phenotype (Figure 1A). These alternatively activated macrophages tune down inflammation and promote angiogenesis, tissue remodeling, and repair (46, 47). Furthermore, phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by M1-macrophages also triggers a shift toward alternative activation (48). Fittingly, a large number of macrophages at the site of the tumor are associated with a poor prognosis and these tumor-associated macrophages share many characteristics with M2macrophages (49, 50). Their presence at the site of a tumor supports Dvorak's concept that tumors are "wounds that do not heal" (51).

In line with these findings is the observation that inhibiting the clearance of apoptotic tumor cells by administration of Annexin-A5 retards tumor growth in a colorectal carcinoma model and greatly enhances the effect of immunization with irradiated lymphoma cells in a lymphoma model (52, 53). The data presented suggests that this is due to the fact that the non-inflammatory clearance of apoptotic cells by macrophages is blocked so that the apoptotic cells get secondarily necrotic. The concomitant loss of membrane integrity is accompanied by the release of danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMP), which act as natural adjuvants. Phagocytosis of secondary necrotic cells by macrophages (Figure 1B) leads to an increased expression of TNF- α and IL-1 β . In addition, several DAMPs released from secondary necrotic cells, like HMGB1 and HMGN1, are potent stimuli for dendritic cell maturation (54).

The close interaction between tumors, the immune system and cell death gives rise to new therapeutic approaches. Some aspects of this interaction may be exploited to support conventional cancer therapies. Systemic administration of Annexin-A5 or other phosphatidylserine ligands may help slow down tumor progression by blocking the tumor-supportive properties of apoptotic cells. In combination with radio- or chemotherapy, Annexin-A5 could be used as a natural adjuvant, which increases the immunogenicity of dying tumor cells and, thus, helps elicit an anti-tumor immune response (55). This may be especially helpful in targeting cancer cells, which have



resisted therapy and would possibly lead to a relapse.

Until recently, cell death was either characterized as programed and apoptotic, or accidental and necrotic. This paradigm has been undermined by the discovery of several other forms of cell death, ranging from immunogenic apoptosis (56) or necroptosis (57) to pyroptosis (58, 59). So, in addition to manipulating cell death induced by radio- or chemotherapy in a way to increase its immunogenicity, the direct induction of immunogenic tumor cell death pathways might become a promising approach in cancer therapy (17, 54, 60), especially, since our means of controlling the manner of cell death have greatly increased during recent years (61-63).

Surgical removal of malignant tissue plays an important role in modern cancer therapy. The cancer cells obtained in this process may be used as a vaccine to establish anti-tumor immunity, if treated and administered properly. The focus must be on cancer cells dying by immunostimulatory forms of cell death leading to necrotic cell corpses, whose deployment would activate antigen-presentingcells. This way, the specific autologous tumor cells can serve as reservoirs of tumor antigens, which, upon phagocytosis by inflammatory macrophages and dendritic cells, are effectively (cross-)presented. The impact of the vaccine could be optimized by repeated administration of the dying cells. However, we have to be very careful, since a recent study indicates that excessive immune responses against cancer can result in an increased risk of developing the autoimmune disease scleroderma (64), pointing out several parallels between the induction of autoimmunity and immunosurveillance. While this study actually supports the idea that mechanisms inducing autoimmunity can also be used to elicit tumor immunity, it also suggests that any agents used to recruit antitumor responses must be well-balanced. After all, nobody wants to escape cancer's fire by jumping into the frying pan of autoimmunity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project was supported by the German Research Foundation (SPP1468-IMMUNOBONE, collaborative research centers 643/TP-B5 and 796/TP-C4, GA 1507/1-1, and DFG-Graduiertenkolleg 1660: key signals of the adaptive immune response), by the Emerging Fields Initiative (EFI) of the FAU Erlangen-Nuremberg, by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF; m4 Cluster, 01EX1021R) and the K. und R. Wucherpfennig-Stiftung.

REFERENCES

- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* (2011) 144:646–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Vesely MD, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: antigens, mechanisms, and implications to cancer immunotherapy. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2013) 1284:1–5. doi:10.1111/nyas.12105
- Engel AM, Svane IM, Rygaard J, Werdelin O. MCA sarcomas induced in scid mice are more immunogenic than MCA sarcomas induced in congenic, immunocompetent mice. *Scand J Immunol* (1997) 45:463–70. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3083.1997. d01-419.x
- Street SE, Cretney E, Smyth MJ. Perforin and interferon-gamma activities independently control tumor initiation, growth, and metastasis. *Blood* (2001) 97:192–7. doi:10.1182/blood.V97.1.192
- Ciampricotti M, Vrijland K, Hau CS, Pemovska T, Doornebal CW, Speksnijder EN, et al. Development of metastatic HER2(+) breast cancer is independent of the adaptive immune system. *J Pathol* (2011) 224:56–66. doi:10.1002/path.2837
- Stutman O. Tumor development after 3methylcholanthrene in immunologically deficient athymic-nude mice. *Science* (1974) 183:534–6. doi: 10.1126/science.183.4124.534
- Manjili MH. Revisiting cancer immunoediting by understanding cancer immune complexity. *J Pathol* (2011) 224:5–9. doi:10.1002/path.2865
- Riedl S, Rinner B, Asslaber M, Schaider H, Walzer S, Novak A, et al. In search of a novel target – phosphatidylserine exposed by nonapoptotic tumor cells and metastases of malignancies with poor treatment efficacy. *Biochim Biophys*

Acta (2011) **1808**:2638–45. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem. 2011.07.026

- Binder DC, Engels B, Arina A, Yu P, Slauch JM, Fu YX, et al. Antigen-specific bacterial vaccine combined with anti-PD-L1 rescues dysfunctional endogenous T cells to reject long-established cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2013) 1:123–33. doi:10. 1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0058
- Nauts HC, Fowler GA, Bogatko FH. A review of the influence of bacterial infection and of bacterial products (Coley's toxins) on malignant tumors in man; a critical analysis of 30 inoperable cases treated by Coley's mixed toxins, in which diagnosis was confirmed by microscopic examination selected for special study. *Acta Med Scand Suppl* (1953) 276:1–103.
- Coley WB. Further observations upon the treatment of malignant tumors with the toxins of erysipelas and *Bacillus* prodigious with a report of 160 cases. *Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp* (1896) 7:715.
- Tsung K, Norton JA. Lessons from Coley's toxin. Surg Oncol (2006) 15:25–8. doi:10.1016/j.suronc. 2006.05.002
- Hong EH, Chang SY, Lee BR, Pyun AR, Kim JW, Kweon MN, et al. Intratumoral injection of attenuated *Salmonella* vaccine can induce tumor microenvironmental shift from immune suppressive to immunogenic. *Vaccine* (2013) **31**:1377–84. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.01.006
- Herr HW, Morales A. History of Bacillus Calmette-Guerin and bladder cancer: an immunotherapy success story. J Urol (2008) 179:53–6. doi:10.1016/ j.juro.2007.08.122
- Matzinger P. The danger model: a renewed sense of self. *Science* (2002) **296**:301–5. doi:10.1126/ science.1071059
- Griffith TS, Ferguson TA. Cell death in the maintenance and abrogation of tolerance: the five Ws of dying cells. *Immunity* (2011) 35:456–66. doi:10. 1016/j.immuni.2011.08.011
- Green DR, Ferguson T, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic and tolerogenic cell death. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9:353–63. doi:10.1038/nri2545
- Munoz LE, Lauber K, Schiller M, Manfredi AA, Herrmann M. The role of defective clearance of apoptotic cells in systemic autoimmunity. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2010) 6:280–9. doi:10.1038/nrrheum. 2010.46
- Baumann I, Kolowos W, Voll RE, Manger B, Gaipl U, Neuhuber WL, et al. Impaired uptake of apoptotic cells into tingible body macrophages in germinal centers of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* (2002) 46:191–201. doi:10.1002/1529-0131(200201)46: 1<191::AID-ART10027>3.0.CO;2-K
- Munoz LE, Janko C, Grossmayer GE, Frey B, Voll RE, Kern P, et al. Remnants of secondarily necrotic cells fuel inflammation in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* (2009) **60**:1733–42. doi:10.1002/art.24535
- Mottolese M, Buglioni S, Bracalenti C, Cardarelli MA, Ciabocco L, Giannarelli D, et al. Prognostic relevance of altered Fas (CD95)system in human breast cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2000) 89:127–32. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(20000320)89:2<127::AID-IJC5>3.0.CO;2-4
- 22. Ivanov VN, Bhoumik A, Krasilnikov M, Raz R, Owen-Schaub LB, Levy D, et al. Cooperation

between STAT3 and c-Jun suppresses Fas transcription. *Mol Cell* (2001) **7**:517–28. doi:10.1016/ S1097-2765(01)00199-X

- Chen L, Park SM, Tumanov AV, Hau A, Sawada K, Feig C, et al. CD95 promotes tumour growth. *Nature* (2010) 465:492–6. doi:10.1038/ nature09075
- Matthess Y, Raab M, Sanhaji M, Lavrik IN, Strebhardt K. Cdk1/cyclin B1 controls Fas-mediated apoptosis by regulating caspase-8 activity. *Mol Cell Biol* (2010) **30**:5726–40. doi:10.1128/MCB. 00731-10
- Cleary ML, Sklar J. Nucleotide sequence of a t(14;18) chromosomal breakpoint in follicular lymphoma and demonstration of a breakpoint-cluster region near a transcriptionally active locus on chromosome 18. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1985) 82:7439–43. doi:10.1073/pnas.82.21. 7439
- Rampino N, Yamamoto H, Ionov Y, Li Y, Sawai H, Reed JC, et al. Somatic frameshift mutations in the BAX gene in colon cancers of the microsatellite mutator phenotype. *Science* (1997) 275:967–9. doi:10.1126/science.275.5302.967
- Beroukhim R, Mermel CH, Porter D, Wei G, Raychaudhuri S, Donovan J, et al. The landscape of somatic copy-number alteration across human cancers. *Nature* (2010) 463:899–905. doi:10.1038/ nature08822
- Fernald K, Kurokawa M. Evading apoptosis in cancer. *Trends Cell Biol* (2013) 23:620–33. doi:10.1016/ j.tcb.2013.07.006
- Soini Y, Raunio H, Paakko P. High-grade malignant non-Hodgkin's lymphomas differ from low-grade lymphomas in the extent of apoptosis and their expression of bcl-2, mcl-1, bax and p53. *Tumour Biol* (1998) 19:176–85. doi:10.1159/000030005
- Stammler G, Sauerbrey A, Zintl F, Volm M. Apoptotic index, Fas and bcl-2 in initial and relapsed childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Apoptosis* (1997) 2:377–83. doi:10. 1023/A:1026405707823
- Bendardaf R, Ristamaki R, Kujari H, Laine J, Lamlum H, Collan Y, et al. Apoptotic index and bcl-2 expression as prognostic factors in colorectal carcinoma. *Oncology* (2003) 64:435–42. doi:10.1159/ 000070304
- 32. Delbridge AR, Valente LJ, Strasser A. The role of the apoptotic machinery in tumor suppression. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2012) 4:a008789. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a008789
- Uderhardt S, Herrmann M, Oskolkova OV, Aschermann S, Bicker W, Ipseiz N, et al. 12/15-Lipoxygenase orchestrates the clearance of apoptotic cells and maintains immunologic tolerance. *Immunity* (2012) 36:834–46. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2012.03.010
- 34. Steinman RM, Turley S, Mellman I, Inaba K. The induction of tolerance by dendritic cells that have captured apoptotic cells. *J Exp Med* (2000) 191:411–6. doi:10.1084/jem.191.3.411
- Jordan P, Carmo-Fonseca M. Molecular mechanisms involved in cisplatin cytotoxicity. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2000) 57:1229–35. doi:10.1007/ PL00000762
- 36. Del Gaizo Moore V, Letai A. BH3 profiling measuring integrated function of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway to predict cell fate

decisions. *Cancer Lett* (2013) **332**:202–5. doi:10. 1016/j.canlet.2011.12.021

- Sarosiek KA, Ni Chonghaile T, Letai A. Mitochondria: gatekeepers of response to chemotherapy. *Trends Cell Biol* (2013) 23:612–9. doi:10.1016/j.tcb. 2013.08.003
- Chaurio R, Janko C, Schorn C, Maueröder C, Bilyy R, Gaipl U, et al. UVB-irradiated apoptotic cells induce accelerated growth of co-implanted viable tumor cells in immune competent mice. *Autoimmunity* (2013) 46:317–22. doi:10.3109/08916934. 2012.754433
- 39. Lauber K, Munoz LE, Berens C, Jendrossek V, Belka C, Herrmann M. Apoptosis induction and tumor cell repopulation: the Yin and Yang of radiotherapy. *Radiat Oncol* (2011) 6:176. doi:10.1186/1748-717X-6-176
- Gregory CD, Pound JD. Cell death in the neighbourhood: direct microenvironmental effects of apoptosis in normal and neoplastic tissues. *J Pathol* (2011) 223:177–94. doi:10.1002/path.2792
- Hochreiter-Hufford A, Ravichandran KS. Clearing the dead: apoptotic cell sensing, recognition, engulfment, and digestion. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2013) 5:a008748. doi:10.1101/ cshperspect.a008748
- Lauber K, Bohn E, Kröber SM, Xiao Y-J, Blumenthal SG, Lindemann RK, et al. Apoptotic cells induce migration of phagocytes via caspase-3-mediated release of a lipid attraction signal. *Cell* (2003) 113:717–30. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(03) 00422-7
- 43. Weigert A, Cremer S, Schmidt MV, von Knethen A, Angioni C, Geisslinger G, et al. Cleavage of sphingosine kinase 2 by caspase-1 provokes its release from apoptotic cells. *Blood* (2010) 115:3531–40. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-10-243444
- 44. Gude DR, Alvarez SE, Paugh SW, Mitra P, Yu J, Griffiths R, et al. Apoptosis induces expression of sphingosine kinase 1 to release sphingosine-1-phosphate as a "come-and-get-me" signal. *FASEB J* (2008) 22:2629–38. doi:10.1096/fj.08-107169
- 45. Weigert A, Tzieply N, von Knethen A, Johann AM, Schmidt H, Geisslinger G, et al. Tumor cell apoptosis polarizes macrophages role of sphingosine-1phosphate. *Mol Biol Cell* (2007) 18:3810–9. doi:10. 1091/mbc.E06-12-1096
- Sica A, Larghi P, Mancino A, Rubino L, Porta C, Totaro MG, et al. Macrophage polarization in tumour progression. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2008) 18:349–55. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2008.03.004
- Voll RE, Herrmann M, Roth EA, Stach C, Kalden JR, Girkontaite I. Immunosuppressive effects of apoptotic cells. *Nature* (1997) **390**:350–1. doi:10.1038/ 37022
- Reiter I, Krammer B, Schwamberger G. Cutting edge: differential effect of apoptotic versus necrotic tumor cells on macrophage antitumor activities. J Immunol (1999) 163:1730–2.
- Takanami I, Takeuchi K, Kodaira S. Tumorassociated macrophage infiltration in pulmonary adenocarcinoma: association with angiogenesis and poor prognosis. *Oncology* (1999) 57:138–42. doi:10.1159/000012021
- Steidl C, Lee T, Shah SP, Farinha P, Han G, Nayar T, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages and survival in classic Hodgkin's lymphoma. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 362:875–85. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0905680

- 51. Dvorak HF. Tumors: wounds that do not heal. Similarities between tumor stroma generation and wound healing. *N Engl J Med* (1986) **315**:1650–9. doi:10.1056/NEJM198612253152606
- Bondanza A, Zimmermann VS, Rovere-Querini P, Turnay J, Dumitriu IE, Stach CM, et al. Inhibition of phosphatidylserine recognition heightens the immunogenicity of irradiated lymphoma cells in vivo. J Exp Med (2004) 200:1157–65. doi:10.1084/jem.20040327
- Frey B, Schildkopf P, Rödel F, Weiss EM, Munoz LE, Herrmann M, et al. AnnexinA5 renders dead tumor cells immunogenic – implications for multimodal cancer therapies. *J Immunotoxicol* (2009) 6:209–16. doi:10.3109/15476910903204058
- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:860–75. doi:10.1038/nrc3380
- Munoz LE, Franz S, Pausch F, Fürnrohr B, Sheriff A, Vogt B, et al. The influence on the immunomodulatory effects of dying and dead cells of Annexin V. J Leukoc Biol (2007) 81:6–14. doi:10.1189/jlb. 0306166
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P. The emergence of phox-ER stress induced immunogenic apoptosis. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:786–8. doi:10.4161/onci.19750
- 57. Degterev A, Huang Z, Boyce M, Li Y, Jagtap P, Mizushima N, et al. Chemical inhibitor of nonapoptotic cell death with therapeutic potential

for ischemic brain injury. *Nat Chem Biol* (2005) 1:112–9. doi:10.1038/nchembio0905-234a

- Brennan MA, Cookson BT. Salmonella induces macrophage death by caspase-1-dependent necrosis. Mol Microbiol (2000) 38:31–40. doi:10.1046/j. 1365-2958.2000.02103.x
- 59. Doitsh G, Galloway NL, Geng X, Yang Z, Monroe KM, Zepeda O, et al. Cell death by pyroptosis drives CD4 T-cell depletion in HIV-1 infection. *Nature* (2014) 505:509–14. doi:10.1038/ nature12940
- Vacchelli E, Senovilla L, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, Zitvogel L, et al. Trial watch: chemotherapy with immunogenic cell death inducers. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e23510. doi: 10.4161/onci.23510
- Maueröder C, Chaurio RA, Platzer S, Munoz LE, Berens C. Model systems for rapid and slow induction of apoptosis obtained by inducible expression of pro-apoptotic proteins. *Autoimmunity* (2013) 46:329–35. doi:10.3109/08916934. 2012.752463
- 62. Lohmann C, Muschaweckh A, Kirschnek S, Jennen L, Wagner H, Häcker G. Induction of tumor cell apoptosis or necrosis by conditional expression of cell death proteins: analysis of cell death pathways and in vitro immune stimulatory potential. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:4538–46. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0803989
- 63. Pattingre S, Tassa A, Qu X, Garuti R, Liang XH, Mizushima N, et al. Bcl-2 antiapoptotic proteins

inhibit beclin 1-dependent autophagy. *Cell* (2005) **122**:927–39. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.07.002

64. Joseph CG, Darrah E, Shah AA, Skora AD, Casciola-Rosen LA, Wigley FM, et al. Association of the autoimmune disease scleroderma with an immunologic response to cancer. *Science* (2014) 343:152–7. doi:10.1126/science.1246886

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 06 February 2014; accepted: 28 April 2014; published online: 13 May 2014.

Citation: Maueröder C, Munoz LE, Chaurio RA, Herrmann M, Schett G and Berens C (2014) Tumor immunotherapy: lessons from autoimmunity. Front. Immunol. **5**:212. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00212

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Maueröder, Munoz, Chaurio, Herrmann, Schett and Berens. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Modulation of antigen-specific T-cells as immune therapy for chronic infectious diseases and cancer

Suling Li¹, Alistair L. J. Symonds², Tizong Miao², Ian Sanderson² and Ping Wang²*

¹ Bioscience, Brunel University, London, UK

² Blizard Institute (BICMS), Barts and the London School of Medicine and Dentistry, London, UK

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Jianping Huang, University of Florida, USA Alex Yee-Chen Huang, Case Western

Reserve University School of Medicine, USA

*Correspondence:

Ping Wang, 4 Newark Street, London E1 2AT, UK e-mail: p.wang@qmul.ac.uk T-cell responses are induced by antigen presenting cells (APC) and signals from the microenvironment. Antigen persistence and inflammatory microenvironments in chronic infections and cancer can induce a tolerant state in T-cells resulting in hyporesponsiveness, loss of effector function, and weak biochemical signaling patterns in response to antigen stimulation. Although the mechanisms of T-cell tolerance induced in chronic infection and cancer may differ from those involved in tolerance to self-antigen, the impaired proliferation and production of IL-2 in response to antigen stimulation are hallmarks of all tolerant T cells. In this review, we will summarize the evidence that the immune responses change from nonself to "self"-like in chronic infection and cancer, and will provide an overview of strategies for re-balancing the immune response of antigen-specific T cells in chronic infection and cancer without affecting the homeostasis of the immune system.

Keywords: tolerance induction, antigen-specific T cells, bystander T-cells, nanoAPC, reverse tolerance

INTRODUCTION

T cells are essential for robust adaptive immune responses against pathogen invasion, as well as maintaining immune tolerance to self-antigens. In the tolerant state, T cells generally fail to proliferate and produce IL-2 in response to antigen stimulation (1, 2). Anergy and immune regulation are two interconnected mechanisms that maintain peripheral tolerance to self-antigens in vivo. In contrast to the biochemical events induced during effective responses to pathogenic antigens, in anergy the biochemical signaling pathways in T cells are only partially activated. Activation of the calcium/calcineurin/nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) pathway, but not AP1 and NFkB pathways (1-3), in anergic conditions results in the expression of tolerance associated genes such as E3-ligases (1-3). This partial TCR signaling is largely due to the lack of additional signals such as costimulatory signals and activating cytokines such as IL-2, or due to direct regulation by Treg (2). Therefore, altered expression of costimulatory signals and/or activating cytokines, or defective Treg function, results in full activation of TCR signals in response to self-antigens and may induce autoimmune responses. Recent studies have uncovered hyporesponsive phenotypes with partial activation of biochemical events in virus specific T cells in chronic infectious diseases (4, 5) and models mimicking chronic infectious conditions (5, 6). These findings indicate that during chronic infection the T-cells switch from mounting robust non-self responses to a state similar to self-tolerance due to antigen persistence and/or changes in the microenvironment. Similar to the immunological milieu of chronic infection, the tumor microenvironment contains a multitude of suppressive mechanisms that allow tumors to escape immune surveillance (4, 7). Immune hyporesponsive states have been studied in many different models in vitro and in vivo and have been categorized based on the phenotypes discovered in each tolerant state (8).

This review will briefly summarize the extracellular signals that affect self-tolerance or effector function of antigen-specific T cells. We will describe the application of these signals in therapeutic intervention and focus on the recently developed nano-technologies that can reverse the tolerant state of viral specific T cells by delivering costimulatory or cytokine signals to antigen-specific T cells.

ALTERED T-CELL RESPONSES DURING CHRONIC VIRUS INFECTION AND CANCER

Chronic virus infections are associated with impaired anti-viral immunity, particularly in the infections caused by highly replicative viruses such as HIV, HBV, and HCV. In chronic infection, persistent viral antigen, and often chronic inflammation, renders T-cells dysfunctional. The mechanisms underlying dysfunctional immune responses in patients are largely unknown. Based on experimental systems studied in vitro and in vivo, different states of T-cell dysfunction have been discovered and are classified as exhaustion, tolerance, anergy, senescence, deletion, induced Treg, and ignorance based on the phenotypes, production of inhibitory cytokines such as IL-10 and TGFB, impairment of T-cell receptor signaling molecules, and apoptosis of the T-cells in these models (Figure 1) (4-6, 8-10). These findings have been extensively reviewed (4-6, 8-10). Despite the differences in dysfunctional Tcells characterized in different model systems, the common feature is proliferative hyporesponsiveness, and impaired production of IL-2 following antigen stimulation *in vivo* or *in vitro* (4–6, 8–10). The chronic LCMV infection model resembles the observations from patients with chronic virus infections more closely than other models in terms of induction of dysfunctional T cells (4, 5). The phenotype of exhaustion of CD8 T cells in the chronic LCMV model is well-characterized, with hierarchical loss of effector cytokine production, including IL-2, TNFα, and IFNγ and



impaired proliferation in response to antigen receptor stimulation *in vitro* (4, 5). In addition to this hyporesponsive phenotype, increased expression of the inhibitory costimulatory molecule PD-1 and production of the repressive cytokine IL-10 are also found in T cells from chronic LCMV infected mice (9, 10). Notably, similar phenotypes have been found in T cells from HIV, HBV, and HCV patients (11–14). Under chronic infectious conditions, viral specific CD8 T cells often lose cytotoxic function (15, 16). At the late stages of exhaustion, viral specific CD8 T cells may be deleted (5, 6). However, in contrast to CD8 T cells, viral specific CD4 T cells can persist under chronic infectious conditions, but in a hyporesponsive state (17). Therefore, there is the potential to restore CD4 responses, which may thereafter help CD8 function. It has been reported that Treg cells are increased or induced in chronic infection (18, 19). The increased Treg cells can reduce chronic inflammation from persistent viral antigen stimulation, but may also contribute to the establishment of immune tolerance toward the virus (18, 19).

Comparable to chronic infection, high levels of tumor antigens and chronic inflammation can establish an immunosuppressive microenvironment. Tumor reactive T cells have been shown to respond to tumor antigens in a similar fashion to viral specific T cells in chronic infection with expression of high levels of inhibitory costimulatory molecules such as PD-1, CTLA-4, and LAG-3 and impaired production of effector cytokines including IFNg, TNFa, and IL-2 (7, 20–22). It has been shown that advanced tumors with high loads of tumor antigens cause functional exhaustion and rapid elimination of tumor reactive T cells (23). However, in contrast to chronic viral infections, tumor antigens are generally poorly antigenic. Therefore, the frequency and avidity of tumor reactive T cells are low.

IMPAIRED TCR SIGNALING DURING CHRONIC VIRUS INFECTION

We have found that antigen persistence can impair TCR signaling resulting in hyporesponsiveness (24). This hyporesponsiveness is gradually induced during antigen persistence with reduction of

NFkB and AP1 activation (2, 24). This characteristic phenotype of T-cell tolerance is similar to that observed in chronic HBV infection (25). Down-regulation of TCR proximal signaling molecules has been found in CD8 T cells from chronic HBV patients (25). The impaired TCR signaling in CD8 T cells from chronic HBV patients is partly due to the down-regulation of CD3 ζ (25). The reduced expression of CD3¢ is associated with up-regulation of PD-1 and impaired production of IL-2, suggesting that it is part of the mechanism leading to exhaustion (25). Viral protein Nef of HIV and E2 and core protein of HCV directly modulate TCR signaling (26). HIV Nef protein interacts with a number of TCR signaling molecules including Lyn, Hck, and Lck (27). The interaction stimulates the TCR signaling pathways in the absence of antigens leading to maintenance of viral replication (26, 27). The altered TCR signaling induced by Nef negatively affects antigen-mediated TCR signaling (28). Similarly, viral proteins from HCV also modulate TCR signaling (29). E2 protein of HCV binds CD81 and promotes TCR signaling while the core protein inhibits JNK signaling and IL-2 expression (29). However, HCV does not infect T cells. Therefore, the altered TCR responses during chronic HCV infection are largely due to the persistence of viral antigens. Whether the persistent, but abnormal, TCR signaling induced by viral proteins causes the development of T-cell exhaustion is yet to be investigated.

It has been found that the tumor microenvironment impairs the formation of T-cell immunological synapses; supramolecular structures that assemble at the T cell-APC interface (30). Dysregulated synapse formation is associated with impaired activation of Rho-GTPases and can lead to partial activation or anergy of T cells.

INDUCTION OF NEGATIVE COSTIMULATORY MOLECULES

One of the important changes to the phenotype of CD8 T cells in chronic LCMV infection is the increased expression of the negative costimulatory molecules PD-1, 2B4, CTLA-4, and LAG-3 (5). A similar phenotype of increased negative costimulatory molecules has been discovered in CD4 and CD8 T cells from chronic HBV and HIV patients (5, 15, 31-35). The function of these negative costimulatory molecules is important in the maintenance of immune tolerance toward self-antigens. Although the mechanisms underlying the induction of negative costimulatory molecules in T cells during chronic infection are not clear, it may be part of a physiological protection mechanism to reduce immunopathology induced by viral persistence and chronic inflammation. These negative costimulatory molecules are transiently up-regulated in activated effector T cells in the early stages of acute infection. However, the sustained expression of PD-1 on virus-specific CD8 T cells is associated with chronic infection, both in LCMV mouse models and in HBV patients (5). Co-expression of multiple inhibitory molecules correlates with increased functional deficits in anti-virus responses and decreased control of viral loads. Similarly, increased expression of PD-1 and CTLA-4 has been found on tumor infiltrating T cells (TIL), which can be associated with E3-ligase expression and increased Treg cells (7). Thus, the overexpression of inhibitory molecules results in shifting the balance of the immune responses from effective anti-virus or -cancer responses toward tolerance.

ALTERED CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN T CELLS

One of the most pronounced changes in T cells in chronic infectious conditions is the altered production of cytokines (4-6). In contrast to acute infection, antigen-specific T cells from chronic infectious diseases fail to produce IL-2 and TNFa, but express the regulatory cytokine IL-10 (4-6). We have discovered that antigen-specific CD4 T cells gradually alter their cytokine profile in response to antigen persistence in vivo (24). Initial antigen stimulation effectively induces IL-2 production in antigen-specific CD4 T cells in vivo, while repeated exposure to the same antigen yields CD4 T cells that produce both IL-2 and IL-10 (24). Antigen persistence can finally switch off the expression of IL-2 in T cells, but these cells still produce high levels of IL-10 (24). This altered cytokine profile is associated with impaired proliferative responses and reduced AP1 and NFkB activation in response to antigen stimulation in vivo (24). Impaired production of effector cytokines such as IL-2, TNF α , and IFN γ is also associated with the defective activation of TCR signaling pathways and effector function of viral-specific CD4 and CD8 T cells in chronic HBV, HCV, and HIV infections (5, 6, 25). The up-regulation of inhibitory molecules, especially PD-1, is closely associated with the production of IL-10 and/or TGFB (5, 6). Thus, virus persistence skews the Tcell response from activation and differentiation into effector cells toward antigen-specific immune tolerance. However, the mechanisms whereby IL-10 and/or TGF^β result in tolerance in chronic infections are still undefined. In the LCMV model, the lack of IL-10 or a defect in IL-10 signaling improves CD8 T-cell responses and drastically enhances the control of the infection (36, 37). TIL also display an altered cytokine profile, which is similar to that seen in chronic infections. High levels of IL-10 producing Treg cells have been found in TILs, which is associated with impaired production of IL-2, TNFa and IFNg (7, 38).

THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS TO REVERSE IMMUNE TOLERANCE IN CHRONIC INFECTION AND CANCER

Therapeutic interventions for chronic viral infection and cancer aim to counter the effects of the immunosuppressive microenvironment and skew responses toward antigenic determinants that are highly immunogenic. Various approaches have been tried to increase antigen presentation quality via immunization with selected antigenic peptides, using methods such as recombinant vaccinia vaccines, DNA vaccines, peptide vaccines, and DC vaccines, to boost the anti-viral and -tumor responses (39). So far these therapeutic vaccines have not been successful. One of the possible explanations is that the hyporesponsiveness of T cells is not due to the lack of antigens, but to aspects of the chronic disease such as antigen persistence and chronic inflammation, which increase the activation threshold of T cells in response to antigen. Therefore, to overcome the high activation threshold of antigen-specific T cells in these conditions, immune therapy has to consider the antagonizing tolerogenic environment. Thus, therapeutic vaccines in combination with targeted immune modulation have been proposed as a more effective strategy to reverse the hyporesponsive state of T cells in chronic infections and cancer. In ovarian cancer, improved anti-tumor immune responses were observed after blockade of PD-1 (40). Similarly, in the LCMV model, immunization with LCMV GP33 encoding vaccinia virus coupled with administration of anti-PD-L1 blocking antibody significantly improved viral-specific CD8 T-cell responses and reduced viral load (41). Moreover, in chronic LCMV, combined therapy with a DNA vaccine and IL-10 neutralizing antibody effectively reversed viral specific CD8 T-cell tolerance (42). Immune tolerance induced by virus persistence is due to a network with multiple suppressive components. Blockade of multiple inhibitory receptors including PD-1, LAG-3, and CTLA-4 or combined blockade of inhibitory receptors and immunosuppressive cytokines achieves greater efficacy than blockade of a single inhibitory molecule in chronic LCMV models (43, 44). Although the increased T-cell function and concomitant decrease in viral load in these interventions are transient, these data support the hypothesis that reversing immune tolerance to the virus or tumor is the key for successful immunotherapy. While blockade of PD-1 and IL-10 resulted in restoration of viral specific CD8 T-cell function in a mouse model (45), the mechanisms underlying this recovery of effector function are still unknown. As many of these interventions do not specifically target the virus- or tumor-specific T cells and these pathways are important for maintenance of peripheral tolerance, it is essential to control the balance between restoration of anti-viral or -tumor responses and prevention of autoimmune diseases (5, 7). The ideal intervention will be to specifically reverse the tolerance of viral or tumor specific T cells, while maintaining the overall self-tolerance of the immune system.

RESTORING NON-SELF-RESPONSES OF VIRAL SPECIFIC T CELLS, WHILE MAINTAINING THE SELF-TOLERANCE OF BYSTANDER T CELLS IN CHRONIC INFECTION

The differential responses of antigen-specific T cells result from biochemical signals induced in T cells following interaction with antigen-MHC complexes, costimulatory molecules, and cytokines. When the mitogenic biochemical signals break the activation threshold, the T cell will enter into the cell cycle and produce growth cytokines such as IL-2 to promote clonal expansion. Due to the persistence of viral antigen, the chronic inflammatory environment and the increased production of inhibitory molecules, the activation threshold of viral specific T cells is increased and the T cells are unable to enter the cell cycle following antigen stimulation (5, 24). However, chronic infection normally does not induce tolerance in T cells responding to antigens other than those derived from the virus itself. Therefore, systemic intervention may reverse the tolerance of viral-specific T cells, but also break the self-tolerance of bystander T cells potentially resulting in autoimmunity (5). Therefore, the ideal strategy is to reverse tolerance via modulations that increase positive and/or dampen negative costimulatory signals thereby breaking the activation threshold and driving clonal expansion of virus responding T cells, but importantly, without affecting bystander T cells. Cytokine modified and viral antigen pulsed DCs have been used to deliver antigen and positive costimulatory signals to viral specific T cells in chronic infection (46-48). However, DCs are unstable and very heterogeneous in terms of population and function. It is therefore difficult to target and deliver additional positive signals to antigen-specific T cells (49). We found that an increase in the amount of antigen presented by activated dendritic cells (DC) cannot reverse tolerance (50, 51). Although exogenous IL-2 can effectively overcome tolerance and restore the full activation of tolerant T cells in response to antigen stimulation in animal models and HBV specific CD8 T cells, systemic administration of high doses of IL-2 not only induces severe side effects, such as cardiovascular, pulmonary, hematological, hepatic, neurological, endocrine, renal, and/or dermatological complications (52), but may also promote Treg function, which can further increase the activation threshold of antigen-specific T cells (53).

In order to use IL-2 and/or anti-PD1 to overcome the hyporesponsiveness of viral specific T cells induced in chronic HBV infection while avoiding the side effects of systemic administration, we have developed a novel therapeutic vaccine (nanoAPC). These nanoAPC are derived from an APC line; the human B cell line 721.221. This cell line is MHC deficient, but expresses high levels of costimulatory molecules (51). The nanoAPC are prepared from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membranes of 721.221 cells (51), that are genetically engineered to express ER retained MHC class I alleles and membrane-bound IL-2. Therefore, MHC and IL-2 are synthesized physiologically in 721,221 human B cells and immobilized on ER-membranes (Figure 2) (51). After assembly with HBV antigenic peptide in vitro, the nanoAPC contain peptide-MHC complexes, costimulatory molecules, and IL-2. Unlike therapeutic DCs, the nanoAPC are homogeneous, stable, and can be stored at -80° C (50, 51). Equipped with defined viral-peptide-MHC complexes, the administered nanoAPC can directly interact with antigen-specific T cells in vivo (51). Due to the native structure of their membranes, nanoAPC effectively induce immune synapses and expression of the high affinity IL-2 receptor on T cells (Figure 2) (51). The IL-2 delivered by nanoAPC enhanced antigen-specific T-cell responses and effector function, but did not affect bystander T cells or Treg cells. When assembled with a pool of HLA A2 associated HBV peptides and HBV peptides associated with HLA DR and DP, IL-2-nanoAPC induced strong CD4 and CD8 T-cell responses in peripheral lymphocytes from chronic HBV patients (51). We demonstrated that IL-2 on nanoAPC is able to enhance TCR signaling and downregulate PD-1 expression on virus responding CD8 T cells from chronic HBV patients, which could effectively reverse tolerance as demonstrated by induction of IFNy producing CD8 T cells in lymphocytes from chronic HBV patients (51). In



microscopy shows nanoAPC stained with anti-IL-2 (red) and anti-HLA A2
addition to TCR signaling, MAPK activation can result directly from IL-2R signaling (53). It has been found that the activation of MAPK and PI3K through Shc recruited by the IL-2R is independent of STAT5 signaling in effector T cells, which differs from that in Treg cells, and is important for the expansion of activated CD8 T cells (54). We have demonstrated that nanoAPC can induce CD25 expression and immune synapse formation, which not only enables the induction of T-cell activation but also brings engineered bio-adjuvants such as IL-2 stably into signalsomes of effector T cells (51). The increased expression of CD25 on CMV antigen-specific CD8 T cells by IL-2-CMV_{nlv}A2-nanoAPC is consistent with the well-known observation that IL-2 can induce CD25 expression on pre-activated CD8 T cells (51). Thus, together with peptide-MHC complexes and costimulatory molecules, the selective delivery of IL-2 is important in inducing activation of HBV responding T cells in chronic HBV patients. As the overall pharmacological dose remains low, the IL-2-nanoAPC do not activate Treg cells indicating that this approach can be adapted for use with other bio-adjuvants. Our results demonstrate that IL-2-nanoAPC, which deliver both antigen and IL-2 to antigenresponding T cells, can significantly increase functional anti-viral responses, thereby overcoming the immune tolerance induced by persistent viral load.

Nano-particles prepared from synthetic materials or genetically engineered microbes have been used to deliver antigens to DC for induction of anti-viral or -cancer immune responses (55). In contrast to these particles, nanoAPC are prepared from the ERmembranes of bio-engineered APC. Therefore, they are not only more biocompatible than synthetic nano-particles or microbes, but also deliver therapeutic molecules that are physiologically synthesized by APC seed cells. Thus, the IL-2 on IL-2-nanoAPC is more stable than free IL-2 in vivo, and maintains its physiological conformation allowing optimal interaction with the IL-2 receptor (data not shown). Unlike other nano-particle based vaccines, we have demonstrated that nanoAPC can directly activate T cells. NanoAPC are derived from APC cells and contain high levels of costimulatory molecules (51). Therefore, the nanoAPC mimic live DC to induce lipid raft clustering on T cells and formation of an immunological synapse, which is essential for T-cell activation. Furthermore, using HLA I negative 721.221 cells as seed cells allows us to specifically express selected HLA alleles allowing construction of HLA allele matched nanoAPC for individual patient populations.

Previously, we observed nanoAPC homing to T-cell areas of peripheral lymphoid organs, largely due to the expression of homing receptors by the cells from which the nanoAPC are derived (50). We have now further demonstrated that nanoAPC are not efficiently endocytosed by DC *in vivo* (50, 51). This is important as it allows the nanoAPC to remain as free-particles in peripheral lymphoid organs. The absence of endocytosis may be due to the lack of molecules on nanoAPC recognized by DC pattern recognition molecules (56). Thus, nanoAPC effectively target viral specific T cells and deliver immune modulation to reverse their tolerant state.

SUMMARY

In chronic infection and cancer, T cells are continuously confronted with moderate to high levels of antigens, which, in combination with the induced immunosuppressive microenvironment resulting from high antigen load and dysregulated immune responses, leads to increased activation thresholds and, subsequently, a reduction in effector function resulting in a tolerant state. This tolerant state can be reversed by positive regulatory molecules such as IL-2, IL-7, and/or blockade of PD-1 and CTLA-4. However, systemic administration of positive regulatory cytokines, or blocking antibodies, may cause autoimmunity. Therefore, one of the major challenges for immunotherapy against chronic infectious diseases and cancer is to reverse the tolerance of antigenspecific T cells, without affecting bystander T cells, thereby maintaining immune homeostasis to self-antigens. The development of delivery vehicles targeting antigen-specific T cells allows the provision of not only antigen but also engineered bio-adjuvant(s), which can restore effector function.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by Arthritis Research UK and Medical Research Council UK.

REFERENCES

- Nurieva RI, Liu X, Dong C. Molecular mechanisms of T-cell tolerance. *Immunol Rev* (2011) 241:133–44. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01012.x
- Schwartz RH. T cell anergy. Annu Rev Immunol (2003) 21:305–34. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.21.120601.141110
- Baine I, Abe BT, Macian F. Regulation of T-cell tolerance by calcium/NFAT signaling. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 231:225–40. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009. 00817.x
- 4. Kim PS, Ahmed R. Features of responding T cells in cancer and chronic infection. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) **22**:223–30. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010.02.005
- Frebel H, Richter K, Oxenius A. How chronic viral infections impact on antigenspecific T-cell responses. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40:654–63. doi:10.1002/eji. 200940102
- Colonna M. Viral immunosuppression: disabling the guards. J Clin Invest (2004) 113:660–2. doi:10.1172/JCI200421166
- Nurieva R, Wang J, Sahoo A. T-cell tolerance in cancer. *Immunotherapy* (2013) 5:513–31. doi:10.2217/imt.13.33
- Schietinger A, Greenberg PD. Tolerance and exhaustion: defining mechanisms of T cell dysfunction. *Trends Immunol* (2014) 35:51–60. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013. 10.001
- Blackburn SD, Wherry EJ. IL-10, T cell exhaustion and viral persistence. *Trends Microbiol* (2007) 15:143–6. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2007.02.006
- Wilson EB, Brooks DG. The role of IL-10 in regulating immunity to persistent viral infections. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2011) 350:39–65. doi:10.1007/ 82_2010_96
- Larsson M, Shankar EM, Che KF, Saeidi A, Ellegård R, Barathan M, et al. Molecular signatures of T-cell inhibition in HIV-1 infection. *Retrovirology* (2013) 10:31. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-10-31
- Wedemeyer H, He XS, Nascimbeni M, Davis AR, Greenberg HB, Hoofnagle JH, et al. Impaired effector function of hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. J Immunol (2002) 169:3447–58. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.6.3447
- Jung MC, Pape GR. Immunology of hepatitis B infection. Lancet Infect Dis (2002) 2:43–50. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(01)00172-4
- Guidotti LG, Chisari FV. Immunobiology and pathogenesis of viral hepatitis. *Annu Rev Pathol* (2006) 1:23–61. doi:10.1146/annurev.pathol.1.110304.100230
- Day CL, Kaufmann DE, Kiepiela P, Brown JA, Moodley ES, Reddy S, et al. PD-1 expression on HIV-specific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. *Nature* (2006) 443:350–4. doi:10.1038/nature05115
- Trautmann L, Janbazian L, Chomont N, Said EA, Gimmig S, Bessette B, et al. Upregulation of PD-1 expression on HIV-specific CD8+ T cells leads to reversible immune dysfunction. *Nat Med* (2006) 12:1198–202.
- Yi J, Cox M, Zajac A. T cell exhaustion: characteristics, causes and conversion. *Immunology* (2010) 129:474–81. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2010.03255.x
- Maizels RM, Smith KA. Regulatory T cells in infection. Adv Immunol (2011) 112:73–136. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-387827-4.00003-6

- Belkaid Y, Rouse BT. Natural regulatory T cells in infectious disease. Nat Immunol (2005) 6:353–60. doi:10.1038/ni1181
- Mumprecht S, Schürch C, Schwaller J, Solenthaler M, Ochsenbein AF. Programmed death 1 signaling on chronic myeloid leukemia-specific T cells results in T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. *Blood* (2009) 114:1528–36. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-09-179697
- Matsuzaki J, Gnjatic S, Mhawech-Fauceglia P, Beck A, Miller A, Tsuji T, et al. Tumor-infiltrating NY-ESO-1-specific CD8+ T cells are negatively regulated by LAG-3 and PD-1 in human ovarian cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:7875–80. doi:10.1073/pnas.1003345107
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:51–72. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100008
- 23. Klein L, Trautman L, Psarras S, Schnell S, Siermann A, Liblau R, et al. Visualizing the course of antigen-specific CD8 and CD4 T cell responses to a growing tumor. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) **33**:806–14.
- 24. Anderson PO, Sundstedt A, Yazici Z, Minaee S, O'Neill EJ, Woolf R, et al. IL-2 overcomes the unresponsiveness but fails to reverse the regulatory function of antigen-induced T regulatory cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 174:310–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.8.5133-a
- 25. Das A, Hoare M, Davies N, Lopes AR, Dunn C, Kennedy PT, et al. Functional skewing of the global CD8 T cell population in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. J Exp Med (2008) 205:2111–24. doi:10.1084/jem.20072076
- 26. Jerome K. Viral modulation of T cell receptor signalling. J Virol (2008) 82:4194–204. doi:10.1128/JVI.00059-08
- Abraham L, Fackler OT. HIV-1 Nef: a multifaceted modulator of T cell receptor signaling. *Cell Commun Signal* (2012) 10:39. doi:10.1186/1478-811X-10-39
- Baur AS, Sawai ET, Dazin P, Fantl WJ, Cheng-Mayer C, Peterlin BM. HIV-1 Nef leads to inhibition or activation of T cells depending on its intracellular localization. *Immunity* (1994) 1:373–84. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(94)90068-X
- 29. Soldaini E, Wack A, D'Oro U, Nuti S, Ulivieri C, Baldari CT, et al. T cell costimulation by the hepatitis C virus envelope protein E2 binding to CD81 is mediated by Lck. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) **33**:455–64.
- 30. Ramsay AG, Clear AJ, Fatah R, Gribben JG. Multiple inhibitory ligands induce impaired T-cell immunologic synapse function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia that can be blocked with lenalidomide: establishing a reversible immune evasion mechanism in human cancer. *Blood* (2012) **120**:1412–21. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-02-411678
- 31. Kasprowicz V, Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Kuntzen T, Nolan BE, Longworth S, Berical A, et al. High level of PD-1 expression on hepatitis C virus (HCV)-specific CD8+ and CD4+ T cells during acute HCV infection, irrespective of clinical outcome. *J Virol* (2008) 82:3154–60. doi:10.1128/JVI.02474-07
- Waggoner SN, Kumar V. Evolving role of 2B4/CD244 in T and NK cell responses during virus infection. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:377. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012. 00377
- 33. Kaufmann DE, Walker BD. PD-1 and CTLA-4 inhibitory cosignaling pathways in HIV infection and the potential for therapeutic intervention. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:5891–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803771
- 34. Ahmadzadeh M, Johnson LA, Heemskerk B, Wunderlich JR, Dudley ME, White DE, et al. Tumor antigen-specific CD8 T cells infiltrating the tumor express high levels of PD-1 and are functionally impaired. *Blood* (2009) 114:1537–44. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-12-195792
- 35. Kroy DC, Ciuffreda D, Cooperrider JH, Tomlinson M, Hauck GD, Aneja J, et al. Liver environment and HCV replication affect human T-cell phenotype and expression of inhibitory receptors. *Gastroenterology* (2014) 146:550–61. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2013.10.022
- Brooks DG, Trifilo MJ, Edelmann KH, Teyton L, McGavern DB, Oldstone MB. Interleukin-10 determines viral clearance or persistence *in vivo*. *Nat Med* (2006) 12:1301–9. doi:10.1038/nm1492
- Ejrnaes M, Filippi CM, Martinic MM, Ling EM, Togher LM, Crotty S, et al. Resolution of a chronic viral infection after interleukin-10 receptor blockade. J Exp Med (2006) 203:2461–72. doi:10.1084/jem.20061462
- 38. Bergmann C, Strauss L, Wang Y, Szczepanski MJ, Lang S, Johnson JT, et al. T regulatory type 1 cells in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: mechanisms of suppression and expansion in advanced disease. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:3706–15. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-5126
- Berzofsky JA, Ahlers JD, Janik J, Morris J, Oh S, Terabe M, et al. Progress on new vaccine strategies against chronic viral infections. *J Clin Invest* (2004) 114:450–62. doi:10.1172/JCI22674

- Duraiswamy J, Freeman GJ, Coukos G. Therapeutic PD-1 pathway blockade augments with other modalities of immunotherapy T-cell function to prevent immune decline in ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:6900–12. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1550
- Ha SJ, Mueller SN, Wherry EJ, Barber DL, Aubert RD, Sharpe AH, et al. Enhancing therapeutic vaccination by blocking PD-1-mediated inhibitory signals during chronic infection. J Exp Med (2008) 205:543–55. doi:10.1084/jem.20071949
- Brooks DG, Lee AM, Elsaesser H, McGavern DB, Oldstone MB. IL-10 blockade facilitates DNA vaccine-induced T cell responses and enhances clearance of persistent virus infection. J Exp Med (2008) 205:533–41. doi:10.1084/jem.20071948
- 43. Vezys V, Penaloza-MacMaster P, Barber DL, Ha SJ, Konieczny B, Freeman GJ, et al. 4-1BB signaling synergizes with programmed death ligand 1 blockade to augment CD8 T cell responses during chronic viral infection. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:1634–42. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100077
- 44. Brooks DG, Ha SJ, Elsaesser H, Sharpe AH, Freeman GJ, Oldstone MB. IL-10 and PD-L1 operate through distinct pathways to suppress T-cell activity during persistent viral infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:20428–33. doi:10.1073/pnas.0811139106
- Barber DL, Wherry EJ, Masopust D, Zhu B, Allison JP, Sharpe AH, et al. Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. *Nature* (2006) 439:682–7. doi:10.1038/nature04444
- Akbar SM, Horiike N, Onji M. Immune therapy including dendritic cell based therapy in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. World J Gastroenterol (2006) 12:2876–83.
- Zhou Y, Zhang Y, Yao Z, Moorman JP, Jia Z. Dendritic cell-based immunity and vaccination against hepatitis C virus infection. *Immunology* (2012) 136:385–96.
- Lu W, Arraes LC, Ferreira WT, Andrieu JM. Therapeutic dendritic-cell vaccine for chronic HIV-1 infection. Nat Med (2004) 10:1359–65. doi:10.1038/nm1147
- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC. Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2003) 21:685–711. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601. 141040
- Sofra V, Mansour S, Liu M, Gao B, Primpidou E, Wang P, et al. Antigen-loaded ER microsomes from APC induce potent immune responses against viral infection. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) 39:85–95. doi:10.1002/eji.200838443
- Liu M, Miao T, Zhu H, Symonds AL, Li L, Schurich A, et al. IL-2-engineered nano-APC effectively activates viral antigen-mediated T cell responses from chronic hepatitis B virus-infected patients. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:1534–43. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102709
- Mier JW, Aronson FR, Numerof RP, Vachino G, Atkins MB. Toxicity of immunotherapy with interleukin-2 and lymphokine activated killer cells. *Pathol Immunopathol Res* (1988) 7:459. doi:10.1159/000157075
- Malek TR, Castro I. Interleukin-2 receptor signaling: at the interface of tolerance and immunity. *Immunity* (2010) 33:153–65. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.08.004
- Bensinger SJ, Walsh PT, Zhang J, Carroll M, Parsons R, Rathmell JC, et al. Distinct IL-2 receptor signaling pattern in CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:5287–96. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.9.5287
- 55. Nandedkar TD. Nanovaccines: recent developments in vaccination. J Biosci (2009) 34:995–1003. doi:10.1007/s12038-009-0114-3
- Geijtenbeek TB, van Vliet SJ, Engering BA, Hart A, van Kooyk Y. Self- and nonself-recognition by C-type lectins on dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2004) 22:33–54. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703.104558

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 03 January 2014; accepted: 04 June 2014; published online: 17 June 2014. Citation: Li S, Symonds ALJ, Miao T, Sanderson I and Wang P (2014) Modulation of antigen-specific T-cells as immune therapy for chronic infectious diseases and cancer. Front. Immunol. 5:293. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00293

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Li, Symonds, Miao, Sanderson and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Immunotherapy for prostate cancer: lessons from responses to tumor-associated antigens

Harm Westdorp^{1,2†}, Annette E. Sköld^{1†}, Berit A. Snijer¹, Sebastian Franik¹, Sasja F. Mulder², Pierre P. Major³, Ronan Foley³, Winald R. Gerritsen² and I. Jolanda M. de Vries^{1,2}*

¹ Department of Tumor Immunology, Radboud Institute for Molecular Life Sciences, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands

² Department of Medical Oncology, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands

³ Juravinski Hospital and Cancer Centre, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Masaaki Murakami, Osaka University, Japan

Fabio Grizzi, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center, Italy

*Correspondence:

I. Jolanda M. de Vries, Department of Tumor Immunology, Radboud Institute for Molecular Life Sciences, Radboud University Medical Center, Geert Grooteplein 26, 6525 GA Nijmegen, Netherlands

e-mail: j.devries@ncmls.ru.nl

[†] Harm Westdorp and Annette E. Sköld have contributed equally to this work.

Prostate cancer (PCa) is the most common cancer in men and the second most common cause of cancer-related death in men. In recent years, novel therapeutic options for PCa have been developed and studied extensively in clinical trials. Sipuleucel-T is the first cell-based immunotherapeutic vaccine for treatment of cancer. This vaccine consists of autologous mononuclear cells stimulated and loaded with an immunostimulatory fusion protein containing the prostate tumor antigen prostate acid posphatase. The choice of antigen might be key for the efficiency of cell-based immunotherapy. Depending on the treatment strategy, target antigens should be immunogenic, abundantly expressed by tumor cells, and preferably functionally important for the tumor to prevent loss of antigen expression. Autoimmune responses have been reported against several antigens expressed in the prostate, indicating that PCa is a suitable target for immunotherapy. In this review, we will discuss PCa antigens that exhibit immunogenic features and/or have been targeted in immunotherapeutic settings with promising results, and we highlight the hurdles and opportunities for cancer immunotherapy.

Keywords: immunotherapy of cancer, prostate cancer, tumor-associated antigens, CRPC, immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Prostate cancer (PCa) is the most commonly diagnosed noncutaneous cancer among men in the United States and is the second leading cause of death from cancer in men (1). In Europe, PCa is also the cancer type with the highest incidence in men apart from skin cancer, while it is the third most common type of cancer after lung cancer and colorectal cancer (2). PCa is usually diagnosed in men above 65 years of age. Depending on the severity of the disease, current treatment options for PCa consist of active surveillance, prostatectomy, radiation therapy, hormonal therapy, or chemotherapy. Up to one-third of patients with a localized tumor eventually fails on local therapy and progress to advanced-stage or metastatic PCa within 10 years. For advanced PCa, androgen deprivation therapy is the standard of care. Although the majority of patients initially respond, most tumors become resistant to primary hormonal therapy within 14–30 months (3). For men with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC), the median survival in phase III studies range from 15 to 19 months. For several years, the chemotherapeutic drug docetaxel was the only treatment option for mCRPC, resulting in a median overall survival benefit of 2-3 months compared with the previous treatment regimes mitoxantrone and prednisone (4-6). However, new agents targeting the androgen signaling pathway, immunotherapeutic options, radium-223 treatment, and the new chemotherapeutic treatment modality taxane cabazitaxel are emerging therapies with the ability to improve both the survival and the quality of life.

In 2010, the first cellular immunotherapy was approved as a treatment for mCRPC by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). More recently, cancer immunotherapy hit a new peak, Science Magazine elected cancer immunotherapy the breakthrough of 2013 (7). Especially, modulation of T-cell checkpoints via immune checkpoint inhibiting [anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) monoclonal antibodies and anti-programed death (ligand) 1 (PD-(L)1] monoclonal antibodies has been successful. Instead of tacking of the brake of the immune system, as is the case with checkpoint inhibitors, another challenge is out there: enhancement of immune responses to tumor-specific antigens. In this review, we discuss tumor antigens expressed by PCa, how they can be used to combat PCa via immunotherapy, and which hurdles need to be addressed and overcome. Other new treatment modalities are beyond the scope of this study.

INFLAMMATORY RESPONSES IN THE PROSTATE

Inflammation is an innate response to harmful stimuli, such as infections, tissue damage, or tissue malfunction (8, 9). The main goal with the inflammatory process is to clear the potential threat and restore tissue homeostasis. This normally occurs in two phases – the recognition and elimination phase and the resolution and repair phase (8, 10). If the acute response fails in eliminating the inflammatory agents, the inflammation shifts toward a chronic state. Instead of initiating the resolution phase, additional macrophages and lymphocytes are recruited and, depending on the inflammatory inducer, act to remodel the local microenvironment to adapt to an altered tissue homeostasis. Cancer has been described as a wound that refuses to heal (11), and today many cancers have been tightly correlated with preceding inflammatory responses (12, 13). Several lines of evidence support the theory that inflammation also precedes PCa (9). Proliferative inflammatory atrophy lesions are areas in the prostate with an increased infiltration of inflammatory cells. These regions can merge with prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia, which is considered to be a risk factor for the development of PCa (14, 15). Also, a correlation with regular intake of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and reduced PCa risk has been observed (16–18).

AUTOIMMUNITY AND PCa

Inflammatory response inducers in prostate vary from infections to life style factors, such as diet or smoking (19). Symptomatic prostatitis caused by bacterial infection has been correlated with an increased risk of PCa development (20, 21). However, the causing agents of the majority of symptomatic and asymptomatic prostatitis are not well characterized and are probably multifaceted events (22).

Several studies have reported autoimmune responses against both seminal proteins (23, 24) and prostate antigens causing prostatitis to become chronic (25–27). These finding are additionally verified in animal models, where a cytotoxic cellular response seems to be driving the autoimmune reaction (28). Androgen ablation in patients with PCa is shown to induce high levels of T-cell infiltration into both benign and cancerous prostate sites, indicating that autoimmune responses against prostate antigens might be hormonally regulated (29).

ANTIGEN-BASED CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

The increased knowledge of how specific immune responses are evoked and the development of tools to manipulate the immune system have enabled implementation of novel immune-based cancer therapies. The rationale of these immunotherapies is to induce anti-tumor immune responses, decrease tumor-load, and change the course of the disease. Recognition of target antigens by the immune system is crucial. Several types of immunotherapeutics have been developed, such as peptide vaccines, DNA/RNA vaccines, cell-based vaccines, and T-cell modulators. Although improving overall survival is the primary endpoint of most clinical studies, a better understanding of induced T-cell responses, boosting pre-existing immune responses, and the effect of the tumor microenvironment on the T cells is needed to further improve PCa immunotherapy.

Tumor-associated antigens in PCa can be proteins that are present on prostate cells and on their malignant counterparts. Examples are prostate-specific antigen (PSA), prostatespecific membrane antigen (PSMA), and the cancer/testis antigens (CTAs). In a steady state, these antigens are not provoking strong immune responses. Immunosuppressive mechanisms in the prostate microenvironment, such as transforming growth factor (TGF)- β , regulatory T cells (Tregs), or myeloid-derived suppressor cells, will maintain prostate infiltrating lymphocytes in an inactive state (30–32). In addition, PCa cells exploit several mechanisms to enhance immune tolerance (33). Despite the immunosuppressive microenvironment, several immunotherapeutic approaches are able to induce or enhance tumor-specific immune responses. In the following section, potential tumor antigens and their application as immunotherapeutic targets will be discussed. **Table 1** provides an overview of the antigens discussed and clinical results of antigen-based immunotherapy trials.

PROSTATE CANCER ANTIGENS PROSTATE-SPECIFIC ANTIGEN

Prostate-specific antigen is a serine protease produced primarily in the epithelial cells lining the acini and ducts of the prostate gland (51-53). Physiologically, PSA is present at high concentrations in the seminal fluid. Its function is to cleave high molecular weight proteins into smaller peptides, which results in liquification of these peptides. This allows the spermatozoa to swim freely (51). Membrane-bound PSA is expressed by most PCa cells. Upon disruption of the prostate gland tissue by cancerous growth, PSA is released into the circulation. There, PSA can interact with several inflammatory cells, including fibroblasts and macrophages, which might cause chronic inflammation (9, 54, 55). PSA serum levels correlate with the extent of disease and are therefore a useful tumor marker, accurately reflecting tumor status and prognostic for clinical outcome. In case of relapse, PSA levels correlate with tumor recurrence (51, 56). Transcription of the PSA gene is positively regulated by the androgen receptor, which can partly explain the decline in PSA levels in response to androgen deprivation therapy (52). However, high PSA levels are also observed in patients with CRPC, due to the acquired ability of the tumor cells to maintain the androgen receptor function even in the androgen-ablated environment (57).

PSA as tumor antigen

Cellular autoimmune responses against PSA have been detected in both healthy men and patients suffering from chronic prostatitis (26, 27, 58), suggesting that PSA has immunogenic properties. It has been used as a target antigen in several immunotherapeutic constructs. Hodge et al. used a vector designated TRICOM, containing three co-stimulatory molecules B7-1, ICAM-1 and LFA-3, and a PSA peptide, for T-cell stimulation (59). Using a similar approach, Kantoff et al. studied a combination of PSA-expressing recombinant viral vectors, where treatment with a vaccinia-based priming vector was followed by six booster injections of a fowlpoxbased vector (PROSTVAC-VF). In the phase II, randomized controlled trial in patients with mCRPC, no significant difference in progression-free survival was detected between control group and the vaccinated group. However, vaccinated patients had a longer median overall survival, and a better 3-year survival (60). These clinically meaningful results have to be confirmed in an ongoing phase III trial (Table 2).

Other PSA-expressing vectors have been tested in phase I trials in patients with PCa with rising PSA levels. Vaccinations with vaccinia-based vectors expressing PSA resulted in stabilization of serum PSA levels and PSA-specific T-cell responses were observed (34). PSA-specific T cells were also detected after vaccination with a liposome-based PSA vaccine and a dendritic cell (DC)-based vaccine (35, 36). Treatment with a PSA encoding poxviral vector vaccine in combination with radiotherapy not only showed PSA-specific T-cell activation, but also T-cell responses against prostate-associated antigens not encoded by the vaccine. This is

Table 1 | Antigens and their immunogenicity in prostate cancer.

Antigen	Function	Immunogenicity in PCa	Human clinical trials in PCa	Number of patients with PCa
PSA	Serine protease which cleaves high molecular weight	Stimulates CTLs in vivo	Poxviral vaccine PROSTVAC-VF/PSA-TRICOM showed a longer median overall survival when compared to placebo (34)	82 vs. 40 controls
	proteins into smaller peptides, resulting in the necessary		A phase I trial with a recombinant vaccinia virus expressing PSA (rV-PSA) showed a stable PSA level for at least 6 months in 14 patients (35)	33
	liquification for spermatozoa to	Production of immunosuppressive	A study with JBT 1001, a recombinant PSA vaccine, showed a T-cell response in eight patients (36)	10
	swim freely	cytokines	A study reported a PSA decrease between 6 and 39% compared to baseline in 11 of the treated patients with PSA-loaded DCs (37)	24
PAP	Protein tyrosine phosphatase which enhances the mobility of sperm	Stimulates CTLs in vivo	A phase I/II study reported PAP-specific T-cell responses and an increased PSA doubling time for the plasmid DNA accine pTVG-HP PAP when compared to placebo (38)	22
		Elevated in both prostatic hyperplasia and PCa	Three phase III RCTs, of which two showed a significant increase in overall survival (39, 40), and one (41) showed a trend to increase in overall survival for sipuleucel-T compared with placebo	341 vs. 171 placebo (39) 82 vs. 45 placebo (40) 65 vs. 33 placebo (41)
PSMA	Folate hydrolase activity	Presented at the cell surface and in the endothelial lumen, the latter promotes integrin signaling	A phase I trial reported a 50% PSA reduction in four patients treated with ¹⁷⁷ lutetium-labeled J591, a radiolabeled monoclonal antibody against PMSA (42)	35
		Highly overexpressed in PCa	A study using an HLA-A2 restricted PMSA peptide (LLHETDSAV) showed neither clinical nor immune responses. The authors concluded that the used PSMA epitope was poorly immunogenic compared with other HLA-A2-presented peptides (43)	12
			A phase II trial with DCs pulsed with PMSA peptides showed a 50% reduction of PSA in nine patients (44)	33
PSCA	Unknown, overexpressed by most PCas	T-cell activation and proliferation	Two vaccination studies in humans with DCs loaded with PSCA alone or in combination with PAP, PSMA, and/or PSA reported that the vaccine was well tolerated and increased both the PSA doubling time and median overall survival of the patients (45, 46)	12 (45) 6 (46)
MUC-1	Limiting the activation of inflammatory responses	T-cell proliferation	A phase I/II trial with DCs loaded with MUC-1 glycopeptide and KLH showed a reduction of PSA rise in six patients. Immune responses to KLH (6/7) and Tn-MUC-1 (5/7) have been detected (47)	7
			Radioimmunotherapy was combined with or without low-dose paclitaxel in patients with mCRPC and breast cancer. In two patients with mCRPC who received m170 (MUC-1 monoclonal antibody) linked to indium-111, a 50% decline in PSA level was shown which lasted 2 months, and two patients described a	9

(Continued)

Antigen	Function	Immunogenicity in PCa	Human clinical trials in PCa	Number of patients with PCa
NY-ESO-1	Unknown, expressed in a variety of tumors	CTLs and antibody-mediated responses	In patients with mCRPC, NY-ESO-1 peptides vaccines were tolerable. Among nine patients, vaccinations appeared to slow PSA doubling time, and yielded antigen-specific T-cell responses in six patients (49)	14
			Immunoactivation following an NY-ESO-1 protein-based vaccine combined with CpG showed humoral and cellular immune responses specific for NY-ESO-1 in 12 and 9 of the vaccinated patients, respectively (50)	13
MAGE-A genes	Down-regulates p53 function through histone deacetylase recruitment	Stimulates CTLs <i>in vivo</i>	No human clinical trial performed in PCa	
AKAP-4	Binding protein involved in cytoskeletal regulation and organization by affecting cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase-A	Stimulated CTLs <i>in vitro</i>	No human clinical trial performed in PCa	

indicative for tumor cell killing and subsequent epitope spreading (37). Hence, PSA-targeted immunotherapy can boost conventional treatment strategies to induce stronger and broader effects. This was also shown in a recent study combining PSA-TRICOM treatment with the T-cell checkpoint inhibitor ipilimumab, where the majority of chemo-naive patients displayed a decline in serum PSA levels (61).

Despite the fact that PSA-based immunotherapeutic approaches can stimulate cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, untreated patients with PCa often fail to induce a potent immune response against this antigen (62–64). Several factors might contribute to this phenomenon: (i) PSA activates TGF- β , which can suppress immune responses in the tumor microenvironment (65, 66); (ii) PSA has a negative effect on lymphocyte proliferation and differentiation (63, 64); (iii) PSA can inhibit the maturation, function, and survival of DCs (63, 64).

In summary, the serine protease PSA is expressed at high levels by most PCa. Targeting PSA might not only elicit a tumor-specific immune response, but also counteract the negative effect of PSA on both T cells and DCs. Therefore, PSA poses as a promising target antigen in immunotherapy, and this is underscored by the results of phase II trials using PSA in vector-based peptide vaccines (60, 67). The ongoing phase III clinical trial (NCT01322490) might provide more evidence on the clinical relevance of PSA-TRICOM/PROSTVAC-VF vaccinations (**Table 2**).

PROSTATE ACID POSPHATASE

Human prostate acid posphatase (PAP) is a secreted glycoprotein enzyme synthesized in the prostate epithelium (68). Only a few substrates have so far been identified for PAP, including adenosine monophosphate, phosphotyrosine, phosphocholine, phosphocreatine, and ErbB-2 (69, 70) Since PAP can act as a protein tyrosine phosphatase, many other yet to be identified substrates might be involved in the signal transduction of this protein. PAP is secreted by the prostate gland following puberty and its expression is correlated with testosterone. It is reported to enhance the mobility of sperm (71). Serum PAP levels are low in healthy individuals and increased levels are associated with PCa. For example, it is shown that PAP is aberrantly expressed in high Gleason score PCa (72, 73). Ozu et al. showed that serum PAP levels, like serum PSA, are significantly increased within the escalating PCa disease stages. PAP is also elevated in patients with bone metastasis, compared to those without bone metastasis (74). Elevation of PAP is associated with significantly shortened survival, while its decrease is correlated with responsiveness to therapy (75-77).

PAP as tumor antigen

Due to its elevated expression in PCa, PAP has been investigated as a possible target antigen for immunotherapeutic approaches. PAPspecific cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) can be found in blood of healthy donors and in patients with chronic prostatitis (26, 78, 79). In addition, patients with PCa vaccinated with DCs loaded with murine PAP showed responses against human PAP coinciding with significant clinical anti-tumor responses (80). Specific CTLs can also be generated by culturing with antigen presenting cells pulsed with a PAP-derived HLA-A2 binding peptide. The obtained CTLs can lyse peptide-loaded target cells in an antigen-specific manner, as

Table 2 | Ongoing trials encompassing antigen-based immunotherapy.

Antigen	Study design	Trial identifier	Immunologic endpoints
PSA	Phase II trial of PROSTVAC-VF/PSA-TRICOM with docetaxel and prednisone vs. docetaxel and prednisone alone in patients with mCRPC	NCT01145508 (the study is ongoing but not recruiting new patients anymore)	Immune responses before and after docetaxel and PSA-specific immune responses Primary endpoint: overall survival
	Phase II trial with enzalutamide with or without PROSTVAC-VF/PSA-TRICOM in patients with mCRPC	NCT01867333 (ongoing and recruiting trial, estimated completion date June 2016)	Immune response (not further specified) Primary endpoint: to show increase in time to progression
	Phase III study of PROSTVAC-VF/PSA-TRICOM with or without GM-CSF in patients with mCRPC	NCT01322490 (ongoing and recruiting trial, estimated completion date August 2016)	No immunologic endpoints Primary endpoint: overall survival
PAP	Phase II trial of sipuleucel-T with a pTVG-HP DNA vaccine in patients with mCRPC	NCT01706458 (ongoing and recruiting trial, estimated completion date June 2015)	Primary endpoint: immune responses following treatment with sipuleucel-T
	Phase II trial of sipuleucel-T with concurrent or sequential abiraterone acetate plus prednisone in patients with mCRPC	NCT01487863 (active study, not recruiting, estimated completion date June 2015)	Primary endpoint: sipuleucel-T CD54 upregulation
	Phase II trial of sipuleucel-T and ipilimumab given immediately sequential vs. delayed sequential in patients with mCRPC	NCT01804465 (active study, not recruiting, estimated completion date August 2015)	Primary endpoints: safety of both treatment arms and induction of antibody responses by sipuleucel-T, the proportion of patients on each study arm who achieve an immune response to PAP and/or PA2024
	Phase I study of sipuleucel-T and ipilimumab in patients with mCRPC	NCT01832870 (ongoing and recruiting trial, estimated completion date December 2015)	Primary endpoint: antigen-specific memory T-cell response, antigen-specific proliferation and antibody responses against PAP, PA2024 and PHA
	Phase II trial of sipuleucel-T with or without anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibodies and cyclophosphamide	NCT01420965 (ongoing and recruiting trial, estimated completion date December 2017)	Primary endpoints: feasibility and the immune efficacy of sipuleucel-T alone vs. sipuleucel-T plus cyclophosphamide and anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibodies (CT011) on the change in specific immune response
PSMA	Phase I trial of adoptive T-cell transfer targeted to PSMA in patients with mCRPC	NCT01140373 (ongoing and recruiting trial, estimated completion date June 2014)	No immunologic endpoints Primary endpoint: progression-free survival
	Phase II trial of PSMA antibody drug conjugate in patients with mCRPC	NCT01695044 (ongoing and recruiting trial, estimated completion date January 2015)	Primary endpoints: changes in tumor assessments, serum PSA and circulating tumor cells
	Phase II study of prodrug chemotherapy (G-202) which is activated <i>in situ</i> by PSMA of PCa cells or within cancer blood vessels of patients with mCRPC	NCT01734681 (study is not yet open for recruitment, estimated completion date January 2015)	Changes in circulating tumor cells and humoral and cell-mediated immunity to PSMA and other known PCa antigens and to track the persistence, accumulation, and migration of genetically retargeted anti-PSMA autologous T cells Primary endpoint: safety and tolerability of immunotherapy

(Continued)

Table 2 | Continued

Antigen	Study design	Trial identifier	Immunologic endpoints
	Phase I trial of anti-PSMA designer T cells after non-myeloablative conditioning in patients with mCRPC	NCT00664196 (ongoing and recruiting trial, estimated completion date July 2016)	Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the anti-PSMA designer T cells Primary endpoint: the safety of using modified T cells
PSCA	No active or recruiting clinical trials in patients with PCa		
NYESO-1	Phase I trial of IMF-001 (CHP-NY-ESO-1 complex) vaccine in NY-ESO-1 expressing malignities	NCT01234012 (active study, not recruiting, estimated completion date December 2013)	NYESO-1 specific cellular (specific CD4 and CD8+ T cells) and humoral immunity (NYESO-1 antibody titer) Primary endpoint: safety and tolerability of the vaccine
	Phase I trial of DEC-205-NY-ESO-1 fusion protein vaccine in NY-ESO-1 expressing solid tumors	NCT01522820 (ongoing and recruiting trial, estimated completion date September 2014)	NYESO-1 specific cellular and humoral immunity Primary endpoint: safety of the vaccine
MAGE-A genes	No active or recruiting clinical trials in patients with PCa		
AKAP-4	No active or recruiting clinical trials in patients with PCa		
MUC-1	Phase I/II study of autologous DCs loaded with Tn-MUC-1 peptide in patients with CRPC	NCT00852007 (active study, not recruiting, estimated completion date March 2014)	Induction of CD4/CD8 responses measured by CFSE or ICS assay and/or induction of humoral response measured by specific antibodies or antibody isotype switching Primary endpoint: time to radiographic progression
	Phase I study of MUC-1 vaccine in conjunction with poly-ICLC in patients with recurrent or advanced PCa	NCT00374049 (active study, not recruiting, estimated completion date July 2014)	Primary endpoint: to evaluate the efficacy of poly-ICLC in boosting the immunologic response of a MUC-1 vaccine
	Phase II study of L-BLP25 (Stimuvax) in combination with androgen deprivation therapy and radiation therapy in patients with high-risk PCa. L-BLP25 vaccination is thought to work via killing of MUC-1 overexpressing	NCT01496131 (ongoing and recruiting trial, estimated completion date January 2016)	Change in the ELISPOT level of Mucin-1-specificT cells after radiation therapy

well as HLA-A2 positive prostate tumor cells *in vitro* (78). PAPspecific cytolytic T-cell responses have additionally been identified in HLA-A2 transgenic mice immunized with the PAP encoding DNA vaccine pTVG-HP (81). Moreover, PAP peptides with the ability to bind additional HLA-A alleles has also been described (82, 83). Also, small clinical studies using a PAP-derived peptide for different HLA-subclasses show promising results in patients with PCa (84, 85). Naturally occurring PAP-specific CD4+ T cells are only found in 7–11% of patients with PCa, but this can be augmented by immunotherapy. Overall, these data suggest that PAP-specific T-cell responses can be initiated, and that PAP is an interesting candidate to use in cancer immunotherapy (81, 83, 84).

DNA-based PAP vaccine

In a PAP-based DNA vaccine, patients with CRPC received six vaccinations with granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) biweekly. Both humoral and cellular immune responses were detected in 3 of the 22 patients, with an at least threefold increase in PAP-specific IFN-gamma secreting CD8+ T cells. Nine of 22 patients showed PAP-specific CD4+ and/or CD8+ T-cell responses, but no antibody responses were detected. Also, an increase in the PSA doubling time was observed (86). The results of two ongoing trials will shed light on the role of PAP-based DNA vaccines in PCa (**Table 2**).

cancer cells

APC-based PAP vaccine: sipuleucel-T

After three phase III randomized controlled trials, the PAP-targeting vaccine sipuleucel-T, became the first cellular immunotherapy ever to be approved for any malignancy by the FDA (38, 39, 41). Sipuleucel-T is a peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC)-based autologous vaccine. PBMCs are cocultured with a fusion protein, consisting of GM-CSF and PAP, for *ex vivo* activation of APCs and as tumor-associated antigen, respectively. The proposed mechanism of sipuleucel-T is inducing antigen-specific immune responses and thereby destroys PCa cells (40).

Sipuleucel-T treatment consists of three injections at 2-week intervals. In three phase III randomized controlled trials, an increase in overall survival of 4 months was noticed with no difference in progression-free survival. In general, treatment was well tolerated and only rigors and pyrexia were reported as adverse events (38, 39, 41). The trial by Kantoff et al. showed a trend of superior treatment outcome of sipuleucel-T in patients in the lowest PSA-level quartile (\leq 22.1 ng/mL). On the contrary, in the highest PSA-level quartile treatment with sipuleucel-T showed only 2.8 months overall survival benefit (41). This suggests that treatment with sipuleucel-T should be initiated directly after the diagnosis of mCRPC, when patients have a lower tumor load, hence less immune suppression.

To date, the OS benefit of sipuleucel-T cannot be fully explained by the recorded immune responses. An elevated T-cell stimulation index was observed in the sipuleucel-T treated group. Nevertheless, T-cell proliferation responses to the fusion protein (PA2024) or PAP did not show a survival difference. Increased antibody levels against PA2024 were observed in 66.2% of the sipuleucel-T treated patients and in 2.9% of the placebo-treated patients coinciding with a slight, although not significant, survival benefit (P = 0.08). Increased antibody levels against PAP were noticed in 28.5% of the sipuleucel-T treated patients and in 1.4% of the placebo-treated patients, not correlating with survival (41). Research is currently ongoing to define additional biomarkers that could be related to increased overall survival.

To conclude, sipuleucel-T is the first autologous cellular immunotherapy for the treatment of PCa. Three phase III trials demonstrated crucial clinical evidence for the worthiness of sipuleucel-T. However, although an increase in overall survival of 4 months is beneficial for the patients, it is not the breakthrough for immunotherapy many researchers were hoping for. Cellular immunotherapy might not be a monotherapeutic alternative for PCa. Instead, combination with standard or novel treatment modalities might be decisive. Currently ongoing trials are focusing on combination therapies with androgen deprivation therapy, chemotherapy, and immune checkpoint inhibitor antibodies (**Table 2**).

PROSTATE-SPECIFIC MEMBRANE ANTIGEN

Prostate-specific membrane antigen, also known as glutamate carboxypeptidase II, is a zinc metalloenzyme with folate hydrolase activity that is expressed in membranes of prostate epithelial cells (87, 88). Its function in the prostate is still unknown. Low expression of PSMA is also found in the kidneys, salivary glands, duodenum, and the central and peripheral nervous system.

PSMA as tumor antigen

Prostate-specific membrane antigen is highly overexpressed in PCa and increased expression correlates with advanced disease and metastasis (89-91). It has also been shown that PSMA is involved in tumor angiogenesis of many solid tumors, and it is expressed in the endothelial lumen in tumors. Normal vascular endothelium in non-cancerous tissue is PSMA negative (92, 93). PSMA displays several features that qualify it as a suitable target for immunotherapy. In addition to its specific expression in the prostate, it is also a membrane-bound antigen that is presented on the cell surface, but not released into the circulation (94). PSMA has been exploited as a possible target for PCa treatment in different pre-clinical settings and in early-stage clinical trials (42, 43, 88, 95). Wolf et al. showed that the recombinant anti-PSMA-specific single-chain immunotoxin D7-PE40 was both specific and highly toxic for PSMA-expressing PCa cells in vitro and in vivo in prostate tumor-bearing mice (88). Usage of the ¹⁷⁷lutetium radiolabeled anti-PSMA monoclonal antibody J591 induced a 50% PSA reduction in 4 of the 35 patients with mCRPC (95). A similar PSA decrease was seen in an early clinical trial with PSMA peptide-pulsed DCs, where 9 of 33 patients displayed a partial clinical response (43). However, not all studies targeting PSMA have showed encouraging results. The PMSA-derived HLA-A2-restricted peptide (LLHETDSAV) appeared to be poorly immunogenic compared with other HLA-A2-restricted peptides, both in vitro as well as in patients with PCa (42). This underscores the importance of pre-clinical studies before clinical testing.

In summary, based on the highly specific expression pattern of PSMA in patients with PCa, PSMA poses as a suitable target for immunotherapy. However, early clinical trials have shown varying results. Further research concerning PSMA-based immunotherapy is warranted. **Table 2** shows several ongoing clinical studies targeting PSMA as a tumor antigen.

PROSTATE STEM-CELL ANTIGEN

Prostate stem-cell antigen (PSCA) is a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored protein expressed on the cell surface of both basal and luminal cells in the normal prostate, but overexpressed by PCa cells (44, 96). It is shown that PSCA, like other GPI-anchored proteins, is involved in the survival of stem cells, in T-cell activation and proliferation, and in cytokine and growth factor responses (97, 98). Furthermore, several studies have connected the Ly-6 family of PSCA-like GPI-anchored proteins to tumor growth and metastazation (99–102).

PSCA as tumor antigen

Its distinct expression pattern and possible function in tumorprogression makes PSCA an interesting target for immunotherapy. It has already been exploited in several studies, with promising results (45, 103–105). Anti-PSCA monoclonal antibodies have been reported to inhibit tumor growth and prolong the survival of mice bearing human PCa xenografts (46, 106). Additionally, a chaperone complex vaccine made of PSCA and the heat-shock protein GRP170 was shown to enhance T-cell-mediated immune responses, inhibit tumor growth, and prolong the life span of PCa tumor-bearing mice (107). Two DC vaccination studies have been performed in humans (45, 105). In the study by Thomas-Kaskel et al., patients with mCRPC were treated with DCs loaded with PSCA and PSA peptides. Endpoints were safety and induction of antigen-specific immunity. The vaccine was well tolerated in all patients, and 6 of 12 patients showed stable disease after four vaccinations. One patient had a complete response. Interestingly, this patient displayed an increase in serum PSA levels. Positive delayedtype hypersensitivity skin reactions were seen in four patients after four vaccinations. A positive delayed-type hypersensitivity test was associated with increased overall survival. HLA tetramer analysis detected high frequencies of peptide-specific T cells in one patient, who had an overall survival of 27 months (105). In another study, vaccinations were performed in three patients with mCRPC using multi-epitope (PSCA, PSMA, PAP, and PSA) pulsed DCs. The treatment was well tolerated, and significant CTLs responses against all PSAs were observed. In addition, DC vaccination was associated with an increase in PSA doubling time (45).

To conclude, PSCA has been used as a target for antigen-based immunotherapy in several clinical studies due to its role in tumor growth and metastases. Unfortunately, the study results were less impressive than expected. This might be the reason that to date there is no ongoing clinical trial with PSCA registered.

MUCIN-1

The mucin family members include proteins that enclose tandem repeat structures with a high proportion of prolines, threonines, and serines. The family consists of secreted and transmembrane forms, designated Mucin-1 (MUC-1) to MUC-21 (108). MUC-1 is a large cell surface glycoprotein found on the apical surface of most glandular and ductal epithelial cells, such as the lungs, intestines, and the prostate (109). In chronic inflammation, MUC-1 expression is induced by inflammatory cytokines like TNF- α , IFNy, and IL-6. Overexpression contributes to oncogenesis by activation of growth and survival pathways (Wnt-β-catenin and nuclear factor-kB pathways), promoting receptor tyrosine kinase signaling and downregulation of stress-induced death pathways (108). MUC-1 overexpression is associated with colon, breast, lung, prostate, and pancreatic cancer. Moreover, it is associated with tumor-progression and correlated with advanced disease (110-112). MUC-1 has also been shown to have immunosuppressive effects in mice, and secreted MUC-1 has been shown to block T-cell activation (113, 114). Moreover, human monocyte-derived DCs cultured in vitro with MUC-1 peptide displayed a decreased expression of both co-stimulatory molecules and antigen presenting molecules upon activation (115). Similarly, depletion of soluble MUC-1 in tumor cell line supernatants abolished the antiproliferative effect of these supernatants on T cells, and MUC-1 has therefore been identified as a target in PCa (116). The inhibitory effect of MUC-1 has also been demonstrated in vivo, when synthetic MUC-1 decreased the immune response in patients vaccinated with an MUC-1 containing polyvalent peptide vaccine (117). In a recent phase I/II trial, an autologous DC vaccine loaded with an MUC-1 glycoproteine and KLH in patients with CRPC was studied. Patients received three injections biweekly followed by booster vaccinations at 6 and 12 months. The rate of PSA rise decreased in six of seven patients. The PSA doubling time increased from a median of 2.9 months prior to vaccination to 7.5 months during vaccination (118). Richman et al. also showed clinical benefit for some patients with mCRPC treated with the combination of radioimmunotherapy with an anti-MUC-1 monoclonal antibody and paclitaxel (47) (**Table 1**).

Taken together, MUC-1 is important in tumor-progression and therefore a very interesting tumor-associated antigen. Several trials focusing on MUC-1 as a target for cancer immunotherapy in PCa are ongoing (**Table 2**).

CANCER/TESTIS ANTIGENS

Cancer/testis antigens are normally only expressed in gametogenic tissue. However, this group of proteins is aberrantly expressed in several types of cancers, including PCa (48). CTAs have been shown to contribute to tumor formation and progression (119, 120). The CTAs NY-ESO-1, the MAGE family, and A-kinase Anchor Proteins (AKAP)-4 will be discussed here.

NY-ESO-1 is found to be expressed in a variety of malignancies. It is not expressed in normal adult tissue, with the exception of the testis. The expression of NY-ESO-1 is associated with level of disease, and higher NY-ESO mRNA and protein expression are observed in metastatic and advanced PCa, as compared to localized tumors (120-124). The function of NY-ESO-1 is unknown, but it is speculated to play a role in meiosis or in the assembly of the organelles that develops over the anterior half of the head in the spermatozoa (125, 126). The NY-ESO-1 is a promising candidate because of its tumor-restricted expression and the identification as one of the most immunogenic CTAs, eliciting spontaneous cytotoxic and antibody-mediated immune responses in patients with NY-ESO-1 + tumors (127-129). Humoral responses against NY-ESO-1 have been evoked by non-specific immune activation in patients with mCRPC treated with a combination of checkpoint inhibitor ipilimumab and GM-CSF, underscoring its immunogenicity (130). NY-ESO-1 has been used as target antigen in several clinical studies. Both MHC class I and II restricted T-cell epitopes specific for NY-ESO-1 are identified (131). MHC class I and/or II restricted NY-ESO-1 peptides were compared in a peptide-based vaccine trial in patients with mCRPC. The vaccine increased the PSA doubling time and yielded antigen-specific T-cell responses in all patients treated. The strongest results were seen in chemo-naive patients, most likely due to a lower tumor burden, thus less tumorinduced immune suppression (132). The immunogenic features of NY-ESO-1 are further supported by a study using a proteinbased vaccine with CpG as an adjuvant. This vaccine was able to prime antigen-specific B-cell responses and induced NY-ESO-1 specific, tumor-reactive CTLs in patients with metastatic PCa, independently of autologous NY-ESO-1 expression (49). Vaccination against a tumor-specific protein without it being present, repositions this clinical vaccination protocol toward a preventive setting.

Second, the MAGE CTA subfamily is also expressed in PCa. Upregulation of these CTAs is found in CRPC and is associated with resistance to chemotherapeutic agents (50). MAGE-A2 downregulates p53 transactivation function through histone deacetylase recruitment, a possible explanation how MAGE-A2 expression leads to resistance to chemotherapy (50). Indeed, silencing of MAGE-A2 increased sensitivity to docetaxel chemotherapy in PCa tumor cells (120). Expression of MAGE-C2/CT10, another member of the MAGE-A subfamily, is

correlated with the degree of PCa malignancy. It is an indication of higher risk for biochemical recurrence after radical prostatectomy and represents a potential target for immunotherapy (133). Members of the MAGE-A subfamily and NY-ESO-1 are often co-expressed in prostate malignancies.

Third, the CTA AKAP are a family of scaffolding proteins capable of controlling intracellular signals. AKAP is involved in cytoskeletal regulation and organization by affecting cyclic AMPdependent protein kinase-A (134). In the prostate epithelium, the anchor proteins synthesize and secrete calcitonin. It has been shown that the calcitonin secretion from malignant prostates is several-fold higher than from benign prostates (135). The calcitonin receptor is expressed in malignant PCa, and its activation stimulates growth of PCa cells via activation of cyclic AMP as well as protein kinase C (136, 137). These mechanisms suggest a marked increase in the invasiveness of PCa cells (138). Modulation of protein kinase-A activation possibly interferes with the growth, tumor genicity, and metastatic potential of advanced tumors. First, AKAP-4 has been showed to be an immunogenic CTA in patients with multiple myeloma (139). Later, Chiriva-Internati et al. showed cytoplasmic and surface expression of AKAP-4 in the LnCAP PCa cell line. AKAP-4 expression in the prostate epithelial cells was shown in 13 of 15 patients with PCa, but not in healthy subjects. Cytotoxicity assays showed that AKAP-4-loaded DC-stimulated T cells were capable of killing autologous PCa cells in vitro. Neither killing of AKAP-4 negative PCa cells nor normal prostate epithelial cells was observed. This underscores the antigen specificity of the response and prevention of autoimmune reactions (140). This makes AKAP-4 a very interesting target for PCa anti-tumor vaccination.

To conclude, several CTAs, especially NY-ESO-1, the MAGE-A subfamily, and AKAP-4, could serve as therapeutic targets in the fight against PCa (120, 122, 140). Especially NY-ESO-1 is of major relevance in PCa and a target in different ongoing trials (see **Table 2**). Due to the tumor-restricted expression of CTAs, these antigens can also be used in an adjuvant or a preventive setting hindering the recurrence of CTA-positive tumors (49).

MIXTURE OF TUMOR-ASSOCIATED ANTIGENS

To date, many investigators underscore the importance of a personalized approach by selecting patient-specific mutations as target antigens for immunotherapy. The group of Noguchi took a first step in a personalized direction. They performed two phase II studies with a personalized peptide vaccine (PPV). The vaccine consisted of four peptides based on each patient's immunoreactivity profile. Peptides of a variety of tumor-associated antigens were tested, including PSA, PAP, PSMA, multidrug resistance protein, and a choice of different epithelial tumor antigens. The peptides included in the vaccine were selected on their capacity to induce CTL responses. In the first phase II trial, patients with CRPC were randomized to PPV combined with chemotherapy or chemotherapy only (141). Antibody responses were seen in 64% of the patients and cytotoxic T-cells responses in 72% of the patients. An increase in progression-free survival was observed in the PPV/chemotherapy group as compared with the patients who only received chemotherapy. However, immune responses did not correlate with clinical outcome in patients treated with PPV and

chemotherapy. Interestingly, the authors found that lower levels of IL-6 before PPV vaccination were favorable for overall survival. IL-6 have been associated with more aggressive cancer progression and decreased survival in PCa (142). In this perspective, IL-6 may be seen as an indicator of prognosis and a predictor of therapy effectiveness. It is also hypothesized that inhibiting IL-6 signaling may be beneficial in patients enduring other immunotherapeutic treatment.

The results of the PPV vaccinations are promising. A randomized trial with an appropriate control group before and after chemotherapeutic treatment is needed to fully identify a clinical benefit of PPV treatment. Currently, a vaccine consisting of 20 peptides is applied to patients with CRPC in an exploratory, randomized, open-label study (UMIN000008209, **Table 2**).

PROSTATE CANCER CELL LINES GVAX

GVAX is an allogeneic, cell-based immunotherapy consisting of the PCa cell lines LNCaP and PC-3. These cell lines are genetically modified with a recombinant GM-CSF adeno-based viral vector and irradiated before administration. Clinical results in patients with PCa are indicative for a favorable clinical outcome with no toxicities (143, 144). These results have led to phase III trials, using the most promising high-dose GVAX protocol. Unfortunately, due to an even increased mortality in the GVAX-treated group, and disappointing interim results the trials were abrogated (145, 146).

van den Eertwegh et al. combined the immune checkpoint inhibitor ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4) with GVAX (147). More than 50% decline in PSA level was seen in 25% of the patients. All the responding patients got 3.0 or 5.0 mg/kg ipilimumab. There was dose-limiting toxicity in the 5.0 mg/kg group of patients, while the lower ipilimumab regimens were well tolerated. Markedly, all patients with immune-related adverse events showed a decrease in PSA levels. A small number of patients additionally displayed an anti-PSMA antibody response. These patients had a significant increase in median overall survival (46.5 months compared to 20.6 months for patients without this humoral response). T-cell monitoring studies were performed in 28 patients receiving the combination therapy of GVAX and ipilimumab. Compared with the control group, an increase in absolute lymphocyte counts and enhanced CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell differentiation was observed. These immune responses were associated with a significantly prolonged overall survival. In addition, an OS benefit was also seen in case of high pre-treatment levels of CD4+, CTLA-4+, CD4+/PD-1+, or non-naïve CD8+ T cells. Low pre-treatment frequencies of differentiated CD4+ or regulatory T cells resulted in a prolonged OS (148). This reveals perspectives for future biomarker research.

mRNA-TRANSFECTED DCs

An alternative approach for PCa cell lines is the use of PCa cell line-derived RNA or tumor antigen encoding mRNA. Kyte et al. transfected monocyte-derived DCs with mRNA derived from the PCa cell lines LnCAP, DU-145, and PC-3. Although the generation of mRNA-transfected DC is challenging, DC vaccination appeared feasible and safe (149, 150). Furthermore, PSA-specific T-cell responses were detected in 12 of 19 patients with PCa who underwent mRNA-DC vaccination (149). To date, patients are

recruited in a phase I/II trial (NCT01197625, **Table 2**), studying the mRNA-transfected DCs in curative resected patients with PCa. More studies are needed to properly determine the strength of mRNA-transfected DCs. The usage of this immunotherapeutic modality within combination therapies might be of greater significance.

DISCUSSION

In this review, we provided overview of PCa tumor-associated antigens and how they are used to target PCa via immunotherapy (Table 1). PSMA and PSCA are normally expressed in the prostate gland but upregulated during cancer development and they may play a role in tumor progression (44, 89, 96, 151). Increased serum levels of secreted tumor antigens, such as PSA and PAP, can be used as biomarkers for disease and disease progression (51, 73, 74). More general tumor antigens, like MUC-1, AKAP-4, and NY-ESO-1, can also be found in PCa and might be candidates for immunotherapeutic interventions (111, 123, 140). MUC-1 is expressed in normal tissue and upregulated on several tumors, where it can exert immunosuppressive effects and attain tumor growth (110). Hence, targeting MUC-1 could have a dual role - directing the immune response toward the tumor and reducing immune suppression. This might also be valid for other immunosuppressive antigens, such as the MAGE-A subfamily or PSA (54, 120). On the other hand, the NY-ESO-1 antigen is often immunogenic per se, and pre-existing immune responses directed against this antigen are common in treatment-naive patients (128). Pre-existing CTL responses against PSA and PAP in healthy individuals and patients with chronic prostatitis also support the definition of PCa as an immunogenic tumor (26, 27), where tolerance against self-antigens can be broken and the immune system can be harnessed against the tumors.

Today, the only registered product for antigen-targeted immunotherapy in PCa is sipuleucel-T (38, 39, 41). Although the significance of this intervention received criticism, sipuleucel-T proves an important point: autologous cellular immunotherapy is feasible and can indeed be developed as an approved treatment modality. To date, no convincing mechanism of action has been elucidated for sipuleucel-T. Increased immune responses were observed but no correlation with clinical outcome could be established. Clinical studies aiming at identifying immunological responses and thereby hopefully providing an in-depth understanding of the mode of action of sipulecuel-T are ongoing. Unraveling the mechanism might be beneficial for further development of sipuleucel-T and other immunotherapeutic approaches.

Effective immune responses induced by immunotherapeutic treatments are still not common, and probably vary depending on tumor type, somatic differences between tumor cells, and the tumor microenvironment (66). Several recent trials have shown promising results in both clinical and immunological responses. Constructs targeting the NY-ESO-1 antigen has led to significant immunological responses, which makes NY-ESO-1 an interesting antigen to target immunotherapeutic strategies in future (49, 132). Immunological responses are also induced by several PSA-targeting vaccines, supporting the usage of PSA as an immunogenic tumor antigen (34–36).

Insight in the localization of the tumor antigen (on/in cells, normal cells vs. tumor cells, in organs) and the specificity of the antigen facilitates a precise selection of target antigens with the intention of optimizing the translation of immunotherapeutic treatments to the clinic. However, despite significant T-cell responses, tumor progression is seen most frequently in patients treated with cancer immunotherapy. This is due to the complexity of human beings and the complexity of tumors and metastases (152). The complexity of cancer is also described by Fox et al. (153). This report of the collaborating immunotherapy organizations, known as the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer (SITC), contains the identification of nine hurdles in cancer immunotherapy that significantly delays clinical translation of promising cancer immunotherapeutics. We here discuss the hurdles relevant for this review, for a complete overview, we refer to the original article (153). The first hurdle to overcome is the complexity of cancer, tumor heterogeneity, and immune escape. The immune signature of the tumor, distinguished by genetic or histological evaluation, can predict responders to cancer immunotherapy (154, 155). The second relevant SITC hurdle for this review is the lack of definitive biomarkers for the assessment of clinical efficacy of cancer immunotherapies. Biomarkers to distinguish between patients responsive to initial treatment, patients displaying immune inhibitory features, and patients with non-immunogenic tumors, are needed. Pre-existing anti-tumor responses or the expression of inhibitory markers are examples of suggested biomarkers that could be used to predict treatment outcome and individualize the treatment regime.

A correlation of immune parameters with clinical outcome after immunotherapy is not established in patients with PCa. This can be attributed to (i) a limited number of patients per immunotherapeutic approach; (ii) a variation in clinical features of patients with PCa before treatment; and (iii) the difference in clinical signs of tumor control between conventional toxic treatments and immunotherapeutic treatments. This last argument is also one of the hurdles identified by the SITC. Effective immunotherapy does not always display initial shrinkage of the tumor, but rather a pattern of tumor growth and progression followed by shrinkage when the tumor is recognized and destroyed by the immune system (156-158). This paradox has been illustrated by the negative outcomes on progression-free survival or PSA responses in the sipuleucel-T trials and PSA-TRICOM trial. Tumor swelling, increased release of PSA due to elevated tumor cell death, and initial detrimental symptoms might be associated with a favorable clinical outcome rather than with progressive disease, as stated in the WHO and Response Evaluation Criteria In Solid Tumors (RECIST) criteria (156, 157, 159). Although clinically responding patients might have been missed, some patients do not respond, neither clinically nor immunologically. Lack of immunogenicity of the antigens used might be an explanation, but a major factor is the immunosuppressive networks within cancer patients. Infiltrating lymphocytes can be regulated by a number of inhibitory pathways within the tumor and thereby shift the direction of the ongoing immune response toward a more tolerogenic one. Other patients might have "silent" tumors that do not display an inflammatory phenotype and hence do not attract lymphocyte infiltration (66).

Novel monoclonal antibodies targeted against inhibitory receptors on T cells (anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1) are able to prolong their effector functions and prevent immune inhibition. These treatment strategies are tested in combination with other immunotherapeutic approaches and showed promising results in a subset of patients (61, 147, 160). There are still ongoing combination therapy studies with ipilimumab and sipuleucel-T which will hopefully overcome the immunosuppressive signals provided by immune evading tumors (NCT01804465 and NCT 01832870). Although antigen-based immunotherapy itself seldom gives rise to severe autoimmune reactions, the combination with an immune checkpoint inhibitor likely will enhance the risk of immunerelated adverse events, as recently shown in melanoma patients treated with ipilimumab (161–163).

FUTURE CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

Until recently, patients with mCRPC had limited treatment options and a poor prognosis. With new sequential hormonal therapies, second-line chemotherapy, and new immunotherapeutic strategies, a new era has started. To date, PCa is one of the few tumor types in which immunotherapy is part of the current standard of care. Augmenting immune responses to PCa antigens is a valid therapeutic approach, and clinical responses with minimal toxic effects are observed.

In this review, we focused on commonly expressed tumorassociated antigens. Recently, patient-specific epitopes are identified as highly important to improve T-cell reactivity. Targeting these patient- and cancer-specific mutated epitopes holds promise for even better results and possibly cure of patients. By complete genome and transcriptome, sequencing and mass spectrometrymutated HLA-binding peptides, so-called neoantigens, might be identified (164). Vaccination with individually overexpressed tumor-specific peptides could result in a unique, personalized anticancer vaccine (165-167). Recently, the first two demonstrations of autologous cancer exome-based T-cell responses against patientspecific neoantigens in humans were published (167, 168). This knowledge is a major step forward for both the identification of new diagnostic strategies by tumor exome analysis, as well as for the development of individualized immunotherapeutic approaches. Combination therapies harboring these patient-specific peptide vaccinations together with immune checkpoint inhibitors are likely to generate an even better immune control. There is no doubt that these are very exciting times for cancer immunotherapy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work is supported by the Swedish Research Council and the "Koningin Wilhelmina Onderzoeksprogramma" (Queen Wilhelmina Research Program): KWF 2009-4402.

REFERENCES

- 1. Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Thun MJ. Cancer statistics, 2009. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2009) **59**(4):225–49. doi:10.3322/caac.20006
- Ferlay J, Steliarova-Foucher E, Lortet-Tieulent J, Rosso S, Coebergh JW, Comber H, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality patterns in Europe: estimates for 40 countries in 2012. *Eur J Cancer* (2013) **49**(6):1374–403. doi:10.1016/j.ejca. 2012.12.027
- Risk M, Corman JM. The role of immunotherapy in prostate cancer: an overview of current approaches in development. *Rev Urol* (2009) 11(1):16–27.

- Tannock IF, de Wit R, Berry WR, Horti J, Pluzanska A, Chi KN, et al. Docetaxel plus prednisone or mitoxantrone plus prednisone for advanced prostate cancer. N Engl J Med (2004) 351(15):1502–12. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa040720
- Berthold DR, Pond GR, Soban F, de Wit R, Eisenberger M, Tannock IF. Docetaxel plus prednisone or mitoxantrone plus prednisone for advanced prostate cancer: updated survival in the TAX 327 study. *J Clin Oncol* (2008) 26(2):242–5. doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.12.4008
- Petrylak DP, Tangen CM, Hussain MH, Lara PN Jr, Jones JA, Taplin ME, et al. Docetaxel and estramustine compared with mitoxantrone and prednisone for advanced refractory prostate cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2004) **351**(15):1513–20. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa041318
- Couzin-Frankel J. Breakthrough of the year 2013. Cancer immunotherapy. Science (2013) 342(6165):1432–3. doi:10.1126/science.342.6165.1432
- Medzhitov R. Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. *Nature* (2008) 454(7203):428–35. doi:10.1038/nature07201
- Sfanos KS, De Marzo AM. Prostate cancer and inflammation: the evidence. *Histopathology* (2012) 60(1):199–215. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2559.2011.04033.x
- Ortega-Gomez A, Perretti M, Soehnlein O. Resolution of inflammation: an integrated view. *EMBO Mol Med* (2013) 5(5):661–74. doi:10.1002/emmm. 201202382
- Dvorak HF. Tumors: wounds that do not heal. Similarities between tumor stroma generation and wound healing. N Engl J Med (1986) 315(26):1650–9. doi:10.1056/NEJM198612253152606
- 12. Coussens LM, Werb Z. Inflammation and cancer. *Nature* (2002) **420**(6917):860–7. doi:10.1038/nature01322
- Grivennikov SI, Karin M. Inflammation and oncogenesis: a vicious connection. Curr Opin Genet Dev (2010) 20(1):65–71. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2009.11.004
- Wang W, Bergh A, Damber JE. Morphological transition of proliferative inflammatory atrophy to high-grade intraepithelial neoplasia and cancer in human prostate. *Prostate* (2009) 69(13):1378–86. doi:10.1002/pros.20992
- Putzi MJ, De Marzo AM. Morphologic transitions between proliferative inflammatory atrophy and high-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia. Urology (2000) 56(5):828–32. doi:10.1016/S0090-4295(00)00776-7
- Salinas CA, Kwon EM, FitzGerald LM, Feng Z, Nelson PS, Ostrander EA, et al. Use of aspirin and other nonsteroidal antiinflammatory medications in relation to prostate cancer risk. *Am J Epidemiol* (2010) **172**(5):578–90. doi:10.1093/aje/kwq175
- Jafari S, Etminan M, Afshar K. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and prostate cancer: a systematic review of the literature and meta-analysis. *Can Urol Assoc J* (2009) 3(4):323–30.
- Liu X, Plummer SJ, Nock NL, Casey G, Witte JS. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and decreased risk of advanced prostate cancer: modification by lymphotoxin alpha. *Am J Epidemiol* (2006) 164(10):984–9. doi:10.1093/aje/kwj294
- Aggarwal BB, Vijayalekshmi RV, Sung B. Targeting inflammatory pathways for prevention and therapy of cancer: short-term friend, long-term foe. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(2):425–30. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0149
- Brede CM, Shoskes DA. The etiology and management of acute prostatitis. Nat Rev Urol (2011) 8(4):207–12. doi:10.1038/nrurol.2011.22
- 21. Roberts RO, Bergstralh EJ, Bass SE, Lieber MM, Jacobsen SJ. Prostatitis as a risk factor for prostate cancer. *Epidemiology* (2004) **15**(1):93–9. doi:10.1097/01.ede.0000101022.38330.7c
- Krieger JN, Nyberg L Jr, Nickel JC. NIH consensus definition and classification of prostatitis. JAMA (1999) 282(3):236–7. doi:10.1001/jama.282.3.236
- Alexander RB, Brady F, Ponniah S. Autoimmune prostatitis: evidence of T cell reactivity with normal prostatic proteins. *Urology* (1997) 50(6):893–9. doi:10.1016/S0090-4295(97)00456-1
- Batstone GR, Doble A, Gaston JS. Autoimmune T cell responses to seminal plasma in chronic pelvic pain syndrome (CPPS). *Clin Exp Immunol* (2002) 128(2):302–7. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.2002.01853.x
- Penna G, Fibbi B, Maggi M, Adorini L. Prostate autoimmunity: from experimental models to clinical counterparts. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2009) 5(5):577–86. doi:10.1586/eci.09.37
- Motrich RD, Maccioni M, Molina R, Tissera A, Olmedo J, Riera CM, et al. Presence of INFgamma-secreting lymphocytes specific to prostate antigens in a group of chronic prostatitis patients. *Clin Immunol* (2005) 116(2):149–57. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2005.03.011
- 27. Ponniah S, Arah I, Alexander RB. PSA is a candidate self-antigen in autoimmune chronic prostatitis/chronic pelvic pain syndrome. *Prostate* (2000)

44(1):49–54. doi:10.1002/1097-0045(20000615)44:1<49::AID-PROS7>3.3. CO;2-Z

- Motrich RD, Maccioni M, Riera CM, Rivero VE. Autoimmune prostatitis: state of the art. *Scand J Immunol* (2007) 66(2–3):217–27. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083. 2007.01971.x
- 29. Mercader M, Bodner BK, Moser MT, Kwon PS, Park ES, Manecke RG, et al. T cell infiltration of the prostate induced by androgen withdrawal in patients with prostate cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) **98**(25):14565–70. doi:10.1073/pnas.251140998
- Nagaraj S, Gabrilovich DI. Tumor escape mechanism governed by myeloidderived suppressor cells. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68(8):2561–3. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6229
- Talmadge JE. Pathways mediating the expansion and immunosuppressive activity of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and their relevance to cancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(18 Pt 1):5243–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0182
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Sinha P. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. J Immunol (2009) 182(8):4499–506. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0802740
- Cha E, Fong L. Immunotherapy for prostate cancer: biology and therapeutic approaches. J Clin Oncol (2011) 29(27):3677–85. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.34. 5025
- 34. Eder J, Kantoff PW, Roper K, Xu GX, Bubley GJ, Boyden J, et al. A phase I trial of a recombinant vaccinia virus expressing prostate-specific antigen in advanced prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2000) 6(5):1632–8.
- 35. Meidenbauer N, Harris DT, Spitler LE, Whiteside TL. Generation of PSAreactive effector cells after vaccination with a PSA-based vaccine in patients with prostate cancer. *Prostate* (2000) 43(2):88–100. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0045(20000501)43:2<88::AID-PROS3>3.0.CO;2-G
- 36. Barrou B, Benoît G, Ouldkaci M, Cussenot O, Salcedo M, Agrawal S, et al. Vaccination of prostatectomized prostate cancer patients in biochemical relapse, with autologous dendritic cells pulsed with recombinant human PSA. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2004) 53(5):453–60. doi:10.1007/s00262-003-0451-2
- 37. Gulley JL, Arlen PM, Bastian A, Morin S, Marte J, Beetham P, et al. Combining a recombinant cancer vaccine with standard definitive radiotherapy in patients with localized prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11(9):3353–62. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2062
- 38. Higano CS, Schellhammer PF, Small EJ, Burch PA, Nemunaitis J, Yuh L, et al. Integrated data from 2 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trials of active cellular immunotherapy with sipuleucel-T in advanced prostate cancer. *Cancer* (2009) 115(16):3670–9. doi:10.1002/cncr.24429
- 39. Small EJ, Schellhammer PF, Higano CS, Redfern CH, Nemunaitis JJ, Valone FH, et al. Placebo-controlled phase III trial of immunologic therapy with sipuleucel-T (APC8015) in patients with metastatic, asymptomatic hormone refractory prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol (2006) 24(19):3089–94. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2005.04.5252
- Sheikh NA, Petrylak D, Kantoff PW, Dela Rosa C, Stewart FP, Kuan LY, et al. Sipuleucel-T immune parameters correlate with survival: an analysis of the randomized phase 3 clinical trials in men with castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) 62(1):137–47. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1317-2
- Kantoff P, Higano CS, Shore ND, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med (2010) 363(5):411–22. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1001294
- 42. Knight D, Peterson AC, Rini BI, Harlin H, Gajewski TF, Stadler WM. The HLA-A2-restricted PSMA peptide LLHETDSAV is poorly immunogenic in patients with metastatic prostate cancer. *Prostate* (2009) 69(2):142–8. doi:10.1002/pros. 20864
- 43. Tjoa BA, Simmons SJ, Bowes VA, Ragde H, Rogers M, Elgamal A, et al. Evaluation of phase I/II clinical trials in prostate cancer with dendritic cells and PSMA peptides. *Prostate* (1998) 36(1):39–44. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0045(19980615)36:1<39::AID-PROS6>3.0.CO;2-6
- 44. Gu Z, Thomas G, Yamashiro J, Shintaku IP, Dorey F, Raitano A, et al. Prostate stem cell antigen (PSCA) expression increases with high gleason score, advanced stage and bone metastasis in prostate cancer. *Oncogene* (2000) 19(10):1288–96. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1203426
- 45. Waeckerle-Men Y, Uetz-von Allmen E, Fopp M, von Moos R, Böhme C, Schmid HP, et al. Dendritic cell-based multi-epitope immunotherapy of

hormone-refractory prostate carcinoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2006) 55(12):1524–33. doi:10.1007/s00262-006-0157-3

- 46. Ross S, Spencer SD, Holcomb I, Tan C, Hongo J, Devaux B, et al. Prostate stem cell antigen as therapy target: tissue expression and in vivo efficacy of an immunoconjugate. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62(9):2546–53.
- 47. Richman CM, Denardo SJ, O'Donnell RT, Yuan A, Shen S, Goldstein DS, et al. High-dose radioimmunotherapy combined with fixed, low-dose paclitaxel in metastatic prostate and breast cancer by using a MUC-1 monoclonal antibody, m170, linked to indium-111/yttrium-90 via a cathepsin cleavable linker with cyclosporine to prevent human anti-mouse antibody. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11(16):5920–7. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-05-0211
- Scanlan MJ, Gure AO, Jungbluth AA, Old LJ, Chen YT. Cancer/testis antigens: an expanding family of targets for cancer immunotherapy. *Immunol Rev* (2002) 188:22–32. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2002.18803.x
- Karbach J, Neumann A, Atmaca A, Wahle C, Brand K, von Boehmer L, et al. Efficient in vivo priming by vaccination with recombinant NY-ESO-1 protein and CpG in antigen naive prostate cancer patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17(4):861–70. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1811
- 50. Monte M, Simonatto M, Peche LY, Bublik DR, Gobessi S, Pierotti MA, et al. MAGE-A tumor antigens target p53 transactivation function through histone deacetylase recruitment and confer resistance to chemotherapeutic agents. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) **103**(30):11160–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0510834103
- Oesterling JE. Prostate specific antigen: a critical assessment of the most useful tumor marker for adenocarcinoma of the prostate. J Urol (1991) 145(5):907–23.
- 52. Balk SP, Ko YJ, Bubley GJ. Biology of prostate-specific antigen. *J Clin Oncol* (2003) **21**(2):383–91. doi:10.1200/JCO.2003.02.083
- Watt KW, Lee PJ, M'Timkulu T, Chan WP, Loor R. Human prostate-specific antigen: structural and functional similarity with serine proteases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1986) 83(10):3166–70. doi:10.1073/pnas.83.10.3166
- Williams SA, Jelinek CA, Litvinov I, Cotter RJ, Isaacs JT, Denmeade SR. Enzymatically active prostate-specific antigen promotes growth of human prostate cancers. *Prostate* (2011) 71(15):1595–607. doi:10.1002/pros.21375
- 55. Williams SA, Singh P, Isaacs JT, Denmeade SR. Does PSA play a role as a promoting agent during the initiation and/or progression of prostate cancer? *Prostate* (2007) 67(3):312–29. doi:10.1002/pros.20531
- Aalamian M, Tourkova IL, Chatta GS, Lilja H, Huland E, Huland H, et al. Inhibition of dendropoiesis by tumor derived and purified prostate specific antigen. *J Urol* (2003) 170(5):2026–30. doi:10.1097/01.ju.0000091264.46134.b7
- Isaacs JT, Isaacs WB. Androgen receptor outwits prostate cancer drugs. Nat Med (2004) 10(1):26–7. doi:10.1038/nm0104-26
- Corman JM, Sercarz EE, Nanda NK. Recognition of prostate-specific antigenic peptide determinants by human CD4 and CD8 T cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* (1998) 114(2):166–72. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.1998.00678.x
- Hodge JW, Sabzevari H, Yafal AG, Gritz L, Lorenz MG, Schlom J. A triad of costimulatory molecules synergize to amplify T-cell activation. *Cancer Res* (1999) 59(22):5800–7.
- Kantoff P, Schuetz TJ, Blumenstein BA, Glode LM, Bilhartz DL, Wyand M, et al. Overall survival analysis of a phase II randomized controlled trial of a Poxviralbased PSA-targeted immunotherapy in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol (2010) 28(7):1099–105. doi:10.1200/JCO.2009. 25.0597
- 61. Madan R, Mohebtash M, Arlen PM, Vergati M, Rauckhorst M, Steinberg SM, et al. Ipilimumab and a poxviral vaccine targeting prostate-specific antigen in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2012) 13(5):501–8. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70006-2
- Correale P, Walmsley K, Nieroda C, Zaremba S, Zhu M, Schlom J, et al. In vitro generation of human cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for peptides derived from prostate-specific antigen. J Natl Cancer Inst (1997) 89(4):293–300. doi:10.1093/jnci/89.4.293
- Kennedy-Smith AG, McKenzie JL, Owen MC, Davidson PJ, Vuckovic S, Hart DN. Prostate specific antigen inhibits immune responses in vitro: a potential role in prostate cancer. J Urol (2002) 168(2):741–7. doi:10.1097/00005392-200208000-00092
- Miller A, Pisa P. Tumor escape mechanisms in prostate cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother (2007) 56(1):81–7. doi:10.1007/s00262-005-0110-x
- 65. Dallas SL, Zhao S, Cramer SD, Chen Z, Peehl DM, Bonewald LF. Preferential production of latent transforming growth factor beta-2 by primary prostatic

epithelial cells and its activation by prostate-specific antigen. J Cell Physiol (2005) 202(2):361–70. doi:10.1002/jcp.20147

- Gajewski T, Schreiber H, Fu Y-X. Innate and adaptive immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(10):1014–22. doi:10.1038/ ni.2703
- 67. Gulley JL, Arlen PM, Madan RA, Tsang KY, Pazdur MP, Skarupa L, et al. Immunologic and prognostic factors associated with overall survival employing a poxviral-based PSA vaccine in metastatic castrate-resistant prostate cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2010) **59**(5):663–74. doi:10.1007/s00262-009-0782-8
- Kong H, Byun J. Emerging roles of human prostatic acid phosphatase. *Biomol Ther (Seoul)* (2013) 21(1):10–20. doi:10.4062/biomolther.2012.095
- Hassan MI, Aijaz A, Ahmad F. Structural and functional analysis of human prostatic acid phosphatase. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* (2010) 10(7):1055–68. doi:10.1586/era.10.46
- Dave BN, Rindani TH. Acid phosphatase activity in human semen. *Int J Fertil* (1988) 33(1):45–7.
- Afzal S, Ahmad M, Mushtaq S, Mubarik A, Qureshi AH, Khan SA. Morphological features correlation with serum tumour markers in prostatic carcinoma. *J Coll Physicians Surg Pak* (2003) 13(9):511–4.
- 72. Gunia S, Koch S, May M, Dietel M, Erbersdobler A. Expression of prostatic acid phosphatase (PSAP) in transurethral resection specimens of the prostate is predictive of histopathologic tumor stage in subsequent radical prostatectomies. *Virchows Arch* (2009) 454(5):573–9. doi:10.1007/s00428-009-0759-1
- 73. Oesterling JE, Brendler CB, Epstein JI, Kimball AW Jr, Walsh PC. Correlation of clinical stage, serum prostatic acid phosphatase and preoperative Gleason grade with final pathological stage in 275 patients with clinically localized adenocarcinoma of the prostate. *J Urol* (1987) 138(1):92–8.
- 74. Ozu C, Nakashima J, Horiguchi Y, Oya M, Ohigashi T, Murai M. Prediction of bone metastases by combination of tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase, alkaline phosphatase and prostate specific antigen in patients with prostate cancer. *Int J Urol* (2008) 15(5):419–22. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2042.2008.02029.x
- Graddis TJ, McMahan CJ, Tamman J, Page KJ, Trager JB. Prostatic acid phosphatase expression in human tissues. Int J Clin Exp Pathol (2011) 4(3):295–306.
- 76. Jacobs EL, Haskell CM. Clinical use of tumor markers in oncology. *Curr Probl Cancer* (1991) 15(6):299–360. doi:10.1016/0147-0272(91)90005-U
- Matera L. The choice of the antigen in the dendritic cell-based vaccine therapy for prostate cancer. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2010) 36(2):131–41. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv. 2009.11.002
- Peshwa MV, Shi JD, Ruegg C, Laus R, van Schooten WC. Induction of prostate tumor-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocytes in vitro using antigen-presenting cells pulsed with prostatic acid phosphatase peptide. *Prostate* (1998) 36(2):129–38. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0045(19980701)36: 2<129::AID-PROS8>3.0.CO;2-D
- Olson BM, Frye TP, Johnson LE, Fong L, Knutson KL, Disis ML, et al. HLA-A2-restricted T-cell epitopes specific for prostatic acid phosphatase. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2010) 59(6):943–53. doi:10.1007/s00262-010-0820-6
- Fong L, Brockstedt D, Benike C, Breen JK, Strang G, Ruegg CL, et al. Dendritic cell-based xenoantigen vaccination for prostate cancer immunotherapy. *J Immunol* (2001) 167(12):7150–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.167.12.7150
- Johnson L, McNeel D. Identification of prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP) specific HLA-DR1-restricted T-cell epitopes. *Prostate* (2012) 72(7):730–40. doi:10.1002/pros.21477
- Mohamed ER, Naito M, Terasaki Y, Niu Y, Gohara S, Komatsu N, et al. Capability of SART3(109-118) peptide to induce cytotoxic T lymphocytes from prostate cancer patients with HLA class I-A11, -A31 and -A33 alleles. *Int J Oncol* (2009) 34(2):529–36. doi:10.3892/ijo_00000178
- 83. Terasaki Y, Shichijo S, Niu Y, Komatsu N, Noguchi M, Todo S, et al. An HLA-A3-binding prostate acid phosphatase-derived peptide can induce CTLs restricted to HLA-A2 and -A24 alleles. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58(11):1877–85. doi:10.1007/s00262-009-0699-2
- Becker JT, Olson BM, Johnson LE, Davies JG, Dunphy EJ, McNeel DG. DNA vaccine encoding prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP) elicits long-term T-cell responses in patients with recurrent prostate cancer. *J Immunother* (2010) 33(6):639–47. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181dda23e
- McNeel DG, Nguyen LD, Ellis WJ, Higano CS, Lange PH, Disis ML. Naturally occurring prostate cancer antigen-specific T cell responses of a Th1 phenotype can be detected in patients with prostate cancer. *Prostate* (2001) 47(3):222–9. doi:10.1002/pros.1066

- McNeel DG, Dunphy EJ, Davies JG, Frye TP, Johnson LE, Staab MJ, et al. Safety and immunological efficacy of a DNA vaccine encoding prostatic acid phosphatase in patients with stage D0 prostate cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2009) 27(25):4047–54. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.19.9968
- Mesters JR, Barinka C, Li W, Tsukamoto T, Majer P, Slusher BS, et al. Structure of glutamate carboxypeptidase II, a drug target in neuronal damage and prostate cancer. *EMBO J* (2006) 25(6):1375–84. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600969
- Wolf P, Alt K, Wetterauer D, Bühler P, Gierschner D, Katzenwadel A, et al. Preclinical evaluation of a recombinant anti-prostate specific membrane antigen single-chain immunotoxin against prostate cancer. *J Immunother* (2010) 33(3):262–71. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181c5495c
- O'Keefe D, Bacich D, Heston W. Comparative analysis of prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) versus a prostate-specific membrane antigen-like gene. *Prostate* (2004) 58(2):200–10. doi:10.1002/pros.10319
- Lapidus RG, Tiffany CW, Isaacs JT, Slusher BS. Prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) enzyme activity is elevated in prostate cancer cells. *Prostate* (2000) 45(4):350–4. doi:10.1002/1097-0045(20001201)45:4<350: :AID-PROS10>3.0.CO;2-U
- Murphy GP, Elgamal AA, Su SL, Bostwick DG, Holmes EH. Current evaluation of the tissue localization and diagnostic utility of prostate specific membrane antigen. *Cancer* (1998) 83(11):2259–69. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19981201)83:11<2259::AID-CNCR5>3.3.CO;2-K
- Chang SS, O'Keefe DS, Bacich DJ, Reuter VE, Heston WD, Gaudin PB. Prostatespecific membrane antigen is produced in tumor-associated neovasculature. *Clin Cancer Res* (1999) 5(10):2674–81.
- Milowsky MI, Nanus DM, Kostakoglu L, Sheehan CE, Vallabhajosula S, Goldsmith SJ, et al. Vascular targeted therapy with anti-prostate-specific membrane antigen monoclonal antibody J591 in advanced solid tumors. *J Clin Oncol* (2007) 25(5):540–7. doi:10.1200/JCO.2006.07.8097
- 94. Ghosh A, Heston W. Tumor target prostate specific membrane antigen (PSMA) and its regulation in prostate cancer. *J Cell Biochem* (2004) **91**(3):528–39. doi:10.1002/jcb.10661
- Bander NH, Milowsky MI, Nanus DM, Kostakoglu L, Vallabhajosula S, Goldsmith SJ. Phase I trial of 177lutetium-labeled J591, a monoclonal antibody to prostate-specific membrane antigen, in patients with androgen-independent prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol (2005) 23(21):4591–601. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005. 05.160
- 96. Reiter RE, Gu Z, Watabe T, Thomas G, Szigeti K, Davis E, et al. Prostate stem cell antigen: a cell surface marker overexpressed in prostate cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95(4):1735–40. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.4.1735
- 97. Presky DH, Low MG, Shevach EM. Role of phosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins in T cell activation. *J Immunol* (1990) **144**(3):860–8.
- Rege TA, Hagood JS. Thy-1, a versatile modulator of signaling affecting cellular adhesion, proliferation, survival, and cytokine/growth factor responses. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2006) 1763(10):991–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr. 2006.08.008
- 99. Eshel R, Zanin A, Sagi-Assif O, Meshel T, Smorodinsky NI, Dwir O, et al. The GPI-linked Ly-6 antigen E48 regulates expression levels of the FX enzyme and of E-selectin ligands on head and neck squamous carcinoma cells. *J Biol Chem* (2000) 275(17):12833–40. doi:10.1074/jbc.275.17.12833
- 100. Malek T, Ortega G, Chan C, Kroczek RA, Shevach EM. Role of Ly-6 in lymphocyte activation. II. Induction of T cell activation by monoclonal anti-Ly-6 antibodies. *J Exp Med* (1986) **164**:709–22.
- 101. Treister A, Sagi-Assif O, Meer M, Smorodinsky NI, Anavi R, Golan I, et al. Expression of Ly-6, a marker for highly malignant murine tumor cells, is regulated by growth conditions and stress. *Int J Cancer* (1998) 77(2):306–13. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19980717)77:2<306::AID-IJC22>3.0.CO;2-7
- 102. Witz IP. Differential expression of genes by tumor cells of a low or a high malignancy phenotype: the case of murine and human Ly-6 proteins. *J Cell Biochem Suppl* (2000) **34**:61–6. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4644(2000)77:34+<61::AID-JCB11>3.3.CO;2-J
- 103. Garcia-Hernandez Mde L, Gray A, Hubby B, Klinger OJ, Kast WM. Prostate stem cell antigen vaccination induces a long-term protective immune response against prostate cancer in the absence of autoimmunity. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68(3):861–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0445
- 104. Morgenroth A, Cartellieri M, Schmitz M, Günes S, Weigle B, Bachmann M, et al. Targeting of tumor cells expressing the prostate stem cell antigen (PSCA) using genetically engineered T-cells. *Prostate* (2007) 67(10):1121–31. doi:10.1002/pros.20608

- 105. Thomas-Kaskel AK, Zeiser R, Jochim R, Robbel C, Schultze-Seemann W, Waller CF, et al. Vaccination of advanced prostate cancer patients with PSCA and PSA peptide-loaded dendritic cells induces DTH responses that correlate with superior overall survival. *Int J Cancer* (2006) **119**(10):2428–34. doi:10.1002/ijc.22097
- 106. Saffran DC, Raitano AB, Hubert RS, Witte ON, Reiter RE, Jakobovits A. Anti-PSCA mAbs inhibit tumor growth and metastasis formation and prolong the survival of mice bearing human prostate cancer xenografts. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2001) **98**(5):2658–63. doi:10.1073/pnas.051624698
- 107. Huo W, Ye J, Liu R, Chen J, Li Q. Vaccination with a chaperone complex based on PSCA and GRP170 adjuvant enhances the CTL response and inhibits the tumor growth in mice. *Vaccine* (2010) 28(38):6333–7. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine. 2010.06.093
- 108. Kufe DW. Mucins in cancer: function, prognosis and therapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2009) 9(12):874–85. doi:10.1038/nrc2761
- 109. Hollingsworth MA, Swanson BJ. Mucins in cancer: protection and control of the cell surface. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2004) 4(1):45–60. doi:10.1038/ nrc1251
- 110. Andrén O, Fall K, Andersson SO, Rubin MA, Bismar TA, Karlsson M, et al. MUC-1 gene is associated with prostate cancer death: a 20-year follow-up of a population-based study in Sweden. Br J Cancer (2007) 97(6):730–4. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6603944
- 111. Cozzi PJ, Wang J, Delprado W, Perkins AC, Allen BJ, Russell PJ, et al. MUC1, MUC2, MUC4, MUC5AC and MUC6 expression in the progression of prostate cancer. *Clin Exp Metastasis* (2005) **22**(7):565–73. doi:10.1007/s10585-005-5376-z
- 112. Gendler SJ. MUC1, the renaissance molecule. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia (2001) 6(3):339–53. doi:10.1023/A:1011379725811
- 113. Agrawal B, Krantz MJ, Parker J, Longenecker BM. Expression of MUC1 mucin on activated human T cells: implications for a role of MUC1 in normal immune regulation. *Cancer Res* (1998) 58(18):4079–81.
- 114. Tempero RM, VanLith ML, Morikane K, Rowse GJ, Gendler SJ, Hollingsworth MA. CD4+ lymphocytes provide MUC1-specific tumor immunity in vivo that is undetectable in vitro and is absent in MUC1 transgenic mice. *J Immunol* (1998) 161(10):5500–6.
- 115. Rughetti A, Pellicciotta I, Biffoni M, Bäckström M, Link T, Bennet EP, et al. Recombinant tumor-associated MUC1 glycoprotein impairs the differentiation and function of dendritic cells. J Immunol (2005) 174(12):7764–72. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.12.7764
- 116. Chan AK, Lockhart DC, von Bernstorff W, Spanjaard RA, Joo HG, Eberlein TJ, et al. Soluble MUC1 secreted by human epithelial cancer cells mediates immune suppression by blocking T-cell activation. *Int J Cancer* (1999) 82(5):721–6. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19990827)82:5<721::AID-IJC16>3.3.CO;2-E
- 117. Slovin SF, Ragupathi G, Fernandez C, Diani M, Jefferson MP, Wilton A, et al. A polyvalent vaccine for high-risk prostate patients: "are more antigens better?". *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2007) 56(12):1921–30. doi:10.1007/s00262-007-0335-y
- 118. Major P, Lacombe L, Fradet Y, Foley R, Scheid E, Bergeron A, et al. Abstract A16: a phase I/II clinical trial of a MUC1-glycopeptide dendritic cell vaccine in castrate resistant non-metastatic prostate cancer patients. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(4 Suppl):A16. doi:10.1158/1538-7445.PRCA2012-A16
- 119. Simpson AJ, Caballero OL, Jungbluth A, Chen YT, Old LJ. Cancer/testis antigens, gametogenesis and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2005) 5(8):615–25. doi:10.1038/nrc1669
- 120. Suyama T, Shiraishi T, Zeng Y, Yu W, Parekh N, Vessella RL, et al. Expression of cancer/testis antigens in prostate cancer is associated with disease progression. *Prostate* (2010) **70**(16):1778–87. doi:10.1002/pros.21214
- 121. Fosså A, Berner A, Fosså SD, Hernes E, Gaudernack G, Smeland EB. NY-ESO-1 protein expression and humoral immune responses in prostate cancer. *Prostate* (2004) 59(4):440–7. doi:10.1002/pros.20025
- 122. Hudolin T, Juretic A, Spagnoli GC, Pasini J, Bandic D, Heberer M, et al. Immunohistochemical expression of tumor antigens MAGE-A1, MAGE-A3/4, and NY-ESO-1 in cancerous and benign prostatic tissue. *Prostate* (2006) 66(1):13–8. doi:10.1002/pros.20312
- 123. Nakada T, Noguchi Y, Satoh S, Ono T, Saika T, Kurashige T, et al. NY-ESO-1 mRNA expression and immunogenicity in advanced prostate cancer. *Cancer Immun* (2003) 3:10.

- 124. Caballero OL, Chen YT. Cancer/testis (CT) antigens: potential targets for immunotherapy. *Cancer Sci* (2009) **100**(11):2014–21. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01303.x
- 125. Ono T, Kurashige T, Harada N, Noguchi Y, Saika T, Niikawa N, et al. Identification of proacrosin binding protein sp32 precursor as a human cancer/testis antigen. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) **98**(6):3282–7. doi:10.1073/pnas. 041625098
- 126. Türeci O, Sahin U, Zwick C, Koslowski M, Seitz G, Pfreundschuh M. Identification of a meiosis-specific protein as a member of the class of cancer/testis antigens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (1998) 95(9):5211–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.9.5211
- 127. Zeng G, Wang X, Robbins PF, Rosenberg SA, Wang RF. CD4(+) T cell recognition of MHC class II-restricted epitopes from NY-ESO-1 presented by a prevalent HLA DP4 allele: association with NY-ESO-1 antibody production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) **98**(7):3964–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.061507398
- 128. Gati A, Lajmi N, Derouiche A, Marrakchi R, Chebil M, Benammar-Elgaaied A. NY-ESO-1 expression and immunogenicity in prostate cancer patients. *Tunis Med* (2011) 89(10):779–83.
- 129. Gnjatic S, Nishikawa H, Jungbluth AA, Güre AO, Ritter G, Jäger E, et al. NY-ESO-1: review of an immunogenic tumor antigen. *Adv Cancer Res* (2006) 95:1–30. doi:10.1016/S0065-230X(06)95001-5
- 130. Fong L, Kwek SS, O'Brien S, Kavanagh B, McNeel DG, Weinberg V, et al. Potentiating endogenous antitumor immunity to prostate cancer through combination immunotherapy with CTLA4 blockade and GM-CSF. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(2):609–15. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3529
- Zeng G, Touloukian CE, Wang X, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA, Wang RF. Identification of CD4+ T cell epitopes from NY-ESO-1 presented by HLA-DR molecules. J Immunol (2000) 165(2):1153–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.2.1153
- 132. Sonpavde G, Wang M, Peterson LE, Wang HY, Joe T, Mims MP, et al. HLArestricted NY-ESO-1 peptide immunotherapy for metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer. *Invest New Drugs* (2013) **32**(2):235–42. doi:10.1007/ s10637-013-9960-9
- 133. von Boehmer L, Keller L, Mortezavi A, Provenzano M, Sais G, Hermanns T, et al. MAGE-C2/CT10 protein expression is an independent predictor of recurrence in prostate cancer. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(7):e21366. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0021366
- 134. Jin J, Smith FD, Stark C, Wells CD, Fawcett JP, Kulkarni S, et al. Proteomic, functional, and domain-based analysis of in vivo 14-3-3 binding proteins involved in cytoskeletal regulation and cellular organization. *Curr Biol* (2004) 14(16):1436–50. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2004.07.051
- 135. Shah GV, Noble MJ, Austenfeld M, Weigel J, Deftos LJ, Mebust WK. Presence of calcitonin-like immunoreactivity (iCT) in human prostate gland: evidence for iCT secretion by cultured prostate cells. *Prostate* (1992) 21(2):87–97. doi:10.1002/pros.2990210202
- 136. Shah GV, Rayford W, Noble MJ, Austenfeld M, Weigel J, Vamos S, et al. Calcitonin stimulates growth of human prostate-cancer cells through receptor-mediated increase in cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphates and cytoplasmic Ca2+ transients. *Endocrinology* (1994) 134(2):596–602. doi:10. 1210/en.134.2.596
- 137. Chien J, Shah GV. Role of stimulatory guanine nucleotide binding protein (GSalpha) in proliferation of PC-3M prostate cancer cells. *Int J Cancer* (2001) 91(1):46–54. doi:10.1002/1097-0215(20010101)91:1<46::AID-IJC1008>3.0. CO;2-0
- 138. Sabbisetti VS, Chirugupati S, Thomas S, Vaidya KS, Reardon D, Chiriva-Internati M, et al. Calcitonin increases invasiveness of prostate cancer cells: role for cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase A in calcitonin action. *Int J Cancer* (2005) **117**(4):551–60. doi:10.1002/ijc.21158
- 139. Chiriva-Internati M, Ferrari R, Yu Y, Hamrick C, Gagliano N, Grizzi F, et al. AKAP-4: a novel cancer testis antigen for multiple myeloma. Br J Haematol (2008) 140(4):465–8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.06940.x
- 140. Chiriva-Internati M, Yu Y, Mirandola L, D'Cunha N, Hardwicke F, Cannon MJ, et al. Identification of AKAP-4 as a new cancer/testis antigen for detection and immunotherapy of prostate cancer. *Prostate* (2012) 72(1):12–23. doi:10.1002/pros.21400
- 141. Noguchi M, Kakuma T, Uemura H, Nasu Y, Kumon H, Hirao Y, et al. A randomized phase II trial of personalized peptide vaccine plus low dose estramustine phosphate (EMP) versus standard dose EMP in patients with castration resistant prostate cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2010) **59**(7):1001–9. doi:10.1007/s00262-010-0822-4

- 142. Shariat SF, Andrews B, Kattan MW, Kim J, Wheeler TM, Slawin KM. Plasma levels of interleukin-6 and its soluble receptor are associated with prostate cancer progression and metastasis. *Urology* (2001) 58(6):1008–15. doi:10.1016/ S0090-4295(01)01405-4
- 143. Small EJ, Sacks N, Nemunaitis J, Urba WJ, Dula E, Centeno AS, et al. Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor – secreting allogeneic cellular immunotherapy for hormone-refractory prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(13):3883–91. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2937
- 144. Higano CS, Corman JM, Smith DC, Centeno AS, Steidle CP, Gittleman M, et al. Phase 1/2 dose-escalation study of a GM-CSF-secreting, allogeneic, cellular immunotherapy for metastatic hormone-refractory prostate cancer. *Cancer* (2008) 113(5):975–84. doi:10.1002/cncr.23669
- 145. Higano C, Somer B, Curti B, Petrylak D, Drake CG, Schnell F, et al. A Phase III Trial of GVAX Immunotherapy for Prostate Cancer Versus Docetaxel Plus Prednisone in Asymptomatic, Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer (CRPC), in 2009 Genitourinary Cancers Symposium, Orlando, FL (2009).
- 146. Small E, Demkow T, Gerritsen WR, Rolland F, Hoskin P, Smith DC, et al. A Phase III trial of GVAX Immunotherapy for Prostate Cancer in Combination with Docetaxel Versus Docetaxel Plus Prednisone in Symptomatic, Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer (CRPC), in 2009 Genitourinary Cancers Symposium, Orlando, FL (2009).
- 147. van den Eertwegh A, Versluis J, van den Berg HP, Santegoets SJ, van Moorselaar RJ, van der Sluis TM, et al. Combined immunotherapy with granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor-transduced allogeneic prostate cancer cells and ipilimumab in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2012) **13**(5):509–17. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70007-4
- 148. Santegoets SJ, Stam AG, Lougheed SM, Gall H, Scholten PE, Reijm M, et al. T cell profiling reveals high CD4+CTLA-4 + T cell frequency as dominant predictor for survival after prostate GVAX/ipilimumab treatment. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) 62(2):245–56. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1330-5
- 149. Kyte JA, Gaudernack G. Immuno-gene therapy of cancer with tumourmRNA transfected dendritic cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2006) 55(11):1432–42. doi:10.1007/s00262-006-0161-7
- 150. Mu LJ, Kyte JA, Kvalheim G, Aamdal S, Dueland S, Hauser M, et al. Immunotherapy with allotumour mRNA-transfected dendritic cells in androgen-resistant prostate cancer patients. *Br J Cancer* (2005) **93**(7):749–56. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6602761
- 151. Conway RE, Joiner K, Patterson A, Bourgeois D, Rampp R, Hannah BC, et al. Prostate specific membrane antigen produces pro-angiogenic laminin peptides downstream of matrix metalloprotease-2. *Angiogenesis* (2013) 16(4):847–60. doi:10.1007/s10456-013-9360-y
- 152. Chiriva-Internati M, Grizzi F, Bright RK, Martin Kast W. Cancer immunotherapy: avoiding the road to perdition. J Transl Med (2004) 2(1):26. doi:10.1186/ 1479-5876-2-26
- 153. Fox BA, Schendel DJ, Butterfield LH, Aamdal S, Allison JP, Ascierto PA, et al. Defining the critical hurdles in cancer immunotherapy. *J Transl Med* (2011) 9(1):214. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-9-214
- 154. Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pagès C, et al. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. *Science* (2006) **313**(5795):1960–4. doi:10.1126/science.1129139
- 155. Gajewski TF, Louahed J, Brichard VG. Gene signature in melanoma associated with clinical activity: a potential clue to unlock cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer* J (2010) 16(4):399–403. doi:10.1097/PPO.0b013e3181eacbd8
- 156. Hoos A. Evolution of end points for cancer immunotherapy trials. Ann Oncol (2012) 23(Suppl 8):viii47–52. doi:10.1093/annonc/mds263
- 157. Hoos A, Eggermont AM, Janetzki S, Hodi FS, Ibrahim R, Anderson A, et al. Improved endpoints for cancer immunotherapy trials. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2010) 102(18):1388–97. doi:10.1093/jnci/djq310

- 158. Hoos A, Parmiani G, Hege K, Sznol M, Loibner H, Eggermont A, et al. A clinical development paradigm for cancer vaccines and related biologics. *J Immunother* (2007) **30**(1):1–15. doi:10.1097/01.cji.0000211341.88835.ae
- 159. Eisenhauer EA, Therasse P, Bogaerts J, Schwartz LH, Sargent D, Ford R, et al. New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). Eur J Cancer (2009) 45(2):228–47. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2008.10.026
- 160. Vasaturo A, Di Blasio S, Peeters DG, de Koning CC, de Vries JM, Figdor CG, et al. Clinical implications of co-inhibitory molecule expression in the Tumor microenvironment for DC vaccination: a game of stop and go. *Front Immunol* (2013) **4**:417. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00417
- 161. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2010) **363**(8):711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- 162. Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, Weber J, Garbe C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2011) 364(26):2517–26. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1104621
- 163. Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369(2):122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369
- 164. Rammensee HG, Singh-Jasuja H. HLA ligandome tumor antigen discovery for personalized vaccine approach. *Expert Rev Vaccines* (2013) 12(10):1211–7. doi:10.1586/14760584.2013.836911
- 165. Castle JC, Kreiter S, Diekmann J, Löwer M, van deRoemer N, de Graaf J, et al. Exploiting the mutanome for tumor vaccination. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(5):1081–91. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3722
- 166. Matsushita H, Vesely MD, Koboldt DC, Rickert CG, Uppaluri R, Magrini VJ, et al. Cancer exome analysis reveals a T-cell-dependent mechanism of cancer immunoediting. *Nature* (2012) 482(7385):400–U149. doi:10.1038/nature10755
- 167. van Rooij N, van Buuren MM, Philips D, Velds A, Toebes M, Heemskerk B, et al. Tumor exome analysis reveals neoantigen-specific T-cell reactivity in an ipilimumab-responsive melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) **31**(32):e439–42. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.47.7521
- 168. Robbins PF, Lu YC, El-Gamil M, Li YF, Gross C, Gartner J, et al. Mining exomic sequencing data to identify mutated antigens recognized by adoptively transferred tumor-reactive T cells. *Nat Med* (2013) **19**(6):747–52. doi:10.1038/nm.3161

Conflict of Interest Statement: Harm Westdorp, Annette E. Sköld, Berit A. Snijer, Sebastian Franik, Sasja F. Mulder, Pierre P. Major, Ronan Foley, and I. Jolanda M. de Vries declare no disclosures of potential conflicts of interest. Winald R. Gerritsen is a consult for Aglaia Biomedical Ventures, is on the supervisory board for PsytoBe, has received speakers fee from J&J and BMS, and is on the advisory boards for Amgen, BMS, Janssen-Cilag, Sanofi, Astellas, Bayer, and Merck.

Received: 28 February 2014; accepted: 17 April 2014; published online: 06 May 2014. Citation: Westdorp H, Sköld AE, Snijer BA, Franik S, Mulder SF, Major PP, Foley R, Gerritsen WR and de Vries IJM (2014) Immunotherapy for prostate cancer: lessons from responses to tumor-associated antigens. Front. Immunol. 5:191. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00191

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Westdorp, Sköld, Snijer, Franik, Mulder, Major, Foley, Gerritsen and de Vries. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

frontiers in IMMUNOLOGY



Theofilos Poutahidis^{1,2}, Markus Kleinewietfeld^{3,4,5} and Susan E. Erdman¹*

- ¹ Division of Comparative Medicine, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA
- ² Laboratory of Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece
- ³ Departments of Neurology and Immunobiology, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, USA
- ⁴ Broad Institute, Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, USA
- ⁵ Faculty of Medicine, Dresden University of Technology (TUD), Dresden, Germany

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Graham Robert Leggatt, University of Queensland, Australia Yong Lu, Cleveland Clinic Foundation, USA

*Correspondence:

Susan E. Erdman, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 77 Mass Avenue, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA e-mail: serdman@mit.edu It is recently shown that beneficial environmental microbes stimulate integrated immune and neuroendocrine factors throughout the body, consequently modulating regulatory T-lymphocyte phenotypes, maintaining systemic immune balance, and determining the fate of preneoplastic lesions toward regression while sustaining whole body good health. Stimulated by a gut microbiota-centric systemic homeostasis hypothesis, we set out to explore the influence of the gut microbiome to explain the paradoxical roles of regulatory T-lymphocytes in cancer development and growth. This paradigm shift places cancer prevention and treatment into a new broader context of holobiont engineering to cultivate a tumor-suppressive macroenvironment.

Keywords: tumor macroenvironment, regulatory T-cells, cancer immunotherapy, inflammation and cancer, probiotic bacteria

INTRODUCTION

The neoplastic process is characterized by overwhelming complexity. Cancer is comprised of a genetically unstable population of cells that proliferate at an extraordinarily high rate. Millions of cancer deaths each year make it obvious that the battle against cancer is asymmetric, with humankind often being the weaker element (1). To date, cancer research efforts directly confront malignancy by targeting properties of individual cancer cells. In 2000, Hanahan and Weinberg described that most of the research on origins and treatment of cancer had just contributed toward "adding further layers of complexity to a scientific literature that is already complex almost beyond measure" (2).

In the same landmark paper, however, the authors were optimistic enough to predict groundbreaking upcoming advances in the conceptual rather than the technical level (2). They were proven right. One such advancement was the increased awareness for the importance of the tumor microenvironment in the etiopathogenesis of neoplasia (3, 4). We now know that initially transformed cells are much less autonomous in their growth than previously thought (5, 6). Among the microenvironment elements, immune cells and factors have emerged as fundamental players (4–6). Accumulating evidence suggests that tumor-associated inflammatory cell accumulation, whether overt or smoldering, could be viewed as a tumor-promoting event (7–9). These inflammatory responses enhance mutagenesis by oxidative DNA damage and shape the tumor stroma in favor of cancer cell survival and expansion (6, 10, 11).

Will this knowledge base in the field of inflammation, immunity, and cancer lead to new, highly effective, and biologically safe cancer immunotherapy modalities? We assert that the outcome will depend upon the philosophy and the strategic goals that will dominate the bench-to-bedside research. We propose that research in this field should focus upon stimulating systemic innate immune balance and adaptive immune resiliency, making the mammalian host more powerful to resist its cancer challenger. One possible approach utilizes gut microbiota or microbial antigens to stimulate beneficial immune cells. On the other hand, existing immunotherapy aims to selectively interrupt immune factors to better recognize and exterminate cancer cells (12–17), an approach that may ultimately lead to host instability. To further explain this point of view, we will refer to the recently discovered paradoxical roles of regulatory T-cells (T_{REG}) in cancer (10, 14).

T_{REG} ARE CENTRAL IN PRESERVING SYSTEMIC IMMUNE HOMEOSTASIS AND GOOD HEALTH

FOXP3⁺ CD4⁺ CD25^{+/high} T_{REG} are dominant cellular elements of the professional suppressor arm of the immune system and are important for orchestrating the control of peripheral immunological tolerance (18). The transcription factor FOXP3 is a fundamental regulator of T_{REG} function in rodents and humans, and so far the most reliable phenotypic indicator of their identity. Recent studies on human T_{REG} subpopulations, however, revealed that low but discernible levels of FOXP3 expression could be detected in non-suppressive T_{REG} or even in activated effector T-cells. It is probable that this finding reflects the inherent plasticity of T_{REG}; FOXP3⁺ cells co-expressing effector T-cell phenotypic markers or cytokines may be in stages of a progressive, epigenetically regulated, phenotypical, and functional shift process (14, 16, 19–22), ultimately favorable for healthful recovery of the host after environmental challenges. The role of T_{REG} is central in preserving immune system homeostasis for health and the balance of beneficial inflammatory responses during infections while minimizing collateral tissue damage. In cancer, however, roles of T_{REG} are traditionally considered to be negative (14-16, 23).

T_{REG} GATHER NEAR TUMORS AND FAVOR CANCER SURVIVAL

A large body of data suggest that T_{REG} gather near tumors and suppress the anti-tumor inflammatory response, thus favoring cancer

cell survival. To this end, tumor-associated T_{REG} are thought as a major impediment of anti-tumor vaccines (13–16, 23). Clinical and experimental data suggest that tumor-associated T_{REG} recognize both self and neoantigens expressed by tumor cells, counteracting antigen-specific effector T-cell responses. Consequently, immunotherapy strategies based on the vaccination with tumor-associated antigens fail to evoke an effective response against cancer cells due to the activation and expansion of tumor antigen-specific T_{REG} (14–16). This potential interplay of T_{REG} within tumors has been reviewed in detail elsewhere (12–16), and has led to the proposal of several anti- T_{REG} regimens for cancer immunotherapy. These regimens aim to deplete T_{REG} , inhibit their suppressive function, prevent their homing into tumor sites, or block their differentiation/proliferation (12–16).

Several of these T_{REG}-targeting modalities have already been tested in the clinic, with mixed results (13, 16). Blocking T_{REG} function by depleting the cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) appears promising (24), due to the depletion of T_{REG} from tumor tissues (25, 26). However, a similar regimen could lead to an opposite effect with the accumulation of T_{REG} and CD8⁺ T-cells in tumors (27, 28). A phase III study of melanoma patients using a gp100 peptide vaccine with interleukin (IL)-2 administration led to equally promising results with discovery of T_{REG} expansion in responding patients (29).

GUT MICROBIOTA INDUCE POTENT T_{reg} with systemic ANTI-NEOPLASTIC PROPERTIES

As the results of these trials are anticipated, the literature reveals contradictory evidence. Indeed, the studies associating high densities of tumor-associated cells expressing TREG markers including FOXP3 with a poor prognosis in several types of human cancers are now challenged by similar studies on the very same types of cancer showing the opposite outcome (30-34). The different CD8⁺:T_{REG} ratios and the presence of FOXP3⁺ cell subsets of undetermined identity in the tumor microenvironment have been proposed as probable explanations (16). Indeed, data from animal models show under certain conditions of microbial priming that TREG not only protect but also alter the tumor microenvironment to induce remission of already established intestinal, mammary, and prostate cancers (35-41). The hypothesis that the composition of the different subsets of FOXP3⁺, which may include effector Foxp3⁺ cells, is intriguing (16). Indeed, it was previously shown that IFN- γ levels were increased during T_{REG}-mediated tumor regression in mice (37). Further, feeding of probiotic microbes to mice induces systemic oxytocin secretion that shifts immunity toward IFN-y and CD25 for improved wound healing capacity and systemic good health (42). A question subsequently arising is whether gut microbiota may be engineered to harness an anti-neoplastic FOXP3⁺ cell milieu (5, 10, 41).

GUT-CENTRIC HYPOTHESIS: PRIOR EXPOSURES TO MICROBES EXPLAIN BENEFICIAL ROLES OF T_{REG}

Stimulated by a gut-centric systemic homeostasis hypothesis, we set out to explore and explain the paradoxical roles of T_{REG} in cancer using several different mouse models of cancer and adoptive cell transfer methodologies (10). We found that T_{REG} may suppress, promote, or have no effect in carcinogenesis depending

upon their timing and prior exposure to gut bacterial antigens and presence of IL-10 (35-39, 41, 43, 44). Under some conditions, adoptive transfer of T_{REG} rapidly led to apoptosis of emerging tumor cells (37, 45). Using as a model organism an opportunistic pathogen, Helicobacter hepaticus, commonly residing in the lower bowel of mice, we have shown in Rag2-deficient mice (otherwise lacking lymphocytes) that gut microbiota modulate inflammatory bowel disease and inflammation-associated colon cancer, a cancer process inhibited by properly functioning IL-10-dependent T_{REG} (35, 36). Subsequently, by introducing *H. hepaticus* into the large bowel flora of mice lacking the APC tumor suppressor gene (Apc^{Min/+}), we found that intestinal polypogenesis was greatly enhanced by bacteria and subsequently suppressed by immunecompetent T_{REG}. Furthermore, adenomas of infected Apc^{Min/+} mice progressed into adenocarcinoma, a transition atypical of polyps of aged-matched uninfected controls (38, 41). Interestingly, Apc^{Min/+} mice having H. hepaticus in their gut flora were prone to develop cancer in tissues distant from intestine, such as prostate and the mammary glands (40, 41, 43, 46, 47). H. hepaticus-induced tumorigenic events were inhibited by supplementation with T_{REG} from immune-competent wild type donor mice.

A potent treatment to counteract these local and systemic H. hepaticus-induced tumorigenic events was supplementation with T_{REG} in an IL-10-dependent manner (10, 36, 38–40, 44, 46, 48). Purified T_{REG} exhibited greatest anti-cancer potency when taken from donor mice previously colonized with H. hepaticus. By contrast, T_{REG} taken from donor mice without prior H. hepaticus exposure were ineffective, and in some cases actually enhanced tumorigenesis (10). Based on these results, we theorize that the tumor microenvironment is subject to systemic inflammatory events arising from environmental exposures in the gastrointestinal tract (Figure 1). This microbe-inducible pro-inflammatory condition contributes to tumor trophic signaling. Interestingly, bacterial antigen triggered IL-10-dependent activities in the GItract impart sustained protection from the aforementioned events, resulting in immune cell recruitment, including T_{REG}, which, by being more potent in their anti-inflammatory roles, work locally and systemically to suppress sepsis, myeloid precursor mobilization, and inflammatory signaling important in extra-intestinal cancer evolution (10, 43). These systemic events comprise the tumor macroenvironment.

The roles of intestinal microflora in promoting cancer development within the bowel have been well established (35, 49–52). Linking gut microbial flora and local and systemic effects that promote (38) or suppress (45) tumors throughout the body, expands this paradigm in a challenging manner. Recent findings show that gut flora imbalances considerably undermine the response to both immune (53, 54) and non-immune chemotherapeutic regimens, such as cisplatin and oxaliplatin (53).

A WEAKENED T_{REG} FEEDBACK LOOP UNIFIES AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES AND CANCER

These gut microbe-centric findings in mice are consistent with the "hygiene hypothesis," according to which insufficient microbial exposures earlier in life predispose to allergies, autoimmune disorders, and uncontrollable inflammation-associated pathologies later in life. We have shown that the basic principles of this



new broader context of the holobiont (comprised of the mammalian host plus resident microbes) and the cancer macroenvironment, highlighting microbes that may be engineered for sustained good health.

hypothesis may apply not only to auto-immunity, but also to neoplastic disease as well, and that T_{REG} play a central role in this phenomenon (10, 41, 55). The ability of T_{REG} to decrease risk for cancer and counteract established tumors depends upon microbe-triggered IL-10, which works to maintain immune system homeostasis and reinforce a protective anti-inflammatory, anti-neoplastic T_{REG} phenotype (41). T_{REG} display inherent phenotypic plasticity (10). Hygienic individuals with a weakened IL-10 and T_{REG} feedback loop are prone to a re-direction of unstable resting peripheral T_{REG} toward a T helper (Th)-17 proinflammatory process. As a result "hygienic" subjects are at higher risk to develop auto-immune diseases and cancer (10). It is tempting to postulate that this may explain why only a few people go on to develop cancer, while nearly everyone bears dysplastic and early neoplastic lesions throughout their body (56).

Depending on composition of gut microbiota, the immune system of mice may acquire different subclinical characteristics, even in the absence of overt inflammatory processes. The clinically silent immune system status may determine the risk of developing sporadic cancer in epithelia throughout the body. Further, we found that consuming beneficial probiotic bacteria led to the expansion of a Foxp3⁺ cell population in the periphery (42, 45, 57) conferring protection to diet-related and genetic predisposition to mammary cancer (45). Targeted oral challenge with such probiotic bacteria resulted in the activation of interrelated systemic inflammatory and metabolic pathways, either through blood circulation or via the vagus nerve (Figure 1). Consequently, there was an upregulation of systemic hormone levels, such as oxytocin, testosterone, and thyroxin. Oxytocin serves to sustain immune and integumentary homeostasis, biasing the immune system toward IL-10 and IFN- γ , without anergy, subsequently minimizing the deleterious systemic effects of IL-17 (57). This altered immune system and metabolic profile of mice imparted healthful phenotypes including shiny fur and youthful hair follicle cycling, accelerated skin wound healing capacity, and resistance to diet-induced obesity and senility (42, 47, 57, 58). Through tightly regulated immune activities, competent TREG permit brief beneficial host inflammatory responses to eliminate invading pathogens, and later inhibit chronic deleterious inflammatory tissue damage (43). The results of our wound healing assays further suggest that the probiotic microbe-induced enhancement of the T_{REG}-dominated arm of the immune system did not compromise the ability of mice to respond to invading pathogens (42).

BENEFICIAL SYSTEMIC EFFECTS OF GUT MICROBES ARE TRANSPLANTABLE VIA FOXP3⁺ T_{REG} INTO NAÏVE HOSTS

Adoptive cell transfer models offer mechanistic insight as these beneficial effects were isolated to bacteria-primed T_{REG} (42, 47, 57–59). In fact, healthful phenotypes were entirely reproducible in naive recipient mice by the adoptive transfer of highly purified T_{REG} derived from probiotic-fed cell donors (42, 57, 59). These results suggest gut microbe-induced crosstalk with the host in a continuous and reciprocal manner. The fate of preneoplastic and neoplastic lesions arising in epithelia throughout the body depends upon this macroenvironment at the whole organism level. Consequently, the tumor macroenvironment is defined as the "holobiont," i.e., the mammalian organism plus the microbial symbionts it bears. The T_{REG} population is a central player of the tumor macroenvironment connecting gut bacteria with reproductive fitness, youthful phenotypes, and anti-neoplastic properties.

MICROBIAL ENGINEERING OFFERS NEW STRATEGIES FOR PUBLIC HEALTH

Taken together, microbial engineering strategies using food-grade bacteria highlight alternative directions in cancer immunotherapy. Modulating beneficial T_{REG} via diet is a biologically safe and efficient approach, originating from genetic programs that have been shaped during the millions of years of co-evolution of mammals with their gut bacteria symbionts. These attributes remain largely inactive in individuals with a modern lifestyle, Westernized dietary habits, and stringent hygiene practices. Awakening these latent T_{REG} -mediated capabilities may provide an alternative avenue to reduce cancer risk at a population level for public health. The perspectives presented here should be considered as an alternative paradigm – not only for fighting cancer – but also for promoting overall good health and longevity.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Theofilos Poutahidis, Markus Kleinewietfeld, and Susan E. Erdman wrote the paper.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health grants P30-ES002109 (pilot project award to Susan E. Erdman), U01 CA164337 (to Susan E. Erdman), and RO1CA108854 (to Susan E. Erdman).

REFERENCES

- 1. Stewart BW, Wild CP editors. World Cancer Report 2014. Lyon: Cedex (2014).
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell (2000) 100:57–70. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9
- 3. Bissell MJ, Radisky D. Putting tumours in context. Nat Rev Cancer (2001) 1:46–54. doi:10.1038/35094059
- 4. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* (2011) 144:646–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Erdman S, Poutahidis T. Roles for inflammation and regulatory T cells in colon cancer. *Toxicol Pathol* (2010) 38:76–87. doi:10.1177/0192623309354110
- Hanahan D, Coussens LM. Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Cell* (2012) 21:309–22. doi:10.1016/j. ccr.2012.02.022
- Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? *Lancet* (2001) 357:539–45. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04046-0
- Balkwill F, Coussens LM. Cancer: an inflammatory link. Nature (2004) 431:405–6. doi:10.1038/431405a
- 9. Balkwill F. Cancer and the chemokine network. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2004) **4**:540–50. doi:10.1038/nrc1388
- Erdman SE, Poutahidis T. Cancer inflammation and regulatory T cells. Int J Cancer (2010) 127:768–79. doi:10.1002/ijc.25430
- Colotta F, Allavena P, Sica A, Garlanda C, Mantovani A. Cancer-related inflammation, the seventh hallmark of cancer: links to genetic instability. *Carcinogenesis* (2009) 30:1073–81. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgp127
- 12. Curiel TJ. Regulatory T cells and treatment of cancer. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2008) 20:241–6. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2008.04.008
- Whiteside TL. What are regulatory T cells (Treg) regulating in cancer and why? Semin Cancer Biol (2012) 22:327–34. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2012.03.004
- Mougiakakos D, Choudhury A, Lladser A, Kiessling R, Johansson CC. Regulatory T cells in cancer. *Adv Cancer Res* (2010) **107**:57–117. doi:10.1016/S0065-230X(10)07003-X
- Colombo MP, Piconese S. Regulatory-T-cell inhibition versus depletion: the right choice in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2007) 7:880–7. doi:10.1038/nrc2250
- Nishikawa H, Sakaguchi S. Regulatory T cells in cancer immunotherapy. Curr Opin Immunol (2014) 27C:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2013.12.005
- Gajewski TF, Fuertes MB, Woo SR. Innate immune sensing of cancer: clues from an identified role for type I IFNs. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61:1343–7. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1305-6
- Sakaguchi S, Yamaguchi T, Nomura T, Ono M. Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance. *Cell* (2008) 133:775–87. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.05.009
- Roncador G, Brown PJ, Maestre L, Hue S, Martinez-Torrecuadrada JL, Ling KL, et al. Analysis of FOXP3 protein expression in human CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells at the single-cell level. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35:1681–91. doi:10.1002/eji.200526189
- Gavin MA, Torgerson TR, Houston E, Deroos P, Ho WY, Stray-Pedersen A, et al. Single-cell analysis of normal and FOXP3-mutant human T cells: FOXP3 expression without regulatory T cell development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103:6659–64. doi:10.1073/pnas.0509484103
- Miyara M, Yoshioka Y, Kitoh A, Shima T, Wing K, Niwa A, et al. Functional delineation and differentiation dynamics of human CD4+ T cells expressing the FoxP3 transcription factor. *Immunity* (2009) **30**:899–911. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2009.03.019
- Kleinewietfeld M, Hafler DA. The plasticity of human Treg and Th17 cells and its role in autoimmunity. *Semin Immunol* (2013) 25:305–12. doi:10.1016/j.smim. 2013.10.009

- 23. Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. *Nat Med* (2004) **10**:942–9. doi:10.1038/nm1093
- 24. Hodi FS. Overcoming immunological tolerance to melanoma: targeting CTLA-4. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol (2010) 6(Suppl 1):S16–23. doi:10.1111/j.1743-7563. 2010.01271.x
- 25. Hodi FS, Butler M, Oble DA, Seiden MV, Haluska FG, Kruse A, et al. Immunologic and clinical effects of antibody blockade of cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 in previously vaccinated cancer patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) **105**:3005–10. doi:10.1073/pnas.0712237105
- Liakou CI, Kamat A, Tang DN, Chen H, Sun J, Troncoso P, et al. CTLA-4 blockade increases IFNgamma-producing CD4+ICOShi cells to shift the ratio of effector to regulatory T cells in cancer patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:14987–92. doi:10.1073/pnas.0806075105
- Quezada SA, Peggs KS, Curran MA, Allison JP. CTLA4 blockade and Gm-Csf combination immunotherapy alters the intratumor balance of effector and regulatory T cells. J Clin Invest (2006) 116:1935–45. doi:10.1172/JCI27745
- Kavanagh B, O'Brien S, Lee D, Hou Y, Weinberg V, Rini B, et al. CTLA4 blockade expands FoxP3+ regulatory and activated effector CD4+ T cells in a dosedependent fashion. *Blood* (2008) 112:1175–83. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-11-125435
- Schwartzentruber DJ, Lawson DH, Richards JM, Conry RM, Miller DM, Treisman J, et al. gp100 peptide vaccine and interleukin-2 in patients with advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med (2011) 364:2119–27. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1012863
- Salama P, Phillips M, Grieu F, Morris M, Zeps N, Joseph D, et al. Tumorinfiltrating FOXP3+ T regulatory cells show strong prognostic significance in colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol (2009) 27:186–92. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.18.7229
- Badoual C, Hans S, Fridman WH, Brasnu D, Erdman S, Tartour E. Revisiting the prognostic value of regulatory T cells in patients with cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2009) 27:e5–6. Author reply e7.
- Whiteside TL. Disarming suppressor cells to improve immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother (2012) 61:283–8. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1171-7
- 33. Leffers N, Gooden MJ, De Jong RA, Hoogeboom BN, Ten Hoor KA, Hollema H, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor-infiltrating T-lymphocytes in primary and metastatic lesions of advanced stage ovarian cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58:449–59. doi:10.1007/s00262-008-0583-5
- Wilke CM, Wu K, Zhao E, Wang G, Zou W. Prognostic significance of regulatory T cells in tumor. *Int J Cancer* (2010) 127:748–58. doi:10.1002/ijc.25464
- 35. Erdman SE, Poutahidis T, Tomczak M, Rogers AB, Cormier K, Plank B, et al. CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T lymphocytes inhibit microbially induced colon cancer in Rag2-deficient mice. *Am J Pathol* (2003) 162:691–702. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63863-1
- Erdman SE, Rao VP, Poutahidis T, Ihrig MM, Ge Z, Feng Y, et al. CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory lymphocytes require interleukin 10 to interrupt colon carcinogenesis in mice. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63:6042–50.
- Erdman SE, Sohn JJ, Rao VP, Nambiar PR, Ge Z, Fox JG, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory lymphocytes induce regression of intestinal tumors in ApcMin/+ mice. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:3998–4004. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3104
- Rao VP, Poutahidis T, Ge Z, Nambiar PR, Boussahmain C, Wang YY, et al. Innate immune inflammatory response against enteric bacteria *Helicobacter hepaticus* induces mammary adenocarcinoma in mice. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:7395–400. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-0558
- Poutahidis T, Haigis KM, Rao VP, Nambiar PR, Taylor CL, Ge Z, et al. Rapid reversal of interleukin-6-dependent epithelial invasion in a mouse model of microbially induced colon carcinoma. *Carcinogenesis* (2007) 28:2614–23. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgm180
- Poutahidis T, Rao VP, Olipitz W, Taylor CL, Jackson EA, Levkovich T, et al. CD4+ lymphocytes modulate prostate cancer progression in mice. *Int J Cancer* (2009) 125:868–78. doi:10.1002/ijc.24452
- Erdman SE, Rao VP, Olipitz W, Taylor CL, Jackson EA, Levkovich T, et al. Unifying roles for regulatory T cells and inflammation in cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2010) 126:1651–65. doi:10.1002/ijc.24923
- Poutahidis T, Kleinewietfeld M, Smillie C, Levkovich T, Perrotta A, Bhela S, et al. Microbial reprogramming inhibits western diet-associated obesity. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e68596. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0068596
- Rao VP, Poutahidis T, Fox JG, Erdman SE. Breast cancer: should gastrointestinal bacteria be on our radar screen? *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:847–50. doi:10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-06-3468

- Erdman SE, Rao VP, Poutahidis T, Rogers AB, Taylor CL, Jackson EA, et al. Nitric oxide and TNF-alpha trigger colonic inflammation and carcinogenesis in *Helicobacter hepaticus*-infected, Rag2-deficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106:1027–32. doi:10.1073/pnas.0812347106
- 45. Lakritz JR, Poutahidis T, Levkovich T, Varian BJ, Ibrahim YM, Chatzigiagkos A, et al. Beneficial bacteria stimulate host immune cells to counteract dietary and genetic predisposition to mammary cancer in mice. *Int J Cancer* (2013). doi:10.1002/ijc.28702
- 46. Rao VP, Poutahidis T, Ge Z, Nambiar PR, Horwitz BH, Fox JG, et al. Proinflammatory CD4+ CD45RB(hi) lymphocytes promote mammary and intestinal carcinogenesis in Apc(Min/+) mice. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:57–61. doi:10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-05-3445
- Poutahidis T, Cappelle K, Levkovich T, Lee CW, Doulberis M, Ge Z, et al. Pathogenic intestinal bacteria enhance prostate cancer development via systemic activation of immune cells in mice. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e73933. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0073933
- Houghton J, Li H, Fan X, Liu Y, Liu JH, Rao VP, et al. Mutations in bone marrowderived stromal stem cells unmask latent malignancy. *Stem Cells Dev* (2010) 19:1153–66. doi:10.1089/scd.2009.0439
- Terzic J, Grivennikov S, Karin E, Karin M. Inflammation and colon cancer. Gastroenterology (2010) 138(2101–2114):e5. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2010.01.058
- Zhu Y, Michelle Luo T, Jobin C, Young HA. Gut microbiota and probiotics in colon tumorigenesis. *Cancer Lett* (2011) 309:119–27. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2011. 06.004
- Arthur JC, Perez-Chanona E, Muhlbauer M, Tomkovich S, Uronis JM, Fan TJ, et al. Intestinal inflammation targets cancer-inducing activity of the microbiota. *Science* (2012) 338:120–3. doi:10.1126/science.1224820
- Song X, Gao H, Lin Y, Yao Y, Zhu S, Wang J, et al. Alterations in the microbiota drive interleukin-17C production from intestinal epithelial cells to promote tumorigenesis. *Immunity* (2014) 40:140–52. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.11.018
- 53. Iida N, Dzutsev A, Stewart CA, Smith L, Bouladoux N, Weingarten RA, et al. Commensal bacteria control cancer response to therapy by modulating the tumor microenvironment. *Science* (2013) **342**:967–70. doi:10.1126/science. 1240527

- Viaud S, Saccheri F, Mignot G, Yamazaki T, Daillere R, Hannani D, et al. The intestinal microbiota modulates the anticancer immune effects of cyclophosphamide. *Science* (2013) 342:971–6. doi:10.1126/science.1240537
- Rook GA, Dalgleish A. Infection, immunoregulation, and cancer. *Immunol Rev* (2011) 240:141–59. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00987.x
- Folkman J, Kalluri R. Cancer without disease. Nature (2004) 427:787. doi:10. 1038/427787a
- Poutahidis T, Kearney SM, Levkovich T, Qi P, Varian BJ, Lakritz JR, et al. Microbial symbionts accelerate wound healing via the neuropeptide hormone oxytocin. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e78898. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0078898
- Levkovich T, Poutahidis T, Smillie C, Varian BJ, Ibrahim YM, Lakritz JR, et al. Probiotic bacteria induce a 'glow of health.' *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e53867. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0053867
- Poutahidis T, Erdman S. Probiotic "glow of health": more than skin deep. Benef Microbes (2014) 5:109–19. doi:10.3920/BM2013.0042

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 11 February 2014; accepted: 25 March 2014; published online: 07 April 2014. Citation: Poutahidis T, Kleinewietfeld M and Erdman SE (2014) Gut microbiota and the paradox of cancer immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 5:157. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00157

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Poutahidis, Kleinewietfeld and Erdman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Induced pluripotent stem cells: challenges and opportunities for cancer immunotherapy

Patty Sachamitr[†], Simon Hackett[†] and Paul Jonathan Fairchild *

Sir William Dunn School of Pathology, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

Edited by:

Fang-Ping Huang, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Angel Porgador, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Israel Kerry Campbell, Fox Chase Cancer Center, USA

*Correspondence:

Paul Jonathan Fairchild, Sir William Dunn School of Pathology, University of Oxford, South Parks Road, Oxford OX1 3RE, UK

e-mail: paul.fairchild@path.ox.ac.uk

[†] Patty Sachamitr and Simon Hackett have contributed equally to this work.

Despite recent advances in cancer treatment over the past 30 years, therapeutic options remain limited and do not always offer a cure for malignancy. Given that tumorassociated antigens (TAA) are, by definition, self-proteins, the need to productively engage autoreactive T cells remains at the heart of strategies for cancer immunotherapy. These have traditionally focused on the administration of autologous monocyte-derived dendritic cells (moDC) pulsed with TAA, or the ex vivo expansion and adoptive transfer of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) as a source of TAA-specific cytotoxic T cells (CTL). Although such approaches have shown some efficacy, success has been limited by the poor capacity of moDC to cross present exogenous TAA to the CD8⁺ T-cell repertoire and the potential for exhaustion of CTL expanded ex vivo. Recent advances in induced pluripotency offer opportunities to generate patient-specific stem cell lines with the potential to differentiate in vitro into cell types whose properties may help address these issues. Here, we review recent success in the differentiation of NK cells from human induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells as well as minor subsets of dendritic cells (DCs) with therapeutic potential, including CD141⁺XCR1⁺ DC, capable of cross presenting TAA to naïve CD8⁺ T cells. Furthermore, we review recent progress in the use of TIL as the starting material for the derivation of iPSC lines, thereby capturing their antigen specificity in a self-renewing stem cell line, from which potentially unlimited numbers of naïve TAA-specificT cells may be differentiated, free of the risks of exhaustion.

Keywords: cancer, immunotherapy, dendritic cell, cytotoxic T cell, NK cell, pluripotency, iPS cell

CANCER AND THE IMMUNE SYSTEM: A HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVE

Although it was Paul Ehrlich who, in 1909, first introduced the concept of the immune system as a means of controlling the incidence of cancer, it was 50 years later, with development of the field of cellular immunology and discovery of the role of the immune system in allograft rejection (1), that this notion first gained traction. In 1970, Burnet and Thomas introduced the concept of immunological surveillance and postulated that the immune system had a mechanism for eliminating potentially dangerous mutated cells and speculated that lymphocytes were actively involved in the process by the recognition of neo-antigens, either unique to the tumor (tumor-specific antigens; TSAs) or shared by other somatic cells (tumor-associated antigens; TAAs) (2, 3). This theory was met with skepticism, due in part, to the observation that the incidence of tumors in immune compromised nude mice did not differ substantially from their wild type counterparts (4, 5). These observations were, however, counter-balanced by the discovery that tumors may lack immunogenicity, not due to the absence of TAAs per se but rather their inability to activate the immune system (6). This subsequently gave rise to the modified concept of cancer immunoediting (7), which postulates that a developing tumor is under a constant immunological selection pressure, leading either to its elimination, the establishment of a dynamic equilibrium between the tumor and the immune system, or its escape from immune surveillance, resulting in unopposed growth. It is now accepted that one of the hallmarks of cancer is the lack of immune regulation (8) and that certain cancers therefore have the propensity to induce a state of autoimmunity in some individuals. While the underlying mechanisms remain to be clarified, mutations in specific TAAs may increase their immunogenicity, eliciting T and B cell responses that readily cross-react with the wild type protein, expressed in other cell types or anatomical locations. Indeed, a recent study has shown that certain cancer patients develop the chronic autoimmune rheumatic disease, systemic sclerosis (9), illustrating the important concept that immune surveillance harnesses elements of the autoreactive T-cell repertoire to elicit anti-tumor responses, sometimes at the cost of collateral damage to self-tissues: it is the same autoreactive repertoire that cancer immunotherapy seeks to recruit.

APPROACHES TO CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

Radiation, chemotherapy, and surgery are the three traditional methods for controlling the spread of cancer, which, although effective, may fail to completely eliminate neoplastic cells or the cancer stem cells that sustain a developing tumor. Additionally, the lack of specificity of these approaches and the damage to otherwise healthy tissues may lead to severe morbidity and, in extreme cases, mortality. Given its inherent specificity, adaptability, and capacity to generate a memory response, cancer immunotherapy promises to be more effective and durable than classical treatment modalities (10).

Cytokines, such as interleukin-2 (IL-2), interferon- α (IFN- α), and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) have been used nonspecifically to stimulate an anti-tumor response. These cytokines act either by directly inhibiting growth of the tumor cells or by promoting proliferation and sustained cytokine production by T cells and NK cells, thereby increasing their ability to target tumor cells. Some cytokines, such as granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), act on antigen-presenting cells (APCs), inducing upregulation of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules, which promote their capacity to activate lymphocytes. A number of cytokines, used singly or in combination, have proven effective in increasing the anti-tumor immune response and have, in recent years, entered clinical trials for the treatment of advanced cancer (11). IL-2 has, for instance, been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of metastatic melanoma and renal-cell carcinoma (12). However, given the nonspecificity of the approach, low response rates, and toxic side effects, additional understanding of cytokine signaling pathways and their function *in vivo* are still required (11).

The identification of a number of well-defined TAAs and Tissue Specific Antigens (TSAs), along with the development of hybridoma technology (13), has facilitated the production of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) that either directly target these antigens or block central pathways involved in tumor function. mAbs have, for instance, been used to inhibit molecules such as CTLA-4 and PD-1, since upregulation of their ligands by tumor cells may inhibit T-cell function, enhancing their ability to evade immune surveillance (14, 15). In recent clinical trials of the PD-1specific mAb, BMS-936558, objective and durable responses were observed in approximately one in four to one in five patients with non-small cell lung cancer, melanoma, or renal-cell cancer. Immunohistochemical staining of tumor specimens prior to the onset of treatment, revealed that intra-tumoral expression of PD-1 ligand (PD-L1) correlated with the induction of anti-tumor responses, providing a means of stratifying patients in order to identify those most likely to respond to treatment and greatly increasing the likely future clinical impact of mAb therapy (16). Although it was the exquisite specificity of mAbs that first earned them the name "magic bullets," response rates remain disappointingly low when used as a single therapy (17-19). One reason for this poor performance may lie in the fact that administration of therapeutic mAbs is inherently passive, failing to generate a memory response. Furthermore, the repeated administration required as a result, may elicit neutralizing anti-idiotypic responses, which greatly limit efficacy.

In contrast, the ultimate aim of cancer immunotherapy is to activate the immune system to recognize the tumor, thereby generating a specific and durable effector T-cell response. In order to achieve this goal, adoptive transfer of TAA-specific T cells has been explored, involving their expansion *ex vivo* and re-administration to the same patients from whom they were originally derived (20). Alternatively, the ability of DCs to present TAAs to T cells has been harnessed to generate an immune response against tumor cells. Whereas adoptive T-cell transfer may generate a burst of T-cell immunity that is short-lived, DC-based vaccines have the potential to induce a sustained immune response with the capacity for subsequent recall (21). It has been shown that DC vaccination, following adoptive T-cell transfer, may further boost anti-tumor responses, suggesting a rationale for combining the two therapeutic strategies (21). In this review, we shall discuss recent experience of harnessing DCs and T cells for cancer immunotherapy and obstacles hindering their success. We shall also focus on the emerging use of patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) for the differentiation of DCs, T cells, and NK cells and discuss how this novel source holds promise for overcoming some of the shortfalls of conventional cancer immunotherapy.

CELL-BASED IMMUNOTHERAPIES AND THEIR OBSTACLES

As sentinels of the immune system, DCs play a pivotal role in eliciting the primary immune response to antigen. The ability of DCs to process and present protein antigens via the canonical endocytic pathway is crucial to this process (22). However, some subsets of DCs also possess the ability to capture exogenous antigens and cross present them via MHC class I direct to CD8⁺ T cells, thereby eliciting a cytotoxic T-cell response (23-25). Since cancer cells are poor APCs due to constitutively low expression of MHC class I and II determinants, the generation of protective anti-tumor immunity depends upon the cross presentation of tumor antigens by DCs (22–24). Although various DC-based cancer vaccines have been exploited in the past and the properties, advantages, and disadvantages of each extensively reviewed (20, 26, 27), it is most commonly DCs cultured ex vivo from peripheral blood monocytes (monocyte-derived dendritic cells, moDCs) that have shown the greatest clinical benefit. Indeed, one such vaccine, Provenge, has entered the market for the routine treatment of prostate cancer and involves the co-culture of moDCs obtained by leukapheresis, with the TSA, prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP), to which T-cell responses have been detected following their reinfusion into patients (28).

The majority of the clinical trials involving cancer vaccination have used autologous moDCs cultured *ex vivo* and pulsed with soluble TAA before re-administration to patients with the hope of inducing a tumor-specific immune response (29). Although many of these trials have shown that immunotherapy based on the use of mature moDC is safe, well-tolerated, and able to elicit an immune response against the tumor (27), the overall results have been disappointing, showing significant inter-trial variability between outcomes (30–32). This may be due, in no small part, to the donor-to-donor variability in yield and quality of moDCs, which is further compounded by long-term exposure to chemotherapeutic agents. Furthermore, the poor capacity of moDCs to cross present exogenous TAAs to CTLs, limits the magnitude of the cell-mediated immunity required to clear established tumors.

The recent identification of cross presenting DCs in man, equivalent to the $CD8\alpha^+$ subset that has long been recognized in the mouse, has rejuvenated interest in the use of DCs in cancer immunotherapy (33, 34). These cells are defined by their expression of the surface marker CD141 and the chemokine receptor XCR1 and are found in the peripheral blood, tonsils, and bone marrow (35). They display an unrivaled capacity to cross present exogenous antigen to $CD8^+$ T cells, and hence to elicit effective cell-mediated immunity. While the properties of CD141⁺ XCR1⁺

DCs make them ideal candidates for immunotherapy against cancer, their trace numbers in peripheral blood (<0.1%) limit their therapeutic exploitation (25). Alternative sources of cross presenting DCs, including their isolation from the spleen or *in vitro* differentiation from hematopoietic progenitor cells, have so far failed to overcome these obstacles (36).

Since the holy grail of cancer immunotherapy is to stimulate tumor-specific T cells that will elicit a cytotoxic response with high specificity and minimal toxicity, adoptive transfer of TAAspecific T cells has gained popularity over the past few years (37, 38). Adoptive T-cell transfer involves the isolation of T lymphocytes from the patients and their reinfusion to treat disease. The adoptive transfer of T cells was first documented in rodents in 1955, where it was noted that T cells obtained from lymph nodes draining a tumor were able to confer immunity when transferred into the peritoneum of a secondary host, bearing a similar tumor (39). Almost three decades later, it was observed that the incubation of murine splenocytes with IL-2 generated large numbers of cells, called lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cells, which were capable of lysing tumor cells with little effect on other somatic cells (40). These LAK cells were later shown to decrease tumor number and size in humans in a wide variety of tumors including pulmonary and hepatic metastases (41, 42). This work served as the basis for the use of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in immunotherapy (43, 44). The combination of a lymphodepleting preparative regimen with adoptive transfer of TILs and administration of IL-2 has been shown to promote cancer regression in patients with metastatic melanoma, leukemias, and other types of tumor (44, 45).

The possibility of genetic modification of the T cells to overcome the immunosuppressive environment created by the tumor may lead to more effective therapies in the future, although current strategies for genetic modification are limited (46) and T cells are known to constitute particularly intractable targets. Nevertheless, the possibility of genetically engineering T cells to recognize specific TAAs makes it possible to target potentially any tumor using adoptive T-cell transfer (47), while leaving other tissues intact. The majority of clinical approaches use virus-based transduction of tumor antigen-specific T-cell receptor (TCRs) or chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) to generate T cells stably expressing tumor-specific transgenes which, although efficient, is expensive and risks insertional mutagenesis. Non-viral approaches to genetically engineer T cells have so far utilized transposon elements such as piggyback or zinc finger nucleases (46). TALEN and CRISPR/Cas-9-based-approaches, which allow for the insertion of transgenes into defined chromosomal loci, are, however, currently being actively explored (48, 49). Despite the attractiveness of using CAR technology to target cancer, only the treatment of B cell leukemia has so far proven successful using this approach. Furthermore, recent work has shown that the treatment of patients with myeloma or melanoma using T cells engineered to express affinityenhanced TCRs for an HLA-A*01-restricted epitope of MAGE-A3 resulted in severe myocardial damage secondary to widespread Tcell infiltration leading ultimately to fatal cardiogenic shock. These findings have clearly shown how even altering the affinity of the TCR for its ligand may introduce unanticipated cross-reactivity with potentially fatal off-target toxicity (50).

Although much effort has been invested into the adoptive transfer of unmodified T cells in the treatment of cancer, outcomes have been disappointing. It is, for instance, sometimes challenging to identify tumor-specific T cells in patients with non-solid tumors. TILs can also be difficult to isolate from biopsies of most melanomas. *Ex vivo* expansion of tumor-specific CTLs can also prove difficult: in the case of EBV-specific CTLs, for instance, 3 months is required for the production of sufficient CTLs for re-administration to the patient, with obvious implications for disease progression. Often, reinfusion of T cells is required following adoptive transfer for the induction of a durable response due to the exhaustion of the expanded CTLs.

NK cells have likewise been used for adoptive transfer, due to their innate ability to recognize tumor cells deficient in MHC class I. NK cells have been isolated form peripheral blood, expanded *ex vivo*, activated using IL-2 or, more recently, the combination of IL-12, IL-15, and IL-18 (51), and re-administered to patients (52). Interestingly, although the use of autologous cells is normally preferred, several studies have demonstrated that the use of allogeneic NK cells is significantly more effective (53, 54). Accordingly, the results of several studies have shown NK cells to be well-tolerated following adoptive transfer with encouraging results of up to 20 months' survival following their administration (55). Nevertheless, low circulating numbers of NK cells in peripheral blood, coupled with the difficulty in their expansion and their inability to stimulate a robust response *in vivo*, limits their use in immunotherapy.

Given the difficulty of obtaining sufficient numbers of cells to target tumors *in vivo*, the advent of induced pluripotency offers unrivaled opportunities. The proven ability to produce iPS cells from individuals in a patient-specific manner with the capacity for indefinite self-renewal and unrestricted differentiation potential, may facilitate the scale-up in production of critical hematopoietic cell types, for many of which, protocols have already been optimized. Below, we outline the history of induced pluripotency and discuss the properties that make them attractive candidates for use in immunotherapy.

BRIEF HISTORY OF PLURIPOTENCY

Since their first description, embryonic stem (ES) cells have been regarded as the "gold standard" for pluripotency, displaying the capacity for indefinite self-renewal and differentiation into any somatic cell type, irrespective of its embryonic germ-layer of origin. Mouse ES cells were first isolated in 1981 by Martin Evans (56), work which later earned him the 2007 Nobel Prize for Physiology or Medicine. Nevertheless, it was not until 1998 that Thomson and colleagues succeeded in deriving ES cells from the inner cell mass of human blastocysts that were surplus to requirements following *in vitro* fertilization (57). Human ES cell lines, like their mouse counterparts, were found to be pluripotent, expressing embryonic markers such as SSEA-3, SSEA-4, TRA-1–60, and alkaline phosphatase and, following injection into immune compromised mice, forming teratomas containing cell types and tissues from all three embryonic germ layers.

Since their first derivation, there has been much interest in the use of human ES cells as a source of diverse cell types for drug discovery, regenerative medicine, and immunotherapy. However, their use has been highly controversial due to the ethical sensitivities surrounding their derivation from human blastocysts, as well as the inevitable scientific constraints of using an allogeneic source of cells. In 2006, Yamanaka and colleagues demonstrated the feasibility of deriving pluripotent stem cells from adult mouse fibroblasts by retroviral transduction with genes encoding Oct3/4, Sox2, c-Myc, and Klf4 (58). These so-called iPS cells are indistinguishable at the cellular level from conventional ES cells, acquiring the capacity for indefinite self-renewal, unrestricted differentiation potential and, following injection into mouse blastocysts, the ability to generate germline-competent chimeras. These findings were subsequently translated to human dermal fibroblasts in 2007 by two independent groups (59, 60), showing, in principle, the feasibility of generating iPS cells on an individual basis. This seminal work offered a means of "personalizing" pluripotency in a manner free of the ethical concerns, while simultaneously addressing the immunological issues that limit the effectiveness of allogeneic therapies. Indeed, the production of iPS cells in an autologous fashion has paved the way for harnessing the potential of pluripotency for immunotherapeutic intervention in the pursuit of treatments for numerous indications.

Given the broad clinical applicability that iPS cells may enjoy in the future, there have been many efforts to develop and optimize the re-programming process to increase the safety profile of the resulting cell lines (**Table 1**). Protocols based on retroviral transduction may result in insertional mutagenesis while inducing the ectopic upregulation of developmental genes, which may subsequently render cells immunogenic (61). The direct delivery of re-programming proteins into somatic cells (62) and transfection with synthetic mRNA (63) have both proven successful, albeit yielding iPS cells at very low efficiency. Interestingly, small molecules, such as the histone deacetylase inhibitor, valproic acid, have been demonstrated to increase this efficiency by up to 100-fold (64). More importantly, recent work has shown that full re-programming may be achieved with a combination of seven small molecules alone, suggesting that induced pluripotency may not be dependent on the use of virus-based delivery systems (65). To achieve this, the authors screened 10,000 small molecules in order to find suitable replacements for each transcription factor. Three molecules, forskolin, 2-methyl-5-hydroxytryptamine, and D4476 were, for instance, identified as chemical substitutes for Oct3/4.

Perhaps the most dramatic advance in this rapidly evolving field has, however, been the recent description of stimulus-triggered fate conversion of cells (66), in which transient exposure of terminally differentiated cells to adverse conditions such as low pH, induces the upregulation of pluripotency genes. This approach has been shown to confer on cells such as murine lymphocytes, the capacity to form germline-competent chimeras following injection into recipient blastocysts, or the formation of entire offspring in tetraploid complementation assays. However, this method has yet to be verified independently and further characterization of the iPS cell lines produced in this way must be conducted and the translation of protocols to adult human cells has yet to be achieved, this approach may one day allow the generation of iPS cells lines with minimal intervention, compatible with downstream clinical applications.

Although traditionally much of the interest in iPS cells has focused on applications in regenerative medicine, other indications include their use as a novel source of hematopoietic cell types for cancer immunotherapy (**Figure 1**). The opportunity to derive iPS cells in a patient-specific manner, together with their tractability for genome editing using newly developed technologies such as the CRISPR–Cas-9 system (67) make them attractive

	Advantages	Disadvantages
Forced expression of genes via retrovirus	Well-characterized method, long history of use, arguably a simple approach and low cost, relatively high reprogramming rates of 0.01–0.02%	Integration into the genome may generate immunogenic cells, virus will only enter cells in mitosis, use of oncogenes such as c-Myc
Small molecules	Low cost of compounds, increases the efficiency of reprogramming	Only recent reports of full reprogramming achievable with small molecules alone: further characterization of lines generated needed
Synthetic miRNA	No integration within the genome	Very low reprogramming efficiency, miRNA degrades rapidly, modification of miRNA complicated, and time-consuming
Forced expression of genes via Sendai virus	No integration into the genome, higher efficiency of reprogramming than using retrovirus, diluted out of culture upon passage rapidly, high reprogramming rate of 0.1%	Difficult to work with, therefore most commonly used as pre-packaged "kits," which are expensive compared to other viral methods of reprogramming
Episomal plasmid vector system	No genomic footprint	Very low efficiency of reprogramming (0.0002%), loss of episomal plasmid
Stimulus-triggered acquisition of pluripotency (STAP)	No nuclear transfer or introduction of transcription factors	Limited capacity for self-renewal when compared to ES cells. Reports have yet to be independently verified

Table 1 | Methods of reprogramming and complications associated with derived iPS cell lines.



present TAA. These iPS cells can also be differentiated into NK cells and NKT cells, which can be adoptively transferred into the patient to target cancer cells; iPS cells can be generated by reprogramming tumor-specific providing help to the CTLs to target cancerous cells; these iPS cells can also be exploited to study the genetic basis of transformation and its influence of primary cell types.

candidates for such applications. Furthermore, their indefinite capacity for self-renewal may greatly facilitate the scale-up of cell production, offering unrivaled opportunities for overcoming many of the obstacles encountered using conventional sources of cells.

EXPLOITING INDUCED PLURIPOTENCY FOR THE STUDY AND TREATMENT OF CANCER

CANCER iPS CELLS AS MODELS OF DISEASE PROGRESSION

The use of iPS cell lines to model in vitro a broad range of human disease states has already begun to yield important advances in our understanding of their pathogenesis and progression. Nevertheless, the generation of iPS cells from primary cancer cells has remained a significant challenge, proving successful for only a limited number of cancers due, most likely, to the associated genetic or chromosomal abnormalities introducing a state of genetic instability (68). Although reprogramming of gastrointestinal cancer cells to a pluripotent state has been achieved by careful modification of culture conditions and reprogramming factors (69), it has proven necessary to use retroviral vectors to introduce the necessary transgenes, which risks the introduction of confounding mutations that may interfere with the phenotype of cells differentiated from the resulting iPS cell lines. Application of the latest non-viral reprogramming technologies to primary cancer cells is, therefore, paramount for gaining insight into the impact that oncogenic events may have on a range of primary cell types. The potential that such an approach offers for drug discovery and toxicity screening may facilitate the future identification of therapeutic targets as well as novel neo-antigens that may be exploited for vaccination purposes.

CANCER VACCINATION USING iPS CELL-DERIVED DCs

Given the significant donor-to-donor variability encountered in the use of moDCs for cancer immunotherapy, early research focused on the potential of pluripotency to provide a more homogenous source of DCs amenable to scale-up. Accordingly, several groups reported the successful differentiation of functional DCs from both mouse and human ES cells (70, 71). Since the use of animal products for their differentiation made them unsuitable for clinical applications, Tseng and colleagues succeeded in developing protocols for their differentiation in an animal product-free manner, compatible with their downstream use in vivo (72). Although these DCs were shown to be functional, possessing the ability to endocytose, process, and present foreign antigen to naïve CD4⁺ T cells, their clinical utility was restricted both by their limited capacity for cross presentation of antigen to MHC class I-restricted CD8⁺ T cells and their differentiation from allogeneic sources, requiring matching at certain HLA loci. Recent work in our laboratory has, however, demonstrated that CD141⁺XCR1⁺ DCs can be successfully derived from human iPS cells using a cocktail of GM-CSF, stem cell factor (SCF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and bone morphogenetic protein-4 (BMP4). This protocol was found to be compatible with the exclusion of all animal products, ensuring the downstream clinical compliance of the DCs obtained (73). Unlike moDCs used for comparison, these DCs were shown to efficiently cross present the TAA, Melan A, supplied exogenously in recombinant form, to naïve CD8+ T cells in vitro, stimulating a primary Melan A-specific immune response that could be tracked using tetramer technology (73). Since iPS cells have indefinite capacity for self-renewal in vitro, this approach provides a potentially unlimited source of autologous DCs that might bypass the issue of patient-to-patient variability and the confounding effects of long-term chemotherapy that impacts adversely on the circulating monocytes from which conventional moDCs are derived.

DIFFERENTIATION OF T CELLS FOR ADOPTIVE TRANSFER

While the use of DCs to stimulate TAA-specific immune responses in vivo offers the prospect of establishing durable immunological memory, an alternative strategy for cancer immunotherapy has been the adoptive transfer of antigen-specific T cells, expanded ex vivo. Since such expansion regimes risk the functional exhaustion of the resulting cells, the differentiation of potentially unlimited numbers of primary T cells from pluripotent stem cells has proven an attractive goal. The co-culture of mouse ES cells with the OP9 stromal cell line constitutively expressing delta-like ligand 1 (OP9-DL1), has been shown to successfully support their differentiation into T-cell progenitors (74, 75). Nevertheless, their final commitment to the T-cell lineage requires their introduction into fetal thymus organ cultures, so as to provide a microenvironment conducive to TCR gene rearrangement and subsequent positive selection of a diverse CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell repertoire. On transferring these ES cell-derived T cells into RAG2^{-/-} mice, immune reconstitution was readily observed, strongly suggesting that T cells generated in this way were functionally mature. Although these findings suggest that pluripotent stem cells may serve as a potentially unlimited source of naïve T cells for adoptive transfer, the requirement for an appropriate thymic microenvironment to support V(D)J recombination and positive selection poses significant ethical and pragmatic barriers to the translation of protocols to the human.

A logical way to overcome this hurdle might be to harness induced pluripotency to generate iPS cells from T cells that have already undergone V(D)J recombination and are known to exhibit a desirable antigen specificity. Any T cells differentiated from the parent iPS cell line would maintain the original antigen specificity of the parent cells, and may, therefore, differentiate *in vitro* in a thymus-independent manner. Recent studies have reported the successful differentiation of antigen-specific T cells from an iPS cell line itself generated from CTL specific for an epitope from the melanoma antigen MART-1 (76). These cells were expanded by stimulation with anti-CD3 mAbs, thereby generating CD8⁺ T cells, which were shown to respond to MART-1, demonstrating retention of their original antigen specificity.

Given the low frequency of tumor-specific T cells in the periphery of individuals and difficulties surrounding their identification, Themeli and colleagues exploited the tractability of iPS cells for genetic modification to introduce a bicistronic lentiviral vector encoding 19–28z, a CAR specific for CD19, expressed by the majority of leukemias and lymphomas. The authors were able to optimize differentiation conditions to allow for serum and feeder free generation of hematopoietic progenitor cells which, when co-cultured with OP9-DL1 stromal cells in the presence of SCF, Flt3L, and interleukin-7 (IL-7), differentiated into T cells expressing the CD19-specific CAR. T cells produced in this way were activated by CD19⁺ APCs and, upon infusion into mice, potently inhibited tumor progression (77).

While the use of CARs may circumvent the requirement for the identification of antigen-specific T cells, an alternative method of capturing desirable antigen specificities might be to exploit TILs whose presence within a developing tumor provides compelling evidence for their specificity. Whereas CD8⁺ CTL are readily

obtained from tumor biopsies and lend themselves to reprogramming, other T-cell subsets are also evident including regulatory T (Treg) cells. The presence of these Treg cells is known to negatively correlate with survival rates (78), due to their capacity to suppress anti-tumor immune responses and facilitate evasion of the developing tumor from the host immune system. If tumor-specific Treg cells could likewise be reprogramed to pluripotency, their redifferentiation along the T-cell lineage might provide opportunities for their phenotypic reassignment into effector T cells, providing a valuable source of CD4⁺ T-cell help for endogenous CTL responses in danger of exhaustion.

One of the major hurdles to harnessing this approach is defining extracellular Treg-specific markers. Currently, the most widely used marker for Treg cells is Foxp3 among $CD4^+CD25^+$ cells (79). As this transcription factor is expressed solely in the nucleus, however, sorting of cells based on its expression is not feasible. Nevertheless, recent work has demonstrated that CD127 expression inversely correlates with Foxp3 and hence the suppressive function of human CD4⁺ Treg cells (80). In addition to low CD127 expression, expression of CD45RA is also apparent in human CD4⁺ Treg cells (81): sorting cells based on a CD4⁺CD25⁺ CD127^{low}CD45RA⁺ phenotype would, therefore, represent the most effective strategy currently available for isolating antigenspecific Treg cells infiltrating the tumor microenvironment.

NK CELL-BASED IMMUNOTHERAPY

Although much interest has focused on the use of NK cells in cancer immunotherapy, obtaining sufficient numbers for administration to patients remains a significant limitation. In 2005, Woll and colleagues used a two-step process to differentiate human ES cells into NK cells *in vitro*. These cells had the ability to lyse human tumor cells deficient in MHC class I expression and up-regulate cytokine production (82). Subsequently, NK cells were successfully differentiated from human iPS cells, using a similar two-stage culture system (83), the cells obtained representing a pure population that did not require cell sorting or co-culture with xenogeneic stromal cells. Moreover, sufficient cytotoxic NK cells could be differentiated from 250,000 iPS cells to treat a single patient, suggesting that iPS cells provide a scalable platform for the clinical implementation of such an approach.

In addition to *bona fide* NK cells, it has recently proven possible to derive NKT cells from iPS cells. NKT cells are characterized by the expression of an invariant TCR encoded by V α 24–J α 18 in humans and V α 14–J α 18 in mice (84). These cells share the properties of both NK cells and T cells and are thought to play an important role in cancer immune surveillance (85). Indeed, NKT cells differentiated from mouse iPS cells were shown to secrete large quantities of IFN γ and actively suppress tumor growth *in vivo* (86). The differentiation of NKT cells from iPS cells may, therefore, make this elusive cell type readily accessible for cancer immunotherapy in the future.

CONCLUSION

Although significant advances have been made in cancer immunotherapy over the past decade with the discovery of human cross presenting DCs and the use of CARs and TCR transfer for the generation of more effective T-cell therapy, the requirements for high specificity, minimal toxicity, and the capacity for immunological memory have yet to be achieved. It has been suggested that since no single therapy is likely to fulfill all these criteria, adoptive transfer of tumor-specific T cells might be combined with DC vaccination to generate a durable immune response (87). Given the unrestricted differentiation potential of iPS cells, prospects for the differentiation of either cell type from the same patientspecific cell line provide a comprehensive approach. Furthermore, their potential for the efficient scale-up of cell production and tractability for new generation genome engineering tools, such as the CRISPR/Cas-9 system and transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs) (48, 49) may herald a new era in cancer immunotherapy, in which treatments are exquisitely tailored to the individual needs of the patient.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Tim Davies and Alison Leishman for helpful discussions and suggestions. Work on induced pluripotency in the authors' laboratory is supported by the Regenerative Medicine Initiative of the Britain-Israel Research and Academic Exchange Partnership (BIRAX).

REFERENCES

- Old LJ, Boyse EA. Immunology of experimental tumors. Annu Rev Med (1964) 15:167–86. doi:10.1146/annurev.me.15.020164.001123
- Burnet FM. The concept of immunological surveillance. Prog Exp Tumor Res (1970) 13:1–27.
- Burnet M. Immunological factors in the process of carcinogenesis. Br Med Bull (1964) 20:154–8.
- Stutman O. Chemical carcinogenesis in nude mice: comparison between nude mice from homozygous matings and heterozygous matings and effect of age and carcinogen dose. J Natl Cancer Inst (1979) 62:353–8.
- Rygaard J, Povlsen CO. The mouse mutant nude does not develop spontaneous tumours. An argument against immunological surveillance. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand B Microbiol Immunol (1974) 82:99–106.
- Van Pel A, Boon T. Protection against a nonimmunogenic mouse leukemia by an immunogenic variant obtained by mutagenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1982) 79:4718–22. doi:10.1073/pnas.79.15.4718
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:991–8. doi:10.1038/ni1102-991
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* (2011) 144:646–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Joseph CG, Darrah E, Shah AA, Skora AD, Casciola-Rosen LA, Wigley FM, et al. Association of the autoimmune disease scleroderma with an immunologic response to cancer. *Science* (2013) 343:152–7. doi:10.1126/science.1246886
- Klebanoff CA, Gattinoni L, Restifo NP. CD8+ T-cell memory in tumor immunology and immunotherapy. *Immunol Rev* (2006) 211:214–24. doi:10. 1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00391.x
- Lee S, Margolin K. Cytokines in cancer immunotherapy. Cancers (Basel) (2011) 3:3856–93. doi:10.3390/cancers3043856
- Dutcher J. Current status of interleukin-2 therapy for metastatic renal cell carcinoma and metastatic melanoma. Oncology (Williston Park) (2002) 16:4–10.
- Kohler G, Milstein C. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. *Nature* (1975) 256:495–7. doi:10.1038/256495a0
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12:252–64. doi:10.1038/nrc3239
- Sharma P, Wagner K, Wolchok JD, Allison JP. Novel cancer immunotherapy agents with survival benefit: recent successes and next steps. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2011) 11:805–12. doi:10.1038/nrc3153
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366:2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690

- Rasul KI, Kerr DJ. Targeted therapies: cetuximab plus chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2009) 6:499–500. doi:10.1038/ nrclinonc.2009.108
- Adams GP, Weiner LM. Monoclonal antibody therapy of cancer. Nat Biotechnol (2005) 23:1147–57. doi:10.1038/nbt1137
- Winter MC, Hancock BW. Ten years of rituximab in NHL. *Expert Opin Drug Saf* (2009) 8:223–35. doi:10.1517/14740330902750114
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12:265–77. doi:10.1038/nrc3258
- Park MY, Kim CH, Sohn HJ, Oh ST, Kim SG, Kim TG. The optimal interval for dendritic cell vaccination following adoptive T cell transfer is important for boosting potent anti-tumor immunity. *Vaccine* (2007) 25:7322–30. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.08.037
- Kurts C, Robinson BW, Knolle PA. Cross-priming in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:403–14. doi:10.1038/nri2780
- Bevan MJ. Minor H antigens introduced on H-2 different stimulating cells crossreact at the cytotoxic T cell level during in vivo priming. *J Immunol* (1976) 117:2233–8.
- Bevan MJ. Cross-priming for a secondary cytotoxic response to minor H antigens with H-2 congenic cells which do not cross-react in the cytotoxic assay. *J Exp Med* (1976) 143:1283–8. doi:10.1084/jem.143.5.1283
- Sachamitr P, Fairchild PJ. Cross presentation of antigen by dendritic cells: mechanisms and implications for immunotherapy. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2012) 8:547–55. doi:10.1586/eci.12.45
- Banchereau J, Fay J, Pascual V, Palucka AK. Dendritic cells: controllers of the immune system and a new promise for immunotherapy. *Novartis Found Symp* (2003) 252:226–35. doi:10.1002/0470871628.ch17 discussion 235–228,257–267,
- Palucka K, Banchereau J, Mellman I. Designing vaccines based on biology of human dendritic cell subsets. *Immunity* (2010) 33:464–78. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2010.10.007
- Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med (2010) 363:411–22. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1001294
- Lesterhuis WJ, de Vries IJ, Adema GJ, Punt CJ. Dendritic cell-based vaccines in cancer immunotherapy: an update on clinical and immunological results. *Ann Oncol* (2004) 15(Suppl 4):iv145–51. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdh919
- Robson NC, Hoves S, Maraskovsky E, Schnurr M. Presentation of tumour antigens by dendritic cells and challenges faced. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 22:137–44. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010.01.002
- 31. Sorensen RB, Andersen RS, Svane IM, Engell-Noerregaard L, Hadrup SR, Balslev E, et al. Thor Straten P: CD8 T-cell responses against cyclin B1 in breast cancer patients with tumors overexpressing p53. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:1543–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1412
- 32. Engell-Noerregaard L, Hansen TH, Andersen MH, Thor Straten P, Svane IM. Review of clinical studies on dendritic cell-based vaccination of patients with malignant melanoma: assessment of correlation between clinical response and vaccine parameters. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58:1–14. doi:10.1007/ s00262-008-0568-4
- 33. Bachem A, Guttler S, Hartung E, Ebstein F, Schaefer M, Tannert A, et al. Superior antigen cross-presentation and XCR1 expression define human CD11c+CD141+ cells as homologues of mouse CD8+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1273–81. doi:10.1084/jem.20100348
- 34. Jongbloed SL, Kassianos AJ, McDonald KJ, Clark GJ, Ju X, Angel CE, et al. Human CD141+ (BDCA-3)+ dendritic cells (DCs) represent a unique myeloid DC subset that cross-presents necrotic cell antigens. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1247–60. doi:10.1084/jem.20092140
- 35. Segura E, Durand M, Amigorena S. Similar antigen cross-presentation capacity and phagocytic functions in all freshly isolated human lymphoid organ-resident dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* (2013) **210**:1035–47. doi:10.1084/jem.20121103
- Poulin LF, Salio M, Griessinger E, Anjos-Afonso F, Craciun L, Chen JL, et al. Characterization of human DNGR-1+ BDCA3+ leukocytes as putative equivalents of mouse CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1261–71. doi:10.1084/jem.20092618
- Varela-Rohena A, Carpenito C, Perez EE, Richardson M, Parry RV, Milone M, et al. Genetic engineering of T cells for adoptive immunotherapy. *Immunol Res* (2008) 42:166–81. doi:10.1007/s12026-008-8057-6
- 38. Rosenberg SA, Yannelli JR, Yang JC, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, Weber JS, et al. Treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma with autologous

tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and interleukin 2. J Natl Cancer Inst (1994) 86:1159–66. doi:10.1093/jnci/86.15.1159

- 39. Mitchison NA. Studies on the immunological response to foreign tumor transplants in the mouse. I. The role of lymph node cells in conferring immunity by adoptive transfer. J Exp Med (1955) 102:157–77. doi:10.1084/jem.102.2.157
- Mule JJ, Shu S, Schwarz SL, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive immunotherapy of established pulmonary metastases with LAK cells and recombinant interleukin-2. *Science* (1984) 225:1487–9. doi:10.1126/science.6332379
- Mazumder A, Rosenberg SA. Successful immunotherapy of natural killerresistant established pulmonary melanoma metastases by the intravenous adoptive transfer of syngeneic lymphocytes activated in vitro by interleukin 2. *J Exp Med* (1984) 159:495–507. doi:10.1084/jem.159.2.495
- Rosenberg SA. Immunotherapy of cancer by systemic administration of lymphoid cells plus interleukin-2. J Biol Response Mod (1984) 3:501–11.
- 43. Rosenberg SA, Packard BS, Aebersold PM, Solomon D, Topalian SL, Toy ST, et al. Use of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and interleukin-2 in the immunotherapy of patients with metastatic melanoma. A preliminary report. N Engl J Med (1988) 319:1676–80. doi:10.1056/NEJM198812223192527
- 44. Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Robbins PF, Yang JC, Hwu P, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity in patients after clonal repopulation with antitumor lymphocytes. *Science* (2002) **298**:850–4. doi:10.1126/science. 1076514
- 45. Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, Restifo NP, et al. Adoptive cell transfer therapy following non-myeloablative but lymphodepleting chemotherapy for the treatment of patients with refractory metastatic melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2005) 23:2346–57. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005. 00.240
- Kalos M, June CH. Adoptive T cell transfer for cancer immunotherapy in the era of synthetic biology. *Immunity* (2013) **39**:49–60. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013. 07.002
- Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Hughes MS, Yang JC, Sherry RM, et al. Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes. *Science* (2006) 314:126–9. doi:10.1126/science.1129003
- Schwank G, Koo BK, Sasselli V, Dekkers JF, Heo I, Demircan T, et al. Functional repair of CFTR by CRISPR/Cas9 in intestinal stem cell organoids of cystic fibrosis patients. *Cell Stem Cell* (2013) 13:653–8. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2013.11.002
- Hockemeyer D, Wang H, Kiani S, Lai CS, Gao Q, Cassady JP, et al. Genetic engineering of human pluripotent cells using TALE nucleases. *Nat Biotechnol* (2011) 29:731–4. doi:10.1038/nbt.1927
- Linette GP, Stadtmauer EA, Maus MV, Rapoport AP, Levine BL, Emery L, et al. Cardiovascular toxicity and titin cross-reactivity of affinity-enhanced T cells in myeloma and melanoma. *Blood* (2013) 122:863–71. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-03-490565
- Ni J, Miller M, Stojanovic A, Garbi N, Cerwenka A. Sustained effector function of IL-12/15/18-preactivated NK cells against established tumors. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:2351–65. doi:10.1084/jem.20120944
- Fujisaki H, Kakuda H, Shimasaki N, Imai C, Ma J, Lockey T, et al. Expansion of highly cytotoxic human natural killer cells for cancer cell therapy. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:4010–7. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3712
- Ruggeri L, Mancusi A, Capanni M, Martelli MF, Velardi A. Exploitation of alloreactive NK cells in adoptive immunotherapy of cancer. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2005) 17:211–7. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2005.01.007
- 54. Miller JS, Soignier Y, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, McNearney SA, Yun GH, Fautsch SK, et al. Successful adoptive transfer and in vivo expansion of human haploidentical NK cells in patients with cancer. *Blood* (2005) 105:3051–7. doi:10. 1182/blood-2004-07-2974
- 55. Dillman RO, Duma CM, Ellis RA, Cornforth AN, Schiltz PM, Sharp SL, et al. Intralesional lymphokine-activated killer cells as adjuvant therapy for primary glioblastoma. *J Immunother* (2009) **32**:914–9. doi:10.1097/CJI. 0b013e3181b2910f
- Evans MJ, Kaufman MH. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. *Nature* (1981) 292:154–6. doi:10.1038/292154a0
- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. *Science* (1998) 282:1145–7. doi:10.1126/science.282.5391.1145
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *Cell* (2006) 126:663–76. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024

- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. *Cell* (2007) 131:861–72. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.019
- Nakagawa M, Koyanagi M, Tanabe K, Takahashi K, Ichisaka T, Aoi T, et al. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells without Myc from mouse and human fibroblasts. *Nat Biotechnol* (2008) 26:101–6. doi:10.1038/nbt1374
- Zhao T, Zhang ZN, Rong Z, Xu Y. Immunogenicity of induced pluripotent stem cells. *Nature* (2011) 474:212–5. doi:10.1038/nature10135
- Kim D, Kim CH, Moon JI, Chung YG, Chang MY, Han BS, et al. Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells by direct delivery of reprogramming proteins. *Cell Stem Cell* (2009) 4:472–6. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2009.05.005
- 63. Warren L, Manos PD, Ahfeldt T, Loh YH, Li H, Lau F, et al. Highly efficient reprogramming to pluripotency and directed differentiation of human cells with synthetic modified mRNA. *Cell Stem Cell* (2010) **7**:618–30. doi:10.1016/j.stem. 2010.08.012
- Huangfu D, Maehr R, Guo W, Eijkelenboom A, Snitow M, Chen AE, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells by defined factors is greatly improved by smallmolecule compounds. *Nat Biotechnol* (2008) 26:795–7. doi:10.1038/nbt1418
- 65. Hou P, Li Y, Zhang X, Liu C, Guan J, Li H, et al. Pluripotent stem cells induced from mouse somatic cells by small-molecule compounds. *Science* (2013) 341:651–4. doi:10.1126/science.1239278
- Obokata H, Wakayama T, Sasai Y, Kojima K, Vacanti MP, Niwa H, et al. Stimulustriggered fate conversion of somatic cells into pluripotency. *Nature* (2014) 505:641–7. doi:10.1038/nature12968
- Mali P, Yang L, Esvelt KM, Aach J, Guell M, DiCarlo JE, et al. RNA-guided human genome engineering via Cas9. *Science* (2012) 339:823–6. doi:10.1126/science. 1232033
- Ramos-Mejia V, Fraga MF, Menendez P. iPSCs from cancer cells: challenges and opportunities. *Trends Mol Med* (2012) 18:245–7. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2012. 04.001
- 69. Miyoshi N, Ishii H, Nagai K, Hoshino H, Mimori K, Tanaka F, et al. Defined factors induce reprogramming of gastrointestinal cancer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) **107**:40–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0912407107
- 70. Zhan X, Dravid G, Ye Z, Hammond H, Shamblott M, Gearhart J, et al. Functional antigen-presenting leucocytes derived from human embryonic stem cells in vitro. *Lancet* (2004) 364:163–71. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16629-4
- Fairchild PJ, Brook FA, Gardner RL, Graca L, Strong V, Tone Y, et al. Directed differentiation of dendritic cells from mouse embryonic stem cells. *Curr Biol* (2000) 10:1515–8. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00824-1
- 72. Tseng SY, Nishimoto KP, Silk KM, Majumdar AS, Dawes GN, Waldmann H, et al. Generation of immunogenic dendritic cells from human embry-onic stem cells without serum and feeder cells. *Regen Med* (2009) 4:513–26. doi:10.2217/rme.09.25
- Silk KM, Silk JD, Ichiryu N, Davies TJ, Nolan KF, Leishman AJ, et al. Crosspresentation of tumour antigens by human induced pluripotent stem cellderived CD141(+)XCR1(+) dendritic cells. *Gene Ther* (2012) 19:1035–40. doi:10.1038/gt.2011.177
- Schmitt TM, de Pooter RF, Gronski MA, Cho SK, Ohashi PS, Zuniga-Pflucker JC. Induction of T cell development and establishment of T cell competence from embryonic stem cells differentiated in vitro. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5:410–7. doi:10.1038/ni1055
- Schmitt TM, Zuniga-Pflucker JC. Induction of T cell development from hematopoietic progenitor cells by delta-like-1 in vitro. *Immunity* (2002) 17:749–56. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00474-0
- 76. Vizcardo R, Masuda K, Yamada D, Ikawa T, Shimizu K, Fujii S, et al. Regeneration of human tumor antigen-specific T cells from iPSCs derived from

mature CD8(+) T cells. *Cell Stem Cell* (2013) **12**:31–6. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2012. 12.006

- Themeli M, Kloss CC, Ciriello G, Fedorov VD, Perna F, Gonen M, et al. Generation of tumor-targeted human T lymphocytes from induced pluripotent stem cells for cancer therapy. *Nat Biotechnol* (2013) 31:928–33. doi:10.1038/nbt.2678
- Huang Y, Wang FM, Wang T, Wang YJ, Zhu ZY, Gao YT, et al. Tumor-infiltrating FoxP3+ Tregs and CD8+ T cells affect the prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma patients. *Digestion* (2012) 86:329–37. doi:10.1159/000342801
- Bilate AM, Lafaille JJ. Induced CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in immune tolerance. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:733–58. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075043
- Liu W, Putnam AL, Xu-Yu Z, Szot GL, Lee MR, Zhu S, et al. CD127 expression inversely correlates with FoxP3 and suppressive function of human CD4+ T reg cells. J Exp Med (2006) 203:1701–11. doi:10.1084/jem.20051745
- Hoffmann P, Eder R, Boeld TJ, Doser K, Piseshka B, Andreesen R, et al. Only the CD45RA+ subpopulation of CD4+CD25high T cells gives rise to homogeneous regulatory T-cell lines upon in vitro expansion. *Blood* (2006) 108:4260–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-06-027409
- Woll PS, Martin CH, Miller JS, Kaufman DS. Human embryonic stem cellderived NK cells acquire functional receptors and cytolytic activity. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:5095–103.
- Knorr DA, Ni Z, Hermanson D, Hexum MK, Bendzick L, Cooper LJ, et al. Clinical-scale derivation of natural killer cells from human pluripotent stem cells for cancer therapy. *Stem Cells Transl Med* (2013) 2:274–83. doi:10.5966/ sctm.2012-0084
- 84. Stanic AK, De Silva AD, Park JJ, Sriram V, Ichikawa S, Hirabyashi Y, et al. Defective presentation of the CD1d1-restricted natural Va14Ja18 NKT lymphocyte antigen caused by beta-D-glucosylceramide synthase deficiency. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) **100**:1849–54. doi:10.1073/pnas.0430327100
- Fujii SI, Shimizu K, Okamoto Y, Kunii N, Nakayama T, Motohashi S, et al. NKT cells as an ideal anti-tumor immunotherapeutic. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:409. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00409
- 86. Watarai H, Fujii S, Yamada D, Rybouchkin A, Sakata S, Nagata Y, et al. Murine induced pluripotent stem cells can be derived from and differentiate into natural killer T cells. J Clin Invest (2010) 120:2610–8. doi:10.1172/ JCI42027
- Schattenberg AV, Dolstra H. Cellular adoptive immunotherapy after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Curr Opin Oncol* (2005) 17:617–21. doi:10.1097/01. cco.0000181405.60213.1c

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 10 February 2014; accepted: 03 April 2014; published online: 17 April 2014. Citation: Sachamitr P, Hackett S and Fairchild PJ (2014) Induced pluripotent stem cells: challenges and opportunities for cancer immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. **5**:176. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00176

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Sachamitr, Hackett and Fairchild. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

